Tropentag 2018

International Research on Food Security, Natural Resource Management and Rural Development

Global food security and food safety: the role of universities

Book of abstracts

Editor: Eric Tielkes

Reviewers/scientific committee: Geert Baert, Jan Baetens,
Veerle Fievez, Geert Haesaert, Bernhard Freyer, Carl Lachat, Roel Merckx,
Eva Schlecht, Stijn Speelman, Barbara Sturm, Patrick Van Damme,
Gilbert Van Stappen, Wouter Vanhove, Annelies Verdoolaege,
Vladimir Verner, Kaat Verzelen, Ann Water-Bayers, Anthony Whitbread,
Stephan Winter

Editorial assistance: Mercedes Gotterbarm, Laetitia Samuel

Impressum

Bibliografische Information der Deutschen Nationalbibliothek

Die Deutsche Nationalbibliothek verzeichnet diese Publikation in der Deutschen Nationalbibliografie; detailierte bibliografische Daten sind im Internet über http://dnb.ddb.de abrufbar.

Tropentag 2018: Global food security and food safety: the role of universities Tielkes, E. (ed.) 1. Aufl. - Weikersheim: Margraf Publishers GmbH, 2018

© Margraf Publishers GmbH, Weikersheim

Kanalstrasse 21, 97990 Weikersheim

Telefon: 07934 - 3071 Telefax: 07934 - 8156

http://www.margraf-publishers.eu

Alle Rechte vorbehalten. Ohne ausdrückliche Genehmigung des Verlages ist es nicht gestattet, das Buch oder Teile daraus auf fotomechanischem Weg (Fotokopie Mikrokopie) zu vervielfältigen.

The authors of the articles are solely responsible for the content of their contribution. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means without prior permission of the copyright owners.

ISBN: 978-3-8236-1760-0

Online-Version: http://www.tropentag.de/

Preface

We are pleased to present in this book all the abstracts that are being presented both orally and as posters at the 2018 *Tropentag* Conference that is organised for the first time in Belgium at Ghent University. This conference forms the culmination of a whole year effort by a wide team of committed collaborators both in Belgium and Germany.

Tropentag is an annual, international conference on tropical agriculture, food security, natural resource management and rural development. It is the largest European interdisciplinary conference on research in (sub)tropical agriculture and natural resource management. It rotates between universities and research institutes in Berlin, Bonn, Göttingen, Hohenheim, Kassel-Witzenhausen, and since 2014 Prague and Vienna. Tropentag 2018 is organised by Ghent University, Belgium (predominantly the Faculty of Bioscience Engineering - Department of Plants & Crops, Laboratory for Tropical and Subtropical Agriculture and Ethnobotany, and the Africa Platform of Ghent University Association), jointly with the Council for Tropical and Subtropical Research (ATSAF e.V), in cooperation with the GIZ Advisory Service on Agricultural Research for Development (BEAF). This year's theme of the conference is 'Global food security and food safety: The role of universities', but the numerous sessions and workshops cover a much broader range of subject areas that all centre/focus on 'tropical agriculture'.

Agriculture deals with the cultivation and breeding of animals, plants and fungi for food, fibre, biofuel, medicinal plants and other products used to sustain and enhance human life. Its prime vocation is and should be to sustainably maintain and — where needed and possible — significantly improve the nutrition and health situation of people around the world. Hunger, malnutrition, and poor health are global, and increasing development challenges. Agriculture has made remarkable advances over the last decades in increasing quantity and quality of food and other produce, but its contribution to improving the nutrition and health of poor farmers and consumers in developing countries often still lags behind. In cases where food provision is structurally guaranteed, food quality may still be a problem. Agricultural research and universities have an important role in addressing and solving both food security and food safety. They should do this in collaboration with national and international governmental and non-governmental donor and policy-oriented organisations, with respect

for local, regional and global socio-economic and cultural situations, legal conditions, markets and market mechanisms, limitations and opportunities, gender equity and the natural resource environment, in order to provide for sustainable solutions.

The conference theme is addressed in plenary keynote lectures and in presentations and poster contributions organised in 24 thematic sessions. This year a special emphasis will be given to 'agriculture for nutrition and health' with contributions of this year's CGIAR feature research project A4NH (see: a4nh.cgiar.org), as indeed we opted for featuring a program rather than a centre as the CG system itself is organising itself much more than before around federating themes that bring together CG centres but also partners from academia and research *sensu lato*.

All in all, we received some 960 abstracts addressing these issues. This book contains about 340 poster abstracts, and 110 abstracts for orals, whereby a big portion is in line with the conference's theme. The role of universities, or academia in general, apparently inspired a lot of scholars. Additionally, you will also find the keynotes' abstracts.

We hope that the scientific contributions in this book will help you to broaden your knowledge, and find answers to a number of important research and development questions and to the conference theme. We wish you an enjoyable and rewarding Tropentag!

For the organising committee of Tropentag 2018

Prof. dr. ir. Patrick van Damme Ghent University

Ghent, September 2018

Message from Minister Alexander de Croo

All too often these kinds of introductory words start with Malthusian predictions of impending doom: hunger in Africa is on the rise, climate change poses a major threat to food security, food production will not keep up with world population growth,... And I could go on for a bit longer.

And although these challenges are real, rarely do we look at where we come from and what we have achieved so far. While the world population increased at a rapid pace the prevalence of stunting has decreased from 40% at the beginning of the '90s to 22% in 2017. Despite population growth the number of food insecure people living in the world is predicted to further decline from 782 million people in 2018 to 446 million people in 2028.

Global awareness about the importance of nutrition, food security and food safety has increased enormously. Where the concept of 'nutrition' was only used by some food experts in the past it has been mainstreamed and adopted by agricultural experts, politicians and the like. In 2015, the UN Sustainable Development Goals enshrined the objective of "ending all forms of malnutrition" by 2030. And while a generation ago food safety was rarely talked about and even less analyzed, nowadays authorities from Beijing to Brussels to Abuja are being held to account when food safety standards are not being met.

Another positive development is the fact that in recent years both governments, the private sector and farmers have woken up to the abundant opportunities of investments in the agriculture and food sector. Agriculture is Africa's largest economic sector. More than one-quarter of the world's arable land lies in this continent, but it generates only 10 percent of global agricultural output. There is huge potential for growth. New ways of financing, through public-private partnerships, are currently rolled out.

If we would focus entirely on the challenges in food systems we might say 'the future is bleak'; but if we would focus on all the opportunities at hand to meet the SDGs we might say 'the future is bright'. In order to achieve our goals, in order to achieve more sustainable food production and better food safety we will need new and better ways of working. We will need to work better together, across disciplines, across cultures,

across institutions. Science and evidence based decision making should be at the center of all our efforts. Therefore this year's theme of Tropentag 'Global food security and food safety: The role of universities' could not be more appropriate!

May the backdrop of the medieval city of Ghent inspire us all to come up with new ways of working towards a future in which safe, nutritious and sufficient food for all people, in particular the poor and vulnerable, becomes a reality.

Alexander de Croo Minister of Development Cooperation, Digital Agenda, Telecom and Postal Services, Belgium

Contents

	Plenary speeches	9
1.	Plants and crops	15
1)	Cropping systems	17
2)	Abiotic and biotic challenges in crop production	39
3)	Crop biotic stresses (DPG Session)	61
4)	Ethnobotany, resource use and biodiversity conservation	75
2.	Animal production	105
1)	Enhancing ruminant production	107
2)	Non-ruminant livestock and aquaculture	141
3)	Pastoral systems	169
3.	Climate change	181
1)	Model-based assessment of climate change impacts	183
4.	Agroforestry and soil quality	199
1)	Agroforestry and tree crops	201
2)	Soil and soil fertility	235
3)	Soil (bio)fertilisation	265
4)	Land degradation and livelihoods for the Sahel	301
5.	Food and technology	315
1)	Local food systems and human nutrition	317
2)	Nutrition, food safety and -security	353
3)	Food quality and processing	375
4)	Food, nutrition and gender aspects at the HH level	407
6.	Socio-economics	427
1)	Adoption versus dis-adoption of innovations	429
2)	Markets and value chains	451
3)	Universities, networks and training	473
4)	Towards sustainable livelihoods	501

7.	Institutions	541
1)	GIZ session	543
2)	A4NH - Leveraging agriculture for nutrition and health outcomes	549
3)	BMEL session	553
4)	UGent Research in Africa	557
	Index of authors	563
	Index of keywords	579
	Index of abstract IDs	591

Plenary speeches

BERNHARD FREYER: The Myth about Organic Farming in Africa and What it Could Be	10
NAMUKOLO COVIC: Agriculture Can Improve Nutrition: How Can Countries Leverage Agriculture, Linking with Other Sectors, to Improve Nutrition	11
STINEKE OENEMA: Food and Nutrition Security: The Need for Science Based Coherent Policies and Actions	12
EMILE FRISON: Towards Sustainable Food Systems for the 21 st Century: The Potential of Diversified Agroecological Systems	13
FRANCOIS STEPMAN: What Is Going Wrong with Agricultural Research in Africa?	14

The Myth about Organic Farming in Africa and What it Could Be

BERNHARD FREYER

University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Div. of Organic Farming, Austria

The current debate about organic smallholder farming in tropical and subtropical environments includes more myths than facts about organic farming. One of the dominant misconceptions is that most African smallholder farmers already practice organic farming by default. Having a closer look what makes organic farming specific teaches us that the latter is not the case. What makes organic farming is the integrative approach of high organic matter input via forage legumes, alley cropping, hedges, farmyard manure and compost, the exclusion of non-natural pesticides and herbicides, and a limited and partial exclusion of mineral fertiliser. Eco-intensification, (comprehensive) conservation agriculture, low external input, integrated agriculture, traditional agriculture, climate smart / sustainable agriculture, agroforestry / alley cropping or agro-ecology - in all agricultural methods some of the techniques of organic farming can be found, but mixed up with non organic farming techniques and inputs. Even there are quite some organic smallholder farmers certified in Africa, many questions remain open about the organic approach that are e.g.: How sustainable is the current organic smallholder farmers practice? Are there ecological, technical, economic or cultural barriers to organic production? How to convert a smallholder farm toward organic? And finally how far organic smallholder farming is able to contribute to "feed the world" and to the SDGs? The presentation will offer some answers to these questions and critically discuss the potential of organic farming in Africa.

Contact Address: Bernhard Freyer, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Div. of Organic Farming, Gregor Mendel Straße 33, 1180 Wien, Austria, e-mail: Bernhard.Freyer@boku.ac.at

Agriculture Can Improve Nutrition: How Can Countries Leverage Agriculture, Linking with Other Sectors, to Improve Nutrition

NAMUKOLO COVIC

International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Poverty Health and Nutrition Div., Ethiopia

It seems intuitive that agriculture should improve nutrition, but evidence has shown that this requires deliberate efforts to attain. There is a mismatch between agriculture productivity improvements, and nutrition and health outcomes across low and middle-income countries. Research and programme evaluations have demonstrated that agriculture can indeed improve nutrition when integrated and designed with specific nutrition objectives and sensitivity. The keynote focusses on a synthesis of what we know, challenges and opportunities based on available evidence. The CGIAR Collaborative Research Programme on Agriculture for Nutrition and Health (A4NH) is used as an example to explore opportunities for synergy.

Before 2013, reviews on agriculture and nutrition were largely inconclusive showing little evidence that agriculture can improve nutrition outcomes. This in part due to poor design of projects/programmes making them difficult to evaluate, but also due to lack of specific nutrition objectives. Since 2013 additional evidence has emerged demonstrating that agriculture can indeed improve nutrition for integrated nutrition sensitive agriculture projects/programmes. Beyond key agricultural inputs such as supplying biofortified or nutrient-dense foods, key elements include women's empowerment, targeting, improved programme implementation, nutrition education and enabling multi-sectoral action.

However, how can countries leverage this knowledge, working with other sectors to create stronger linkages with nutrition and health? A4NH work on Leveraging Agriculture for Nutrition in South Asia (LANSA) and East Africa (LANEA) has shown that building commitment and translating commitments into action and impact requires attention to evidence (both data and related perceptions), policy, politics and governance; and capacity and finance. Ethiopia, Zambia and the Comprehensive Africa Agriculture Development Programme (CAADP) are used as case studies on challenges and opportunities for country led action. The case studies show different examples of what works and what doesn't and how a programme such as A4NH can support country performance in a more systematic and rigorous way.

Contact Address: Namukolo Covic, International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Poverty Health and Nutrition Div., Addis Abeba, Ethiopia, e-mail: n.covic@cgiar.org

Food and Nutrition Security: The Need for Science Based Coherent Policies and Actions

STINEKE OENEMA

United Nations System Standing Committee on Nutrition, Italy

The United Nations declared the period 2016–2025 the United Nations Decade of Action on Nutrition. This means the world has been given a period of 10 years to intensify policies, programming and actions to achieve the global nutrition targets as well as accelerate the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). During my presentation I will explain the need for policy coherence for nutrition and how the UN SCN works to achieve this, as well as give examples of gaps in knowledge where universities and research programmes could play a role to help address knowledge gaps, specifically when it concerns transdisciplinary research. I will also provide examples of how scientific knowledge helps to shape policy discussion.

Contact Address: Stineke Oenema, United Nations System Standing Committee on Nutrition, Rome, Italy, e-mail: Stineke.Oenema@fao.org

Towards Sustainable Food Systems for the 21st Century: The Potential of Diversified Agroecological Systems

EMILE FRISON

International Panel of Experts on Sustainable Food Systems (IPES-Food), Italy

Today's food and farming systems have succeeded in supplying large volumes of foods to global markets, but are generating negative outcomes on multiple fronts: wide- spread degradation of land, water and ecosystems; high GHG emissions; biodiversity losses; persistent hunger and micronutrient deficiencies, the rapid rise of obesity and diet-related diseases; and livelihood stresses for farmers around the world. These problems are tied to the industrial model of agriculture that is increasingly dominant around the world. The uniformity at the heart of these systems leads systematically to negative outcomes and vulnerabilities, and particularly the use of an increasingly narrow pool of animal breeds and plant varieties. The 'Green Revolution' of the post-war period left a dual legacy: huge advances in the productivity of staple crops, and the concurrent marginalisation of whole swathes of foods, crop varieties - and the communities depending on them.

The low-diversity industrial model is locked in place by a series of vicious cycles. Highly compartmentalized approaches to research, education and policymaking allow one-dimensional productivity-focused solutions to prevail, and obscure the links between healthy ecosystems, a healthy planet and healthy people. Meanwhile, the way food systems are currently structured allows value to accrue to a limited number of actors, reinforcing their economic and political power, and thus their ability to influence the governance of food systems.

To break these cycles, a fundamentally different model of agriculture is required, based on diversifying farms and farming landscapes, replacing chemical inputs, optimising biodiversity and stimulating interactions between different species, as part of holistic strategies to build long-term fertility, i.e. 'diversified agroecological systems'. There is growing evidence that these systems keep carbon in the ground, support biodiversity, rebuild soil fertility and sustain yields over time, providing a basis for secure farm livelihoods and diverse healthy diets.

Contact Address: Emile Frison, International Panel of Experts on Sustainable Food Systems (IPES-Food), 05018 Orvieto, Italy, e-mail: e.frison@cgiar.org

What Is Going Wrong with Agricultural Research in Africa?

FRANCOIS STEPMAN

Platform for African - European Partnership in Agricultural Research for Development (PAEPARD), Belgium

The book "What is the matter with African agriculture" (Henk J.W. Mutsaers, Paul W.M. Kleene (eds., 2012, 384 pages) brings together the views of a non-trivial sample of agriculturists from many walks of life. It discusses the achievements, failures and challenges of African agriculture and the role played by foreign aid in that story. Fourteen (40) "veteran" authors, divided between 22 Anglophones and 18 francophone, were invited. They answer three questions: (a) Why did we perform so poorly in our activities for agricultural development in Africa? (b) What are the most important drivers of change (social, political, technical) for more productive and profitable agriculture to flourish? (c) To what extent could reorientations in international policy and development aid improve the situation?

Recent reports and international events identify new drivers of change and calls for urgent action.

The interest of development cooperation for agricultural research projects has its ups and downs. The academic world and the development world still seem to operate in different spheres and a collaboration is still challenging due to lack of impact of such research. There is a growing call by research funders and development actors for impact of solutions at scale. This require new ways of working together. In addition, there is an ever-increasing expectation for African agricultural research to create jobs and decrease the dependency on food import.

The context in which jobs have to be created and agribusiness developed is also changing rapidly. The changing farm size distribution in sub-Saharan Africa (especially in the 5 to 100 hectare range where the number of these farms is growing especially rapidly) reflects the increased interest in land by urban-based professionals or influential rural people. Given current trends, medium-scale farms will soon become the dominant scale of farming in many African countries. This suggests a new and hitherto unrecognised channel by which medium-scale farmers may be altering the strength and location of agricultural growth and employment multipliers between rural and urban areas.

Medium-scale farmers will increasingly dominate farm lobby groups, who adds value to agricultural produce and influence policy making and public expenditures to agriculture in their favour. They will ask for research on processing and packaging food and African universities to focus more on farming technology.

Contact Address: Francois Stepman, Platform for African - European Partnership in Agricultural Research for Development (PAEPARD), Brussels, Belgium, e-mail: fstepman@gmail.com

Plants and crops

1)	Cropping systems	17
	Abiotic and biotic challenges in crop production	39
3)	Crop biotic stresses (DPG Session)	61
4)	Ethnobotany, resource use and biodiversity conservation	75

Cropping systems

Oral Presentations	
JULIUS KWESIGA, DANIEL NEUHOFF, GEOFREY GABIRI, KRISTINA GROTELÜSCHEN, KALIMUTHU SENTHILKUMAR, ULRICH KÖPKE, MATHIAS BECKER: Grain Yield and Yield Variability of Rainfed Lowland Rice with "Good Agriculture Practices" in the Kilombero Floodplain of Tanzania	20
KALIMUTHU SENTHILKUMAR, ATSUKO TANAKA, ELKE VANDAMME, IBNOU DIENG, JEAN-MARTIAL JOHNSON, FITTA SILAS SILLO, KAZUKI SAITO: Enhancing Rice Yield through Good Agricultural Practices in Sub-Saharan Africa	21
ADIREK PUNYALUE, JEDSADA JONGJAIDEE, THANYAPHISIT CHAIKHAENG: Nutrient Balance of Rainfed Highland Rice - Legume Crop Rotation in Northern of Thailand	22
MAURICIO EFREN SOTELO CABRERA, NELSON JOSÉ VIVAS QUILA, JESÚS GERARDO GALINDEZ, ROLANDO BARAHONA, SANDRA MORALES VELASCO, NOE ALBAN LOPEZ, JACOBO ARANGO, MICHAEL PETERS: Multi-Locational Agronomic Evaluation of Four Forage Legumes Adapted to Degraded Soils of the Patía Valley in Cauca, Colombia	23
GUY BLOMME, WALTER OCIMATI, NANCY SAFARI, DANIEL AMINI, JULES NTAMWIRA: Performance of Mucuna pruriens as a Cover, Feed and Green Manure Crop in Banana-Based Systems in Eastern Democratic Republic of Congo	24
Posters	
ALEXANDER HOLLAUS, GAREN JENGAN, RAINER WEISS-HAIDINGER: Findings of an Upland Rice Farming Study Using a Participatory Mapping Approach in Sarawak (Malaysia)	25

ARISOA RAJAONA, KALIMUTHU SENTHILKUMAR, KAZUKI SAITO: Characterizing Lowland Rice-Based Farming Systems to Identify Intensification and Diversification Options in Central Highlands of Madagascar	26
PIERRE ELLSSEL, BERNHARD FREYER, GEROLD RAHMANN: A Farming Systems Analysis in Ethiopia's Wheat Belt: Challenges and Perspectives for more Sustainable Agricultural Systems	27
OSMIRA FATIMA DA SILVA, ALCIDO ELENOR WANDER, FLAVIA APARECIDA DE ALCANTARA: Agroeconomic Evaluation of Food Production in Conversion Systems to Organic Farming in Orizona, Goias State, Brazil	28
PAUL FALAKEZA FATCH, CHARLES MASANGANO, IRMGARD JORDAN, ERNST-AUGUST NUPPENAU: Status and Constraints of Agricultural Diversity Practice in Malawi: Case of Lilongwe District Smallholder Farmers	29
MUHAMMAD BILAL, JAN BARKMANN: Determinants of Adoption of Sustainable Intensification- Enhancing Technologies: Evidence from Cotton-Wheat Zone, Pakistan	30
ZAHRA KHOSHNAM, MAHDIYEH AMIRINEJAD, AHMAD AEIN, BAHAREH PARSA MOTLAGH: Investigation of Indigo (Indigofera tinctoria L.) and Roselle (Hibiscus sabdariffa L.) Intercropping Effect on Weed Density	31
ERIC KOOMSON, TARIRAI MUONI, CARSTEN MAROHN, GENEROSE NZIGUHEBA, ALAN DUNCAN, INGRID ÖBORN, GEORG CADISCH: Modelling Catchment-Scale Erosion Mitigation Potential of	
Legume-Led Crop Rotations under Varying Slope Lengths LAURA KUONEN, INGRID FROMM, FRANZ MIRALLES: Analysis of Smallholder Vegetable Production Systems in the Bolivian Highlands	32
AMIT KUMAR SRIVASTAVA, THOMAS GAISER, FRANK EWERT: Options for Sustainable Intensification of Maize Production in Nigeria	34
RABE YAHAYA, EPHREM TADESSE, WALTER MUPANGWA: Appropriate Agricultural Mechanisation for Increased Crop Productivity and Income Generation in Rural Ethiopia	35

JOHN ILUKOR, TALIP KILIC, HEATHER MOYLAN, JAMES	
STEVENSON:	
How Much Can We Trust Farmer Self-Reported Data on Crop	
Varieties? Experimental Evidence Using DNA Fingerprint-	
ing of Cassava Varieties in Malawi	36
JHON FREDDY GUTIERREZ SOLIS, NELSON J. VIVAS QUILA, MICHAEL PETERS, SANDRA MORALES VELASCO, BELISARIO HINCAPIE:	
Agronomic Evaluation of a Collection of <i>Cenchrus ciliaris</i> under Tropical Dry Forest Conditions	37
ALEXANDRE ANTUNES BRUM, ALINE NEUTZLING BRUM: Biological Efficiency (BE) of <i>Pleurotus ostreatus</i> on Corn Straw	
and Supplemented Sawdust in Pelotas - Brazil	38

Grain Yield and Yield Variability of Rainfed Lowland Rice with "Good Agriculture Practices" in the Kilombero Floodplain of Tanzania

Julius Kwesiga 1 , Daniel Neuhoff 1 , Geofrey Gabiri 2 , Kristina Grotelüschen 1 , Kalimuthu Senthilkumar 3 , Ulrich Köpke 1 , Mathias Recker 1

Rainfed lowland rice is commonly produced by smallholder farmers in the floodplains of Tanzania. Erratic rainfall and uncontrolled flooding by spill-over of the river create conditions of unpredictable hydrology. Combined with a low N content of the predominant Fluvisols, N deficiency and unfavourable hydrology are major factors limiting rice production in floodplain environments, and can result in large yield variabilities. The variable and hence unpredictable outcome of farmers' investments is a major disincentive for adopting improved agronomic practices. We investigated rice crop management strategies that improve the use efficiency of water while adding the limiting N regrading rice grain yield and yield variability. Field trials were conducted in three hydrological zones (drought-prone fringe, middle and flood-prone centre positions) of the Kilombero floodplain in 2015, 2016 and 2017. We compared farmers' management (no field leveling and bunding, and no mineral or organic amendments) with different "good agricultural practice" (GAP), which is a set of recommeded crop, soil, water and weed management practices including field bunding, land levelling, application of mineral fertilisers or organic amendments, and combinations thereof with no application of herbicide and pesticide. Grain yield and yield variability between positions, years and replications were assessed. Rice grain yields were highly variable, ranging between 2.1 and 11 tha⁻¹. Yields were generally higher in 2015 and 2017 than in 2016, and more so in the drought-prone fringe and the middle than in the flood-prone centre positions. Farmers practice resulted in lowest yield and highest yield variability between years and positions. The simple bunding of the plots and the leveling of the fields increased water retention, particularly in fringe positions, significantly reducing yield variability between years and positions and increasing grain yields by up to 40 % above farmers' practice. While not always being yield effective, organic amendments (here incorporation of Lablab as pre-rice and Stylosanthes as post-rice green manure or application of farmyard manure) tended to reduce yield variability and hence farmers' production risk. Mineral fertilisers produced highest grain yields but resulted also in high yield variability. We suggest that a successful adoption of different components of GAP in floodplain wetlands is not only site-specific (bunding and levelling in fringe and middle positions), but also depends on farmers' priorities to either maximize yields (apply mineral fertilisers) or to minimize variation and hence risk (apply organic amendments).

Keywords: Farmyard manure, field bunding, floodplain, green manure, mineral fertiliser, urea

¹University of Bonn, Inst. Crop Sci. and Res. Conserv. (INRES), Germany

²University of Bonn, Dept. of Geography, Germany

³Africa Rice Center (AfricaRice), Madagascar

Contact Address: Julius Kwesiga, University of Bonn, Inst. Crop Sci. and Res. Conserv. (INRES) - Agroecology and Organic Farming, Bonn, Germany, e-mail: kwesigajulius@yahoo.com

Enhancing Rice Yield through Good Agricultural Practices in Sub-Saharan Africa

KALIMUTHU SENTHILKUMAR¹, ATSUKO TANAKA², ELKE VANDAMME³, IBNOU DIENG², JEAN-MARTIAL JOHNSON⁴, FITTA SILAS SILLO³, KAZUKI SAITO²

In sub-Saharan Africa (SSA), rice is an increasingly important crop but with low productivity levels currently. The estimated farm level yield gap is between 1 to 4 t ha⁻¹ depending on the rice growing condition due to sub-optimal crop management practices. As a measure to enhance rice yields, good agricultural practices (GAP) were tested in farmers' fields in 33 sites in 19 African countries between 2013 to 2015. A set of 3-4 GAP component technologies were identified based on results from yield gap surveys (YGS) and diagnostic surveys, and expert knowledge. The most prominent GAP components tested were land preparation using locally available tools and implements, improved varieties and certified seeds, optimal crop density, optimal and timely application of organic and inorganic fertilisers, and environmental friendly weed management options. In total, 3000 farmers participated in GAP testing. Yields from GAP plots were compared with yields from YGS for a given site to quantify the impact of GAP on yield. Average yields were higher in GAP plots than in YGS in 90% of the sites. Overall, a yield advantage of 1 t ha⁻¹ was realised through GAP introduction. The yield increase was highest in rainfed lowland at 1.2 t ha⁻¹, followed by rainfed upland and irrigated lowland at 1 and 0.7 t ha⁻¹, respectively. Largest yield gains (>100%) were achieved under rainfed lowland conditions in Benin, Ghana, and Sierra Leone; under upland conditions (>88 %) in Ghana, Madagascar and Benin; under irrigated lowland conditions (>50%) in Cote d'Ivoire, Uganda and Ghana. Yields were lower with GAP in rainfed conditions in a few sites due to severe drought and/or improper execution of GAP. The results of this Africa-wide study suggest that yield can be improved by large-scale introduction of best-bet and best-fit GAP component technologies in SSA. The farmers who participated in the GAP testing were monitored subsequently to assess the adoption potential of GAP component technologies in all sites. The presence of an enabling environment for easy accessibility and affordability of GAP technologies are important to achieve rice self-sufficiency in Africa.

Keywords: Irrigated lowland, rainfed lowland, upland, yield gap

¹Africa Rice Center (AfricaRice), Madagascar

²Africa Rice Center (AfricaRice), Benin

³Africa Rice Center (AfricaRice), Tanzania

⁴University of Bonn, Faculty of Agriculture, Germany

Contact Address: Kalimuthu Senthilkumar, Africa Rice Center (AfricaRice), P.O.Box 1690, Antananarivo, Madagascar, e-mail: k.senthilkumar@cgiar.org

Nutrient Balance of Rainfed Highland Rice - Legume Crop Rotation in Northern of Thailand

ADIREK PUNYALUE, JEDSADA JONGJAIDEE, THANYAPHISIT CHAIKHAENG Highland Research and Development Institute, Dept. of Research, Thailand

Highland farmers in Thailand grow one rice crop per year. However, these farmers lack soil maintenance measures as well as crop rotation. A rice-legume crop rotation could therefore be a way to improve land use in these areas. With the objective to increase overall farm productivity and additional income of farmers, an on-farm study was executed in the Mae Wak village, Mae Chaem district, Chiang Mai province at an altitude of 670 m asl between April 2016 and March 2017. A randomized complete block design was used with five treatments and three replicates. The treatments were: (1) rice (Oryza sativa) monoculture, (2) rice - navy bean (Phaseolus vulgaris), (3) rice kidney bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*), (4) lablab (*Lablab purpureus*) rice - navy bean and (5) lablab rice - kidney bean. Fertilisers were applied in rice with 156 kg ha⁻¹ of urea (46 % N) and 156 kg ha⁻¹ of 16-20-0 (N-P-K) at 25 and 45 days after planting, respectively. Navy bean and kidney bean received 125 kg urea ha⁻¹ and 125 kg NPK ha⁻¹ at 25 and 45 days after planting, while no fertiliser as applied in lablab. No pesticides or herbicides were applied. The experiment showed that rice grain yield with 5.5 5.7 t ha⁻¹ was non-significant different between the treatments. Legume grain yield was 1.5 - 1.6 t ha⁻¹ in navy bean and 1.0 - 1.3 t ha⁻¹ in kidney bean. Total crop residue and nitrogen retaining in the soil was significant different between treatments. Total crop residue in rice legume crop rotation increased by 1.4 - 1.6 times compared to rice monoculture. Nitrogen retained in the soil increased by 2.0 - 2.2times in rice-legume and 2.6 – 2.7 times in lablab-rice-legume when compared to rice monoculture. Nitrogen showed an overall negative balance throughout the experiment with a N removal of 4.6 51.8 kg N ha⁻¹, with the highest N removal registered for the rice monoculture treatment. Therefore, a rice - legume based cropping system reduced the nutrient removal from the highland rice fields. Furthermore, future work has to evaluate the adoption of crop rotation by highland farmers and has to explore the local knowledge on sustainable agriculture.

Keywords: Legume, nutrient balance, rice

Contact Address: Adirek Punyalue, Highland Research and Development Institute (Public Organisation), Dept. of Research, Chiang mai, Thailand, e-mail: adirek_p311@hotmail.com

Multi-Locational Agronomic Evaluation of Four Forage Legumes Adapted to Degraded Soils of the Patía Valley in Cauca, Colombia

MAURICIO EFREN SOTELO CABRERA¹, NELSON JOSÉ VIVAS QUILA², JESÚS GERARDO GALINDEZ², ROLANDO BARAHONA³, SANDRA MORALES VELASCO², NOE ALBAN LOPEZ², JACOBO ARANGO¹, MICHAEL PETERS¹

Climate vulnerability is affecting livestock production in the tropics. In addition, poor management practices such as overgrazing, overstocking and deforestation are converting livestock production in one of the main drivers of soil degradation, resulting in expansion of the agriculture frontier looking for fertile lands. An alternative to reverse soil degradation is the use of improved forages (i.e., legumes and grasses) with the ability to grow in degraded soils and recuperate them rapidly.

Aiming at evaluating the agronomic performance of hebaceous forage legumes under the conditions of Patía Valley-Cauca/Colombia, four species were stablished under dry sub-humid climate and low fertility soils of various stages of degradation. The species tested were: Canavalia brasiliensis CIAT 17009, Centrosema molle CIAT 15160, Stylosanthes guianensis CIAT 11995 and Desmodium heterocarpon CIAT 13651. Previous studies have shown a broad adaptation of these species to marginal/ stressed environments and the production of high nutritious forage. As control a naturalized forage grass was included (Dichanthium aristatum). The field sites were cleared using glyphosate (Roundup 1.5 L ha⁻¹) and fertilised with P, K, Mg and S (22, 41.5, 20 and 20 kg ha⁻¹). Legumes were sown in 2016 at three locations with different levels of degradation (high to low) Piedra Sentada, Mercaderes and Patía, under the following conditions: average rainfall 1616 mm year⁻¹ mean temperature 32°C, at an altitude of 800 m asl for Mercaderes and 500 m asl for the two other sites. A complete randomised block design with 3 repetitions was used. Each plot was 100 m² with a sowing density per hectare of 25 kg for C. brasiliensis, 2 kg for C. molle, 3 kg for S. guianensis and 1 kg for D. heterocarpon. Once established (2017), forage dry matter productivity (DM ton/ha/42 days) was assessed in the wet season. Results showed that S. guianensis hat the highest productivity at all 3 locations (3.2, 2.2 and 4.8 DM ton/ha/42 Day, respectively) compared to C. brasiliensis (2.1, 0.8, 3.9), D. heterocarpon (3.0, 2.2, 1.8) and C. molle (2.5, 1.6, 2.6 respectively). Productivity during the dry season will be measured to valuate performance under drought conditions, anticipating a higher drought tolerance of the deep rooted legumes.

Keywords: Adaptation, forage legumes, livestock production, soil degradation

¹International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Colombia

²University of Cauca, Dept. of Agricultural Sciences, Colombia

³National University of Colombia, Dept. of Animal Production, Colombia

Contact Address: Mauricio Efren Sotelo Cabrera, International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), km 17 recta Cali-Palmira, Cali, Colombia, e-mail: m.sotelo@cgiar.org

Performance of *Mucuna pruriens* as a Cover, Feed and Green Manure Crop in Banana-Based Systems in Eastern Democratic Republic of Congo

GUY BLOMME¹, WALTER OCIMATI², NANCY SAFARI³, DANIEL AMINI³, JULES NTAMWIRA³

Intercropping in banana systems in central Africa is mainly practiced during the rainy seasons, and in low density plantations. Few intercrops are cultivated in more dense plantations and during dry season months. Integration of shade- and/or drought-tolerant crops in these banana systems could significantly boost overall farm biomass production, provide additional forage and a year-round ground cover. Mucuna pruriens is a tropical legume widely used as a forage, fallow, soil cover and green manure crop due to its rapid growth rate. The plant also fixes nitrogen thus fertilising the soil. A total dry biomass production ranging from 7-11 tonnes ha⁻¹ has been reported. Mucuna prefers hot, humid climates with annual rainfall of 1,000 - 2,500 mm, but will grow with annual rainfall as low as 400 mm, possibly due to its often deep root system. The crop exhibits reasonable growth under drought and shaded conditions. Integration of this legume in banana fields, during contrasting seasons was assessed in eastern Democratic Republic of Congo which has a bi-modal rainfall pattern. The rainy seasons cover February till May (596 mm) and September till December (709 mm), while annual rainfall totals 1,522 mm. Mucuna was planted at the beginning and end of the rainy season, and at one month before the end of the rainy season, enabling plantlets to establish before less favourable dry season months. Field management included minimum tillage before planting and hand weeding during the first three months until the soil is completely covered by the Mucuna plants. Plant total above ground biomass was assessed on average at 5.2 months after planting. Mucuna planted at the onset of the rainy season and under mono-cropped conditions yielded on average 4.0 tonnes ha of dry weight biomass per annual growing cycle compared with 2.5 tonnes ha⁻¹ under banana shade. Mucuna planted one month before the end of the rainy season yielded on average 0.6 and 2.1 tonnes ha⁻¹ under respectively, shaded and mono-cropped conditions. Mucuna planted at the very end of the rainy season and under shaded conditions yielded 1.14 and 0.38 tons ha⁻¹ when planted, respectively, in December and May, the former reflecting a less severe dry season. Under mono-cropped conditions, the yields were higher, 4.12 and 1.43 tons ha⁻¹, respectively, when planted in December and May. Although biomass yields were mostly lower for planting dates at end/one month before end of rainy season, year-round biomass production and ground cover during the dry season months was achieved, thus contributing to whole farm productivity, and system integration and health.

Keywords: Biomass production, drought-tolerance, shade-tolerance, whole farm productivity

¹Bioversity International, Ethiopia

²Wageningen University and Research Centre / Bioversity International, Uganda

³Bioversity International, DR Congo

Contact Address: Guy Blomme, Bioversity International, Productive and Resilient Farms, Forests and Landscapes, 5689 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, e-mail: g.blomme@cgiar.org

Findings of an Upland Rice Farming Study Using a Participatory Mapping Approach in Sarawak (Malaysia)

ALEXANDER HOLLAUS¹, GAREN JENGAN², RAINER WEISSHAIDINGER¹

Cultivation of rice plays an important role in food security and nutrition in the life of the Eastern Penan, a former hunter-gatherer society in Borneo (Sarawak, Malaysia). The main farming practice is upland rice cultivation by the means of slashing and burning in a shifting cultivation system. However, a shortening of fallow periods, caused by population growth, and the intensive land use led to a decline in the forest ecosystem functionality and soil quality, which in turn affected the rice yield. Therefore, sustainable hill rice production is essential to maintaining natural resources and mid- to long-term food security for the locals. To give recommendations for sustainable hill farming practices, a preliminary study in the Penan village of Long Lamai (Upper Baram watershed) was conducted. With a population of roughly 600 the village relies on rice farming for subsistence. A participatory research approach was chosen, in which local community members were part of the research team. 183 structured interviews and participatory mapping were conducted to assess key variables of hill rice cultivation, including: production methods, soil aspects, rice varieties, yields and weather conditions during cropping. Spatial references were drawn on aerial images and in a later stage digitised with a GIS program.

Results show a median 6-years fallow period and a one-year cropping phase. Generally, fields are intercropped with two or more kinds of crops, i.e. corn, cucumber or tapioca. The yields comes to a mean of 1.8 t ha⁻¹. Soil fertility was rated as high/medium/ low/ degraded with ratios of 28 %, 35 %, 28 %, and 7 % respectively. Overall, fertiliser application is not common in the village, while pesticides are used on 50 % of the examined fields. On average, the farmers used 3.81ha⁻¹ per year of pesticides. The amount applied has steadily increased since 2013. Because of poor weed management, higher use of pesticide weakly correlates with higher yields. With the participatory mapping approach, a first impression was drawn that the applied farming practices is showing a trend of shorter fallow periods and higher external inputs in the village of Long Lamai.

Keywords: Food security, participatory mapping, shifting cultivation, upland rice

ID 615 25

¹Research Institute of Organic Agriculture (FiBL), Austria

²Community of Long Lamai, Malaysia

Contact Address: Alexander Hollaus, Research Institute of Organic Agriculture (FiBL), Doblhoffgasse 7/10, 1010 Vienna, Austria, e-mail: alexander.hollaus@fibl.org

Characterizing Lowland Rice-Based Farming Systems to Identify Intensification and Diversification Options in Central Highlands of Madagascar

ARISOA RAJAONA¹, KALIMUTHU SENTHILKUMAR¹, KAZUKI SAITO²

Highlands of Madagascar are one of the major rice producing areas, which contributes around 20% of the national rice production. Apart from rice, the highlands are also suitable of dry season legumes and vegetables production. Despite the large potential to produce more rice and other crops, the reasons for the current low productivity of these lands are unknown. Therefore, it is important to understand the biophysical and social-economic aspects of the current farming systems, and the interaction between rice production and farmers' other farm or off-farm activities, to be able to improve the overall land productivity.

This study aims at investigating the agronomic, economic and social context to be able to characterise rice-based farming systems to identify opportunities for intensification and diversification options for sustainable productivity. The resulting knowledge will be used to support farmers to improve their livelihood through better income from rice related and off-season activities, and climate-resilient rice-based farming systems.

A rapid survey was conducted at 218 representative farm households in 19 villages in the central highlands. The methodology described in Alvarez *et al.* (2014), a cross-sectional retrospective method (consisting of two questionnaires: a screening and a main questionnaire), has been used and multivariate analysis conducted to assess farm characteristics.

The results of (1) farmers characterisation, (2) activities that have had repercussions for their use of rice fields, and also the labour availability and inputs for proper management of the rice fields, (3) major constraints to grow rice and other crops and to maintain the productivity, and (4) the alternatives for dry season cropping to improve the overall land productivity will be presented.

Keywords: Diversification, rice, off-season

¹Africa Rice Center (AfricaRice), Madagascar

²Africa Rice Center (AfricaRice), Benin

Contact Address: Arisoa Rajaona, Africa Rice Center (AfricaRice), B.P. 230, Antisrabe, Madagascar, e-mail: a.rajaona@cgiar.org

A Farming Systems Analysis in Ethiopia's Wheat Belt: Challenges and Perspectives for more Sustainable Agricultural Systems

PIERRE ELLSSEL¹, BERNHARD FREYER¹, GEROLD RAHMANN²

Ethiopia is challenged to increase food security, reduce poverty and environmental degradation. About 54% of the total wheat is produced in Ethiopia's wheat belt, mostly by smallholder farmers (SHF). Increased mono-cropping results in surging weed, wheat rust and insect damages. The aim is to enhance the understanding of SHF-systems in the region and to identify challenges/perspectives for more sustainable agricultural systems.

In total 593 randomly sampled smallholder farms were analysed using descriptive and statistical analysis. A focus group discussion and literature review served to clarify and complement these data.

The results display following averages: farm size 1.7 ha, 6.3 household members, wheat yield 2.27 t ha⁻¹, 1.3 t for own use. Most farms are mixed with 90 % of farmers owning one ox or more. An increasing number of oxen positively correlates with increasing yield as it probably allows for timelier field operations. Best yield results are achieved by farmers that (partly) use tractor ploughing. About 60% of farmers mention insects, wheat rust and other pests and diseases as their main challenge in wheat production followed by a "shortage of inputs" and "lack of rainfall". 74 % apply herbicides and 85% fungicides/insecticides in wheat. Soil fertility problems was only mentioned by two farmers, though this issue might aggravate in time as soil erosion and insufficient organic matter management due to non-return of dung, stubble grazing, and deficient crop rotation management are widespread. Farmers with regular crop rotation (always changing crop and ≤25 % of wheat) showed 28 % higher yields compared to farmers with some crop rotation (≥50% of wheat). 38% of farmers apply regular, 56 % some and 6 % no rotation. In average farmers dedicated 58 % of land to wheat, 15% to malt barley and 9% to faba beans. The less land farmers have, the more wheat they grow. Shrinking farm sizes, agronomic and market challenges - among others - for (legume-) crops such as faba bean appear to hinder increased percentages of legumes in the crop rotation. Crop rotations in general indicate negative humus balances, high weed pressure and high risk of soil borne diseases and thus partly explain the relative low yield performance.

Keywords: Crop rotations, Ethiopia, farming systems, food security, productivity, sustainability, wheat

ID 215 27

¹University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Dept. of Sustainable Agricultural Systems, Austria

²Thuenen-Institute of Organic Farming, Germany

Contact Address: Pierre Ellssel, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Dept. of Sustainable Agricultural Systems, Gregor-Mendel-Straße 33, 1180 Vienna, Austria, e-mail: pierree@web.de

Agroeconomic Evaluation of Food Production in Conversion Systems to Organic Farming in Orizona, Goias State, Brazil

OSMIRA FATIMA DA SILVA, ALCIDO ELENOR WANDER, FLAVIA APARECIDA DE ALCANTARA

Brazilian Agricultural Research Corporation (EMBRAPA), Brazil

This study aimed to describe the most important characteristics of two farms who are in conversion from conventional to organic farming in the municipality of Orizona, Goias state, Brazil. A rapid participatory diagnosis was done, to identify the characteristics of interest, which included: (a) the physical, social and intellectual relationship of producers in the development of economic activity; (b) the type of agriculture and livestock in use; (c) the condition of land tenure and use, water availability, and waste management; (d) the use of machinery and equipment on the farm; and (e) improvements in the area, the form of association, media and access to technical assistance and technology transfer. From the results found, it was possible to conclude that: (a) The market for organic products in the region is promising, with an average advantage of 20 % profitability over conventional products. However, consumer awareness is lacking to accept this difference, related to the quality of the product. (b) The creation of an agroecological transition food producers' association to enable the delivery of packaged and certified products to other more consuming markets is still lacking. (c) The main barrier to adopt the research recommendations for these farms was specifically directed to the lack of specialised and qualified technical assistance from the State of Goias to work with the dairy production in the region and lesser difficulty to implement the compost to produce vegetables. (d) The producer expects that the residues generated by livestock farming will be reused rationally in their property for local sustainability, with a greater awareness of the people who deal with and work on the property.

Keywords: Agroecology, family farming, technological profile

Contact Address: Alcido Elenor Wander, Brazilian Agricultural Research Corporation (EM-BRAPA), Rodovia GO-462, km 12, 75375-000 Santo Antonio de Goias, Brazil, e-mail: alcido.wander@embrapa.br

Status and Constraints of Agricultural Diversity Practice in Malawi: Case of Lilongwe District Smallholder Farmers

PAUL FALAKEZA FATCH¹, CHARLES MASANGANO¹, IRMGARD JORDAN², ERNST-AUGUST NUPPENAU³

Malawi, a country with 70 % of the land allocated to maize production and having maize dominated diets, is engaged in a serious drive towards agricultural diversity. A comprehensive understanding of the current state of agricultural diversity in Malawi was needed since existing studies were limited to either crop, livestock or agroforestry diversity alone. The Crops for Heathy Diets: Linking Agriculture and Nutrition (HealthyLAND) project conducted a study in Lilongwe District of Malawi to document the status of agriculture diversity related farming systems. A survey targeting 424 smallholder households was conducted in 2016 and 2017. Stratified sampling was used to select the farmers from 36 villages of four ecological zones administratively called Extension Planning Areas (EPAs).

Results showed that land holding sizes were small, with a mean of 1.682 acres per household, on which a mean of 2.41 different crops were grown. Farmers identified maize (82.5%) as their main crop followed by groundnuts (5.4%) then soy beans (4.7%). Main cropping patterns were crop rotation (46% of households), permanent stand (34.7%) and intercropping (19.6%). Significantly low proportions of households had backyard gardens at 22.4%, while 18.4% practised irrigation and 21.5% practised conservation agriculture. Agroforestry practice (73.4% of households) was significantly high but the growing of trees for fruits was low as 40.3% of households grew mangoes, 2.9% grew guavas, 3.3% grew paw paws, 2.4% grew bananas, 1.9% grew Mexican apples and lemons. Livestock production was also low since only 50.9% of households owned chickens, having a mean of 7.97 chickens per owning household; 26.2% of household owned a mean of 2.8 goats; 17.5% of the households owned a mean of 3.27 pigs; and only 1.7% of the households owned a mean of 3.43 cows. The results reflected low agricultural diversity.

Farmers cited low access to seeds and inputs, limited access to land, poor access to markets, poor security, inadequate knowledge for production, and bad weather patterns as reasons why they were not practicing agricultural diversity. Policy makers and stakeholders should support farmers to address the bottlenecks to agricultural diversity so that farmers can have more diversified and therefore resilient farming systems.

Keywords: Agricultural diversity, agroforestry, crops, livestock, Malawi

¹Lilongwe University of Agriculture and Natural Resources, Extension, Malawi

² Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Center for International Development and Environmental Research, Germany

³ Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Agric. Policy and Market Res., Germany

Contact Address: Paul Falakeza Fatch, Lilongwe University of Agriculture and Natural Resources, Extension, Area 49 New Shire, Lilongwe, Malawi, e-mail: pfatch@bunda.luanar.mw

Determinants of Adoption of Sustainable Intensification-Enhancing Technologies: Evidence from Cotton-Wheat Zone, Pakistan

Muhammad Bilal^{1,2}, Jan Barkmann^{2,1}

¹Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Dept. of Agric. Econ. and Rural Dev., Germany ²Hochschule Darmstadt, Programme in Applied Social Sciences - Risk and Sustainability Sciences, Germany

Increases in agricultural production are often driven by the adoption of technologies including improved quality farming inputs. In low-income countries such as Pakistan, farming household's social and economic conditions greatly determines the adoption of technologies. The study in hand is conducted to examine the role of farming capital variables and socio-demographic including food insecurity of smallholder farming households which assesses the adoption of sustainable intensification (SI) enhancing technologies in Pakistan. We elicit food security outcomes by Household Food Insecurity Access Scale (HFIAS) - an instrument that has not been used in Pakistan for adoption assessment before. We focus the quality of crop care inputs (fungicide, herbicide, insecticide, and seed treatment) as a SI enhancing technologies. The study conducted in cotton-wheat zone of the Punjab, a major contributor in agricultural GDP in Pakistan (N=275 smallholder farming households, multi-stage random sample). Using an ordered probit model, we tested for the influence of farming capital variables and socio-demographic on adoption of improved quality crop care inputs. The finding shows that off-farm income, farm machinery, neighbourhood adopters, education, agricultural extension services, age, cotton area sown, and no-tillage have statistically significant and positive association with the adoption of SI enhancing technologies. Regression estimates also shows that adoption of SI enhancing technologies have negative but statistically significant association with household's food insecurity (P<0.01). Further analysis using endogenous switching regression will seek to reduce endogeneity issues in order to determine if a convincing case for advocating improved quality crop care inputs can be made. For policy implications, based on these results, we suggest to consider that (a) agriculture extension services should more aggressively encourage adoption of improved quality inputs, (b) implement more effective restrictions on sub-quality, uncertified crop care inputs, (c) adoption should be further encouraged through alleviating food insecurity in smallholder farming households.

Keywords: Crop care inputs, food insecurity, smallholder farming households, sustainable intensification

Contact Address: Muhammad Bilal, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Dept. of Agric. Econ. and Rural Dev., Platz der Göttinger Sieben 5, 37073 Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: muhammad.bilal@stud.uni-goettingen.de

Investigation of Indigo (*Indigofera tinctoria* L.) and Roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.) Intercropping Effect on Weed Density

ZAHRA KHOSHNAM, MAHDIYEH AMIRINEJAD, AHMAD AEIN, BAHAREH
PARSA MOTLAGH

University of Jiroft, Dept. of Agronomy and Plant Breeding, Iran

Intercropping is one of the most effective methods to achieve a sustainable agriculture system. In order to investigate the effect of intercropping indigo (Indigofera tinctoria L.) and roselle (Hibiscus sabdariffa L.) on yield and weed biomass, an experiment based on a randomised completely design with three replications, was conducted on the South Kerman Agricultural and Natural Resource Research and Education Center, Iran, in 2014. Treatments were different plant densities of indigo and roselle in an additive and replacement intercropping system: 100:100, 100:50, 50:100, 50:50 and monoculture of indigo and roselle, respectively. The results showed that a maximum yield of roselle (1114 kg ha⁻¹) is obtained at the 100:100 intercropping ratio showing a 29.3 % higher yield as compared to roselle in monoculture. The density of the weed Amaranth (Amarantus sp.) in the 100:100, 50:100 and 100:50 ratios of indigo and roselle, was 57.4%, 81.5% and 70.4% lower as found in the Roselle mono culture, respectively. Maximum plant density of the weed Cyprus (Cyprus sp.) was found in both indigo and roselle mono cultures as well as in the 50:50 intercropping. Plant density of further weeds in 100:100, 100:50, 50:100 and 50:50 ratios were 77.7, 48.2, 51.9 and 44.4 % lower as found in the roselle mono culture. Weed biomass in the 100:100, 50:100 and 100:50 ratios was 25.4, 16.0 and 23.4 % less than in the roselle mono culture and its lowest amount (84 g m²) was encountered in the 100:100 system. It seems that the mono cultures and the 50:50 intercropping of indigo and roselle offered the best ecological niche for weed development; all other intercropping ratios seem to repress weed development.

Keywords: Indigo, intercropping, roselle, weed density

ID 703 31

Contact Address: Mahdiyeh Amirinejad, University of Jiroft, Dept. of Agronomy and Plant Breeding, 8th km of Jiroft-Bandar Abbass Highway, Jiroft, Iran, e-mail: mamiri@ujiroft.ac.ir

Modelling Catchment-Scale Erosion Mitigation Potential of Legume-Led Crop Rotations under Varying Slope Lengths

Eric Koomson¹, Tarirai Muoni², Carsten Marohn¹, Generose Nziguheba², Alan Duncan³, Ingrid Öborn⁴, Georg Cadisch¹

The highland regions of western Kenya are domicile to agricultural activities, but simultaneously constitute a major hot-spot for water-driven soil erosion due to erosive rainfall, intensive land cultivation, and steep topography. In the smallholder-dominated Rongo sub-county land tenure is traditionally organised in strips in slope direction and predominant maize plots are ploughed downhill. Slope length and degree have pronounced influence on surface run-off and soil erosion. The question arises, can legume rotation systems placed in strategic landscape positions minimise effects of slope length on soil degradation and nutrient loss emanating from severe run-off? This study applied biophysical field measurements and modelling to answer this question. The study aimed at improving knowledge of the impact of slope length on farmer selected legume-based cropping systems on sustainability of the production base (soil fertility). environment (run-off, soil loss) and food production. We measured run-off and soil loss on bounded plots of: a) 12 × 4 m RCBD under different legume cover (Mucuna pruriens, Lablab purpureus, Arachis hypogaea) planted in pure stand and Zea mays/ Phaseolus vulgaris intercrop (farmers' practice) with/ without Calliandra calothyrsus leaf mulch; b) 20, 60, and 84 m slopes under Zea mays/ Phaseolus vulgaris intercrop at different locations in the landscape. Experimental data were employed for modelling in a 20 km² watershed using the landscape model LUCIA (Land Use Change Impact Assessment). LUCIA was validated with one-year field datasets on run-off and soil loss. Field results showed that Mucuna pruriens proved most effective in controlling run-off and soil loss after the Calliandra mulch treatment, whereas, highest run-off and soil loss was observed under farmers' practice and Lablab purpureus. Larger soil loss was observed on the longer slope lengths. Model scenarios include rotation of cover legumes with maize intercropped with grain legumes, placement of cover legumes in strips at upper and middle slope positions, expansion of legume cultivation area at the landscape-scale to explore the impact of slope length on soil degradation and food security. In-depth stakeholder discussions on model outputs will focus on identification of sustainable conservation measures and implementation pathways.

Keywords: Landscape, legume, simulation, slope length, smallholder, soil erosion

¹University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), Kenya

³International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), Ethiopia

⁴World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF), Kenya

Contact Address: Eric Koomson, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstrasse 13, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: koomsonnerique@gmail.com

Analysis of Smallholder Vegetable Production Systems in the Bolivian Highlands

LAURA KUONEN¹, INGRID FROMM¹, FRANZ MIRALLES²

The small-scale, low-input vegetable production in the Bolivian Highlands under harsh climatic conditions is often not profitable, nevertheless, these small-scale farmers supply the vegetable markets in La Paz and El Alto, two of the biggest markets in Bolivia. Information about these producers are scarce, but needed to provide a solid base for interventions in this sector. This study has the goal to analyse and describe the smallholder vegetable production system in the Altiplano of the department of La Paz, Bolivia. It contains a comparison of the vegetable production on open field and in greenhouses. Furthermore, it offers a general overview of the market and it attempts to show important aspects of climate change and gender.

The methodology is based on a survey with 53 open field and greenhouse vegetable producers, on interviews with experts working with these producers and as well as on key informant interviews.

The vegetable production continues to be manual work, few open field producers use tractors for the field preparation. The use of chemical pesticides and of certified seed is common. The most important vegetable crops produced in greenhouses are oak leave lettuce, butter head lettuce and lambs lettuce. In the open field production crisp head lettuce, onion, broccoli, and cauliflower are the most important crops. The greenhouse vegetable products are delivered to a company, the open field vegetable products are sold to retailers in the markets of La Paz and El Alto. The problems with the market are: fluctuating prices, selling to intermediaries and the stands in the market. The income from crisp head lettuce, broccoli, and cauliflower do not cover the production costs, however, the other three vegetable crops have a positive net income. The differences between the two production systems are important and need to be considered if action in this sector should be initiated.

Keywords: Bolivia, greenhouse, open field production, smallholders, vegetable markets

¹Bern University of Applied Sciences, School of Agricultural, Forest and Food Sciences, Switzerland

²Swisscontact Bolivia, Bolivia

Contact Address: Laura Kuonen, Bern University of Applied Sciences, School of Agricultural, Forest and Food Sciences, Länggasse 85, 3052 Zollikofen, Switzerland, e-mail: laura.kuonen@bfh.ch

Options for Sustainable Intensification of Maize Production in Nigeria

AMIT KUMAR SRIVASTAVA, THOMAS GAISER, FRANK EWERT University of Bonn, Inst. Crop Sci. and Res. Conserv. (INRES), Germany

Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) is the region at greatest food security risk because by 2050 its population would increase 2.5-fold and demand for cereals approximately tripled. SSA's self-sufficiency (a ratio between domestic production and total consumption or demand) in staple cereals is among the lowest compared to other sub-continents, indicating current levels of cereal consumption already depend on substantial imports. To meet the increasing food demands and protecting environmental quality simultaneously, in a sustainable manner, it is necessary to optimise agronomic management practices to enhance the nitrogen and water use efficiency. Various approaches have been proposed to overcome soil nutrient limitations such as i) conventional intensification mainly based on increased use of mineral fertiliser, ii) using legumes in rotation with main the crop or intercropping systems, or iii) a mix of both by rotation with legumes and supplementary mineral N supply. The mixed approach is widely being promoted in agricultural development programs for small-scale farming in SSA, Estimation of resource use efficiency of double-cropping and crop rotation system is scarce, especially in SSA. Therefore, here we use SIMPLACE modelling framework to identify suitable intensification options for maize-based cropping system in three districts of Nigeria, namely Kwara, Edo and Ogun through investigating (i) long-term crop yield response and (ii) change in crop available N over time. The simulations were run at 10×10 km grid cells for 29 years (1982–2010) and aggregated to the district level for comparing the effects of intensification options. Results indicate that an increase of 276%, 199% and 186% in maize yield could be achieved in Kwara, Edo and Ogun respectively under the intensification option where maize was grown in rotation with groundnut and 60 kg N ha⁻¹ was also applied when compared to the yield levels achieved under conventional farming practices (i.e., under current mineral fertiliser application rate).

Keywords: Food security, intensification, maize, Nigeria

Contact Address: Amit Kumar Srivastava, University of Bonn, Institute of Crop Science and Resource Conservation (INRES), Katzenburgweg 5, 53115 Bonn, Germany, e-mail: amit@uni-bonn.de

Appropriate Agricultural Mechanisation for Increased Crop Productivity and Income Generation in Rural Ethiopia

RABE YAHAYA, EPHREM TADESSE, WALTER MUPANGWA International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center (CIMMYT), Sustainable Intensification Program (SIP), Ethiopia

The growth of available farm power per hectare has been very slow resulting in high drudgery on smallholder farms of Ethiopia. Low horse power (8-20 hp) two-wheel tractors (2WT) offer an option for rural farmers in addition to animal traction and human muscle based systems that characterise smallholder agriculture in Ethiopia. The 2WTs are multi-purpose, offering services such as direct planting with precise seed and fertiliser placement, harvesting, threshing and shelling, water pumping for irrigating high value crops, and transport. Smallholder farmers can have access to these tractors and equipment through services provided by individual and youth group service providers (SPs). Smallholder farmers benefit from the services provided by SPs while the SPs can generate income for themselves in the process of providing services in rural communities. CIMMYT and its partners have been testing and promoting the use of 2WT based technologies including planters for maize, wheat and teff; threshers for wheat, teff and other related crops; maize shellers; reaper harvester for wheat, water pumping for irrigation of high value crops and trailers for transportation. The cost benefit and profitability analyses were conducted for each 2WT accessory separately and in combination to gauge the economic viability of single and combined operations from both the farmer's and service providers' stand point. The gross margins per ha when farmers use 2WT based technology is higher by 55-89 % compared to a non-mechanised farmer practice. The higher gross margins were due to reduced costs for ploughing, planting, fertiliser application, threshing and transportation for both crops. Service provision of 2WT based technologies proved to be viable and profitable generating a high and positive Net Present Values (NPV). A combination of seeder, thresher, trailer and water pump gives the highest financial benefit ranging from US\$24,465 to US\$62,081. With initial capital investment cost of US\$7,275 the second more profitable combination is the seeder, thresher and trailer that can generate US\$24,122-US\$61,738. Break-even point in hours of machinery operations for the seeder, transport and thresher is 27.3–304.3 hours. Therefore, agricultural mechanisation has a high potential of reducing drudgery on farms, increasing farm productivity and generating income in rural Ethiopia

Keywords: Drudgery, Ethiopia, food security, income generation, mechanisation, service provision, smallholders, two wheel tractor, youth employment

ID 298 35

Contact Address: Rabe Yahaya, International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center (CIMMYT), Sustainable Intensification Program (SIP), Ilri Sholla Campus Cmc Road P.o. Box 5689, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, e-mail: r.yahaya@cgiar.org

Agronomic Evaluation of a Collection of *Cenchrus ciliaris* under Tropical Dry Forest Conditions

JHON FREDDY GUTIERREZ SOLIS¹, NELSON JOSÉ VIVAS QUILA², MICHAEL PETERS¹, SANDRA MORALES VELASCO², BELISARIO HINCAPIE¹

Cattle farming is one of the main agricultural activities in Colombia and the main source of income for many farmers. In order to make the cattle sector more productive and resilient to, there exists a need to explore new forage options responding to adverse and changing climates in the warm regions of the country and more general in the Latin American tropics.

With the aim to evaluate the agronomic adaptation and response of a collection of *Cenchrus ciliaris* during the establishment phase and production, plots of 9 m² were planted under a randomized complete block design, with four replications, and using for control commercial materials previously evaluated in the region (e.g. *B. brizantha* cv. Toledo). The research was carried out in the Patía Municipality of the Cauca Department, an inter-Andean valley located in the south of Colombia at an altitude of 608 m asl, characterised by tropical dry forests with soils of medium fertility and long dry periods.

Once the collection of 20 accessions was established, the agronomic evaluation was started using the methodology of the International Network for the Evaluation of Tropical Pastures (RIEPT), which takes into account variables such as vigor, coverage, height, incidence of pests and diseases, flowering, green forage and dry matter production.

The evaluations were carried out in two years during periods of maximum and minimum precipitation, which allowed to observe the performance of the materials and to pre-select the following ones according to the dry matter production when compared with the best control materials: *B. brizantha* cv. Toledo had a yield of 43.3 tha⁻¹ year⁻¹; *B.* hybrid cv. Cayman 40.31, and Panicum maximum cv. Mombasa 31.98, respectively. The genotypes evaluated with best yields were the accessions 6642, 15687 and 13299, with an average production of 39.59, 37.33 and 36.50 tha ⁻¹ year⁻¹, respectively. These results show that, despite of having a lower forage production than the control materials of *Brachiaria* and *Panicum*, the evaluated materials can be an excellent alternative for the potential adaptation to the evaluated agro ecological conditions.

Keywords: Forage production, germplasm

ID 712 37

¹International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Colombia

²University of Cauca, Dept. of Agricultural Sciences, Colombia

Contact Address: Jhon Freddy Gutierrez Solis, International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Km 17 recta Cali - Palmira, Palmira, Colombia, e-mail: j.f.gutierrez@cgiar.org

Biological Efficiency (BE) of *Pleurotus ostreatus* on Corn Straw and Supplemented Sawdust in Pelotas - Brazil

ALEXANDRE ANTUNES BRUM¹, ALINE NEUTZLING BRUM²

In recent years, mushrooms production (*Pleurotus* spp) has increased around the world due its degrading capacity, versatility and low complexity at cultivation process. The South of Brazil allows the development of this activity once presents satisfactory climatic conditions: mild temperature and high humidity and a wide availability of subsistence agriculture residues. In this experiment was used: 70% of corn straw, 15% of eucalyptus sawdust, 8% of wheat bran, 5% of gypsum and 2% of calcium carbonate to pH 5.5 and 2% of P. ostreatus var. Florida inoculum in relation to the wet weight of used substrate. The substrate preparation was conducted by immersing the ground of corn straw in water for 24 hours, after this period occurred the mixture including the sawdust, wheat bran and supplements. This mixture was conditioned in 5 kg bags. In sequence bags were submitted to the vapour chamber at 95°C for 8 hours. The cultivation took place in a rubble greenhouse with controlled humidity. A total of 22 bags were observed, as result, the production volume of week 1 and 2 were similar (p = 0.154), the same occurred at week 2 and 3 (p = 0.092). The production volume of week 3 was lower when compared to week 4 (p = 0.015). The mean values to mushroom's production per bag was 1025,45g. The mean values of week production per bag were: $361g (\pm 118)$ to week 1, $297g (\pm 80)$ to week 2 and 226g (± 86) and 154g (± 20) respectively to week 3 and 4. The result of BE=68.4% indicates satisfactory result for the first contact between fungus and substrate. The present productive process is a sustainable option to study region considering the availability of corn straw and eucalyptus sawdust, another research is investigating the effectivity of this process on farm system.

Keywords: Biological efficiency, mushrooms, South of Brazil

¹Federal University of Pelotas, Biotechnological Center, Brazil

²Federal University of Rio Grande, Health Science, Brazil

Contact Address: Aline Neutzling Brum, Federal University of Rio Grande, Health Science, Rio Grande, Brazil, e-mail: neutzling@live.de

Abiotic and biotic challenges in crop production

Invited Paper	
SUCHIT SHRESTHA, PASHUPATI CHAUDHARY, KRISHNA DEV JOSHI, BHABA PRASAD TRIPATHI, FOLKARD ASCH: Adaptation Study at Altitudinal Gradients Hints Plant Response to Climate Stressors	42
Oral Presentations	
TIL FEIKE, RONJA STRAUCH, MARYAM TAHMASEBI: Exploring Potentials for Narrowing Farmers' Wheat Yield Gaps in Golestan Province, Iran	43
MARC COTTER, ARISOA RAJAONA, KALIMUTHU SENTHILKU- MAR, BAYUH BELAY ABERA, BOSHUWENDA ANDRE CHUMA, ANDO LALAINA RAZAFINDRAZAKA, FOLKARD ASCH: Comparison of Multi-Locational Phenological Responses of Rice Cultivars to Altitudinal Gradients in Temperature	44
SARAH SCHNEIDER, LORENZ BACHMANN: Agroecology as a Pathway to Build up Sustainable Food Systems - Experiences from the Semiarid Regions in Brazil, India and Senegal	45
ALECK KONDWAKWENDA, JULIA SIBIYA: Screening of Provitamin A Maize Inbred Lines for Drought Tolerance Using Morpho-Physiological and Biochemical Traits	46
Posters	
HARUKI ISHIKAWA, KOHTARO ISEKI: Nitrogen Distribution Analysis for All Seeds of Cowpea (Vigna unguiculata) Using Single-Seed near Infrared Spectroscopy	47
CLAUDINE RAZANABOAHIRANA, MARTINA KYALLO, MOUSSA SIE, YAO NASSER: Genetic Diversity and Population Structure of Red Pericarp	
Rice from Madagascar and Togo Using SSR Markers	48

STEFAN HAUSER, OMOLARA ONASANYA, REBECCA ENESI, PIETER PYPERS, FELIX SALAKO, MUTIU BUSARI: Best Planting Practices for Cassava – An Approach to Develop a Decision Support Tool	49
KRISTIAN JOHNSON, SABINE STÜRZ, MARC SCHMIERER, FOLKARD ASCH: Effects of Day and Night Temperature on Rice Photosynthesis	50
AYE AYE THANT, MARIE KALOUSOVÁ, BOHDAN LOJKA, RAKESH KUMAR SINGH: On-Farm Rice Diversity and Farmers' Preferences to Varietal Attributes in Ayeyarwady Delta, Myanmar	51
ELENA LUYCKX, ANDO LALAINA RAZAFINDRAZAKA, ARISOA RAJAONA, FOLKARD ASCH: Assessing Seed Germination and Seedling Vigour in Rice under Different Thermal Regimes	52
THI HUYEN TRANG DAM, AMJATH BABU, PETER ZANDER: Quantifying Impacts of Raising Seawater Levels and Resulting Saline Water Intrusion on Sustainability of Paddy Production: A Vietnamese Case	53
BAYUH BELAY ABERA, MARC COTTER, KALIMUTHU SEN- THILKUMAR, ARISOA RAJAONA, FOLKARD ASCH: Transplanting Instead of Direct Seeding as an Option to Mit- igate Abiotic Stress Conditions in Rainfed Lowland Rice in High Altitude Rice Systems of Ethiopia	54
STACY DENISE HAMMOND HAMMOND, BART PANIS, IVA VIEHMANNOVÁ, JIRI ZAMECNIK: Development of a PVS2 Droplet Vitrification Method for Yacon (Smallanthus sonchifolius) Cryopreservation	55
JOSIAH CHIVEU, ELKE PAWELZIK, MARCEL NAUMANN: Salinity Tolerance of Guava (<i>Psidium guajava L.</i>) and the Implications for its Adaptation into Saline Environments	56
RAÚL C. LÓPEZ SÁNCHEZ, ERNESTO JAVIER GÓMEZ PADILLA, ROELAND SAMSON, PATRICK VAN DAMME, MIAJIL BULLAIN GALARDIS, JUAN ANTONIO TORRES RODRIGUEZ, AMADOU BA, LUDOVIC PRUNEAU, BETTINA EICHLER-LOEBERMANN: Morphological and Physiological Responses of Seagrape (Coccoloba uvifera L.) Seedlings of Different Provenances to	
Salt Stress SAMUEL OLUWAFEMI OJO, STEFAN HAUSER, REBECCA ENESI, LINDSEY NORGROVE: Canopy Dynamics of two Climate-SmartCassava Varieties un-	57
der Drought in SW Nigeria	58

MARC SCHMIERER, OLIVER KNOPF, FOLKARD ASCH: Analysis of Yield Components and Photosynthetic Limitations of a Dwarf Rice Variety in Response to Shade	59
HOSSAM SSEBBANJA, JOHN ILUKOR:	
Varietal Choice and Varietal Change: Do Varietal Attributes Matter? The Case of Potato Varieties in Uganda	60

Adaptation Study at Altitudinal Gradients Hints Plant Response to Climate Stressors

Suchit Shrestha¹, Pashupati Chaudhary², Krishna Dev Joshi¹, Bhaba Prasad Tripathi¹, Folkard Asch³

Increasing global food demand due to population growth and rising of living standard of both rural and urban population in one hand and decreasing global food production due to urbanisation, degradation of cultivable land and climate change on the other are threatening future food security. Changes in two weather parameters, temperature rise and erratic rainfall, are introducing multiple biotic and abiotic stresses at different sensitive growth stages in most of the locally adapted and farmer preferred crops resulting in low productivity. In 2008, GIZ/BMZ funded RISOCAS project addressing Adaptation of African Agriculture to Climate Change aimed to investigate response of temperature and other weather parameters on crop growth and development. We conducted trials along three altitudinal and temperature gradients (Andranomanelatra, 1625 m asl; Ivory, 965 m asl and Ankepaka, 25 m asl) in Madagascar using 10 upland rice genotypes for two consecutive years (2008 and 2009) to examine responses of temperature on upland rice. Daily mean air temperature during upland rice growing season was 7 - 22°C in the high altitude, 19 - 27°C in the mid altitude and 17 -29°C in the low altitude. The relationship between mean air temperature and crop parameters showed that unit increment in air temperature decreased crop duration by 5 to 9 days and increased crop yield by 0.1 to 0.3 t ha⁻¹ depending upon genotypes, indicating that rise in air temperature is favourable for upland rice cultivation at high altitudes, and expansion of upland rice growing area in high altitude regions (hills, mountains, highlands) can contribute to global food security to certain limit.

Keywords: Crop duration, thermal gradient, upland rice, yield components

¹International Rice Research Institute (IRRI), Nepal

²Agriculture and Forestry University, Nepal

³University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

Contact Address: Suchit Shrestha, International Rice Research Institute (IRRI), Kathmandu, Nepal, e-mail: suchit.shrestha@gmail.com

Exploring Potentials for Narrowing Farmers' Wheat Yield Gaps in Golestan Province, Iran

TIL FEIKE¹, RONJA STRAUCH¹, MARYAM TAHMASEBI²

Yield gap describes the difference between the potential yield of a specific crop genotype in a given environment and farmers' actual yield. Narrowing yield gaps offers the opportunity to increase production without expanding cropland. Quantifying and explaining farmers' yield gaps allows identifying the constraints that farmers face regarding productivity and evaluate opportunities to narrow yield gaps. Golestan province in northeastern Iran is an important national base for wheat production and contributor to food security. Here we collected primary production data of 540 wheat producing farm households, which we selected through a stratified random sampling procedure. Building on farmers' reported crop management as well as site-specific soil information and daily weather data, we employed the AquaCrop model to estimate each individual farmer's water limited and potential wheat yields under current and optimised management. With average actual yields of 3.5 t ha⁻¹ and potential nonwater limited yields of 8.2 t ha⁻¹, we identified a wheat yield gap of nearly 60 %. By solely optimising irrigation management, yield gaps could be reduced from 60% to around 50%. If farmers could overcome all other yield limitations including weeds, pest and diseases as well as suboptimal timing of management measures, yield gaps could even be reduced to around 20 % using current (suboptimal) irrigation practices. The analysis shows that the often-claimed necessity and potential of improving irrigation water supply and management is only one (relatively small) part of the solution. To narrow yield gaps in Iranian wheat production it requires a broader approach that integrates stable input supply and training of farmers in all aspects of crop management.

Keywords: AquaCrop, farm survey, wheat, yield gap

ID 770 43

¹ Julius Kühn-Institut (JKI), Federal Research Centre for Cultivated Plants, Inst. for Strategies and Technology Assessment, Germany

²University of Zabol, Department of Agronomy, Iran

Contact Address: Til Feike, Julius Kühn-Institut (JKI), Federal Research Centre for Cultivated Plants, Inst. for Strategies and Technology Assessment, Stahnsdorfer Damm 81, 14532 Kleinmachnow, Germany, e-mail: til.feike@julius-kuehn.de

Comparison of Multi-Locational Phenological Responses of Rice Cultivars to Altitudinal Gradients in Temperature

Marc Cotter 1 , Arisoa Rajaona 2 , Kalimuthu Senthilkumar 2 , Bayuh Belay Abera 1 , Boshuwenda Andre Chuma 1 , Ando Lalaina Razafindrazaka 1 , Folkard Asch 1

The increasing demand for land suitable to secure human food security in the future has already impelled agricultural production into marginal lands. In these, environmental conditions have a much more pronounced impact on agricultural productivity. In addition to that, climate change is expected to increase the unreliability of weather conditions for farmers considerably, thus endangering food security in developing countries in particular. Rice, as an example, is a staple crop and main source of carbohydrate for large parts of humanity, has been adapted to a wide range of environmental conditions, and offers a great possibility to fill in future gaps in food security. Nevertheless, in many regions, such as the Highland of East Africa, the choice of varieties adapted to these specific environmental conditions is limited, often not tested yet.

In order to test the impact of temperature due to altitudinal gradients on the phenological development of rice varieties in East Africa, field trials have been set up. One field site is located in northern Ethiopia, two sites in southern and western Rwanda and two sited in central Madagascar. The sites were selected to represent altitudinal gradients, with overlapping elevations to enable cross-country comparisons. Planting dates where distributed throughout three calendar years, with continuous iterative planting dates taking place in Madagascar, in- and off-season planting dates in Rwanda with different fertiliser regimes, and one planting date during each rainy season in Ethiopia testing different management options. Out of a wider selection of varieties, we have selected 4 rice varieties (Chhomrong, IR64, X-Jigna, Yun-Keng) grown under a total of 9 different thermal environments to compare and evaluate the phenological performance such as days to emergence, days to panicle initiation, days to heading/booting, days to flowering, days to maturity.

These results will help to identify a) potentially suitable varieties for further adaptation to East African Highland environments, b) help to improve phenology-dependent fertiliser recommendation and c) offer the potential to adapt existing or devise new cropping calendars, suitable for the security of future food production systems.

Keywords: Altitude, East Africa, phenology, rice, temperature

¹University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²Africa Rice Center (AfricaRice), Madagascar

Contact Address: Marc Cotter, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstr. 13, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: Cotter@uni-hohenheim.de

Agroecology as a Pathway to Build up Sustainable Food Systems -Experiences from the Semiarid Regions in Brazil, India and Senegal

SARAH SCHNEIDER¹, LORENZ BACHMANN²

Agroecology has much to offer to the more than 500 million smallholders world-wide. Despite the socio-economic and environmental challenges that smallholder farmers face, they play a unique role and pose immense potential for constructing more sustainable food systems. Increasingly, elements of stewardship, mitigation, approaches embracing sociocultural diversity and biodiversity, and sustainable and dignified livelihoods are all coming together under the heading of agroecology.

To assess the potential of agroecology for smallholders in semi-arid regions, the cooperation agency MISEREOR conducted three country studies together with local NGOs from Brazil (Centro Sabiá), India (SSP) and Senegal (Enda Pronat). The studies compared farmers adopting agroecological practices with a control group (non-adopters). Per country, about 200 agroecological farmers and 200 farmers from the control group were interviewed. The main field phase of the first study started in India in April 2016, the second study followed in July in Brazil and the third study was conducted in March 2017 in Senegal. After the field phase, the data was analysed and the preliminary results were discussed at country workshops with farmers on site.

The studies provided consistent information that farmers working under agroecological approaches are performing considerably better than their peers. In all countries, agroecological farmers produced more food than the control group and had an increased yearly income. Such production also reflects on food security, as the first group presented better results for food self-consumption and a more diverse diet (percentage of increase in the value for self-consumption in comparison to control group: Brazil: 100 %, India: 67 %, Senegal: 14 %). Therefore, the families need to buy less food on the market and are less vulnerable to volatile food prices. Also, earnings from selling agricultural produce increased considerably: in Brazil 177 %, India 79 % and Senegal: 36 %. The poorest households benefitted most from increased incomes.

In sum it is possible to sustain that agroecological systems have a promising potential in rural development and are 'pro-poor', particularly if oriented to vulnerable populations living in regions susceptible to climate change impacts.

Keywords: Agroecology, climate change, resilience, rural development

¹MISEREOR, Dept. of Policy and Global Challenges, Germany

²Misereor, Freelance Consultant, Germany

Contact Address: Sarah Schneider, MISEREOR, Dept. of Policy and Global Challenges, Mozartstr. 9, 52064 Aachen, Germany, e-mail: sarah_schneider@posteo.de

Screening of Provitamin A Maize Inbred Lines for Drought Tolerance Using Morpho-Physiological and Biochemical Traits

ALECK KONDWAKWENDA, JULIA SIBIYA

University of KwaZulu-Natal, School of Agricultural, Earth & Environmental Science (SAEES) - Plant Breeding, South Africa

The potential role of maize (Zea mays L.) in combating food insecurity in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) is indisputable given the wide production and consumption in this region. However, its role in curbing nutrition insecurity is questionable due to lack of key micronutrients such as vitamin A. This has been deemed to be contributory to high prevalence of 'hidden hunger' related conditions such as vitamin A deficiency (VAD) in this region. On the other hand, maize production in this region is constantly under threat from recurrent and episodic droughts. Development of drought tolerant biofortified maize could be a solution to food and nutrition insecurity in this region. Drought tolerance being a complex trait requires integrated approaches of selecting candidate genotypes. In this study, with the objective of selecting drought tolerant candidate inbred lines, 46 provitamin A maize inbred lines and 4 drought tolerant checks were screened under optimum and drought conditions in the greenhouse and field for drought tolerance using grain yield, anthesis silking interval (ASI), number of ears per plant (EPP), plant height, stomatal conductance, leaf senescence, chlorophyll content, leaf rolling and proline content. Analysis of variance, Pearson's correlation coefficient, principal component analysis and drought tolerant index were computed. There were significant differences ($p \le 0.001, 0.01, 0.05$) among the genotypes' performances under both optimum and drought conditions. Some inbred lines that had high grain yield under both optimum and drought conditions scored moderately high to high values for yield components such as number of ears per plant, kernel weight and shelling percentage under drought conditions. Moderately high to high proline content was observed and was positively correlated to grain yield under drought stress. Under drought, the first two principal components were most influential contributing 59.22% of the total variation in which ASI and EPP had higher loadings followed by proline content and grain yield. Seven lines were earmarked as drought tolerant with twenty-four lines being moderately drought tolerant. These results suggest that proline content might be considered as one of the biochemical traits that can be used in screening maize for drought tolerance.

Keywords: Biofortification, drought, inbred line, maize, provitamin A

Contact Address: Aleck Kondwakwenda, University of KwaZulu-Natal, School of Agricultural, Earth & Environmental Science (SAEES) - Plant Breeding, 55 Mills Circles, 3102 Pitermaritzburg, South Africa, e-mail: alekondwa@gmail.com

Nitrogen Distribution Analysis for All Seeds of Cowpea (Vigna unguiculata) Using Single-Seed near Infrared Spectroscopy

HARUKI ISHIKAWA¹, KOHTARO ISEKI²

Cowpea is an important crop for food security, as it is a primary source of protein and cash income for farmers in the dry savannah areas of sub-Saharan Africa. Improved varieties should contain reasonable amounts of protein in the grains, and to ensure this, timely and cost-effective analytical methods are strongly required. Recently, a procedure for estimating the cowpea grain nitrogen (protein) content in single seed using near infrared (NIR) spectroscopy was developed. The technique was able to estimate nitrogen content in intact seed within 20 sec. It was expected that the developed technique would be able to evaluate the protein content in new varieties and/or for nutritional screening in cowpea breeding program. However, nitrogen distribution in a plant is still poorly understood. In this study, evaluation of nitrogen content with all seeds in one plant was performed using single seed NIR technique. A total of 4,005 seeds were collected from five plants (Tvu456) according to location information, such as a peduncle position node, number, and position of seed in the pod. Then, nitrogen content of each seed was evaluated. Average seed number was $801 \pm$ 487.1, maximum seed number was 1600 and minimum seed number was 373 per plant. Average nitrogen content was 3.79 ± 0.53 %N, and maximum and minimum N% were 6.52 and 3.42 per seed, respectively. Nitrogen content had positive correlation with seed weight and the seed weight varied widely (average: $112.6 \,\mathrm{mg} \pm 88.5$). However, it was thought that there was no particular relation between N content and node position or seed position in the pod. These relationships will be discussed in the presentation.

Keywords: Cowpea, near infrared spectroscopy, nitrogen content, protein content, single-seed measurement

¹International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), Grain Legume, Nigeria ²Japan International Research Center for Agricultral Sciences (JIRCAS), Japan

Contact Address: Haruki Ishikawa, International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), Grain Legume, Oyo Road, PMB5320 Ibadan, Nigeria, e-mail: h.ishikawa@cgiar.org

Genetic Diversity and Population Structure of Red Pericarp Rice from Madagascar and Togo Using SSR Markers

CLAUDINE RAZANABOAHIRANA¹, MARTINA KYALLO², MOUSSA SIE³, YAO NASSER²

Red pericarp on rice (*Oryza* spp) is one of the traits which interests breeders and farmers in Madagascar. However, there are no genetic diversity studies done on this specific rice in Madagascar. Research reporting of traditional varieties are a source of variation. Understanding the genetic diversity in the available genotypes is very important for the crop improvement. The objectives of this study are to assess the genetic diversity and relationship of rice accessions from Madagascar and AfricaRice genebank, and to build a core collection of these accessions for conservation and for starting point of a breeding program.

20 SSR markers were used to characterise 238 genotypes from FOFIFA (National Center for Applied Research and Rural Development), AfricaRice genebank and also from farmers preferred varieties.

A total of 192 alleles were detected among the 238 genotypes. The number of alleles varied from 4 (RM21) to 20 (RM11 and RM164) with an average of 11.29 per locus. The mean PIC value per locus was 0.64 with a maximum value of 0.81 recorded for SSR marker RM 001 and lowest value of 0.15 observed for SSR marker RM215. Heterozygosity varied from 0.01 (RM168 and RM 256) to 0.27 (RM205 and RM222) with an average of 0.12. The principal coordinate plot showed two distinct clusters, African rice genotypes grouped in cluster I and Madagascar genotypes in cluster II, and the cluster II subdivided into three subgroups A, B, C. The analysis of the molecular variance (AMOVA) revealed that 38% of the variation was attributed by difference among individuals, 47% among population and 15% of variation was associated with individuals. 61 genotypes were assembled to present the core collection, 17 are African genotypes. Genotypes from Madagascar are very diverse, however those from AfricaRice can be source of private alleles.

Keywords: Genebank, genetic diversity, *Oryza* spp, red pericarp, traditional variety

¹FOFIFA / Institut Polytechnique UniLaSalle, Rice Research / Plant Breeding, France

²International Livestock Research (ILRI), Biosciences eastern and central Africa (BecA), Kenya

³Africa Rice Center, Breeding Task Force, Madagascar

Contact Address: Claudine Razanaboahirana, FOFIFA / Institut Polytechnique Uni-LaSalle, Rice Research / Plant Breeding, 19 Rue Pierre Waguet, Beauvais, France, e-mail: jeanne.razanaboahirana@etu.unilasalle.fr

Effects of Day and Night Temperature on Rice Photosynthesis

KRISTIAN JOHNSON, SABINE STÜRZ, MARC SCHMIERER, FOLKARD ASCH University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

It has been shown that the yield of rice (*Oryza sativa*) decreases in response to higher night temperatures. Projected temperature increases due to climate change are expected to be more pronounced at night. As the primary staple for more than half of the world's population, a decrease in rice yield could pose a serious threat to food security. However, the phhysiological response of rice to night temperature is not yet fully understood. Studies indicate both positive and negative effects of high night temperatures on CO₂ assimilation and growth in rice. It has also been shown that the physiology of rice during the day is also affected, as warmer nights lead to higher leaf conductance and net assimilation rates during the day. It is unclear if the day response is part of a mechanism to compensate for depleted carbohydrate pools within the leaves from night-time respiratory CO₂ losses. A day-time increase in net assimilation, comprised of assimilation, day respiration, and photorespiration, implies changes in the photosynthetic complex to either reduce CO₂ releasing processes or an increase in assimilation.

In the presented study, groups of 5-week-old IR64 rice plants were exposed to six different two-week long day and night temperature treatments in a growth chamber. After one week of adjustment to the temperature treatment, photosynthetic parameters, such as assimilation rate, stomatal and mesophyll conductance, and respiration and growth parameters, such as leaf area, biomass, tiller number were measured among sampled plants. During the temperature treatment, the youngest developed leaf on the main tiller was shaded for 40 hours, and on re-exposure to light assimilation was measured. In both temperature and shade treatments, leaf samples were taken to determine levels of non-structural carbohydrates and active Rubisco content.

Keywords: Climate change, mesophyllic conductance, night temperature, photosynthesis, photorespiration, respiration, rice

Contact Address: Folkard Asch, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstr. 13, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: fa@uni-hohenheim.de

On-Farm Rice Diversity and Farmers' Preferences to Varietal Attributes in Ayeyarwady Delta, Myanmar

Aye Aye Thant 1 , Marie Kalousová 1 , Bohdan Lojka 1 , Rakesh Kumar Singh 2

¹Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. Tropical AgriSciences, Czech Republic ²International Rice Research Institute, Plant Breeding, Genetics, and Biotechnology, Philippines

Crop genetic resources are the corner stone of sustainable agricultural development as these can be used to improve crop varieties adaptable to heterogeneous environmental conditions. Myanmar is one of the centres of genetic diversity of rice and there are still many landraces present in the country. Moreover, the diversity of Oryza sativa in Myanmar is the highest in Southeast Asia. The main objectives of this survey were to identify the current varietal diversity of monsoon season rice in Ayeyarwaddy delta, the rice bowl of Myanmar, and to assess farmers' preferences for rice varietal traits. A total of 150 respondents were randomly selected from five townships, namely, Bogale, Mawlamyinegyun, Labutta, Myaung Mya, and Pathein, in Ayeyarwaddy region. The survey questionnaires included data on rice varieties grown, major problems in rice production and associated socio-economic characteristics. Farmers' preferences on rice varietal traits were measured by using 24 important traits, which were scored from 1 (extremely important) to 3 (not important). Almost 83 percent of the sampled farmers cultivated more than one variety per season. Growing several varieties per season serves as a function of risk management and for resilience to diverse weather conditions. Varietal diversity was higher in areas affected by salinity and there was no correlation between farm size and levels of varietal diversity. The diversity onfarm was high since 39 different rice varieties were found. Among those 39, farmers mostly grew Pawsan varieties, Mee Shay, Ayeyarmin, Manaw, and Madama, as top five varieties. Fifty two percent of total cultivated land in sampled villages was occupied by Pawsan group, therefore, those Pawsan varieties are of high importance in the Ayeyarwady delta. The farmers ranked the varietal attributes according to their preferences in the following order: i) high market demand, ii) high yield with less inputs, iii) resistance to insects/diseases, iv) high milling recovery, and v) less broken rice. Understanding farmers' preferences would also increase variety diversification.

Keywords: Farmers' preferences, Myanmar, rice, varietal diversity

ID 431 51

Contact Address: Aye Aye Thant, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. Tropical Agri-Sciences, Prague, Czech Republic, e-mail: aye18988@gmail.com

Assessing Seed Germination and Seedling Vigour in Rice under Different Thermal Regimes

ELENA LUYCKX 1 , ANDO LALAINA RAZAFINDRAZAKA 1 , ARISOA RAJAONA 2 , FOLKARD ASCH 1

Rice production environments are quite diverse and often cropping calendar options are limited by either water availability or low temperature. Sustainable intensification of rice production systems requires flexibility in the choice of cultivar, sowing date, and management options. In transplanted systems, nurseries provide options to exploit early genotype × environment to the advantage of later development stages. In order to target nursery management to specific systems changes, it is important to know germination and early seedling vigour capacity of genotypes potentially subjected to new growing environments. Therefore, germination capacity, mobilisation efficiency of grain reserves, days to onset of photo-autotrophy and partitioning of early dry matter gains to the different organs was investigated under temperature regimes typical for tropical low altitude (28/20°C day/night) and tropical high altitude systems (20/12°C day/night) for four contrasting irrigated lowland rice genotypes. Rice was grown in wet loamy sand in a climate chamber and was destructively sampled for plant organs and remaining kernel weight for 14 days after seedling emergence in two day intervals.

Germination and early seedling vigour differed significantly among the genotypes and the temperature regimes. Results indicate that low temperatures extend the period of initial water uptake during germination. Once hydrated, seeds metabolic activities followed the same patterns as under optimal temperature. In cold tolerant varieties mobilisation of grain reserves during early growth of the seedling resulted in smaller respiration losses than in cold sensitive genotypes and thus a higher mobilisation efficiency. In contrast, cold sensitive genotypes reached photo-autotrophy earlier but took longer to compensate respirational losses during germination, resulting in a reduced early seedling vigour. The implication for nursery planning and varietal selection for flexibility in cropping calendars will be discussed for rice growing areas at high altitudes in East Africa.

Keywords: Cold stress, germination efficiency, *Oryza sativa*, management option, reserve mobilisation efficiency

¹University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²Africa Rice Center (AfricaRice), Madagascar

Contact Address: Elena Luyckx, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstr. 13, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: elena.begue@gmx.de

Quantifying Impacts of Raising Seawater Levels and Resulting Saline Water Intrusion on Sustainability of Paddy Production: A Vietnamese Case

THI HUYEN TRANG DAM, AMJATH BABU, PETER ZANDER

Increasing soil salinity is an environmental stressor, which causes significant reduction in cultivated land area, crop productivity and increase in risk of farming. Saltwater intrusion in the dry season is a major concern in Vietnam due to geographical and meteorological conditions. In particular, in the north central coastal region of the country, soil salinisation is considered to be one of the most serious problems affecting rice and other crops, limiting crop productivity and affecting food security. To

Leibniz Centre for Agric. Landscape Res. (ZALF), Inst. of Socio-Economics, Germany

country, soil salinisation is considered to be one of the most serious problems affecting rice and other crops, limiting crop productivity and affecting food security. To better understand the adverse impacts of soil salinisation in crops from the north central coastal region of Vietnam, this study investigates production risk under salt water intrusion in rice producing areas taking the cases in four communes of Thua Thien hue province using J-P stochastic production function. Electrical Conductivity (EC - a term used to describe a measurement unit of salinity) was measured in order to examine the salinity level in both dry and wet crop seasons of surveyed farms. The model of relationship between EC and rice yield is presented to determine how much rice yield is changing by salinisation impact. The regression result shows salinity is clearly impacting yield levels resulting in an average yield loss of 0.164 Mg ha⁻¹ per unit of EC increase. Simultaneously, results from the risk function show that higher EC levels increase the variance of yield. Possible options to offset the impacts of climate changed induced salinity are discussed in the context of rice production and regional food security. This study can be used to help derive site-specific yield goals in context information on EC correlations with rice yield and yield variability is limited.

Keywords: Climate change, impact assessment, rice, salinity, South East Asia

ID 88 53

Contact Address: Thi Huyen Trang Dam, Leibniz Centre for Agric. Landscape Res. (ZALF), Inst. of Socio-Economics, Eberswalder Straße 84, 15374 Müncheberg, Germany, e-mail: trang.dam@zalf.de

Transplanting Instead of Direct Seeding as an Option to Mitigate Abiotic Stress Conditions in Rainfed Lowland Rice in High Altitude Rice Systems of Ethiopia

Bayuh Belay Abera 1 , Marc Cotter 1 , Kalimuthu Senthilkumar 2 , Arisoa Rajaona 2 , Folkard Asch 1

Rain fed lowland rice in the high-altitude plains of Ethiopia is constrained by two major abiotic stresses (1) available precipitation during the cropping period and (2) low temperatures causing spikelet sterility towards the end of the cropping season. Current practice of direct seeding is constrained by water availability as fields are sown after the first rains which may be delayed or less intense than optimal. The productivity of rice is additionally restricted as only short to medium duration varieties can be grown due to the risk of spikelet sterility during flowering which coincides with the cold stress. The system could gain flexibility by changing from direct seeding to transplanting. For transplanting, rice is sown in seedbeds, which require much less space and water and thus allow for more variability in the sowing date. Depending on the seedbed duration, a share of the basic vegetative phase (BVP) is already happening before transplanting, which may offer an opportunity to also include long duration varieties by increasing seedbed time and transplanting older seedlings that may still reach flowering during optimal temperature conditions. Seedbed duration can also act as a buffer period in case the onset of the rainy season is delayed. A field study was conducted in the 2016 and 2017 cropping seasons with the aim of investigating variation the effect of the crop establishment methods on the phenological development and yield performance of contrasting rice genotypes. Ten genotypes contrasting in duration (110 to 175 days), were simultaneously direct dry seeded and transplanted as three weeks old seedling at the Fogera National Rice Research and Training Center research station. The experiments were carried out in randomised complete block design with three replications. Data on phenological development, yield, and yield components was recorded and analysed. Differences in the rate of phenological development as well as yield performance were clearly observed between transplanting and direct seeding. The results of this study will provide information for the design of new or adapted crop calendars and crop management recommendations, thus helping to improve and stabilise yields of rain fed lowland rice farming systems.

Keywords: Cold stress, direct seeding, genotypes, phenology, transplanting, yield

¹University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²Africa Rice Center (AfricaRice), Madagascar

Contact Address: Bayuh Belay Abera, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstr 13, Stutgart, Germany, e-mail: bayuhb@gmail.com

Development of a PVS2 Droplet Vitrification Method for Yacon (Smallanthus sonchifolius) Cryopreservation

STACY DENISE HAMMOND HAMMOND¹, BART PANIS², IVA VIEHMANNOVÁ¹,

JIRI ZAMECNIK³

Yacon [Smallanthus sonchifolius (Poepp. and Endl.) Robinson] is a perennial root crop belonging to the Asteraceae family and originating from the Andean region. It is cultivated for its edible tuberous roots high in inulin-type fructooligosaccharides of low caloric value. This study aims at developing an efficient cryopreservation protocol for long-term preservation of yacon using the PVS2 droplet vitrification method, which is considered to be an emerging generic method for cryopreservation of plant tissues. Until now, no studies have been reported of this method being applied to this species. To carry out the experiment, 1.8-2.5 mm apical shoot tips were excised from 3-4 weeks old *in vitro* cultures of an octoploid yacon landrace, originated from Ecuador and maintained at Czech University of Life Sciences Prague. Excised shoot tips were exposed to loading solution and three different time intervals for PVS2 dehvdration at 0°C were tested. Shoot tips were then exposed to ultra-rapid cooling on aluminum foil strips $(0.5 \times 2 \text{ cm})$ in liquid nitrogen (LN) and were then rewarmed in 1.2 M sucrose MS (Murashige and Skoog, 1962) liquid medium. Post-cryo cultures were placed on recovery MS media containing 6-Benzylaminopurine (BA) and on MS without BA to determine which media was more efficient for survival and recovery after PVS2 droplet method. Ten shoot tips per treatment were used and 3 repetitions were carried out to ensure the reliability of the results. Callus formation, shoot plus callus formation, full growth normal, hyperhydration and colour of shoot tips were evaluated. Preliminary results showed that yacon can survive after cryopreservation using PVS2 droplet vitrification. Survival of shoot tips exposed to short time (15 min) PVS2 was higher; the optimal recovery media was MS without BA as BA induced a higher level of hyperhydration and callus formation in post-cryo cultures. However, further evaluation will be carried out on post-cryo cultures to ensure the regeneration of well-rooted plants that can survive ex vitro transfer. Cryopreservation of crop species contributes to the world food security. The long-term conservation of this species is important, as it ensures the safe storage of the species for future generations.

This research was financially supported by the Internal Grant Agency of Faculty of Tropical AgriSciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague IGA (Project No. 20185015) and the project QJ1630301 of the Czech Ministry of Agriculture. BP gratefully acknowledges the Directorate-General for Development, Belgium (DGD) for their financial support to the project 'Safeguarding vegetatively-propagated crop diversity to nourish people now and in the future'.

Keywords: Long-term preservation, PVS2, Smallanthus sonchifolius

ID 420 55

¹Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. of Tropical AgriSciences, Dept. of Crop Sciences and Agroforestry, Czech Republic

²Bioversity International, c/o KU Leuven, Belgium

³Crop Research Institute, Plant Physiology and Cryobiology Laboratory, Czech Republic

Contact Address: Stacy Denise Hammond Hammond, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. of Tropical AgriSciences, Dept. of Crop Sciences and Agroforestry, Kamycka 1281, Kolej F204, 16521 Prague, Czech Republic, e-mail: hammondstacy9@gmail.com

Salinity Tolerance of Guava (*Psidium guajava* L.) and the Implications for its Adaptation into Saline Environments

JOSIAH CHIVEU, ELKE PAWELZIK, MARCEL NAUMANN

University of Goettingen, Department of Crop Science, Division of Quality of Plant Products, Germany

Water scarcity and salinity increasingly aggravate agricultural production. Natural boundaries imposed by soil salinity also limit the caloric and nutritional potential of agricultural production. Therefore, it is important to determine the salt-tolerance threshold of crops and to identify well-adapted genotypes. Common guava (Psidium guajava L.) is highly valued for its delicious fruits, which are an excellent source of vitamins, minerals, and natural antioxidants. However, guava production is faced with salinity challenges in many guava-producing countries, such as Brazil, Mexico, Australia, India, Sudan, and Kenya. In a six-week greenhouse experiment, guava plants were subjected to salinity levels of 0 mM (control), 10 mM (low), 20 mM (medium), and 40 mM (high) of sodium chloride (NaCl) to test the level of salt tolerance. The leaf dry biomass decreased with increasing salinity by 7.8, 26, and 67 percent in the low-, medium-, and high-salinity levels, respectively, while the same remained constant in the stems and roots. Consequently, the shoot/root ratio decreased with increasing salinity, suggesting that the root was less sensitive to salt stress than the shoots. An analysis of the proline levels confirmed the effect of salt stress on the leaves as proline increased with higher salinity. In accordance, the sugar content (fructose and sucrose) of the leaves also raised with increasing salinity, ranging from 0.98 g/100 g in the control to 1.67 g/100 g in the 40 mM treatment. The net photosynthesis in the salt treatments decreased in comparison to the control. Guava was not efficient at excluding Na from the transpiration stream as high amounts of Na were accumulated in leaves with increasing salinity until at 40 mM NaCl, when the plants began to die. This suggests that guava can tolerate a salinity concentration of less than 40 mM which should be considered for selecting guava accessions for adaptation to saline environments.

Keywords: Adaptation, NaCl, proline, *Psidium guajava*, salinity tolerance, selection, sugars

Contact Address: Josiah Chiveu, University of Goettingen, Department of Crop Science, Division of Quality of Plant Products, Carl-Sprengel-Weg 1, 37075 Goettingen, Germany, e-mail: josiah.chiveu@agr.uni-goettingen.de

Morphological and Physiological Responses of Seagrape (Coccoloba uvifera L.) Seedlings of Different Provenances to Salt Stress

Raúl C. López Sánchez¹, Ernesto Javier Gómez Padilla¹, Roeland Samson², Patrick Van Damme³, Miajil Bullain Galardis¹, Juan Antonio Torres Rodriguez¹, Amadou Ba⁴, Ludovic Pruneau⁴, Bettina Eichler-Loebermann⁵

Seagrape (Coccoloba uvifera) is a small tree widely distributed along the Atlantic, Caribbean and Pacific coasts of the American tropics and subtropics. It is an important tree for edible fruits, ornamental plantings and coastal windbreaks. Although its tolerance to salt stress was reported, physiological information on the salt tolerance mechanisms at seedling state is not available. The effect of salt stress on some morphological and ecophysiological traits of seagrape seedlings of different provenances was evaluated under greenhouse conditions. Plants were subjected to different salt levels by adding NaCl (Control, 5, 15, and 25 dS m⁻¹ NaCl) during four weeks. The morphological (shoot height, root length, root and shoot weight and root/shoot ratio) and physiological (leaf water content, root water content, chlorophyll fluorescence, specific leaf area and leaf area) traits were evaluated. The salt stress levels had negative effects on morphological traits of seagrape seedlings, whereas the seedlings showed different responses on salt stress in dependence of their provenance. At the highest level of salt stress the seagrape seedlings did not survive. Shoot height and root length were reduced up to 38 % and 27 %, respectively, at 5 dS m $^{-1}$ and up to 72 % and 73 %, respectively, at 15 dS m⁻¹. The reduction of dry weight was between 43 % at 5 dS m⁻¹ and 74 % at 15 dS m⁻¹. Salt stress also reduced the water content in roots and shoots. This salt stress test with seagrape seedlings can be an effective approach to screen salt tolerance of seagrape genotypes. However, it is necessary to carry out more studies with seed of other provenances and in situ experiments to obtain further information about salt tolerance of seagrape.

Keywords: Coccoloba uvifera, provenances, salt stress, tolerance

¹University of Granma, Fac. of Agricultural Sciences, Cuba

²University of Antwerp, Dept. of Bioscience Engineering, Belgium

³Ghent University, Dept. of Plant Production - Lab. for Tropical Agronomy, Belgium

⁴Antilles University, Guadeloupe

⁵University of Rostock, Fac. of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, Germany

Contact Address: Bettina Eichler-Loebermann, University of Rostock, Fac. of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, J. von Liebig Weg 6, 18059 Rostock, Germany, e-mail: bettina.eichler@uni-rostock.de

Canopy Dynamics of two Climate-SmartCassava Varieties under Drought in SW Nigeria

Samuel Oluwafemi Ojo 1 , Stefan Hauser 2 , Rebecca Enesi 3 , Lindsey Norgrove 1

Cassava (*Manihot esculenta*) is a major staple in Nigeria and elsewhere in sub-Saharan Africa where it is grown without irrigation. However, the estimated yield gaps between those obtained on farmers' fields (12 Mg ha⁻¹) and on research stations (up to 60 Mg ha) remain high. There is also little information about yield determinants and the impacts of the dry season on growth, leaf area development, senescence, and biomass partitioning of the cassava plant and how these impacts vary between variety and with fertiliser application. Given projected changes in rainfall, we conducted a study to understand better the development of the crop as well as the growth response to water deficiency during the dry season. This was part of the "African Cassava Agronomy Initiative" sponsored by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. The factorial experiment compared the responses of two drought-tolerant varieties of cassava (TMEB 419, IITA-TMS-IBA980581), to four different potassium fertiliser treatments (nil fertiliser, 75 kg N ha⁻¹ and 20 kg P ha⁻¹ with 90, 135 or 180 kg K ha⁻¹ elemental application rates) and two different planting dates, replicated in four blocks and at two sites in South West Nigeria. Measurements over the dry season (October 2017 – February 2018) included biomass partitioning, light intensity and canopy interception with the aid of a ceptometer, leaf senescence and leaf area estimates. Preliminary observations show TMEB 419 with a taller stem and less dense canopy than IITA-TMS-IBA980581. Relationships between dry season response and yield in 2018 will be established allowing to optimise the planting time and fertiliser regime for each variety.

Keywords: Cassava, climate-smart agriculture, manioc, sub-Saharan Africa, sustainable intensification

¹Bern University of Applied Sciences, MSc in Life Sciences - Agricultural and Forest Sciences. Switzerland

²International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), Nigeria

³ETH Zürich, Dept. of Environmental Systems Science, Switzerland

Contact Address: Lindsey Norgrove, Bern University of Applied Sciences, School of Agricultural, Forest and Food Sciences, Länggasse 85, 3052 Zollikofen, Switzerland, e-mail: lindsey.norgrove@bfh.ch

Analysis of Yield Components and Photosynthetic Limitations of a Dwarf Rice Variety in Response to Shade

MARC SCHMIERER, OLIVER KNOPF, FOLKARD ASCH

University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

Tree intercropping is said to be a promising approach to replenish poor soils, mitigate drought events and prevent erosion. However, cereals like rice, wheat and maize that comprise the major calorie sources for the world's population, show large reductions in yield when intercropped within trees. This fact is often attributed to tree-crop competition for nutrients, soil moisture and light, where the latter is a resource solely limited by environmental conditions that cannot be replenished.

While crop adaption strategies to shade regarding the adjustment of yield components and the biochemical properties of the photosynthetic complex are relatively well described, there is a lack of consensus about how far the different diffusional resistances to CO_2 (stomatal and mesophyll) are adjusted in shade. We therefore combined a yield component analysis of rice plants grown in a climate chamber experiment under 2 different levels of shade (50 and 75 percent compared to a control treatment) and an analysis of diffusional and non-diffusional (biochemical) limitations to flag leaf photosynthesis.

Grain yield of shaded plants was reduced by 80 and 100% for plants grown under 50 and 75% shade, respectively. The yield component analysis revealed that the total number of tillers was the main factor causing yield reduction for plants grown under 50% shade (58% contribution to grain yield loss) while the ratio of productive tillers remained almost constant between the treatments. Furthermore, average kernel weight contributed 19% of the reduction in yield, followed by kernel number per panicle (10%) and percentage of filled spikelets (9%). For plants grown under 75% shade, all yield components contributed equally to total yield loss (20% each).

A photosynthetic limitation analysis showed that in all treatments leaf mesophyll conductance of CO_2 was the largest contributor to limitations in photosynthetic capacity. However, plants grown under 50 % shade consistently showed the highest photosynthetic capacity and a significant increased mesophyll conductance compared to plants grown under full light or 75 % shade during the whole vegetative phase.

Additional results will be shown and a short illustration of the methodology will be given.

Keywords: Mesophyll conductance, rice, shade, yield components

Contact Address: Marc Schmierer, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: marc.schmierer@gmail.com

Crop biotic stresses (DPG Session)

Oral Presentations	
PASCAL MITAMBO KAGOMBE, HENRI BISIMWA MUZIGERA, STEPHAN WINTER:	
Evaluation of Control Options to Reduce the Impact of the Fall Armyworm, <i>Spodoptera frugiperda</i> , on Maize in Smallholder Cultivation on the "Plaine de La Ruzizi", DR Congo	63
CATHERINE WAMBUI KINUTHIA, OSCAR INGASIA AYUYA, JANE GISEMBA NYAANGA: Factors Influencing Level of Pesticide Usage among Small Scale Tomato Farmers in Kenya	64
JACQUELINE NAMUSALISI, HUGO DE GROOTE, ANANI BRUCE, CATHERINE KUNYANGA, JOHN M WAGACHA: Evaluation of Hermetic Technologies in Controlling Insect-	04
Pests, Mould Infestation and Aflatoxin Contamination of Stored Maize	65
SAMAR SHEAT, BETTINA FÜRHOLZNER, BEATE STEIN, STEPHAN WINTER: Control of the African Cassava Brown Streak Disease with	03
Virus Resistant Cassava Germplasm from South America	66
VIVIANE UMULISA, BARBARA REICHERT, DANIEL KALISA: Practices and Perceptions of Pesticide Use in Tropical Wetlands: An Assessment from the Nyabarongo Lower Catchment in Kigali, Rwanda	67
Posters	
TRUNG DUNG NGUYEN: Implementation of IPM-Programme for Clean and Safe Rice in Mekong River Delta (Vietnam)	68
JOSEPHINE KARANJA, HANS-MICHAEL POEHLING: Comparison of Neem Soil and Foliar Treatments for Control- ling the Whiteflies Aleyrodes proletella and Trialeurodes vapo-	60
rariorum Behnosh Hosseini, Abbas El-Hasan, Ralf T. Voegele: Morphological and Molecular Characterisation of European Species of the Diaporthe/Phomopsis Complex Associated with Soybean Seed Decay	6970

SHEILLAH CHEROTICH, JANE NJUGUNA, ALICE MUCHUGI, AGNES GACHUIRI, JAPHET MUTHAMIA: Fungal Flora Associated with Canker and Dieback Disease in Adansonia digitata and Sclerrocarya birrea under Domestication in Eastern Kenya	71
MARCIEL J. STADNIK, FELIPE M. DE QUADROS, MATEUS B. DE FREITAS, MARLON C. DE BORBA: Resistance Evaluation of Black Bean Germplasm to the Fusarium Wilt Disease	72
BRENDA RASOWO, INUSA AJENE, FATHIYA KHAMIS, SAMIRA MOHAMED, SUNDAY EKESI, CHRISTIAN BORGEMEISTER: Citrus Greening Disease, East African Situation: Incidence, Severity and Patterns of Distribution	73
Zahra Sadat Hosseini, Majid Majidian, Tahereh Hasanloo, Mozhgan Kowsari: Effects of Different <i>Trichoderma harzianum</i> Strains on Growth and Production of Secondary Metabolites in <i>Trigonella foenum</i> -	
graecum	74

Evaluation of Control Options to Reduce the Impact of the Fall Armyworm, Spodoptera frugiperda, on Maize in Smallholder Cultivation on the "Plaine de La Ruzizi", DR Congo

PASCAL MITAMBO KAGOMBE¹. HENRI BISIMWA MUZIGERA¹. STEPHAN WINTER²

The "plaine de la Ruzizi" at the border of DR Congo, Rwanda and Burundi is a fertile arable land where cassava and maize present(ed) the principle food crops. As the cassava brown streak disease that destroyed the entire root harvest essentially eliminated cassava production in the region, maize gained considerable ground as the main staple food. The arrival of the fall armyworm, Spodoptera frugiperda, a disastrous pest of maize, at the beginning of 2017 resulted in an enormous devastation of the crop and caused severe food shortages. More seriously, because of the lack of any knowledge about the pest and options for its control, the resource poor farming community was left rather helpless in the combat to reduce the impact from the calamity that was foreseen for the coming cropping season. Our intervention, to assist the community in controlling the pest considered, accessible methods and locally available materials, the use of a biological insecticide (Conserve) based on Saccharopolyspora spinosa compounds and the use of a synthetic insecticide. The latter was in particular significant because the farmer community demanded for any product that could provide immediate relief. Our experimentation considered the best moment to begin the control action by scouting fields for signs of insect eggs, nymphs and frass windows, efficacy of control, and repetition of treatment. Four variables were compared on demonstrations plots at 3 sites and on maize parcels of 10.5 m \times 48 m. Reducing the numbers of insects by crushing egg masses, nymphs and collecting caterpillars and the application of a home-made wood ash/oil mix were compared with chemical treatments using Conserve (Dow Chemical) and the most generally used Roket (40 % (Profenofos) + 4 % (Cypermethrin). Because there was complete absence of any concept on safe use of pesticides, demonstration and training was provided on precautionary measures, the use of protective overalls and gear as well as safety of users and passers-by.

We report the results, experiences and knowledge gained from two seasons of interventions to combat the fall armyworm attacking maize in the South Kivu region and discuss the options left for small resource poor farmers to reduce the severe impact of this pest and to assure food on the table

Keywords: DR Congo, fall armyworm, maize

¹Action des Volontaires pour la Paix et le Developpement (AVPD), DR Congo

²Leibniz-Institute, German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures GmbH, Plant Virus Department, Germany

Contact Address: Stephan Winter, Leibniz-Institute, German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures GmbH, Plant Virus Department, Messeweg 11/12, 38102 Braunschweig, Germany, e-mail: Stephan.Winter@dsmz.de

Evaluation of Hermetic Technologies in Controlling Insect-Pests, Mould Infestation and Aflatoxin Contamination of Stored Maize

Jacqueline Namusalisi¹, Hugo de Groote¹, Anani Bruce¹, Catherine Kunyanga², John M Wagacha³

Hermetic storage technologies, as a food-insecurity intervention, create a bio-generated atmosphere that offers a safe and reliable storage solution for maize grains. There are many studies about their effectiveness against post-harvest pests in SSA but little information exists on their effectiveness against mould and mycotoxin infestation. Furthermore, previous studies have not compared the performance of hermetic technologies with the conventional synthetic pesticides and their effectiveness against both mould proliferation and insect infestation. Trials simulating African smallholder farmer conditions were conducted in the postharvest laboratory at Kiboko (a semi-arid area in Kenya) and at University of Nairobi laboratory for 8 months during the 2017 storage season. There were eight hermetic treatments (metaland plastic silo, and 6 brands of hermetic bags) against two non-hermetic treatments (a registered synthetic pesticide and untreated control, in polypropylene bags. Maize grains were subjected to two levels of moisture (12-13 % and 14-15 %) and two levels of natural and artificial fungal inoculation (Fusarium and Aspergillus). Treatments were arranged in a RCBD. The study found that hermetic treatments were significantly superior to non-hermetic treatments in the prevention of mycotoxin, and fungal development among other benefits. However, there were no significant differences between metal silos and hermetic bags regardless of the mode of infestation. The aflatoxin levels were not significantly different in the dry inoculated grain, across all the storage technologies (p = 0.05) compared with the baseline levels. This indicates that, within 8 months of storage, mould proliferation is not likely in dry grain stored under hermetic conditions. However, in the innoculated grains with high moisture, there was an increase in aflatoxin levels in both hermetic and in the control by 5.7 ppb and 12.1 ppb, respectively. At high levels of moisture, the grain is likely to be contaminated by the mycotoxins in both hermetic and conventional storage technologies. There was a strong correlation between total insect and fungal population per kg which indicate the importance of controlling insect pest during storage to reduce losses. Also, fungal population and mycotoxin levels increased exponentially with moisture increase in the non-innoculated grains. Aspergillus and Fumonisin spp. were higher in the controls compared with the hermetic storage technologies hence low oxygen reduced fungal proliferation.

Keywords: Food insecurity, fungal inoculation, hermetic storage, mycotoxins, post-harvest insects

¹International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center (CIMMYT), Mexico

²University of Nairobi, Department of Food Science, Nutrition and Technology, Kenya

³University of Bonn, Inst. Crop Sci. and Res. Conserv. (INRES) - Phytomedicine, Germany

Contact Address: Hugo de Groote, International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center (CIMMYT), Mexico city, Mexico, e-mail: h.degroote@cgiar.org

Control of the African Cassava Brown Streak Disease with Virus Resistant Cassava Germplasm from South America

SAMAR SHEAT, BETTINA FÜRHOLZNER, BEATE STEIN, STEPHAN WINTER

Leibniz-Institute, German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures GmbH, Plant

Virus Department, Germany

Cassava brown streak disease (CBSD) is the most devastating disease of cassava (Manihot esculenta Crantz) in East Africa and is presenting a serious threat to cassava cultivation on the continent. The two virus species, Cassava brown streak virus (CBSV) and Uganda Cassava brown streak virus (UCBSV) cause a very similar disease but differ in their ability to replicate in cassava. On the plant side, there are cultivars that respond with severe symptoms particularly on roots while others respond to CBSD viruses with mild symptoms on leaves and stems only, have unblemished roots and maintain a low virus titer. Nevertheless, all African cassava cultivars become virus infected and there is uncertainty whether those resistant lines are resistant against UCBSV, CBSV or both viruses.

Virus screening to identify resistance in cassava under field conditions is very critical and often doubtful because it is bound to the presence of virus(es) and their infection pressure. Virus type, vector behaviour and inoculation time contribute to uncertainty in finding the right sources. The aim of this is study was to develop an efficient laboratory method for virus screening of cassava and to screen the diversity of South-American cassava germplasm (maintained in the CIAT germplasm repository) for resistance against CBSVs. For screening large numbers of cassava plants, we had to develop a robust and efficient virus inoculation and evaluation workflow.

Our search for natural resistance in 238 South-American cassava lines revealed that most South-American cassava varieties tested were susceptible to CBSV. However, we also identified 9 cassava lines that did not become infected while in further 9 lines, CBSV was not found in leaves but the virus was restricted to the root tubers. The resistance was characterised by further biological assays with cassava, also including other virus isolates and molecular experiments to quantify and localise virus in the infected susceptible and the resistant immune cassava plant. Preliminary results from field trials show the outstanding CBSD resistance of South-American cassava varieties. This work provides convincing evidence for the invaluable contribution of germplasm collections to supply the genetic resources for the improvement of our crops.

Keywords: Cassava, cassava brown streak disease, resistant immune plant, virus screening

Contact Address: Samar Sheat, Leibniz-Institute, German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures GmbH, Plant Virus Department, Messeweg 11/12, Braunschweig, Germany, e-mail: samar.sheat@dsmz.de

Practices and Perceptions of Pesticide Use in Tropical Wetlands: An Assessment from the Nyabarongo Lower Catchment in Kigali, Rwanda

VIVIANE UMULISA¹, BARBARA REICHERT¹, DANIEL KALISA²

The use of pesticides in tropical wetlands is important to ensure the availability of vegetables throughout the year. This is particular the case for the valley bottom wetlands in high altitudes, overpopulated countries such as Rwanda, where this is strongly promoted by the government. However, the potential negative effects allied to farmer's perception, which influence pesticides handling and use are often neglected in policy making due to nearly non-existing research on the topic. This study aimed infiled identification of pesticides used; how they are used, unhealthy behaviour associated with pesticide in order to inform decision makers. A multi-level data collection which included deep interviews with district agronomists (n=20), smallholder farmers (n=40) covering vegetables farming plots (n=165) was conducted during July and August 2016 and 2017, and October to November 2017. The study revealed that majority of farmers poorly uses insecticides and fungicides. 73 % of respondent reported a complete lack of pesticides education; this is reflected in unhealthy behaviours that include pesticides mixing and the wash of empty containers and equipment with wetland water (80%). Furthermore, even though the application rates were always lower than rates recommended on labels, the intensity of application was two to three times higher than the recommended intensity. The high frequent use was influenced by factors such as weather variability, habitual behaviour such as saving field from upcoming pests rather than following indications on labels, farm size or intended crops. The results call for urgent integration of farmer's education in the pesticides policies, followed by regular evaluation of farmer's perception toward pesticides. This study contributed to monitoring pesticide residues in water and soil as a part of a broader PhD research project on anthropogenic disturbances and effects of agrochemicals on environmental quality in major wetlands of Rwanda.

Keywords: Farmers perceptions, pesticide use, pesticides, wetland

¹University of Bonn, Steinmann-Institut für Geologie, Mineralogie und Paläontologie, Germany

²University of Rwanda, Rwanda

Contact Address: Viviane Umulisa, University of Bonn, Steinmann-Institut für Geologie, Mineralogie und Paläontologie, Nussallee 8, 53115 Bonn, Germany, e-mail: viviane.umulisa@gmail.com

Implementation of IPM-Programme for Clean and Safe Rice in Mekong River Delta (Vietnam)

TRUNG DUNG NGUYEN

ThuyLoi University in Hanoi, Economics and Management, Vietnam

Considering the current level of extensive international food trade, food safety has become a significant global issue. Hundreds of pesticides, including herbicides, insecticides and fungicides are among the most hazardous chemical compounds extensively applied in agriculture to increase food production. These are intended to destroy and control pests, weeds or plant diseases. Pesticide application is strictly regulated to protect consumers and the environment.

Ensuring food safety and further promoting agricultural exports are issues that Vietnam has in recent years been concerned about, seen the following facts: Vietnam is a traditional agricultural country and well-known export country for many agricultural commodities such as rice, pepper, coffee, and cashew as well as seafood; in recent years many of Vietnam's agricultural products have not crossed the trade barriers of USA, EU and Japan due to food safety and pesticides residues. So Vietnam must change its current agricultural practices and focus on ecological agriculture, but firstly in the next 5–10 years Vietnam has to reduce the amount of chemical fertilisers and pesticides as well as to implement different agricultural policies.

In 2016, the Ministry of Agricultural and Rural Development launched a programme 'Green connection towards a clean agriculture' to strengthen the linkages between various players in the agricultural production chain to improve the competitiveness of and add value to farm produce, enabling them to enter the international market. In addition, the following measurements are necessary: Reduction of overuse of fertiliser, pesticide and herbicide; Reform the land law and lift the farmland limits to push up land accumulation and pave the way for large-scale production; Establishment of cooperative (voluntary participation of small farmers). The Government on February 2 issued Decree No. 15/2018/ND-CP replacing Decree No. 38/2012/ND-CP guiding the implementation of the Law on Food Safety.

In this paper the author will report the results of 2-year implementation of IPM programme in six provinces of Mekong River Delta as well as integrate this important problem in training at university.

Keywords: Food safety, IPM programme, pesticide residues

Contact Address: Trung Dung Nguyen, ThuyLoi University in Hanoi, Economics and Management, 175 Tay Son Str., Dong Da district, 10000 Ha Noi, Vietnam, e-mail: dzung_nguyen_ktcs@tlu.edu.vn

Comparison of Neem Soil and Foliar Treatments for Controlling the Whiteflies Aleyrodes proletella and Trialeurodes vaporariorum

JOSEPHINE KARANJA¹, HANS-MICHAEL POEHLING²

¹ Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, Zoology, Kenya

The control of insect pests has largely relied on regular application of synthetic pesticides. However, the development of resistance against major classes of chemicals. pest resurgence, environmental damage and adverse effect to non-target organisms pose a great challenge. Owing to the demand for insecticide residual free food and better ecological approaches to pest control, there is increasing interest in the use of biopesticides such as Neem. This compound has been shown to affect many important pests of different crops; a systemic feeding deterrent, repellent and growth-regulating properties. The potential for their use in the control of crop pest peculiarly whiteflies in organic farming system warrant investigation. Most of the registered products in the market are formulated for foliar application. Despite their high efficacy when in direct contact with the target organism, the oil-based foliar formulations rapidly degrade under high temperatures and UV light. Soil application and uptake of active ingredients by the root systems could avoid this negative effects hence attain higher level of pest control sustainably. The aim of this study, therefore, was to evaluate the efficacy and persistence/residual effect of neem compounds, applied to the soil either as water based solution or as granules compared to spray application in the control of Aleyrodes proletella L. and Trialeurodes vaporariorum West. This was done using a foliar spray formulation NeemAzal-T/S (1 % Azal) and two soil applied formulations; NeemAzal-T (1 % Azal) and NeemAzal granules, (7 % Azal). The treatments were done 0, 3, 5, 7, and 14 days before the plants were exposed to adult whiteflies. All basic experiments were conducted in a greenhouse. Larval and pupal mortalities of the whiteflies were analysed using binomial generalised linear models. From our results, neem extracts were effective against whitefly immature stages although efficacy of foliar formulation significantly decreased with time probably because of photodegradation under high temperature. On the other hand, soil-applied formulations attained fast efficacy and long persistence which could indicate fast uptake and systemic translocation of active ingredients but reduced photo-degradation. Therefore, soil application of neem gave the most intensive control and was more persistent than foliar formulation.

Keywords: Formulations, neem, whiteflies

²Leibniz Universität Hannover, Inst. of Plant Diseases and Plant Protection, Germany

Contact Address: Josephine Karanja, Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, Zoology, JKUAT D57, 00200 Nairobi, Kenya, e-mail: jossykaranja@gmail.com

Morphological and Molecular Characterisation of European Species of the *Diaporthe/Phomopsis* Complex Associated with Soybean Seed Decay

BEHNOSH HOSSEINI, ABBAS EL-HASAN, RALF T. VOEGELE University of Hohenheim, Institute of Phytomedicine, Faculty of Agricultural Sciences, Germany

The genus *Phomopsis* (teleomorph *Diaporthe*) comprises phytopathologically relevant fungi which cause diseases on a wide range of economically important crops including soybean. This group of pathogens has been reported to be involved in several soybean diseases, including *Phomopsis* seed decay (PSD) (*Phomopsis longi*colla), stem blight (D. phaseolorum var. sojae) and stem canker (D. phaseolorum var. caulivora and D. phaseolorum var. meridionalis), resulting in significant yield and quality losses. Accurate species identification of DPC is critical in understanding disease epidemiology and for developing effective control measures. Also, it has been documented that MAT primers are useful in mating-type diagnosis in a wide range of Diaporthe and Phomopsis species. In this study, we focused on morphological (colour and shape of colonies, existence of alpha, or beta conidia, or both, and their characteristics, production of perithecia, and size of conidia) and molecular analyses of species from DPC-damaged European soybean seeds obtained from several locations throughout Austria, France, and Germany. In addition, the European DPC isolates were classified according to their mating-type loci using Primers MAT1-1-1 FW/RV and MAT1-2-1 FW/RV. Surface sterilized soybean seeds were placed on APDA and incubated for 30 d at 24°C. Putative isolates of the DPC were purified using the single spore method. Genomic DNA was extracted from mycelium of each single-spore isolate. Thirty-two strains of Diaporthe and Phomopsis were isolated and phylogenetic relationships were determined using the translation elongation factor 1-alpha (TEF1) and nuclear ribosomal DNA internal transcribed spacers (ITS) sequences. By combining morphological and molecular data, four species including Phomopsis longicolla, Phomopsis sp., Diaporthe caulivora and Diaporthe eres could be distinguished on soybean seeds. Also, results from mating-type experiments revealed that MAT primers used in this study allowed mating-type diagnosis of the 28 isolates. Further studies for controlling these pathogens using biological control agents are currently in progress.

Keywords: *Diaporthe/Phomopsis* species complex, morphological and molecular identification, soybean seed decay

Contact Address: Behnosh Hosseini, University of Hohenheim, Institute of Phytomedicine, Faculty of Agricultural Sciences, Otto-Sander-Straße 5, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: Behnoush.Hosseini@uni-hohenheim.de

Fungal Flora Associated with Canker and Dieback Disease in Adansonia digitata and Sclerrocarya birrea under Domestication in Eastern Kenya

Sheillah Cherotich¹, Jane Njuguna², Alice Muchugi³, Agnes Gachuiri³, Japhet Muthamia¹

Domestication of indigenous fruit trees in drylands agroforestry systems has been threatened by canker and dieback diseases. However magnitude, distribution and identity of associated pathogens have not been documented in Kenya on Adansonia digitata and Sclerrocarya birrea. About 360 samples were collected from five farms spread over two Agro-ecological zones (Kitui and Kibwezi). 21 fungal species were identified using morphological characteristics and molecular data of the ITS region. Members of Botryospheriaceae comprised of 47% of total isolates and Lasiodiplodia theobromae, Lasiodiplodia mahajangana, Lasiodiplodia sp, Lasiodiplodia pseudotheobromae were the most frequent species encountered. Members of Pestalotiopsis species were made up of 30 % of total isolates with Pestalotiopsis sp. and Neopestalotiopsis protearum occurring predominantly. Phylogenetic analysis and closest matches in GenBank showed that the fungal species associated with the fruit trees also occurred in other plant species. Hence plurivorous nature of these pathogens threatens trees and crops in agroforestry systems. The occurrence of main canker and dieback pathogen were significantly correlating with disease in dry season (< 0.01, Pearson corr. =0.72) indicating the hot conditions favouring their growth. However, occurrence of Alternaria was higher in humid areas and during wet season. This study will provide a comprehensive study on fungal flora associated with A. digitata and S. birrea in eastern Kenya which clearly document the need for detail study of host-pathogen dynamics. It also demonstrate the ability of this indigenous fruit trees to share pathogens with other crops and possibly act as source of reservoir or inoculum for agricultural crops which could compromise disease management strategies on farms. This study will contribute towards epidemiological and management strategies for fungal pathogens in arid and semi-arid lands.

Keywords: *Adansonia digitata*, agroforestry, *Botryospheriaceae*, canker and dieback, fungal flora, pestalopsis, *Sclerrocarya birrea*

¹Egerton University, Biological, Kenya

²Kenya Forest Research Institute, Research and Development, Kenya

³World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF), Kenya

Contact Address: Sheillah Cherotich, Egerton University, Biological, 54silibwet, Bomet, Kenya, e-mail: cherotich.sheillah@yahoo.com

Resistance Evaluation of Black Bean Germplasm to the Fusarium Wilt Disease

MARCIEL J. STADNIK, FELIPE M. DE QUADROS, MATEUS B. DE FREITAS,
MARLON C. DE BORBA

Federal University of Santa Catarina, Dept. of Plant Sciences, Brazil

The common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) plays a pivotal economic and social role in Brazil, serving currently as the main source of dietary protein. People's preferences for colour and culinary traits of beans greatly vary among regions, but in the South consumers prefer locally produced black beans. However, several diseases can dramatically reduce the yield potential of this crop, and consequently, have an impact on food security in this region. On the other hand, this scenario offers a big challenge for breeding programs searching for resistant cultivars with high yield without losing focus on local market demands. Fusarium wilt (Fw), caused by the soil-borne fungus Fusarium oxysporum f. sp. phaseoli (Fop), is one of the most important diseases of bean plants and the use of resistance has been considered the main strategy to disease control. Considering that finding new resistance sources is essential for forthcoming breeding programs, this screening work aimed to evaluate the reaction of 17 black bean genotypes to Fop. The tested genotypes were the lines AL9021332, CF22, CF128, CHP97-04, CI96712V, CP9310635, FT84113, FT991159, LP97-04, MD841, TB9401, UFSC-01, and UFSC-02; cv. IPR88 Uirapuru; and the landraces Becker Bela Vista, Negro Bola, and Sogro Daniel. The assays were carried out under outdoor conditions during spring from August to December 2012 and 2013. Bean plants were grown in 20-L plastic pots containing a substrate composed of Fop-infested clay soil (1.3 \times 10³ colony forming units g⁻¹ of soil) and organic compost (3:1; v/v). Fw incidence was assessed at intervals of 4 days (between pod filling until grain filling growth stage) to monitor the incidence of wilt and dead plants during the season. The lines AL9021332, CF128, CP9310635, TB9401 and UFSC-01, and the landrace Becker Bela Vista did not show any Fw symptoms and were classified as resistant. The remaining genotypes exhibited varying levels of disease incidence of 12 to 88% and were considered susceptible. Finding resistance genes against Fop in local germplasm is possible and makes feasible future breeding programs.

Keywords: Fusarium wilt, genetic resistance, landraces, *Phaseolus vulgaris*

Contact Address: Marciel J. Stadnik, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Dept. of Plant Sciences, Rod. Admar Gonzaga 1346 Cca-Ufsc Itacorubi, 88034-001 Florianopolis, Brazil, e-mail: marciel.stadnik@ufsc.br

Citrus Greening Disease, East African Situation: Incidence, Severity and Patterns of Distribution

Brenda Rasowo¹, Inusa Ajene², Fathiya Khamis², Samira Mohamed², Sunday Ekesi². Christian Borgemeister¹

Citrus fruits are highly ranked as important crop for household consumption and as cash crop with great economic potential. However, due to attack by pest and diseases, the annual production of citrus fruits in East Africa has been below demand with smallholders producing around 4-10 t ha⁻¹, far below the expected 50-75 t ha⁻¹. This has resulted to high local requirement with 5 - 21% of the citrus currently supplemented by imports from South Africa and Egypt.

Trioza erytreae vector transmits the bacteria Candidatus Liberibacter africanus (CLaf) causing African citrus greening disease (CGD) that is a major threat to citrus production in East Africa and beyond. Furthermore, the recent establishment of a close relative vector 'Diaphorina citri' and the potential of T. erytreae to transmit Candidatus Liberibacter asiaticus in East Africa (unpublished report), indicates that the two citrus greening vectors and pathogens could be quickly spreading and adapting to new environments that were not reported in the past. The study objective was to assess incidence, severity and distribution patterns of CGD in Kenya and Tanzania and to characterise potential circulating pathogens through sequencing and phylogenetic analyses of 16SrDNA and rpIJ genes.

Incidence and severity of CGD varied considerably across the different altitudinal gradients in the surveyed regions (P < 0.05). Though CGD was absent in some regions, the disease had widely spread in most of the highlands and midland regions. Lemon had the highest severity with a mean visual score of 2.05. When compared with members of the genus *Liberibacter*, sequence obtained from symptomatic citrus samples linked to *CLaf.* subsp. *clausena* (KX770998) and *CLaf.* (GU120044) with the given accession numbers in the gene Bank. The occurrence of *CLaf.* subsp. *clausena* previously reported on indigenous rutaceous plants and now on citrus plants suggests that they could act as alternative sources of *CLaf.* infection to citrus orchards. These findings help to understand the possible economic and environmental impact other liberibacter subspecies may have on citrus crops and provides valuable insights into understanding and controlling CGD by putting in place stringent phytosanitary measures and internal quarantine system to avoid the spread of the disease to new areas.

Keywords: Candidatus Liberibacter africanus (CLaf), Trioza erytreae

¹University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Germany

²International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology (icipe), Kenya

Contact Address: Brenda Rasowo, University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Genscherallee 3 D-53113, Bonn, Germany, e-mail: bre.rasowo@gmail.com

Effects of Different *Trichoderma harzianum* Strains on Growth and Production of Secondary Metabolites in *Trigonella foenum-graecum*

Zahra Sadat Hosseini 1 , Majid Majidian 2 , Tahereh Hasanloo 1 , Mozhgan Kowsari 1

Trigonellin is one of the most potent antidiabetic so far extracted from plant sources. Influence of two Trichoderma harzianum isolates (chit4215MK and T8-7MK) on trigonellin production and growth factors of two Trigonella foenum-graecum ecotypes (Hamedan and Bandarabbas) were investigated under greenhouse conditions. The results showed that the two ecotypes are different in terms of growth factors. So, Hamadan ecotype showed longer stem length and Bandarabbas ecotype showed higher number of lateral branches and pod numbers. It was observed that Trichoderma strains have different effects on the growth of Hamadan ecotypes stem and T8-7MK strain was better than chit4215MK. However, no shoot length differences were observed between the control and Trichoderma treated plants for the Bandarabbas ecotype. The data revealed that, there was no significant difference between ecotypes, treatments and the interaction effects of treatment and ecotypes for peroxidase activity and total soluble carbohydrate content. A significantly higher content of trigonellin (4 mg g⁻¹ DW) was achieved in T8-7MK Trichoderma strain treated Bandarabbas ecotype that was 1.6-fold higher than the control plants. Interestingly, a significantly higher content of trigonellin (3.5 mg g⁻¹ DW) was obtained in chit4215MK Trichoderma strain treated Hamedan ecotype that was 1.3- fold higher than the control plants. The content of trigonellin in treated Bandarabbas ecotype was higher than the treated Hamedan ecotype (1.3 times more). It was showed that treatment with Trichoderma can be able to regulate trigonellin biosynthes and different strains have different effects on different fenugreek ecotypes.

Keywords: Fenugreek, growth, secondary metabolites, Trichoderma harzianum

¹Agricultural Biotechnology Research Institute, Agricultural Research, Education and Extension Organization (AREEO). Iran

²University of Guilan, Dept. of Agronomy and Plant Breeding, Iran

Contact Address: Majid Majidian, University of Guilan, Dept. of Agronomy and Plant Breeding, 41635-1314 Rasht, Iran, e-mail: ma_majidian@guilan.ac.ir

Ethnobotany, resource use and biodiversity conservation

Oral Presentations	
ISABEL MARIA MADALENO: Food, Spices and Medicines from Ghana, at the Beginning of European Colonisation and Today	78
BRUNO LOKONON, ESSOMANDA TCHANDAO MANGAMANA, ISIDORE GNONLONFOUN, JEAN DIDIER AKPONA, ACHILLE ASSOGBADJO, ROMAIN GLÈLÈ KAKAÏ, BRICE A. SINSIN: Knowledge, Use Diversity and Prioritisation of 46 Multipurpose Species for Conservation in Ouémé Catchment in Bénin	79
ZAFARANI UWINGABIRE, NICOLA GALLAI, CHARILAOS KEPHALIACOS: Incidence of Pollinators Decline on the International Trade:	80
PERIS NJURU, JOHN MBURU, PATRICK IRUNGU: Certification Programs and their Role in Small-Scale Farmers Livelihoods: Case of Rainforest and Café Practices	81
ERASMUS ZU ERMGASSEN, PATRICK MEYFROIDT, BEN AYRE, TOBY GARDNER, CHRIS WEST, JAVIER GODAR, JONATHON GREEN: High-Resolution Mapping of the Trade in Tropical Commodi-	
ties: Estimating Impacts of Corporate Zero-Deforestation Commitments	82
Posters	
Naji Sulaiman, Lama Ismaiel, Lukas Pawera, Hiba Aldarf, Marah Suliman, Hatem Nahma, Zbynek Polesny: Ethnobotanical Study of Medicinal Plants Used for Making Herbal Teas in Coastal Syria	83
Eduardo Alberto Lara Reimers, Eloy Fernández Cusimamani, Petra Chaloupkova, David Jonathan Lara Reimers, Fernando de Jesús Montaño-López, Juan Car- los Galan Robles, Juan Manuel Zepeda del Valle:	
Ethnobotanical Study of Medicinal Plants Used in Papantla, Veracruz	84

STEFAN KEPPLER, THOMAS HILGER, NELITON SILVA: Ecological Wastewater Treatment by Tree-Root-Filter - Sustainable Sanitation-Solution for the Tropics	85
HUNG NGUYEN TRONG, MARTIN KAPPAS: The Impacts of Forest Landscape Changes on Ecosystem Provisioning Services in the North Central Mountainous Areas, Vietnam	86
MAJID ROSTAMI, HODA MOHAMMADI: Effect of Plant Density and Spring Planting Dates on Yield and Morpho-Physiological Traits of Garlic (Allium sativum L.)	87
VAN CAM NGO, VAN BINH LE: Effects of Auxin Treatments and Cutting Types on Rooting of an Endangered Species (Glyptostrobus pensilis K.Koch)	88
DANIELA LIMACHE DE LA FUENTE: Current and Potential Spatial Distribution of Pollinators in Bolivia Influenced by Land-Use and Climate Change	89
KENECHUKWU ALBERT OKOYE, CLAUDIA RAEDIG, ROMAN SELIGER: The Potential of Optimising Connectivity Conservation Using Unmanned Aerial Vehicle - A Case Study in Itaocara, Brazil	90
KLÁRA CERMÁKOVÁ, JAN SMÍD, BOHDAN LOJKA: Genetic Variability of Myrciaria dubia in Peruvian Amazon	91
TABEA ALLEN, LINDSEY NORGROVE: Shifts in the Swiddens with Intensification: What Evidence Exists for the Trenbath Model?	92
AZIZOLLAH BAKHTARI, ALI MOJAB GHASRODDASHTI, HASSAN GHARAAT: Prompting Oil Yield and Reducing Fertiliser Pollution by	
Using Honey Bee Colonies in Sunflower Culture	93
MUHAMMAD ARSLAN NAWAZ, MARTIN WIEHLE, KONSTANTIN V. KRUTOVSKY, ASIF ALI KHAN, ANDREAS BUERKERT: Biodiversity of Sea Buckthorn (<i>Hippophae rhamnoides</i> L.) in the Karakorum Mountains of Northern Pakistan	94
KIM JACOBSEN, KOEN HUFKENS, HANS BEECKMAN, FILIP VANDELOOK, PIET STOFFELEN, JAN VAN DEN BULCKE, SOFIE MEEUS, MICHAEL AMARA, HANS VERBEECK:	
Historical Forestry Research from the Belgian Colonial	0.5
Period in the Democratic Republic of Congo	95
JANE MACHARIA, MATHIAS BECKER, BODO MÖSELER, MIGUEL ALVAREZ, HELIDA OYIEKE:	
An Inventory of Invertebrates in an Agriculturally Impacted	
Floodplain Wetland of Kenya	96

OPEYEMI ANTHONY AMUSAN, KONSTANTIN DINKLER, JUENGEN PETERSEIM: Renewable Energy Recovery Generation for Security and Safety in Global Agriculture and Production: Justification	
and Outlook	97
KONOUTAN KAFOUTCHONI, ACHILLE ASSOGBADJO: Richness, Cultural Importance and Conservation of the Wild Spices in the Sudano-Guinean Zone of Benin	98
Alfonce Leonard, Fathiya Khamis, Samuel Kyamanywa, Sunday Ekesi, Komi Fiaboe, James P Egonyu, Subramanian Sevgan:	
Molecular Analysis of Gut Contents to Establish Host Range of Edible Grasshoppers in East Africa	99
THOMAS BRINGHENTI, MUNIR HOFFMANN, KINGSLEY AYISI, WIEBKE BEUSHAUSEN, MARIAN KOCH, REIMUND RÖTTER:	99
Understanding Variations in Plant Species Diversity in Homegardens of Smallholder Farms in Limpopo, South Africa	100
XUEQING HE, YUHUI QIAO, LENE SIGSGAARD, XUNJIANG WU, DEHONG ZHANG: The Spider Biodiversity in Long-Term Organic Rice Paddy Field in Subtropical China	101
ANNA PORCUNA FERRER, RONNIE VERNOOY, JACOB VAN ETTEN, BERNHARD FREYER, LORENZ PROBST: Do Community Seed Banks Contribute to the Socio-Ecologi-	101
cal Resilience of Communities? A Case-Study from Western	
Guatemala	102
KAI HOLLÄNDER, MICHAEL RADEMACHER, AIMABLE NSAN- ZURWIMO, CLEMENS WOLLNY:	
Impact of Potato Crop Cultivation to Local Biodiversity in Musanze Province, Rwanda	103
KRISTYNA VYDROVA, BARBORA TUMOVA, AGNES DENO, ZBYNEK POLESNY, VLADIMIR VERNER, LUKAS PAWERA: Economic Botany of Small-Scale Cocoa Farms in Sulawesi,	
Indonesia	104

Food, Spices and Medicines from Ghana, at the Beginning of European Colonisation and Today

ISABEL MARIA MADALENO

University of Lisbon, Geography Department (IGOT), Portugal

The Gold Coast was first discovered by the Portuguese Pedro de Santarém and Pedro Escobar in 1471. Two years earlier, in 1469, the trade in the Gulf of Guinea had been leased to a wealthy Lisbon trader by king Afonso V, under the obligation to navigate further south to Sierra Leone, in order to spread both the Christian faith and increase the empire. The paper proposed for this conference starts with the examination of two 16th century manuscripts, by Damião de Góis (1567) and Garcia de Resende, where the first African palm trees, such as *Elaeis guineensis*, and spices like *Amomum* melegueta were mentioned. The methodology proposed also included a survey of flora consumption in Accra, Ghana, formerly known as the Gold Coast, independent from Britain in 1957. The cross-examination of the cultivated and traded species will determine the results, aimed to compare the useful flora and their uses during European expansion and in contemporaneity. Results prove that the African spice mentioned in the manuscripts was replaced by Capsicum annuum and C. chinense, but palm fruits are still smashed and consumed in stews; the seed is used to make oil and the flower is burned to smoke away undesirable mosquitoes. These insects can transmit such diseases as malaria, against which poor people drink boiled leaves of pawpaw (Carica papaya) and Moringa citrifolia, to ease fever. A total of 101 plant species were recorded in 2018, mostly used as food. The hope is to contribute to a better understanding of the evolution of flora consumption in Africa, initiated by this scientific mission of the University of Lisbon to Ghana.

Keywords: Africa, flora, food, Ghana, malaria, medicines, spices

Contact Address: Isabel Maria Madaleno, University of Lisbon, Geography Department (IGOT), Rua Andrade 8-2e, 1170-015 Lisbon, Portugal, e-mail: isabelmadaleno8@gmail.com

Knowledge, Use Diversity and Prioritisation of 46 Multipurpose Species for Conservation in Ouémé Catchment in Bénin

Bruno Lokonon, Essomanda Tchandao Mangamana, Isidore Gnonlonfoun, Jean Didier Akpona, Achille Assogbadjo, Romain Glèlè Kakaï. Brice A. Sinsin

University of Abomey-Calavi, Dept. of Natural Resources Management, Benin

The search for plants with high nutritional, medicinal and/or commercial potential has been intensified to find candidate species that could help in maintaining a balance between agricultural output and population growth. The Ouémé catchment abounds an important diversity of 46 plant species. Due to their nutritional and socio-economic values to rural households, these useful species are preserved and maintained in farms and are made available in shortage times. However, to date, Quémé catchment experiments increasing degradation of its natural resources caused by anthropogenic pressures. Consequently, most of the species as well as the cultural and endogenous knowledge related to them are facing a very high risk of extinction. Despite this fact, few published studies concerning their conservation have been undertaken. In this regard, our study focused on (i) assessment of impact of socio-demographic factors and climatic zones on knowledge and use of the 46 species; (ii) assessment of the use status of each of these species (iii) ranking these species according to their priority for conservation using a conservation priority index and (iv) inventory local conservation policies and actions to face their degradation. A total of 411 randomly selected informants were interviewed through a semi-structured survey followed by a field survey in 69 random plots of 0.15 ha. Data from available literature were used to complete the surveys. Ecological and ethnobotanical parameters were computed and the highest priority species for conservation were identified. The results showed significant difference in plant use between women and men, ethnic groups and climatic zones. The findings also revealed that more than 50% of native species in the study area are underutilised. Six species were classified as priorities: Parkia biglobosa, Pterocarpus erinaceus, Milicia excelsa, Prosopis africana, Afzelia africana and Khaya senegalensis. The conservation approaches most used by local people were: seedlings protection in farms, reduction of harvesting of sensible organ, plant nursery and pricking out in field, conservation of seeds in garret or jar, practice of apiculture favouring pollination. Non-governmental organisations, governments and agroforestry research institutions are entreated to incorporate these species in local development strategies aiming at sustainable management and long term conservation.

Keywords: Benin, conservation priorities, knowledge and use, local people, Ouémé catchment, useful plants

Contact Address: Bruno Lokonon, University of Abomey-Calavi, Lab. of Applied Ecology, Dept. of Natural Resources Management, Calavi, Benin, e-mail: brunolokonon@gmail.com

Incidence of Pollinators Decline on the International Trade: Social Welfare and Food Security Analysis

ZAFARANI UWINGABIRE, NICOLA GALLAI, CHARILAOS KEPHALIACOS Ecole National Supérieur de Formation Agronomique, UMR, Lereps, France

In the 2014 Rome declaration on nutrition, countries together reinforced their common understanding on food security connectivity to nutritious food consumption. In fact, countries have spent far too long looking solely at calories as the answer to food security; though, if we look at the factors that genuinely contribute to addressing malnutrition and stunting, it is not just calories production alone, but also the production of diverse non-staple foodstuffs. Indeed, ecological and agronomic scientists have alerted the links between the nutritional content of non-staple crops and their full or partial dependence on insect pollination services for their natural process of production. The insect pollination, in general, accounts around 60% of the world production volume of crops and 35% of world crop species. The contribution of this service to the value of the world agricultural sector is evaluated between 153 and 260 billion euros representing about 9.5% of the value of the world edible crops production. Moreover, pollinator dependent crops contribute up to 40% of the world's supply of nutrients.

Unfortunately, pollinators' population and density are declining globally, while the demand of crops that are dependent on pollinators has been steadily increasing since 1960. In parallel, international trade of agricultural commodities increases which can be seen as one of the ways society adapt to this decline effects.

We propose to consider international trade mechanism into the economic evaluation of pollinators decline impacts on both crops productivity and their nutrients content. For that we simulate precisely changes that may occur in market prices, supply and demand of crops and thus truck the variation in nutrients intake due to the new crop market equilibrium if pollination services declines. To specifically 1) quantify variations in the social welfare and thus 2) quantify the variation in the provision of nutrients embedded. Our main findings showed that progressive loss in pollinators' density induces continuous increase in relative marginal cost and market prices, consequently decreases social profit. Moreover, heterogeneity of pollinator loss and dependence by sub-regions might create dynamic comparative advantage for countries.

Keywords: Economic evaluation, ecosystem services, international trade, pollination

Contact Address: Zafarani Uwingabire, Ecole National Supérieur de Formation Agronomique, UMR, Lereps, 29 Rue de L' Ukraine Aprt 100, 31100 Toulouse, France, e-mail: ewingzanny@gmail.com

Certification Programs and their Role in Small-Scale Farmers Livelihoods: Case of Rainforest and Café Practices

PERIS NJURU, JOHN MBURU, PATRICK IRUNGU University of Nairobi, Dept. of Agricultural Economics, Kenya

Standards have recently been advocated as tools to aid in consumer protection, improving small-scale producers' competitiveness and sustainable production. Consumers demand for safe products led to the growth of certification schemes in European markets and other markets in the East. For small-scale producers in developing countries, the potential of certification standards to improve productivity, offer better prices through improved market access and better incomes hence food security provides a basis for their adoption. However, the adoption of certification standards has been slow in Africa. Further, evidence of their impact on the livelihoods of small scale producers remains scarce and inconclusive in Africa.

The study sampled a total of 250 small-scale coffee farmers in Kenya. Distributed amongst certified Café Practices, non-Café farmers, certified Rainforest alliance (RFA) and non-Rainforest Alliance farmers. Purposive selection of households was used to control spillover effects and PSM was used to control selection bias. Results show that farmers who participated in Café certification received significantly higher prices per kilogram of coffee than non-Café farmers. However, due to lower land allocation and low productivity, they had lower coffee income per unit acre than non-Café farmers. Additionally, Café certified households received lower total agricultural income despite having a high percentage of households depending on agricultural income for sustenance. Further results show that households participating in RFA received significant lower value of income per unit acre than the non-RFA households. Evidence of negative impact of RFA certification on amount of coffee produced and the total agricultural income of the households was observed. Though not significant, RFA certification increased the price of coffee per kilogram received by certified households. Of importance is that, both certifications resulted in farmers achieving lower productivity than the country's average productivity. Further, over 90 percent of the certified farmers surveyed could not identify the type of certification they held.

This study recommends the need for co-operatives to look past certification, put in place ways to improve productivity of farmers and offer better farmers training programs on the process of certification.

Keywords: Certification programs, Kenya, livelihoods, PSM, standards

Contact Address: Peris Njuru, University of Nairobi, Department of Agricultural Economics, 4809, 01002 Thika, Kenya, e-mail: perinjuru@gmail.com

High-Resolution Mapping of the Trade in Tropical Commodities: Estimating Impacts of Corporate Zero-Deforestation Commitments

ERASMUS ZU ERMGASSEN¹, PATRICK MEYFROIDT¹, BEN AYRE², TOBY GARDNER³, CHRIS WEST⁴, JAVIER GODAR³, JONATHON GREEN⁴

The production and trade of agricultural commodities in the tropics is both an important source of income (with exports worth around \$270 billion in 2013), and a leading cause of environmental degradation – for example, four commodities (beef, soybeans, oil palm and wood products) are responsible for around 40 % of deforestation in the region. The length and complexity of international supply chains, however, make these impacts all but invisible to the companies and consumers, consuming those products in importing countries. In this presentation, we will outline methods and results from the Trase initiative (Transparency for Sustainable Economies: http://trase.earth/), a flagship effort to map international supply chains of tropical commodities, from sub-national regions of production through to the markets of consumption, via the companies handling that trade. We will explain the diversity of datasets required to piece together international trade flows, link actors (e.g. individual companies) to the places where they operate, and estimate the impacts of that trade. Using examples from the Latin American soybean sector, we will explain how Trase can shed light on the efficacy of Zero Deforestation Commitments (i.e. commitments made by companies or countries to ensure that deforestation does not occur in their supply chains). We will discuss variability in the strength of Zero Deforestation Commitments, quantify the growth in their market share, reveal the variability in their geographic coverage, and present some of the first analyses of their net effects (accounting for potential leakage), ultimately outlining the potential for meeting their stated goal of ending commodity-associated deforestation by 2020.

Keywords: Accountability, deforestation, soy, supply chain transparency, tropical commodities

¹Catholic University of Louvain, Earth & Life Institute, Belgium

²Global Canopy, United Kingdom

³Trase-SEI. Sweden

⁴SEI-York, United Kingdom

Contact Address: Erasmus Zu Ermgassen, Catholic University of Louvain, Earth & Life Institute, Louvain La Neuve, Belgium, e-mail: erasmus.zu.ermgassen@gmail.com

Ethnobotanical Study of Medicinal Plants Used for Making Herbal Teas in Coastal Syria

Naji Sulaiman 1 , Lama Ismaiel 2 , Lukas Pawera 1 , Hiba Aldarf 3 , Marah Suliman 3 , Hatem Nahma 3 , Zbynek Polesny 1

The area located between Mesopotamia and Mediterranean is an ancient and rich region in folk medicine knowledge which has been accumulated since thousands of years. However, there is a lack of studies to document this knowledge. Our study was carried out in the northwestern part of Syria bordering the Mediterranean Sea with 193 km including coastal plains and mountains. The study focused on ethnobotanical documentation of medicinal plants used in the form of a tea. We aimed as well to analyse a significant part of the local beverage culture by determining uses of herbal teas for both medicinal and recreational purposes. In the period from December 2017 to February 2018, 42 informants from 32 villages were interviewed. In total, 49 medicinal plant species were reported to be used in the form of an infusion tea, of which, three species were not mentioned before in any botanical publication throughout the Middle East. We received 303 use reports, which were categorised into 13 ailment categories. Although most of the plants investigated were used separately, 26 herbal tea mixtures were documented. The data were analysed through calculation of the species use value, informant agreement ratio, frequency of citation, and the cultural value index. Through this last index we could choose the most important local species which could indicate the species with promising economic value. The study contributed to documenting the diversity of medicinal plant species used as an infusion tea, in particular, we highlighted seven important plant species which are strongly recommended for future pharmacological and economical studies.

Keywords: Ethnobotany, herbal mixtures, infusion folk medicine

¹Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. Tropical AgriSciences, Dept. of Crop Sciences and Agroforestry, Czech Republic

²Debrecen University, Faculty of Agricultural and Food Sciences and Environmental Management, Hungary

³Tishreen University, Faculty of Agriculture, Syria

Contact Address: Zbynek Polesny, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Faculty of Tropical AgriSciences, Kamýcká 129, 16500 Praha - Suchdol, Czech Republic, e-mail: polesny@ftz.czu.cz

Ethnobotanical Study of Medicinal Plants Used in Papantla, Veracruz

Eduardo Alberto Lara Reimers 1 , Eloy Fernández Cusimamani 1 , Petra Chaloupkova 1 , David Jonathan Lara Reimers 2 , Fernando de Jesús Montaño-López 2 , Juan Carlos Galan Robles 1 , Juan Manuel Zepeda del Valle 2

Ethnomedicine is still used as primary health care resource by several indigenous communities and people who live in rural areas. In Mexico, most of the indigenous population live in rural areas (61.1 % in communities with less than 2,500 inhabitants). The aim of this study was to record, analyse and identify the medical plant knowledge of the Totonaca ethnic group in Totonacapan region in the state of Veracruz, Mexico. The Totonacos descendants are keen consumers and have a historical background with traditional medicinal uses and are well-known for preserving a wide variety of plants. In the present study, semi-structured interviews were performed with 85 informants aged between 18-85 years old (53 % male and 47 % female). Ethnomedicinal indexes were applied to analyse the collected data. A total of 102 medicinal plant species belonging to 94 genera and 52 families were documented. The families Asteraceae (111 UR) and Rutaceae (99 UR) have the highest number of species with eight plants each one and were the best-represented families in the study area. The highest informant consensus factor (ICF) was calculated for the autoimmune diseases (ICF=0.91) with a unique ailment of cancer. The highest number of use report (N=251) was determined for the diseases of the digestive and gastrointestinal system. The most culturally important species was *Hamelia patens* Jacq., obtaining the highest importance cultural index (CI) with 0.906 (77 UR), it presented the widest spectrum to treat problems followed by Persea americana Mill, with CI=0.682 (58UR) which is used to treat gastric problems.

The collected information represents a base of knowledge for future research in the ethnobotanical field in the state, and it will contribute to the understanding of proper usage of medicinal plants. This study proved that the knowledge on medicinal uses of plants is not strictly related to isolated communities. When knowledge is transformed in goods, culture, income and health it can be promoted through the demand of tourists that visit the place searching better options to treat their ailments.

Keywords: Ethnomedicine, indigenous communities, Totonacapan

¹Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. Trop. AgriSci., Dept. of Crop Sci. and Agroforestry, Czech Republic

²Chapingo Autonomous University, Mexico

Contact Address: Eduardo Alberto Lara Reimers, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. of Tropical AgriSciences, Kolej Efg Kamycka1281 Praha 6, 16521 Suchdol, Czech Republic, e-mail: agroforestal33@gmail.com

Ecological Wastewater Treatment by Tree-Root-Filter - Sustainable Sanitation-Solution for the Tropics

STEFAN KEPPLER¹, THOMAS HILGER², NELITON SILVA¹

Tropical inlands reveal the minor indices for sewage treatment of the world. In the tropics, results of conventional wastewater treatment facilities are weak, because of their need for secure energy and specialists for maintenance and monitoring. Our proposal of ecological wastewater treatment (EWT) promotes the natural purification of organic effluents in order to root oxygen release of some tropical amphibian plants. They create a decomposer/mineraliser - biocoenosis around their roots (periphyton), as detected in most weeds of swampy sites. Munguba, Pseudobombax munguba (Mart. & Zucc.) Dugand, a native tree species from the Amazonian floodplains of Brazil, has been identified as the best potential subterranean oxygen provider. In our EWT facility, the tangle of roots of *P. munguba* constitute a real rootfilter. In an anticipated anaerobic primary treatment, the crude wastewater transforms in a mineral-sediment free solution. After the effective root-filter treatment, the exposition of the effluent to solar radiation in a vertical aquarium indorses disinfection and molecular sulphur precipitation. Several treatment plants have been established in Manaus City. They show best results and functionality, especially in comparison to conventional treatment facilities. Additionally, the nutrient absorption and resulting accelerated growths of the trees may be used for commercial exploitation of cellulose, timber and fruit production. People themselves can provide easy maintenance to EWT. The study presents the elements of the EWT and discusses the treatment results. We expect to promote EWT as the best option for wastewater treatment in the tropics, as it is totally independent from electrical energy and moving parts. Actually, we run studies by transforming wastewater-treatment investment in commercial production of fine fibres, as a base for sustainable development.

Keywords: Autodepuration, biotic oxygen release, environmental service, Munguba, root zone

¹Federal University of the Amazonas, Manaus, Brazil, Coordination for Environmental Science, Brazil

²University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

Contact Address: Stefan Keppler, Federal University of the Amazonas, Manaus, Brazil, Coordination for Environmental Science, Rua Selma Acioly 20, 69057-063 Manaus, Brazil, e-mail: sfkeppler@yahoo.com

The Impacts of Forest Landscape Changes on Ecosystem Provisioning Services in the North Central Mountainous Areas, Vietnam

HUNG NGUYEN TRONG, MARTIN KAPPAS

Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Cartography, GIS and Remote Sensing Section, Germany

The research focuses on assessing the impact of forest landscape changes on other land use types, and on evaluating forest ecosystem provisioning services in the northern central mountainous area of Vietnam. We selected three different forest types (e.g. rich, medium, poor) to carry out the forest inventory in A Luoi District. A series of sample plots with the size of 1000 m² were randomized in each forest type. The forest inventory parameters consist of trees with diameter at breast height (DBH) > 10 cm, regeneration trees with DBH of 1.3-9.9 cm, counting of all saplings < 1.3 cm DBH, and non-timber forest products (NTFPs). The forest inventory variables (i.e. DBH, height, species, quality, slopes, elevations, aspects) are based on the national forest inventory and FAO's forest inventory manual. The demands of local peoples on the forest provisioning services were surveyed for different targeted groups living near the forest landscapes. We evaluated if the changes of land use patterns and forest landscape impacts on the demand of provisioning services (i.e. timber products, wild foods including NTFPs) to the local people. A time-series of different remote sensing images (Landsat, SPOT and Sentinel 2) are used to classify forest landscapes and land use types such as non-forest land, agricultural land, crop land, water area, grass land. Multiple regression analysis of variables of sample plots against the vegetation indices and demands of forest provisioning services at target groups were analysed in R-Studio 3.4.1 and Statistica 13.3. The result shows that the change in the forest landscape leads to changes of ecosystem services demands.

Keywords: Ecosystem provisioning services, forest landscape, forest types, land use change

Contact Address: Hung Nguyen Trong, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Cartography, GIS and Remote Sensing Sect., Goldschmidtstr. 5, 37077 Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: tronghung2128@gmail.com

Effect of Plant Density and Spring Planting Dates on Yield and Morpho-Physiological Traits of Garlic (*Allium sativum* L.)

MAJID ROSTAMI, HODA MOHAMMADI

Malayer University, Dept. of Agronomy, Iran

In order to investigate the effect of different planting dates and plant density on yield as well as on some morpho-physiological traits of garlic, a split plot experiment was conducted with three replications. The experimental treatments were three planting dates (March 5, March 25 and April 14) and four planting densities (20, 40, 60 and 80 plants m⁻²). The results showed a significant interaction between planting date and planting density for: garlic yield, leaf weight, plant height, total chlorophyll and carotenoids, whereas for harvest index, number of produced cloves in plant, chlorophyll a and relative water content only the effects of planting date and plant density were significant. The highest garlic yield (921 g. m^{-2}) was observed for planting date of March 5 with a density of 80 plants m^{-2} , but the lowest yield (317 g m^{-2}) was obtained for the last planting date with the lowest plant density. Similar results were observed for leaf weight. The highest amount of chlorophyll (2.52 mg g FW ⁻¹) was observed for planting date of March 25 with the density of 20 plants m⁻² but the planting density of 80 plants m⁻² in the last planting date resulted in the lowest amount of total chlorophyll (2.07 mg g FW⁻¹). The highest harvest index was related to the first planning date and with delay in planting date, this index was reduced significantly. The lowest number of cloves per plant (3.64) was related to the last planting date. Increasing plant density also decreased the number of produced cloves by 14 percent. In terms of garlic yield, the best planting date in the studied region (with Mediterranean climate) was March 5th. Although increasing plant density resulted in higher yield, because of smaller size of produced bulbs the marketable yield decreased.

Keywords: Agronomic practices, harvest index, medicinal plants, relative water content

ID 248 87

Contact Address: Majid Rostami, Malayer University, Dept. of Agronomy, Postal Code: 65719-95863, Malayer, Iran, e-mail: majidrostami7@yahoo.com

Effects of Auxin Treatments and Cutting Types on Rooting of an Endangered Species (*Glyptostrobus pensilis* K.Koch)

VAN CAM NGO, VAN BINH LE

Vietnamese Academy of Forest Sciences, Tropical Forest Research Centre, Vietnam

Glyptostrobus pensilis K.Koch (Chinese Swamp Cypress) is listed as "critically endangered" in Vietnam's Red Data Book and also in the IUCN Red List of threatened tree species. This species is of high conservation concern due to their rarity and threats to their survival in terms of environmental changes such as habitat loss from expanding cultivation, felling and fires. There are only 164 mature individuals of G. pensilis in Dak Lak province, Vietnam and no regeneration has been found in studies, recently. Therefore, study on breeding techniques for G. pensilis by cutting is needed. Experiments was conducted in Tropical Forest Research Centre in order to assess the effect of (1) various concentrations of IBA (3-Indole butyric acid) and NAA (1-Naphthalene acetic acid), (2) cutting seasons (dry season and rain season), and (3) cutting types (softwood, semi-hardwood, and hardwood) on rooting percentage. The results showed that IBA with a concentration of 1.000 ppm produced the highest rooting percentage (67%), followed by 20–27% of rooting percentage was recorded in various NAA concentrations, while no rooted cuttings were found in the control treatment. Significant difference between dry and rainy season was found, the rooting percentage in the dry season is higher than that of the rainy season, with the rooting percentage of 38–41 % and 26–28 %, respectively. Concerning cutting types, the rooting rate of softwood and semi-hardwood was significantly higher than that of hardwood cuttings. The results from this study could potentially be used as basic information on the conservation of G. pensilis in future time.

Keywords: Auxin treatment, cutting seasons, cutting type, *Glyptostrobus pensilis*

Contact Address: Van Cam Ngo, Vietnamese Academy of Forest Sciences, Tropical Forest Research Centre, 438 Truong Chinh, Pleiku, Vietnam, e-mail: camtfrc@gmail.com

Current and Potential Spatial Distribution of Pollinators in Bolivia Influenced by Land-Use and Climate Change

Daniela Limache de la Fuente

Dresden University of Technology, Remote Sensing and Photogrammetry, Germany

Animal pollination represents a key regulating ecosystem service, involved in wild plant reproduction and responsible for more than 35 % of world crop production. Recently, an increasing decline of pollinators has been evidenced. Although, global changes such as land-use and climate are known to have important impacts on pollinator communities, clear relationships between these drivers and pollinator loss remain little investigated. The present study aims to determine the effect of land-use and climate change on current and potential spatial distribution of pollinators in Bolivia. To do this, species distribution modelling and two scenarios based on projections suggested by the Fifth IPCC Assessment report for the year 2050 and 2080 were applied. The following data was combined in MaxEnt software package: a) presence-only records corresponding to three groups of pollinators (bees and wasp, butterflies and hummingbirds) obtained from open access databases such as Predicts project, GBIF and published papers; b) environmental variables derived from remote sensing techniques: temperature, precipitation, and land-use cover. In general, the results show that the actual status of pollinators in Bolivia is threatened by land-use and climate conditions, especially in eastern regions, where extensive land-use (agro-industrial activities and deforestation) and increase in temperatures have been observed. According to the analysis, there is a reduction of the geographic range of pollinators, although differences in response among groups are detected. Bees and wasps seems to be less susceptible to climate change in comparison to butterflies and hummingbirds. Under future scenarios 2050 and 2080, a moderate to extensive shift of pollinators range was observed, mainly in hummingbirds whose habitat might be reduced enormously as result of change in suitable environmental conditions. Here, we show how species distribution modelling could be applied as a useful tool to support decisions on pollinator conservation, particularly during the decision-making process.

Keywords: Climate, land use change, pollinators, species distribution modelling, tropical region

Contact Address: Daniela Limache de la Fuente, Dresden University of Technology, Remote Sensing and Photogrammetry, Dammweg 1b, 01097 Dresden, Germany, e-mail: d.limache.delafuente@gmail.com

The Potential of Optimising Connectivity Conservation Using Unmanned Aerial Vehicle - A Case Study in Itaocara, Brazil

KENECHUKWU ALBERT OKOYE¹, CLAUDIA RAEDIG¹, ROMAN SELIGER²

Forest ecosystems host high level of biodiversity providing numerous ecosystem services. Globally, forests experience intense fragmentation due to various human activities such as expansion of agricultural and development areas. This also applies to Brazil's Atlantic Rainforest, one of the most biodiverse centers of Brazil that currently has around 12% of its natural vegetation left. The ongoing loss of forest cover, prompts the need for more efficient techniques to preserve biodiversity. The last decade saw a growing number of research on connectivity conservation. In the context of forest ecosystems, several studies have shown the effects of different forest features on biodiversity distribution and dynamics. However, so far there is no indicator set linking forest features to connectivity conservation concepts. Apart from that, limited availability of data for the assessment of biodiversity at small scales poses a major challenge to ensure optimisation of biodiversity conservation. Recently, the use of unmanned aerial vehicles (UAV) and geographic information system (GIS) are seen as important tools to improve data collection and assessment in connectivity management. This study conducted in Itaocara Brazil aims to develop a methodology to measure forest quality in order to assess the feasibility of implementing in-situ conservation measures like designated Private Reserve of Natural Heritage (RPPNs) areas. In a first step, this research develops a weighted indicator set of forest characteristics that affect overall biodiversity. Data for the selected indicators (forest density and size, vegetation height and cover, indicator vegetation) has been acquired by means of UAV and ground truth. This approach allows to draw conclusions on the applicability of using aerial images for the assessment of forest characteristics. Since RPPNs designated areas are located within private properties, interviews with landowners were conducted to get an indication of the social acceptance of the proposed measure. Finally, by using least cost path method, connectivity maps were developed taking the results of the interviews into account. The results show UAV can be an important tool for connectivity conservation. Additionally, generated maps illustrate that consideration of social acceptance plays a major role in development of conservation measures.

Keywords: Biodiversity, indicator set, private reserve of natural heritage

¹Cologne University of Applied Sciences, Inst. for Techn. and Res. Managm. in the Tropics and Subtropics, Germany

²Leipzig University, Inst. of Geography, Germany

Contact Address: Kenechukwu Albert Okoye, Cologne University of Applied Sciences, Institute for Technology and Resources Management in the Tropics and Subtropics, Deutz-Kalker Strasse 118, 50679 Cologne, Germany, e-mail: mr.kene.okoye@gmail.com

Genetic Variability of Myrciaria dubia in Peruvian Amazon

Klára Cermáková 1 , Jan Smíd 2 , Bohdan Lojka 1

Camu-camu (Myrciaria dubia McVaugh) is one of the most important fruit species from South America. The production is focused in the Peruvian Amazon, Brazil and Bolivia. This species is particularly important for its high content of vitamin C and antioxidants. The breeding process begun in 1998. Most farmers use non-cultivated plants, usually taken from the wild or just make basic selections. The aim of this work was to characterise the genetic variability of wild and cultivated populations in the Peruvian Amazon. The analysis is focused on diversity within and between the populations. This work is based on a collection of 31 populations. 21 wild populations coming from the surroundings of the city of Iquitos, 2 populations as a representative of cultivated populations also from around that city, and the remaining 8 were collected from plantations nearby Pucallpa. For the genetic analysis, 10–15 individuals were randomly selected from each of the population and samples of leaves were taken from each one (n = 357). For the detection of genetic diversity, six SSR primers were used, which have already been developed and used for a previous study at our university. By using computer programs, the main variability indexes and the related dendrogram were created.

The results showed that the observed heterozygosity (0.50) was smaller than the expected heterozygosity (0.61) and the inbreeding coefficient reached higher values in wild populations than in the cultivated ones. Wild populations could be divided according to the dendrogram into different groups. Approximate origin of cultivated populations was determined. The results showed also that the genetic variability is high, on the other hand there is also a high degree of inbreeding. This can be caused by large distance between populations from each other or low number of individuals in the population. This high level of diversity gives us a lot of possibilities in selection and breeding of the most profitable individuals.

Keywords: Camu-camu, genetic diversity, PCR, population genetics

¹Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. of Tropical AgriSciences - Dept. of Crop Sciences and Agroforestry, Czech Republic

²Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. of Environmental Sciences, Dept. of Ecology, Czech Republic

Contact Address: Klára Cermáková, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. of Tropical Agri-Sciences - Dept. of Crop Sciences and Agroforestry, Husitská 52, 130 00 Praha 3, Czech Republic, e-mail: klcermákova@seznam.cz

Shifts in the Swiddens with Intensification: What Evidence Exists for the Trenbath Model?

TABEA ALLEN, LINDSEY NORGROVE

Bern University of Applied Sciences, School of Agricultural, Forest and Food Sciences, Switzerland

In the humid tropics, smallholder farmers traditionally use shifting cultivation. Increases in population density, intensification and greater market orientation have modified this system. In Cameroon, for example, farmers are recultivating fallows earlier, adopting the use of inorganic fertilisers, herbicides or weeding more frequently, and occasionally incorporating mechanised tillage, precluding the traditional retention of trees in the field. Different models predict the effect of intensification of shifting cultivation systems on soil fertility and fallow vegetation. For example, Trenbath (1985) and more recently Albers and Goldbach (2000), have postulated that with intensification, repeated cropping cycles and shortening fallow phases, a "spline point" will be reached at which tree regeneration fails completely and there will be a regime shift to a grassland domain. However, neither of these models has been tested empirically. Our objectives were: to assess impacts of intensification in shifting cultivation systems on fallow vegetation in the humid and sub-humid tropics; and, to assess how strongly Trenbath's model is supported by empirical data. A systematic review in Web of Science was conducted for primary literature sources and articles analysing these effects. Most studies derived from Brazil and Madagascar with continental Africa underrepresented. With intensification, a decrease in fallow biomass was observed. Changes in species richness were not discernible, however, intensification decreased species evenness. This can partly be attributed to an increase in herb-dominance with intensified shifting cultivation, and a shift in species composition. Tree density decreased with intensification with a shift in composition towards those with a high sprouting capacity and vegetative propagation. Evidence that increased number of cropping cycles, longer cropping duration, intensified tillage practices with the application of fertilisers led to permanent grasslands, as suggested by Trenbath, was not found. Although an irreversible change was not observed, the intensification of shifting cultivation decreased biomass accumulation rates of fallows worldwide.

Keywords: Fallow succession, intensification, shifting cultivation, Trenbath's model

Contact Address: Tabea Allen, Bern University of Applied Sciences, School of Agricultural, Forest and Food Sciences, Wiesentalstrasse 67, 9240 Uzwil, Switzerland, e-mail: tabea.allen@bfh.ch

Biodiversity of Sea Buckthorn (*Hippophae rhamnoides* L.) in the Karakorum Mountains of Northern Pakistan

Muhammad Arslan Nawaz¹, Martin Wiehle², Konstantin V. Krutovsky³, Asif Ali Khan⁴, Andreas Buerkert¹

Sea buckthorn (Hippophae rhamnoides L.) is a dioecious, wind-pollinated deciduous shrub species in Eurasia, including the Karakorum Mountains region of Pakistan (Gilgit-Baltistan). Contrary to other countries such as China and Germany, where it is considered as medicinal (especially fruits) and traded on national and international scales, in Pakistan this species is heavily underutilised. Moreover, a striking diversity of coloured berries in Pakistan from red to vellow raises the question: which varieties might be more suitable for different national and international markets. Therefore, both morphological and genetic diversity of sea buckthorn were studied to characterise and evaluate the present variability, including hypothetically ongoing process of domestication. Three hundred sea buckthorn individuals were sampled from eight different sites and distinguished each into wild and supposedly domesticated (within villages) stands. Dendrometric (height, stem diameter, canopy area), fruit (20-berry weight, volume, length: width ratio and moisture %) and leaf (area and length: width ratio) morphometric traits and leaf samples were taken for each individual. Twelve EST-SSR markers were used for genotyping. Significant differences in morphological variables were found across sites and between wild and village stands. A significant correlation (r = 0.493, p < 0.001) was found between leaf area and altitude. Twenty-two colour shades of berries and, 20 and 15 dorsal ventral colour shades of leaves, respectively, were observed using a Royal Horticultural Society (RHS) colour charts. Mean number of private alleles was 0.6 and mean genetic diversity of sea buckthorn within populations measured as an expected heterozygosity was high (He = 0.699). Overall, the populations were in a Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium suggesting random mating within populations with a moderate level of differentiation (FST = 0.016). However, three distinct genetic clusters were observed that apparently corresponded to the geographic locations of the populations. Interestingly, the two sites that had the lowest values of fruit and leaf morphometric parameters formed a genetically distinct cluster. Physical barrier appeared to be the cause of reduced gene flow. Considering high allelic richness and genetic diversity, the Gilgit-Baltistan region seems to be a promising source for improved germplasm of sea buckthorn.

Keywords: Domestication, EST-SSR markers, gene flow, Gilgit-Baltistan, morphological and genetic diversity

¹University of Kassel, Organic Plant Production and Agroecosystems Research in the Tropics and Subtropics, Germany

²University of Kassel, Tropenzentrum / ICDD, Germany

³Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Forest Genetics and Forest Tree Breeding, Germany

⁴Muhammad Nawaz Shareef University of Agriculture, Plant Breeding and Genetics, Pakistan

Contact Address: Martin Wiehle, University of Kassel, Tropenzentrum / ICDD, Steinstraße 19, Witzenhausen, Germany, e-mail: wiehle@uni-kassel.de

Historical Forestry Research from the Belgian Colonial Period in the Democratic Republic of Congo

Kim Jacobsen¹, Koen Hufkens², Hans Beeckman¹, Filip Vandelook³, Piet Stoffelen³, Jan Van Den Bulcke⁴, Sofie Meeus³, Michael Amara⁵, Hans Verbeeck²

Globally, forests influence climate change through complex, often nonlinear, forestatmosphere interactions, such as carbon sequestration, decreased surface temperature through reduced solar irradiance and evaporative cooling. Likewise, climate change impacts forests in myriad ways, including shifts in plant phenology, changes in ecosystem productivity, and alterations in the geographic distribution of plant species. Trees are thus a unique living document of past and current climatic influences. The UNESCO biosphere reserves Yangambi and Luki are situated within the Congo Basin rainforest, which is the second largest rainforest in the world and presently a persistent carbon sink. Given its role as mitigator for global warming, reliably predicting how the Congo Basin rainforest will respond to climate change is key. Such predictions are complicated, however, by an apparent lack of eco-climatological baseline data for Central Africa. This data gap reflects the inaccessibility of such data, not the unavailability. In fact, forestry research in the Democratic Republic of Congo dates back to 1937, when the Institut National pour l'Etude Agronomique du Congo Belge (INEAC) created its Forestry Division. Particularly noteworthy are the long series of unpublished detailed phenological observations and daily climatological data records, both of which are unique on a global scale. Historical collections, located at the Royal Museum for Central Africa, the Botanic Garden Belgium, the National Belgian Archives, and in local herbaria in the DRC, provide data and insight into the dynamics of tropical forests and their resilience after disturbance. Here we report on current efforts to digitise and valorize data from forestry research carried out in the DRC between 1900–1960. We will address in particular the creation of the Forestry Division, as recorded in archival documents. We will also present an overview of the methodologies used by INEAC to collect phenological observations of trees, and arboreal samples.

Keywords: Climate change, legacy data, tropical forests, UNESCO bioreserves

ID 470 95

¹Royal Museum for Central Africa, Wood Biology, Belgium

²Ghent University, Dept. of Applied Ecology and Environmental Biology, Belgium

³Botanic Garden Meise, Belgium

⁴Ghent University, Laboratory of Wood Technology - Woodlab, Belgium

⁵National Archives of Belgium, Belgium

Contact Address: Kim Jacobsen, Royal Museum for Central Africa, Wood Biology, Leuvensesteenweg 13, 3080 Tervuren, Belgium, e-mail: kim.jacobsen@africamuseum.be

Renewable Energy Recovery Generation for Security and Safety in Global Agriculture and Production: Justification and Outlook

Opeyemi Anthony Amusan 1 , Konstantin Dinkler 2 , Juengen Peterseim 2

Waste is problematic in agriculture, production and remote-locations. Remote-power-generation cost is high due to diesel-fuelled gensets. With high premium on food-energy security and safety, the 330 kWe ERK®-ReGen container-power-plant improves waste management and lowers electricity-prices at these locations. Standardized components installed in multiplecontainers enables high-quality, simple-transport and rapid-installation. The objective of this study is to present this renewable-energy-recovery-generation (ReGen)-design concept from evaluated resource-energy-use of some remote-areas of the world. A novel technique that combines resources and energy surveys with socio-economic-analyses was adopted in the technology properties and waste to identify and justify factors for the promotion and development of such techniques. Biomass and waste-materials were identified as inevitable products of society and are available in many remote-locations worldwide. Since substantial amounts of agriculture and production take place in remote-areas, a major challenge of the future is to understand how to manage large quantities of waste sustainably. Therefore, waste sources, their compositions and available waste-to-energy-technology options were researched. An approach has been to minimise the amount of waste produced and to recycle larger fractions of biomass and waste-materials. Renewable-energy-recovery-generation (ReGen) from waste can solve two problems at once; first is treating non-recyclable and non-reusable amounts of waste; and second is generating a significant (decentralised) amount of energy which can be included in the energy-production-mix in order to satisfy customers'-needs while keeping costs low. Interaction between waste-management-solutions and energy-production-technologies can vary significantly, depending on multiple-factors. ReGen is independent of fluctuating fossil fuel prices meaning energy-independence with reliable base load supply with the possibility of hybridisation for peak-demand to simultaneously solve the problems of waste, pollution and electricity generation. The diesel fuel substitution reduces CO₂-emissions and sustainablethermal-waste-disposal avoids ground soil-water contamination and marine pollution. The user-friendly, iconic ReGen-Plug&Play-system minimises installation time and enables relocation to new-sites. Emphasis should be placed on resource and energy-management-techniques that conserve the environment, foster food-energy security and safety. Therefore, policies that protect our oceans and land through sustainable resource and energy use must be emphasised. Sustainable foodenergy-production is a daunting challenge to global agriculture, industry and society and needs to be addressed in Africa and other remote-locations.

Keywords: Energy efficiency, ReGen - remote generation, safe production, waste to energy

¹University of Ibadan, Center for Petroleum, Energy Economics and Law / Amiesol Resources Konsult. Nigeria

²ERK Eckrohrkessel GmbH, Germany

Contact Address: Opeyemi Anthony Amusan, University of Ibadan, Center for Petroleum, Energy Economics and Law / Amiesol Resources Konsult, P.O. Box 23039 Post-Office Agbowo, 20012 Ibadan, Nigeria, e-mail: amusanope@gmail.com

Richness, Cultural Importance and Conservation of the Wild Spices in the Sudano-Guinean Zone of Benin

KONOUTAN KAFOUTCHONI¹, ACHILLE ASSOGBADJO²

In recent decades, wild spices (WS) have been increasingly studied for their flavor-enhancement characteristics and their medicinal properties. In Benin, many spices used daily for medicine, food and ceremony are gathered from the wild. But so far, little attempt has been made for their domestication and cultivation. Consequently, many WS are being extinct due to overexploitation and habitat loss. This study investigated the diversity of the wild spices as well as it ecological drivers, and document the associated traditional knowledge for their valuation, sustainable management and conservation in the Sudano-Guinean zone of Benin. Data were collected during field expeditions and using semi-structured interviews in ten localities across three phytodistricts. Occurrence data were recorded in the field and from Global Biodiversity Information Facility database. Species richness and Shannon's diversity index were estimated using species accumulation curves and based on presence-absence data obtained from semistructured interviews. Species distribution and richness were then mapped, and their driving forces identified using conditional inference trees. Use-report and Cultural importance index were used along with a Generalized linear model to test for differences in traditional knowledge. Priority WS were identified using an approach combining eight criteria in four prioritisation methods. Fourteen species, belonging to 12 genera and 9 families were inventoried. The most prominent families were Zingiberaceae (21.43 %), Annonaceae (21.43 %) and Rutaceae (14.29 %). The species were unequally distributed and several spice-rich areas were identified. More than 200 specific uses were reported, with Tchabè people holding the greatest level of knowledge (70 uses; UR=5.70±0.33). The most culturally important spices differed among sociolinguistic groups. Overall, people perceived WS as declining due to agriculture, grazing and drought. Eight species were identified as of highest priority for conservation: Aframomum alboviolaceum, A. angustifolium, A. melegueta, Lippia multiflora, Monodora tenuifolia, Securidaca longipedunculata, Xylopia aethiopica and Zanthoxylum zanthoxyloides. This study provides basic data to engage conservation and domestication actions for WS in Benin. Priority species could be integrated into home gardens and traditional agroforestry systems in particular for sustainable management. However, for this to be effective, further research should be engaged on morphological and genetic diversity, and propagation methods of those spices.

Keywords: Biodiversity, conditional inference tree, ecological drivers, geographical distribution, prioritisation, quantitative ethnobotany

¹University of Abomey-Calavi, Laboratory of Biomathematics and Forest Estimations, Renin

²University of Abomey-Calavi (FSA/UAC), Lab. of Applied Ecology (LEA), Benin

Contact Address: Konoutan Kafoutchoni, University of Abomey-Calavi, Laboratory of Biomathematics and Forest Estimations, 04 BP 1525, Cotonou, Benin, e-mail: k.medard@gmail.com

Molecular Analysis of Gut Contents to Establish Host Range of Edible Grasshoppers in East Africa

ALFONCE LEONARD¹, FATHIYA KHAMIS¹, SAMUEL KYAMANYWA², SUNDAY EKESI¹, KOMI FIABOE¹, JAMES P EGONYU², SUBRAMANIAN SEVGAN¹

African grasshoppers (Acanthacris ruficornis) and long horned grasshoppers (Ruspolia nitidula) are important cultural food among communities in Kenya and Uganda. They are a good source of protein, fats, vital minerals and vitamins. Grasshoppers multiply during rainy season when there is enough moisture for eggs hatching and when grasses are available for them to feed. Despite their traditional importance as food, mass-rearing protocols for the species has not been developed. To optimise mass-rearing protocol, information on the preferred host crop of the grasshopper is critical. In this regard, we undertook molecular analysis of gut contents of Acanthacris and Ruspolia to identify their wild host plants. Adult insects were collected at different locations in Murang'a, Kenya and Mbarara, Kabale and Hoima, Uganda; preserved in absolute ethanol until further analysis. Grasshopper's guts i.e. fore-, mid- and hind gut were dissected from each specimen. Extraction of Plant DNA from the gut was done using the ISOLATE Plant DNA Kit from BIOLINE Company as per manufacturer's instructions. Forward and reverse primers, Mat K-1 RKIM-f and Mat K-3 FKIM-r respectively were used in PCR analysis. PCR products were purified and sequenced using Applied Biosystems 3730XL sequencer. Consensus sequences were generated using BioEdit software and the identity of plants established using basic local alignment search tool (BLAST) in the Genbank. Identified host plants of Acanthacris ruficornis were Achyropsis leptostachya, Heliocarpus pallidus, Centella virgata, Erigeron atticus, Galinsoga quadriradiata, Bougainvillea glabra and Digitaria exilis. Digitaria exilis was the only identified host plant of Ruspolia nitidula. Most of the identified host plants were broad leaved species except Digitaria exilis which is a grass species. The identified wild host plants of these insects are available everywhere in the country hence they can be adopted for mass rearing of grasshoppers. Further studies should focus on assessment of preference to and growth of Acanthacris and Ruspolia on the identified host plants.

Keywords: Acanthacris ruficornis, gut contents, host plants, Ruspolia nitidula

¹International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology (ICIPE), Plant Health, Kenya ²Makerere University, Crop Science, Uganda

Contact Address: Alfonce Leonard, International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology (ICIPE), Plant Health Division, Kasarani, Nairobi, Kenya, e-mail: amutibha@icipe.org

Understanding Variations in Plant Species Diversity in Homegardens of Smallholder Farms in Limpopo, South Africa

THOMAS BRINGHENTI¹, MUNIR HOFFMANN¹, KINGSLEY K. AYISI², WIEBKE BEUSHAUSEN¹, MARIAN KOCH¹, REIMUND P. RÖTTER¹

Smallholder homegardens (HG) are perceived as important for in situ conservation of plant genetic resources and several ecosystem functions. Key to maintaining such functions is to understand the ecological, socioeconomic and management-related factors which influence the species diversity of HG. However, little is known about such factors, in particular for Southern Africa. This study first assesses plant species diversity of smallholder HG in the Limpopo province of South Africa and secondly examines its main determining factors. Six villages were selected across gradients of precipitation, wealth and access to infrastructures and services. A total of 127 households belonging to such villages were interviewed using semi-structured questionnaires to investigate their socioeconomic conditions and the management of the gardens. Additionally, an inventory was made of all "useful" plant species (including trees and ornamentals) of each HG and diversity indices were calculated. The effective number of species was then chosen as a measure of diversity and set as response variable in a linear mixed model investigating its determining factors. Likewise, the information from the household interviews was used to select a number of candidate explanatory variables encompassing climatic, socioeconomic and managementrelated aspects. Overall, 248 species were found, with maize being by far the most abundant crop (with a summed dominance ratio of 0.29) and indigenous species accounting for about 37.5 % of the total. Diversity was highest in the wealthiest villages and in those receiving the highest precipitation. Mean HG species richness of the surveyed villages ranged from 21 to 32, while Shannon diversity indices varied between 1.1 and 2.0, corresponding to mean effective numbers of species of 3.9 to 9.7 per garden. Among all the investigated factors, the most important determinants of diversity were irrigation intensity and monthly household income. In conclusion, improving household wealth and enabling an adequate access to water at the homestead, for example by providing electric pumps and promoting a responsible and efficient water use, seems to have a significantly positive influence on HG plant species diversity in Limpopo.

Keywords: Determining factors, homegardens, plant species diversity

¹Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Department of Crop Sciences - Tropical Agronomy, Germany

²University of Limpopo, Risk and Vulnerability Science Center, South Africa

Contact Address: Thomas Bringhenti, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Department of Crop Sciences - Tropical Agronomy, Grisebachstraße 6, 37077 Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: thomas.b92@hotmail.it

The Spider Biodiversity in Long-Term Organic Rice Paddy Field in Subtropical China

Xueqing He¹, Yuhui Qiao², Lene Sigsgaard³, Xunjiang Wu⁴, Dehong Zhang⁴

Spiders are one of the most important natural enemies in paddy fields and their diversity has declined due to pesticides application and agricultural intensification. Organic farming is considered as a promising solution for augmenting natural enemies in the agroecosystem. However, most of these studies were done in Europe, and more information is required regarding biodiversity in farming systems in non-European regions, particularly in the tropics and sub-tropics. It was hypothesised that the effects observed of agricultural practice on beneficial organisms may depend on the duration of the agricultural practices in organic farm over years. Therefore, we assessed spiders diversity of organic rice paddy field in subtropical China that had been cultivated organically for 5 (OR5), 10 (OR10) and 15 (OR15) years since conversion and compared it to conventional rice (CR). The results showed that abundance and richness of spiders in organic paddy fields were significantly higher than those of conventional paddy field. Tetragnatha maxillosa and Pirata subpiraticus were dominant in the spider assemblages in both organic and conventional paddy fields. Spider richness in OR5/OR10/OR15 was significantly higher than that in CR, and it increased with organic operation time, but the difference was not significant. There was no significant difference between Shannon Wiener index (H') of spiders in organic and conventional paddy fields. The findings of this study are consistent with most of the previous studies in showing that organic farming will improve biodiversity in comparison to conventional farming. The effect of organic farming practice on spiders' diversity over time needs further study before a clear conclusion can be made.

Keywords: Organic rice, spider diversity, subtropical

¹University of Copenhagen, Department of Plant- and Environmental Science, Denmark

²China Agricultural University, College of Resources and Environmental Sciences, China

³University of Copenhagen, Plant and Environmental Sciences, Denmark

⁴Wanzai Organic Agriculture Office, Wanzai County, China

Contact Address: Xueqing He, University of Copenhagen, Department of Plant- and Environmental Science, Thorvaldsensvej 40, 1871 Frederiksberg, Denmark, e-mail: xhe@plen.ku.dk

Do Community Seed Banks Contribute to the Socio-Ecological Resilience of Communities? A Case-Study from Western Guatemala

Anna Porcuna Ferrer¹, Ronnie Vernooy², Jacob Van Etten³, Bernhard Freyer¹. Lorenz Probst¹

The region of Sierra de los Cuchumatanes (western Guatemala) has over the past decades seen a loss of its characteristic agrobiodiversity. Community seed banks (CSBs) were implemented to stop or reverse this trend and promote livelihood resilience. Our study is an enquiry into how CSBs contribute to sustainable agrobiodiversity management at community and household levels.

We conducted an in-depth comparative case study of three communities where CSBs have been implemented to explore how farmers have been affected by their establishment, using socioecological resilience as conceptual framework. We combined tools of participatory research and qualitative methods. The final data set comprised transcripts of 10 focus-group discussions and 86 semi-structured interviews, seed-network maps, CSB-timelines and the outcomes of three indicator-based self-assessment workshops on CSB-induced changes.

Our findings show that CSBs have an effect on local seed dynamics by fostering seed exchanges and providing access to new varieties. Other reported effects include improved information and knowledge exchange, and changes in gender roles and social organisation. Our results show that CSBs have a more direct impact at the household level rather than at the community level. They also make clear that in practice, implemented CSBs have a broader influence than originally planned. Still, challenges remain, such as involving the youth or including a wider range of crops that are important for income or nutrition.

The role CSBs (can) play is overshadowed by more fundamental changes in the socio-ecological system in the study area: the importance of maize cultivation and farming in general is diminishing, agricultural activities have become more individualised and market-oriented, and a large proportion of the youth is migrating to the United States. Traditionally, being self-sufficient in maize production has been an indicator of socio-ecological resilience. Today, however, remittances and a diversified household economy are dominant factors shaping resilience.

CSBs can contribute to this newly emerging resilience by strengthening livelihood diversification, improving technical and organisational capacities and contributing to more dynamic and effective networking. By doing so, the concepts of community seed bank and resilience acquire new meaning in the context of the larger socio-ecological change processes taking place in the region.

Keywords: Agricultural biodiversity, community seed banks, Guatemala, seed systems, socioecological resilience

Contact Address: Anna Porcuna Ferrer, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Div. of Organic Farming, Vienna, Austria, e-mail: anna.porcuna@gmail.com

¹University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Div. of Organic Farming, Austria

²Bioversity International, Global policies and diversity monitoring, The Netherlands

³Bioversity International, Information services and seed supplies, Costa Rica

Impact of Potato Crop Cultivation to Local Biodiversity in Musanze Province, Rwanda

KAI HOLLÄNDER¹, MICHAEL RADEMACHER¹, AIMABLE NSANZURWIMO²,
CLEMENS WOLLNY¹

Agricultural intensification influences ecosystem status and biodiversity of the environment. The Virunga volcanoes area, where parts of it are situated in northern Rwanda, is a biodiversity hot spot in Africa. The system is challenged by increasing human activities to guarantee food security. Food security and biodiversity are dependent to each other in terms of e.g. biomass production. The objective of this study was to reveal differences in plant and insect diversity and to identify distinctions in vegetation structure between two determined treatments, the buffer zone of the volcano national park, which implicit the natural ecosystem and the potato crop area. Two methods were used to quantify different biodiversity values and to characterise the impact of potato crop cultivation on biodiversity at Musanze province in Rwanda. The method of vegetation mapping was applied, which offers, multi-usable information about vegetation structure and plant diversity. These indirect bio-indicators provide basic information on environmental status. The surrounding biotopes of the potato crop area and the buffer zone were mapped. By using barber-traps insect occurrence was analysed. Due to the catches the indicator species *Pterostychus*, a carabid beetle and the ant species Pheidole megacephala were defined. Out of their abundance it was possible to conclude about environmental status and soil condition. 56 insect species and 80 plant species were detected in the buffer zone compared to 40 insect species and 62 plant species in the potato area. The mean plant and insect abundance were also higher there. The measured structure coefficient was also higher in the buffer zone. In terms of the Vision 2020, Rwanda wants to intensify their agricultural production. It is questionable how conservation and intensification targets can be balanced. Every species provide important ecosystem services to e.g. produce biomass. Plant structures with a high diversity are unique resources for pollen or nesting sites and highly diverse ecosystems are more stable to pests and they are necessary to receive stable yields. It must be detected how the system can be intensified, with integrated pest management, artificial influences or a mix of them and how biodiversity with its ecosystem function benefit the agricultural system.

Keywords: Biodiversity, insect indicator species, potato-crop system, vegetation analysis, Virunga volcanoes

¹University of Applied Science Bingen, Faculty of Lifescience, Germany

²INES-Ruhengeri, Inst. of Applied Science, Dept. of Biotechnology, Rwanda

Contact Address: Kai Holländer, University of Applied Science Bingen, Faculty of Lifescience, Berlinstraße 109, 55411 Bingen, Germany, e-mail: kai-hollaender@web.de

Animal production

1)	Enhancing ruminant production	107
2)	Non-ruminant livestock and aquaculture	141
3)	Pastoral systems	169

Enhancing ruminant production

Oral Presentations	
CHRISTIAN BATEKI ADJOGO, SUZANNE VAN DIJK, ANDREAS WILKES, UTA DICKHOEFER, ROBIN WHITE: Efficacy of Dairy Management Strategies to Increase Milk Yield of East African Dairy Cattle Smallholders	111
HAILESELASSIE GHEBREMARIAM ARAYA, YAYNESHET TESFAY, OLIVER WASONGA: Enhancing Small-Scale Sheep Production in Ethiopia Using Local Feed Resources	112
Kasita Listyarini, Mutasem Ali Abuzahra, Jakaria Jakaria, Cece Sumantri, Md. Jasim Uddin, Asep Gunawan: Association of KiF12 Gene Related to Fatty Acid Composition in Javanese Fat Tailed Sheep	113
BWIHANGANE BIRINDWA, GEORGE GITAO, BEBORA LILLY: Developing Innovative and Sustainable Approaches to Prevent the Spread of Goat Plague Disease in Democratic Republic of Congo	114
ANA PINTO GARCIA, TONG YIN, MARION REICHENBACH, RAGHAVENDRA BHATTA, EVA SCHLECHT, SVEN KÖNIG: Phenotypic Dairy Cattle Trait Expressions in Dependency on Rural-Urban Gradients	115
Posters	
TAIMOUR TANHA, MOKHTAR FATHI, ALI HADAVIZADEH: The Effects of Nano Selenium on Performance and Immune System of Suckling Holstein Dairy Calves	116
OLUSOLA OLORUNNISOMO, ADEDOYIN SAUDAT ADEWUMI: Feed and Management Interventions for Increased Milk Production in Zebu Cattle at Ibadan	117
DANIEL BRAIN AKAKPO, SIMON OOSTING, SAMUEL ADJEI- NSIAH, ALAN DUNCAN, KEN GILLER, IMKE DE BOER: Evaluating the Traditional Feed Storage Systems of Grain	
Legume Fodders in Northern Ghana	118

Siham A. Rahmatalla, Danny Arends, Ammar Said Ahmed, Monika Reissmann, Gudrun A. Brockmann: Genetic Variability of β -Lactoglobulin Gene in Sudanese Goat Breeds	119
MOHAMMAD MOHI UDDIN, MST. NADIRA SULTANA, MD. SALAUDDIN PALASH: Alternative Feeding System Effect on Productivity and Profitability of the Dairy Farming System in Bangladesh	120
BOCKLINE BEBE, GODFREY NYANG'ORI, JAN VAN DER LEE: Milk Yield Gaps and their Determinants in Smallholder Farms in a Semi-Arid Ecosystem of Kenya	121
PEDRO ALAN SAINZ-SANCHEZ, GUSTAVO ROJAS, JOAQUÍN CASTRO-MONTOYA, CARLOS A. GOMEZ, UTA DICKHOEFER: Effects of Type of Concentrate Feed and Timing of Supplementation on Performance of Lactating Dairy Cows Grazing an Alfalfa-Rye-Grass Sward in the Peruvian Highlands	122
ALEMAYEHU TADESSE, YAYNESHET TESFAY, VEERLE FIEVEZ: Particle Size Distribution Is an Indication of Wheat Bran Quality Attributes for Dairy Farmers in Tigray Region, Northern Ethiopia	123
GLADNESS MWANGA, DENIS F.N. MUJIBI, ZAIPUNA YONAH, MIZECK CHAGUNDA: Factors Influencing Breeding Decisions by Smallholder Dairy Farmers Across Four Countries in Sub-Saharan Africa	124
ADEJOKE MAKO, VICTOR AKINWANDE, ABAYOMI AKINFEMI, OLUWAKEMI AJAYI: In vitro Gas Fermentation Assessment of Persea americana Leaf and Acceptability by West African Dwarf Sheep	125
ENDY TRIYANNANTO, SITI MUYASAROH, WISNU WIDIARTO: Correlation of Age and Slaughter Weight on Carcass and Non-Carcass Female Sheep During Iedul Adha	126
OLUWANIKE ABIOLA-OLAGUNJU, VICTOR AKINWANDE, ADEJOKE MAKO, ADERONKE MOSURO, HALEEMAT AYANWALE: Applying in vitro Gas Production Technique to Assess the	
Nutritive Value of Gmelina arborea Leaves	127
MARION REICHENBACH, ANA PINTO GARCIA, SVEN KÖNIG, RAGHAVENDRA BHATTA, EVA SCHLECHT: Characteristics of Dairy Farms along the Rural-Urban Interface of the Emerging Megacity of Bangalore, India	120
race of the Emerging Megacity of Dangalore, mula	128

ZEWDIE ADANE MARIAMI, ERNST-AUGUST NUPPENAU, BERHANU GEBREMEDHIN, AZAGE TEGEGNE: The Role of Crossbreed Cow Adoption on Farm Productivity and Technical Efficiency in Ethiopia	129
CARMELA LOVITO, B. DUMBIA, AHMED BEZEID O. EL MAMY, MOHAMMED O. ENDIDI, B. YAHYA, K. ISSELMOU, MARGHERITA GOMARASCA, GIORGIA ANGELONI, SARA DI LELLO, GIULIANA TERRACCIANO, MARTA CARMINATI: First Serosurvey of Peste des Petits Ruminants, Rift Valley Fever and Brucellosis in Tiris-Zemmour Region, Mauritania	130
RISMA RIZKIA NURDIANTI, JOAQUÍN CASTRO-MONTOYA, UTA DICKHOEFER: Effects of Tropical Legume Hays on Intake and Average Daily Gain of Ruminants: A Quantitative Review	131
KHATERINE SALAZAR-CUBILLAS, UTA DICKHOEFER: Estimation of CNCPS Protein Fractions from Proximate Nutrient and Fiber Concentrations in Tropical Ruminant Forages	132
MARIANA PEREIRA, SARAH GLATZLE, VALÉRIA A.C. SAN- TOS, FABIANA V. ALVES, ROBERTO G. ALMEIDA, MARIA DA GRAÇA MORAIS: Beef Cattle Production in Brazilian Integrated Systems	133
STEFANIE KUNZ, EVA SCHLECHT: Animal Husbandry as a Strategy for Income Diversification of Small Vanilla Producers in the Sava Region of Madagascar	134
AHMED MUSA, MOHAMED KHAIR ABDALLA AHMED, NAHID IDAM, IBRAHIM A. ISHAG: Evaluation of some Economics Traits in Eastern Sudan Cattle Ecotypes	135
NILS TEUFEL, LUKE KORIR, AMOS OMORE, ISABELLE BALTENWECK, HENRY KIARA: The Effects of Improved Training on the Business Performance of Livestock Vaccinators in Tanzania	136
AN NOTENBAERT, JOHN MUTUA, SOLOMON W. MWENDIA, JESSICA MUKIRI: Mapping the Suitability of Tropical Forages – Now and in the Future	137
KAREN ENCISO, ANDRÉS CHARRY, STEFAN BURKART: Ex-Ante Evaluation of the Economic Impact of Adopting Improved Forages in the Colombian Eastern Plains	138

MANUEL DIAZ, DANIEL VERGARA, VALHERIA CASTIBLANCO, STEFAN BURKART:

Colombian Cattle Producers' Preferences for Improved Forage Technologies: Chances for Forage Breeding and Selection

139

Efficacy of Dairy Management Strategies to Increase Milk Yield of East African Dairy Cattle Smallholders

CHRISTIAN BATEKI ADJOGO¹, SUZANNE VAN DIJK², ANDREAS WILKES², UTA DICKHOEFER¹, ROBIN WHITE³

Although East Africa (EA) is home to one of the most advanced dairy industries within sub-Saharan Africa, regional milk production does not yet meet the growing milk demand. Various dairy management strategies (DMS) have been introduced to improve milk yield (MY); yet, their efficacy to increase MY under prevailing husbandry conditions is unknown. Therefore, this study aimed at (1) identifying DMS presented in the literature for increasing MY of individual cows on smallholder farms in EA; and (2) quantifying the increase in MY that can be achieved by these DMS.

Twenty-five studies from EA, that investigated increments in MY of a total of 2280 dairy cows in response to various DMS, were identified via a quantitative literature review. Data on measured MY (i.e. response variable), together with applied DMS and biophysical variables (i.e. explanatory variables) were extracted and processed by curtailing the standard errors of the mean MY of individual cows. Then, different weighting strategies were applied to prevent overweighting of particularly precise studies. Four multivariate causal regression models each differing in the weighting strategy (i.e. no weighting, number of observations, inverse of standard error, and inverse of the mean of standard error) were then fitted to explain the changes in MY associated with the use of DMS under different husbandry conditions. The best model was selected using the Akaike information criterion.

Nine DMS were identified, of which only the use of improved cattle breeds' and enhanced cattle nutrition (i.e. improving feed intake and diet nutritional quality), jointly explained MY increases per cow by up to $4.9\,\mathrm{kg}\,\mathrm{d}^{-1}$ (p < 0.05). Other DMS (e.g. fodder crop use, watering regime, and parasite control) were not retained in the models. The model fitted without a weighting factor most accurately explained observed increments in MY by combining use of improved cattle breeds', enhanced cow nutrition when also accounting for trial length, and maximum ambient air temperature.

Use of improved cattle breeds and enhanced animal nutrition most effectively increase MY of smallholder dairy cattle in EA. These DMS should be combined to balance dairy cattle genetics, husbandry conditions, and cow nutrition to considerably improve cow performance.

Keywords: Dairy cows, dairy management strategies, East Africa, milk yield

¹University of Hohenheim, Animal Nutrition and Rangeland Management in the Tropics and Subtropics, Germany

²Unique Forestry and Land Use GmbH, Germany

³Virginia Tech, Department of Animal and Poultry Science, United States of America

Contact Address: Christian Bateki Adjogo, University of Hohenheim, Animal Nutrition and Rangeland Management in the Tropics and Subtropics, Früwirthstr 31, 70599, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: christian.bateki@uni-hohenheim.de

Enhancing Small-Scale Sheep Production in Ethiopia Using Local Feed Resources

HAILESELASSIE GHEBREMARIAM ARAYA¹, YAYNESHET TESFAY²,
OLIVER WASONGA¹

There is a growing demand for sheep meat in Ethiopia, due to the cultural preference, increasing population, urbanisation and income. This calls for commercialisation of otherwise predominantly subsistence sheep production to meet the rising market demand and enhance income of the producers. Fattening sheep is one of the key strategies of adding value to the lean animals to meet specifications of the available markets while fetching better prices for the farmers. However, feed shortage is a major barrier. Therefore, there is need to find local feed resources that are affordable to small scale farmers. This study evaluated the impact of three browses namely; Cordia monoica, Cordia uncinulata and Dichrostachys cinerea, on the production performance of sheep fattening. Barley-straw was used as the control diet. One year old abergelle breed sheep weighing 14.1 ± 0.72 kg were fed on feed rations of barleystraw supllemented with 200g of each of C. monoica, C. uncinulata and D. cinerea for a period of 15 weeks. Mean separation test analysis shows that the daily intake of total dry matter of the sheep fed with supplemented diet (8.73g) and those fed on control diet (4.9g) were significantly different (p < 0.001). Dry matter digestibility for the C. uncinulata and D. cinerea supplemented diet was significantly higher (p < 0.0001) than the diets supplemented with C. monoica and the control diet. Similarly, the C. uncinulata and D. cinerea supplemented diet had significantly higher (p < 0.0001) apparent crude protein digestibility than the C. monoica diet and control diet. The sheep fed with C. uncinulata and D. cinerea had the highest mean slaughter weight, empty body weight and hot carcass weight. A partial budget analysis shows that every dollar spent on C. uncinulata, D. cinerea and C. monoica supplementation gave a return of USD 4.00, 3.28 and 0.53, respectively. Supplementation of sheep feed with C. monoica, C. uncinulata, and D. cinerea not only improves weight gain, but is also cost effective in enhancing productivity of small scale sheep production in response to the rising mutton market demand in Ethiopia. If browse production, processing and use are technically and institutionally supported, there is a potential for enhancing sustainable and market-oriented small-scale sheep production in Ethiopia.

Keywords: Browses, Ethiopia, market, sheep

¹University of Nairobi, Land Resources Management and Agricultural Technology (LARMAT), Kenya

²Consultant, Ethiopia

Contact Address: Haileselassie Ghebremariam Araya, University of Nairobi, Land Resources Management and Agricultural Technology (LARMAT), Nairobi, Kenya, e-mail: hailish746990@gmail.com

Association of KiF12 Gene Related to Fatty Acid Composition in Javanese Fat Tailed Sheep

Kasita Listyarini¹, Mutasem Ali Abuzahra¹, Jakaria Jakaria¹, Cece Sumantri¹, Md. Jasim Uddin², Asep Gunawan¹

Kinesin-like protein KIF12 gene are suggested as candidate gene involved in fatty acid metabolism. The aim of this study was to analyse the genotype polymorphism and to study association of KIF12 gene (g.9617965 C>T) related to fatty acid composition. Thirty five Javanese fat tailed sheep rams were used in this study. Identification of gene polymorphism and associations of KIF12 gene was performed using polymerase chain reaction-restriction fragment length polymorphism (PCR-RFLP) method and general linear model (GLM) analysis. The results of the identification of KIF12 gene polymorphism are polymorphic. The results showed that there were three genotypes (CC, CT, and TT) found in this study. Association analysis showed that KIF12 gene was significant (p < 0.05) associated with unsaturated fatty acids including Miristoleic acid (C14:1), Oleic acid (C18:1n9c) and saturated fatty acid including Lauric acid (C12), Myristic acid (C14), and Heptadecanoic acid (C17). The genotype CC exhibited greater the unsaturated fatty acid Miristoleic Acid (C14:1) and the saturated fatty acids Lauric acid (C12) and Myristic acid (C14) than the genotypes CT and TT (p < 0.05). The genotype CT exhibited greater the unsaturated fatty acid Oleic acid (C18:1n9c) and the saturated fatty acid Heptadecanoic acid (C17) than the genotypes CC and TT (p < 0.05). These results will improve the understanding of the functions of the KIF12 gene in fatty acid metabolism especially in terms of unsaturated fatty acid and will shed light on KIF12 as a candidate in the selection of sheep with high unsaturated fatty acids in Javanese fat tailed sheep.

Keywords: Association, fatty acid composition, Javanese fat tailed sheep, KIF12 gene

¹Bogor Agricultural University, Animal Production and Technology, Indonesia

²Sylhet Agricultural University, Agricultural Economics, Bangladesh

Contact Address: Kasita Listyarini, Bogor Agricultural University, Animal Production and Technology, Agatis Street, 16680 Bogor, Indonesia, e-mail: kasitalistyarini@gmail.com

Developing Innovative and Sustainable Approaches to Prevent the Spread of Goat Plague Disease in Democratic Republic of Congo

BWIHANGANE BIRINDWA¹, GEORGE GITAO², BEBORA LILLY²

¹Evangelical University in Africa, Animal Science / Molecular Biology, DR Congo

Peste des petits ruminants (PPR) or "goat plague" is an acute viral disease of small ruminants caused by PPR virus (PPRV). The disease causes high morbidities of up to 100% and mortality rates ranging between 50 and 90% in goats and sheep leading to high economic losses. The disease was first reported by FAO and OIE in the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) in 2008. The aim of the current study was to confirm and characterise PPRV using reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) and to establish their phylogenetic relationship by sequencing the nucleoprotein (N), fusion (F) and hemagglutinin (H) genes but also evaluate the prevalence of PPRV specific antibody by competitive enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (cELISA) and determine specific in-country risk factors associated with the disease patterns. Samples including oculonasal swabs, tissues and whole blood were obtained from live goats and/or sheep with clinical presentation suggestive of PPR for virus characterisation and serum for antibody-PPRV detection. The clinical signs observed in sampled goats and/or sheep suspected with PPR included proliferative and self-resolving lesions around the muzzle and lips of involved animals, serous mucopurulent nasal and ocular discharge, fever, diarrhea, lacrimation, matting of eye lids, cutaneous nodules, erosions on the soft palate and gums and labored breathing. The screening of 150 samples by RT-PCR indicated an overall prevalence of 64.7 %. Phylogenetic analysis based on the sequencing of N, F and H genes indicated that PPRV obtained from Eastern DRC clustered genetically with PPRV strains of Lineage III, together with PPRV from East Africa. Therefore the control of this disease is important in order to avoid the spread of the virus in the entire country and across. An overall PPRV seroprevalence of 45.3 % (n=320) was determined. A multilevel nominal logistic model using JMP-Pro software and Stata 11 indicated that the likelihood of goats and sheep being infected with PPRV increased significantly when animals shared water sources, herd size increased, animal age increased, exotic breed, communal grazing systems and farm-to-farm animal exchange. PPRV is circulating in South Kivu and several risk factors are associated with its sero-status including spacial and farm management.

Keywords: Democratic Republic of Congo, molecular characterisation, peste-despetits ruminants, risk factors, seroprevalence

²University of Nairobi, Parasitology, Microbiology and Pathology, Kenya

Contact Address: Bwihangane Birindwa, Evangelical University in Africa, Animal Science / Molecular Biology, Q. Ndendere, 243 Bukavu Town, DR Congo, e-mail: adjibir@yahoo.fr

Phenotypic Dairy Cattle Trait Expressions in Dependency on Rural-Urban Gradients

Ana Pinto Garcia 1 , Tong Yin 1 , Marion Reichenbach 2 , Raghavendra Bhatta 3 , Eva Schlecht 4 , Sven König 1

- ¹ Justus Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Animal Breeding and Genetics, Germany
- ²University of Kassel, Animal Husbandry in the Tropics and Subtropics, Germany
- ³National Institute of Animal Nutrition and Physiology, Inst. of Animal Breeding and Genetics. India
- ⁴University of Kassel / Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Animal Husbandry in the Tropics and Subtropics, Germany

In dairy cattle breeding programs in Europe or in North America, phenotypic trait expressions have been studied within distinct environmental classes, e.g., conventional versus organic production systems. The aim of the present study was to enhance such concepts via trait modelling in dependency of continuous explanatory variables, considering both social and ecological descriptors simultaneously. Obvious social-ecological challenges for dairy production due to obvious social-ecological heterogeneity might exist in rising megacities on rural-urban gradients. Consequently, following the logic of rural-urban indexes, a simplified survey stratification index (SSI) was calculated based on building density and distance to the city centre for the chosen megacity Bangalore, located in the South of India. Dairy trait recording focused on the generation of a longitudinal data structure, covering a recording period from June 2017 to February 2018, and including 391 dairy cows from 105 herds in urban (SSI < 0.3), mixed (0.3 - 0.5) and rural (SSI > 0.5) districts. Traits from repeated farm visits reflected the categories production (daily milk yield: MY), energy efficiency (body condition score: BCS), cow wellbeing (udder hygiene score: UHYS, leg hygiene score: LHYS), and health (locomotion score: LOC, mastitis: MAST). The statistical models for repeated measurement analyses considered the fixed effects of lactation, days in milk, breed, year-season of trait recording, and SSI as a covariate. For SSI, different functions based on Legendre polynomials 1 to 4 were tested in consecutive runs for all traits. Random effects included the cow (genetic plus permanent environment), the herd, and the residual component. Model evaluation criteria were AIC and BIC values. Throughout smallest AIC and BIC values indicating model superiority were achieved with Legendre polynomials of order 1 (reflecting a linear regression) and of order 4. Quadratic functions (Legendre 2) were associated with large AIC and BIC values for all traits. MY and BCS were higher in the urban regions, associated with reduced MAST and better hygiene scores for UHYS and LHYS. Such obvious differences in phenotypic trait expressions due to social-ecological heterogeneity might contribute to a deeper understanding of physiological mechanisms underlying genotype by environment interactions.

Keywords: Dairy cattle, rural-urban farms, social-ecological systems, survey stratification index (SSI)

Contact Address: Ana Pinto Garcia, Justus Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Animal Breeding and Genetics, Ludwigstr. 21b, 35390 Giessen, Germany, e-mail: ana.pinto-garcia@agrar.uni-giessen.de

The Effects of Nano Selenium on Performance and Immune System of Suckling Holstein Dairy Calves

TAIMOUR TANHA, MOKHTAR FATHI, ALI HADAVIZADEH

Payame Noor University of Iran, Iran

The aim of this research was to consider the effects of Nano Se (NS) supplemented on colostrum and milk during first 30 days of life based on the performance and skeletal growth and also it effects on hematological parameters, blood Se concentration, total antioxidant status (TAS), glutathione peroxidase activity (GPX) and serum immunoglobulin G (IgG) in suckling Holstein calves. Therefore, twenty four newborn calves were randomly assigned with the following treatments C= control (no supplementation and selenium derived only from milk and concentrate); NS 0.2=0.2 mg of Nano Se/animal per day to the colostrum at first day and then to milk; and NS 0.3=0.3 mg of Se/animal per day to the colostrum at first day and then to milk. The blood concentration of Se was higher in the NS 0.2 and NS 0.3 treated animals than in the control animals (P = 0.05) at 30 days of age. TAS was higher in NS 0.3 treated animals compare to NS 0.2 and control animals at 30 day of trial (P = 0.05). GPX activity during the 30 days of the 30 days of the research was higher in animals receiving NS supplementation compared to the control animals during the 30 days of the experiment (P = 0.05). And also serum IgG was higher in the NS 0.2 and NS 0.3 treated animals Compared to the control animals (P = 0.05) at 0 and 3 days of age. No difference was observed in the DMI, WG, WH, HG and BL among treatments regimes when the calves were 0, 15 and 30 days old. Feed conversion (FCR) was more efficient in NS treated animals than in control animals during the 30 days of age. There were no significant differences in platelet cells, hemoglobin, red blood cells, white blood cells, packed cell volume, neutrophils and lymphocytes among treatment regimens at 0, 15 and 30 days of age. Selenium supplementation also did not act as a growth promoter but did improve TAS status, GPX activity, serum IgG and blood Se concentration in treated animals with NS during this phase of compromised health.

Keywords: Ghlutathione peroxidase activity, immune system, performance, total antioxidant status

Contact Address: Taimour Tanha, Payame Noor University, Dept. of Agriculture, The West of Shaid Bagheri, Tehran, Iran, e-mail: tanha1351@yahoo.com

Feed and Management Interventions for Increased Milk Production in Zebu Cattle at Ibadan

OLUSOLA OLORUNNISOMO, ADEDOYIN SAUDAT ADEWUMI University of Ibadan, Dept. of Animal Science, Nigeria

Milk production in Zebu cattle is limited by their low genetic potentials, poor nutrition and poor management practices. In Nigeria, cattle are grazed extensively on low quality native pastures which have low protein content and poor digestibility. This is further complicated by poor water supply, endemic parasite infestation, heat stress and scarcity of forage during the dry season. Under these conditions, productivity of Zebu cattle is predictably low. In order to minimise the negative effects of poor nutrition and stressful environment, different feeding and management interventions were introduced at the University of Ibadan, to improve milk production and general performance of Zebu cows or heifers. These include fodder cropping, silage production, tick control measures and evaporative cooling of cows. Fodder cropping, particularly, elephant grass (*Pennisetum purpureum*) was found to be suitable for silagemaking and fresh-cut feeding of cattle. Introduction of silage into the diet improved growth rate of Zebu heifers by 100 % (400–800 g d⁻¹) and milk yield of cows by about 125 % (average of 2.0–4.50 kg d⁻¹). Tick control measures and evaporative cooling of heifers during hot weather also enhanced growth rate by an average of 121% (av. 300-663 g d⁻¹) and 64 % (av. 380-643 g d⁻¹) respectively. Evaporative cooling also enhanced animal comfort and dry matter intake of Zebu heifers in the hot environment. Rectal temperature of heifers dropped from 39.3°C to an average of 38.3°C in the afternoon when cooling measures were applied while dry matter intake increased from 2.08 to 3.78% of body weight. These interventions when adopted have great potentials to enhance productivity and milk output from Zebu cattle in Nigeria and other tropical countries.

Keywords: Evaporative cooling, milk yield, silage, tick control, Zebu cattle

Contact Address: Olusola Olorunnisomo, University of Ibadan, Dept. of Animal Science, Ibadan, Nigeria, e-mail: sholanisomo@yahoo.com

Evaluating the Traditional Feed Storage Systems of Grain Legume Fodders in Northern Ghana

DANIEL BRAIN AKAKPO¹, SIMON OOSTING¹, SAMUEL ADJEI-NSIAH², ALAN DUNCAN³. KEN GILLER⁴. IMKE DE BOER¹

Feed scarcity and high feed costs, especially during the dry season, are major challenges to ruminant production in West Africa. Crop residues are tradable commodities, and they are commonly used as an alternative feed source in the absence of grazing resources. The residues of grain legumes, also known as grain legume fodders (GLFs), such as groundnut and cowpea haulms, have a better nutritional quality than cereal residues, such as maize and rice straws. Little is known, however, about the impact of different feed storage systems on the nutritional quality of GLFs. We, therefore, evaluated the effects of location (rooftop, tree fork and room) and type of storage (packed sacks and unpacked, but tied with ropes) on the nutritional quality of GLFs (cowpea, groundnut and soybean fodder) stored for four months. Each month, stored fodders were weighed and sampled for quality assessment based on laboratory analyses and, ranked by groups of farmers based on indigenous quality indicators, such as colour, smell and leafiness. To determine palatability and dry matter (DM) intake, we also fed one kilogramme of each sample to 12 mature local sheep in a cafeteria fashion for 14 hours. Preliminary results indicated that room is a better storage location than tree fork and rooftop. Moreover, crude protein and organic matter digestibility decreased with length of storage time, across fodder types. DM loss during four months of storage was lower for sack storage (13%) than for fodder tied with a rope (32 %), (p < 0.05). Moreover, sheep consumed more cowpea fodder when stored in sacks (833 g DM day $^{-1}$) than when tied with rope (741 g DM day $^{-1}$). Similarly, sheep consumed more groundnut fodder when stored in sacks (761 g DM day ⁻¹) than when tied with ropes (649 g DM day⁻¹). Farmers and their animals ranked cowpea fodder highest, followed by groundnut and lastly soybean fodder. To conclude, the nutritional quality of GLFs can be preserved if stored in sacks in a room for a period not exceeding five months. This study provided insights into better storage practices to maintain fodder quality in feeding systems to enhance livestock production.

Keywords: Fodder quality, grain legume residues, livestock feed, storage

¹Wageningen University and Research, Animal Production Systems Group, The Netherlands

²International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), N2Africa, Ghana

³International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), Ethiopia

⁴Wageningen University and Research, Plant Production Systems, The Netherlands

Contact Address: Daniel Brain Akakpo, Wageningen University and Research, Animal Production Systems Group, P.O. Box 338, 6700 AH Wageningen, The Netherlands, e-mail: daniel.akakpo@wur.nl

Genetic Variability of β -Lactoglobulin Gene in Sudanese Goat Breeds

SIHAM A. RAHMATALLA^{1,2}, DANNY ARENDS², AMMAR SAID AHMED², MONIKA REISSMANN², GUDRUN A. BROCKMANN²

Sudanese indigenous goat breeds have an important contribution to food security, livelihood, and rural economy. The improvement of the productivity of goat local breeds contributes to rural development. Therefore, the identification of the genetic variations is important for genetic improvement of economical production traits. The aim of this study was to detect the variation of the goat β -lactoglobulin (LGB) gene in four Sudanese goat breeds (Nubian, Desert, Nilotic and Taggar goats). Genomic DNA samples from 20 animals were screened for the variability in the coding and upstream region of the LGB gene. This was done by comparative sequencing to the goat reference genome at NCBI.

The sequence analysis of 5,316 bp detected 30 SNPs in comparison to the reference sequence, with an average of 5.6 SNPs per 1,000 sequenced base pairs. We found eight SNPs in the upstream gene region, two synonymous SNPs, three in the 3'-UTR, and 17 in introns. Three out of eight SNPs at the upstream gene region were novel. One of the novel SNP and additionally SNP in the promoter region reside in putative transcription factor binding sites for M6097, Elk3, Elf5, and GABPA. These SNPs could affect the gene regulation, influencing the transcriptional rate, and hence may potentially influence the milk protein content. The novel synonymous SNP in exon 2 was found only in Nubian and Desert goats. Among the 17 SNPs in introns, nine were novel. The above mentioned findings show high genetic variability among Sudanese goats in the LGB gene which could potentially affect protein yield in goat milk production. Further research is required to identify the phenotypic effects of the novel SNPs found in this study.

Keywords: Beta lactoglobulin, genetic variants, single nucleotide polymorphism, Sudanese goat breeds

¹University of Khartoum, Dept. of Dairy Production, Sudan

²Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Albrecht Daniel Thaer-Institute of Agricultural and Horticultural Sciences (ADTI), Germany

Contact Address: Siham A. Rahmatalla, University of Khartoum, Dept. of Dairy Production, P.O. Box 32, 13314 Khartoum North, Sudan, e-mail: sihamerwa76@yahoo.com

Alternative Feeding System Effect on Productivity and Profitability of the Dairy Farming System in Bangladesh

Mohammad Mohi Uddin 1 , MST. Nadira Sultana 1 , Md. Salauddin Palash 2

¹Bangladesh Agricultural University (BAU), Dept. of Animal Nutrition, Bangladesh

Dairy feeding systems in Bangladesh are highly complex and still mostly unidentified. A further problem constitutes the scarcity of year-round feed supply which might require adopting alternative feeding systems (AFS) to enhance dairy productivity. Therefore, the objective of this study was to estimate the effect of AFS on animal productivity and profitability and identify factors that affect adoption of AFS. To this end the International Farm Comparison Network (IFCN) methodology is applied which is based on the typical farm approach (TFA) and the technology impact policy impact calculations (TIPI-CAL) model. In addition, a binary choice logit regression model is used. A 'typical' farm operating with current feeding system (CFS) was used as baseline farm. The AFS introduces the concept of balanced ration, using the optimal proportion of locally available roughages and concentrates at the least cost. In contrast, the CFS relies on roughage feed, particularly rice straw, and does not use the concept of balanced ration. The data to model the typical farm were obtained from a panel survey on 12 typical farms. Data was analysed using the TIPI-CAL software (5.3) and STATA version 12.0. The results revealed that the adoption of AFS results in a 21 % higher milk production (8.2 kg/cow/day) than CFS (6.18 kg/cow/day), whereas costs are higher for CFS (48.8 US\$/100 kg Energy Corrected Milk, ECM) than for AFS (34.7 US\$ / 100 kg ECM). This implies that costs can be reduced by 29% if AFS is adopted. The benefit-cost ratio was 1.69 for AFS and 1.16 for CFS. corresponding to a net return from milk production of 88% for AFS and 40% for CFS. Farmer education, milk price, return over variable cost (ROVC), predicted profit and Herfindhal index were significantly (p < 0.05) influencing the adoption of AFS. Therefore, a suitable strategy needs to be identified to promote adequate adoption of AFS in order to render dairy production sustainable and thus ensure food and nutrition security among dairy farmers in Bangladesh and their customers.

Keywords: Current feeding system and alternative feeding system, dairy, milk productivity, profitability

²Bangladesh Agricultural University, Dept. of Agribusiness and Marketing, Bangladesh

Contact Address: Mohammad Mohi Uddin, Bangladesh Agricultural University (BAU), Dept. of Animal Nutrition, Mymensingh, Bangladesh, e-mail: muddin_bau@yahoo.com

Milk Yield Gaps and their Determinants in Smallholder Farms in a Semi-Arid Ecosystem of Kenya

BOCKLINE BEBE¹, GODFREY NYANG'ORI², JAN VAN DER LEE³

Relative milk yield gaps computed as the difference between actual and potentially attainable yield provide insight of how much production can be increased in practice with locally available resources and technologies. We applied bench-marking approach with the principle that some farmers are able to attain higher productivity levels than the typical farmer despite facing similar resources, challenges and tradeoffs. These top performing farmers likely do allocate production resources differently, which may inform prioritisation of promising intervention options from local production experiences for closing yield gap presently observed in milk production. The study quantified the magnitude in milk yield gap and to identify differences between top 10% farms and typical farms that could point to the promising interventions for closing the milk yield gaps. The bench-marking approach was applied to survey data from smallholder dairy farms in a semi-arid region of Kenya. Milk yield per cow per day was 14.6 litres in the top farms and 6.3 litres in the typical farms, which translates to 57.4% yield gap. This implies that a typical farm is currently producing at 42.6% below the potential attainable yield and has the potential to increase yields by 134.9%. Paired comparisons of the least square means between the top and typical farms consistently showed that top farms invested more in external sourcing of feed, water and labour to supplement on-farm resources, veterinary services for disease control to improve herd health and in artificial insemination to improve breed quality. This demonstrates that the difference between top performing farms and the typical farms is use of external resources. At the present attained productivity levels, results show that farmers can more than double their milk yields through efficient use of external inputs and services. Therefore empowering farmers with knowledge, skills and networks that enable them to access and efficiently use external inputs and services is recommended for interventions targeting closing the yield gaps. This can be attained through strengthening farmer cooperative movement to ease access to input and output markets with check-off arrangements for payments.

Keywords: Bench marking approach, external inputs, survey data, top farms, typical farms

¹Egerton University, Dept. of Animal Science, Kenya

²Mt Clara Mtakatifu Mwangaza Centre, Development Programmes, Kenya

³ Wageningen University and Research, Wageningen Livestock Research, The Netherlands

Contact Address: Bockline Bebe, Egerton University, Dept. of Animal Science, 20115 Egerton, Kenya, e-mail: obebeb@yahoo.com

Effects of Type of Concentrate Feed and Timing of Supplementation on Performance of Lactating Dairy Cows Grazing an Alfalfa-Rye-Grass Sward in the Peruvian Highlands

Pedro Alan Sainz-Sanchez¹, Gustavo Rojas¹, Joaquín Castro-Montoya¹, Carlos A. Gomez², Uta Dickhoefer¹

Alfalfa is an important forage source for grazing dairy cattle in the Peruvian highlands. Moderate metabolisable energy contents and high concentrations of rapidly rumen degradable protein in alfalfa necessitate the supplementation of concentrates rich in non-structural carbohydrates. The aim was thus to evaluate the effects of two different cereal grains differing in ruminal starch degradation and timing of supplementation on milk yield of dairy cows grazing a mixed alfalfa-rye-grass sward.

A feeding trial was conducted at the research station of National Agrarian University La Molina in Jauja, Peru (11°51'36.3" South, 75°23'48.8" West; 3,350 m above sea level), between November 2017 to February 2018. The trial comprised three periods of 14 d adaptation and 7 d sampling and tested four treatments in a Youden Square design. Twenty-four lactating Brown Swiss cows were used with (mean \pm standard deviation) $458 \pm 48.4 \, \text{kg}$ live weight (LW), $141 \pm 52 \, \text{days}$ in milk, and $15.3 \pm 1.8 \, \text{kg} \, \text{d}^{-1}$ milk yield at the start of the trial. All cows grazed an alfalfa-rye-grass sward for $8 \, \text{hd}^{-1}$. They were divided into four groups that were randomly assigned to one of the four treatments. Dietary treatments included $3.5 \, \text{kg} \, \text{d}^{-1}$ (as-fed basis) of two types of cereal grains differing in starch degradation (i.e., ground corn (C) and oat (O)) along with $0.5 \, \text{kg} \, \text{d}^{-1}$ (as-fed basis) of corn cobs. While two groups received their concentrate mixtures at $1 \, \text{kg} \, \text{cow}^{-1}$ during morning and $2.5 \, \text{kg} \, \text{cow}^{-1}$ and day during afternoon milking (Cpm, Opm), $2.5 \, \text{kg} \, \text{cow}^{-1}$ of the concentrate mixtures were fed during morning and $1 \, \text{kg} \, \text{cow}^{-1}$ and day during afternoon milking to the other two groups (Cam, Oam).

Mean daily concentrate intake was 3.2 (Cpm), 3.1 (Cam), 3.1 (Opm), and 3.3 kg DM cow⁻¹ (Oam). Mean daily milk yield was 15.6 (Cpm), 14.8 (Cam), 14.1 (Opm), and 15.0 kg cow⁻¹ (Oam). Timing of supplementation appears to affect performance of grazing cows, but the effect differs depending on the type of concentrate feed used. Results on milk composition, apparent total tract nutrient digestibility, and feed intake are still pending, but will be used to explain observed differences in milk yield.

Keywords: Dairy cows, grazing, non-structural carbohydrates, supplementation

¹University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²Universidad Nacional Agraria La Molina, Peru

Contact Address: Pedro Alan Sainz-Sanchez, University of Hohenheim, Animal Nutrition and Rangeland Management in the Tropics and Subtropics, Fruwirthstraße 31, 70593 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: aninutrop@uni-hohenheim.de

Particle Size Distribution Is an Indication of Wheat Bran Quality Attributes for Dairy Farmers in Tigray Region, Northern Ethiopia

ALEMAYEHU TADESSE^{1,3}, YAYNESHET TESFAY², VEERLE FIEVEZ³

This study was conducted to evaluate the relationship between farmers' preference and laboratory analysis for assessment of wheat bran quality parameters. A total of 30 smallholder dairy farmers were involved in the study. Five types of wheat bran were collected from five major wheat flour processing factories found in Tigray region (Ethiopia). Farmers scored the studied wheat bran types on a scale of 1 (not preferred) to 4 (highly preferred) for quality attributes including water holding capacity (WHC), swelling capacity (SC) and nutritive value. The laboratory analysis of wheat bran samples were conducted for physical parameters [geometric median particle size (D50), WHC, SC, water retention capacity (WRC) and bulk density (BD)], proximate and fibre components and in vitro digestibility. A difference (p < 0.05)in D50, WHC, SC, WRC and BD among the studied wheat bran types was ensured. Ranges of the monitored physical, chemical and digestibility parameters are given between brackets: D50 (909–1103 μ m), WHC (2.14–2.90 g g⁻¹), crude protein (CP) (133–163 g kg⁻¹ DM), ash free neutral detergent fibre (347–476 g kg⁻¹ DM), non fibre carbohydrates (265–436 g kg⁻¹ DM), effective rumen dry matter degradability (0.568– 0.712 g g⁻¹ DM) and effective rumen protein degradability (ERPD) (0.730–0.793 g g⁻¹ DM). Farmers particularly relied on particle size distribution to make their appreciation and highly scored wheat bran types with coarse particle size for the quality attributes of WHC and SC, while, the wheat bran types with fine particle size distribution were generally better scored for their nutritive value. Farmers' scores for nutritive value of wheat bran were positively correlated with CP (r = 0.347; p < 0.05) and ERPD (r = 0.291; p < 0.05), whereas, there was a negative association with particle size (r = -0.553; p < 0.05). Farmers' scores for water holding capacity of wheat bran were positively correlated with particle size (r = 0.526; p < 0.05). Overall, the present findings revealed that particle size distribution is the predominant qualitative selection criteria for farmers to assess wheat bran quality (e.g. on the market) and this qualitative appreciation is to some extent related to chemical characteristics and rumen degradability.

Keywords: Nutritive value, particle size, water holding capacity, wheat bran

ID 917 123

¹Mekelle University, Animal, Rangeland and Wildlife Sciences, Ethiopia

²International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), Ethiopia

³Ghent University, Animal Sciences and Aquatic Ecology (Lanupro), Belgium

Contact Address: Alemayehu Tadesse, Mekelle University, Animal, Rangeland and Wildlife Sciences, Mekelle University Endayesus Campus, 231 Mekelle, Ethiopia, e-mail: alextmu@yahoo.com

Factors Influencing Breeding Decisions by Smallholder Dairy Farmers Across Four Countries in Sub-Saharan Africa

GLADNESS MWANGA¹, DENIS F.N. MUJIBI², ZAIPUNA YONAH¹, MIZECK CHAGUNDA³

The reported study aimed at determining and characterising factors that influence smallholder dairy farmers to choose between bull service and artificial insemination (AI) for cow breeding. Further, the relationships between the breeding choices and the bio-physical elements of dairy farming, mainly, farmer characteristics, farm management practices, institutional support structure and household income, were investigated. Data were collected in a large-scale survey through face to face interviews, from a total of 16,308 small scale dairy farmers in Ethiopia (n = 4679), Kenya (n = 5278), Tanzania (n = 3500), and Uganda (n = 2851). Chi-Square test and ttest were used to summarise the data while logistic regression and factor analysis were used to identify the determinants. Across the countries, results show a significant difference in animal husbandry practices between farmers who use AI and those who use traditional bull mating. Majority of farmers that used AI kept records, purchased more animal feeds, used more labour by hiring workers whose average wages were higher than those of bull service farmers. Farmers who used AI paid more for animal husbandry services such as water access and breeding compared to farmers who used bulls. The proportion of AI to bull service users was almost equal in Ethiopia and Kenya, while Uganda and Tanzania had more farmers who preferred bull service to AI. Within each investigated country, factors such as farmer's experience in dairy farming, influence of the neighbour, the farmer's ability to keep records, management practices such as water provision and availability of purchased feeds all had a significant association (p < 0.0001) with AI adoption. However, a large herd size and large land size negatively influenced AI adoption. Institutional settings including cost of AI service and the distance that the service provider covered to the farm negatively affected (p < 0.0001) the choice of AI as a breeding option. Also observed is that, there is a high likelihood of continued use of a specific breeding method with previous conception success. In conclusion, institutional support has a vital place in farmer breeding decisions. In future, universities have a role to play in providing relevant decision support tools.

Keywords: Artificial insemination, breeding decisions, small-scale farmers

¹The Nelson Mandela African Institution of Science and Technology, Information Communication Science and Engineering, Tanzania

²Usomi Limited, Kenya

³University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

Contact Address: Mizeck Chagunda, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: mizeck.chagunda@uni-hohenheim.de

In vitro Gas Fermentation Assessment of Persea americana Leaf and Acceptability by West African Dwarf Sheep

Adejoke Mako¹, Victor Akinwande¹, Abayomi Akinfemi², Oluwakemi Ajayi¹

Ruminants in the tropics are slow growing, resulting from low quality feed. The use of indigenous multipurpose plants is a good strategy for an improved livestock performance. Chemical composition and coefficient of preference (CoP) of green, yellow and brown leaves of *Persea americana* (PA) by West African Dwarf Sheep were determined. *In vitro* gas production (IVGP) of green, yellow and brown leaves of PA were carried out over a period of 24 hr incubation. Metabolisable energy (ME), organic matter digestibility (OMD) and short chain fatty acids (SCFA) were predicted. 10 M NaOH was introduced into the inoculums after 24 hrs from which methane (CH₄) production was measured. Results indicated that chemical composition ranged significantly (p < 0.05) among the different forms of PA leaves. Dry matter ranged between 88.75 and 91.22% in green and brown leaf respectively, same trend was observed for neutral detergent fibre, it ranged from 59.48 to 60.01% in green and brown leaf respectively, while the crude protein ranged between 23.59 and 25.85% in brown and green leaf respectively.

The CoP ranged between 1.58 in brown leaf and 2.01 in green leaf. The IVGP, ME, OMD, SCFA and methane production were not significant (p > 0.05). Same trend was observed for all the *in vitro* gas production parameters with the green leaf recording the highest value, while the lowest values were obtained in the brown leaf. They ranged between 6.25 and 8.50 ml/200 mg DM; 3.73 and 3.96 MJ kg ⁻¹ DM; 38.66 and 41.67 %; 0.18 and 0.22 μ mol; 2 and 4 ml/200 mg DM in brown and green leaf respectively.

The result of this study showed that all forms of *Persea americana* leaf have potential as prospective forage for ruminant production in the tropics.

Keywords: Acceptability, *in vitro* gas fermentation, leaves, *Persea americana*, WAD Sheep

¹Tai Solarin University of Education, Agricultural Science, Nigeria

² Yaba College of Technology, Agricultural Technology, Nigeria

Contact Address: Adejoke Mako, Tai Solarin University of Education, Agricultural Science, Ijagun, Ijebu-Ode, Nigeria, e-mail: jokemako2006@gmail.com

Applying *in vitro* Gas Production Technique to Assess the Nutritive Value of *Gmelina arborea* Leaves

Oluwanike Abiola-Olagunju¹, Victor Akinwande², Adejoke Mako², Aderonke Mosuro¹, Haleemat Ayanwale¹

In vitro gas fermentation method was used to evaluate the nutritive value of different forms of *Gmelina arborea* leaves. Two experiments were conducted. Experiment 1 involved the determination of chemical composition of green, yellow and brown leaves. In experiment 2, the nutritive value of green, yellow and brown leaves of *Gmelina arborea* was assessed by *in vitro* gas production technique for total gas production over a period of 24 hr and to predict organic matter digestibility (OMD), metabolisable energy (ME) and short chain fatty acid (SCFA). Methane volume (CH₄) was measures after incubation at 24 hr. The *in vitro* gas production (IVGP) characteristics (insoluble degradable fraction (b), potential degradability (a+b), rate of degradation (c) and effective degradation (ED)) were also predicted.

Results revealed that the chemical composition of green, yellow and brown leaves varied significantly (p < 0.05). Dry matter ranged from 80.15 to 91.24% in green and brown leaf respectively. Same trend was observed for neutral detergent fibre, it ranged from 60.92 to 63.77%. The crude protein ranged from 24.84 to 26.44% in brown and green leaves respectively. The IVGP, ME, SCFA and methane production were not significant (p > 0.05), except OMD. Same trend was observed for all the *in vitro* gas fermentation parameters with the green leaf recording the highest value, while the lowest values were obtained in the brown leaf. They ranged between 3.75 and 4.25 ml/200 mg DM; 3.27 and 3.49 MJ kg⁻¹ DM; 0.10 and 0.94 μ mol; 1.5 and 3.0 ml/200 mg DM in brown and green leaf respectively. OMD ranged significantly from 41.57 to 45.05% in yellow and green leaf respectively. The a, b, a+b, c and ED also did not vary significantly.

It can be concluded that *Gmeilna arborea* leaf has potential in ruminant nutrition and any of the forms can serve as fodder in the tropics.

Keywords: chemical composition, *Gmelina arborea* leaves, *in vitro* gas production, nutritive value

¹Lead City University, Dept. of Microbiology, Nigeria

²Tai Solarin University of Education, Agricultural Science, Nigeria

Contact Address: Oluwanike Abiola-Olagunju, Lead City University, Dept. of Microbiology, Toll Gate Area, Ibadan, Nigeria, e-mail: nikkymakky07@yahoo.com

Characteristics of Dairy Farms along the Rural-Urban Interface of the Emerging Megacity of Bangalore, India

MARION REICHENBACH¹, ANA PINTO GARCIA², SVEN KÖNIG², RAGHAVENDRA BHATTA³. EVA SCHLECHT⁴

While the beginning of agriculture initiated the first human settlements, maintenance of ecosystem services provided by agricultural production systems gets more complex with the fast urbanisation trend and corresponding diet changes of modern times. In Africa and Asia, megacities are emerging fast but still rely on (peri-)urban agriculture to supply their urbanised population; they offer the opportunity to gain deeper understanding of transition processes in agriculture. The aim of this study was to identify and characterise the multiple dairy production systems in the rural-urban interface of Bangalore with its high demand for dairy products, thereby focusing on their intensification level. Qualitative and quantitative survey data on socio-economic status of the household, resources availability, dairy herd composition and management, and in- and output markets were obtained from 337 dairy farms across six strata (1= urban to 6= rural). SPSS two-step clustering was applied to the dataset to identify major dairy production systems. Kruskal Wallis and Chi-squared tests were used to further characterise each system. Four dairy production systems were identified based on five main parameters: spatial location along the six strata, proportion of exotic breeds in the herd, cattle in- and outflow, use of pasture, and reliance (at least partial) on own production of forage. Strongest dichotomies between the dairy production systems were observed (i) in the reliance on own forage production: most of the dairy farmers at least partially supplied own green forage to their herd, while others bought it or relied on (free) market waste or forage collected from public places, and (ii) in the use of pasture: some dairy farmers, mainly the ones with a highly specialised herd - that is exotic genotype - did not send their cattle to pasture because of heat stress, while others, keeping from little to also highly specialised herds, did. Interestingly, no dairy production system was exclusively limited to the inner-urban areas; rather a semi-intensive dairy production-mixed herd composition, no animal in- and out-flow, pasture use but no own forage production - was common to both urban and rural areas, while semi- to highly intensive production systems were limited to rural areas.

Keywords: Cluster analysis, dairy production system, farm classification, India, rural-urban interface, urbanisation

¹University of Kassel, Animal Husbandry in the Tropics and Subtropics, Germany

² Justus Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Animal Breeding and Genetics, Germany

³National Institute of Animal Nutrition and Physiology, Inst. of Animal Breeding and Genetics. India

⁴University of Kassel / Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Animal Husbandry in the Tropics and Subtropics, Germany

Contact Address: Marion Reichenbach, University of Kassel, Animal Husbandry in the Tropics and Subtropics, Mauerstr. 12, 37073 Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: marion.reichenbach@uni-kassel.de

The Role of Crossbreed Cow Adoption on Farm Productivity and Technical Efficiency in Ethiopia

ZEWDIE ADANE MARIAMI¹, ERNST-AUGUST NUPPENAU¹, BERHANU GEBREMEDHIN², AZAGE TEGEGNE²

Ethiopia has an enormous potential for milk production given its estimated 59.5 million cattle heads and 11.8 million cows. Over 98 % of the cattle are indigenous East African breeds characterised by low milk yield. Crossing of indigenous breeds with European breeds and promoting adoptions became the foci of Ethiopia's livestock development initiatives in the last fifty years. The initiatives were aimed at raising milk production and hence farmers' incomes. However, the effect of crossbreed cow adoption on the farmers' milk production performance remained unclear. This study examined the effect of crossbred cow ownership on productivity and technical efficiency in milk production. The study is based on a cross-sectional data collected from a stratified random sample of 250 farmers in three districts in central Ethiopia. Advances in productivity analysis uncovered the inadequacy of single-technology frontier methods in comparing the relative performances of decision makers which use heterogeneous technology. Such heterogeneity calls for a differentiated picture of potentials. In this study, we implemented two variants of meta-frontier production function framework: semi-parametric and fully-parametric methods. The results showed that the production frontier pertaining to farmers using only crossbreed cows is superior to those using only indigenous cows and those keeping both types. Farmers keeping only indigenous cows have the lowest production frontier. Mean technical efficiencies from a common meta-technology frontier are 0.76, 0.61 and 0.65 for only crossbreed cows group, only indigenous cows group and both types of cows group, respectively, under the semi-parametric method. We obtained rather lower mean technical efficiency levels of 0.72, 0.46 and 0.54 for the respective groups when the fully-parametric method is used. The results from the fully-parametric method are preferred for policy purposes since the method helps to address some obvious measurement issues in developing country data. The technical efficiency variations of the three groups signify enhanced effort and motivation for maximisation in high stake investments such as crossbreed cows compared to subsistence. The results suggest that the adoption of crossbreed cows helps to raise productivity, technical efficiency and market orientation. Nonetheless, further study is needed to identify constraints and drivers of the adoption.

Keywords: Crossbred cow, Ethiopia, meta-frontier, milk, productivity, technical efficiency

¹ Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Agricultural Policy and Market Research, Germany

²International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), LIVES Project, Ethiopia

Contact Address: Zewdie Adane Mariami, Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Agricultural Policy and Market Research, Gießen, Germany, e-mail: zewdieadane@yahoo.com

First Serosurvey of Peste des Petits Ruminants, Rift Valley Fever and Brucellosis in Tiris-Zemmour Region, Mauritania

CARMELA LOVITO¹, B. Dumbia², Ahmed Bezeid O. El Mamy², Mohammed O. Endidi³, B. Yahya², K. Isselmou², Margherita Gomarasca⁴, Giorgia Angeloni¹, Sara Di Lello ^{5,1}, Giuliana Terracciano⁶, Marta Carminati ^{5,1}

The Tiris-Zemmour Region, in the North of Mauritania, is one of the less investigated areas of the country in terms of animal health even if it is epidemiologically interesting due to high animal presence mainly related to seasonal transhumance movements.

The aim of this study was to investigate the seroprevalence of Peste des Petits Ruminants (PPR), Rift Valley Fever (RVF) and Brucellosis in sheep, goats and camels in this region. Even if the first two were already reported in Mauritania, no data are available for the north of the country whereas Brucellosis was absent since 2014.

From September 2016 to February 2017, 916 blood samples (229, 277 and 410 from sheep, goats and camels, respectively) were collected in the departments of Zouérat, F'derick and Bir Moghrein. Frozen sera were sent to the National Centre of Animal Researches of Nouakchott, for laboratory analyses. Presence of PPR antibodies were investigated using the ELISA kit ID Screen® PPR Competition (IDVet); IgG antibodies against RVF Virus were tested by the ELISA ID Screen®RVF Competition Multi-species (IDVet) and Rosa Bengal Test (RBT) was used to reveal *B. abortus* presence. Sixty-seven out of 158 sheep (42.4 %;95 % CI:34.6%-50.5 %) and 88/232 goats (37.9;95 % CI: 31.7%-44.5 %) tested positive to PPR while all camels resulted negative. The seroprevalence of RVF IgG was 7.7 % for goats (95%CI:3.6%-14.1 %) and 11.8 % for camels (95%CI:6.4%-19.4 %). None of tested sheep was positive.

Regarding Brucellosis, all samples resulted negative in all species investigated. This study reveals a PPR seroprevalence in line with previous studies performed in Mauritania. This data could be overestimated since this country has taken part of the global eradication programme of PPR which also include animal vaccination and this test is not able to differentiate between infected and vaccinated ones. The only RVFV IgG presence indicate a previous contact with the virus, but not an active infection. Finally, the absence of *B. abortus* was confirmed. This study shows the importance to keep on monitoring health status of animals in Tiris-Zemmour since animal transhumance South-to-North could increase infectious diseases presence raising concern for both human and animal health, also considering some of them are zoonosis.

Keywords: Brucellosis, peste des petits ruminants, Rift Valley fever, seroprevalence

¹SIVtro Veterinari Senza Frontiere Italia, Italy

²Office National de Recherches et de Développement de l'Elevage, Mauritania

³Delegation de l'Elevage di Zouerate, Tiris Zemmour, Mauritania

⁴Vétérinaires Sans Frontières International, Belgium

⁵Africa '70 NGO, Italy

⁶Experimental Institute of Zooprophylaxis of Lazio and Tuscany, Italy

Contact Address: Carmela Lovito, SIVtro Veterinari Senza Frontiere Italia, Viale Dell'Università 10, Padua, Italy, e-mail: carmela.lovito@tiscali.it

Effects of Tropical Legume Hays on Intake and Average Daily Gain of Ruminants: A Quantitative Review

RISMA RIZKIA NURDIANTI, JOAQUÍN CASTRO-MONTOYA, UTA DICKHOEFER

University of Hohenheim, Animal Nutrition and Rangeland Management in the Tropics and Subtropics, Germany

Several studies have been conducted to evaluate the effects of feeding tropical legume havs to ruminants, highlighting an advantage over feeding tropical grass hays. However, the results of most of these studies are confounded by an increased crude protein (CP) supply associated with replacing grasses by legumes. It is therefore difficult to assess the effects of feeding tropical legume hays exclusive from the changes in CP in the diet. Thus, a quantitative review was performed with the aim of collecting information concerning the nutritive value of diets containing tropical legume havs and the corresponding animal responses. The studies were attained through systematic web searches (i.e. Scopus, Google Scholar, Scielo), it had to be conducted under tropical or subtropical environments and had to include information on the proportion of legume in diets and the diet composition. A database with 233 studies (111 with sheep, 75 with goats, and 47 with cattle) consisted of 1083 dietary treatments including legumes and 207 diets without legumes were found reporting results on 97 legumes species. The most common tropical legume havs tested were Leucaena leucocephala, Gliricidia sepium, Sesbania sesban, Calliandra calothyrsus, and Stylosanthes guianensis. The most common ranges at which tropical legume hays were included in animal diets were 100–300 g kg⁻¹ dry matter (DM; 39 % of treatments), followed by 300–500 g kg⁻¹ DM (28 % of treatments).

Diets with legumes had higher CP concentration than diets without legumes for all ruminant species (average±standard deviation; 127 ± 53.4 , 139 ± 48.1 , and 171 ± 152.5 g kg 1 DM vs. 97 ± 63.1 , 103 ± 54.1 , and 139 ± 114.7 g kg $^{-1}$ DM for sheep, goats, and cattle, respectively). Daily DM intake was also greater in diets with legumes than diets without legumes (69 ± 17.0 , 115 ± 164.1 , and 93 ± 30.0 g kg $^{-1}$ bodyweight $^{0.75}$ vs. 56 ± 17.1 , 54 ± 18.1 , and 86 ± 33.6 g kg $^{-1}$ bodyweight $^{0.75}$ for sheep, goats, and cattle, respectively). Similarly, average daily gain (ADG) was higher in diets with legumes than diets without legumes (98 ± 178.7 , 53 ± 32.4 , and 358 ± 263 g day $^{-1}$ vs. 54 ± 57.2 26 ± 26.9 , and 278 ± 225.8 g day $^{-1}$ for sheep, goats, and cattle, respectively).

Substituting tropical grasses by tropical legume hays increases ADG in corresponding animals. However, this is associated with an increased DMI mediated by higher dietary CP concentration and therefore intakes.

Keywords: Chemical composition, ruminants, tropical grasses, tropical legume hays

Contact Address: Risma Rizkia Nurdianti, University of Hohenheim, Animal Nutrition and Rangeland Management in the Tropics and Subtropics, Fruwirthstraße 31, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: aninutrop@uni-hohenheim.de

Estimation of CNCPS Protein Fractions from Proximate Nutrient and Fibre Concentrations in Tropical Ruminant Forages

KHATERINE SALAZAR-CUBILLAS, UTA DICKHOEFER

University of Hohenheim, Animal Nutrition and Rangeland Management in the Tropics and Subtropics, Germany

The fractionation of feed crude protein (CP) according to the Cornell Net Carbohydrate and Protein System CNCPS) has proven to be a reliable method for estimating rumen CP degradability and thus duodenal flow of undegraded feed CP. However, concentrations of CP fractions are highly variable amongst and within forage species. Moreover, analysis of CP fractions is cost-, labor-, and knowledge-intensive. Thus, the aim was to evaluate whether contents of CP fractions in tropical forages can be accurately predicted from their proximate nutrient and fibre concentrations. A dataset on concentrations (g kg⁻¹ dry matter (DM)) of CP, neutral detergent fibre (NDF), acid detergent fibre (ADF), and CP fractions (i.e., A, B1, B2, B3, and C) of 23 tropical forage grasses and 24 tropical forage legumes were used. Multiple linear regression analysis with backward elimination was performed to estimate concentrations of CP fractions from CP, NDF, and ADF. Mean (±standard deviation) concentrations of CP, NDF, and ADF of forage grasses were 95.4 ± 37.4 , 617 ± 79 and $384\pm73\,\mathrm{g\,kg^{-1}}$ DM and 178 ± 30 , 476 ± 80 and $368\pm80\,\mathrm{g\,kg^{-1}}$ DM for forage legumes, respectively. The CP and NDF concentrations were good predictors of the concentration of CP fraction A for forage grasses (R²=0.82), whereas for forage legumes, a more accurate prediction was obtained when ADF was additionally included (R²=0.67). Concentration of CP fraction B1 could not be predicted from CP, NDF, and ADF concentrations (R²=0.08). Variation in concentration of CP fraction B2 was well explained using CP, NDF, and ADF (R²=0.83). Similarly, for forage grasses, concentration of CP fraction B3 could be predicted from CP and NDF concentrations with acceptable accuracy (R²=0.78), whereas for forage legumes, NDF, ADF, and fraction B1 were better predictors (R²=0.66). For the CP fraction C in forage grasses and legumes, CP and ADF had a low explanation (R²=0.40). In conclusion, concentrations of CP fractions A, B2, and B3 can be predicted from CP and fibre concentrations in tropical forages; however, analysis of fractions B1 and/or C appears necessary.

Keywords: CNCPS, fibre concentrations, protein fractions

Contact Address: Khaterine Salazar-Cubillas, University of Hohenheim, Animal Nutrition and Rangeland Management in the Tropics and Subtropics, Fruwirthstrasse 31, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: khaterine.salazar-cubillas@uni-hohenheim.de

Beef Cattle Production in Brazilian Integrated Systems

Mariana Pereira¹, Sarah Glatzle¹, Valéria A.C. Santos², Fabiana V. Alves³, Roberto G. Almeida³, Maria da Graça Morais⁴

In Brazil, an estimated 11.5 million hectares are used for integrated systems, as crop-livestock (ICL), crop-forestry (ICF), livestock-forestry (ILF), or crop-livestockforestry (ICLF). Even though the inclusion of trees in crop-livestock systems has been done for many years, a systematic evaluation of the effects of this association is still to be made. Therefore, we evaluated the effect of tree density on the productive performance of Nellore heifers in ICLF in the Brazilian Cerrado compared with conditions where no trees are included. Three systems, implemented in 2008, were evaluated, an ICL system and two ICLF systems, both with Eucalyptus urograndis trees (ca. 25m height) planted in single rows with 2 m between trees within rows and 14 m (ICLF14) or 22 m (ICLF22) between rows. The experiment lasted between June 2015 and May 2016 with randomized blocks, in split-block, with four replicates. The grass was Brachiaria brizantha cv. BRS Piatã and continuously grazed with variable stocking densities. A total of 48 heifers, 290 kg of initial liveweight, were randomly allocated in the systems, they were weighed monthly following 16 hours of fasting. The results were grouped per season (i.e., winter, spring, summer, autumn), and subjected to analyses of variance and Tukey tests at 5 % probability level. Annual stocking rate was higher (P < 0.05) in ICL (1.9 animal units (AU) ha⁻¹; AU=450 kg liveweight) compared to ICLF22 (1.1 AU ha⁻¹) and ICLF14 (0.7 AU ha⁻¹). Because of a lack of forage due to the high shading imposed by the trees, all animals in ICLF22 had to be removed in spring, whereas for ICLF14 all animals were removed both in spring and winter. Daily liveweight gain of individual animals did not differ between systems (P > 0.05), averaging 0.673 g d⁻¹ in summer, 0.349 g d⁻¹ in autumn, 0.109 g d⁻¹ in winter, and 0.525 g d⁻¹ in spring. However, due to the higher stocking rate, ICL allowed for highest (P < 0.05) annual liveweight gain per unit of land area (376 kg ha⁻¹) followed by ICLF22 (229 kg ha⁻¹) and ICLF14 (119 kg ha⁻¹). The ICLF systems have lowest animal output per area; however, the overall benefits for farmers should also be considered income from the sale of trees.

Keywords: Animal production, eucalyptus, Nellore, silvopastoral, tropical grass

 $^{^1}$ University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²University of São Paulo, Faculty of Agriculture Luiz de Queiroz, Brazil

³EMBRAPA Beef Cattle, Integrated Production Systems, Brazil

⁴University Federal of Mato Grosso do Sul, Brazil

Contact Address: Mariana Pereira, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstrasse 13, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: mariana.pereira@uni-hohenheim.de

Animal Husbandry as a Strategy for Income Diversification of Small Vanilla Producers in the Sava Region of Madagascar

STEFANIE KUNZ, EVA SCHLECHT

University of Kassel / Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Animal Husbandry in the Tropics and Subtropics, Germany

This study, conducted in the main vanilla-growing Sava region in northeastern Madagascar, investigated the role of animal husbandry for income diversification of small-scale vanilla producers. The Sava region covers four districts with different characteristics regarding agriculture and animal husbandry practices. Individual interviews of 300 household heads were conducted between May and August 2017 to collect data on livestock ownership, management and marketing.

Across the study region, 84.4% of the households practice animal husbandry. Median stock sizes were quite homogenous, with 3.5 zebus per zebu-keeping household, 2 pigs per pig-keeping household, 22 chicken per chicken-keeping household and 5.5 ducks per duck-keeping household. Throughout the four districts, the frequencies of vanilla-producing households (83%), zebu-keeping (42%), pig-keeping (13%) and chicken-keeping (72%) households as well as households keeping other poultry (22%) were quite similar. There was a moderate correlation between vanilla production and animal husbandry in general (Pearson correlation, r=0.356; p < 0.01), chicken keeping (r=0.324; p < 0.05) and keeping of other poultry (r=0.331; p < 0.01), whereas no correlation existed between vanilla production and zebu-keeping as well as pig-keeping.

Animal products were sold at 0.90 € per litre of zebu milk, 4.70 € per kilogram of zebu meat, 2.90 € per kg of pork and 0.30 € per duck egg. Buying, fattening and reselling an animal yielded a plus of 9% relative to the purchasing price in the case of zebu cattle, and of 275% for a pig. For chicken and ducks, the respective values were 33% and 267%. By relating the gross margin to the average annual income of a vanilla-producing household, a potential income contribution of 1.3% for a purchased and resold zebu and of 18.4% for a zebu sold from own offspring was calculated. In the case of pigs, the potential income contribution was 3.3% (purchased) and 4.5% (offspring), and in the case of chicken and ducks the respective values were all lower than 0.5%. In conclusion, the widespread small-scale livestock keeping of vanilla producing households seems to serve as an income buffering and diversification strategy, especially if the currently very high vanilla prices are decreasing again.

Keywords: Income diversification, northeastern Madagascar, small-scale livestock keeping, vanilla farming

Contact Address: Eva Schlecht, University of Kassel / Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Animal Husbandry in the Tropics and Subtropics, Steinstraße 19, 37213 Witzenhausen, Germany, e-mail: tropanimals@uni-kassel.de

Evaluation of some Economics Traits in Eastern Sudan Cattle Ecotypes

AHMED MUSA¹, MOHAMED KHAIR ABDALLA AHMED², NAHID IDAM¹, IBRAHIM A. ISHAG²

Sufficient phenotypic variation in livestock populations is necessary for continual genetic improvement of economically important traits. The general aim of a livestock genetic improvement strategy is to produce a new generation of animals that better performs than the present generation. In eastern Sudan, cattle are mainly kept in a mixed crop-livestock production system and they play multifunctional roles in this system. A study was undertaken on (n = 1650) indigenous cattle ecotypes maintained under farmer management system in eastern Sudan. A total of 211 cattle households were randomly selected and interviewed with structured questionnaires to obtain information on some economically important traits (total milk production, age at first calving, lactation length, calving interval and longevity). Futher information was obtained to quantify differences among eastern Sudan cattle ecotypes (Butana, Erashy and El-gash) under their natural production environment based on phenotypic markers. Data were analysed using General Linear Model (GLM) procedures when the economically important studied traits were selected as response variables and cattle ecotypes as fixed factors (main effects) to determine if there are significant differences in the responses across levels (fixed effect). It was found that all the studied traits were statistically significant (P < 0.05) by cattle ecotypes. The overall means reported for total milk production (litters /season), age at first calving (months), lactation length (months), calving interval (months) and longevity (years) were $1343.7 \pm$ $20.32, 48.2 \pm 0.13, 6.7 \pm 0.98, 17.8 \pm 0.11$ and 17.8 ± 0.36 , respectively.

The differences between the studied economically important traits regarding indigenous cattle ecotypes are a key to improving cattle performance. By evaluating these traits, selection focus can be narrowed, resulting in faster genetic improvement. In the end, the goal of focusing selection on economically important traits as a tool is to increase probability that the breeders will make selection decisions on these traits that make the bred animals profitable.

Keywords: Cattle, economically important traits, evaluation, households, selection, Sudan

¹University of Gezira, Genetics and Animal Breeding (Molecular Genetics), Sudan

²University of Khartoum, Animal Genetics and Breeding, Sudan

Contact Address: Ahmed Musa, University of Gezira, Genetics and Animal Breeding (Molecular Genetics), University Street, Wad Medani, Sudan, e-mail: ahmed.musa12@yahoo.com

Mapping the Suitability of Tropical Forages – Now and in the Future

AN NOTENBAERT, JOHN MUTUA, SOLOMON W. MWENDIA, JESSICA MUKIRI International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Kenya

Livestock makes multiple contributions to the economic and social wellbeing of more than a billion livestock keepers across the globe: it provides income and highly nutritious food, it plays an important social role and is an asset for financial insurance. It also contributes to environmental resilience and sustainability through providing soil health and energy and in some cases protecting biodiversity. Key environmental footprints of concern, however, include nutrient loads, food-feed competition, GHG emissions, water use, and land-use conversion. Due to rising demand for livestock products, livestock's pressure on land and other resources continues to grow. It is thus imperative for the livestock sector to support a process of sustainable intensification. Improved forages and feeding strategies have been identified as one of the most promising entry-points for simultaneously enhancing livestock productivity and ecoefficiency.

In the face of climate change and its expected negative impacts on livestock systems, adaptation and increasing the resilience of livestock production systems should equally be a priority. Regions identified as the most vulnerable to climate change, such as Sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia, are also regions where farmers and rural communities rely the most on livestock for food, income and livelihoods, and where livestock is expected to contribute increasingly to food security and better nutrition. Arguably the most important climate change impacts are those mediated through the climate's impact on what the animals eat.

This paper describes the application of a suitability mapping tool to the case of tropical forages. The GIS tool is web-based, well documented and easy to use. It is packaged together with a spatial database and ideal for use by students, educators and development practitioners. Suitability maps for a wide array of tropical forages were produced, using both current and potential future climate conditions. Smallholder dairy farmers in Kenya, Tanzania, Rwanda and Ethiopia used these maps for selecting context-specific no-regret forage species and varieties. The maps also point to the gaps and opportunities for improving and expanding the choice of adapted forage options. This can, finally, be translated into breeding objectives for forage breeding programs.

Keywords: Eco-efficiency, forages, GIS, suitability

Contact Address: An Notenbaert, International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), 00100 Nairobi, Kenya, e-mail: a.notenbaert@cgiar.org

Ex-Ante Evaluation of the Economic Impact of Adopting Improved Forages in the Colombian Eastern Plains

KAREN ENCISO, ANDRÉS CHARRY, STEFAN BURKART International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Colombia

Forage-based cattle systems play a key role in rural economies of developing countries in terms of food security and poverty alleviation. However, they are often related to being a major cause of negative environmental impacts by contributing to increased greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, land degradation, and reduction of biodiversity. As a result of that, large amounts of resources have been allocated to research and development (R&D) in forage material improvement and a broad range of improved materials were released showing superior characteristics in terms of productivity and environmental impacts compared to native or naturalized materials. However, data are still scarce on both the economic and environmental "yields" of investments in R&D activities around improved forage materials. Through an ex-ante evaluation, this study aims at estimating the potential "yields" of the investment in R&D and diffusion activities of the improved forage variety Brachiaria brizantha 26124 and the forage hybrid Brachiaria Cayman in the Eastern Plains region of Colombia. The analysis used two evaluation methodologies: a) to determine the impact on individual welfare, a discounted free cash flow model and a Monte Carlo simulation were carried out with the simulation software @Risk, and b) to determine the potential social benefits of the technologies and their distribution among producers and consumers, an economic surplus model was developed and a risk analysis was carried out considering changes in adoption rates, productivity levels and probability of success. Data is currently being analysed but preliminary results suggest that both evaluated materials present important economic benefits for the study region and result in a positive return on the investments made in R&D activities. The results will be a key input for decision making processes among public and private institutions involved in funding and executing the development of improved forage materials and will help to set research priorities and resource allocation.

Keywords: Agricultural research, decision making, economic surplus model, funding allocation, priority setting, technological change

Contact Address: Stefan Burkart, International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Trop. Forages Program, Km 17 Recta Cali-Palmira, Cali, Colombia, e-mail: s.burkart@cgiar.org

Colombian Cattle Producers' Preferences for Improved Forage Technologies: Chances for Forage Breeding and Selection

MANUEL DIAZ, DANIEL VERGARA, VALHERIA CASTIBLANCO, STEFAN BURKART

International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Trop. Forages Program, Colombia

The offer of improved forages in Colombia is characterized by its broad diversity. However, the adoption of improved materials is still very low despite numerous ecological and economic benefits for the cattle producers. This has led to various studies aiming at identifying the natural, social and cultural reasons inhibiting the adoption process. Some of these are that: a) innovations might have negative social connotations or create new problems for end-users; b) innovations might perform differently in different regions; c) traditional practices might be equal or better; d) extension programs might not be aligned with innovations or target the wrong population; and e) innovations might be too costly. From this perspective, participatory research methods can contribute to adoption by identifying experiences, demand, preferences and socio-economic characteristics of potential adopters and their farms and feeding this information back into the development of new innovations. This study has the aim to identify the preferences and demand of Colombian cattle producers for improved forage materials. During 2017, a total of 500 semi-structured interviews were conducted with cattle producers from the Caribbean (n=390) and Orinoquia (n=110) regions in Colombia. It was possible to identify an increasing concern among the producers about the impacts of climate change leading to a demand for more drought-tolerant forage materials with high nutritional quality. For producers from the Caribbean region, materials that help to increase milk production in double-purpose cattle systems are more important than for producers from the Orinoquia region. In turn, resistance to biotic stresses (Spittlebug) plays a crucial role for the Orinoquia region. In general, producers seem to be satisfied with most of the existing materials. This might be an obstacle for the adoption of new materials, i.e. if they do not differ too much from the existing ones. The findings are an important input for national and international forage selection and breeding programs and will provide a basis for decision making on where to set future priorities and how to allocate research and development funds. This, in the long run, will contribute to the development of materials that take into account the preferences and demand coming from the end-users and thus contribute to a faster adoption.

Keywords: Cattle production, forage breeding, improved forages, participatory research

Contact Address: Stefan Burkart, International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Trop. Forages Program, Km 17 Recta Cali-Palmira, Cali, Colombia, e-mail: s.burkart@cgiar.org

Non-ruminant livestock and aquaculture

Oral Presentations	
KAYODE BALOGUN, BAMIDELE OSHO: Anthelmintic Efficacy of Methanol Extract of Momordica charantia on Helminth of Nigerian Indigenous Chicken	144
BADRUN NESSA AHMED, HERMANN WAIBEL: Does the Loss of Homestead Fish Ponds in Bangladesh Increase Food and Nutrition Insecurity of Poor Consumers?	145
BERND UEBERSCHÄR, MARINA GEBERT, DAUD KASSAM, HASSIB SAINAN, APATSA PEARSON CHELEWANI, PEACE CHEMIS MNELEMBA, MARTHA ALUFEYO: Implementation of New Hatchery Technologies to Improve the Supply of Chambo (<i>Oreochromis karongae</i>) Fingerlings for Rural Farmers in Malawi	146
LEONARD MARWA, BEN LUKUYU: Effect of Improved Feeding and Housing on Productivity of Local Chickens in Babati District, Tanzania	147
CELIA CHAIBAN, TIMOTHY P. ROBINSON, ERIC FÈVRE, MARIUS GILBERT, SOPHIE O. VANWAMBEKE: Characterisation of Small-Scale Commercial Poultry Sector in Western Kenya	148
Posters	
HARRIET MBUNWEN FOLENG NDOFOR, ANSELM ONYIMONYI, KENECHI UMEZINWA, MARVIN EGOM, OGOICHUKWU GENEVIVE ILOGHALU, KENNEATH ODO: Feeding Response of African Giant Land Snail Fed Varying Levels of Ripe Eggplant Fruits Based Diets	149
SYLVIA MORAA, DENNIS OLUMEH, DAVID OTIENO: Drivers of Commercial Rabbit Production for Nutritional Diversity in Kenya	150
AYAGIRWE BALTHAZAR RODRIGUE, NASSER YAO, FELIX MEUTCHIEYE, MARTINA KYALO, YACOUBA MANJELI: Cavy as Alternative Genetic Resource for Animal Protein Production in DR Congo	151

TAOFEEK ADESOJI ADEOSUN, OKHIOMAH ABU: Influence of Crop Residues as Major Fibre Sources in Diets on Growth Indices of Rabbits	152
ZAIMA UMAR, ANAS SARWAR QURESHI, MUHAMMAD US-MAN, TALHA UMAR, HUABIN ZHU, SAQIB UMER: Response of Dietary Supplementation of Black Seed (Nigella sativa) Oil on Hematological Parameters, Serum Biochemistry and Reproductive Hormones in Male Rabbits THIERRY METRE, ANTHELME B. MUGISHO, FIDÈLE K. KABABALIRE, BRIGITTE L. MAASS, BENJAMIN WIMBA, CHRIS-	153
TIAN AMBOYA: Cavy Between Food Security and Conservation in Kahuzi Biega National Park, Sud-Kivu, DR Congo	154
DAMIAN AGOM, NSIMA IDIONG, EDDY ATTE ENYENIHI: Village Chicken (Gallus gallus domesticus) Intensification and Production in South-South Nigeria for Food Security: The Role of Research	155
OLAYEMI OLUGOSI, OLUWATOSIN BABARINDE, J. OLUWASOLA AGBEDE, AKINLOLU AYENI, TOBI OGUNRIBIDO: Effects of <i>Rhizopus stolonifer</i> Detheobromized Cocoa Pod Husk	
Meal on Blood and Serum Indices of Pullet Chicks	156
CHRISTIAN LÜCKSTÄDT, ANANT DESHPANDE: Impact of an Organic Acid Blend on Feed Efficiency and Mortality of Broilers in Southern India – A Performance Analysis EUNICE AMAKA AKURU, NKIRU PATIENCE UBERU, ARINZE GILBERT EZEKWE:	157
Growth Performance, Carcass Characteristics, Haematological Indices and Apparent Nutrient Retention of Broiler Birds Fed Enzyme-Supplemented High Fibrous Diets MUTAZ MAHMOUD, ABU BAKR HASSAN, INTISAR HAMID	158
KHAMIS: Effect of Stocking Density and Dietary Incorporation of Sidr (Ziziphus spina-christi L.) Fruits on Broiler Performance under Arid Hot Climate ADEKOYEJO OYEGUNWA, ADEBISI AGBOOLA, EMMANUEL	159
EWUOLA, EUSTACE IYAYI: Assessment of the Efficacy of Bentonite-Montmorillonite Binder as Biosystemic Sequestering Agent at High Dietary Aflatoxin Load in Turkey Poults BILLY OVEMER INARA, DAVID OTIENIO, ROSE NYIVAL, NAR.	160
BILLY OKEMER IPARA, DAVID OTIENO, ROSE NYIKAL, NABWILE STELLAH MAKOKHA: Awareness of Farmers and Traders on Newcastle Disease in Kenya	161

Identification of Management and Production Practices in Indigenous Pig Farms in North-West Vietnam via Multivariate Analyses CARLOS QUEMBO, FERRAN JORI, LIVIO HEATH, WILNA VOSLOO: Genetic Heterogeneity of African Swine Fever Virus within the Sylvatic Cycle in Central Mozambique OLASIMBO MOTUNRAYO APATA, SUNDAY ADEWOLE-AYODEJI: Assessment of Adaptation Strategies to Climate Change and Fish Farmers Production in South-West Nigeria SUWANNA PRANEETVATAKUL, PIYATAT PANANURAK, KAMPANAT VIJITSRIKAMOL: Farm to Food Security: An Impact Evaluation of Tilapia Researches under Thailand Research Fund DUMKA BENSON: Vertical Integration in Fish Culture Business in Rivers State, Nigeria: Panacea for Food Security ISAAC OLUSEUN ADEJUMO, CHARLES OLUWASEUN ADETUNJI, AMINU MAIDALA, JOHN OLAYINKA MAKINDE: Potentials of Agricultural Wastes as Animal Feed in Ensuring Food Security and Food Safety in Africa	Tran Ba Tuan, Tong Yin, Nguyen Cong Tiep, Sven König:	
VOSLOO: Genetic Heterogeneity of African Swine Fever Virus within the Sylvatic Cycle in Central Mozambique OLASIMBO MOTUNRAYO APATA, SUNDAY ADEWOLE-AYODEJI: Assessment of Adaptation Strategies to Climate Change and Fish Farmers Production in South-West Nigeria SUWANNA PRANEETVATAKUL, PIYATAT PANANURAK, KAMPANAT VIJITSRIKAMOL: Farm to Food Security: An Impact Evaluation of Tilapia Researches under Thailand Research Fund DUMKA BENSON: Vertical Integration in Fish Culture Business in Rivers State, Nigeria: Panacea for Food Security 166 ISAAC OLUSEUN ADEJUMO, CHARLES OLUWASEUN ADETUNJI, AMINU MAIDALA, JOHN OLAYINKA MAKINDE: Potentials of Agricultural Wastes as Animal Feed in Ensuring		162
OLASIMBO MOTUNRAYO APATA, SUNDAY ADEWOLE-AYODEJI: Assessment of Adaptation Strategies to Climate Change and Fish Farmers Production in South-West Nigeria SUWANNA PRANEETVATAKUL, PIYATAT PANANURAK, KAM- PANAT VIJITSRIKAMOL: Farm to Food Security: An Impact Evaluation of Tilapia Researches under Thailand Research Fund 165 DUMKA BENSON: Vertical Integration in Fish Culture Business in Rivers State, Nigeria: Panacea for Food Security 166 ISAAC OLUSEUN ADEJUMO, CHARLES OLUWASEUN ADETUNJI, AMINU MAIDALA, JOHN OLAYINKA MAKINDE: Potentials of Agricultural Wastes as Animal Feed in Ensuring	Vosloo:	
Assessment of Adaptation Strategies to Climate Change and Fish Farmers Production in South-West Nigeria SUWANNA PRANEETVATAKUL, PIYATAT PANANURAK, KAMPANAT VIJITSRIKAMOL: Farm to Food Security: An Impact Evaluation of Tilapia Researches under Thailand Research Fund DUMKA BENSON: Vertical Integration in Fish Culture Business in Rivers State, Nigeria: Panacea for Food Security ISAAC OLUSEUN ADEJUMO, CHARLES OLUWASEUN ADETUNJI, AMINU MAIDALA, JOHN OLAYINKA MAKINDE: Potentials of Agricultural Wastes as Animal Feed in Ensuring		163
PANAT VIJITSRIKAMOL: Farm to Food Security: An Impact Evaluation of Tilapia Researches under Thailand Research Fund 165 DUMKA BENSON: Vertical Integration in Fish Culture Business in Rivers State, Nigeria: Panacea for Food Security 166 ISAAC OLUSEUN ADEJUMO, CHARLES OLUWASEUN ADETUNJI, AMINU MAIDALA, JOHN OLAYINKA MAKINDE: Potentials of Agricultural Wastes as Animal Feed in Ensuring	Assessment of Adaptation Strategies to Climate Change and	
Vertical Integration in Fish Culture Business in Rivers State, Nigeria: Panacea for Food Security 166 ISAAC OLUSEUN ADEJUMO, CHARLES OLUWASEUN ADETUNJI, AMINU MAIDALA, JOHN OLAYINKA MAKINDE: Potentials of Agricultural Wastes as Animal Feed in Ensuring	PANAT VIJITSRIKAMOL: Farm to Food Security: An Impact Evaluation of Tilapia	165
AMINU MAIDALA, JOHN OLAYINKA MAKINDE: Potentials of Agricultural Wastes as Animal Feed in Ensuring	Vertical Integration in Fish Culture Business in Rivers State,	166
	Aminu Maidala, John Olayinka Makinde:	,
	e e	167

Anthelmintic Efficacy of Methanol Extract of *Momordica* charantia on Helminth of Nigerian Indigenous Chicken

KAYODE BALOGUN¹, BAMIDELE OSHO²

The anthelmintic efficacy of methanol extracts from the whole plant of *Momordica* charantia and bark of Adansonia digitata were compared and examined on Ascaridia galli of indigenous chicken of Nigeria. Phytochemical screening conducted on both extracts revealed the presence of steroids, alkaloids, saponins and tannins with an inclusion of flavonoids in M. charantia only. Three concentration levels of the extracts (0.25, 0.50 and 1.00 mg ml⁻¹) and a control (0.00 mg ml⁻¹) were prepared and tested on the larvae at 1:1 \(\forall \). The treated L3 were viewed under an optical microscope for 120 minutes. The numbers of the motile worms were recorded after every observation. In vivo test of the most potent plant extract from the in vitro assessment was performed. Faecal samples were collected from 100 infested indigenous birds to confirm the presence of eggs and L3 of helminths. Doses of 400, 200 and 100 mg kg⁻¹ b.w. of the extract were used to treat the birds in Groups A-C. Groups D was the positive control (treated with Piperazine®) while birds in group E were left untreated as the negative control. Results from the in vitro tests presented in graphs revealed that 1.00 mg ml⁻¹ of M. charantia rendered all L3 immobile after 60 minutes, making it the most effective of both extracts. 1.00 mg ml⁻¹ of A. digitata achieved the same at 120 minutes. M. charantia was used in the in vivo test. After therapy, egg count was significantly higher (p < 0.05) in Group E while that of Group A was significantly lower (p < 0.05) than the other groups. In conclusion, the study shows that methanol extracts of both plants exhibited dose dependent anthelmintic activity in indigenous chickens and they are promising to be employed for the treatment of helminth infestation as an alternative to conventional anthelmintic chemotherapy by poultry farmers.

Keywords: *Adansonia digitata*, anthelmintic, *in vitro*, *in vivo*, indigenous chickens, *Momordica charantia*, phytochemical

¹Adeyemi College of Education, Agricultural Scienec, Nigeria

²Federal University of Technology, Akure, Animal Production and Health, Nigeria

Contact Address: Kayode Balogun, Adeyemi College of Education, Agricultural Scienec, Adeyemi College of Education, Ondo, Nigeria, e-mail: kaydamus_85@yahoo.co.uk

Does the Loss of Homestead Fish Ponds in Bangladesh Increase Food and Nutrition Insecurity of Poor Consumers?

BADRUN NESSA AHMED, HERMANN WAIBEL

Leibniz Universität Hannover, Institute of Development and Agricultural Economics, Germany

Fish is a vital component of food and nutrition security in Bangladesh. With the decline in capture fisheries, small scale aquaculture with home based fish ponds has been for a long time food safety net for the poor. Although producing small quantities, only for own consumption availability of fish made the poor less vulnerable to fluctuations in fish supply and prices. However, recently government has been discouraging home based small scale fish farming and promoted commercial fish farming instead. This paper analyses the transition from home based fish ponds to commercial aquaculture. Using two waves of panel data covering five major geographical hubs in Bangladesh, a double-hurdle model is estimated to examine the commercial transformation of noncommercial fish farmers and its implication for livelihood and household food and nutrition security. A correlated random effect procedure with a control function approach is used to control for unobserved heterogeneity and potential endogeneity of explanatory variables. Our results reveal that households are characterised with moderate degree of market participation. The average share of sold fish is 47% of their total fish production with an increase of 19% sold overtime. Market participation increases household income and generates a positive impact on their welfare. Almost 44 % of the farmers are subsistence farmers, whereas transitory and commercial farmers constituted 33 % and 23 % respectively. Overall, 50 % of the farmers change their degree of commercialisation over time and become more market oriented. The actual production depends highly on carp species with lower nutritional quality than small indigenous species, which are rich in micronutrients. Besides, commercialisation process of smallholders involved new risks with substantial transition challenges associated with price declines, production failures and investment risks. Therefore, smallholders need to receive positive support to face these challenges of commercialisation process for ensuring food and nutrition security at the household level.

Keywords: Aquaculture, Bangladesh, commercialisation, developing countries, food security, smallholders

Contact Address: Badrun Nessa Ahmed, Leibniz Universität Hannover, Institute of Development and Agricultural Economics, Königsworther Platz 1, 30167 Hannover, Germany, e-mail: ahmed@ifgb.uni-hannover.de

Implementation of New Hatchery Technologies to Improve the Supply of Chambo (*Oreochromis karongae*) Fingerlings for Rural Farmers in Malawi

BERND UEBERSCHÄR¹, MARINA GEBERT², DAUD KASSAM³, HASSIB SAINAN³, APATSA PEARSON CHELEWANI³, PEACE CHEMIS MNELEMBA³, MARTHA ALJIFEYO³

Malawi has significant shares of the ninth largest lake in the world and the third largest and second deepest lake in Africa, which accounts for a traditionally fish-eating nation. However, overfishing resulted in the collapse of the Tilapia fishery in the lake since the beginning of the 90s. The historical yields of 70% of Chambo (*Oreochromis karongae*) in the nets has turned into only 3–5% Chambo today, with Usipa (Lake Malawi sardine, *Engraulicypris sardella*) being the most prominent fish in the catches from Lake Malawi providing at present 70% of the yield.

Under these circumstances, aquaculture is being considered as one of the measures to provide more Chambo on the table and for the market, however, the production in the country is still small and in general not efficient.

Aquaculture has a tradition of about 100 years in Malawi, taking off with about 60 ponds in the 1950s and is represented today with about 6000 active fish farmers. Increasing production of Chambo could compensate for the decreasing yield from lake Malawi. At present, about 3600 t of Tilapia-like species are being produced, whereas 50% of this yield comes yet from the only professional farm in Malawi, Maldeco Fisheries. One of the bottlenecks for rural farmers to improve their yield is the scarcity of sufficient viable fingerlings, specifically from Chambo.

Thus, one of the major goals of the project "Ich liebe Fisch" was to establish technologies which improve significantly the stable supply of viable fingerlings to farmers which want to grow fish for food and for the market. To achieve this goal, the project has provided a solar powered hatchery which is designed to support intensive production of Chambo offsprings.

The prototype of the hatchery was set up in March and April within about 3 weeks at the farm of the Bunda College in Lilongwe (Lilongwe University of Agriculture & Natural Resources, Department of Aquaculture and Fisheries) which plays an important role in providing training sessions for these new technologies. The presentation will introduce the applied technologies and will report about the implementation of this approach for mass production of fingerlings.

Keywords: Aquaculture, Bunda college, Chambo, fingerlings, fishery, hatchery, Malawi, *Oreochromis karongae*, solar power, tilapia

Contact Address: Bernd Ueberschär, Association for Marine Aquaculture Ltd. (GMA), Aquculture and Fish Larval Nutrition, Hafentörn 3, 25761 Büsum, Germany, e-mail: ueberschaer@gma-buesum.de

¹Association for Marine Aquaculture Ltd. (GMA), Aquculture and Fish Larval Nutrition, Germany

²Fraunhofer Research Institution for Marine Biotechnology and Cell Technology, Marine Biotechnology, Germany

³Lilongwe University of Agriculture and Natural Resources (LUANAR), Aquaculture & Fisheries Science Department, Bunda Campus, Malawi

Characterisation of Small-Scale Commercial Poultry Sector in Western Kenya

CELIA CHAIBAN^{1,2}, TIMOTHY P. ROBINSON², ERIC FÈVRE³, MARIUS GILBERT⁴, SOPHIE O. VANWAMBEKE¹

Poultry production can enhance the livelihoods of rural people. Poultry production in low and middle-income countries is dominated by small-scale backyard systems with low inputs and low outputs. Poultry production, productivity and generated income can be enhanced through intensification; the provision of inputs such as improved breeds, feed, housing and health-care. In Kenya, poultry production systems encompass free-range, semi-intensive and intensive systems. Despite a growing intensive sector, mostly located in and around Nairobi and other cities, indigenous chickens still dominate poultry production. However, their productivity could be improved in semi-intensive and intensive systems. Intensification is a relatively recent process in low- and middle-income countries compared to high-income countries. The complex reality of smallholders trying to improve their production is poorly understood and described. We explored the commercial chicken sector in a rural area distant form major production centres, and developed a fine-scale typology of commercial farms in western Kenya. We surveyed 111 chicken commercial farms in 2016. We targeted farms who sell the majority of their production, with 50 chickens or more, and in which animals were at least partly confined and were provided feeds. Farms were found mainly to raise dual-purpose indigenous chickens in association with crop production and were not specialised towards any particular product or market. Although the farmers interviewed shared many features of free-range system, they expressed the wish to make a commercial activity of their chicken production, with large flocks and management similar to semi-intensive farms. Four types of farms were identified based on two groups of variables, related to intensification and accessibility; (i) remote, small-scale old farms, with small flocks, using a lot of their own crops as feed, (ii) medium-scale, old farms with a lar- ger flock and well located (iii) large-scale young farms, with large flocks, (iii-a) well located and who buy their chicks and (iii-b) remotely located and who hatch their chicks. These groups sit along a gradient of intensification. Location, which affects access to markets and inputs, determines the opportunities available to farmers and thus gives rise to further diversity in farm management types. We found that commercial chicken farms in western Kenya varied greatly in terms of management, opportunities and challenges.

Keywords: Farm typology, livestock intensification, poultry production

¹Université Catholique de Louvain, Georges Lemaître Centre for Earth and Climate Research. Earth and Life Institute. Belgium

²Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Livestock Information, Sector Analysis and Policy Branch, Italy

³International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), Livestock Systems and Environment Research Theme, Kenya

⁴Université Libre de Bruxelles, Spatial Epidemiology Lab (SpELL), Belgium

Contact Address: Celia Chaiban, Université Catholique de Louvain, Georges Lemaître Centre for Earth and Climate Research, Earth and Life Institute, Place Louis Pasteur 3-L4.03.08, 1348 Louvain-la-Neuve, Belgium, e-mail: celia.chaiban@uclouvain.be

Feeding Response of African Giant Land Snail Fed Varying Levels of Ripe Eggplant Fruits Based Diets

HARRIET MBUNWEN FOLENG NDOFOR, ANSELM ONYIMONYI, KENECHI UMEZINWA, MARVIN EGOM, OGOICHUKWU GENEVIVE ILOGHALU, KENNEATH ODO

University of Nigeria, Dept. of Animal Science, Nigeria

An experiment was conducted to evaluate the performance of growing African giant land snails (Archachatina marginata) fed diets containing varying levels of ripe eggplant fruit (Solanum aethiopicum). Eighty four juvenile (four months old) snails were randomly divided into four treatments (21 snails each) and three replicates per treatment (7 snails each) in a completely randomized design (CRD). The treatments were assigned to one of four caloric (2.78 - 3.13 Mcal kg⁻¹ ME) and nitrogenous (23.82 -24.05% crude protein, CP) diets containing 0, 5, 10, and 15% of ripe eggplant fruits, respectively. Feed and water were offered ad libitum to the snails throughout the 12 weeks experimental period. Data were collected on growth performance (feed intake, body weight gain, shell length and circumference) and lipid profile. The results obtained showed no significant differences (p > 0.05) among treatments in the growth performance, low density lipoprotein and triglycerides of snails fed diets containing varying levels of ripe eggplant fruits. Total cholesterol decreased and high density lipoprotein increased significantly (p < 0.05) as the level of ripe eggplant fruits increased. Most consumers are scared of the cholesterol content of meat. The low cholesterol content of the snail fed with ripe egg plant fruit will make the meat from snail attractive to consumers especially the aged who are scared of cholesterol related illness. The addition of ripe eggplant fruits in the diets of Archachatina marginata in this study increased the high density lipoprotein of snail meat. High density lipoprotein is the 'good' type of cholesterol. It helps to remove excess cholesterol from the bloodstream and returns it to the liver where it is broken down and passed out of the body.

Keywords: Feeding, growth performance, processing

Contact Address: Harriet Mbunwen Foleng Ndofor, University of Nigeria, Dept. of Animal Science, 419 Elias Avenue, Nsukka, Nigeria, e-mail: harriet.ndoforfoleng@unn.edu.ng

Influence of Crop Residues as Major Fibre Sources in Diets on Growth Indices of Rabbits

Taofeek Adesoji Adeosun¹, Okhiomah Abu²

¹Federal College of Education (Technical), Bichi, Agricultural Education, Nigeria ²University of Ibadan, Animal Science, Nigeria

Crop residues are a sustainable feed resource for livestock production in Nigeria. Incorporation of fibre in the diets improves the nutrition and gut health of rabbits. Corn cob, rice straw, groundnut and cowpea stovers, millet straw, sugarcane tops are a few of the available crop residues in Nigeria. In a study, conventional maize offal (MO) was replaced by corn cob (CC) and rice straw (RS) as fibre sources in the diets of growing rabbits. Eighty four growing rabbit bucks of New Zealand White × Chinchilla crosses weighing 746 ± 2.3 g were randomly allocated to seven dietary treatments, with twelve rabbits per treatment at three replicates of four rabbits per replicate in a 56-day feeding trial. The experiment was laid as a completely randomised design in which corn cob and rice straw were each used to replace a proportion of the 30% MO in the control diet at three graded levels to have seven dietary treatments labelled: Control, 10 % CC, 20 % CC, 30 % CC, 10 % RS, 20 % RS and 30 % RS. All the diets were pelleted. Daily dry matter intake (64.5 \pm 0.4 g day⁻¹) of rabbits on 20% CC based diets was found to be significantly higher than the MO based control diet (59.0 \pm 2.4 day⁻¹). Feed cost per kilogram gain was lowest (P > 0.05) on 20 % CC based diet (N515 \pm 60.9), against N612 \pm 155.1 for the control, while the highest feed cost per kilogram gain was found for the 30 % RS based diet (N763 \pm 183.9). There was significant difference in carcass weight for rabbits that consumed 20 % CC based diet (1629 \pm 161.6g) as compared to the rabbits fed 30 % RS based diet(1243 \pm 101.3 g), but comparable to the control (1542 \pm 61.6 g). Increasing levels of CC in the diet increased the length of small intestine of rabbits but a contrary observation was recorded for rabbits fed RS based diets. In conclusion, replacing the conventional maize offal with corn cob up to 67% in the diet of growing rabbits was more economical, improved carcass weight, and did not compromise growth performance.

Keywords: Carcass characteristics, crop residue, growth performance, livestock production, rabbits

Contact Address: Taofeek Adesoji Adeosun, Federal College of Education (Technical), Bichi, Agricultural Education, Km 3 Off Katsina Road Bichi, 00176-0000 Kano, Nigeria, e-mail: adeosuntaofeekadesoji@yahoo.com

Cavy between Food Security and Conservation in Kahuzi Biega National Park, Sud-Kivu, DR Congo

THIERRY METRE¹, ANTHELME B. MUGISHO², FIDÈLE K. KABABALIRE², BRIGITTE L. MAASS³, BENJAMIN WIMBA⁴, CHRISTIAN AMBOYA⁵

The Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) in general and the province of Sud-Kivu in particular are facing serious problems of food and nutrition insecurity due to recurring wars, continued armed conflicts, and poor governance, resulting in low agricultural production. Kahuzi Biega National Park (PNKB) has become the major resource for local populations adjacent to it in order to achieve a certain food security. This includes game hunting, tree felling, and extraction of minerals, among others. However, it contradicts the main goals of the park in terms of nature conservation. To ensure the protection of this heritage of global interest, the Wildlife Conservation Society (WCS), the Union of Cavy Keepers in Congo (UECCO), the Congolese Institute for Nature Conservation (ICCN) and local communities have developed a project for cavy (*Cavia porcellus*) production.

The main objective of this project is to help communities around PNKB to increase cavy production through adequate housing, quality feed of sufficient quantity, controlled reproduction, and disease management. In addition, the communities receive training in culinary preparations and cavy marketing. Choosing cavies as an alternative for bushmeat consumption in the conservation strategy of PNKB is determined by the advantages that this small animal offers, such as being a strict herbivore, its high feed conversion ratio, the high growth rate and, especially, the significant levels of high-quality proteins in its meat as well as the low fat content. Cavy manure is also used as fertiliser and, thus, helps increase the production of market garden crops such as cabbage, onions, and potatoes. Vegetables grown with cavy manure are highly appreciated in the market.

Since its inception in 2016, the project has reached about 600 households with 150 families effectively involved. On average, beneficiary households keep 38 cavies, selling about 6 animals per month and consuming 3 per week. As so-called 'local champions', many cavy producers from the project area have become trainers in the region. Eventually in the eastern region of DRC, cavies have demonstrated to be a secure source of income and contribute to the empowerment of women, youth/children and former hunters.

Keywords: Bushmeat, food and nutrition security, guinea pig, income, nature conservation, protected area, women empowerment, youth participation

¹Evangelical University in Africa (UEA), DR Congo

²Union of Cavy Keepers in Congo (UECCO), DR Congo

³Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Crop Sciences, Germany

⁴National Institute for Agricultural Studies and Research (INERA), Research Center of Mulungu, DR Congo

⁵Kahuzi Biega National Park (PNKB), DR Congo

Contact Address: Brigitte L. Maass, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Crop Sciences, Grisebachstr. 6, 37077 Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: Brigitte.Maass@yahoo.com

Village Chicken (*Gallus gallus domesticus*) Intensification and Production in South-South Nigeria for Food Security: The Role of Research

Damian Agom¹, Nsima Idiong², Eddy Atte Enyenihi³

The high cost of production of chicken in Nigeria has resulted in high prices and reduced its availability to a large majority of Nigerians thereby reducing food security in the country. The village chicken in Nigeria is a valuable resource that is threatened with extinction because of competition with the exotic breeds and subsequent neglect of the species by most farmers in Nigeria. This paper analyses the development and integration of the local village chicken into the production stream in Nigeria with a view to stem the tide of neglect and reduction in the population of the breed. The study used data collected from purposively selected respondents that keep village chicken and those that kept the exotic breeds as well as researchers on chicken in South-South Nigeria. Data collected were analysed using simple percentages, T-tests and rankings. The results show that the village chicken had a greater acceptance and preference for meat quality than the exotic breeds. It also had a wider range of preferred products with traditional, cultural and spiritual significance than the exotic breeds in Nigeria. The T-test results showed that there was a significant lower difference (p < 0.01) in production cost of the village chicken than the exotic breed. Similarly, the resistance to disease and stress was higher in the village chicken than the exotic breed. There have been some genetic improvements in some village chicken through cross breeding that further improves village chicken preference. The study recommends the promotion of village chicken production to stem the extinction tide. Intensification and further genetic engineering through research is recommended to boost production and output characteristics of the village chicken. The village chicken still has a lot to contribute to the development and promotion of animal protein supply in Nigeria and poverty alleviation in Africa.

Keywords: Comparative analysis, exotic chicken, genetic engineering, intensification, production cost, village chicken

¹Akwa Ibom State University, Dept. of Agricultural Economics and Extension, Nigeria

²Akwa Ibom State University, Dept. of Animal Science, Nigeria

³University of Uyo, Agricultural Economics and Extension, Nigeria

Contact Address: Damian Agom, Akwa Ibom State University, Dept. of Agricultural Economics and Extension, Obio Akpa, Nigeria, e-mail: agomd@yahoo.com

Impact of an Organic Acid Blend on Feed Efficiency and Mortality of Broilers in Southern India – A Performance Analysis

CHRISTIAN LÜCKSTÄDT, ANANT DESHPANDE

ADDCON, Germany

Overuse of antibiotics, the development of resistant bacteria and their damaging effects on human health have led to the ban on the prophylactic use of antibiotics in animal farming. However, looking at the bacterial challenges experienced in farming, it is still imperative to have a tool to control bacterial infection and improve performance of animals. Organic acids are considered the most promising alternative to the antibiotic growth promoters. In addition to their anti-bacterial and anti-fungal properties, organic acids provide many extra benefits such as improving overall feed hygiene, optimising the intestinal pH and thereby improving nutrient digestibility. Organic acids and their salts have been tested in poultry production since the 1980's. The current study investigated the impact of an organic acid blend (OAB), consisting of sodium propionate, propionic acid, ammonium formate, formic acid, as well as sorbic acid and a surfactant, developed and previously reported to improve feed hygiene, on its influence on broiler performance in commercial farms in southern India. This study analysed the average impact from all studies carried out in southern India on the effect of the additive on feed efficiency and mortality. The final data-set contained the results of 23 farm trials with 0.1 % OAB-inclusion and covered 224,000 broilers (Vencobb 500). Results are expressed as percentage difference from the negative control. Data were subjected to statistical analysis and a significance level of 0.05 was used in all tests. The performance of broilers based on feed efficiency was significantly improved by 2.8 % (p = 0.009). Furthermore, mortality was significantly reduced on average by 14.3 % (p = 0.025). This is in full agreement with previous reports on the impact of "feed hygiene enhancer" on broiler performance. It is therefore concluded that the OAB can, next to its beneficial effects on feed hygiene, also have a beneficial impact on broiler production under Indian conditions.

Keywords: Broiler performance, feed hygiene, India, liquid acid blend

Contact Address: Christian Lückstädt, ADDCON, Parsevalstrasse 6, 06749 Bitterfeld-Wolfen, Germany, e-mail: christian.lueckstaedt@addcon.com

Growth Performance, Carcass Characteristics, Haematological Indices and Apparent Nutrient Retention of Broiler Birds Fed Enzyme-Supplemented High Fibrous Diets

Eunice Amaka Akuru $^{1,2},$ Nkiru Patience Uberu 2, Arinze Gilbert ${\rm Ezekwe}^2$

The objectives of this eight weeks study were to evaluate the growth performance, carcass characteristics, haematology and apparent nutrient retention of broiler birds fed Roxazyme G[®] enzyme supplemented high fibrous diets. Two hundred day-old Agrited broiler birds were divided into ten experimental treatment groups of 20 birds, with two replications of 10 birds each. The groups were randomly allocated to each of ten diets in a 5×2 factorial arrangement that involved a control (0% wheat offal without enzyme) diet, four levels (10, 15, 20, 25) of wheat offal, and two enzyme levels (0 and 0.02%) at the starter phase, and a control diet, four levels (10, 20, 30 and 35%) of wheat offal, and two enzyme levels (0 and 0.02%) at the finisher phase. Average final body weight, average daily weight gain, feed conversion ratio, carcass and organ weights were not different (P > 0.05) among dietary treatments. Significant (P < 0.05) interactions were observed between wheat offal and enzyme levels in average daily feed intake (ADFI). Dietary enzyme reduced (P < 0.05) average daily feed intake (ADFI) at all levels of wheat offal inclusion. White blood cell count (WBC), red blood cell count (RBC), haemoglobin concentration (Hb), lymphocytes, neutrophils, monocytes, basophils and eosinophil were not different (P > 0.05)among treatments. Packed cell volume (PCV) varied considerably among wheat offal and enzyme treated birds. Observable (P < 0.05) interactions occurred between dietary wheat offal and enzyme in PCV. Broilers that received 10, 30 and 35 % dietary wheat offal and enzyme had improved (P < 0.05) PCV. Dietary wheat offal and supplementary enzyme significantly (P < 0.05) affected apparent retentions of dry matter (DM) and ash. Significant interactions (P < 0.05) occurred between dietary wheat offal and enzyme. Digestion of ash was markedly (P < 0.05) increased by enzyme at all the levels in which wheat offal was included in the diet, whereas increase in DM retention occurred only at 20 % and 35 % wheat offal. The findings of the present study showed that broiler birds could tolerate up to 35% inclusion level of wheat offal in their diets when supplemented with Roxazyme G[®] enzyme.

Keywords: By-products, enzyme, fibrous, retention, wheat offal

¹University of Fort Hare, Dept. of Livestock and Pasture Sciences, South Africa

²University of Nigeria, Dept. of Animal Science, Nigeria

Contact Address: Eunice Amaka Akuru, University of Fort Hare, Dept. of Livestock and Pasture Sciences, 5700 Alice, South Africa, e-mail: eunice.iloh@unn.edu.ng

Assessment of the Efficacy of Bentonite-Montmorillonite Binder as Biosystemic Sequestering Agent at High Dietary Aflatoxin Load in Turkey Poults

Adekoyejo Oyegunwa¹, Adebisi Agboola², Emmanuel Ewuola², Eustace Iyayi²

Aflatoxin is implicated in the aetiology of many diseases in poultry and turkey. The use of clay mineral has been reported to improve performance of broiler chickens during aflatoxicosis. However, information on the mitigation of aflatoxicosis in turkey using clay and yeast has not been adequately documented. Therefore, the use of Bentonite-montmorillonite binder (BB) to mitigate aflatoxicosis in turkey was investigated. Eighty 21-day old Nicholas turkey poults were randomly assigned to five treatments of four replicates with each replicate having four turkey poults. The experimental diets which were formulated to meet the standard dietary requirement of turkey poults were: positive control (PC) with no aflatoxin or BB, negative control (NC) with $0.2 \,\mathrm{mg \, kg^{-1}}$ of total aflatoxin, NC + $2 \,\mathrm{g \, kg^{-1}}$ BB, NC + $4 \,\mathrm{g \, kg^{-1}}$ BB and NC + 6 g kg⁻¹g BB. The experiment was observed for 21 days during which necessary poultry management practices were observed. Data on feed intake, body weight gain, feed conversion ratio and mortality were collected as performance indicators while 5ml blood samples were collected via jugular venopuncture for serum biochemical analysis. Aflatoxin significantly reduced feed intake and body weight gain in poults that were treated with aflatoxin and BB. Mortalities were 0%, 56%, 44%, 56% and 38 % for diets 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5, respectively. Serum protein and albumin were also reduced significantly in poults that received aflatoxin alone and with binder. In conclusion, there was no significant effect of inclusion of bentonite-montmorillonite binder up to 0.6 % on the response criteria measured in this study.

Keywords: Aflatoxicosis, bentonite-montmorillonite, turkey poults

¹Tai Solar in University of Education, Agricultural Science, Nigeria

²University of Ibadan, Dept. of Animal Science, Nigeria

Contact Address: Adekoyejo Oyegunwa, Tai Solar in University of Education, Agricultural Science, Ijagun, Ijebu Ode, Nigeria, e-mail: oyegunwaas@tasued.edu.ng

Awareness of Farmers and Traders on Newcastle Disease in Kenya

BILLY OKEMER IPARA 1 , David Otieno 1 , Rose Nyikal 1 , Nabwile Stellah Makokha 2

Newcastle disease is the most prevalent chicken disease in Kenya. It accounts for over 80% of chicken mortality rates thereby depriving farmers and traders of their source of income and livelihood. The disease is a main challenge for farmers who rear indigenous chicken under the free range production system. This is worsened by most farmers lacking information about the disease. In Kenya, there is limited information regarding farmers' awareness, outbreaks and socio-economic impacts of the disease on livelihoods. The current study aimed at assessing farmers' and traders' awareness on Newcastle disease. A focus group discussion (FGD) consisting of chicken farmers, traders and veterinary officers was conducted to get insights on the chicken value chain practices and new castle disease. A total of 311 respondents consisting of 192 chicken farmers in six sub-counties and 119 chicken traders in seven live bird markets were randomly interviewed. Awareness of new castle disease was demonstrated by the respondents' ability to present symptoms consistent with the clinical signs of the disease. Means, percentages, graphs and frequencies were used to present the findings. Results revealed that 64 % of chicken farmers were female while about 83 % of chicken traders were male. This shows that chicken production is a female dominated activity while chicken marketing is male dominated. Only about 20% of farmers and 18% of traders had received training on the disease. About 25% and 23% of farmers and traders had received credit access to institutional support through formal training and credit is crucial in helping farmers invest in proper preventive and management and practices. Awareness to Newcastle disease was high with about 85 % of the farmers and 78% of traders being aware of the disease. Results also reveal that approximately 78 % of the traders and 46 % of farmers had experienced outbreaks of the disease. Outbreaks of ND were higher among traders than farmers due to poor market infrastructure and lack of biosecurity measures. These findings showed that training about the disease is important to help increase awareness. There is need therefore to invest in improved biosecurity measures, good husbandry practice and proper hygiene and disease surveillance to prevent ND outbreaks and spread.

Keywords: Awareness, bio-security, Newcastle disease

¹University of Nairobi, Department of Agricultural Economics, Kenya

²Kenya Agricultural and Livestock Research Organization (KALRO), KALRO Biotechnology Center, Kabete, Kenya

Contact Address: Billy Okemer Ipara, University of Nairobi, Department of Agricultural Economics, 29053, 00625 Nairobi, Kenya, e-mail: okemer96@gmail.com

Identification of Management and Production Practices in Indigenous Pig Farms in North-West Vietnam via Multivariate Analyses

Tran Ba Tuan¹, Tong Yin¹, Nguyen Cong Tiep², Sven König¹

Pig production systems using indigenous breeds have a substantial impact on diversity in Vietnamese pig populations and also contribute to the income of small-scale farms in the northwest of Vietnam. In order to characterise indigenous pig (Ban pig) production systems, single person interviews basing on semi-structured questionnaires were conducted between October 2016 and January 2017 in 171 indigenous pig farms. The Ban pig production systems were classified using i) a two-step clustering approach, and ii) K-means clustering combined with categorical principal components analyses (CatPCA). Two-step clustering allocated the farms into three clusters. The first cluster was called "Nursery farms with low disease incidences" because 96 % of these farms sold piglets to the slaughterhouse after the nursery with a live weight between 10 to 25 kg. A large percentage of farms in cluster 1 had absolutely healthy piglets and/or sows (41% and 51% of farms, respectively). Cluster 2 was named "Fattening and mixed farms with high investment and high disease incidences" because these farms had large pigpen sizes (20.03m²), modern pigsty constructions, but a high rate of disease incidences. Similar to cluster 1, farms in cluster 3 also focused on the nursery phase, but the pigpen and herd size was smaller (12.13m² and 7.61 piglets respectively). Hence, cluster 3 was defined as "Nursery farms with low investment". The K-means cluster after CatPCA classified farms into a cluster A "Farms incorporating male and female farmers in farm management", cluster B "Nursery farms with low efficiency", or cluster C "Farms with long weaning interval". Correspondingly, husband and wife were herd managers in 64 % of farms in cluster A. Average weaning age for farms in cluster C was 70,25 days. We compared the farm allocations from both clustering approaches, and we identified substantial differences. In the last step, univariate analyses were applied, in order to identify factors contributing to the net household income from pig production. The vaccination for the sow, type of operation, number of piglets born alive, nursery weight, and nursery interval were the factors significantly affecting the net revenue in Ban pig production systems.

Keywords: Ban pig, cluster analysis, North-West Vietnam, production systems

¹ Justus Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Animal Breeding and Genetics, Germany

²Vietnam National University of Agriculture, Fac. of Economics and Rural Development, Vietnam

Contact Address: Tran Ba Tuan, Justus Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Animal Breeding and Genetics, Ludwigstraße 21, 35390 Giessen, Germany, e-mail: tran.ba-tuan@agrar.uni-giessen.de

Genetic Heterogeneity of African Swine Fever Virus within the Sylvatic Cycle in Central Mozambique

CARLOS QUEMBO¹, FERRAN JORI², LIVIO HEATH³, WILNA VOSLOO⁴

To determine if African swine fever (ASF) is maintained in a sylvatic cycle in Mozambican wildlife areas, we investigated the presence of soft tick reservoirs of ASFV and their infection rates in the Gorongosa National Park (GNP) and its surrounding villages. The GNP is one of the largest national parks located in the centre of the country. A total of 1,658 soft ticks were recovered from warthog burrows and pigpens at the wildlife/livestock interface and viral DNA was detected by nested PCR in 19% of Ornithodoros porcinus porcinus and 15% of O. p. domesticus. Isolation of the virus was successful in approximately 50% of the PCR-positive samples with nineteen haemadsorbing virus isolates recovered. These were genotyped using a combination of partial gene sequencing (p72, p30 and p54) and analysis of the central variable region (CVR) of the B602L gene. Eleven isolates clustered in genotype II and were homologous to contemporary isolates from southern Africa, the Indian Ocean and Eastern Europe. Three isolates grouped within genotype V were similar to previous isolates from Mozambique and Malawi. The remaining five isolates constituted a new, previously unidentified genotype, designated as genotype XXIV. The isolates classified within genotypes II and XXIV clustered into three major subtypes based on their p30 and p54 sequences. Based on analysis of the CVR gene, the viruses were classified into eight subgroups. This work corroborates for the first time the wildlife origin of Genotype II and confirms that a large diversity of ASFV strains maintained in wildlife areas can act as a permanent source of virus for the domestic pig value chain in Mozambique and beyond its boundaries. Their genetic similarity to ASFV strains currently spreading across Eastern Europe suggests that the African sylvatic cycle has a high potential to disseminate different ASFV into new geographic areas and justifies the need to continue studying the epidemiology and ecology of ASF sylvatic hosts in sub-Saharan Africa.

Keywords: African swine fever, genetic characterisation, Mozambique, *Ornithodoros moubata*, sylvatic cycle

 $^{{}^{1}}A gricultural\ Research\ Institute\ of\ Mozambique\ (IIAM),\ Regional\ Veterinary\ Laboratory,\ Mozambique$

² UMR ASTRE CIRAD-INRA, Campus International de Baillarguet, France

³ARC-OVI, Onderstepoort Veterinary Institute, Transboundary Animal Disease Program, South Africa

⁴CSIRO, Australian Animal Health Laboratory, Australia

Contact Address: Carlos Quembo, Agricultural Research Institute of Mozambique (IIAM), Regional Veterinary Laboratory, Chimoio, Mozambique, e-mail: carlos.quembo@gmail.com

Assessment of Adaptation Strategies to Climate Change and Fish Farmers Production in South-West Nigeria

OLASIMBO MOTUNRAYO APATA, SUNDAY ADEWOLE-AYODEJI Ekiti State University, Ado Ekiti, Agric Economics and Extension Services, Nigeria

Fish is a major source of animal protein and it is a very important aspect of agriculture. Food security is when a household has physical and economic access to all classes of food stuff needed by every member of that household. Animal protein is needed by various categories of members of a household in various quantities. Talking about food security and safety, importance of fish as a source of animal protein cannot be over emphasized. Climate change is a major problem which has led to low fish production to fish farmers in the study area. Fish farmers must have developed some adaptation strategies to climate change challenge in the study area. The study was designed to examine the socio-economic characteristics of the fish farmers, identify various adaptation strategies to climate change by fish farmers, examine the perception of farmers to climate change and assess the productivity of fish farmers as a means of achieving food security in the study area. The study was carried out in the southwest region of Nigeria. A purposive sampling procedure was used to select Ondo and Ogun States and 160 respondents were purposively selected due to their involvement in fishing activities in the region. Data was analysed with descriptive and regression analyses. Male farmers dominate the respondents, most are single and majority are Christian. It was also revealed that main purposes of production are household consumption, commercial and as hobby. Most of them engage in both catfish and tilapia production. Result reveals that adaptation strategies employed by fish farmers in the study area are construction of barriers, improving water source and conservation of fish species. Moreover, regression analysis result showed significant relationships between educational level and productivity at 10% level of significance. It was recommended that government at all levels should give incentives and information on climate change and its adaptation strategies to fish farmers to enhance their production and thereby ascertain food security. Universities should make the results of their research available in form of technological package which should be made available to farmers through their extension service delivery to enhance food security.

Keywords: Adaptation strategies, climate change, productivity and food security

Contact Address: Olasimbo Motunrayo Apata, Ekiti State University, Ado Ekiti, Agric Economics and Extension Services, No. 10, 4th Avenue, Obele Estate, Akure, Nigeria, e-mail: simboapata@yahoo.com

Farm to Food Security: An Impact Evaluation of Tilapia Researches under Thailand Research Fund

SUWANNA PRANEETVATAKUL¹, PIYATAT PANANURAK², KAMPANAT VIJITSRIKAMOL¹

Agricultural research plays an important role in addressing and solving current problems of farm and food security. Tilapia has become the third most important aquaculture fish after carp and salmon worldwide and has been the most crucial fish species in Thailand mainly for food security. The evolution of Tilapia aquaculture certainly has derived from the investment in research and development. Thailand Research Fund (TRF) has been principally investing in Tilapia research for a long period of time. The study aims to evaluate the past investment in Tilapia research. Accordingly, the data collected from 33 Tilapia research projects under the TRF support are assessed. In addition, 8 case studies are selected and intensely evaluated. The five important OECD research evaluation criteria i.e. relevance, effectiveness, efficiency, impacts and sustainability, are employed in the study. The economic evaluation is performed by using the net present value (NPV), benefit-cost ratio (BCR) and internal rate of return (IRR). The results indicate that most Tilapia research met the OECD criteria on relevance and effectiveness. However, to come across with the efficiency and impact indicators, users and adoption must play an important role. The sustainability indicator seems to be the most critical issue while farmers dis-adopt technology quickly after the project ended. In conclusion, the past Tilapia research projects under TRF support were worthwhile invested with a NPV of 2.75 million Euros; a BCR of 6.74 and the IRR equals to 55 %. Thus, in order to extend the impacts from farm to global food security, future research on Tilapia should be targeted on users' adoption in order to initiate higher economic impacts throughout the value chain.

Keywords: Food security, impact evaluation, Thailand, Tilapia research

¹Kasetsart University, Dept. of Agricultural and Resource Economics, Thailand

²Knowledge Network Institute of Thailand, Thailand

Contact Address: Suwanna Praneetvatakul, Kasetsart University, Dept. of Agricultural and Resource Economics, Paholyothin Road, 10900 Bangkok, Thailand, e-mail: fecoswp@ku.ac.th

Vertical Integration in Fish Culture Business in Rivers State, Nigeria: Panacea for Food Security

DUMKA BENSON

Federal College of Education (Technical), Omoku, Dept. of Agricultural Education, Nigeria

The study examined vertical integration in fish culture business as panacea for food security in Rivers State, Nigeria. The characteristics and integrated activities of vertically integrated and non-vertically integrated fish culture farms were compared. The vertically integrated fish culture farms produce feeds, fingerlings and dry fish using smoking kiln, while the non-vertically integrated fish culture farms buy feeds and fingerlings from independent suppliers and dry fish using fire wood. Data for the study were obtained from 37 vertically integrated and 119 non-vertically integrated fish culture farms. Purposive sampling was used for the vertically integrated, while multistage sampling was used for the non-vertically integrated fish culture farms because of the availability of a farmer list. Data were analysed using descriptive statistics, budgetary and profitability indices. The farms differ amongst others in their mode of operation. The average cost of N11 and N19 was incurred per fingerling as well as N1.987 and N4.423 per bag of feed by the vertically integrated and non-vertically integrated fish culture farms, respectively. The average cost of N314 and N477 per kg of fish produced was incurred by vertically integrated and non-vertically integrated fish culture farms. The vertically integrated fish culture farms could sell fresh fish at N440 per kg and still make equal profit as the non-vertically integrated fish culture farms that sold fresh fish at N600 per kg. The vertically integrated fish culture farms processed fish at lower cost than the non-vertically integrated fish culture farms which make fresh fish economical and affordable, thus enhancing food security.

Keywords: Aquaculture, food security, Nigeria, panacea, vertical integration

Contact Address: Dumka Benson, Federal College of Education (Technical), Omoku, Dept. of Agricultural Education, Omoku, Port Harcourt, Nigeria, e-mail: dumka.benson@yahoo.com

Pastoral systems

Invited Paper	
MICHAEL OCHIENG ODHIAMBO: Pastoralism in Eastern Africa: Policy and Institutional Challenges, Opportunities and Responses	171
Oral Presentations	
ERICK OMOLLO, OLIVER WASONGA, YAZAN ELHADI, WILLIAM MNENE: Is Fodder Production in the Drylands Profitable? Analysis of Fodder Value Chain in Southern Kenya	172
MARIA VICTORIA LARRATEGUY, ANTONIA BRAUS, ANGELA R. SCHUG, KASSIM YOUSSF ABDALLA, ABDIKAREEN ESSA, MAURICE KIBOYE: One Health Approach: Key Function in Project Activities in	
Food Security and Safety in Somaliland	173
GUYO ROBA, MARGARETA LELEA, BRIGITTE KAUFMANN: Linking Pastoralists to Markets – Understanding the Role and Working Conditions of Local Traders in Northern Kenya	174
BENJAMIN WARTH, CARSTEN MAROHN, FOLKARD ASCH: Grassland Functions Improve a Mechanistic Crop Model to Assess Savannah Crop Encroachment and Overstocking Impacts	175
Posters	
KATE KUNTU-BLANKSON, ROLF SOMMER, RONALD KÜHNE, ILONA GLUECKS, SYLVIA NYAWIRA, JOHANNES ISSELSTEIN: Model-Based Assessment of Grazing Impact on Soil Carbon Stocks and Dynamics of a Kenyan Rangeland	176
ANN WATERS-BAYER, WOLFGANG BAYER, MARGARETA LELEA, KOEN VAN TROOS, KEN OTIENO: Pastoral Dairy Development for Food Security and Food Safety in Eastern Africa: Challenges and Potentials AMIT KUMAR BASUKALA, MICHAEL BOLLIG, CLEMENS	177
GREINER, HAUKE PETER VEHRS, FRANK THONFELD: Spatio-Temporal Analysis of Land Use Land Cover Change in East Pokot, Kenya	178

Luc Hippolyte Dossa, Rodrigue V. Cao Diogo, Kerstin Brügemann, Katja Brinkmann, Andreas Buerkert, Eva Schlecht: Analysing Pastoral Resources Use and Regional Livestock Mobility in West Africa for Improved Livelihoods: An Interdisciplinary Study of African and German Universities 179

DITMAR BERNARDO KURTZ, MARCUS GIESE, FOLKARD ASCH, UTA DICKHOEFER:

High Impact Grazing Enhances Grass Forage Quality in Northern Argentina 180

Pastoralism in Eastern Africa: Policy and Institutional Challenges, Opportunities and Responses

MICHAEL OCHIENG ODHIAMBO

People, Land and Rural Development (PLRD), Kenya

Pastoralism is a major livelihood, production and land-use system in nine countries of Eastern Africa (Djibouti, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Kenya, Somalia, South Sudan, Sudan, Tanzania and Uganda). It is indeed the most appropriate land-use and production system for the extensive drylands that cover nearly 75 % of the region's landscape. About 90 % of the livestock population in the region is found in these drylands, making them an important part of the region's food and nutrition security and economic development. Moreover, pastoralists constitute significant proportions of national populations in these countries, ranging from 10 % in Kenya and Tanzania to 60 % in Somalia and South Sudan.

Yet the practice of pastoralism has historically been constrained by significant policy and institutional challenges. Since colonial times, governments in this region have perceived pastoralism as backward and inimical to the dictates of modernisation and economic transformation that privilege sedentary land-use and production systems and envision a livestock sector founded on intensive commercial production. Pastoralists have historically been marginalised from and by policy processes, not least because, save for Somalia and South Sudan, they constitute minorities in the countries of the region and live on the geographical margins of their countries, away from the centres of political and commercial power. In Somalia and South Sudan where pastoralists are the majority, conflict and insecurity have undermined political processes and opportunities for them to use their numbers to craft supportive policies and institutions.

Since the turn of the century, however, there have been promising policy and institutional developments at the regional level and within the different countries. These developments hold the promise of mainstreaming pastoralism into national economic development processes and thereby securing pastoral livelihoods. Even Somalia and South Sudan are involved in the regional policy and institutional development processes.

This presentation will highlight these developments, analyse the promise they hold for pastoralism, identify challenges that have still to be overcome for pastoralists to fully benefit from them, and makes recommendations on how stakeholders can contribute to strengthening the policy and institutional context for pastoralism in Eastern Africa.

Keywords: Eastern Africa, pastoralism

Contact Address: Michael Ochieng Odhiambo, People, Land and Rural Development (PLRD), Kombewa Centre Kisian - Bondo Road, Kombewa, Kenya, e-mail: ochiengodhiambo@gmail.com

Is Fodder Production in the Drylands Profitable? Analysis of Fodder Value Chain in Southern Kenya

ERICK OMOLLO¹, OLIVER WASONGA¹, YAZAN ELHADI², WILLIAM MNENE³

Pasture scarcity is a major hindrance to livestock production among communities living in the drylands of Kenya. The situation is normally worsened by droughts which have become more severe and frequent in the drylands. This has led to increased livestock mortalities and weaker adaptive capacity of pastoral and agro-pastoral communities to climate variability and change. Fodder production and marketing have been embraced by pastoral and agro-pastoral communities in Kenya to enhance pasture availability for their herds and also to diversify households' sources of livelihood. This study was motivated by little empirical evidence on the adoption of fodder production, efficiency and profitability of fodder marketing among households in the drylands of southern Kenya, where various fodder production technologies have been widely promoted. The study was conducted through household and key informant interviews, as well as focus group discussions. The results indicated that the most adopted fodder production technologies were range reseeding and enclosing natural pastures to allow regeneration, which were adopted by 48 % and 36 % respectively. A large proportion (83 %) of those who adopted range reseeding were members of social groups. Hay and grass seed traders and Kenya Agricultural and Livestock Research Organisation were found to be the most influential actors in the fodder value chain in the study area. Profitability analysis indicated that hay and grass seed production is a profitable venture (cost benefit ratio of 1.73). However, market performance and efficiency analysis revealed low comparative profitability by the producers as traders buy seeds at low prices (\$2/kg) and sell mainly to NGOs at much higher prices (\$8/kg), while incurring less than one dollar in marketing. This could be attributed to the informal and unregulated nature of the fodder market, which gives the traders undue advantage over the producers. It is necessary that fodder markets are formalized and appropriate structures put in place to enhance market efficiencies and access to marketing information. This will open up alternative markets allowing producers to access better prices. This will support out-scaling of fodder production and its economic benefits thus enhancing adaptive capacity of pastoral and agro-pastoral communities to climate change

Keywords: Agro-pastoral, livestock, marketing, pastoral, technologies

¹University of Nairobi, Dept. of Land Res. Manag. and Agric. Techn., Kenya

²Adaptation Consortium (ADA), National Drought Management Authority, Kenya

³Kenya Agriculture and Livestock Research Organisation, Kenya

Contact Address: Erick Omollo, University of Nairobi, Dept. of Land Resource Management and Agricultural Technology, P.O. Box 29053-00625, Kangemi, Nairobi, Kenya, e-mail: omolloerick88@gmail.com

One Health Approach: Key Function in Project Activities in Food Security and Safety in Somaliland

Maria Victoria Larrateguy¹, Antonia Braus¹, Angela R. Schug¹, Kassim Youssf Abdalla², Abdikareen Essa², Maurice Kiboye³

Food security and safety are global priorities that need to be approached with a transdisciplinary One Health concept. Vétérinaires sans Frontières Germany has implemented various projects in collaboration with local private and public stakeholders in East Africa for 27 years by applying an approach that is now gaining recognition as One Health approach, bringing together multiple disciplines to achieve health for people, animals and environment. In Somaliland, small amounts of animal source high-quality proteins and micronutrients are essential for growth and health of the population, whose demand is increasing. In this region, livestock related activities account for 60-70% of the gross domestic product, employ 80% of the workforce and contribute to the national economy and food security. Yet the market availability of local animal products is unreliable due to climate conditions, low production and quality, poor marketing conditions and inadequate regulatory systems in dairy and meat sector, among others. The aim of this project is to improve food security and living conditions by enhancing access of consumers to local quality animal protein and stabilising the livelihood of all members of the milk and meat value chain including producers, processors, vendors and Community Animal Health Workers (CAHWs). To accomplish this, a holistic approach has been implemented to promote the collaboration between all stakeholders. One of the key components of the project is capacity-building, in which the members of the milk and meat value chain, especially women, CAHWs and private veterinary drug suppliers received technical trainings and equipment. Another component covers construction and rehabilitation of basic infrastructures like markets. In addition, a capacity assessment and training of relevant stakeholders in the public sector was conducted, to identify deficits in the public health regulation frameworks and contribute to policy development and implementation. As a result of these activities, the quality of local animal source products has improved, hence increasing the income of producers, vendors and processors and the access of the population to hygienically improved animal protein. Moreover, the capacity to regulate and provide services by governmental institutions in the milk and meat sectors is enhanced ensuring quality and safety of food products.

Keywords: Food safety, milk and meat value chain, women empowerment

¹Vétérinaires Sans Frontières Germany, Germany

²Vétérinaires Sans Frontières Germany, Somalia

³Veterinaires Sans Frontieres / Tierärzte ohne Grenzen, Kenya

Contact Address: Maria Victoria Larrateguy, Vétérinaires Sans Frontières Germany, Marienstr 19/20, 10117 Berlin, Germany, e-mail: victoria.larrateguy@togev.de

Linking Pastoralists to Markets – Understanding the Role and Working Conditions of Local Traders in Northern Kenya

GUYO ROBA, MARGARETA LELEA, BRIGITTE KAUFMANN German Institute for Tropical and Subtropical Agriculture (DITSL), Germany

Livestock trade is the major source of income for pastoralists, traders, and other actors in pastoral meat value chains. Pastoralists in northern Kenya obtain income by selling sheep and goats through local long-distance traders who connect them to the Nairobi terminal market. However there is little information about the conditions under which traders perform the task of "linking pastoralists to markets". The aim of this study was to understand how traders operate, their information needs and the profitability of their business. Based on 12 months of fieldwork conducted between 2014 and 2016, we assessed traders' activities, the information exchange along the value chain and their business transactions to understand their costs and profits. A stakeholder analysis resulted in the identification of six categories of local traders distinguished by different demands in travel, labour, working capital, risk exposures and relations with other actors. Our analysis also revealed relational gaps that disadvantage local traders through a lack of information leading to low net profits, high operating costs and economic losses. Further analysis of information flow along the value chain revealed specific information needs of traders; such as the range of prices in different markets, the extent of competition, grades of animals in high demand and further animal specifications. Market information tended to change within a short time-span. As a result, the weekly prices for different grades showed high price variability such that prices were only known on the market day. These unpredictable prices contribute to fluctuating net-profits, low returns on capital investments, and high operating costs and economic losses, particularly for those local traders that sell at the terminal market (long distance traders). These multiple challenges make the long-distance trade precarious, hence the local traders struggle to offer better prices to pastoralist producers. This study shows the precarious situation of long-distance traders in the sheep and goat chain and highlights areas where relationships can be strengthened to improve coordination of activities, reduce operating costs and improve information flow so that the local traders can make better and timelier decisions to improve their margins.

Keywords: Activity links, actor network, goats, northern Kenya, pastoral livestock production, supply chain, traders

Contact Address: Guyo Roba, German Institute for Tropical and Subtropical Agriculture (DITSL), Steinstrasse 19, 37213 Witzenhausen, Germany, e-mail: guyo.roba@ditsl.org

Grassland Functions Improve a Mechanistic Crop Model to Assess Savannah Crop Encroachment and Overstocking Impacts

BENJAMIN WARTH, CARSTEN MAROHN, FOLKARD ASCH

University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

In Ethiopian Borana rangelands, crop encroachment directly and indirectly influences savannah ecosystem functions. Plant cover is temporarily reduced and soil structure disturbed through tillage when pastures are converted to cropland. Indirectly, rangeland fragmentation inhibits traditional spatio-temporal herd mobility. Overstocking on the remaining continuously grazed pastures can cause rangeland degradation through declining surface cover and reduced soil organic matter formation. On poorly structured soils, intensification-induced soil organic matter loss diminishes water infiltration- and retention capacity. Reduced surface cover is main driver for soil erosion and vegetation degradation on sloping terrain. In summary, the vulnerability to degradation depends on soil characteristics and topography across a heterogeneous savannah landscape. Vegetation structure then regulates actual degradation, depending on pasture's capacity to recover from intensive grazing under certain site conditions.

We employ the mechanistic grid-based land use change impact assessment tool (LUCIA) to study the mechanisms described above. LUCIA's spatially explicit structure allows simulating crop encroachment and herd mobility patterns, which have not been described yet. We developed grassland functions and integrated them in a modular way into the LUCIA main program. Herd routes across the landscape follow patterns of pasture quality and availability, which govern intake and nutrient excretion. The grassland module adds functions to represent pasture plants' post-grazing rehabilitation capacities: (1) Short plants producing many side shoots retain more residual leaf area after grazing than erect morphotypes. (2) Preferential assimilate allocation to leaf-regrowth allows rapid canopy re-establishment. (3) Rejuvenation of foliage by investing in young leaves boosts regrowth through increased leaf area photosynthesis. (4) Enhanced nutrient demand to build young tissue can constrain regrowth. These functions regulate the impact of overgrazing on vegetation- and soil degradation.

By running scenarios, we can show that crop encroachment rate and the spatial distribution of cropping and overgrazing influence ecosystem processes, such as erosion, water retention, soil organic carbon storage and plant productivity. For future coupling of LUCIA with herd- and farmer's decision models, the grassland module functions as connection point.

We discuss process-representation improvements by implemented grassland functions and how model coupling is expected to enhance the understanding of major feedbacks within complex socio-ecological savannah systems.

Keywords: African savannah, ecosystem functions, land use change, pasture regrowth, spatially explicit modelling

Contact Address: Benjamin Warth, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstr. 13, 70593 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: benjamin.warth@uni-hohenheim.de

Model-Based Assessment of Grazing Impact on Soil Carbon Stocks and Dynamics of a Kenyan Rangeland

KATE KUNTU-BLANKSON¹, ROLF SOMMER², RONALD F. KÜHNE³, ILONA GLUECKS⁴, SYLVIA NYAWIRA², JOHANNES ISSELSTEIN¹

Significant increase in atmospheric carbon concentration is a major driver of global warming and climate change. As the largest terrestrial ecosystem carbon sink, soils store approximately 2500 Pg. C in the upper 2 m depth. Rangelands make up more than 40% of the global land surface and contain about 30% of global terrestrial soil organic carbon (SOC). Under proper grazing management conditions, rangelands have the potential to sequester significant amounts of additional carbon, and hence offset anthropogenic carbon emissions and contribute to mitigating climate change. Due to the heterogeneity of rangelands worldwide and notable scarcity of data in particular in Africa, attempts to estimate the impact of grazing effects on carbon in these ecosystems are a challenge. Hence, recommendations for management across different regions cannot be made. In this work, we used the DAYCENT ecosystem model to study SOC stock dynamics for a rangeland in Eastern Kenya. Operated as a livestock ranch with wildlife grazing as background noise, vegetation in this area is a mix of C4 grasses and a few stands of Acacia trees and shrubs. The effects of two soil types - sandy and clavey - and varying levels of grazing management - high, moderate and light long-term grazing intensities based on percentage removal of standing biomass - on SOC dynamics and sequestration potentials over a period of 15 to 20 years were estimated. The presentation will summarise major results of this study and will provide recommendations on grazing regime strategies for rangeland policy planning in the East-African region.

Keywords: Carbon sequestration, DAYCENT, grazing management, rangelands, soil organic carbon

¹Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Dept. of Crop Sciences: Forage Production and Grassland Management, Germany

²International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Kenya

³Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Dept. for Crop Sciences: Tropical Plant Production and Agricultural Systems Modelling, Germany

⁴International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), Kenya

Contact Address: Kate Kuntu-Blankson, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Dept. of Crop Sciences: Forage Production and Grassland Management, Von-Siebold-Str. 8, 37075 Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: abapokuaa@gmail.com

Pastoral Dairy Development for Food Security and Food Safety in Eastern Africa: Challenges and Potentials

Ann Waters-Bayer¹, Wolfgang Bayer¹, Margareta Lelea², Koen Van Troos³, Ken Otieno⁴

Pastoralism is a source of income as well as food and nutrition security for about 20 million people in the drylands in Eastern Africa. Most interventions for pastoral development have focused on meat production, but pastoralism is a multifunctional system in which milk also plays an important role. Greater emphasis on dairy development could improve the nutrition of pastoralist families and other local consumers of milk products in the drylands and could strengthen the role of pastoralist women as the traditional managers of milk and as innovators in dairy micro-enterprises.

In order to inform particularly European but also African policymakers about the challenges and potentials of pastoral dairy development, CELEP (Coalition of European Lobbies for Eastern African Pastoralism) reviewed literature and project experiences related to dairy development in Eastern Africa. It looked into the differences between what are commonly described as formal and informal milk markets, including evidence concerning food safety in these markets. It gave particular attention to the specificities of pastoral dairying, which call for a different approach to dairy development in the drylands than in agrarian areas such as the highlands. However, similarities between the two areas were also found, in that many small-scale milk producers struggle to fulfil formal-sector requirements. The review investigated the contribution of pastoral dairying to nutrition in the drylands and the potential contribution of propoor dairy development to women's empowerment and wider food security.

After considering the potentials and constraints in pastoral dairy development, CELEP formulated recommendations regarding European policies and development interventions in this sector in Eastern Africa. The partner organisations of CELEP in Eastern Africa are developing corresponding recommendations for policymakers in their respective countries and the region.

Keywords: Dairy development, drylands, Eastern Africa, food safety, food security, markets, pastoralism, policy, small-scale milk production, women

¹Agrecol Association, Germany

²German Institute for Tropical and Subtropical Agriculture (DITSL), Germany

³Dierenartsen Zonder Grenzen - Vétérinaires Sans Frontières, Education and Advocacy, Belgium

⁴RECONCILE, Kenya

Contact Address: Ann Waters-Bayer, Agrecol Association, Rohnsweg 56, 37085 Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: waters-bayer@web.de

Spatio-Temporal Analysis of Land Use Land Cover Change in East Pokot, Kenya

AMIT KUMAR BASUKALA^{1,3}, MICHAEL BOLLIG², CLEMENS GREINER³, HAUKE PETER VEHRS², FRANK THONFELD⁴

Multispectral Landsat surface reflectance products at 30 m spatial resolution from Landsat 4/5 Thematic Mapper, Landsat 7 Enhanced Thematic Mapper Plus and Landsat 8 Optical Land Imager were classified to five classes i.e. water, maize fields, bare soil, dense shrubs and trees and shrub savannah using random forest algorithm for the years 1985, 1990, 1995, 2000, 2005, 2010, 2015 with overall accuracy of 91.38%, 92.48 %, 90.68 %, 88.59 %, 89.68 %, 87.11 % and 87.55 %, respectively. Analysis of the land use land cover change (LULC) revealed the spatial trend of maize cultivation. There is around sevenfold increase in maize fields in last 30 years, from 1104.21 ha in 1985 to 8176.14 ha in 2015, signifying that this region is gaining agricultural dependency esp. in maize for food security. Apart from East Pokot counties near Baringo Lake, the new counties in East Pokot near Turkana are identified as new area for maize cultivation. The expansion of maize cultivation is attributed to the intervention of the government of Kenya and development partners to promote food security along with the resolution of the armed conflict in the region. The region is also experiencing bush encroachment over the last 30 years which coined the decrease in availability of shrub savannah and grazing grassland for the pastoralism. These results will definitely assist planners and development workers to a long-term portrait of the rangeland pastoral LULC allowing mobile grazing pastoralism with balanced agriculture extension ultimately conserving the historical culture of East Pokot. The study also showed a significant positive relationship between spectral reflectance and tasselled cap components greenness, wetness and dryness, indicating the remote sensing offers trustworthy resource assessment and monitoring options for informing, planning and interventions in semi-arid regions.

Keywords: Land use land cover change, maize, rangeland pastoral grazing resource trend, tasseled cap

¹University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Germany

²University of Cologne, Dept. of Cultural and Social Anthropology, Germany

³University of Cologne, Global South Study Centre, Germany

⁴University of Bonn, Dept. of Geography, Germany

Contact Address: Amit Kumar Basukala, University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Genscherallee 3, 53113 Bonn, Germany, e-mail: pblkamit@gmail.com

Analysing Pastoral Resources Use and Regional Livestock Mobility in West Africa for Improved Livelihoods: An Interdisciplinary Study of African and German Universities

Luc Hippolyte Dossa¹, Rodrigue V. Cao Diogo², Kerstin Brügemann³, Katja Brinkmann⁴, Andreas Buerkert⁴, Eva Schlecht⁵

Pastoralism is both a lifestyle and a livestock production system based on livestock mobility and on the exploitation of natural pastures. In West Africa, cross-border livestock mobility is increasingly recognised as an effective strategy for enhancing livestock productivity and ensuring the sustainability of pastoral livelihoods. Hence, the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS) has set up regional agreements and policies and put in place frameworks to regulate this practice. However, while most policy-makers have only limited understanding of pastoral systems, many pastoralists prefer to follow informal routes. This often results in conflicts with local pastoralists and crop farmers, which are escalating in the recent past but are still poorly studied. Moreover, herders' utilisation of different pastoral resources including grassland, browse, water and animal genetic resources along the transhumance routes require more scientific attention in view of elaborating economically and ecologically sound herd and pasture management strategies. This contribution presents the structure and progress of a collaborative research project between scientists from the universities of Abomey-Calavi and Parakou and livestock farmers' associations in Benin, and the German universities of Kassel, Goettingen, and Giessen. The project, supported by Volkswagen Foundation Hannover through its funding initiative "Knowledge for Tomorrow - Cooperative Research Projects in sub-Saharan Africa", seeks to (i) analyse pastoralists' uses and management of natural resources (animals, rangelands and water) along the transhumance routes from the Sahel to the West African coast, (ii) quantify the effects of mobility on the productivity of both livestock and rangelands, and (iii) derive recommendations for increased herd productivity, conservation of biodiversity and animal genetic resources towards improved livelihoods of pastoralists in the region. The interdisciplinary project hereby integrates methods from the social and natural sciences and generates comprehensive knowledge to inform supportive policies that prevent over-exploitation and degradation of the pastoral resources.

Keywords: Animal genetic resources, livelihoods, pastoralism, rangelands

¹University of Abomey-Calavi, Faculty of Agricultural Sciences, School of Science and Technics of Animal Production, Benin

²University of Parakou, Dept. of Sci. and Techn. of Animal Prod. and Fisheries, Benin

³ Justus-Liebig-University Gießen, Inst. of Animal Breeding and Genetics, Germany

⁴University of Kassel, Organic Plant Production and Agroecosystems Research in the Tropics and Subtropics, Germany

⁵University of Kassel / Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Animal Husbandry in the Tropics and Subtropics, Germany

Contact Address: Luc Hippolyte Dossa, University of Abomey-Calavi, Faculty of Agricultural Sciences, School of Science and Technics of Animal Production, 01 BP 526, Cotonou, Benin, e-mail: dolhip@yahoo.com

High Impact Grazing Enhances Grass Forage Quality in Northern Argentina

DITMAR BERNARDO KURTZ¹, MARCUS GIESE², FOLKARD ASCH², UTA DICKHOEFER²

Natural grasslands are the major feed source for livestock in the Province of Corrientes, northern Argentina. Traditional extensive-management on large paddocks with low stocking rates favours the accumulation of low quality, grazing deterrent standing dead biomass. Soils are frequently waterlogged and biomass elimination with machines is impracticable. Since biomass burning has been out-lawed, range managers are looking for management alternatives to eliminate the dead biomass and to stimulate the regrowth of nutritious grass.

High impact grazing (HIG) was proposed as an alternative to address this problem in Argentina. HIG is using the effect of large herds which eliminate standing biomass by trampling and forage intake during a short term high intensity grazing. The aim of this study was to evaluate the effects of HIG applied in different seasons on fodder quality. Quality parameters crude protein (CP, in g 100 g⁻¹ DM), metabolisable energy (ME, in MJ kg⁻¹ DM), and digestible organic matter (DOM, in g 100 g⁻¹ DM) were analysed up to one year after HIG and compared to control sub-plots under standard grazing regime. Compared to the control, HIG in winter produced more CP, 6.0 vs 4.9 (p = 0.004); more ME, 5.2 vs 4.7 (p < 0.0001) and more DOM, 40 vs 37 (p = 0.0002). HIG in spring did not affect CP 5.6 vs 4.8 (p = 0.0624); but increased ME, 5 vs 4.8 (p = 0.0284) and DOM, 39 vs 37 (p = 0.017). HIG in autumn increased CP, 6 vs 4.9 (p = 0.0026); ME, 5.1 vs 4.7 (p = 0.0003) and DOM 39.7 vs 37.2 (p = 0.0021). HIG in summer did not affect the quality parameters; nevertheless, from a management point of view it still could be favourable as it reduced the dead biomass. Timely-well managed HIG not only reduced this pool, but it also delivered increased fodder quality. We have shown that forage quality was enhanced during autumn, winter and spring after HIG. The positive effects lasted for up to 4 months, which would be enough to improve fodder quality for livestock throughout the unfavourable winter. Further studies should assess the effects of repetitive HIG that could maintain these positive effects.

Keywords: Corrientes, environment, fire, fodder, management

¹National Institute of Agricultural Technology (INTA), Natural Resources, Argentina ²University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

Contact Address: Marcus Giese, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), 70593 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: m.giese@uni-hohenheim.de

Climate change

1) Model-based assessment of climate change impacts

183

Model-based assessment of climate change impacts

Oral Presentations

ABERRA MELESSE, HERBERT STEINGASS, MARKUS RODEHUTSCORD: Screening of Livestock Feed Resources Owning Low Enteric Methane Emissions for Sustainable Food Security in Sub-Sahara Africa	185
BABACAR FAYE, HEIDI WEBBER, JESSE B. NAAB, DILYS S MACCARTHY, MYRIAM ADAM, FRANK EWERT, JOHN LAMERS, CARL-FRIEDRICH SCHLEUSSNER, ALEX RUANE, URSULA GESSNER, GERRIT HOOGENBOOM, KEN BOOTE, VAKHTANG SHELIA, FAHAD SAEED, DOMINIK WISSER, SOFIA HADIR, PATRICK LAUX, THOMAS GAISER: Effect of Intensification of Crop Management on Cereal Crop	
Yields under 1.5°C and 2.0°C Global Warming in the West African Sudan Savannah	186
XUEQING YANG, MART-JAN SCHELHAAS, SERGEY BLAGO- DATSKIY, HONGXI LIU, CARSTEN MAROHN, JIANCHU XU, GEORG CADISCH: Modelling Long-Term Impacts of Climate Change on Rubber Plantations and Options for Adaptive Forest Management	188
KEVIN THELLMANN, REZA GOLBON, MARC COTTER, GEORG CADISCH, FOLKARD ASCH: Assessing Hydrological Ecosystem Services under Land Use and Climate Change Scenarios in a Mountainous Watershed	189
PIA SCHNEIDER, NHA VAN DUONG, FOLKARD ASCH: Developing a Multi-Scale Model for Sustainable Water Management in Vietnam's Mekong Delta	190
Posters	
TIL FEIKE, NAN HA: The Carbon Footprint of Cotton Production in Xinjiang, China	191

BEZAWIT ADUGNA BAHRU, CHRISTINE BOSCH, MANFRED ZELLER: Pathways through which Climatic Shocks Affect Child	
Undernutrition: A Structural Equation Modelling	192
ALICE ONYANGO, UTA DICKHOEFER, KLAUS BUTTERBACH-	
BAHL, JOHN GOOPY: Estimation of Enteric Methane Emission Factors and Inten-	
sities in Smallholder Cattle Systems in Western Kenya	193
· ·	173
EMEKA OGBONNA JOHN, GABRIELE HÖRSTGEN-SCHWARK: Modelling the Vulnerability of Fisheries and Aquaculture to	
Climate Change Impact	194
	174
JESSE OWINO, DAVID PELSTER, KLAUS BUTTERBACH-BAHL,	
OGHAIKI ASAAH NDAMBI, SHEM WANDIGA, DANIEL OLAGO, MARIANA RUFINO, LUTZ MERBOLD:	
Improved Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Nutrient Losses	
Estimates from Manure of Kenyan Smallholder Dairy	
Farmers	195
D 14 14 14	
PAOLO MORI VOLKER WILLEMEYER	
PAOLO MORI, VOLKER WULFMEYER: Seasonal Forecasts for the Horn of Africa: Evaluation of the	
Seasonal Forecasts for the Horn of Africa: Evaluation of the	196
Seasonal Forecasts for the Horn of Africa: Evaluation of the Skill of Convection-Permitting Simulations	196
Seasonal Forecasts for the Horn of Africa: Evaluation of the	196
Seasonal Forecasts for the Horn of Africa: Evaluation of the Skill of Convection-Permitting Simulations SUPRIYA DAYANANDA, THOMAS MÖCKEL, MICHAEL WACHENDORF:	196
Seasonal Forecasts for the Horn of Africa: Evaluation of the Skill of Convection-Permitting Simulations SUPRIYA DAYANANDA, THOMAS MÖCKEL, MICHAEL	196 197
Seasonal Forecasts for the Horn of Africa: Evaluation of the Skill of Convection-Permitting Simulations SUPRIYA DAYANANDA, THOMAS MÖCKEL, MICHAEL WACHENDORF: Multi-Temporal Biomass Estimation of Vegetable Crops	
Seasonal Forecasts for the Horn of Africa: Evaluation of the Skill of Convection-Permitting Simulations SUPRIYA DAYANANDA, THOMAS MÖCKEL, MICHAEL WACHENDORF: Multi-Temporal Biomass Estimation of Vegetable Crops Using Unmanned Aerial Vehicles	

Screening of Livestock Feed Resources Owning Low Enteric Methane Emissions for Sustainable Food Security in Sub-Sahara Africa

ABERRA MELESSE¹, HERBERT STEINGASS², MARKUS RODEHUTSCORD²

Livestock sector accounts for 40 % of agricultural domestic product. Food from animal sources contributes 18% of global calories (kcal) and 25% of global protein consumptions. However, livestock sector contributes to green house gas (GHG) emissions causing global climate change. The most important GHG emitted from the livestock agriculture is methane (CH₄), which originates from enteric fermentation and manure. Ruminant animals reared in Sub-Sahara Africa are usually fed on tropical forages and produce high enteric CH₄ due to poor digestibility and nutrient content. Thus, searching for alternative livestock feed resources with possible low CH₄ emission while owing better nutrient quality would be justifiable. With this research gap in mind, 48 plant materials (foliages and pods of multipurpose trees, legume and grass forages, leaves of root crops, fruit waste and agro-industrial byproducts) were tested in vitro for their potentials to mitigate CH₄ emission. Results indicated that among the investigated multipurpose trees, leaves of *Prosopis juliflora*, Cajanus cajan, Leucaena leucocephala, Acacia nilotica and Moringa oleifera as well as pods of Millitia ferruginea and P. juliflora produced the lowest CH₄. Panicum colouratum and Desmodium intortum were found to be suitable tropical forages in reducing CH₄. Sweetpotato and cassava leaves among root crops as well as Mango seed kernels and Moringa seeds from fruit byproducts were identified as potential candidates in mitigating CH₄ emission. In conclusion, leaves of those multipurpose trees and root crops as well as fruit byprodcuts that were identified as potential candidates for reduced CH4 can be used as protein and energy supplements to poor quality forages and crop residues for practical mitigation of CH₄ emissions from ruminants. Moreover, those forages that showed the lowest CH₄ can be fed alone or in combinations to supplement tropical feed resources. We recommend animal-based experiments to validate the actual feeding values of the identified feed materials and assess their production potential.

Keywords: Forage crops, fruit byproducts, methane emission, multipurpose tree foliage, nutrient compositions, root crop leaves

¹Hawassa University, Animal and Range Sciences, Ethiopia

²University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Animal Nutrition, Germany

Contact Address: Aberra Melesse, Hawassa University, Animal and Range Sciences, Hawassa University, 05 Hawassa, Ethiopia, e-mail: a_melesse@uni-hohenheim.de

Effect of Intensification of Crop Management on Cereal Crop Yields under 1.5°C and 2.0°C Global Warming in the West African Sudan Sayannah

Babacar Faye¹, Heidi Webber¹, Jesse B. Naab², Dilys S MacCarthy³, Myriam Adam⁴, Frank Ewert¹, John Lamers⁵, Carl-Friedrich Schleussner⁶, Alex Ruane⁷, Ursula Gessner⁸, Gerrit Hoogenboom⁹, Ken Boote⁹, Vakhtang Shelia⁹, Fahad Saeed⁶, Dominik Wisser¹⁰, Sofia Hadir¹, Patrick Laux¹¹, Thomas Gaiser¹

Rainfed cereals are the main staple food crops in the West African Sudan Savannah. While current yield levels are low due in large part to the limited use of fertilisers, sustainable intensification of cropping systems is widely promoted in the region to improve food security and drive regional economic development. However, an important consideration is increased internannual yield variability and possible interactions with climate change, as this represents an important source of risk for farmers. This study assessed the effect of intensification on maize, pearl millet and sorghum yields under 1.5°C and 2.0°C global warming in the West African Sudan Savannah. Simulations were conducted with two crop models (DSSAT and Lintul5 embedded into the SIM-PLACE modelling framework) at a spatial resolution of 0.25° under both current fertiliser use and optimum fertiliser application (intensification case). The models were calibrated with local varieties from field experiments in the region with management reflecting a range of typical sowing windows. Results indicated that yields simulated under intensification were two to three times higher than yields simulated under current fertiliser use, irrespective of the warming scenario. However, yield losses under

¹University of Bonn, Inst. Crop Sci. and Res. Conserv. (INRES), Germany

²West African Science Service Center for Climate Change and Adapted Land Use (WAS-CAL), Burkina Faso

³University of Ghana, College of Basic and Applied Sciences, Soil and Irrigation Research Centre, Ghana

⁴Centre de Coop. Internationale pour la Recherche Agronomique pour le Developpement (CIRAD), France

⁵University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Germany

⁶Climate Analytics, Climate Analytics, Germany

⁷NASA Goddard Institute for Space Studies, United States of America

⁸German Remote Sensing Data Center (DFD), Germany

⁹University of Florida, Agricultural and Biological Engineering, United States of America ¹⁰UN Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO), Italy

¹¹Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Inst. of Meteorology and Climate Research, Germany

Contact Address: Babacar Faye, University of Bonn, Institute of Crop Science and Resource Conservation (INRES), Katzenburgweg 5, Institute of Crop Science and Resource Conservation Crop Science Group, Bonn, Germany, e-mail: babafaye@uni-bonn.de

climate change were slightly higher with intensification: 2 % units higher for maize and sorghum with 2.0°C compared to 1.5°C warming, with no change in millet yields for either scenario. As expected, interannual variability increased with intensification compared to current fertiliser use, though there was no interaction with climate change scenario. In summary, it is suggested that intensification would much more than offset the negative impacts of climate change, though economics analysis is required to understand the implications for risk and constraints on market development needed to support intensification.

Keywords: 1.5°C, climate change, intensification, West Africa

Modelling Long-Term Impacts of Climate Change on Rubber Plantations and Options for Adaptive Forest Management

Xueqing Yang¹, Mart-Jan Schelhaas², Sergey Blagodatskiy¹, Hongxi Liu¹, Carsten Marohn¹, Jianchu Xu³, Georg Cadisch¹

Rubber plantations have expanded rapidly in Montane Mainland South East Asia in past decade. The impact of long-term environmental changes on carbon stock dynamics of rubber plantations is constrained by site-specific growth conditions and still not fully understood. In order to improve regional forest management, we jointly used field survey and modelling tools to predict rubber biomass development at tree-, plot-, watershed- and landscape- scale in Naban National Nature Reserve, Xishuangbanna. Rubber trees/plots level parameters were used to calibrate the Land Use Change Impact Assessment (LUCIA) model. The potential response of tree growth (biomass annual increment) and latex production (latex annual increment) to various climate change scenarios was simulated from low CO₂ emission scenario (RCP2.6) to high CO₂ emission scenario (RCP8.5) for rubber plantation with a 40-year rotation length. These results were used in the large-scale forest scenario model EFISCEN (European Forest Information SCENario model) to upscale impacts of various climate- or management-driven scenarios into 2055. According to LUCIA simulation outputs, rubber plantations cultivated at high elevation (above 900 m asl) benefited more from future warming climate. The total biomass and cumulative latex increased 28 % and 48 % from baseline to RCP8.5. We also tested three scenarios with EFISCEN model applied at landscape level, namely: 1) climate promoted increase scenario - "growth increase scenario", 2) other land use conversion into rubber plantations scenario - "species change scenario" and 3) combined impact scenario - "integrative scenario". Simulations revealed obvious patterns of carbon stock increase in the growth increase scenario, i.e. the regional carbon stocks were increased by 30% and species annual increments also increased by 50%. Our simulations from EFISCEN model suggested that future climate change may greatly impact on rubber tree growth at large (landscape-) scale, while LUCIA simulation reported at tree- and plot- level the influence of climate change might be compensated or decreased by local management strategies. Combined process-based model and landscape scenario model applications for rubber-based system help in better understanding climate change impacts on ecosystems. Our results could be relevant also for other rubber-cultivated regions particularly thus in mountainous regions.

Keywords: Carbon sequestration, climate change, forest management, latex production, rubber-based system

¹University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²Wageningen University and Research, Team Vegetation, Forest and Landscape Ecology, The Netherlands

³World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF), East and Central Asia, China

Contact Address: Xueqing Yang, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstr., 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: yangxueqing@mail.kib.ac.cn

Assessing Hydrological Ecosystem Services under Land Use and Climate Change Scenarios in a Mountainous Watershed

KEVIN THELLMANN, REZA GOLBON, MARC COTTER, GEORG CADISCH, FOLKARD ASCH

University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

The extension of large-scale cash crop cultivation in Montane Mainland South-East Asia brought new livelihood options for farmers, who previously kept the centurylong tradition of swidden farming. This change in land use transformed entire landscapes and thereby potentially altered critical biophysical structures and processes. These serve as the basis for the provisioning of ecosystem services (ESS) such as fresh water supply or the prevention of erosion. How resilient these altered landscapes are with regard to preserving hydrological ESS in the face of a changing climate is yet to be understood. We chose the Nabanhe Reserve in Xishuangbanna prefecture (Yunnan province, PR China) as a study area, as it saw an extensive expansion of rubber plantations within the past decades. The aim of this study was to assess the effect of rubber-related land use changes under multiple scenarios of climate change. We developed three land use scenarios in cooperation with local stakeholders for the vear 2040. These include a Business-As-Usual scenario, where past rubber expansion rates will be continued in a linear manner, the 5-Year-Plan scenario, which is based on regional policy plans, and the Balanced-Trade-Offs scenario, which incorporates conservation measures such as riverine buffer strips and water protection zones. The resulting land use maps were used in combination with spatially explicit precipitation data based on two Representative Concentration Pathways (RCP 4.5 & RCP 8.5) of the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC5). Both represent main inputs to model sediment export and water yield on watershed scale with the InVEST (Intergrated Valuation of Ecosystem Services and Trade-offs) software suite. The methodology applied here can easily be adapted to other regions, as InVEST and the IPCC5 data are either open-source or freely available. The results provide valuable information to develop mitigation strategies in order to buffer adverse effects on hydrological ESS resulting from long-term changes in precipitation patterns.

Keywords: Climate change, ecosystem services, InVEST, land use change, rubber, scenario modelling

Contact Address: Kevin Thellmann, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstr. 13, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: kevin.thellmann@uni-hohenheim.de

Developing a Multi-Scale Model for Sustainable Water Management in Vietnam's Mekong Delta

PIA SCHNEIDER¹, NHA VAN DUONG², FOLKARD ASCH¹

The Mekong River Delta in Vietnam (VMD) is the world's third largest river delta, and is an important agricultural area providing for a large proportion of national rice production. To adapt to changing environmental conditions during the dry and wet season, low-lying coastal farms practice a rotational rice-shrimp system. However, decreasing freshwater availability, especially from rainfall, impedes the transition from shrimp to rice, and has forced many farmers to shift towards a more profitable shrimp monoculture system. Consequently, coastal areas lose their protective function against seawater intrusion deeper inland, and salt concentrations in ground and surface water increased along with the associated salt accumulation in the soil. Climate change impacts, such as rising sea level, shifts in precipitation patterns, and freshwater scarcity will accelerate salt water intrusion and are a major threat for ecosystems, environments, and food security particularly in Asian Mega Deltas. This study presents a modeling concept to develop a sustainable water management and land-use approach, including spatial and temporal adaptation and mitigation strategies, for rice farmers in the VMD. Seasonal dynamics of flooding and salinity, and other related water problems, such as freshwater scarcity will be considered. The study uses a multi-scale modeling approach by linking two models: (1) Water evaluation and planning system (WEAP) for crop-water requirements and soil-water dynamics in the catchment; (2) MODFLOW and MODPATH for simulating groundwater flows, soil-groundwater interactions and salinity concentrations in the groundwater. The results of the model will be validated with data collected in three different case study sites, representative of different conditions in the delta. The results will show varying salinity levels and freshwater availability in different temporal and spatial scales to identify hotspots of production constraints. Different management options, such as dynamic irrigation techniques to improve freshwater availability and reduce salt concentrations in soils and groundwater throughout the delta, will be tested in the model.

Keywords: Integrated management, land-use change, MODFLOW, MODPATH, rice, sea-level rise, WEAP

¹University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²Kien Giang University, Agriculture and Rural Development Faculty, Vietnam

Contact Address: Pia Schneider, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstraße 13, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: pia_schneider@uni-hohenheim.de

The Carbon Footprint of Cotton Production in Xinjiang, China

TIL FEIKE¹, NAN HA²

Agriculture contributes to and suffers from global climate change at the same time. In China, which is the world's largest GHG emitter, emissions from agricultural sources increased by around 50% over the last 20 years. Hence, it is important to evaluate the sources of GHG emissions from crop production and identify opportunities for emission reduction. Cotton (Gossypium hirsutum L.) as the most important cash crop in China supplies feedstock for the national textile industry and contributes to rural incomes and development. However, cotton is a very resource intensive crop with significant environmental impact. We selected Xinjiang province for our study, as it is the most important cotton production region in China, contributing around 10 % to global cotton production. The region features an ideal climate for cotton cultivation with high radiation and low precipitation. We interviewed more than 200 cotton producers on their detailed crop management including all material inputs like seed and fertiliser, their use of electricity and diesel as well as their cotton yield and by-product use. Applying a partial life cycle assessment approach, we calculated the GHG emissions per unit of land and the carbon footprint per produced unit of cotton for every specific farm. We found huge differences among farms indicating the potential for improving input use efficiency and yield levels to reduce emissions and improve carbon footprints. Energy for irrigation, fertiliser use and soil borne N2O emissions constituted the major emission sources. We furthermore found that farmers using modern irrigation technology excerpted higher emission per unit of land. However, their higher yield levels overcompensated and resulted in lower carbon footprints per produced unit of cotton. The study highlights the potential for reducing the climate change impact of cotton production through improved crop management.

Keywords: Carbon footprint, China, cotton, farm survey

¹ Julius Kühn-Institut (JKI), Federal Research Centre for Cultivated Plants, Inst. for Strategies and Technology Assessment, Germany

²University of Hohenheim, Institute of Farm Management, Germany

Contact Address: Til Feike, Julius Kühn-Institut (JKI), Federal Research Centre for Cultivated Plants, Inst. for Strategies and Technology Assessment, Stahnsdorfer Damm 81, 14532 Kleinmachnow, Germany, e-mail: til.feike@julius-kuehn.de

Pathways through which Climatic Shocks Affect Child Undernutrition: A Structural Equation Modelling

BEZAWIT ADUGNA BAHRU, CHRISTINE BOSCH, MANFRED ZELLER University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

The past three decades have seen a striking change in climatic conditions. Globally, an increase in average temperature, greenhouse gas concentration, and anthropogenic CO₂ emissions have been recorded. These changes carry worrisome consequences for the planet earth including ocean acidity, increase in permafrost temperature, change in snow cover and decrease in Arctic sea-ice which in turn leads to the frequent occurrence of cyclones, droughts, floods, heat waves and wildfires and leaves billions at risk of malnutrition and illnesses. Using three rounds of the young lives cohort study dataset this study aims to identify the pathways through which climatic shocks affect child undernutrition and health. To this end, the study employed a structural equation modelling to empirically test the pathways through which climatic shocks affect child undernutrition based on the UNICEF conceptual framework. 1980 younger and 982 older cohort children were included in the main analysis. Results show a significant negative association between climatic shock and linear growth that is mediated by increased food insecurity and poor environmental and service conditions which inturn lead to lower child dietary diversity and poor child health status. Moreover, in this study the magnitude of the effect of climatic shocks on environmental and service conditions was higher than their effect on food insecurity for both height-for-age (YC- β FI=.15, β ES=.54 & OC - β FI=.23 β ES=.73) and BMI-for-age (YC- β FI=.15 β ES=.57 & OC - β FI=.21, β ES=.62) models. The implication of the results is that programs aiming to curb the negative impacts of climatic shocks should invest more on improving environmental and service conditions in addition to combating food insecurity. This could be achieved by incorporating other determinants of nutrition into programs through increased access to health services, sanitation and nutrition education. Moreover, in this study, households report of climatic shocks was positively correlated. Therefore, diversifying the means of livelihoods, social protection schemes, and access to credit should be considered as a policy alternative for recurrently affected populations.

Keywords: Climatic shock, Ethiopia, climate change, structural equation modelling, undernutrition, young lives data

Contact Address: Bezawit Adugna Bahru, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Paracelsusstr. 87, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: bezawit.bahru@uni-hohenheim.de

Estimation of Enteric Methane Emission Factors and Intensities in Smallholder Cattle Systems in Western Kenya

ALICE ONYANGO¹, UTA DICKHOEFER¹, KLAUS BUTTERBACH-BAHL²,
JOHN GOOPY²

Data on methane (CH₄) emissions from cattle in sub-Saharan African (SSA) are scarce, outdated, and commonly derived from the Tier 1 methodology, and thus not specific to prevailing systems. Tier 2 methodology, based on area-specific feed and cattle characterisation, would improve accuracy and lower uncertainties on CH₄ emissions estimates for cattle systems in SSA. Hence, the objectives were i) to estimate enteric CH₄ emission factors (EF) and emission intensities (EI) for meat and milk production using IPCC Tier 2 methodology, and ii) to evaluate uncertainties related to Tier 2 EF estimates in cattle systems of western Kenya. Cattle herd feeding and productivity were characterised in twenty villages of three geographic zones in western Kenya over four seasons of one year (n=388 cows). Cattle were disaggregated by age and production stages. Seasonal ingredient composition of cattle diets was established from the available feed biomass. Feed samples were collected and their apparent total tract organic matter digestibility estimated from analysed proximate nutrient concentrations and in vitro gas production. Animal performance was evaluated using liveweight (LW) measurements, body scoring, milk yield, and number of hours worked. The animals' net energy requirements, gross energy intakes, and EF were calculated following IPCC Tier 2. Uncertainty analysis was performed using coefficients of variation method and individual uncertainties combined to give overall uncertainty using IPCC propagation of errors method. By dividing EF by annual milk or meat production of individual animals, EI were calculated (in carbon dioxide equivalents; CO₂eq.). Tier 2 EF were 20-29 kg CH₄ for young, 34-63 kg CH₄ for adult females, and $40-50\,\mathrm{kg}\,\mathrm{CH_4}$ head $^{-1}$ year $^{-1}$ for adult males. The EI ranged from 56 to $100 \,\mathrm{kg} \,\mathrm{CO}_2\mathrm{eq}$. kg^{-1} meat and from 4 to $32 \,\mathrm{kg} \,\mathrm{CO}_2\mathrm{eq}$. kg^{-1} milk. Milk yield, LW, and diet digestibility contributed most to overall uncertainty in EF estimates (i.e., 52%, 20%, and 13% of cumulative uncertainty, respectively). Smallholder cattle likely emit more CH₄ than Tier 1 estimates of their emissions. The EI reveal great potential for mitigation of emissions by increasing cattle productivity. Accurate milk records, LW, and diet digestibility would reduce uncertainty in EF estimates.

Keywords: Cattle systems, emission factors, emission intensity, uncertainty

ID 778

¹ University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), Kenya

Contact Address: Uta Dickhoefer, University of Hohenheim, Animal Nutrition and Rangeland Management in the Tropics and Subtropics, Fruwirthstr. 31, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: aninutrop@uni-hohenheim.de

Modelling the Vulnerability of Fisheries and Aquaculture to Climate Change Impact

EMEKA OGBONNA JOHN, GABRIELE HÖRSTGEN-SCHWARK Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Dept. of Animal Sciences, Germany

Climate change as result of global warming remains one of the major threats to aquaculture, fisheries and dependent communities worldwide. Vulnerability of aquaculture and fisheries to climate change is a function of exposure, sensitivity, and adaptive capacity of the community in question. Vulnerability of fish farmers is largely determined by the differences in socio-economic conditions among communities. This study aims to determine factors influencing the vulnerability of fishers and fish farmers to climate change impact in Africa. The objectives are twofold: first, to develop indicators influencing vulnerability and to determine how they influence vulnerability. secondly, to compare the vulnerability of fishers and fish farmers in different regions of Africa. Using the most recent data twenty-seven countries in Africa were evaluated using seventeen indicators, which are allocated into the three components of vulnerability; the exposure, sensitivity and adaptive capacity. Results shows that vulnerability of fisheries and aquaculture to climate change impact is driven by poverty, low human development index and high occurrence of natural disasters. The most vulnerable regions in Africa are the west, central, East and North Africa regions. The southern regions of Africa tend to be less vulnerable to climate change impact on fisheries and aquaculture. Our result shows that establishment of marine protected area and investment in poverty alleviation will decrease vulnerability to climate change impact on fisheries and aquaculture. The findings from this research will enable the formulation of policy recommendations to help strengthen the livelihoods of small-scale fisheries and aquaculture in Africa.

Keywords: Aquaculture, climate change, fisheries

Contact Address: Emeka Ogbonna John, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Dept. of Animal Sciences, Christophorusweg 12, 37075 Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: emekaogbonna.johm@stud.uni-goettingen.de

Improved Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Nutrient Losses Estimates from Manure of Kenyan Smallholder Dairy Farmers

Jesse Owino¹, David Pelster², Klaus Butterbach-Bahl³, Oghaiki Asaah Ndambi⁴, Shem Wandiga⁵, Daniel Olago⁶, Mariana Rufino⁷, Lutz Merbold³

African agriculture produces 15 % of the global agricultural greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, with 25% of these GHG emissions from the African continent attributed to manure and manure management. To date few studies are available that focus on manure management within smallholder dairy farming systems and the subsequent GHG emission estimates. There is need to improve GHG inventories in sub-Saharan African (SSA) countries. The study region was located in western Kenya and prior to data collection stratified into three agro-ecological zones (AEZs). From the zones, we identified animal confinement systems, main manure management systems and duration of storage of manure. CH₄ and N₂O emissions from manure management were then estimated for the region using both Tier 1 and Tier 2 IPCC guidelines. GHG flux measurements from manure piles that were collected from the animal confinements previously characterised, were carried out using non-flow through, non-steady state GHG chambers. Measurements lasted for a period of 90 days. Leachate was collected daily via an inbuilt drainage tube with solid manure sampled from the heaps periodically. Annual CH₄ and N₂O emissions from manure management systems in Nandi County using Tier 1 were 0.22 Gg CH₄ yr⁻¹, 0.16 Gg N₂O yr⁻¹ and categorization of manure management systems for SSA leads to lower Bo and hence lower MCF and lower Tier 2 CH4 emissions (0.002 Gg CH₄ yr⁻¹ and 0.031 Gg $N_2O \text{ yr}^{-1}$) than Tier 1. Methane emission factors from manure management were higher using the Tier 2 than the currently used Tier 1. The confinement systems "Fence Only", "Fence and Roof" and "Fence, Roof and Floor had significant differences in cumulative CH4 but not for cumulative N2O emissions. Mean nitrogen (N) lost from the manure through leaching ranged from 2.0 g N to 2.1 g N. This study provides a mechanism to improve Tier 2 GHG emission calculations for manure management in smallholder farming systems in SSA that could help identify practices to reduce GHG emissions originating from agriculture. The over 40 % loss of nutrient N from manure provides for further justification on the need to improve manure management for smallholder farmers. Furthermore, improved manure management allows smallholder farmers to benefit from the manure are fertiliser by returning essential nutrients to the soil.

Keywords: Dairy, East Africa, greenhouse gases, manure, smallholder

¹Kenya Forestry Research Institute, Turkana Forestry Research Sub-Centre, Kenya

²Science and Technology Branch, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Canada

³International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), Livestock Syst. and Envir., Kenya

⁴Wageningen University and Research, Dept. of Animal Sciences, The Netherlands

⁵University of Nairobi, Institute for Climate Change Adaptation, Kenya

⁶University of Nairobi, Department of Geology, Kenya

⁷Lancaster University, Lancaster Environment Centre, United Kingdom

Contact Address: Jesse Owino, Kenya Forestry Research Institute, Turkana Forestry Research Sub-Centre, P.O. Box 53, 30500 Lodwar, Kenya, e-mail: owinojesse@gmail.com

Seasonal Forecasts for the Horn of Africa: Evaluation of the Skill of Convection-Permitting Simulations

PAOLO MORI, VOLKER WULFMEYER

University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Physics and Meteorology, Germany

Global seasonal forecasts provide helpful information. Today's resolution is 30 km or lower, which is still too coarse in orographically structured terrain, specifically for precipitation forecasts. Dynamical downscaling of such forecasts to convection-permitting (CP) scale (grid size 1–4 km) has not yet been tested in African regions due to the lack of computational resources. In addition, the computational constraints limit the use of ensemble forecasts, which are generally more reliable: therefore the effectiveness of such strategy is not yet much analysed at the convection-permitting scale.

The Horn of Africa is a highly challenging area for global models due to its complex topography. The Ethiopian highlands strongly influence the climate and a relatively small area experiences very different precipitation regimes, sharp changes in temperature and seasonal fluctuations. Other projects have shown that downscaling seasonal forecasts at a lower resolution (25 km) has little to no impact on the forecast skill.

This work aims to study the ability of a convection-permitting model to provide seasonal forecasts for the Horn of Africa with added value with respect to their global counterparts. Specifically, air temperature and precipitation bias will be considered as key elements for the evaluation of the model performance. The weather research & forecasting (WRF) model is used, coupled with the Noah-MP land-surface model, to downscale the ensemble seasonal forecasts produced by the European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts (ECMWF).

Preliminary work shows that downscaling global model output using such a highresolution model improves the precipitation patterns over the considered domain, both the location and the total amount.

Keywords: Convection-permitting scale, dynamical downscaling, Horn of Africa, seasonal forecasts, WRF

Contact Address: Paolo Mori, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Physics and Meteorology, Garbenstraße 30, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: pmori@uni-hohenheim.de

Multi-Temporal Biomass Estimation of Vegetable Crops Using Unmanned Aerial Vehicles

SUPRIYA DAYANANDA, THOMAS MÖCKEL, MICHAEL WACHENDORF University of Kassel, Grassland Science and Renewable Plant Resources, Germany

3D point cloud analysis of imagery captured by unmanned aerial vehicles (UAV) are depicted to be a valuable tool for estimation of crop phenotypic traits (e.g. crop height) in several crops. Spatial information about these traits can be used to derive information about other important crop characteristics (e.g. biomass), which could not be derived directly from the point clouds. Previous approaches have often only considered single date measurements using a single point cloud derived metric for the respective trait. The aim of this study was to assess the applicability of UAV imagery by capturing the crop height information of three different vegetable crops (eggplant, tomato, and cabbage) during a complete crop growth period to infer the biomass. Additionally, the effect of crop development stage on the relationship between estimated crop height and field measured crop height was examined. The study was conducted in an experimental layout at the University of Agricultural Sciences in Bengaluru, India. The three crops height and the biomass were measured at five sampling dates during the crop growth period from February to May 2017. Each plot was measured using an UAV, equipped with a photo camera. Using a structure from motion approach a 3D point cloud was created for each crop and sampling date. In total 14 crop height metrics were extracted from the point clouds. Machine learning methods were used to create prediction models for vegetable crop height. The study demonstrates that the monitoring of crop height during an entire growth period using several crop height metrics of biomass with more detailed estimates of crop height and biomass is better than single date and single metric approaches. Altogether the results of the study encourage that UAV based remote sensing tools can be used to effectively measure vegetable crop biomass in larger areas. In future studies, the interrelated effect of other phenotypic traits (e.g. leaf area index) on the relationships found should be tested.

Keywords: 3D point cloud and phenotypic traits, unmanned aerial vehicles

Contact Address: Supriya Dayananda, University of Kassel, Grassland Science and Renewable Plant Resources, Steinstrasse 19, 37213 Witzenhausen, Germany, e-mail: supriyaD@uni-kassel.de

Optical and SAR Data for Mapping of Complex Irrigated Agriculture Regions: A Case Study in Punjab, Pakistan

TALHA MAHMOOD, MUHAMMAD USMAN, CHRISTOPHER CONRAD, NIMA AHMADIAN

University of Wuerzburg, Inst. of Geography and Geology, Germany

Accurate information on land use is very important to ensure all humans have access to food for healthy living. Remote sensing has gone through many advancements in the recent years with the launch of new optical and synthetic aperture radar (SAR) satellites. This study compares the effectiveness of optical and SAR imagery alone and in combination for complex cropping region of Punjab, Pakistan. Lower Chenab Canal command area, located in Punjab province, one of the major and more complex-cropping regions was selected. Smaller field size, diverse cropping patterns, and cloudy climate especially during monsoon season make it difficult for mapping using coarse spatial resolution, and optical data. Optical and SAR data from Sentinel II & I were used after processing for normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI), and back scattering (Sigma0), respectively. Supervised classification using random forest algorithm was performed on three data-sets i.e NDVI, Sigma0 and integrated use of NDVI and Sigma0 for summer season (i.e. May to October 2017). For training of model, 75 % ground truth points were used and the 25 % rest were used for accuracy assessment. All the major crops in summer season including rice, cotton, sugarcane, maize and fodder were mapped and accuracy of classified maps were checked using error matrix. The results showed that separate use of NDVI and Sigma0 for both polarisation produced overall accuracy of 71% and 72%, respectively. The kappa coefficient with these two data-sets were 0.64 and 0.66, respectively. The integration of NDVI and Sigma0 shows increase in overall accuracy and kappa coefficient. The overall accuracy and kappa coefficient for combined data-set were 77 % and 0.71 % respectively. The results encourage the combined use of optical and SAR data to improve the mapping accuracy in regions with heterogeneity and cloudy climate.

Keywords: Fusion, LULC, random forest, remote sensing, SAR

Contact Address: Talha Mahmood, University of Wuerzburg, Geography Department / Remote Sensing Unit, Samuel-Schiedt Weg-3, 06124 Halle, Germany, e-mail: talha.mahmood@stud-mail.uni-wuerzburg.de

Agroforestry and soil quality

1)	Agroforestry and tree crops	201
2)	Soil and soil fertility	235
3)	Soil (bio)fertilisation	265
4)	Land degradation and livelihoods for the Sahel	301

Agroforestry and tree crops

Oral Presentations	
SITHIDECH ROYGRONG, SUMANEE KUNTAWEE, ISAREE PUN- JAN, CHAIWAT CHUMPUN, PONGSAK ANGKASITH:	
Arabica Coffee in Mixed Cropping Systems – A Contribution to Sustainable Highland Agriculture and Food Safety	205
FLORIS DALEMANS, BART MUYS, MIET MAERTENS: Profitability of Agroforestry-Based Biofuel Value Chains in India	206
AGNES GACHUIRI, ANA MARIA PAEZ-VALENCIA, MARLENE ELIAS, SAMMY CARSAN, STEPHA MCMULLIN: Gendered Knowledge and Preferences of Food Trees for Ad-	
dressing Food Security and Nutrition Needs of Communities	
in Uganda	207
THOMAS HILGER, JOHANNES MÖSSINGER, TALITA OLIVEIRA DE ARAÚJO, ERIC DOLCH, ISABELLA KREMER, CATHERINE MEYER, DANIELA HAUPENTHAL, SÉRGIO MOTOIKE, GEORG CADISCH:	
Macaw Palm (<i>Acrocomia aculeata</i>) – A Minor Crop of the Neotropics with High Bioeconomic Potential	208
SIMONE KATHRIN KRIESEMER, GUDRUN B. KEDING: Leafy Vegetables under Shade? Performance of Cowpea (Vigna unguiculata (L.) Walp.) in a Multistorey Coffee Forest in Southwest Ethiopia	209
Posters	
HOA DO, CORY WHITNEY, EIKE LUEDELING: Agroforestry Options in Northwest Vietnam	210
DINESH BASTAKOTI, EIKE LUEDELING, IAN NUBERG: Impact Pathway Validation for an Agroforestry Intervention in Nepal	211
BENDICTO KABIITO, JENS GEBAUER, ROLF BECKER, DIETRICH DARR:	
On the Contribution of Planting and Use of Underutilised Local Food Tree Resources for Food Security and Bio- diversity Conservation in Uganda	212

ACHILLE ASSOGBADJO: Could Ecological Importance Value of Wild Edible Fruit Trees Predict their Ethnobotanical Use Value in Protected Areas?	213
HANS-PETER SCHMIDT, CLAUDIA KAMMANN, JOHANNES MEYER ZU DREWER:	
Multiplying Forest Garden Systems Financed by ${\bf CO}_2$ -Subscription Schemes	214
NIELS THEVS, ALINA JOANA GOMBERT, KUMARBEK ALIEV, ROLAND LLESHI, ARZYGUL ALMAZBEKOVA, YRYS ABDIEVA: Water Productivity of Tree Wind Break Systems in Central	
Asia – Example Bazarkorgon, Kyrgyzstan RAGHEB MOHAMMAD, BOHDAN LOJKA, HARDY AWLA:	215
Farmers' Use and Preferences of Trees in Kurdistan Region of Iraq	216
DAVLET MAMADJANOV, KLARA DZHAKYPBEKOVA, JYLDYZ SHIGAEVA, DIETRICH DARR:	
Research and Development in the Kyrgyz Walnut-Fruit Forests: Achievements and Lessons Learned for the Future	217
SABRINA MEISEN, ELAINE PERL, ALINA GRÄTZ, KEVIN WOLK, JAMILA SMANALIEVA, ZHYLDYZ OSKONBAEVA, DIETRICH DARR, FLORIAN WICHERN:	
Quality Parameters of Walnut (Juglans regia) Fruits from Kyrgyzstan as Affected by Abiotic Properties and Intra- specific Variability DIETRICH DARR, KATHRIN MEINHOLD, WILLIS OMONDI	218
OWINO: Access to Genetic Resources and Fair Benefit Sharing under the Nagoya Protocol – Experiences of the BAOFOOD	
Research Project in Kenya	219
Marie Kalousová, Anna Manourova, Benson Agyepong:	
Genetic Diversity of <i>Garcinia kola</i> (Heckel) in Southwest Cameroon	220
ANNA CHLÁDOVÁ, BOHDAN LOJKA, MUNEER ELYAS SIDDIG, JENS GEBAUER, KATJA KEHLENBECK: Morphological Characterisation of Baobab Fruits from North	
and West Kordofan Provinces, Sudan	221
Justine Nyamweya, John Bosco Mukundi, Aggrey Adimo, Fredah Karambu Rimberia, Monica A. Omondi, Jens Gebauer, Katja Kehlenbeck:	
Assessment of Spatial Distribution and Population Health of Baobab (Adansonia digitata) in Kilifi and Kitui Counties,	
Kenya	222

MONICA A. OMONDI, FREDAH KARAMBU RIMBERIA, PAUL KINOTI, CORNELIUS WAINAINA, JOHN BOSCO MUKUNDI, JUSTINE NYAMWEYA, JENS GEBAUER, KATJA KEHLENBECK: Fruit Morphological Diversity and Productivity of Baobab (Adansonia digitata L.) Trees from Kilifi County, Kenya	223
XAVIER BONNEAU, REINOUT IMPENS, MAXWELL BUABENG, PATRICK VAN DAMME:	223
Optimum Oil Palm (<i>Elaeis guineensis</i> Jacq.) Planting Density for West Africa	224
OLIVIER DASSOU, LÉIFI NODICHAO, HERVÉ AHOLOUKPÈ, DANSOU KOSSOU, YVES CAKPO, CHRISTOPHE JOURDAN: Accuracy and Efficiency of Root Biomass Estimation Methods in Oil Palm (Elaeis guineensis Jacq.) Plantations	225
REINOUT IMPENS, PATRICK VAN DAMME, XAVIER BONNEAU: Oil Palm Root System Characteristics in a 12 Year Old Density Trial in Nigeria	226
CLAUS GREGOR, REINOUT IMPENS, XAVIER BONNEAU, PATRICK VAN DAMME:	
Let There Be Light: Light Interception Method Update for Oil Palm (<i>Elaeis Guineensis</i> Jacq.) Canopies	227
XAVIER BONNEAU, EMMANUEL WIAFE, CHARLES ACQUAH DANSO:	
Impact of Topography on Oil Palm Yields in Marginal Conditions in Ghana	228
XAVIER BONNEAU, REINOUT IMPENS, OLIVIER DASSOU, PATRICK VAN DAMME:	
Optimal Fertilisation for Oil Palm (<i>Elaeis guineensis</i> Jacq.) Plantations: Conclusions from a Long-Term Fertiliser Trial	
in Nigeria	229
OLIVIER DASSOU, LÉIFI NODICHAO, JEAN OLLIVIER, REINOUT IMPENS, BERNARD DUBOS, XAVIER BONNEAU, MARCEL DE RAÏSSAC, TRISTAN DURAND-GASSELIN, BRICE A. SINSIN, PATRICK VAN DAMME:	
Oil Palm (Elaeis guineensis Jacq.) Leaf K and Mg Contents	
Differ with Progenies: Implications and Research Needs	230
WIEBKE NIETHER, LAURA ARMENGOT, ULF SCHNEIDEWIND, MICHAEL TOBIAS FUCHS, MONIKA SCHNEIDER, GERHARD GEROLD:	
Fine-Root Growth and Dynamic in Five Cocoa Production Systems Affect Biomass and Yield	231
LISETTE T. PHELAN:	
Sustainable Use of Resources: Soil and Water Management Practices on Cocoa Farms in Ecuador	232

VALENTIN L.F. WOLF, ISSAKA ABDULAI, ESTHER FICHTLER, REIMUND P. RÖTTER, CHRISTOPHE N. KOUAME:

Cocoa Agroforestry as Climate Change Adaptation Strategy in Ivory Coast: Scientist's versus Farmer's Perceptions

233

Arabica Coffee in Mixed Cropping Systems – A Contribution to Sustainable Highland Agriculture and Food Safety

SITHIDECH ROYGRONG¹, SUMANEE KUNTAWEE¹, ISAREE PUNJAN², CHAIWAT CHUMPUN², PONGSAK ANGKASITH²

Highland areas are fragile ecosystems and in northern Thailand, livelihoods of highland farmers depend on the sustainable use of natural resources. Arabica coffee (*Coffea arabica*) was introduced by the Royal Project Foundation (RPF) to improve farmers' incomes and at the same time, introduce mixed cropping systems that are better adapted for the highland agro-ecosystems.

Focusing on the observation of plant growth, leaf rust incidence, yield and good cupping, 14 varieties from different RPF planting sites were collected and planted at the RPF Inthanon Research Station, Chiang Mai, Northern Thailand. Five sampling varieties namely A3, A4, A5, A6 and A8 showed tolerance against leaf rust and were rated highest in terms of cupping, scoring 80–82 points according to the SCAA standard. Propagating these varieties will create a sturdy base for low pesticide coffee production.

To improve quality and yield, at the RPF Development Centers Pamiang and Teen Tok, Chiang Mai, coffee plants were grown under shade trees and hard pruning was applied. This system was compared to farmers' practice. Results show that pruned trees yielded an average of 3.2–4.5 kg tree⁻¹ of fresh beans, which is significantly higher than yields of farmer plots.

Sustainability aspects of coffee production were studied at Wawee RPF Extension Area, Chiang Rai. The objective was to demonstrate RPF knowledge on improving quality and yield of coffee by integrated farm management for soil and water conservation. Shade was created by intercropping with banana, Fraxinus (*Fraxinus griffithii*), Indian Gooseberry (*Phyllanthus emblica L.*) and Macadamia nut. Two years experiment show that coffee trees trend to have significantly higher fruiting as compared to conventional farmers' practice. Shade trees offer additional products and contribute to restore and conserve soil fertility and water holding capacity. In addition, insect pests and diseases decreased by up to 15 %, whereby farmers can reduce the use of agro-chemicals considerably. Thus, farmers collaborating with the RPF are able to achieve high yields at good quality, without chemical residues.

Keywords: Coffee, Royal Project Foundation, rural livelihoods, Thailand

 $^{{}^1{\}it Highland Research and Development Institute (Public Organization), Thailand}$

²Royal Project Foundation, Thailand,

Contact Address: Sithidech Roygrong, Highland Research and Development Institute (Public Organization), 65 Moo 1 Suthep Muang, 50200 Chiang Mai, Thailand, e-mail: roygrong@gmail.com

Profitability of Agroforestry-Based Biofuel Value Chains in India

FLORIS DALEMANS, BART MUYS, MIET MAERTENS

KU Leuven, Earth and Environmental Sciences, Belgium

Energy security is an essential condition for food security and rural poverty reduction in developing countries. To achieve increased independence from expensive fossil fuels for transport and electrification in poor landlocked areas, a search for affordable, more sustainable and alternative energy sources was recently initiated. Liquid biofuel production in small-scale agroforestry systems for local use is considered a promising option. In this novel approach multipurpose oilseed trees are integrated within existing farming systems. Although oilseed yields might be limited in these low input – high diversity – high resilience systems, the trees bring along multiple other products, uses and co-benefits, which add to the viability of the approach.

Such a biofuel model is being implemented in Hassan district, South India, but empirical studies have shown that current farmer participation is low, and that willingness to participate heavily depends on the economic profitability of oilseed collection. To assess the model's economic potential, this study uses primary survey and yield data to quantify its long-term profitability for various value chain actors and designs. It aims to determine whether, under which configurations, for whom, and to which extent biofuel value chains are profitable, and how this depends on a range of (uncertain) key factors, such as prices and policies, technology and yields, and opportunity costs of land, labour and capital.

The results show that labour is a crucial factor for profitability. In most scenarios, it is not viable for farmers to hire labour for cultivation and processing. If family labour is used to this end, the economic potential is higher, although returns to labour would only improve from current values for part of the households, indicating programme targeting should be accordingly differentiated. Also land opportunity costs are vital to consider, as profits only start to surpass these after 10 years. From the viewpoint of processors, conversion of seed oil to biodiesel is currently irrational, as the former is a more valuable product under the prevailing economic conditions. Biodiesel production is only viable in a minority of scenarios, questioning the feasibility of the programme as a biofuel program.

Keywords: Agroforestry, biofuels, profitability modelling, rural development, value chain design

Contact Address: Floris Dalemans, KU Leuven, Earth and Environmental Sciences, Celestijnenlaan 200e - Bus 2411, 3001 Leuven, Belgium, e-mail: floris.dalemans@kuleuven.be

Gendered Knowledge and Preferences of Food Trees for Addressing Food Security and Nutrition Needs of Communities in Uganda

AGNES GACHUIRI¹, ANA MARIA PAEZ-VALENCIA¹, MARLENE ELIAS², SAMMY CARSAN¹, STEPHA MCMULLIN¹

Food trees play a central role in rural livelihoods and can contribute substantially to food and nutrition security. Farmers have a wealth of local knowledge and prioritise food tree species for cultivation and use for various household needs. This local knowledge and preferences are often not adequately considered during research development endeavours. This study sought to understand farmer preferences for food tree species to improve food and nutrition security in Uganda with respect to local priorities. The purpose was to identify sets of species which are ecologically adapted and seasonally available and fill specific food insecure periods and 'nutrient gaps' in diets, while responding to various gender and age-related needs, interest and constraints. Data collection was conducted using focused group discussions in two districts in Uganda, Nakaseke and Nakasongola. Participatory research using seasonality calendars and score - ranking was applied with eight groups of 80 participants, 40 women and 40 men segregated by gender and age to understand knowledge and preferences for food trees. A total of 36 important food trees species were listed, of which 17 were indigenous and could be used to fill food and nutrition gaps during food insecure months. The total number of food trees listed differed between genders, older women (aged 37 to 59 years) identified 22 species, younger women (aged 19–30 years) identified 19 species and older and young men identified 15 priority species. Score-ranking revealed that both men and women preferred exotic food tree species such as Mangifera indica (mango), Passiflora edulis (passion fruit) and Persea americana (avocado). Preliminary findings show that the most important considerations for scoring were: use of species for consumption, taste, medicinal value and opportunities for income generation. The latter was notably cited by both old and young men but also by young women. Findings shows availability food tree species that fill food and nutrition gaps and the value of gender-sensitive participatory research for understanding local knowledge and preferences, and their relation with farmer's needs and constraints, to inform project implementation decisions

Keywords: Food trees, gender, local knowledge, participatory community research, priority setting, Uganda, youth

ID 415 207

¹World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF), Kenya

²Bioversity International, Malaysia

Contact Address: Agnes Gachuiri, World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF), United Nations Avenue Gigiri, Nairobi, Kenya, e-mail: a.gachuiri@cgiar.org

Macaw Palm (*Acrocomia aculeata*) – A Minor Crop of the Neotropics with High Bioeconomic Potential

Thomas Hilger¹, Johannes Mössinger¹, Talita Oliveira de Araújo², Eric Dolch¹, Isabella Kremer¹, Catherine Meyer¹, Daniela Haupenthal³, Sérgio Motoike², Georg Cadisch¹

Rich in biodiversity, the neotropics host huge resources for food security and income generation. Macaw palm (Acrocomia aculeata) found from Mexico down to Argentina is one example with excellent bioeconomic potential. It has manifold uses, e.g. food specialties, fodder, fibre or medicine. Its main product, however, oils from fruit pulp and kernel may boost its importance, as it is an economic, sustainable and environmental friendly alternative to Elaeis guineensis, adapted to less fertile soils and less favourable environmental conditions. We studied growth and light interception in sole and mixed cropped pioneer plantations in Paraguay. Aboveground biomass (5.6, 12.3, 19.1 Mg ha⁻¹, resp.) and leaf area index (0.32, 1.09, 1.49, resp.) increased with age (29-, 69-, and 88-month-old), whereas light transmission (78, 41, 32%, resp.) decreased. In the oldest stand, photosynthetic active radiation penetrating through the canopy still reached up to 1000 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ during 8.30 a.m. and 3.30 p.m., allowing to grow food crops below the canopy of macaw palms, an interesting option for peasant farms. Root observations also showed that their distribution is favourable for intercropping with other crops. First whole-farm-mathematical-modelling results from East-Paraguay indicate cropping potentials, especially for peasant farmers agroforestry systems. Currently, macaw palms start flowering after 48 months, producing fruits up to 70 years and more. Fresh fruit yields are around 22 Mg ha⁻¹, providing up to 3.3 Mg ha⁻¹ of kernel and pulp oils, being high for a hardly domesticated species. Its composition of fatty acids with a share of essential fatty acids up to 60 % being higher than that of E. guineensis. Macaw people has the additional advantage that its fatty acid composition alters with the ecological conditions under which it grows. Hence, it is highly flexible in its application. In addition, they are rich in tocopherols and carotenoids. Finally, there is need to identify the best accessions for each ecological condition under which it grows to develop varieties tailored for specific applications in bioeconomy

Keywords: Agroforesty systems, farm modelling, multi-purpose applications

¹University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²Federal University of Viçosa, Department of Plant Science, Brazil

³Universidad Católica del Paraguay, Campus Itapúa, Paraguay

Contact Address: Thomas Hilger, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstr. 13, 70593 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: thomas.hilger@uni-hohenheim.de

Leafy Vegetables under Shade? Performance of Cowpea (Vigna unguiculata (L.) Walp.) in a Multistorey Coffee Forest in Southwest Ethiopia

SIMONE KATHRIN KRIESEMER, GUDRUN B. KEDING University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Germany

In Yayu Coffee Forest Biosphere Reserve in Oromiya region, Southwest Ethiopia, people eat starch based diets with little fruit and vegetables. Micronutrient deficiency is likely to be widespread such as iron deficiency with anaemia rates among women and children being as high as 64 % in Oromiya region. The main income source from agriculture is coffee which is cultivated in a multistorey cropping system using shade trees. Outside the biosphere reserve and in its transition zone where people reside, it is allowed to cut trees and to cultivate the land. Here, crop production is threatening the existence of the remaining forest patches. Integrated vegetable production underneath the coffee and shade trees could help add another economic layer to the system and improve the availability of leafy vegetables for better nutrition. Previous research in Yayu had shown that cowpea (Vigna unguiculata (L.) Walp.) grew more vigorously than other vegetables under shade but how to optimise the leaf yield was still unknown. Therefore, the objective of the study was to test cowpea in shaded conditions for leaf production under two different harvesting regimes. Trials were set up in Yayu between April and December 2017 in a randomised complete block design comparing repeated harvest of single full leaves with a total harvest at the end of the trial. Plant development and growth was monitored on a weekly basis. Repeatedly harvested cowpea produced significantly more leaves than cowpea that was harvested once-over. Although cowpea under shade developed slower than cowpea in open field conditions, coffee forest farmers in Yayu would be able to continuously harvest leafy vegetable cowpea during the majority of the rainy season from land that previously only produced coffee yield. The consumption of vegetable cowpea could improve nutritional health as the leaves contain about 500µg/100g of Vitamin A which is often lacking in starch based diets. With about 3mg/100g of iron cowpea leaves contain about twice as much iron as Ethiopian kale, the single most popular leafy vegetable in Yayu. In 2018, the demand for and selling prices of cowpea leaves as vegetable will be assessed on the local markets in Yayu.

Keywords: Harvesting regime, nutrition, Yayu Coffee Forest Biosphere Reserve

ID 434 209

Contact Address: Simone Kathrin Kriesemer, University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Genscherallee 3, 53113 Bonn, Germany, e-mail: simonekriesemer@gmx.de

Agroforestry Options in Northwest Vietnam

Hoa Do¹, Cory Whitney², Eike Luedeling³

The mountainous northwest of Vietnam, bordering Lao PDR and China, is home for the majority of the country's ethnic minorities. Both poverty and food insecurity are common in the region. Slash-and-burn maize, rice and cassava monocultures have been the main source of local livelihoods for decades. However, increasing population and land scarcity have induced the expansion of agricultural areas and consequent decline of land productivity due to soil erosion and land degradation. For these reasons, slash-and-burn agriculture practices often fail to guarantee sufficient food and income. As a solution, local farmers have begun to practice agroforestry through the introduction of high value trees into traditional cropping systems. Since 2012, the World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF) has trialled several agroforestry options in the region with various combinations of timber, fruit, nut forage trees and annual crops. However, because of inherent production risks and many remaining uncertainties, assessing the long-term performance of agroforestry has remained challenging.

Decision analysis is an approach that can address risk and uncertainty, which are expressed as probability distributions to provide a realistic picture of the range of possible system outcomes. The approach provides cost-effective basic assessment, which can be updated as more information becomes available. We simulated prospective system benefits of agroforestry options by developing comprehensive and holistic models that aimed to explicitly consider all relevant risks and uncertainties. Project managers and technical staff from ICRAF, local farmers and extension workers were asked to list all the costs, benefits and risks associated with the implementation of seven agroforestry options. Conceptual models were developed to map out causal relationships among identified input variables. The initial findings reveal model components such as drought and frost and potential extreme weather events as the primary risks to agroforestry in the region. The analysis approach is a promising tool for *exante* assessments of other planned interventions.

Keywords: Decision analysis, food insecurity, holistic model, risk and uncertainty

¹University of Bonn, Agricultural Sciences and Resource Management in the Tropics and Sub-tropics (ARTS), Germany

²University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Germany

³University of Bonn, Horticultural Sciences, Germany

Contact Address: Hoa Do, University of Bonn, Agricultural Sciences and Resource Management in the Tropics and Sub-tropics (ARTS), Nussallee 1, 53115 Bonn, Germany, e-mail: dohoa1190@gmail.com

Impact Pathway Validation for an Agroforestry Intervention in Nepal

Dinesh Bastakoti¹, Eike Luedeling¹, Ian Nuberg²

Many development projects fail to produce intended outcomes. A major reason for this is that project interventions are often expected to trigger a series of events, which ultimately leads to impacts. Weak links in this causal chain can cause failure. To reduce this risk, it has become common practice among project managers to develop 'impact pathways', which make all causal linkages explicit, help anticipate problems and allow strengthening project design.

So far, impact pathways are rarely used after a project has started, with project evaluation focusing on comparing baseline with end line data. We propose using impact pathways to guide adaptive management of development projects. This can be achieved by treating the impact pathway as a collection of hypotheses about causal relationships between system components, which can be tested by targeted research. By evaluating causal linkages during project implementation, likely points of failure can be anticipated and possibly eliminated, allowing adaptive project management.

This rationale was applied to an ongoing agroforestry project in Nepal, which aims to enable farmers to introduce new tree species into their farms. The project's impact pathway was elucidated based on field observations, focus group discussions and participatory modelling sessions with project staff. Findings where synthesized into a conceptual impact pathway model that explicitly spelled out all cause-effect relationships that were needed for the project to be successful. A questionnaire was then designed with the specific aim of testing selected linkages in the model. Based on a survey of 40 farm household, confidence intervals for the strengths of the associations between elements of the impact model were estimated.

Many linkages, e.g. between training and tree introduction, or between increased crop production and more food for household consumption, were found to be strong. Other expectations of the impact pathway, however, could not be confirmed, e.g. a link between a high number of trees on a farm and high timber sales. Overall, results revealed an impact pathway that was most robust but contained some weak links that jeopardised the success of parts of the project. Impact pathway validation helped identify these weaknesses, providing valuable feedback to project managers.

Keywords: Agroforestry, evaluation, food security, impact pathway

ID 870 211

¹University of Bonn, Horticultural Sciences, Germany

²University of Adelaide, School of Agriculture Food and Wine, Australia

Contact Address: Eike Luedeling, University of Bonn, Horticultural Sciences, Auf dem Hügel 6, 53121 Bonn, Germany, e-mail: luedeling@uni-bonn.de

On the Contribution of Planting and Use of Underutilised Local Food Tree Resources for Food Security and Biodiversity Conservation in Uganda

BENDICTO KABIITO^{1,2}, JENS GEBAUER², ROLF BECKER³, DIETRICH DARR²

Trees and forests are fundamentally important for the survival and wellbeing of humans and other ecological communities. They provide regulating, provisioning, cultural, aesthetic and supporting services; from air purification, climate regulation, carbon sinking, and water cycling, to fuel, timber, medicines, fodder, construction and fencing material. They facilitate soil formation, prevent its erosion, and provide habitat for and protection of biodiversity. Foodbearing trees play an even higher role; in addition to the values above, they provide food and for nutritional needs of humans, livestock and wildlife. Food-bearing trees are rich sources of vitamins, minerals, proteins, fats and other nutrients, thus capable of increasing food security and reduce malnutrition among beneficiary communities. A number of these (wild) food trees are underutilised; they only have local importance, lack markets, are hardly researched, and there are negligible efforts towards their protection, conservation or domestication.

While loss of tree resources is linked to increasing malnutrition, food insecurity, biodiversity loss and vulnerability of rural communities to climate change impacts, deforestation and monocultures continue to threaten habitats and natural recruitment capacities of these food trees. For instance, Uganda's natural forest cover has reduced from 12.1 million hectares in 1890 to 2.9 million hectare in 2012, with a significant effect on indigenous flora, being exacerbated by the emerging monocultures of eucalyptus, pine, and oil palm trees.

Upon this backdrop,this study seeks to evaluate and comparatively assess the social, cultural, ecological, and economic services/benefits of four food tree species: *Canarium schweinfurthii; Vangueria acituloba; Pseudospondias microcarpa* (indigenous), and *Syzygium cumini* (naturalized) with the aim to promote their use in reforestation, afforestation and agroforestry systems of Uganda. This study is being undertaken in Lake Victoria crescent agro-ecological zone, involving a survey of 400 households and 40 in-depth interviews with farming households, foresters, forest experts and investors and local government leaders.

Results will establish the importance and multiple benefits of the investigated tree species for local livelihoods, human and animal nutrition, environmental conservation and climate protection. Conclusions drawn will refer to the possible conservation, domestication, and utilisation of these tree species in central rural Uganda.

Keywords: Agro-forestry, climate protection, deforestation, environmental conservation, livelihoods

¹Uganda Martyrs University, School of Arts and Social Sciences, Uganda

²Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Fac. of Life Sciences, Germany

³Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Fac. of Communication and Environment, Germany

Contact Address: Bendicto Kabiito, Uganda Martyrs University, School of Arts and Social Sciences, Kampala, Uganda, e-mail: bkabiito@umu.ac.ug

Could Ecological Importance Value of Wild Edible Fruit Trees Predict their Ethnobotanical Use Value in Protected Areas?

ACHILLE ASSOGBADJO

University of Abomey-Calavi (FSA/UAC), Lab. of Applied Ecology (LEA), Benin

In Benin, rural populations are highly dependent on non-timber forest products (NTFPs) for their food, feeds and incomes. The high use of some wild edible trees has led to their overexploitation by the populations even in natural forests which constitute the reservoir of wild edible trees. For this reason human pressure on wild edible species is ever increasing in protected areas, this stir up the need to assess the relationship between use value and ecological importance value of wild edible fruit species in the protected areas. An ethnobotanical survey with 136 respondents enabled assessing the use values (UV) of wild edible fruit trees. Following, the ecological importance values (IVI) of trees were estimated using the relative density, the frequency, and relative coverage of wild edible fruit species inventoried in 53 plots of 45m × 45 m installed in the Lama Reserve Forest. Thereafter, the relationship between these two values was estimated performing a simple linear regression analysis. Our study reported ten edible trees of which Dialium guineense had both, the highest use value and ecological importance value (UV=0.7 and IVI=1.424) while Pterocarpus santalinoides had the lowest value for both parameters (UV=0.0001 and IVI=0.003). Regression analysis showed significant positive relationship between use value and ecological importance value for edible fruit trees in the Lama Reserve Forest: UV = $0.362 \text{ IVI } (R^2 = 0.42)$, suggesting that wild edible fruit trees with multiple-uses had high ecological importance value. It is unexpected that a species with a high use value shows high ecological importance value, this observation made in the protected area of the Lama forest is an indication that riparian populations have limited access to the reserve. We recommend that same studies be repeated in other protected areas in Benin to confirm this correlation between use values and ecological importance values of wild edible fruit species. The species that had the highest use value should be introduced in plantation in the surrounding area of the Lama Forest, but also in agroforestry systems to take advantage of this endogenous conservation strategy that would enhance the conservation measures applied to the protected areas.

Keywords: Benin, ecological importance value, lama forest reserve, use value, wild edible fruit trees

ID 207 213

Contact Address: Achille Assogbadjo, University of Abomey-Calavi (FSA/UAC), Lab. of Applied Ecology (LEA), Abomey-Calavi, Benin, e-mail: assogbadjo@gmail.com

Multiplying Forest Garden Systems Financed by CO₂-Subscription Schemes

Hans-Peter Schmidt 1 , Claudia Kammann 2 , Johannes Meyer zu Drewer 3

On abandoned, erosion prone terraces in the middle hills of Nepal, >200 participating farmer families planted 50,000 mixed trees in forest garden systems since 2015. All trees were planted with farmer-made organic biochar-based fertiliser. Planting pits were mulched with rice straw and were pipe irrigated from newly established water retention ponds during the 7 months of the first dry season after planting. A peer control system of farmer triads ensured an efficient maintenance of the plantations. Tree survival rate was above 80% after one year. In between the young Cinnamon, Moringa, Mulberry, Lemon, Michelia, Paulownia, nut and other trees, secondary crops were cultivated such as ginger, turmeric, black beans, onions, lentils, all with organic biochar-based fertiliser and mulching.

The objective of this forest garden project was to establish robust social-agronomic systems that can be multiplied from village to village for increasing soil fertility, protecting abandoned terraces from erosion, replenishing natural water resources, generating a stable income with climate-smart agriculture, as well as capturing and sequestering atmospheric carbon.

The 50,000 mixed trees accumulate the equivalent of 700 t CO_2 per year (on a 10-year average). To monetize these carbon sequestration services, the project established a monthly CO_2 -subscription that creates a personal link between private GHG-emitter in Europe and the carbon sequestering farmers in Nepal. At 35 \in per ton of CO_2 , the CO_2 -subscription covers the cost for the forest garden set-up and the carbon certification. Moreover, farmers receive carbon payments for each survived tree during the first three years. After this initial period of three years, the income from tree crops (fruits, nuts, medicine, essential oil, silk, perfume, honey, timber, animal fodder) exceeds by far the (catalyzer) carbon credits (average crop income for 10,000 trees including secondary mixed cropping > 70,000 Euro).

In our presentation, we will show and document the establishment of the forest garden systems, and discuss the link between local carbon sequestration and global carbon markets, the carbon calculation and certification procedures, and the challenge for multiplying such systems interregional and internationally.

Keywords: Biochar based fertilisation, carbon credits, forest garden

¹Ithaka Institute, Carbon Strategies, Switzerland

²Hochschule Geisenheim University, Wg Climate Change Research for Special Crops, Germany

³Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences, Germany

Contact Address: Hans-Peter Schmidt, Ithaka Institute, Carbon Strategies, Ancienne Eglise 9, 1974 Arbaz, Switzerland, e-mail: schmidt@ithaka-institut.org

Water Productivity of Tree Wind Break Systems in Central Asia – Example Bazarkorgon, Kyrgyzstan

Niels Thevs¹, Alina Joana Gombert², Kumarbek Aliev¹, Roland Lleshi³, Arzygul Almazbekova¹, Yrys Abdieva¹

Most of the agriculture in Central Asia depends on irrigation, e.g. agriculture in such areas like the Ferghana Valley or along other rivers in Central Asia. The major source of irrigation water are rivers. Glacier melt, snow melt, and rain fall in the mountains generate the runoff of those rivers. In the course of climate change, glaciers melt down so that a decrease in runoff by 20%-50% is expected by 2050.

Against this background it is of crucial importance to increase water productivity of irrigated agriculture and build resilience against water shortages. One method to achieve this goal might be introducing agroforestry, in particular shelterbelts. Literature suggests that crop evapotranspiration is reduced and crop yields are increased inside such shelterbelt systems compared to outside such systems. Though, changes of water consumption and income are unknown when farmers change add shelterbelts to their farm systems.

In order to understand those changes from a cropping system without shelterbelts to a agroforestry system with shelterbelts, water consumption of crops and trees as well as costs and benefits of crops and shelterbelt trees were assessed during the growing season 2017. The study area was a group of villages in the Ferghana Valley, Jalabada Region, in Kyrgyzstan. Micro climate data were used in order to calculate crop water consumption. Tree water consumption was measured through sap-flow measurements. Costs and benefits attributed to crops and trees were revealed through farm interviews.

Results indicate that wind speed is significantly reduced by shelterbelts, which reduces crop water consumption inside a shelterbelt system. The overall water consumption of shelterbelt system was found to be lower by 5–15% compared to non-shelterbelt systems. Income from shelterbelt trees added substantially to farm income so that the overall income from the crop-shelterbelt system was higher than income from the crop alone. This allows the conclusion that introduction of shelterbelts increases water productivity.

Keywords: Agroforestry, cotton, crop water consumption, fast growing trees, water productivity, wind breaks

ID 935 215

_

¹World Agroforestry Centre, Central Asia Office, Kyrgyzstan

²Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Fac. of Life Sciences, Germany

³Eberswalde University for Sustainable Development, Germany

Contact Address: Niels Thevs, World Agroforestry Centre, Central Asia Office, Toktogul Street 138, 720001 Bishkek, Kyrgyzstan, e-mail: N.Thevs@cgiar.org

Farmers' Use and Preferences of Trees in Kurdistan Region of Iraq

RAGHEB MOHAMMAD¹, BOHDAN LOJKA¹, HARDY AWLA²

Trees play an important role in virtually all the natural ecosystems. Most of the trees have multiple uses, and they offer a range of valuable products such as fruits and service roles such as windbreaks, to the rural farmers and local people. The study aimed to identify the most important use of tree species by the farmers in Iraqi Kurdistan along with their preferences among the species as well as to evaluate the abundance of species. The methodology was based on the studies developed by World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF) and International Service for National Agricultural Research (ISNAR) with appropriate modifications to the study conditions. The fieldwork was carried out in Erbil province of Iraqi Kurdistan from August until October 2017 in both lowland and highland areas. Altogether, 62 respondents were interviewed by semi-structured questionnaires and 46 tree species were identified in both regions. The results showed that fruit trees (grapes Vitis vinifera, olives - Olea europaea, pomegranate - Punica granatum, figs - Ficus carica, and apricots - Prunus armeniaca) are used extensively in both regions. Farmers relied mainly on fruit trees of various species due to high market profits and income generation. Besides that, farmers were generally focused on windbreaks as a service role in the lowlands. Regarding the species preferences, olives had a significantly high priority among the farmers in the lowlands, while the pomegranates were higher preferred in the highlands. Our study suggests, further development of agroforestry systems in Erbil could be an important factor in mitigating effects of climate change, especially in the case of increasing temperature. Better tree pruning and spacing may reduce the heat and thus save both fruit harvest quality and quantity. In the future, more studies should be conducted on farmers tree preferences and market value chains.

Keywords: Agroforestry, Erbil province, highland region, Iraqi Kurdistan, lowland region, sustainable development, tree priority, use of the tree

¹Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. Tropical AgriSciences, Dept. of Crop Sciences and Agroforestry, Czech Republic

²Salahaddin University, Dept. of Forestry, Iraq

Contact Address: Ragheb Mohammad, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. Tropical Agri-Sciences, Dept. of Crop Sciences and Agroforestry, Kamycka 129 - Suchdol, 16500 Prague, Czech Republic, e-mail: ragheb.k.m@gmail.com

Research and Development in the Kyrgyz Walnut-Fruit Forests: Achievements and Lessons Learned for the Future

DAVLET MAMADJANOV¹, KLARA DZHAKYPBEKOVA², JYLDYZ SHIGAEVA³, DIETRICH DARR²

The walnut-fruit forests of Kyrgyzstan are one of the centres of origin of many cultivated plants in Central Asia and a gene pool of global importance. Between 130–180 species of trees and shrubs alone have been found in these forests. In addition, they harbor many other, partially endemic, species of other classes and orders. At the same time, these forests provide numerous forest products and a source of livelihood to local populations. However, current patterns of forest management are unsustainable, vast parts of the forests are overaged, and derived benefits are unequally distributed among local populations. Because of their unique importance, the walnut-fruit forests and their sustainable management have been an object of scientific inquiry and a target of interventions by development projects alike. Significant academic work has been accomplished in studies of the biology, ecology, morphological diversity, the development of propagation methods, the protection of walnut and other nuts species from pests and forest diseases, and silvicultural and agroforestry research with a view to sustainably use the walnut forests. Development projects have focused on promoting sustainable forest management, participatory forms of resource governance, and the development of inclusive value chains for selected forest products. This paper presents the results of an extended analysis of secondary sources on the objectives. methods employed and results generated by previous academic research and largely donor-funded development projects in the walnut-fruit forests of Kyrgyzstan. It investigates how the activities of these projects have been sustained after project end given that many of these projects were of relatively short duration; how the project results were incorporated into management practice and which practical impact they had; and to which extent successor projects drew from previous works given that they were often funded by different organisations. The paper delineates two stages of research and development work that clearly appear from the analysis. It also presents the results of a stakeholder mapping of the various research and development organisations that are currently working on the sustainable utilisation of the walnut-fruit forest and identifies overlaps, blank spots and priorities for further research.

Keywords: Central Asia, Kyrgyzstan, sustainable forest management

ID 751 217

¹National Academy of Science of the Kyrgyz Republic, Institute of Walnut and Fruit Crops, Kyrgyzstan

²Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences, Germany

³ University of Central Asia, Mountain Societies Research Institute, Kyrgyzstan

Contact Address: Klara Dzhakypbekova, Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences, Marie-Curie-Str. 1, 47533 Kleve, Germany, e-mail: klara.dzhakypbekova@gmail.com

Quality Parameters of Walnut (*Juglans regia*) Fruits from Kyrgyzstan as Affected by Abiotic Properties and Intraspecific Variability

Sabrina Meisen¹, Elaine Perl¹, Alina Grätz¹, Kevin Wolk¹, Jamila Smanalieva², Zhyldyz Oskonbaeva³, Dietrich Darr¹, Florian Wichern¹

The Kyrgyz walnut-fruit forests harbor a huge natural diversity, including *Juglans* regia and other underutilised wild plant species. Even though many of these biological resources are traditionally used by the local community and have been scientifically described in terms of their diversity, their full nutritional potential has not been thoroughly investigated. Especially the relative influence of abiotic factors, such as climatic conditions or soil properties and the intraspecific variability is unknown. The present study therefore aims at evaluating the influence of soil properties and altitude on intraspecific variability of physical and biochemical quality parameters of walnut fruits, 375 fruit and 30 soil samples have been collected from a total of 3 randomly selected sample plots differing with regard to altitude levels and exposition. Soil samples from a depth of 0-30 cm and 30-60 cm were analysed for microand macronutrients, soil organic matter (SOM), carbonate content, pH and electrical conductivity. For walnut fruit samples nut weight, sphericity, shell integrity, shell diameter, nut crackability, weight and colour of kernels were examined. Additionally, fruit samples were analysed for water, ash, total phenolic and total antioxidant content of composite kernel samples. Furthermore, micro- and macronutrient content, total lipid and protein content, peroxide value, as well as fatty acid and amino acid profiles of kernels will be analysed and presented. First results indicate differences between the three sites in pH, SOM and carbonate content. Results that describe the strength and direction of the relationship between site factors and physical and biochemical fruit characteristics are being presented. Conclusions refer to implications for the sustainable management of the Kyrgyz walnut-fruit forests and the necessity of future research.

Keywords: Abiotic factors, intraspecific variability, Kyrgyz forests, quality parameters, walnuts

¹Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Fac. of Life Sciences, Germany

²Kyrgyz-Turkish Manas University, Food Technology, Kyrgyzstan

³Kyrgyz-Turkish Manas University, Environmental Engineering, Kyrgyzstan

Contact Address: Sabrina Meisen, Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Fac. of Life Sciences, Kleve, Germany, e-mail: sabrinameisen92@gmail.com

Access to Genetic Resources and Fair Benefit Sharing under the Nagoya Protocol – Experiences of the BAOFOOD Research Project in Kenya

DIETRICH DARR¹, KATHRIN MEINHOLD¹, WILLIS OMONDI OWINO²

According to the international Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), the rights to biological resources belong to the state in whose territory they are found. The handling of these genetic resources is regulated in a binding international agreement known as the Nagoya protocol. The protocol was adopted in 2010 and entered into force in 2014. As of April 2018, it has been ratified by 105 member states. Each member state enacts detailed national legislation for the implementation of the protocol. In Kenya, users of genetic resources are obliged to comply and acquire permits from the implementing and enforcing government bodies of the Nagoya protocol including the Kenya Wildlife Service (KWS), National Environment Management Authority (NEMA), and Kenya Plant Health Inspectorate Service (KEPHIS). The permits require legally binding agreements with the communities in which the genetic resources exists and the specific government agencies, among them the Prior Informed Consent (PIC), the Mutually Agreed Terms (MAT), the Material Transfer Agreement (MTA), as well as the Benefit Sharing Agreement and Report on Utilisation. Using the case of the BAOFOOD project, the current paper presents the practical implications and challenges resulting from compliance with and acquisition of permits in line with the Nagoya protocol. The BAOFOOD project aims to promote the domestication, market development, processing and consumption of baobab (Adansonia digitata) for the improvement of food security, nutrition and rural livelihoods in Kenya and the Sudan, with the ultimate goal to establish a community-based processing unit to produce and supply highly nutritious baobab products. BAOFOOD is amongst the first projects in Kenya applying for permission under the protocol. The paper concludes that, while the larger objectives pursued with the enactment of the Nagoya protocol merit unreserved support, cumbersome procedures to implement existing regulations, unclear responsibilities at the national and local levels, lengthy processes involved in acquisition of the sequential permits, and a generally limited understanding of local authorities concerning the nature of non-commercial research projects have the potential to seriously affect the implementation of the research project. Successful references cases are therefore urgently required that could serve as guidance to local administrators and researchers alike.

Keywords: Bureaucracy, export of plant samples, international convention, research administration

ID 706 219

¹Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences, Germany

² Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, Dept. of Food Science and Technology, Kenya

Contact Address: Dietrich Darr, Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences, Marie-Curie-Str. 1, 47533 Kleve, Germany, e-mail: dietrich.darr@hochschule-rhein-waal.de

Genetic Diversity of *Garcinia kola* (Heckel) in Southwest Cameroon

MARIE KALOUSOVÁ, ANNA MANOUROVA, BENSON AGYEPONG

Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Faculty of Tropical Agrisciences, Dept. of Crop Sciences and Agroforestry, Czech Republic

Garcinia kola (Clusiaceae) is an indigenous fruit tree, originating in Western and Central Africa. It is a highly valued medicinal plant with all its parts being useful in traditional medicine. Especially the seeds are frequently used in Cameroon for treatment of a wide range of health problems (inflammation, liver cirrhosis, hepatitis, diarrhoea, headaches, etc.). Despite its frequent usage, the domestication process of this tree is at its beginning and throughout its distribution area, seeds are mostly harvested from the wild, which can lead to endangering of the species. Previous studies of G. kola have described the bioactive substances and nutritional content, however, information on genetic structure of existing populations crucial for domestication and conservation efforts of the species is lacking. The objective of this research was to analyse the genetic diversity of G. kola in Cameroon. 75 individuals from 4 populations were sampled in Southwest province of Cameroon and DNA was extracted from the seed coat. Twenty arbitrary RAPD primers were used for screening, and seven were chosen for final analysis based on polymorphism shown. PCR products were visualised on agarose gels and bands scored for presence or absence. A total number of 142 loci were obtained, with 136 of them polymorphic, showing 95.77 % polymorphism. The overall values of Nei's gene diversity and Shannon's diversity index (h=0.19, I=0.32) indicate high levels of genetic diversity in the sampled individuals. However, the index of Nei's genetic distance between populations reached very low values, showing lack of population structuring. Such values are quite typical for natural populations with low selection and domestication pressure. This study represents the first report to describe population genetics of G. kola. The results, together with morphological and biochemical data, can lead to better management and utilisation of G. kola genepool.

Keywords: Bitter cola, indigenous fruit, medicinal plants, population structure, RAPD

Contact Address: Marie Kalousová, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. of Tropical Agri-Sciences, 16900 Prague, Czech Republic, e-mail: marie.kalousova@gmail.com

Morphological Characterisation of Baobab Fruits from North and West Kordofan Provinces, Sudan

Anna Chládová¹, Bohdan Lojka¹, Muneer Elyas Siddig², Jens Gebauer³, Katja Kehlenbeck³

Adansonia digitata L. (Malvaceae) is an iconic tree of the savannahs of sub-Saharan Africa. The edible fruit is known for its high nutritional values in pulp and seeds. The high morphological variability, particularly of fruits, offers a potential for domestication and development of improved materials. However, the variability in morphological fruit traits of Sudanese baobab has not yet been thoroughly documented. This study aimed at characterising the intra-specific diversity of baobab fruits collected from North and West Kordofan provinces, Sudan. Within the frame of the BAOFOOD project funded by the German BMEL, 93 trees were sampled from two transects (each 30×90 km) during two harvest seasons 2016–17 and 2017–18. From each tree, 10–20 representative fruits were collected and characterised based on the publication 'Descriptors for Baobab'.

Mean fruit length per accession ranged from 8.6 to 43.7 cm (total median 15.7 cm) and mean fruit weight from 46 to 403 g (median 128 g). Overall median pulp weight per fruit was 24 g (range 7-122 g per accession), while overall median pulp and seed proportions from whole fruit weight were 18 and 38%, respectively. For 13 accessions we found a very high pulp proportion (22-30%) and for 13 a very high seed proportion (46-53%). Fruit shape was predominantly ellipsoid (51%) with acute apex. Less frequent shapes were oblong-ellipsoid (10%), oblong-globose (8%) or oblong (6%). Pulp taste, based on the four traits sweetness, sourness, bitterness and aroma, was highly variable, but 23 % of the sampled accessions had a sweet taste. Fruit length was positively correlated with fruit weight, pulp weight and pulp proportion (r=0.587***, r=0.672*** and r=0.450***, respectively). Fruit length and weight as well as pulp weight and seed proportion were significantly higher in accessions from North as compared to West Kordofan, while pulp proportion did not differ. The morphological variability among our sampled accessions is substantial as expected; nevertheless, the morphological data will be further compared with genetic data. Our study shows that trees possessing highly valuable characteristics such as sweet pulp taste, big fruits, high pulp and lower seed content are available in Kordofan for future use in domestication programmes.

Keywords: Diversity, domestication, fruit length, pulp proportion, pulp taste

ID 866 221

¹Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. Tropical AgriSciences, Dept. of Crop Sciences and Agroforestry, Czech Republic

²University of Kordofan, Extension Training and Documentation, Sudan

³Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Fac. of Life Sciences, Germany

Contact Address: Anna Chládová, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Faculty of Tropical Agri-Sciences, Dept. of Crop Sciences and Agroforestry, Kamýcká 961/129, 165 00 Prague, Czech Republic, e-mail: chladova@ftz.czu.cz

Assessment of Spatial Distribution and Population Health of Baobab (*Adansonia digitata*) in Kilifi and Kitui Counties, Kenya

Justine Nyamweya¹, John Bosco Mukundi¹, Aggrey Adimo¹, Fredah Karambu Rimberia¹, Monica A. Omondi¹, Jens Gebauer², Katja Kehlenbeck²

Baobab (Adansonia digitata L.) is a noteworthy African tree species with multiple uses. In Kenya, local communities in drylands mainly harvest the highly nutritious baobab fruits for home consumption and sale, which contribute to nutritional security and income particularly for women. The escalating international demand of baobab pulp may threaten baobab resources since the species is not domesticated. In Kenya, little is known on abundance and stand structures of baobab. Within the frame of the BAOFOOD project funded by the German BMEL, this study assessed baobab populations in randomly selected quadrats of 0.5×3 km each along one transect from Mavueni to Mariakani (Kilifi County) and one from Kitui to Kibwezi (Kitui County), covering different agro-ecological zones. All baobabs within the quadrats were recorded by their position, height and diameter at breast height (DBH). Size class distribution (SCD) curves based on DBH were developed to assess population health. U-tests were performed to identify significant differences between the two transects. In total, 558 baobab trees were recorded in the 11 quadrats in Kilifi and 450 trees in the seven quadrats in Kitui (survey of further quadrats still ongoing). Median tree number per quadrat in Kilifi was 33 (range 9-140 per quadrat) and in Kitui 65 (range 20–133), resulting in median tree densities of 0.22 and 0.43 trees ha⁻¹, respectively, with no significant differences between the regions. Median DBH per quadrat was similar (1.4 m) in Kilifi and Kitui, however, with high variability among quadrats and individual trees (maximum 4.97 m). Regarding the SCD curves, a higher total proportion of young trees (DBH<100 cm) was found in Kitui (58% of all trees) than in Kilifi (38%) where, however, a higher proportion of old trees (DBH \geq 200 cm) was recorded (24%) as compared to Kitui (13%). The surveyed area in Kitui shows therefore a more promising regenerating population but data to be collected from the remaining quadrats will give a more conclusive comparison of the tree populations in the two counties. Results of this study can contribute to develop more sustainable utilisation and conservation strategies of baobab in the two counties of Kenya.

Keywords: Conservation, diameter at breast height, size distribution, tree densities

 $^{^1}$ Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, Horticulture, Kenya

²Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Fac. of Life Sciences, Germany

Contact Address: Justine Nyamweya, Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, Horticulture, 62000, 00200 Nairobi, Kenya, e-mail: justinenyamweya@gmail.com

Fruit Morphological Diversity and Productivity of Baobab (Adansonia digitata L.) Trees from Kilifi County, Kenya

Monica A. Omondi¹, Fredah Karambu Rimberia¹, Paul Kinoti¹, Cornelius Wainaina¹, John Bosco Mukundi¹, Justine Nyamweya¹, Jens Gebauer², Katja Kehlenbeck²

Baobab (Adansonia digitata L.) is an indigenous wild fruit tree of great importance in African drylands due to its nutritional and health benefits and contributions to food security and income of local communities. In Kenya, however, the species' potential is not fully utilised and domestication could help in increasing its use. To select superior baobab mother trees for domestication, evaluation of phenotypic diversity is needed. This study aimed at assessing the variability in morphological fruit traits and productivity of baobab trees in Kilifi County, Kenya. Within the frame of the BAOFOOD project funded by the German BMEL, 33 fruiting baobab trees were studied along a transect from Mavueni to Mariakani in Kilifi County. All fruits per tree were counted and 10 fruits each collected for assessment of morphological characteristics including fruit shape, weight and length as well as proportions of pulp. Productivity per tree was calculated and correlation analyses between selected fruit traits were performed. There was high variation among the surveyed 33 trees in all measured productivity and morphological traits. Median fruit number per tree was 223 (range 118–309 per accession) resulting in a median productivity of 92.6 kg fruits per tree (range 26-160 kg tree⁻¹). Median fruit length was 22 cm (range 18–49 cm), while median fruit weight was 376 g (range 220-696 g). Median pulp weight per fruit was 64 g (range 40–142 g), while median pulp proportion from whole fruit weight was 17 % (range 13-24%). The most frequent fruit shape was ellipsoid (61% of all accessions), followed by obovate (33%). As expected, strong positive correlations were observed between fruit length and fruit weight (r=0.670***) and between fruit weight and pulp weight (r=0.844***), but not between fruit weight and pulp proportion (r=0.063, not significant). The large variations might be due to genotypic differences between the trees, but further fruit samples will be collected from Kitui area and analysed and latest results presented at the conference. The present study will contribute to select high yielding baobab mother trees with better fruit quality characteristics and will thus enable domestication and increased utilisation of this important indigenous fruit tree in Kenya.

Keywords: Domestication, fruit size, indigenous fruit tree, pulp proportion, superior mother tree

¹Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, Kenya

²Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Fac. of Life Sciences, Germany

Contact Address: Monica A. Omondi, Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, Nairobi, Kenya, e-mail: omondimonica@ymail.com

Optimum Oil Palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.) Planting Density for West Africa

XAVIER BONNEAU¹, REINOUT IMPENS², MAXWELL BUABENG³,
PATRICK VAN DAMME²

The African oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.) is the highest yielding oil crop and the major source of vegetable oil worldwide. As a perennial crop with a typical life cycle of 25 years, establishment costs are high but potential yields of up to 8 tons of oil per hectare can be achieved under favourable environments and with best agricultural practices making it one of the most profitable land-uses in the humid tropics.

Due to the radial symmetry of the foliage and their fasciculate root system, oil palms are typically planted in an equilateral triangle design. Spacing between palms determines planting density, a major contributor to oil yield. With a spacing that is too large, resources such as incident radiation are underutilised; on the other hand, too low a spacing excessive competition between palms will have a depressive effect on yield. As leaf mass and span increase over the first 12 years after planting, optimum density decreases with age. As a result of all these issues, the optimum planting density is the one that will achieve the highest cumulative yield over the 25 years cropping cycle. This study presents the results from a 12 year old spacing trial in Nigeria. The highest cumulative yields per palm are recorded for the lowest density but the highest cumulative yield per hectare are still observed on the higher densities. However, the gap between both is shrinking with time as the competition for incident radiation increasingly affects the higher densities. While optimum density for cumulative yield at 12 years after planting is still 190 palms ha⁻¹, extrapolation and simulation indicate an optimum between 143 and 160 palms ha⁻¹ over the entire cycle, corresponding to a spacing of 8.5 to 9 m.

Keywords: Nigeria, oil palm, planting density, West Africa

¹Agricultural Research Centre for International Development (CIRAD), Performance of Tropical Production & Processing Systems (Persyst), France

²Ghent University, Dept. of Plant Production - Lab. for Tropical Agronomy, Belgium

³Presco Plc. Plantation Management, Nigeria

Contact Address: Reinout Impens, Ghent University, Dept. of Plant Production - Lab. for Tropical Agronomy, Ghent, Belgium, e-mail: Reinout.Impens@UGent.be

Accuracy and Efficiency of Root Biomass Estimation Methods in Oil Palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.) Plantations

OLIVIER DASSOU^{1,2}, LÉIFI NODICHAO¹, HERVÉ AHOLOUKPÈ¹, DANSOU KOSSOU², YVES CAKPO¹, CHRISTOPHE JOURDAN³

Root biomass is one of the most used parameter to characterise root development and distribution within soil. However, different methods exist with regards to plant root system architecture, soil sampling volume and planting design but no standard protocol were set up for Monocotyledonous trees in an equilateral triangle planting design and comparing different ages of plantation. The purpose of this work was to identify the most efficient method to estimate root biomass for young and adult oil palm trees in situ. Three methods based on the sampling excavation volume were compared on the same sampled tree. Working time and manpower required for each operation were recorded. We compared two large excavation techniques based on the Voronoi tessellation procedure (full and half trench) with root auger coring method. Two industrial plantations of oil palm trees, of the same genetic material, aged 2- and 16-year old, were studied in Benin, West Africa. Oil palm root biomass was estimated to 0.84 ± 0.03 t.ha⁻¹ and 22.23 ± 0.81 t.ha⁻¹ for 2 and 16-year-old plantations, respectively. Even if no significant differences were found between simplified and full Voronoi trench methods for both plantations (p > 0.05), root biomass were slightly overestimated (+ 4.8%) and under-estimated (- 17.1%) by the simplified Voronoi trench, when compared to full Voronoi trench method, for 2 and 16-year-old palms, respectively. However, a significant difference between simplified Voronoi method and auger method was found (p < 0.01). Auger method underestimated the stock of oil palm root biomass of 2 and 16-year-old by (- 23%) and (- 53%), respectively. In terms of efficiency, auger method was the quickest, but underestimated twice, the amount of root biomass in adult oil palm plantation. Half and full Voronoi trench method need twice and thrice more time to perform respectively, but provided better root biomass estimates. Simplified Voronoi method is the most efficient method to estimate oil palm root biomass, especially at young age. Auger method was the least efficient at any oil palm age.

Keywords: Auger, root sampling methods, root typology, Voronoi trench

¹National Agricultural Research Institut of Benin (INRAB), Benin

²University of Abomey-Calavi, Dept. of Crop Production, Benin

³ Agricultural Research Centre for International Development (CIRAD), UMR Eco&Sols, France

Contact Address: Olivier Dassou, National Agricultural Research Institut of Benin (INRAB), Cotonou, Benin, e-mail: mandas.oliver@gmail.com

Oil Palm Root System Characteristics in a 12 Year Old Density Trial in Nigeria

REINOUT IMPENS¹, PATRICK VAN DAMME¹, XAVIER BONNEAU²

¹Ghent University, Dept. of Plant Production - Lab. for Tropical Agronomy, Belgium

²Agricultural Research Centre for International Development (CIRAD), Performance of Tropical Production & Processing Systems (Persyst), France

Oil palm plantations have a typical economic life cycle of 25 years. As a monocotyleneous perennial crop the root system is radially distributed and shows no secondary growth but continuously expands. Oil palms are planted in an equilateral triangle design and the planting distance, determining the panting density, is fixed at the time of establishment. In time the roots from neighbouring palms will overlap and competition for soil resources can limit the growth and production of individual palms.

This paper presents the results from a root analysis study carried out on an oil palm density trial in Nigeria. The biomass and characteristics of the root system in an oil palm density trial have never been thoroughly studied so this would further the understanding of how planting distance affects underground processes in oil palm plantations for a particular environment.

The trial field was planted in 2005 following a Fisher block design with 6 treatments and 4 replicates. Plots consist of 72 palms of which the inner 20 are considered as useful (double row of border palms). The analysis was performed on 3 densities, D1, D3 and D6 corresponding to a planting distance of 9.5, 8.5 and 7.5 m and planting densities of 128, 160 and 205 palms ha⁻¹ respectively. A simplified voronoi method was used for the root analysis on one palm per plot. The voronoi volume was divided in 4 or 5 zones and 4 horizons giving 16 or 20 sampling volumes. For each of these volumes all the roots were removed and sorted in primary, secondary, fine and dead roots. Biomass for each was determined and extrapolated to a palm and plot level. Scanned images of the roots were also taken and analysed with WinRhizo to determine the root length, surface and volume.

Keywords: *Elaeis guineensis*, oil palm, planting density, root architecture, root system

Contact Address: Reinout Impens, Ghent University, Dept. of Plant Production - Lab. for Tropical Agronomy, Ghent, Belgium, e-mail: Reinout.Impens@UGent.be

Let There Be Light: Light Interception Method Update for Oil Palm (*Elaeis Guineensis* Jacq.) Canopies

CLAUS GREGOR¹, REINOUT IMPENS², XAVIER BONNEAU³,
PATRICK VAN DAMME²

Light interception (photosynthetically active radiation, PAR) experiments in oil palm (Elaeis guineensis Jacq.) plantations are scarce and often performed decennia ago, in Southeast Asia and without a clear methodology. This is a great opportunity for research with recent planting material in West-African growing conditions. Therefore a light interception experiment was performed in Nigeria. The first objective of this study was to put forward a recommendation regarding PAR interception assessment under oil palm canopies. Therefore a fixed and mobile PAR interception sampling method were compared. The second objective was to reveal PAR interception distribution under an oil palm canopy. In this study, PAR interception was monitored in oil palm plots of five different planting densities (128, 143, 160, 180 and 205 palms ha⁻¹), eleven years after oil palm planting. During the fixed sampling, PAR was measured on sixteen equidistant locations below canopy with a quantum sensor (QS5 Quantum Sensor, Delta-T Devices). During mobile sampling, measurements were carried out by walking along two regular paths while holding the quantum sensor by hand. PAR above canopy was measured simultaneously during sampling below canopy. This study found no significant differences between the fixed and mobile PAR interception sampling methods (p > 0.99), and this in the five different planting densities. Furthermore it was discovered that four regular fixed sampling locations below an oil palm canopy are sufficient for an exact assessment of PAR interception. This study showed also that PAR interception was randomly distributed under the canopy without a decreasing trend of PAR interception away from the oil palm trunk. Finally, there was no significant difference in PAR interception due to the shifting position of the sun between 10 a.m. and 2 p.m. (p > 0.78). It is recommended to assess PAR interception with a fixed sampling method considering its ease, although data from both mobile and fixed methods are comparable. The standardisation of the fixed PAR interception method is easier due to the lower probability of human error compared to the mobile PAR interception method.

Keywords: Canopy, *Elaeis guineensis* Jacq., light interception, Nigeria, oil palm, PAR, photosynthetically active radiation, quantum sensor, West Africa

¹Ghent University, Department of Plants and Crops, Belgium

²Ghent University, Dept. of Plant Production - Lab. for Tropical Agronomy, Belgium

³Agricultural Research Centre for International Development (CIRAD), Performance of Tropical Production & Processing Systems (Persyst), France

Contact Address: Claus Gregor, Ghent University, Department of Plants and Crops, Coupure Links, 9000 Ghent, Belgium, e-mail: gregor.claus@ugent.be

Impact of Topography on Oil Palm Yields in Marginal Conditions in Ghana

XAVIER BONNEAU¹, EMMANUEL WIAFE², CHARLES ACQUAH DANSO²

Typically, Ghanaian oil palm plantations rest on an undulating topography. There is little information on how topography impacts on oil palm yields and growth. A study was conducted to evaluate this relationship in a commercial oil palm plantation located in the Kwaebibirem District of the Eastern Region of Ghana. The conditions under which oil palm is cultivated can be considered marginal because of inadequate mean annual rainfall (< 2000 mm) coupled with an uneven distribution. Also there is about 5 months of dry season coinciding with sometimes severe harmattan which can last for about 3 months. Soils here are generally not fertile, especially in replanted areas. The soil-relief and pests can also have great impact on the yields of oil palm. A plot with two different topographic positions – hillside and valley bottom – was selected for this trial. Three replicates were sited at each topographic position, making 6 replicates altogether. Four muriate of potash fertiliser treatments namely, 0.25 kg. 1.5 kg, 2.75 kg and 4 kg were applied per palm per year. Yields were recorded every two weeks for 6 years (from the 4th to the 9th year after planting). Foliar analysis was also conducted annually to monitor the leaf mineral nutrient levels. Results showed that average yield for the valley bottom/lowland was double that of the yield obtained from the hillside/upland. Hence, productivity of oil palm production can be greatly improved when cultivation is concentrated in the valley bottoms in these marginal areas. It is therefore proposed that a better land use, based on the maximisation of both the productivity of oil palm and sustainability of the whole cropping system be adopted. This land use proposal recommends a narrow band of natural vegetation around streams/rivers and creation of buffer zones to serve as catchment areas to prevent erosion and siltation. The slope will be reserved for rubber cultivation with biodiversity plots made of mostly local species occupying the summit of the hill.

Keywords: Hillside, topographic position, oil palm, valley bottom, yield

¹Agricultural Research Centre for International Development (CIRAD), Performance of Tropical Production & Processing Systems (Persyst), France

²Ghana Oil Palm Development Company Limited, Ghana

Contact Address: Emmanuel Wiafe, Ghana Oil Palm Development Company Limited, Plantation Management, Accra, Ghana, e-mail: emmanuel.wiafe@siat-group.com

Optimal Fertilisation for Oil Palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.) Plantations: Conclusions from a Long-Term Fertiliser Trial in Nigeria

XAVIER BONNEAU¹, REINOUT IMPENS², OLIVIER DASSOU^{3,2}, PATRICK VAN DAMME²

With a yield potential of more than 8 tons of oil per hectare the African oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.) is the most productive oil crop in the world. Since 2006, oil palm is the major global source of vegetable oil and production is expected to continuously increase by at least 2 % per year until 2050 (Byerlee et al., 2017). Oil palm cultivation is limited to the humid tropics where it is one of the most profitable land-uses despite the large investment costs of plantation establishment.

Fertilisation represents a major yield-impacting factor but is also the most costly input in the annual running cost of an oil palm plantation. As a perennial crop with a typical lifecycle of 25 years and a physiological lag effect of up to 3 years, it is essential to consistently optimise the fertilisation in the pursuit of high yields and greater sustainability.

This paper presents the results from a long-term factorial fertiliser trial in Nigeria comprising of 4 levels of potassium, 2 levels of magnesium and 2 levels of phosphor. The field was planted in 1997 with standard planting material for the region; the fertilisation protocol started in 2000 when the trees reached maturity. After 17 years of continuous implementation, a clear production response for K is observed which allows calculation of the economically optimal dosage. There are no significant effects from Mg and P, however. In addition, as a final conclusive study, the total standing biomass and its nutrient contents were also evaluated in 2018 and results presented.

Keywords: Biomass, fertilisation, Nigeria, nutrient content, oil palm, potassium

ID 498 229

¹Agricultural Research Centre for International Development (CIRAD), Performance of Tropical Production & Processing Systems (Persyst), France

²Ghent University, Dept. of Plant Production - Lab. for Tropical Agronomy, Belgium

³National Agricultural Research Institut of Benin (INRAB), Benin

Contact Address: Reinout Impens, Ghent University, Dept. of Plant Production - Lab. for Tropical Agronomy, Ghent, Belgium, e-mail: Reinout.Impens@UGent.be

Oil Palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.) Leaf K and Mg Contents Differ with Progenies: Implications and Research Needs

OLIVIER DASSOU^{1,3}, LÉIFI NODICHAO¹, JEAN OLLIVIER², REINOUT IMPENS³, BERNARD DUBOS², XAVIER BONNEAU², MARCEL DE RAÏSSAC², TRISTAN DURAND-GASSELIN⁴, BRICE A. SINSIN⁵, PATRICK VAN DAMME³

Good management practice in oil palm rely on accurate predictions of fertiliser requirements that respect the environment and are economically optimal. A study performed in Indonesia pointed out that K and Mg leaf contents greatly vary from one oil palm progeny to another for the same production level. Such differences in nutrient contents may lead to an incorrect assessment of the nutrient requirements, questioning the validity of leaf analysis as a diagnostic tool and raise several research questions:

Do oil palm progenies with different leaf nutrient contents need to be fertilised with specifics fertilisation tables? Does the difference in leaf nutrient contents between progenies reflect different patterns for nutrient allocation within plant tissues? Do mineral absorption and fertiliser recovery efficiency differ according to oil palm progenies? and to what extend so far? Is there any progeny which can adapt itself to agronomic practices requiring less fertiliser for highest production?

To answer these questions, a split plot trial has been set up and fertiliser was applied during seven years. It consisted of a factorial design, with 3-levels of K and Mg fertiliser respectively (KxMg) as main factor combined with 4-oil palm progenies (crosses having the same Dura and Pissifera origin) in subplots and 6-repetitions.

In the control treatment (K0Mg0), significant differences between progenies were observed. K leaf content of progeny-4 was 11 % higher than K leaf content of progeny-1 and progeny-2 and 35 % higher than K leaf content of progeny-3. This progeny-3 had the highest Mg leaf content, which was 24 % higher than that of progeny-2. All progenies responded differently to increasing K and Mg levels. Leaf K content increased with K levels for all progenies and significantly depressed leaf Mg contents. Mg leaf content of progeny-1 and progeny-4 increased with Mg levels but decreased in progeny-3 when progeny-2 didn't change. Also, after applying maximum dose of MOP, progeny-2 and progeny-3 K leaf contents were significantly lower than that of progeny-4 receiving nil MOP.

These results confirm the differences in foliar contents between the various oil palm genetic origins and thus of their contrasted foliar K and Mg mineral absorption spectrum.

Keywords: Leaf analysis, magnesium and foliar mineral signature, potassium, progenies

¹National Agricultural Research Institut of Benin (INRAB), Benin

²CIRAD, France

³Ghent University, Dept. of Plant Production - Lab. for Tropical Agronomy, Belgium

⁴PalmElit SAS, France

⁵University of Abomey-Calavi, Laboratory of Applied Ecology, Benin

Contact Address: Olivier Dassou, National Agricultural Research Institut of Benin (INRAB), Cotonou, Benin, e-mail: mandas.oliver@gmail.com

Fine-Root Growth and Dynamic in Five Cocoa Production **Systems Affect Biomass and Yield**

WIEBKE NIETHER¹, LAURA ARMENGOT², ULF SCHNEIDEWIND¹, MICHAEL TOBIAS FUCHS³, MONIKA SCHNEIDER², GERHARD GEROLD¹

Competition for resources in mixed cropping systems is feared by the producers but may be accompanied by complementarities in resource use and other benefits resulting in trade-offs between the production goal and ecosystem services.

Cocoa is a tree with a shallow rooting system and often produced in association with shade trees. Rooting characteristics of these associated trees are often not known and depend on several factors like species composition and soil characteristics. We were interested in fineroot distribution and growth in five cocoa production systems, comprising monocultures and agroforestry systems, both under conventional and organic farming, and a successional agroforestry system. Therefore, we measured cocoa fine-root parameters at three distances from the cocoa stem in 10 cm depth and installed ingrowth-donuts to measure total fine-root growth increment over a twelve-month period in 0-25 and 25-50 cm depth. We compared fine-root data with aboveground performance of the five production systems, i.e., tree and herbaceous plants biomass, and the cocoa and whole system yield.

Cocoa fine-roots were homogenously distributed below the surface, only the mean fine-root diameter decreased with distance to the stem. Around 80% of total fine-roots were located in the upper 25 cm. Total fine-root biomass increment was three times higher in agroforestry systems than in the conventional monoculture and the same was observed for the aboveground biomass. Cocoa yield was lower in agroforestry systems but additional crops make up a whole system yield that exceeds the reduced cocoa yield. Higher above- and belowground biomasses also refer to enhanced carbon sequestration in agroforestry systems. While fine-root growth in the organic monoculture was also three times higher than in the conventional monoculture, aboveground cocoa biomass and yield were lower. The soil in the organic monoculture was covered by a perennial leguminous crop that increased the herbaceous plant material tenfold to the conventional monoculture. This must be responsible for the high fine-root biomass and also for the lower cocoa performance due to competition with the cocoa roots.

In contrast to organic monocultures, agroforestry systems are suitable alternatives to conventional monocultures due to high system yield and biomass despite the reduced cocoa production.

Keywords: Organic, root biomass, system yield, Theobroma cacao

¹Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Dept. of Physical Geography - Unit Landscape Ecology, Germany

²Research Institute of Organic Agriculture (FiBL), Switzerland

³TU Darmstadt. Germany

Contact Address: Wiebke Niether, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Dept. of Physical Geography - Unit Landscape Ecology, Goldschmidtstr. 5, 37077 Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: wiebke.niether@geo.uni-goettingen.de

Sustainable Use of Resources: Soil and Water Management Practices on Cocoa Farms in Ecuador

LISETTE T. PHELAN

De Montfort University, Faculty of Business and Law, United Kingdom

Cocoa (*Theobroma cacao* L.) is a cash crop produced by an estimated 5–6 million smallholder farmers globally. In Ecuador, as in other origin countries, the viability of production is threatened by climate change and already showing signs of being impacted by changing precipitation patterns, increasing temperatures, and more frequent occurrence of drought and flooding events. As cocoa is highly sensitive to water stress, the sustainability of future production will be determined by farmers' water use efficiency and management of soil and water resources. Ecuador is an interesting country case study offering key insights into the opportunities and challenges associated with cultivating fine-flavour and bulk cocoa varieties under water-limited conditions, and optimising water use, in cocoa-growing regions.

This study used a mixed methods approach to collecting qualitative and quantitative data in the provinces of Los Rios, Esmeraldas, Manabi, and Santa Domingo in Ecuador. A semi-structured household survey was administered to 70 smallholder cocoa farmers to evaluate the impact of climate change on production, and management of soil and water resources. Soil and water management practices were documented through observation and photography. Key informant interviews were held with cocoa sector stakeholders to elicit and triangulate data collected.

The study results reveal that smallholder farmers engaged in cocoa production in Ecuador are aware of the impact of climate change, and specifically, the impact of increasingly erratic and unpredictable rainfall patterns. Moreover, they recognise the need for adaptation and sustainable use and management of soil and water resources. Farmers are taking action to improve soil fertility and soil health, from the application of fertiliser based on soil analysis to reducing the use of herbicide and pesticide. Regarding water availability as the factor most influencing cocoa production and productivity, farmers are establishing small-scale irrigation systems, restoring water bodies (streams, pools), and establishing drainage systems and hillside terraces. Given the human, natural, and financial capital required to adopt new production practices, only those farmers who are willing, and in a position, to take risks are proactively looking to increase their resilience to climate change by adopting new and improved soil and water management practices.

Keywords: Climate change, management practices, soil, water

Contact Address: Lisette T. Phelan, De Montfort University, Faculty of Business and Law, Gateway House, LE1 9BH Leicester, United Kingdom, e-mail: lisette.phelan@gmail.com

Cocoa Agroforestry as Climate Change Adaptation Strategy in Ivory Coast: Scientist's versus Farmer's Perceptions

Valentin L.F. $Wolf^1$, Issaka Abdulai 1 , Esther Fichtler 1 , Reimund P. Rötter 1 , Christophe N. Kouame 2

Cocoa production in Ivory Coast is important for sustaining global supply, national economy and income of smallholder farmers but climate change poses a serious threat. Therefore, sustainable and resilient cocoa production systems are of crucial importance. Agroforestry is seen as an option to adapt the cocoa farming systems to projected changes of increase drought frequency and severity. However, there is ongoing scientific debate about the actual protective (microclimate moderation) and complementary resources (soil water and nutrients) use between shade trees and cocoa plants especially under drought conditions.

Objective of the study was to evaluate shade tree use intensity along precipitation gradient against the basic hypothesis that cocoa agroforestry practice increases with more challenging climate. Research was conducted on-farm in three climatically different regions classified by their annual precipitation as dry (1,000 mm), medium (1,500 mm), and wet (1,800 mm). Farms were characterised regarding shade tree species composition, shade cover, and plantation size. Farmers were interviewed about their recorded yield, farming practices and perception on shade and drought interaction.

Contrary to the expectations, the cocoa plantations showed no significant differences in yield, shade cover, cocoa tree density, and cocoa biomass across the climatic gradient. Yield median varied from 0.7 (wet) to 0.8 t ha $^{-1}$ (medium), shade cover median ranged from 10 (dry) to 17 % (medium), cocoa tree density median was between 1,100 (medium) to 1,400 trees ha $^{-1}$ (wet), and cocoa aboveground biomass median from 32 (wet) to 45 t ha $^{-1}$ (medium). The farmer interviews revealed a large difference in farmer's perceptions across the regions regarding drought mitigating effects of shade trees. While in the dry region shade trees were seen rather to have negative effects by 50 % of the farmers, in the medium and wet regions the shade trees were largely seen positive and a suitable adaptation measures against drought.

Farmers did not increase their shade tree use to adapt their cocoa farming systems in climatically less suitable region. In conclusion, the currently recommended agroforestry systems are not equally suitable along the climatic gradient of cocoa production in Ivory Coast.

Keywords: Agroforestry, climate adaptation, Theobroma cacao, West Africa

¹Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Dept. of Crop Sciences - Tropical Agronomy, Germany

²World Agroforestry Centre, Ivory Coast

Contact Address: Valentin L.F. Wolf, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Dept. of Crop Sciences - Tropical Agronomy, Griesbachstr. 6, 37077 Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: ValentinWolf@gmail.com

Soil and soil fertility

Oral Presentations	
Kristina Grotelüschen, Matthias Langensiepen, Susanne Ziegler, Julius Kwesiga, Björn Glasner,	
GEOFREY GABIRI, KALIMUTHU SENTHILKUMAR, MATHIAS BECKER:	
Unlocking Rice Potentials in Contrasting Wetlands in East Africa	238
PIETERJAN DE BAUW, ELKE VANDAMME, KALIMUTHU SENTHILKUMAR, ALLEN LUPEMBE, ROEL MERCKX:	
Combined Phosphorus and Water Management Options towards Sustainable Intensification of Rice Production in P-	
Deficient Lowlands of Sub-Saharan Africa	239
RONG LANG, SERGEY BLAGODATSKIY, JIANCHU XU, GEORG CADISCH:	
Land Use Change Impact on Soil Organic Carbon: Insights from Isotopic Signature in Soil Profiles	240
KONRAD EGENOLF, JULIAN RUGGABER, PHILIPP SCHAD, SUPRIYA VERMA, JACOBO ARANGO, JONATHAN NÚÑEZ, GEORG CADISCH, FRANK RASCHE, ASHLY AREVALO, GÜNTER NEUMANN:	
Feeding the Competitors – The Role of Heterotrophic N	
Immobilisation in Regulating Soil Nitrifier Activity	241
SAHRAH FISCHER, THOMAS HILGER, IRMGARD JORDAN, LYDIAH WASWA, JENINAH KARUNGI, GEORG CADISCH: Do We Need More Drought for Better Nutrition? – Water-Stress Effects on Nutrient Content of Food	242
Posters	
RAFAELA FEOLA CONZ, ENGIL ISADORA PEREIRA, MARIA ISABEL ANDRADE, JOHAN SIX: Towards Nutritional Security through Agroecological Practices in Orange-Fleshed Sweetpotato Systems in Mozambique	243
MAXIMILIAN KIRSTEN, CORDULA VOGEL, ROBERT MIKUTTA, CARSTEN MÜLLER, DIDAS KIMARO, KARL-HEINZ FEGER, KARSTEN KALBITZ:	
Impacts of Land-use Change on Organic Carbon Storage in Highly Weathered Soils of Tropical Sub-sahara Africa	244

BJÖRN GLASNER, SUSANNE ZIEGLER, SABINE FIEDLER: Development of Macronutrients in an Ugandan Inland Valley under Rice Production	246
SALA ALANDA LAMEGA, KINGSLEY K. AYISI, SHILA DOLO, JUDE J.O. ODHIAMBO, JOHANNES ISSELSTEIN, MUNIR HOFFMANN:	
Soil Fertility Gradients in the Smallholder Cropping Systems in Limpopo Province, South Africa	247
CLAUDIA SCHEPP, BERND DIEKKRÜGER, MATHIAS BECKER, CONSTANZE LEEMHUIS:	
Linking Slopes to the Wetland: Water and Nutrient Fluxes in an Inland Valley in Uganda	248
HÉCTOR PABLO HERNÁNDEZ ARBOLÁEZ, EDITH AGUILA ALCANTARA, LANYER VALLADARES VILCHES, YANETSY RUIZ GONZÁLEZ, STEFAAN DE NEVE:	
Effect of Soil Management on Mite and Springtail Populations in Agroecosystems from Santa Clara, Cuba	249
ATIQURRAHMAN JALIL, FAZLULLAH AKHTAR: Performance Evaluation of the Irrigation System in Lower Kabul River Basin, Afghanistan	250
LISA PATACZEK, THOMAS HILGER, ROLAND SCHAFLEITNER, GEORG CADISCH: Residual Nitrogen Effect of Mungbean (Vigna radiata): Affected by Regulated Deficit Irrigation?	251
AWS PUSHPA KUMARA, FELIX THIEL, JAYANTHA WEER-AKKODY, BANDULA RANAWEERA: Soil Rehabilitation Potential of Co-Compost Pellets Made	
from Municipal Solid Waste and Dewatered Faecal Sludge as Feedstock	252
MOHAMAD JAVAD FEREIDOONI, SIMA ABBASI: Effect of Plastic Mulch and Anti-Transpiration Materials on Yield, Yield Components and Water Use Efficiency of Rain- bow Corn (Zea mays var. indurata) under Different Irrigation Regimes	253
SUPRIYA VERMA, KONRAD EGENOLF, JOCHEN SCHÖNE, SEBASTIAN MIRA, FRANK WALKER, GÜNTER NEUMANN, GEORG CADISCH, FRANK RASCHE:	
Determination of Brachialactone Release Mechanism in B. humidicola by Root Exudate Profiling under Different Elic- itors	254

ISAAC BALUME, SVEN MARHAN, GEORG CADISCH, MARY MUSYOKI, FRANK RASCHE: How Residues of Differently Aged Calliandra calothyrsus Shape the Abundance of Soil Nitrifying Prokaryotes	255
AMSALU NEBIYU WOLDEKIRSTOS, AHMED MILKIYAS, ESKEDAR ASFAW, ESHETU BEKELE WONDEMAGEGNEHU: Coffee Husk Biochar Application Improved Soil Chemical Properties and Yield of Soybean Grown in a Tropical Nitisol, Ethiopia	256
FATIMAWALI S UMAR, BILLY KEPEL, WIDDHI BODHI, TRINA TALLEI: Mercury-Resistant Bacteria Isolated from Mercury-Contaminated Site near Rice Field	257
ADEL MAHMOUD, MAMDOUH EISSA, AL HOSIN HAMADA: Suitability of Ten Genotypes of Sunflower for Phytoremediation ROMAN SELIGER, DIETMAR SATTLER, JULIANA MARISA	258
SANTOS, ANTONIO SOARES DA SILVA, JUERGEN HEINRICH, HELGA RESTUM HISSA: Implementation, Monitoring and Management of a Pilot Rehabilitation Measure on Degraded Sloped Pastures in	
Brazil MOHAMMAD T. ALEBRAHIM, MOHAMMAD MEHDIZADEH: The Effect of Prometryn Soil Residue on Soil Microbial Biomass and Different Crops Biomass	259260
MORITZ LAUB, SERGEY BLAGODATSKIY, RONG LANG, XUE-QING YANG, GEORG CADISCH: A 3D Mixed Model for Soil Organic Carbon Mapping in Mountainous Subtropics	261
REZA MIRZAEITALARPOSHTI, SCOTT DEMYAN, FRANK RASCHE, GEORG CADISCH, TORSTEN MÜLLER: Diffuse Reflectance Fourier Transform Mid-Infrared Spectroscopy Associated with Peak Area Integration to Predict Soil Carbonate	262
LUKE ARIYOH, REINOUT IMPENS, JOSEPH CHOKOR: The Effects of Soil Compaction on the Growth of Oil Palm (Elaeis guineensis Jacq.) Seedlings	263

Unlocking Rice Potentials in Contrasting Wetlands in East Africa

KRISTINA GROTELÜSCHEN¹, MATTHIAS LANGENSIEPEN¹, SUSANNE ZIEGLER¹, JULIUS KWESIGA¹, BJÖRN GLASNER², GEOFREY GABIRI³, KALIMUTHU SENTHILKUMAR⁴, MATHIAS BECKER¹

East African wetlands are increasingly considered a major asset to boost domestic rice production towards self-sufficiency as favourable edaphic and hydrological conditions support high production potentials. Hence, the identification of sustainable intensification options is crucial to maintain wetland resilience and ecosystem services. We studied the effects of hydrological condition and nutrient management on rice yields in both an inland valley swamp in Central Uganda and a floodplain wetland in South-West Tanzania between 2014 and 2017. Field experiments were established along hydrological gradients (cross-section of the wetlands), from the poorly-drained riparian, to the moderately-drained valley bottom/middle and the drought-prone fringe zones. Phenology, biomass accumulation and grain yield were monitored under different water and nitrogen management. Experimental data were subsequently used to calibrate and later validate the APSIM-ORYZA rice growth model. The study aimed at quantifying prevailing yield gaps and their explanatory causes as well as to test the models capability to simulate complex hydrological conditions and various genotype-by-environment-by-management interactions. Attainable (simulated) rice yields ranged between 5.0 to 7.0 t ha⁻¹ in Uganda, and between 8.1 to 9.8 t ha⁻¹ in Tanzania. In contrast, actual grain yields under farmer's management were significantly lower (Tukey $\alpha = 0.05 < 0.001$) and varied between 1.3 and 2.7 t ha⁻¹ in Uganda and between 2.6 and 3.2 t ha⁻¹ in Tanzania. Consequently, maximum yield gaps amounted to 4.1 and to 5.8 t ha⁻¹ in Uganda and Tanzania, respectively. Spatial and temporal differences in soil moisture content differentially affected the grain yield in different hydrological positions in the wetlands. Therefore, daily measured soil moisture data is being used in the model to simulate the water balance and account for the differentiating soil moisture availabilities. The models capability to simulate rice growth and yield under complex hydrological conditions and with the effect of water- and nutrient limitations is being evaluated. Results will help to identify and understand main limiting factors and help developing sustainable cropping systems based on the positioning within the respective wetland.

Keywords: APSIM-ORYZA, Oryza sativa, Tanzania, Uganda, wetland, yield gaps

¹University of Bonn, Inst. of Crop Sci. and Res. Conserv. (INRES), Germany

²University of Mainz, Geographical Institute, Germany

³University of Bonn, Dept. of Geography, Germany

⁴Africa Rice Center (AfricaRice), Madagascar

Contact Address: Kristina Grotelüschen, University of Bonn, Inst. of Crop Sci. and Res. Conserv. (INRES), Stettiner Str. 2, 27793 Wildeshausen, Germany, e-mail: k.grotelueschen@posteo.de

Combined Phosphorus and Water Management Options towards Sustainable Intensification of Rice Production in P-Deficient Lowlands of Sub-Saharan Africa

PIETERJAN DE BAUW¹, ELKE VANDAMME², KALIMUTHU SENTHILKUMAR², ALLEN LUPEMBE², ROEL MERCKX¹

In large parts of sub-Saharan Africa (SSA), rice (*Oryza* spp.) serves as an important staple crop. Population growth and urbanisation drastically increase rice consumption. Rice production should concomitantly increase to reduce dependence on rice imports, which endangers food security in many African countries.

Drought and low phosphorus (P) availability are two major abiotic constraints for lowland rice production in SSA. With increasing prevalence of water scarcity and the decline of phosphate reserves, it is urgent to develop sustainable solutions countering these limitations. Therefore, research towards the optimisation of management practices in P and/or drought prone lowland systems is needed to identify opportunities for improvement of resource use efficiencies and rice production.

Both water and P availability can influence root development in several ways. Understanding root plasticity under specific combinations of P and water management is important in efforts towards enhancing resilience to both stresses. There is an urgent need to investigate under which moisture conditions several P fertilisation techniques are applicable and it is important to understand the effects of management combinations on shoot and root development, before recommending them as sustainable intensification strategies.

In this study, several combinations of water saving technologies (i.e. alternate wetting and drying and permanent aerobic rice) and specific P fertilisation techniques (i.e. micro-dose placements and broadcasting) were tested in P deficient lowlands. Plant establishment, root development, yields, and fertiliser and water use efficiency were examined in order to identify best bet management options towards sustainable intensification of drought-prone and P-deficient rice growing lowlands.

Promising effects of P micro-dosing were observed under each water management scenario, but attention should be paid to counteract further P mining of the depleted soils. Root development was predominantly affected by water management. Rooting depth and lateral thickness increased under the water saving technologies, demonstrating that reduced water application can additionally enhance resilience and alleviate stress during drought periods. Reduced water application not only increases water productivity but also enhances the production when P is limiting. It is concluded that strategic combinations of P and water management can contribute to the intensification of rice production in P deficient lowlands.

Keywords: Lowland rice, phosphorus (P) fertilisation, P deficiency, water saving technologies

¹KU Leuven, Dept. of Earth and Environmental Sciences, Belgium

²Africa Rice Center (AfricaRice), Tanzania

Contact Address: Pieterjan De Bauw, KU Leuven, Dept. of Earth and Environmental Sciences, Kasteelpark Arenberg 20 - Box 2459, 3001 Leuven, Belgium, e-mail: pieterjan.debauw@ees.kuleuven.be

Land Use Change Impact on Soil Organic Carbon: Insights from Isotopic Signature in Soil Profiles

RONG LANG¹, SERGEY BLAGODATSKIY¹, JIANCHU XU², GEORG CADISCH¹

Soil is the largest carbon pool in terrestrial ecosystems, being the natural capital necessary to maintain soil fertility and food security. Land use changes in the tropics have been a large source of anthropogenic greenhouse gas emission and a threat for soil fertility loss due to intensive agricultural usage. Rubber expansion at the expense of tropical forest and shifting agriculture in Southeast Asia is one of those cases. Comparing soils under forest, rubber plantations and agricultural fields using so called "space substitute time" approach helps to assess the land use change impact on soil carbon stock. Isotopic signature of organic carbon in the soil profiles was analysed, aimed to assess the land use change impact and validity of applied method for comparing selected forest and land converted to rubber plantation.

We selected 3 group of sites in Xishuangbanna, Southwest China, each contained one forest plot and two (or three) rubber plots at different age, and sampled soils at 6 depths up to 90 cm with 15 cm sampling interval. The soil organic carbon content and stable isotope ratio of carbon- δ^{13} C was determined for litter and soil samples.

Forest and rubber plantation had similar $\delta^{13}C$ value in the litter, confirming that forest was dominated by C3 plants. The $\delta^{13}C$ of soil increased with depth and stabilised below 30 cm, but its profile distribution distinctly differed between land uses and between sites. On two sites of three, $\delta^{13}C$ in the forest subsoil below 30 cm were -23.3% -23.6% and -24.4% -24.6%, which were lower than corresponding values in rubber subsoil, suggesting that C4 crop, like maize or cassava preceded rubber plantation. In contrast, $\delta^{13}C$ in forest and rubber subsoil was higher at the third site (-21.5 \pm 0.1%), as compared to $\delta^{13}C$ in forest subsoil from two sites mentioned above, indicating the previous cultivation of C4 crop in both forest and rubber plantation on the third site.

In conclusion, "space substitute time" method should be cautiously used in assessing land use change impact, adding historical land use information derived from δ ¹³C signature in soil profiles can improve the validity of comparison.

Keywords: Delta ¹³C, forest, land use change, rubber plantation, soil organic carbon

 $^{^1}$ University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF), East and Central Asia, China

Contact Address: Rong Lang, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstraße 13, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: langrong@mail.kib.ac.cn

Feeding the Competitors – The Role of Heterotrophic N Immobilisation in Regulating Soil Nitrifier Activity

Konrad Egenolf¹, Julian Ruggaber¹, Philipp Schad¹, Supriya Verma¹, Jacobo Arango², Jonathan Núñez³, Georg Cadisch¹, Frank Rasche¹. Ashly Arevalo², Günter Neumann⁴

Keywords: Allelopathy, biological nitrification inhibition, *Brachiaria humidicola*, intermicrobial competition, N cycle

tion of nitrifiers is the major reason for low net nitrification rates encountered in Bh pastures.

ID 774 241

¹ University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Colombia

³Landcare Research, United States of America

⁴University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Crop Science: Nutritional Crop Physiology, Germany Biological nitrification inhibition (BNI) has been conceptualised as a plant exerted regulation of soil nitrifier activity as a result of production and release of allelochemicals via the root. The tropical forage grass Brachiaria humidicola (Bh) has gained attention due to its remarkable BNI activity. Inconsistencies between the BNI ratings obtained by means of different methodological approaches led to the question whether low net nitrification rates solely originated in reduced gross nitrification rates or not rather in a plant facilitated heterotrophic microbial N consumption/immobilisation. Aim of the presented work was to determine which of both possible strategies would be the dominant under field conditions and under which edaphic environment Bh would most efficiently reduce net nitrification. For this purpose, a two-factorial pot trial with the factors "soil texture" and "Bh genotype" was conducted at CIAT headquarters (Cali, Colombia). Net nitrification rates were assessed via in situ monitoring of soil nitrate evolution using micro-suction cups. Growth response of both ammonia-oxidising archaea (AOA) and bacteria (AOB) to ammonium fertilisation was estimated by quantifying the respective amoA genes prior and 14 days after fertilisation. Microbial N immobilisation was calculated based on encountered microbial biomass N (Nmic) before and 14 days after fertilisation. Soil texture revealed a significant influence on net nitrification rates (p < 0.05) and nitrifier community abundances (p < 0.0001), both increasing with clay content. AOA/AOB abundance confirmed the allelopathic activity of Bh with a strong tendency for reduced growth response of both nitrifying populations under the previously high BNI ranked genotype in all soils (p = 0.0532). However, the observed suppression of nitrifier growth did not translate into lower but rather coincide with higher topsoil nitrate concentrations (net nitrification rates). As nitrifier growth response to N shall theoretically be a robust indicator for their metabolic activity, this discrepancy was mainly attributed to differences in subsequently immobilised nitrate by heterotrophic microbes. The latter hypothesis is currently being validated via respective Nmic analysis. So far, it can be concluded that rather heterotrophic N immobilisation, but not allelopathic inhibi-

Contact Address: Konrad Egenolf, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Neuhauser Straße 23, 70599 Plieningen, Germany, e-mail: konrad.egenolf@uni-hohenheim.de

Do We Need More Drought for Better Nutrition? – Water-Stress Effects on Nutrient Content of Food

Sahrah Fischer¹, Thomas Hilger¹, Irmgard Jordan², Lydiah Waswa³, Jeninah Karungi⁴, Georg Cadisch¹

Plants are the main source of nutrients for humans, and in turn gather their nutrients from the soil. Soil properties and environmental factors such as weather determine the bioavailability of nutrients to plants, and consequently, to food. With increasing extreme weather events, sudden drought periods can affect plant growth, bioavailability of nutrients and quality of produced food. This study compared two regions in East Africa (Kapchorwa, Uganda and Busia, Kenya) that experienced drought during the second growing season in 2016. Thus, the main research questions were: (i) does drought have an impact on the nutrient composition of produced food; (ii) does drought affect crops differently when grown on soils of varying fertility?

A total of 127 maize grains (*Zea mays*) samples and paired soil samples were collected per region and season from randomly selected households during the long rain (March-August) (LRS) and the short rain (October-December) (SRS) seasons 2016. Crop and soil samples were analysed using a portable X-Ray Fluorescent Spectrometer (pXRF, Bruker) for magnesium, phosphorus, sulphur, potassium, calcium, manganese, iron, zinc, and copper. Soil properties including nitrogen, carbon, C:N, texture, pH, and eCEC were additionally measured.

Kapchorwa had a higher soil fertility compared to Busia. Additionally, nutrient concentration of monitored grains during the LRS were significantly higher in Kapchorwa than Busia. In both regions, yields decreased significantly between LRS and SRS due to drought. In Kapchorwa, maize grain showed a significant decrease in mean nutrient concentration of 42 % from the LRS to the SRS. In contrast, a significant increase in mean nutrient concentration of 41 % was observed in maize from Busia. The contradicting results were due to a complete cessation of rainfall in Kapchorwa before grain filling, whereas in Busia rainfall, although lower than in other years, ceased directly thereafter. The unexpected results of decreased nutrient concentration despite high fertility in Kapchorwa, compared to increased nutrient concentration with low fertility in Busia allude that extreme weather events have unpredictable effects on nutritional quality of food crops. There is need for further investigation to make best use of drought phenomena, to improve the nutritional value of crops.

Keywords: Drought, food composition, human nutrition, plant nutrition, water stress

¹University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

² Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Center for International Development and Environmental Research, Germany

³Egerton University, Department of Human Nutrition, Kenya

⁴Makerere University, Department of Agricultural Production, Uganda

Contact Address: Sahrah Fischer, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstr. 13, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: sahrah.fischer@uni-hohenheim.de

Towards Nutritional Security through Agroecological Practices in Orange-Fleshed Sweetpotato Systems in Mozambique

Rafaela Feola Conz¹, Engil Isadora Pereira¹, Maria Isabel Andrade², Johan Six¹

The introduction of orange-fleshed sweetpotato (OFSP) varieties in Mozambique is a successful food-based strategy to reduce malnutrition in rural communities. Specifically, due to its higher beta-carotene content, the precursor of vitamin A in the human body, and micronutrients such as zinc (Zn) and iron (Fe), the consumption of OFSP enhances the nutritional value of children's diets. To sustain sweetpotato production, large amounts of soil nitrogen (N) and potassium (K) are required. Thus, continuous cultivation without soil nutrient replenishment leads to soil degradation threatening a continuing food production. This issue is very important in limited-resource areas, where the lack of soil fertility management furthers soil degradation and food insecurity. Agroecological practices (i.e., intercropping, crop rotation, and fallow) that increase the diversity of agroecosystems can boost soil fertility and agricultural performance through increased nutrient supply.

This study investigated low and high plant diversity arrangements during three growing seasons in a field experiment conducted in Maputo, Mozambique. Four treatments in a range of low to high diversity arrangements were compared, respectively: (i) continuous OFSP monoculture, (ii) OFSP and mazie rotation, (iii) continuous OFSP-legume intercropping and (iv) OFSP-legume intercrop in a rotation with maize-legume intercrop.

We quantified soil N, K, phosphorus (P), Zn and Fe to identify if high diversity cropping system supply and preserve soil nutrients to sustain future cropping season. Additionally, we evaluated storage root yield and beta-carotene, starch, protein, Fe and Zn contents to determined if improved soil fertility can enhance nutritional quality of sweetpotato.

Our results show an increment in available K content after the first season in sweet-potato-legume intercrop. Storage root yield remained similar between treatments in each season. Sweetpotato-legume intercropping showed increased contents of starch and protein and the highest iron concentration after the third season, exhibiting the potential of higher diversity cropping systems to enhance nutritional quality of roots. Furthermore, we observed soil K accumulation in highly diverse systems revealing increased potential to supply nutrients for the following growing seasons.

Keywords: Agroecosystems, food security, soil fertility

Contact Address: Rafaela Feola Conz, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Zurich, Environmental System Science, Salvatorstrasse 4, 8050 Zurich, Switzerland, e-mail: rafaela.conz@usys.ethz.ch

¹ Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Zurich, Environmental System Science, Switzerland ² International Potato Center, Mozambique

Impacts of Land-use Change on Organic Carbon Storage in Highly Weathered Soils of Tropical Sub-Sahara Africa

MAXIMILIAN KIRSTEN¹, CORDULA VOGEL¹, ROBERT MIKUTTA², CARSTEN MÜLLER³, DIDAS KIMARO⁴, KARL-HEINZ FEGER¹, KARSTEN KALBITZ¹

Land-use change of tropical forests for agricultural production is considered as a major cause for soil organic carbon (SOC) decline. However, the extent of land-use change impact on SOC storage is highly uncertain, especially for tropical Africa. Interactions with the soil mineral phase can modify such impacts because of high contents of pedogenic oxides and clay in these highly weathered soils and their potential for C stabilisation. The aim of the study was to determine land-use change impacts on SOC storage for soils commonly found in tropical sub-Sahara Africa. For that purpose ten pedological similar soils in the Eastern Usambara Mountains (Amani Nature Reserve, NE Tanzania) under contrasting land uses were sampled down to 100 cm soil depth. Measured SOC stocks were 17.5 kg m⁻², 16.8 kg m⁻², 16.9 kg m⁻² and 20.0 kg m⁻² for forests, tea plantations, croplands and home garden, respectively. A significant decrease in mean SOC storage of 1.3 kg m⁻² was detected after changing forests into croplands for the 0-10 cm depth increment. No further significant land use impacts could be detected. All soils have a clay dominated texture and are characterised by high contents in pedogenetic oxides. No significant relationships could be detected between SOC and clay contents for the investigated soils. Statistically significant relationships were found between oxalate extractable Fe/Al and SOC contents for cropland soils only, although forest soils comprised a wider range of oxalate extractable Fe concentrations. Probably, a higher variability of fresh OC input in forests may obscure the relation between SOC and pedogenetic oxides under forests. Based on our preliminary results, the role of clay minerals and pedogenic oxides for SOC stabilisation and the related mechanisms as the formation of mineral-associated organic matter (MOA's) and aggregation will be further studied in these tropical soils. For that purpose a large field campaign was done in the same study area in spring 2018 again. We used X-ray fluorescence spectroscopy (XRF) to define a natural gradient in the pedogenic metal oxides and clay content.

The following hypotheses will be checked:

a) Increasing metal oxide and clay mineral content will result in larger amounts of

Contact Address: Maximilian Kirsten, Technische Universität Dresden, Institute of Soil Science and Site Ecology, Pienner Straße 19, 01737 Tharandt, Germany, e-mail: maximilian.kirsten@tu-dresden.de

¹Technische Universität Dresden, Institute of Soil Science and Site Ecology, Germany

²Martin-Luther-Universität Halle-Wittenberg, Inst. of Soil Science and Soil Protection, Germany

³Technische Universität München, Institute of Soil Science, Germany

⁴Sokoine University of Agriculture Morogoro, Department of Engineering Sciences & Technology, Tanzania

SOM associated to the heavy fraction (HF), because of increasing availability of reactive surface groups.

- b) Increasing availability of net-positively charged metal oxide surfaces will lead to a larger stabilisation of SOM by formation of MOA's,
- c) Increasing ratios in metal oxides to clay minerals content will lead to larger amounts of water-stable aggregates and consequently to increasing storage and stabilisation of SOM within aggregates.

Keywords: Land-use change, kaolinite, pedogenic Fe- and Al-oxides, SOC stabilisation, SOC storage, Tanzania

Development of Macronutrients in an Ugandan Inland Valley under Rice Production

BJÖRN GLASNER¹, SUSANNE ZIEGLER², SABINE FIEDLER¹

Soil degradation is one of the major problems in crop production. In combination with increasing population numbers this forces Ugandan smallholder farmers to produce their crops in the valley bottoms. Therefore, it is important to identify sustainable management options to maintain these areas in a healthy state.

Field experiments were conducted in an inland valley swamp in Central Uganda between 2014 and 2018 to study the effects of nitrogen and phosphorus addition (organic vs mineral) and water management on the availability of soil macronutrients. These were established in three positions crossing the valley bottom from the central channel (zone 3) to the fringe of the wetland (zone 1) with one zone in between (zone 2). Soil samples, taken from the topsoil (0-30 cm), were analysed for their carbon, nitrogen and Mehlich-3 extractable macronutrients (P, K, Mg, Ca). This Mehlich-3 solution allows the extraction of plant-available nutrients over a wide range of soil pH-values. First results of the first four seasons show that before the implementation of the experiment the variability of C, N, K, and Ca was highest in zone 3, close to the channel. There was no significant difference between all three zones. After the first harvest the C and N content of the soil decreased (3–10 mg-C g⁻¹, <0.7 mg-N g⁻¹) in all three zones, but the variability of these elements within each zone became smaller. After the first season the C and N content is increasing, with different amounts due to different management options. Available P is very low in all three zones (< 50 mg-P kg⁻¹), but a slightly small impact of P-addition is recognisable in all three zones. There is no significant change in Ca and Mg in all three zones, whereas K keeps decreasing throughout the first four seasons in Zone 1, the fringe of the wetland.

Keywords: Carbon, Mehlich-3, nitrogen, Uganda, variability, wetland

¹University of Mainz, Geographical Institute, Germany

²University of Bonn, Inst. of Organic Agriculture, Germany

Contact Address: Björn Glasner, University of Mainz, Geographical Institute, Johann-Joachim-Becher-Weg 21, 55128 Mainz, Germany, e-mail: b.glasner@geo.uni-mainz.de

Soil Fertility Gradients in the Smallholder Cropping Systems in Limpopo Province, South Africa

Sala Alanda Lamega¹, Kingsley K. Ayisi², Shila Dolo², Jude J.O. Odhiambo³, Johannes Isselstein¹, Munir Hoffmann¹

Maintaining soil fertility is key for the low input smallholder cropping systems in southern Africa. However, due to resource limitations, these farmers are often constrained to provide the necessary input to avoid nutrient mining. Hence, farmers tend to apply the available fertiliser in the nearby homestead fields, while the remote fields are typically neglected, causing a decline in soil fertility. Nevertheless, these patterns are known to be very site-specific (climate, inherent soil properties, socioeconomic conditions). To verify this hypothesis, we assessed in smallholder systems of Limpopo, four distinct sites (Selwana, Gabaza, Tsiphuseni, and Mafarana). Only farmers (58) with both field types were assessed. In total, 116 soil samples were collected and analysed following the indicators of soil fertility. The differences between field types were evaluated across all sites by Tukey's test. The results indicated that, across all sites, the fields that are close to home have a conducive pH (6.0 – 7.5) while remote fields remained acidic (4.0 - 4.8). Furthermore, the mean available P and extractable Zn were also significantly higher on homestead fields (63.95 mg kg⁻¹ dry soil and 25.62 mg kg⁻¹, respectively) and lower on distant fields (13.61 mg kg⁻¹ and 1.36 mg kg⁻¹ respectively). However, no significant differences were observed across all sites for SOC between homestead fields (0.97%) and remote fields (0.98%). Additionally, the mean extractable K was significantly higher on homesteads in Gabaza (573 mg kg⁻¹ against 99.1 mg kg⁻¹) while the mean extractable Cu and Mn remained significantly lower on homesteads in Gabaza and Mafarana (9.22 $mg kg^{-1}$ against 11.16 $mg kg^{-1}$ for Cu and 14.33 $mg kg^{-1}$ against 22.46 $mg kg^{-1}$ for Mn). Soil fertility variability in smallholder systems of Limpopo can be explained by farmer's management practices that resulted in the allocation of nutrient resources on preferred fields. Consequently, soil fertility gradient patterns are true, and strongly observed for pH, available P, and extractable Zn. SOC, on the other hand, was found to be driven by the inherent soil properties – soil texture. This study suggested that soil fertility gradients should be considered when sustainable intensification pathways are discussed for the region.

Keywords: Organic carbon, smallholder systems, soil fertility gradients

¹Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Dept. of Crop Sciences, Germany

²University of Limpopo, Risk and Vulnerability Science Center, South Africa

³University of Venda, Dept. of Soil Science, South Africa

Contact Address: Sala Alanda Lamega, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Dept. of Crop Sciences: Forage Production and Grassland Management, Von-Siebold-Str. 8, 37075 Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: salaalanda.lamega@stud.uni-goettingen.de

Linking Slopes to the Wetland: Water and Nutrient Fluxes in an Inland Valley in Uganda

CLAUDIA SCHEPP¹, BERND DIEKKRÜGER¹, MATHIAS BECKER², CONSTANZE LEEMHUIS¹

Due to prolonged periods of water availability, wetlands are of increasing importance for agricultural production and hence for food security in East Africa. However, in inland valley wetlands crop performance and particularly the temporal and spatial dynamics of the fluxes of water and nutrients are likely to be effected by the land use on the slopes and attributes of the wider catchment. Thus, a deeper understanding of the physical processes that link valley slopes to the wetland is of crucial importance to ensure their sustainable management. Water fluxes from adjacent slopes act as carrier for nutrients, e.g. nitrate, which frequently limit crop growth for small-scale farmers with limited monetary resources. We investigated the spatial and temporal distribution and translocation of water and soil-born nitrate under three types of land use on the slope, namely bare land, semi-natural vegetation and patchy crop agriculture. Soil N content was monitored during four consecutive rainy seasons at different slope positions. Water fluxes from surface runoff and subsurface interflow were quantified in runoff plots on the slope and in excavations at the bottom of the slope. Slope water pathways in the soil were analysed using ERI (electrical resistivity imaging) and profile drillings.

Water was delivered to the wetland mainly through a sandy loam layer at the bottom of the slope. Nitrogen content in soil water differed between the three land use types and different slope positions, with highest concentrations found at the bottom of the slope and on the bare soil plots. However, nitrate loads in soil water of the wetland were very low. Thus downslope positions seem to be of special importance for an improved crop use of the nitrate being translocated along the valley slope, before it is lost under the anaerobic soil conditions of the wetland.

Keywords: Nitrate, run-off water, sub-surface water, watershed, wetlands

¹University of Bonn, Dept. of Geography, Germany

²University of Bonn, Inst. Crop Sci. and Res. Conserv. (INRES) - Plant Nutrition, Germany

Contact Address: Claudia Schepp, University of Bonn, Department of Geography, Mechenstrasse 73, 53129 Bonn, Germany, e-mail: s6clsche@uni-bonn.de

Effect of Soil Management on Mite and Springtail Populations in Agroecosystems from Santa Clara, Cuba

HÉCTOR PABLO HERNÁNDEZ ARBOLÁEZ¹, EDITH AGUILA ALCANTARA¹, LANYER VALLADARES VILCHES¹, YANETSY RUIZ GONZÁLEZ¹, STEFAAN DE NEVE²

For assessing the effect of soil management on mites and springtails were selected twelve farms located on brown calcareous soil in Santa Clara, Cuba. Farms were grouped according to their soil practices and landownership, resulting in three groups: State farms run under conventional agriculture, private farms managed conventionally, and private farms organically managed. Besides, there were chosen three reference patterns (Pasture, Marabou and Natural), all under homogeneity edaphic and climatic. Two or three fields of each farm were selected for the study. Four composite soil samples per field were taken to 20 cm of depth. Sampling was done twice: November, 2015 and June, 2017 in order to study the dry and the rainy season. The analyses of mites and springtails were done by the Bayer's methodology (2006). For the extraction of the mesofauna components, 300 g of soil were placed in modified Berlese funnels, which separated the organisms from the soil by entrapping them in alcohol. Generally, mites and springtail populations are lower in soils under agriculture. In both seasons, the higher number of mites and springtails were found in the marabou and in the natural forest, without difference with the pasture area. The farms under organic management showed populations lower than these references areas, but higher and significantly different from those farms under conventional agriculture. No significant differences were found between the fields under conventional farming, either from the private or state sectors. It can be assumed that the organic management diminished the negative effect of agriculture on soil mesofauna. The structure of the mites' community showed that Oribatid was the most abundant order and never was below 60%, followed by Mesostigmata and Gasamids. The Prostigmatide was the order with low populations. In the springtails' group, the family Isotomidae presented the highest number of individuals and the lower was found in the family Entomobrydae. These results suggest that the effect of soil management in agricultural systems showed influence on soil mesofauna component used as indicators for determine soil health.

Keywords: Farming systems, mesofauna, mites, soil management, springtails

ID 515

¹Universidad Central Marta Abreu de Las Villas, Faculty of Agricultural and Animal Sciences, Cuba

²Ghent University, Dept. of Environment, Belgium

Contact Address: Héctor Pablo Hernández Arboláez, Universidad Central Marta Abreu de Las Villas, Faculty of Agricultural and Animal Sciences, Carretera a Camajuani km 5 ½, 50100 Santa Clara, Cuba, e-mail: hectorha@uclv.edu.cu

Performance Evaluation of the Irrigation System in Lower Kabul River Basin, Afghanistan

ATIQURRAHMAN JALIL¹, FAZLULLAH AKHTAR²

The agriculture sector is the backbone of Afghanistan's economy and makes up around 22% of its GDP. Wheat is the main staple food of the country and accounts for over half of the population's caloric intake. Because of the complex terrain of the country, crops are cultivated on only about 12% of the total area out of which 70% is solely occupied by wheat crop. Being a cereal deficit country, Afghanistan depends on food imports from neighboring countries to meet the growing population's food demand; the reason behind insufficient food production is the poor land and water productivity of the conventional farming system across the country. As a physical water scarce country, the insufficient rainfall does not meet the local crop water demand. The growing water scarcity problems in the region have not only limited the availability of water for existing agriculture but have also partly restricted the expansion of irrigated land. Prior to any irrigation water management and development initiative to be taken, it is vital to evaluate the existing situation of the on-farm irrigation system of the Kabul River Basin (KRB). Through this study we assessed the irrigation performance by using irrigation application efficiency as the key indicator under the conventional irrigation system in the lower reaches of the KRB. For this purpose, Attawor irrigation scheme, located at the downstream KRB, was selected where winter wheat was grown. Throughout the wheat growth period, a total of 6 irrigation events were applied and measured. Soil moisture content (%) before and after each irrigation event was measured in order to analyse the amount of irrigation water applied against the demand (i.e. irrigation application efficiency). Results of the on-farm experiments showed that the average irrigation application efficiency at field-level was 46% while the overall range was 34-74% depending on the canal water availability at different crop growth stages. The existing irrigation application in the study area shows that there is potential for water saving within the irrigation networks provided some technological interventions, infrastructural development and social awareness.

Keywords: Afghanistan water, food security, irrigation system evaluation, Kabul river basin, water scarcity

250 ID 190

(

¹Ministry of Agriculture, Irrigation and Livestock, On Farm Water Management, Afghanistan

²University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Germany

Contact Address: Atiqurrahman Jalil, Ministry of Agriculture, Irrigation and Livestock, On Farm Water Management, Pamir Building 7th Floor Jamal Mina Mail Compund, Kabul, Afghanistan, e-mail: atiq001@gmail.com

Residual Nitrogen Effect of Mungbean (*Vigna radiata*): Affected by Regulated Deficit Irrigation?

Lisa Pataczek 1 , Thomas Hilger 1 , Roland Schafleitner 2 , Georg Cadisch 1

Dryland areas in South and Central Asia are experiencing low agricultural yields and food scarcity under growing conditions with severe water shortages, heat stress, and limited arable land due to saline soils. Mungbean (*Vigna radiata*) is gaining attention as a short-season crop, tolerating dryland conditions, fixing atmospheric nitrogen (N) and hence decreasing soil nutrient depletion. It is a source of high-quality protein for human consumption and could serve as a multipurpose crop if residues were used as fodder or green manure. However, using pulses for N input in cropping systems requires improvements in the accuracy to estimate N balances and N benefits for following crops, since grain and above-ground residues are removed at harvest. Moreover, the effect of drought on N translocation within the plant is unclear.

This work aims to quantify N accumulation, N partitioning between above- and belowground parts by mungbean accessions when influenced by water stress, the effect of drought on mungbean residue decomposition, soil microbial activity and N input to the soil.

In 2016 and 2017, two greenhouse pot experiments were conducted at the University of Hohenheim investigating potential adaptive strategies, N translocation in the plant and biological N fixation of four mungbean varieties under three levels of regulated deficit irrigation (RDI) with increasing degrees of water stress (45, 65, and 80% deficits of available water capacity). Differences in the response to drought stress between the accessions were determined by stable isotope analysis. Additionally mungbean residues incorporated in potted soil were exposed to the same RDI treatments in a third trial in 2018 to assess the effect of drought on decomposition of the plant material, microbial activity and N release.

The results indicated that around 20% of the total mungbean biomass is allocated belowground, accumulating 6–9% of the total plant-N and 12–17% of total plant-C, being not significantly affected by drought, but by variety. Moreover, a higher water deficit inhibited the activity of microorganisms and resulted in a slower N release, contributing to a higher N availability in the soil for subsequent crops when rewatered. This indicates an unexpected potential of new mungbean varieties for drylands.

Keywords: Deficit irrigation, nitrogen partitioning, residual effect, stable isotopes, *Vigna radiata*, water stress

ID 565 251

¹University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics, Germany

²AVRDC - The World Vegetable Center, Biotechnology and Molecular Breeding, Taiwan

Contact Address: Lisa Pataczek, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics, Garbenstraße 13, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: lisa.pataczek@uni-hohenheim.de

Soil Rehabilitation Potential of Co-Compost Pellets Made from Municipal Solid Waste and Dewatered Faecal Sludge as Feedstock

AWS PUSHPA KUMARA¹, FELIX THIEL², JAYANTHA WEERAKKODY¹,
BANDULA RANAWEERA¹

Solid waste management challenges are felt most keenly in the developing countries as a major consequence of development and modernisation. Sri Lanka as a developing country faces severe issues in managing the daily generated liquid and solid waste. Organic fractions of these waste takes a higher percentage. The organic portions of municipal solid waste (MSW) and co-composting of dewatered faecal sludge (DFS) is a feasible low-cost technology which enhances sanitation and waste management. The aim of this research was to evaluate the effect of MSW and DFS co-compost pellets produced with the addition of mineral fertiliser and biochar on soil chemical and biological properties. Trapezoidal windrow type co-compost piles were prepared with 18m³ volume and 70 % MSW and 30 % DFS. Temperature measurements, watering and turning were done as necessary. Weekly samples were collected for chemical analysis. Resulted co-compost was mechanically pelletized using biochar and mineral fertiliser as additives and used in maize cultivation. The experiment was arranged as randomised complete block design using 7 treatments. Soil samples were collected from 30 cm and 60 cm depths to evaluate chemical and biological properties. There was a significant increase in pH values between control treatment (mineral fertiliser) and MWS-DFS co-compost treatments. The treatment with DFS-MSW-Biochar had the highest EC and organic carbon value suggesting that biochar has the ability to increase EC in soil and act as a carbon sequester. MSW-DFS co-compost treatments had the highest phosphorous and potassium values. Soil microbial activity was not significantly changed with the application of co-compost. Further, temperature changes during the co-composting process, was different from normal composting process, which may be resulted in a variation in feedstock characters. These results conclude that cocompost help to improve soil pH, EC, organic carbon, phosphorous and potassium with compared to the mineral fertiliser application. Hence, co-compost produced from MSW and DFS can potentially be used in soil rehabilitation while co-compost enriched with biochar act as a soil amendment.

Keywords: Biochar, co-compost, dewatered faecal sludge, municipal solid waste

¹Wayamba University of Sri Lanka, Fac. of Agriculture and Plantation Management, Sri Lanka

²Ruhr University Bochum / International Water Management Institute, Inst. of Geography / Rural Urban Linkages, Germany

Contact Address: Felix Thiel, Ruhr University Bochum / International Water Management Institute, Inst. of Geography / Rural Urban Linkages, Universitäts str 150, 11222 Bochum, Germany, e-mail: leifgrau@gmail.com

Effect of Plastic Mulch and Anti-Transpiration Materials on Yield, Yield Components and Water Use Efficiency of Rainbow Corn (Zea mays var. indurata) under Different Irrigation Regimes

Mohamad Javad Fereidooni, Sima Abbasi

Yasouj University, Fac. of Agriculture, Dept. of Agronomy and Plant Breeding, Iran

In order to investigate the effect of plastic mulch and anti-transpiration materials on yield, yield components and water use efficiency of rainbow corn (Zea mays var. indurata) under different irrigation regimes, an experiment was carried out as split-split plot based on a randomized complete block design with three replicates at Marvdasht city of Farce Province during the two successive seasons 2016 and 2017. The irrigation regimes (irrigation after 25, 40 and 60% of field capacity water depletion) were consisted as the main plots and two levels plastic mulch (with and without mulch) were allocated to the sub-plots. Three levels anti-transpiration materials (kaolin, atrazine and no material) were consisted as the sub-sub plots. Irrigation regimes were applied based on field capacity water depletion at the depth of root development. To achieve these irrigation levels, soil moisture was calculated by weighting method through a frequent and daily soil at the depth of root development. At irrigation regime of 25 % of FC water depletion, the highest fresh ear yield (1629.1 g m⁻²) was found when soil surface was covered with plastic mulch and plants were sprayed with atrazine. On the other hand, the minimum fresh ear yield (1026.4 g m⁻²) was obtained when soil surface left uncovered and no anti-transpiration materials were applied. With decreasing of soil moisture, the application of atrazine compared with kaolin resulted in increased fresh ear yield. When irrigation was applied after 60% of field capacity water depletion, the highest harvest index (53%) was obtained in the plastic mulch treatment and non-anti-transpiration treatment. The maintenance of moisture under the plastic mulch increased harvest index compared with the uncovered soil surface. At irrigation regime of 60% of field capacity water depletion, the highest water use efficiency (2.83 kg m⁻³) was related to those plots which were covered with plastic mulch and treated with atrazine. According to the results, application of plastic mulch and atrazine as an anti-transpiration material could increase crop yield and water use efficiency in regions where water is the main limiting factor.

Keywords: 1000 grain weight, ear yield, evapotranspiration, kaolin, rainbow corn, water consumption

ID 126 253

Contact Address: Mohamad Javad Fereidooni, Yasouj University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Agronomy and Plant Breeding, Department of Agronomy and Plant Breeding Faculty of Agricultural University of Yasouj, 7591874831 Yasouj, Iran, e-mail: fereidooni2010@yahoo.com

Determination of Brachialactone Release Mechanism in B. humidicola by Root Exudate Profiling under Different Elicitors

Supriya Verma¹, Konrad Egenolf¹, Jochen Schöne², Sebastian Mira¹, Frank Walker², Günter Neumann³, Georg Cadisch¹, Frank Rasche¹

- ¹University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany
- ²University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Phytomedicine, Germany
- ³University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Crop Science: Nutritional Crop Physiology, Germany

The ability of plants to suppress soil nitrification through the release of nitrification inhibitors from the roots is termed 'biological nitrification inhibition' (BNI). The tropical forage grass Brachiaria humidicola (Bh) has particularly caught attention in this respect due to its ability to release a root exudate termed "brachialactone" that deters both ammonia monooxygenase (AMO) and hydroxylamine oxidoreductase (HAO) enzymatic pathways in nitrifying organisms such as Nitrosomonas europaea. What remains unknown is if brachialactone is exuded in the rhizosphere via an active, regulated transport or through passive release mechanisms (diffusion / root turnover). Taking this as a starting point, we studied the exudation pattern of brachialactone in hydroponically grown Bh under the effect of contrasting nutritional nitrogen forms and different pH regimes. Contrary to the previous hydroponic studies, exudation patterns were studied in the full nutrient trap solutions and plants were exposed to the exudate collection solution for only 4 hours. Through this approach we have minimised the plasma membrane damage due to osmotic stress or pH shifts to the greatest possible extent. The trial included six treatment combinations with three different nitrogen sources (i.e. ammonium & nitrate, sole ammonium and sole nitrate) and two levels of pH (i.e. 4.8 and 6). Subsequent to root exudate collection, trap solutions were analysed for brachialactone, ammonium/nitrate levels, sugars, amino acids and carboxylates. To elucidate whether brachialactone is released by means of a regulated process, i.e. demonstrates a unique response to the different treatment combinations, its exudation levels were compared to the exudation levels of major primary metabolites. Our study confirmed that the nutritional N form has a significant effect on brachialactone exudation (p = 0.0001) and pH has a synergistic effect on its release (p = 0.0417). We have found that brachial action exudation is correlated with ammonium uptake but does not seem to be linked to the exudation of any of the other primary metabolites.

Keywords: Biological nitrification inhibition, brachialactone, primary metabolites, release mechanism, root exudate profiling

Contact Address: Supriya Verma, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), 70593 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: supriyaverma1912@gmail.com

How Residues of Differently Aged Calliandra calothyrsus Shape the Abundance of Soil Nitrifying Prokaryotes

ISAAC BALUME¹, SVEN MARHAN², GEORG CADISCH¹, MARY MUSYOKI¹, FRANK RASCHE¹

The use of leguminous organic residues in resource-prone smallholder farming systems is widely acknowledged. A central knowledge gap remains, however, to what extent a change of biochemical quality (e.g. \(\forall \) ratio, ([polyphenol+lignin]/N (PP+L/N) ratio) of organic inputs as result of increasing age of the same plant species shapes the abundance of soil nitrifying microbes (i.e. ammonia-oxidising bacteria (AOB) and archaea (AOA)). The aim was thus to assess age effect reflected in differences in biochemical quality of organic inputs, on the abundance of amoA gene copies (AOA and AOB) during the initial stages of decomposition. Organic inputs from leguminous Calliandra calothyrsus (10 ton ha⁻¹ dry weight) of different age (i.e. <3 years; C/N ratio 13.1; PP+L/N: 2.95, >5 years; 18.2, 3.02) were mixed with two soils from Ethiopia (pH 4.3; TC 2.32; TN 0.15) and DR Congo (pH 5.1; TC 3.52; TN 0.29). A control treatment without residues was included. Soil samples were obtained at 7, 15, 30, 45 and 60 days after residue application. Samples were analysed for amoA gene copies for AOA and AOB as well as for total bacterial and archaeal 16S rRNA gene copies using quantitative PCR. Generally, under the young Calliandra, increasing of gene copy numbers (p < 0.001) of AOA and AOB (p < 0.01) were observed. Input type and incubation time showed a significant interaction for AOB abundance (p < 0.01), which increased from day 7 to 45. N-NO 3, NH₄ and DON concentration was correlated with AOA (r=0.76, p < 0.0001; r=0.42, p < 0.0001; r=0.75, p < 0.0001 respectively), and AOB (r=0.58, p < 0.0001 r=0.25, p < 0.01; r=0.57, p < 0.0001) abundance throughout the incubation. The study demonstrated that the abundance of nitrifying prokaryotes was influenced by biochemical quality of residues obtained from differently aged Calliandra, which was mainly attributed to the increase in amoA gene copies of AOA and AOB under young Calliandra, a phenomenon that may be explained by the low C/N and PP+L-N ratios. Results showed that the assessed change of biochemical quality of organic inputs is a determinant of the abundance of soil nitrifying microbes and has to be considered when using contrasting organic residues for adapted soil fertility management in resource-prone smallholder agricultural systems.

Keywords: 16S Archaea, 16S Bacteria, AOA, AOB, residue quality

ID 526 255

¹University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics, Germany

²University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Soil Science and Land Evaluation, Germany

Contact Address: Isaac Balume, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics, Garben Str 13, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: isaac.balume@uni-hohenheim.de

Coffee Husk Biochar Application Improved Soil Chemical Properties and Yield of Soybean Grown in a Tropical Nitisol, Ethiopia

Amsalu Nebiyu Woldekirstos 1 , Ahmed Milkiyas 1 , Eskedar Asfaw 1 , Eshetu Bekele Wondemagegnehu 2

Low levels of soil fertility and soil acidity are among the major bottlenecks to enhance agricultural productivity in the humid tropics. Soil management systems that enhance soil fertility and biological cycling of nutrients is crucial to sustain soil productivity. This study was, therefore, conducted to determine the effects of coffee husk biochar (here after biochar), rhizobium inoculation and P fertiliser application on Arbuscular mycorhyzal fungi (AMF) root colonisation, yield, P uptake and N₂ fixation of soybean grown on tropical Nitisol of Jimma, southwest Ethiopia. The experiment consisted of two levels of *rhizobium* inoculation (with and without), phosphorous (P) application (0 and 20 kg ha⁻¹) and four levels of biochar (0, 6, 12 and 36 t ha⁻¹) in a 2×2 × 4 factorial design with 3 replications. The experiment was conducted under lath house conditions in 2015. ANOVA showed that integrated application of biochar and P fertiliser significantly improved soil chemical properties, P uptake and seed yield, with a seed yield increment of more than two-fold and highest total P uptake (4.5 g plant⁻¹) with inoculation, 20 kg P and 36 t biochar compared to the yield from the control (without inoculation, P and biochar). However, the highest AMF root colonisation (80%) was obtained at 36 t biochar without P and declined with 20 kg P application. The highest total N content (4.2 g plant⁻¹) and N₂-fixed (4.6 g plant⁻¹) was obtained with inoculation, 20 kg P and 36 t biochar. However, the highest %N derived from the atmosphere (%Ndfa) (>98%) did not significantly vary between 12 and 36 t biochar treatments at each level of inoculation and P addition. The improved soil chemical properties, seed yield, P uptake and N₂-fixation through combined use of biochar and P fertiliser suggests the importance of integrated use of biochar with P fertiliser to ensure that soybean crops are adequately supplied with P for nodulation and N₂-fixation in tropical acid soils for sustainable soybean production in the long term.

Keywords: Acid soil, AMF, biochar, N fixation, soybean

¹Jimma University, Plant Sciences, Ethiopia

²Adama Science and Technology University, School of Applied Natural Science, Ethiopia

Contact Address: Amsalu Nebiyu Woldekirstos, Jimma University, Plant Sciences, College of Agri, POB1316 Jimma, Ethiopia, e-mail: anebiy@yahoo.com

Mercury-Resistant Bacteria Isolated from Mercury-Contaminated Site near Rice Field

FATIMAWALI S UMAR¹, BILLY KEPEL², WIDDHI BODHI², TRINA TALLEI³

Several traditional gold minings in North Sulawesi, Indonesia, discharge tailings containing mercury to nearby rice fields. Rainwater can carry mercury waste to the rice fields, contaminate the soil, and accumulate the mercury in the rice plants. Given the situation, it is deemed necessary to develop remediation approaches at mercury contaminated sites.

This research was aimed at isolation and identification of mercury-resistant bacteria from traditional mining site in North Sulawesi and analysing their ability to reduce mercury chloride (HgCl₂).

The bacterial isolates (AA, BB, and DD) were isolated from soil samples obtained from three mining waste location points by growing them in LB media containing 40 ppm HgCl₂. Discrete bacterial colonies were isolated and identified conventionally by morphology, physiology and biochemistry test of H₂S formation, carbohydrate fermentation test, citrate test, lysine test, indole test and catalase test and molecularly using 16S rRNA gene marker. The ability of bacteria to reduce of 40 ppm HgCl₂ was evaluated. Analysis of mercury concentration in the medium was carried out using the cooling vapour atomic absorption spectroscopy (CV-AAS)

The results showed that there were 3 bacterial isolates from all three samples can grow in LB broth medium with 40 ppm HgCl₂. Biochemical identification showed that all the isolates belong to *Pseudomonas* genera. Using 16S rRNA, isolates AA and DD showed high similarity with *P. plecoglossicida* and BB with *P. aeruginosa*. All isolates reduced almost 100 % of HgCl₂ within 24 hours.

All three bacterial isolates AA, BB and DD showed potential to be used for remediation of mercury waste.

Keywords: Mercury waste, mercury-resistant bacteria, remediation

ID 196 257

¹Sam Ratulangi University, Pharmacy, Indonesia

²Sam Ratulangi University, Medicine, Indonesia

³Sam Ratulangi University, Biology, Indonesia

Contact Address: Fatimawali S Umar, Sam Ratulangi University, Pharmacy, Jalan Perum Welong Abadi Blok A No. 156 Malendeng, Manado, Indonesia, e-mail: fatimawali12@gmail.com

Implementation, Monitoring and Management of a Pilot Rehabilitation Measure on Degraded Sloped Pastures in Brazil

ROMAN SELIGER¹, DIETMAR SATTLER¹, JULIANA MARISA SANTOS², ANTONIO SOARES DA SILVA³, JUERGEN HEINRICH¹, HELGA RESTUM HISSA⁴

Dairy cattle farming at moderately to strongly inclined pasture slopes represent the main land use in the State of Rio de Janeiro, occupying more than 50 % of the States area, formerly covered by pristine Atlantic Forest areas. Inappropriate pasture management in a geo-ecologically sensitive environment with changing regional climate has led to severe pasture degradation during the last century. Sustainable and adequate pasture management strategies are urgently needed to decelerate further soil degradation and to guarantee future land productivity while maintaining essential ecosystem services. The pilot rehabilitation measure (PRM) "Slope parcelling hedgerow terraces for extensive rotational pastures" aims at breaking the erosive power of surface runoff and interflow, accelerating grass recovery and decelerating erosion along with site-compatible rotational cattle management. It is embedded in the overall concept of relocating extensively-used pastures from fragile sloped to favourable, productive and intensively-managed plain areas. The PRM represents a pragmatic and participative (farmer-oriented) approach, at rather low cost. Its modular character allows a site-specific implementation (transferability) and adaptation that integrates existing resources and (traditional) farming best practices. Only scientifically proven measures accepted by the farmer community are supposed to be successfully applied and managed over a long time. Besides bio-engineering aspects of the implementation (terrace construction, planting scheme of various native tree-species, irrigation concept, pasture melioration) and recommended management strategies of the PRM, a two year scientific monitoring of the pilot area (shrub performance on terraces, closure of vegetation cover, soil quality and erosion) is presented. The latter allows the evaluation of the measures' success and impact. The PRM will be discussed in the context of other vegetative and structural pasture rehabilitation approaches.

Keywords: Bio-engineering, degradation, pilot rehabilitation measure, rural area, sloped pasture

¹Leipzig University, Inst. of Geography, Germany

²University of Jena, GIScience, Germany

³State University of Rio de Janeiro, Dept. of Geography, Brazil

⁴Secretariat of Agriculture and Livestock of the State of Rio de Janeiro - SEAPEC, Rio Rural Programme, Brazil

Contact Address: Roman Seliger, Leipzig University, Inst. of Geography, Johannisallee 19, 04103 Leipzig, Germany, e-mail: roman.seliger@uni-leipzig.de

The Effect of Prometryn Soil Residue on Soil Microbial Biomass and Different Crops Biomass

MOHAMMAD TAGHI ALEBRAHIM, MOHAMMAD MEHDIZADEH University of Mohaghegh Ardabili, Fac. of Agriculture and Natural Resources, Dep. of Agronomy and Plant Breeding, Iran

The environmental risk of herbicides should be evaluated near sites of use, even though basic ecotoxicological tests have been conducted before they can be registered for marketing. For example, triazine herbicides, which are photosynthetic PSII herbicides are considered only slightly or moderately toxic for soil microorganisms, mammals and humans. However, concerns have arisen because these herbicides are members of a class claimed to be carcinogenic, or may affect the development of reproductive toxins. For this reason, more reliable evidence is needed to test these claims and investigate their ecological effects. Prometryn is a triazine herbicide that may leave residual activity in the soil for extended periods, causing injury of susceptible soil microorganisms and yield reduction of crops in rotation. A pot experiment was conducted under greenhouse conditions in order to study the sensitivity of 4 different crops (lettuce, barley, rapeseed and beet) to prometryn soil residue (0.0033, 0.0166, 0.033, 0.066, 0.1 and 0.166 mg kg⁻¹soil) in Iran, 2014. The plants were thinned to five plants per pot after germination. The pots were kept for 30 days under controlled conditions. Shoot and root biomass production was measured 30 days after emergence. Results showed that the shoot and root dry matter were significantly affected by increasing prometryn soil residue in all crops (p < 0.01), but seed emergency was not affected. Crops showed different responses to prometryn soil residues. Based on ED50 parameter rapeseed (0.0137 mg kg⁻¹soil) and barlev (0.0282 mg kg⁻¹soil) appeared the most sensitive and tolerant crops to prometryn soil residue, respectively. Overall crop sensitivity to prometryn soil residue was: rapeseed>lettuce>beet>barely. Based on the mechanism of action of prometryn and its best efficiency on broad leaf plants control, the least biomass reduction obtained for barley is understandable. It means Prometryn is more efficient on dicotyledons, so barley as a monocotyledon crop will be tolerable to this herbicide and it's biomass reduction will be low. In general, it is safe to plant a susceptible species if the plantavailable residue is less than the species ED10 value, and there would be a great risk of crop damage if the plant-available residue is higher than ED50 values of the species.

Keywords: ED50, microorganism, persistance, rapeseed, triazine

Contact Address: Mohammad Taghi Alebrahim, University of Mohaghegh Ardabili, Fac. of Agriculture and Natural Resources, Dep. of Agronomy and Plant Breeding, Daneshgah St., Ardabil, Iran, e-mail: m.t.alebrahim@gmail.com

A 3D Mixed Model for Soil Organic Carbon Mapping in Mountainous Subtropics

MORITZ LAUB, SERGEY BLAGODATSKIY, RONG LANG, XUEQING YANG, GEORG CADISCH

University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

The need to increase agricultural production leads to rapidly changing landscapes in mountainous South East Asia. As changing soil organic carbon (SOC) concentrations and stocks are a strong indicator for potential soil fertility loss, there is a need to quantify them with high resolution at landscape level. With 3D modelling, soil properties distribution across soil depth and in space can be predicted in one single model. Mixed models can be used in 3D digital soil mapping and especially suitable for upscaling, which we demonstrate with the new "mixed model over continuous depth" (MMCD). Soil sampling at 120 locations to 1 m depth was done in a 43-km² study area in southwest China using an optimised sampling design: cost-constrained conditioned Latin hypercube sampling (CCLHS). The MMCD was used for SOC concentration and SOC density mapping. It showed that SOC was strongly linked to an interaction of elevation with mean horizon depth (p < 0.001) and to the land use type (p < 0.001). The MMCD was compared to several mapping approaches, including a 2D and two different 3D kriging with external drift approaches and depth intervalbased multiple linear regressions. The MMCD proofed to be as powerful as these established techniques, with an overall modelling efficiency (EF) of 0.72. All tested models strongly decreased in accuracy with depth (EF 0.8 in topsoil to 0.2 in deepest subsoil). The MMCD was further used to model highly unbalanced SOC density data with 120 topsoil observations and only 11 locations with subsoil observations (EF of 0.75). Computed prediction intervals (95%) accurately covered the range of legacy measurements. We found that essential parts of soil carbon were stored in subsoil in this region. On average, 15 and 10% of SOC stocks are expected in the 60 to 80 cm and 80 to 100 cm soil depth intervals, respectively. The combination of applied sampling scheme (CCLHS) and the new model (MMCD) is particularly suitable for mountainous subtropical areas with poor road networks, given that strong relationships of the soil property of interest with explanatory environmental covariates exist.

Keywords: 3D digital soil mapping, mixed model, SOC stocks, upscaling

ID 451 261

Contact Address: Moritz Laub, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstrasse 13, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: moritz.laub@uni-hohenheim.de

Diffuse Reflectance Fourier Transform Mid-Infrared Spectroscopy Associated with Peak Area Integration to Predict Soil Carbonate

REZA MIRZAEITALARPOSHTI 1 , SCOTT DEMYAN 2 , FRANK RASCHE 3 , GEORG CADISCH 3 , TORSTEN MÜLLER 4

Soil carbonate is a key component in agricultural soil influencing fertility and productivity. But its determination has need of using labour intensive and expensive traditional approaches. Diffuse reflectance infrared Fourier transform spectroscopy in mid-range (midDRIFTS) has with various degrees of success been used to determine different soil properties. This study evaluated the feasibility of using two different spectroscopic-based approaches, integrated peak area (IPA) & independent calibration (IC), to predict soil carbonate. The specific peak area (PA) as an indicator of soil carbonate and composition [e.g. 2515 cm⁻¹ (calcite and dolomite), 730 cm⁻¹ (dolomite) & 713 cm⁻¹ (calcite)] obtained from midDRIFTS spectra were related to carbonate contents separately. Calibration model was also developed via independent calibration (IC) approach taking the whole midDRIFTS spectra. A total number of 126 soil samples (0-30 cm) across two contrasting agroecological regions [Kraichgau (K) and Swabian Alb (SA)], Germany were analysed for their carbonate using Scheibler's method and also scanned by midDRIFTS. The study resulted in a calibration model for carbonate prediction with high accuracy representing R²=0.99. In terms of IPA approach, regression analysis between PA713 cm⁻¹ and carbonate contents showed significant correlation with R² value of 0.98 while there was no significant correlation for PA2515 cm⁻¹ and PA730 cm⁻¹. It was attributed to the error made by presence of dolomite in a few samples which is usually ignored during carbonate measurement by Scheibler's method. To conclude, midDRIFTS provide a rapid-throughput approach to predict soil carbonate without need of laboratory measurement. Specifically, the IPA approach for carbonate prediction resulted in a predictive equation as accurate as calibration model developed via IC approach. IPA approach is free of calibration and specifically recommended when the limited number of samples obstacle model calibration via IC approach. However for transfer of index, the approach should be tested beyond carbonate data range used in the current study and further investigations are required to differentiate carbonate composition (e.g. calcite and dolomite) to overcome Scheibler's method weakness in measuring dolomite.

Keywords: Soil analysis, soil properties

¹Shahid Beheshti University, Agroecology, Iran

²The Ohio State University, Soil and Environmental Mineralogy, United States of America

³University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics, Germany

⁴University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Crop Science, Germany

Contact Address: Reza Mirzaeitalarposhti, Shahid Beheshti University, Agroecology, Evin, 1983963113 Tehran, Iran, e-mail: rezamirzaei57@gmail.com

The Effects of Soil Compaction on the Growth of Oil Palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.) Seedlings

LUKE ARIYOH¹, REINOUT IMPENS², JOSEPH CHOKOR¹

Mechanisation in oil palm plantation can lead to soil compaction along tracks with bulk densities increasing above 1.7 g cm⁻³ at some places, which could lead to negative impact on root development and growth of oil palm. A 7-month pot experiment to evaluate the effect of soil compaction on root development and growth of oil palm seedlings was studied in Nigeria. It was laid out in a completely randomised design (CRD) with six replications. Compaction levels were achieved at soil bulk densities of 1.5, 1.7, 1.9 and a control soil C with no compaction. Growth parameters of plant height (PH), frond width (FW), collar girth (CG) frond length (FL), number of fronds (NF) were measured 3, 5 and 7 months after planting (MAP). At 7 MAP, plant root and biomass attributes such as primary root dry weight (PRDW), primary root length (PRL), and shoot dry weight (SDW) were determined. At 3MAP, PH, CG, FL, and NF were significantly higher for the control while treatments of 1.5 g cm⁻³ and 1.7 g cm⁻³ gave the highest FW. 5MAP, results for control and 1.5 g cm⁻³ treatments were significantly higher for PH, FW, CG, than those of 1.7 and 1.9 g cm⁻³. Control had highest value for FL, and at par with 1.5, 1.7 g cm⁻³ treatments, but was significantly different from 1.9 g cm⁻³. At 7MAP, control had highest PH, FW, and NF. However, soils with 1.5 g cm⁻³ had highest CG, and FL values. For root biomass and length were also highest for the control. Treatments of 1.5 g cm⁻³ gave the highest SDW, but were not significantly different from control. Values for all measured parameters were lowest in 1.9 g cm⁻³ treatments. It showed that pots under zero compaction were most effective in improving growth of roots and shoots of oil palm seedlings. Results also indicated that bulk densities of 1.7 and 1.9 g cm⁻³ had negative effects on oil palm seedling growth.

Keywords: Growth, oil palm, seedling, soil compaction

ID 502 263

¹University of Benin, Department of Soil and Land Management, Benin

²Ghent University, Dept. of Plant Production - Lab. for Tropical Agronomy, Belgium

Contact Address: Reinout Impens, Ghent University, Dept. of Plant Production - Lab. for Tropical Agronomy, Ghent, Belgium, e-mail: Reinout.Impens@UGent.be

Soil (bio)fertilisation

Oral Presentations

Fertiliser Recommendation Guidelines Based on Soil Tests: Solutions to Farmer Problems or a Tower of Babel? MAKSUD BEKCHANOV: Nutrients from Organic Waste to Improve Soil Health and Enhance Food Security in Sri Lanka BELLO MUHAMMAD SHEHU, ROEL MERCKX, JIBRIN MOHAMMED JIBRIN, ALPHA YAYA KAMARA, JAIROS RURINDA, PETER CRAUFURD, BASSAM ABDULRAHMAN LAWAN: Site-Specific Nutrient Requirement for two Different Maize Maturity Groups in Northern Nigerian Savannah Agro-Ecological Zone NIKOLA TEUTSCHEROVÁ, EDUARDO VAZQUEZ, JACOBO ARANGO, ASHLY AREVALO, MARTA BENITO, MIRJAM PULLEMAN: Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi Increase the Abundance of Ammonia-Oxidising Bacteria, but Suppress N2O Emissions after Fertilisation JAN NYSSEN, ZBELO TESFAMARIAM, BIRHANU BIRUK, BIADGILGN DEMISSIE, TESFAALEM GHEBREYOHANNES, HAILEMARIAM MEAZA, JEAN POESEN, VEERLE VAN EETVELDE, AMANUEL ZENEBE, JOZEF DECKERS, MITIKU HAILE, AMAURY FRANKL: Geographical Determinants of the Fertiliser Black Market in North Ethiopia Posters ABDELRAHIM MOHAMED YOUSIF, MUBARAK ABDALLA: Effect of Application of Composted Manures on Growth, Yield and Yield Components of Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L.) in Sandy Desert Soil, North Kordofan State, Sudan LUZ ASIO, NEMESIO TAMAYO, NENITA DELA CRUZ: Response of a Traditional Sweetpotato (Ipomoea batatas [L]) Variety to Fertilisation in Leyte, Philippines	GEORGE AYAGA, DAVID MBAKAYA, JOHN ACHIENG, GERRIT GERDES, FLORA AJWERA:	
Nutrients from Organic Waste to Improve Soil Health and Enhance Food Security in Sri Lanka BELLO MUHAMMAD SHEHU, ROEL MERCKX, JIBRIN MOHAMMED JIBRIN, ALPHA YAYA KAMARA, JAIROS RURINDA, PETER CRAUFURD, BASSAM ABDULRAHMAN LAWAN: Site-Specific Nutrient Requirement for two Different Maize Maturity Groups in Northern Nigerian Savannah Agro-Ecological Zone NIKOLA TEUTSCHEROVÁ, EDUARDO VAZQUEZ, JACOBO ARANGO, ASHLY AREVALO, MARTA BENITO, MIRJAM PULLEMAN: Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi Increase the Abundance of Ammonia-Oxidising Bacteria, but Suppress N2O Emissions after Fertilisation JAN NYSSEN, ZBELO TESFAMARIAM, BIRHANU BIRUK, BIADGILGN DEMISSIE, TESFAALEM GHEBREYOHANNES, HAILEMARIAM MEAZA, JEAN POESEN, VEERLE VAN EETVELDE, AMANUEL ZENEBE, JOZEF DECKERS, MITIKU HAILE, AMAURY FRANKL: Geographical Determinants of the Fertiliser Black Market in North Ethiopia Posters ABDELRAHIM MOHAMED YOUSIF, MUBARAK ABDALLA: Effect of Application of Composted Manures on Growth, Yield and Yield Components of Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L.) in Sandy Desert Soil, North Kordofan State, Sudan LUZ ASIO, NEMESIO TAMAYO, NENITA DELA CRUZ: Response of a Traditional Sweetpotato (Ipomoea batatas [L])	Fertiliser Recommendation Guidelines Based on Soil Tests:	269
HAMMED JIBRIN, ALPHA YAYA KAMARA, JAIROS RURINDA, PETER CRAUFURD, BASSAM ABDULRAHMAN LAWAN: Site-Specific Nutrient Requirement for two Different Maize Maturity Groups in Northern Nigerian Savannah Agro-Ecological Zone 271 NIKOLA TEUTSCHEROVÁ, EDUARDO VAZQUEZ, JACOBO ARANGO, ASHLY AREVALO, MARTA BENITO, MIRJAM PULLEMAN: Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi Increase the Abundance of Ammonia-Oxidising Bacteria, but Suppress N2O Emissions after Fertilisation 272 JAN NYSSEN, ZBELO TESFAMARIAM, BIRHANU BIRUK, BIADGILGN DEMISSIE, TESFAALEM GHEBREYOHANNES, HAILEMARIAM MEAZA, JEAN POESEN, VEERLE VAN EETVELDE, AMANUEL ZENEBE, JOZEF DECKERS, MITIKU HAILE, AMAURY FRANKL: Geographical Determinants of the Fertiliser Black Market in North Ethiopia Posters ABDELRAHIM MOHAMED YOUSIF, MUBARAK ABDALLA: Effect of Application of Composted Manures on Growth, Yield and Yield Components of Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L.) in Sandy Desert Soil, North Kordofan State, Sudan LUZ ASIO, NEMESIO TAMAYO, NENITA DELA CRUZ: Response of a Traditional Sweetpotato (Ipomoea batatas [L])	Nutrients from Organic Waste to Improve Soil Health and	270
NIKOLA TEUTSCHEROVÁ, EDUARDO VAZQUEZ, JACOBO ARANGO, ASHLY AREVALO, MARTA BENITO, MIRJAM PULLEMAN: Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi Increase the Abundance of Ammonia-Oxidising Bacteria, but Suppress N2O Emissions after Fertilisation 272 JAN NYSSEN, ZBELO TESFAMARIAM, BIRHANU BIRUK, BIADGILGN DEMISSIE, TESFAALEM GHEBREYOHANNES, HAILEMARIAM MEAZA, JEAN POESEN, VEERLE VAN EETVELDE, AMANUEL ZENEBE, JOZEF DECKERS, MITIKU HAILE, AMAURY FRANKL: Geographical Determinants of the Fertiliser Black Market in North Ethiopia 273 Posters ABDELRAHIM MOHAMED YOUSIF, MUBARAK ABDALLA: Effect of Application of Composted Manures on Growth, Yield and Yield Components of Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L.) in Sandy Desert Soil, North Kordofan State, Sudan LUZ ASIO, NEMESIO TAMAYO, NENITA DELA CRUZ: Response of a Traditional Sweetpotato (Ipomoea batatas [L])	HAMMED JIBRIN, ALPHA YAYA KAMARA, JAIROS RURINDA, PETER CRAUFURD, BASSAM ABDULRAHMAN LAWAN: Site-Specific Nutrient Requirement for two Different Maize	
ARANGO, ASHLY AREVALO, MARTA BENITO, MIRJAM PULLEMAN: Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi Increase the Abundance of Ammonia-Oxidising Bacteria, but Suppress N2O Emissions after Fertilisation 272 JAN NYSSEN, ZBELO TESFAMARIAM, BIRHANU BIRUK, BIADGILGN DEMISSIE, TESFAALEM GHEBREYOHANNES, HAILEMARIAM MEAZA, JEAN POESEN, VEERLE VAN EETVELDE, AMANUEL ZENEBE, JOZEF DECKERS, MITIKU HAILE, AMAURY FRANKL: Geographical Determinants of the Fertiliser Black Market in North Ethiopia 273 Posters ABDELRAHIM MOHAMED YOUSIF, MUBARAK ABDALLA: Effect of Application of Composted Manures on Growth, Yield and Yield Components of Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L.) in Sandy Desert Soil, North Kordofan State, Sudan LUZ ASIO, NEMESIO TAMAYO, NENITA DELA CRUZ: Response of a Traditional Sweetpotato (Ipomoea batatas [L])		271
Ammonia-Oxidising Bacteria, but Suppress N2O Emissions after Fertilisation 272 JAN NYSSEN, ZBELO TESFAMARIAM, BIRHANU BIRUK, BIADGILGN DEMISSIE, TESFAALEM GHEBREYOHANNES, HAILEMARIAM MEAZA, JEAN POESEN, VEERLE VAN EETVELDE, AMANUEL ZENEBE, JOZEF DECKERS, MITIKU HAILE, AMAURY FRANKL: Geographical Determinants of the Fertiliser Black Market in North Ethiopia 273 Posters ABDELRAHIM MOHAMED YOUSIF, MUBARAK ABDALLA: Effect of Application of Composted Manures on Growth, Yield and Yield Components of Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L.) in Sandy Desert Soil, North Kordofan State, Sudan 274 LUZ ASIO, NEMESIO TAMAYO, NENITA DELA CRUZ: Response of a Traditional Sweetpotato (Ipomoea batatas [L])	Arango, Ashly Arevalo, Marta Benito, Mirjam	
BIADGILGN DEMISSIE, TESFAALEM GHEBREYOHANNES, HAILEMARIAM MEAZA, JEAN POESEN, VEERLE VAN EETVELDE, AMANUEL ZENEBE, JOZEF DECKERS, MITIKU HAILE, AMAURY FRANKL: Geographical Determinants of the Fertiliser Black Market in North Ethiopia 273 Posters ABDELRAHIM MOHAMED YOUSIF, MUBARAK ABDALLA: Effect of Application of Composted Manures on Growth, Yield and Yield Components of Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L.) in Sandy Desert Soil, North Kordofan State, Sudan LUZ ASIO, NEMESIO TAMAYO, NENITA DELA CRUZ: Response of a Traditional Sweetpotato (Ipomoea batatas [L])	Ammonia-Oxidising Bacteria, but Suppress N ₂ O Emissions	272
Geographical Determinants of the Fertiliser Black Market in North Ethiopia 273 Posters ABDELRAHIM MOHAMED YOUSIF, MUBARAK ABDALLA: Effect of Application of Composted Manures on Growth, Yield and Yield Components of Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L.) in Sandy Desert Soil, North Kordofan State, Sudan 274 LUZ ASIO, NEMESIO TAMAYO, NENITA DELA CRUZ: Response of a Traditional Sweetpotato (Ipomoea batatas [L])	BIADGILGN DEMISSIE, TESFAALEM GHEBREYOHANNES, HAILEMARIAM MEAZA, JEAN POESEN, VEERLE VAN EETVELDE, AMANUEL ZENEBE, JOZEF DECKERS, MITIKU	
Posters ABDELRAHIM MOHAMED YOUSIF, MUBARAK ABDALLA: Effect of Application of Composted Manures on Growth, Yield and Yield Components of Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L.) in Sandy Desert Soil, North Kordofan State, Sudan LUZ ASIO, NEMESIO TAMAYO, NENITA DELA CRUZ: Response of a Traditional Sweetpotato (Ipomoea batatas [L])	Geographical Determinants of the Fertiliser Black Market in	
ABDELRAHIM MOHAMED YOUSIF, MUBARAK ABDALLA: Effect of Application of Composted Manures on Growth, Yield and Yield Components of Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L.) in Sandy Desert Soil, North Kordofan State, Sudan 274 LUZ ASIO, NEMESIO TAMAYO, NENITA DELA CRUZ: Response of a Traditional Sweetpotato (Ipomoea batatas [L])	North Ethiopia	273
Effect of Application of Composted Manures on Growth, Yield and Yield Components of Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L.) in Sandy Desert Soil, North Kordofan State, Sudan 274 LUZ ASIO, NEMESIO TAMAYO, NENITA DELA CRUZ: Response of a Traditional Sweetpotato (Ipomoea batatas [L])		
Response of a Traditional Sweetpotato (Ipomoea batatas [L])	Effect of Application of Composted Manures on Growth, Yield and Yield Components of Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L.) in	274
	Response of a Traditional Sweetpotato (Ipomoea batatas [L])	275

FELIX THIEL, NILS BORCHARD, OLE BOYSEN, BERND MARSCHNER, BIPIN KHANAL, D.M.P.S. DISSANAYAKE: Fertiliser Optimisation Approach to Integrate Co-Compost into Fertilisation Strategies on Large Scale Plantations	276
NILNI SANDEEPANI, JAYANTHA WEERAKKODY, INDIKA KARUNARATHNE: Use of <i>Panicum maximum</i> as a Source of Biofertiliser and Biochar on Crop Response of <i>Raphanus sativus</i> L. in Organic Cultivation	277
Daniel Van Vugt, Nikhil Jones, Ken Giller, Linus Franke: Exploring Input Options for Crop Intensification and Diversification in Maize-Based Farming Systems in Malawi	278
MARYAM HABIBI, MAJID MAJIDIAN, MOHAMMAD RABIEE: Canola Response to Zinc, Sulfur and Boron Fertilisation	279
RICH KOFITUO, DANIEL SARPONG, GODFRED OFOSU-BUDU: Adoption of Local Organic Resources for Soil Fertility Improvement in Crop Production: Ghana	280
MICHEL OUYABE, HIDEHIKO KIKUNO, NAOTO TANAKA, PACHAKKIL BABIL, HIRONOBU SHIWACHI: Diversity of Nitrogen-Fixing Bacteria Associated with Yams (Dioscorea spp.)	281
SAMI UL-ALLAH, MUHAMMAD IJAZ, TAUQEER AHMAD YASIR UMER FAROOQ KHERA, MUHAMMAD IQBAL, MUHAMMAD NAEEM: Performance of Maize Hybrids under Drought Stress Con-	,
ditions Affected by Potassium Application in a Subtropical Semi-Arid Climate	282
EEUSHA NAFI, ISAAC DANSO, MICHAEL FREI, THOMAS GAISER: Impact of Alternative Management Practice on Fertiliser Page vor by Cotton in Different Soil Types of West A frien	202
Recovery by Cotton in Different Soil Types of West-Africa AFSANEH YOUSEFI, REZA MIRZAEITALARPOSHTI, FATEMEH AGHAMIR, JAFAR NABATI, SAEID SOUFIZADEH: Effect of Nitrogen Stabilizing and Potassium and Phosphorus Solubilising Bacteria on Mungbean (Vigna radiata) Yield	283284
HANNAH A. GRAEF, DENIS K. KIOBIA, PAUL SAIDIA, FREDERICK C. KAHIMBA, FRIEDER GRAEF, BETTINA EICHLER-LOEBERMANN: Combined Tied Ridge, Fertiliser Microdosing and Biochar Effects on Maize Production under Contrasting Water Supply	285

RYO MATSUMOTO, HARUKI ISHIKAWA, SAM KORIE, DAVID DE KOEYER: Varietal Differences in Tuber Yield and Fertiliser Response in a F1 Mapping Population of Water Yam (Dioscorea alata L.)	286
ISAAC VINCENT, BOSHUWENDA ANDRE CHUMA, KALIMUTHU SENTHILKUMAR, ARISOA RAJAONA, FOLKARD ASCH: Linking Leaf Color Charts and Crop N-Status to Guide Fertiliser Application in Highland Rice Production Systems of Rwanda	287
ELIAH MUNDA, MARIA ISABEL ANDRADE, GODWILL SIMBA MAKUNDE, JOHAN SIX, JACOBUS PIETERSE PIETERSE, ENGIL ISADORA PEREIRA: Improving Sweetpotato Production through Sweetpotato - Legume Intercropping and Use of Phosphorus Fertilisers in Mozambique	288
JULIAN RUGGABER, KONRAD EGENOLF, PHILIPP SCHAD, NIKOLA TEUTSCHEROVÁ, EDUARDO VAZQUEZ, ASHLY AREVALO, JACOBO ARANGO, FRANK RASCHE: Do Mycorrhiza Play a Role in the BNI Performance of Brachiaria humidicola?	289
TAHA SARHAN, ABDULRAHEEM MOHAMMED: Effect of Spraying with Humic Acid on Grafted Watermelon Plants	290
HOANG KHANH NGUYEN, LE ANH HUNG, DANG NHAT QUYNH BAO, MICHAEL BÖHME: Effect of Liquid Digestate of a Biogas Plant Using Rice Straw, as Biofertiliser in Paddy Rice Cultivation in Comparison with Mineral Fertiliser in Tien Giang Province, Vietnam	291
AMIN SALEHI, ZAHRA SHAHBAZI, MOHSEN MOVAHEDI DEHNAVI, HOOSHANG FARAJEE: Enhancing Quality and Yield of European Borage (Borago officinalis) by Simultaneous Application of Vermicompost and Mycorrhiza	292
JUAN BARROSO, LISA PATACZEK, THOMAS HILGER, ZAHIR AHMAD ZAHIR, GEORG CADISCH: Effect of PGPR and Rhizobium phaseoli on Nitrogen Fixation of Mungbean (Vigna radiata) under Dryland Conditions	293
MOHAMAD JAVAD FEREIDOONI, SIMA ABBASI: Effect of Vermicompost, Mycorrhiza and Phosphate Biofertiliser Barvar-2 on Quantity and Quality Yield of Safflower (Carthamus tinctorious L.)	294
	DE KOEYER: Varietal Differences in Tuber Yield and Fertiliser Response in a F1 Mapping Population of Water Yam (Dioscorea alata L.) ISAAC VINCENT, BOSHUWENDA ANDRE CHUMA, KALIMUTHU SENTHILKUMAR, ARISOA RAJAONA, FOLKARD ASCH: Linking Leaf Color Charts and Crop N-Status to Guide Fertiliser Application in Highland Rice Production Systems of Rwanda ELIAH MUNDA, MARIA ISABEL ANDRADE, GODWILL SIMBA MAKUNDE, JOHAN SIX, JACOBUS PIETERSE PIETERSE, ENGIL ISADORA PEREIRA: Improving Sweetpotato Production through Sweetpotato - Legume Intercropping and Use of Phosphorus Fertilisers in Mozambique JULIAN RUGGABER, KONRAD EGENOLF, PHILIPP SCHAD, NIKOLA TEUTSCHEROVÁ, EDUARDO VAZQUEZ, ASHLY AREVALO, JACOBO ARANGO, FRANK RASCHE: Do Mycorrhiza Play a Role in the BNI Performance of Brachiaria humidicola? TAHA SARHAN, ABDULRAHEEM MOHAMMED: Effect of Spraying with Humic Acid on Grafted Watermelon Plants HOANG KHANH NGUYEN, LE ANH HUNG, DANG NHAT QUYNH BAO, MICHAEL BÖHME: Effect of Liquid Digestate of a Biogas Plant Using Rice Straw, as Biofertiliser in Paddy Rice Cultivation in Comparison with Mineral Fertiliser in Tien Giang Province, Vietnam AMIN SALEHI, ZAHRA SHAHBAZI, MOHSEN MOVAHEDI DEHNAVI, HOOSHANG FARAJEE: Enhancing Quality and Yield of European Borage (Borago officinalis) by Simultaneous Application of Vermicompost and Mycorrhiza JUAN BARROSO, LISA PATACZEK, THOMAS HILGER, ZAHIR AHMAD ZAHIR, GEORG CADISCH: Effect of PGPR and Rhizobium phaseoli on Nitrogen Fixation of Mungbean (Vigna radiata) under Dryland Conditions MOHAMAD JAVAD FEREIDOONI, SIMA ABBASI: Effect of Vermicompost, Mycorrhiza and Phosphate Biofertiliser Barvar-2 on Quantity and Quality Yield of Safflower

BOSHUWENDA ANDRE CHUMA, KALIMUTHU SENTHILKUMAR ARISOA RAJAONA, KALISA ALAIN, MARC COTTER, FOLKARD ASCH: Effect of Fertiliser Rates and Splits on Lowland Rice in two Temperature Environments in Rwanda – With a Special Focus on the Effectivity of Basal Applications	, 295
GÖTZ UCKERT, HANNAH A. GRAEF, MA HUA, FRIEDER GRAEF, YUSTO YUSTAS, VALERIAN SILAYO, STEFAN SIEBER, SONOKO DOROTHEA BELLINGRATH-KIMURA, HARRY HOFFMANN:	
Effects of Biochar and the Use of TLUD-Reactors in Rural Areas for Cooking and Soil	296
DAVID WALL, RACHEL CREAMER, GIDENA TASEW REDA, MEHRETAB YOHALASHET, ABBADI GIRMAY, STEFFEN SCHULZ, ROGIER SCHULTE: Agricultural Fertility and Environmental Resources (AFER) in Ethiopia	297
AGEGNEHU SHIBABAW, GETACHEW ALEMEYEHU DAMOT, ENYEW ADGO, FOLKARD ASCH, BERNHARD FREYER: Effects of Organic Manure and Crop Rotation Systems on the	
Grain Yield of Wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i> L.) in the Highlands of Ethiopia	298
HAMED KESHAVARZ, SEYED ALI MOHAMMAD MODARES SANAVY: Modification of Yield and Oil Quality of Peppermint by	
Different Soil Fertility and Water Limitation	299
FELIX HOLTKAMP, LIN-BO WU, MICHAEL FREI: Confirmation and Functional Characterisation of Potassium Ion Channel Gene for Iron Toxicity Tolerance in Rice	300

Fertiliser Recommendation Guidelines Based on Soil Tests: Solutions to Farmer Problems or a Tower of Babel?

GEORGE AYAGA¹, DAVID MBAKAYA¹, JOHN ACHIENG¹, GERRIT GERDES², FLORA AIWERA²

Soil testing has been promoted for many years as the basis for making sound lime and fertiliser use decisions. However misunderstandings still exists on what can and cannot be gained from soil testing. A testament to these misunderstandings is the number of small holder farmers especially in developing countries who do not have access to good historical soil test information. With increasing fertiliser prices, the importance of soil testing for accurate and cost effective fertiliser recommendations has become more important than ever. Thus it is imperative that conclusions drawn based on soil test regardless of which methods are used for the analysis should reflect as much as possible the accurate nutrient requirement for improving crop production if farmers have to benefit. This paper reports on varying recommendations made on same soil samples by six different laboratories in Western Kenya. Twenty soil samples collected from five counties in Kenya were sent to six different laboratories for analysis and providing recommendations on appropriate fertiliser use for each sample based on the soil test results. The different laboratories used different methods of analysis including wet chemistry and near infrared spectroscopy. Variations attributed to the methods of analysis was not the main focus in this study but rather the interpretations derived from the results as the basis of formulating fertiliser recommendation guides. There were highly significant differences on the type and rates of fertiliser and lime recommendations emanating from the six laboratories for the same soil samples. Cost benefit analyses assuming a double maize grain yield increase reveal huge losses farmers would incur up to the tune of 100 USD per hectare while following recommendations from the different laboratories on the same farm. It is clear from this study that the way different government and commercial laboratories interpret how much fertiliser or lime to apply for a given soil test level may still be debatable. This inevitably may lead not only to farmer confusion and mistrust on the recommendations made for fertiliser use based on soil tests but to unwarranted financial loss while at the same time posing serious environmental challenges if not controlled.

Keywords: Fertiliser, interpretation, laboratories, recommendation, soil, testing

¹Kenya Agricultural and Livestock Research Organization (KALRO), Kenya

²Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ), Kenya

Contact Address: George Ayaga, Kenya Agricultural and Livestock Research Organization (KALRO), Alupe, Kenya, e-mail: ayagag@yahoo.com

Nutrients from Organic Waste to Improve Soil Health and Enhance Food Security in Sri Lanka

MAKSUD BEKCHANOV

University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Germany

Effective management of organic waste and wastewater is crucial for preventing environmental pollution and health degradation in Sri Lanka. Since externality costs of open dumping of organic waste and investment costs of sanitary landfilling are quite high, recovering nutrients from biodegradable waste can be an option to reduce the environmental externalities while providing marketable output – compost. Thus, compost from organic waste can also considerably substitute the imports and agricultural applications of chemical fertilisers. Considering these multiple benefits, an economic optimisation model is applied to assess the costs and potentials of compost production and distribution in Sri Lanka. Model was calibrated using data from multiple statistical reports from national and international development organisations. Three scenarios are tested and compared each other. The first scenario considers the situation no organic waste is produced and distributed. The second scenario addresses the case where compost plants are implemented in urban area and produced compost is used in the province where it is produces. The last scenario takes into account possibility of the distribution of the produced compost. The results indicate that recycling organic waste into compost can considerably reduce fertiliser import costs (US\$ 104-145 Million), sanitary landfilling costs (US\$ 214-406 Million) and environmental pollution costs (US\$ 127-142 Million). Inter-provincial distribution of the recovered nutrients from organic waste in Sri Lanka would considerably contribute to reducing the shortage of fertilisers in major farming areas in the country and further reduce the costs of importing chemical fertilisers. Compost quality certification and easiness of obtaining land use rights for establishing compost plants are also important for expansion of nutrients recovery from organic waste streams.

Keywords: Compost, environmental externality, fertiliser demand and trade, optimisation model, resources recovery and reuse (RRR)

Contact Address: Maksud Bekchanov, University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Bonn, Germany, e-mail: maksud_83@mail.ru

Site-Specific Nutrient Requirement for two Different Maize Maturity Groups in Northern Nigerian Savannah Agro-Ecological Zone

BELLO MUHAMMAD SHEHU¹, ROEL MERCKX¹, JIBRIN MOHAMMED JIBRIN², ALPHA YAYA KAMARA³, JAIROS RURINDA⁴, PETER CRAUFURD⁵, BASSAM ARDULRAHMAN LAWAN²

Maize is the most widely grown cereal in Nigeria and yet its productivity has remained low. Blanket and imbalanced nutrient recommendations are one of the major reasons for low nutrient use efficiency and low crop productivity. The QUEFTS (quantitative evaluation of fertility of tropical soils) model was used to estimate site-specific nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P) and potassium (K) requirements for two different maize varieties from two maturity groups, i.e. a hybrid variety Oba Super-1 (105-110 days to maturity) and an open-pollinated variety EVDT-W-STR (90-95 days to maturity) in the northern Nigerian savannah agro-ecological zone. Data from on-farm nutrient omission trials conducted in the 2015 and 2016 rainy seasons across the northern Nigerian savannah were used to calibrate QUEFTS model. The parameters of maximum accumulation (a) and dilution (d) in kg grain per kg nutrient for the model were N (28, 68), P (164, 492), K (20, 211) for *Oba Super-1* and N (32, 71), P (209, 528), K (30, 92) for EVDT-W-STR, respectively. The model showed nutrient contents of at 80% yield potential (8000 kg per hectare) of 22.37, 3.39 and 37.95 kg N, P, and K per 1000 kg of *Oba Super-1* grain and 16.94, 3.95 and 29.26 kg N, P and K per 1000 kg of EVDT-W-STR grain. These results suggested an average NPK ratio in the plant dry matter of about 6.6:1:11.19 for Oba Supa-1 and 4.3:1:7.4 for EVDT-W-STR. The observed grain yields were in good agreement with the values simulated by the calibrated model (r2 = 0.79 and 0.91 for *Oba Super-1* and *EVDT-W-STR*, respectively), indicating that the model can be used for site-specific fertiliser recommendations for maize in the northern Nigerian savannah agro-ecological zone.

Keywords: Maize, nutrient requirement, QUEFTS model

ID 281 271

¹KU Leuven, Dept. of Earth and Environmental Sciences, Belgium

²Bayero University Kano, Centre for Dryland Agriculture, Dept. of Soil Science, Nigeria

³International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), R4D, Nigeria

⁴International Plant Nutrition Institute (IPNI), Kenya

⁵International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center (CIMMYT), Kenya

Contact Address: Bello Muhammad Shehu, KU Leuven, Dept. of Earth and Environmental Sciences, Kasteelpark Arenberg 20, 3001 Leuven, Belgium, e-mail: bellomuhammad.shehu@kuleuven.be

Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi Increase the Abundance of Ammonia-Oxidising Bacteria, but Suppress N_2O Emissions after Fertilisation

NIKOLA TEUTSCHEROVÁ¹, EDUARDO VAZQUEZ¹, JACOBO ARANGO², ASHLY AREVALO². MARTA BENITO¹. MIRJAM PULLEMAN³

The potential of the symbiosis between plants and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from soil is gaining scientific attention in the last years. Given the relatively high nitrogen (N) requirements of the AMF and their generally positive effect on host plant growth, AMF may reduce the availability of mineral N that would otherwise be subject to nitrification, which is associated with N₂O emissions. We investigated the impact of AMF on the growth of tropical grass Brachiaria decumbens Stapf. and N2O released after urea application. To detect the role of nitrification in N₂O emissions we used the nitrification inhibitor dicyandiamide (DCD). A mesocosm study (106 days) with two AMF treatments (with and without AMF) and three fertilisation treatments (control, urea and urea+DCD) was set up and plant growth, soil properties and N2O emissions were measured for two weeks after fertiliser application. Without DCD, the production of N₂O was significantly increased by urea, suggesting that inhibition of nitrification can mitigate N_2O emissions. The cumulative emissions of N₂O after urea application were reduced by 46% in the presence of AMF when compared to non-AMF pots. Nevertheless, the abundance of ammonia-oxidising bacteria (AOB) was increased by urea and AMF, while plant growth was reduced by the AMF presence. The increased root:shoot ratio of the biomass in AMF- pots suggests competition for N between AMF and plants. In this study, we demonstrated that immobilisation of N by AMF may significantly reduce N₂O emissions, at least in the short-term, even when plant growth is reduced. Furthermore, the inverse relationship found between (higher) AOB abundance and (lower) nitrification rates suggests that changes in the activity of AOB, rather than abundance, may be indicative of the impact of the mycorrhizal symbiosis on N cycling in tropical grasslands. Alternatively, the difference between N₂O emissions from AMF and non-AMF pots may (partly) be explained by increased reduction of N₂O in the presence of AMF. Longer-term studies are needed to verify whether the observed effects of AMF on N₂O emissions and/or plant growth persist or are limited to initial immobilisation of N by AMF in N-limited systems.

Keywords: Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, Brachiaria, N₂O emissions, nitrification, urea

¹Technical University of Madrid, Dept. of Agricultural Production, Spain

²International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Colombia

³Wageningen University and Research, The Netherlands

Contact Address: Nikola Teutscherová, Technical University of Madrid, School of Agricultural, Food and Biosystems Engineering, Dept. of Agricultural Production, Av. Puerta de Hierro, 2, 28040 Madrid, Spain, e-mail: n.teutscherova@gmail.com

Geographical Determinants of the Fertiliser Black Market in North Ethiopia

JAN NYSSEN¹, ZBELO TESFAMARIAM^{1,2}, BIRHANU BIRUK², BIADGILGN DEMISSIE¹, TESFAALEM GHEBREYOHANNES¹, HAILEMARIAM MEAZA^{1,2}, JEAN POESEN³, VEERLE VAN EETVELDE¹, AMANUEL ZENEBE^{4,5}, JOZEF DECKERS³, MITIKU HAILE⁵. AMAURY FRANKL¹

As a response to low agricultural productivity, inorganic fertiliser sales have exponentially grown in Ethiopia, and evidence exists of a supply that is beyond the demand in the drier northern parts of the country. Hence, we have investigated the geographical determinants of the fertiliser black market in north Ethiopia. Quantitative data on fertiliser provision and prices on the black market in 2016 were obtained from official statistics and from key informants in each of the 35 studied districts and in all municipalities of the Raya area. Environmental variables were collected from spatial databases. To promote inorganic fertiliser, agricultural experts use incentives, and also barter the purchase of fertiliser by a farmer against food aid or other advantages from the authorities. The high application rate that is aimed at (200 kg ha⁻¹) contrasts with the dominance of less-responsive soils in the study area, for which inorganic fertiliser application does not result in higher crop yields, or even leads to root burn. The quantitative analysis shows that 40.7 103 Mg of fertiliser were officially sold in the study area in 2016, which corresponds to 52 kg ha^{-1} . This is notably different from the application rate, as reselling widely occurs, at 50 % of the official price for diammonium phosphate (DAP) and 54 % for urea, mostly to users outside the community. By accepting the opportunity offered by agricultural companies and traders, smallholders save themselves from greater losses. The black market rate is strongly and positively correlated to monthly rainfall at sowing time (July 2016) ($R^2 = 0.44$; n = 31; p < 0.01). In four districts with spate irrigation, black market prices for inorganic fertiliser are extremely low (35% of the official rate) and small quantities are sold officially (32 kg ha⁻¹). This corresponds to the farmers' saying that there "nobody needs inorganic fertiliser since the spate irrigation adds organic and inorganic nutrients yearly". We found similarities to the 'Green Revolution' of the 1970s in Mexico: the forced delivery of high-cost fertiliser, and the reselling at half price in the black market. Inorganic fertilisers are one of the elements that have allowed boosting agricultural production in Ethiopia; our findings indicate however that in the study area, the fertiliser policy needs to be much fine-tuned so that it is led by agronomic needs, rather than by statistics of inorganic fertiliser consumption, that hide complex environmental variability and socio-political relations.

Keywords: Black market, chemical fertiliser, integrated soil fertility management, spate irrigation

ID 929 273

¹Ghent University, Dept. of Geography, Belgium

²Mekelle University, Dept. of Geography and Environmental Studies, Ethiopia

³Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, Dept. of Earth and Environmental Sciences, Belgium

⁴Mekelle University, Inst. of Climate and Society, Ethiopia

⁵Mekelle University, Dept. of Land Res. Manag. and Environ. Protection, Ethiopia

Contact Address: Jan Nyssen, Ghent University, Dept. of Geography, Krijgslaan 281 (S8), B-9000 Ghent, Belgium, e-mail: jan.nyssen@ugent.be

Effect of Application of Composted Manures on Growth, Yield and Yield Components of Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L.) in Sandy Desert Soil, North Kordofan State, Sudan

ABDELRAHIM MOHAMED YOUSIF¹, MUBARAK ABDALLA²

Sandy soils contribute significantly in production of important stable food crops. However, the agricultural utilisation of such soils is based on improvement hypothesis of their constraints using organic manures. A two year field experiment was carried out at the Experimental Research Farm of the University of Kordofan (Sudan) to investigate the effects of composted manures and inorganic fertilisers on growth, yield, and yield components of two sorghum varieties (Butana and Arfa Gadmak) cultivated on a sandy soil. Treatments were (1) Control (without fertiliser application), (2) composted farm yard manure (FYM) applied at 20 t ha-1, (3) NPK (applied at the rate of 36 kg ha-1), combined with composted FYM at 20 t ha⁻¹, (4) composted chicken manure (CM) applied at 5 t ha⁻¹, (5) NPK (36 kg ha⁻¹) combined with composted CM at 5 t ha⁻¹, (6) NPK only (36 kg ha⁻¹), (7) composted (FYM) combined with composted CM applied each at 12.5 t ha⁻¹ and (8) NPK (36 kg ha⁻¹) combined with composted mixed FYM and CM (applied each at 12.5 tha⁻¹). Treatments were arranged in a split-plot design where varieties were designated to the main plots and fertilisers to the sub plots. Addition of composted manures significantly increased soil organic carbon (OC) by 50 % and available P between 43 to 105 %, whereas, pH and bulk density decreased by 2% and 6%, respectively. Integration of organic and inorganic fertilisers increased leaf area index (LAI) over the inorganic source only by 28%, whereas the highest LAI was recorded for sole application of CM (0.82) or CM supplemented with inorganic fertiliser (1.1) as compared to the NPK treatment (0.54). This study also showed differences between varieties. The Butana variety showed a much better nutrients use efficiency as the Arfa Gadmak variety. Incorporation of CM produced a significant higher head seed weight (8.49 g) than that obtained for the combined application of CM and NPK (7.92 g) or for the NPK only treatment (7.99 g). The overall grain yield showed the same pattern: CM > CM integrated with NPK > NPK. However, due to possible N immobilisation, sole application of FYM is not recommended since it decreased grain yield. Consequently, augmenting stable manure with inorganic N resource is recommended for improving sorghum performance. Based on the findings of the N mineralisation carried out in this study, it is recommended that compost application should be done 4 weeks before sowing.

Keywords: Compost, dryland, reclamation, soil fertility, yield

Contact Address: Mubarak Abdalla, University of Khartoum, Desertification and Desert Cultivation Studies Institute, 13314 Khartoum, Sudan, e-mail: mubarakgeziraaba@gmail.com

¹Kordofan University, Dept. of Soil and Water Sciences, Sudan

²University of Khartoum, Desertification and Desert Cultivation Studies Institute, Sudan

Response of a Traditional Sweetpotato (*Ipomoea batatas* [L]) Variety to Fertilisation in Leyte, Philippines

Luz Asio¹, Nemesio Tamayo², Nenita Dela Cruz³

In the Philippines, very few agronomic studies have been done on traditional sweetpotato varieties despite the fact that these are very popular by local consumers. This study evaluated the response of a traditional variety (var. Siete Flores) to NPK fertilisation. Three separate N, P and K fertilisation experiments were laid out arranged in RCBD with 3 replications. The N experiment had 7 levels: 0 (no N), 40, 80, 120, 160, 200, 240 kg ha⁻¹ N while there were 6 levels for the P experiment: 0 (no P), 20, 40, 60, 80, 120 kg ha⁻¹ P₂O₅ and 9 levels for the K experiment: 0 (no K), 30, 60, 90, 120, 160, 200, 240, 280 kg ha $^{-1}$ K₂O. Results revealed that application of different rates of N, P₂O₅ and K₂O significantly increased the dry matter yield, weight of marketable and non-marketable roots, and total root yield. Regardless of fertilisation, the traditional variety had low harvest index of < 20% (0.20) indicating its low yielding characteristic. The study found that 30% of the maximum yield of the crop was supplied by the inherent soil N, 50 % by the inherent soil P and 60 % by the inherent soil K. It proved that inherent soil fertility considerably affects the yield of sweetpotato thus, use of blanket fertiliser recommendations as is currently practised in the Philippines, could result in either under or over fertilisation. Optimum rates of NPK application for the soil used were 118, 38 and 90 kg ha ⁻¹ of N, P₂O₅ and K₂O. NPK fertilisation did not significantly influence the nutritional quality of sweetpotato (crude protein, total carbohydrates and crude fibre). Average crude fibre was 20 % indicating that this variety can be promoted as a health food.

Keywords: Fertilisation, Philippines, sweetpotato, traditional variety, tropical rootcrops

ID 621 275

¹Visayas State University, Dept. of Agronomy, Philippines

²Central Luzon State University, Dept. of Crop Science, Philippines

³Central Luzon State University, Dept. of Soil Science, Philippines

Contact Address: Luz Asio, Visayas State University, Dept. of Agronomy, College of Agriculture and Food Science, 6521 Baybay City, Philippines, e-mail: luz.asio@vsu.edu.ph

Use of *Panicum maximum* as a Source of Biofertiliser and Biochar on Crop Response of *Raphanus sativus* L. in Organic Cultivation

NILNI SANDEEPANI¹, JAYANTHA WEERAKKODY¹, INDIKA KARUNARATHNE²

Panicum maximum is an alien invasive perennial weed becoming a threat to environment and agriculture in Sri Lanka. Its control is extremely difficult and expensive due to its heavy dispersion ability. Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) associated with Panicum maximum root system are having the ability to produce various phytohormones that improve root growth, adsorption of water and minerals that eventually support successful plant growth. Biochar is a soil amendment that enhance the nutrient retention capacity and reduce the total fertiliser requirements by reducing the loss of nutrients via leaching and high cation & anion exchange capacity. Above ground parts of the *P. maximum* can be used to produce biochar. This research was conducted to evaluate the possibility of using PGPR associated with P. maximum roots as a simple and low cost biofertiliser preparation and use of biochar made from P. maximum as a soil amendment that could be helpful in controlling P. maximum as well as organic agriculture promotion in Sri Lanka. Pieces of P. maximum roots and roots washed solution were two forms of biofertilisers. Vegetative growth, yield and quality of the crop Raphanus sativus L. (Radish) grown in an organic system was evaluated by applying two forms of biofertilisers and biochar into the soil. Six treatment combinations of biochar and biofertiliser were tested as a pot trial in a polytunnel. A significant highest number of leaves and highest yield parameters were observed in radish grown with root pieces of Panicum maximum without biochar. Further it exhibited significantly better sensory properties for radish quality compared to other treatments. It was concluded that root pieces of *P. maximum* can be used as the source of biofertiliser to enhance vegetative growth, yield and quality of radish in organic agriculture. Significant short term effects were not apparent with *P. maximum* biochar application.

Keywords: Bio-fertiliser, biochar, *Panicum maximum*, PGPR, radish, roots

ID 585 277

¹Wayamba University of Sri Lanka, Plantation Management, Sri Lanka

² Wayamba University of Sri Lanka, ICT Centre, Sri Lanka

Contact Address: Jayantha Weerakkody, Wayamba University of Sri Lanka, Dept. of Plantation Management, 60170 Makandura, Sri Lanka, e-mail: wjskweera@gmail.com

Exploring Input Options for Crop Intensification and Diversification in Maize-Based Farming Systems in Malawi

DANIEL VAN VUGT¹, NIKHIL JONES², KEN GILLER³, LINUS FRANKE⁴

¹International Potato Center (CIP), Rtb. Malawi

Crop production by smallholder farmers in Southern Africa is characterised by cultivation of maize as a staple food on a large share of the agricultural land. Limited nutrient input results in soil nutrient depletion over time. There is need for productive farming systems that are better adapted to a changing climate, and that produce more diverse food to achieve both food and nutrition security. We combined yield results of 50 maize, 28 soybean, 24 groundnut and 26 sweetpotato on-farm input trials with economic analysis and focus group discussions in Central Malawi to explore options for crop intensification and diversification. Due to proper crop management and the use of good varieties in a season with above-average rainfall, excellent mean trial yields of 5.0 t ha⁻¹ for maize, 3.4 t ha⁻¹ for soybean, 2.5 t ha⁻¹ for groundnuts and 13.2 t ha⁻¹ for sweetpotato were achieved. Responses to various combinations of inorganic fertiliser and lime were highly variable, but applications enhanced yields in all crops. Although maize production and investments in maize fertiliser were not as profitable as the other crops, fertiliser application to maize gave the best returns of food per amount of money invested. Better yield responses and value cost ratios showed that investments in fertiliser and lime in soybean was more worthwhile than in groundnut, though the financial benefits were somewhat hidden by high groundnut prices. While there is potential to derive better financial returns from diversification and intensification with legumes and sweetpotato, farmers prioritise maize in terms of land area and resource allocation. Policies to enhance crop diversification and intensification should address the main constraints of lack of awareness of the agronomic and financial benefits of nutrient application to legumes and sweetpotato, unstable markets, access to credit and access to improved seed.

Keywords: Crop diversification, fertiliser, soil fertility, sustainable intensification, yield variability

²Technoserve, Malawi,

³Wageningen University and Research, Plant Production Systems, The Netherlands

⁴University of the Free State, Soil, Crop and Climate Sciences, South Africa

Contact Address: Daniel Van Vugt, International Potato Center (CIP), Rtb, Area 11 Plot No. 36 Chimutu Road, P.O. Box 31600 Lilongwe, Malawi, e-mail: d.vanvugt@cgiar.org

Canola Response to Zinc, Sulfur and Boron Fertilisation

Maryam Habibi¹, Majid Majidian¹, Mohammad Rabiee²

In order to evaluate the effect of boron (B), zinc (Zn) and sulfur (S) application on quantitative and qualitative agronomic characteristics of rapeseed (Brassica napus L. var. Hayola 401) in Rasht region, a field experiment was conducted at Rice Research Institute of Iran (Rasht) in a complete randomised block design with 8 treatments and 3 replications. Treatment consisted of control, B, Zn, S, B + Zn, B + S, Zn + S and B + Zn + S. Sulfur was added at the rate of 100 kg ha⁻¹ before sowing, boron was added as Borax (Na₂B₄O₇, 10H₂O) at the rate of 1.5 kg ha⁻¹, zinc was added as Zn 15 % EDTA at the rate of 1.5 kg ha⁻¹ were applied to the soil. Results showed that there were significant differences among treatments on traits, seed yield, oil yield, protein content, siliques number at plant, seed number at silique, thousand-seed weight, B, Zn and S contents of seed, oleic, linoleic, linolenic, palmitic, stearic, erusic fatty acids content of rapeseed oil. Highest seed yield (4157.6 kg ha⁻¹), oil yield (1770.2 kg ha⁻¹), siliques number at plant (195.92 number), seed number at silique (34.31 number) and thousand- seed weigh (3.7 gr) were obtained with B + Zn + S treatments. Maximum protein content in seed of rapeseed (24.62%) was observed with Zn treatment. Maximum seed B, Zn and S concentrations were recorded in B+ Zn + S treatment which was 15.7, 26.38 and 577.42 mg g $^{-1}$, respectively. Highest percentage oleic (234.8 mg g^{-1}) and linolenic (26.98 mg g^{-1}) acid in oil seed were obtained from B + Zn + S treatments. Among the different treatments the highest linoleic acid (55.98 mg g⁻¹) in oil was recorded in B + Zn treatment. Maximum stearic and erusic acid were obtained from control treatment which was 6.5 mg g⁻¹ and 1.01mg g⁻¹ respectively. S + Zn treatment produced the highest palmitic acid (15.53mg g $^{-1}$). This study showed that application of B, Zn and S fertilisers increased quantitative and qualitative yield of canola and improved the fatty acids composition of the oil.

Keywords: Element uptake, fatty acid, microelement, oleic acid, protein seed

ID 253 279

¹University of Guilan, Dept. of Agronomy and Plant Breeding, Iran

²Rice Research Institute of Iran, Agricultural Research Education and Extension Organisation. Iran

Contact Address: Majid Majidian, University of Guilan, Dept. of Agronomy and Plant Breeding, 41635-1314 Rasht, Iran, e-mail: ma_majidian@guilan.ac.ir

Adoption of Local Organic Resources for Soil Fertility Improvement in Crop Production: Ghana

RICH KOFITUO¹, DANIEL SARPONG¹, GODFRED OFOSU-BUDU²

¹University of Ghana, Dept. of Agricultural Economics and Agribusiness, Ghana

²University of Ghana, Forest and Horticultural Research Center, Ghana

The Organic Resource Management for the improvement of Soil Fertility project (ORM4SOIL: www.orm4soil.net) funded by SDC and SNFS as part of the Swiss Program for Research on Global Issues for Development (r4d programme) at the University of Ghana aims at improving soil fertility with concentration on adoption of local organic resources and cost-effective ways of improving soil fertility. This study sought to determine factors that influence intensity of adoption of local organic resources for soil fertility improvement in Ada West District of Ghana. Preliminary data were analysed using descriptive statistics, Tobit model, partial budget and breakeven analysis and showed that about 88.7% of crop farmers use organic materials out of which 49.5% use animal dropping other than cow dung and 39.2% use matured cow dung only as their local organic resource. Looking at the two-main local organic resources, the intensity (scale of 0-1) of use of other animal manure is 0.43 and the intensity of use of matured cow dung is 0.65. The factors that influence intensity of adoption of matured cow dung or animal manure are their cost, access to credit by farmers, educational level of farmers, farmers membership of farmer based organisations and farmers ownership of their lands.

The partial budget shows that, crop farmers who produced pepper recorded a net loss when they initially replaced inorganic fertiliser with matured cow dung. The breakeven point for pepper farmers using matured cow dung in soil fertility improvement is approximately 48 kg of pepper at a selling price of GHS 1200. The most pressing constraint of crop farmers in the use of matured cow dung and other animal manure for soil fertility improvement is its labour intensiveness. It is recommended that extension agents concentrate on training farmers on how to combine the use of matured cow dung and other animal manure with inorganic fertiliser in the right quantity to maximize production. Both cattle farmers and crop farmers should be given technical training in compost preparation to reduce the bulkiness and labour intensiveness of dealing with cow dung and other animal manure in soil fertility improvement.

Keywords: Adoption, crop farmers, Ghana, local organic resources, soil fertility improvement

Contact Address: Rich Kofituo, University of Ghana, Dept. of Agricultural Economics and Agribusiness, University of Ghana Main Campus, Accra, Ghana, e-mail: kofikofituo@gmail.com

Diversity of Nitrogen-Fixing Bacteria Associated with Yams (*Dioscorea* spp.)

MICHEL OUYABE, HIDEHIKO KIKUNO, NAOTO TANAKA, PACHAKKIL BABIL, HIRONOBU SHIWACHI

Tokyo University of Agriculture, Japan

Yams are important tuber crops in the tropical zones. Nitrogen is one of the limiting nutrients in vam production. In Africa, where the highest production is held, vam tuber yields are very low due to loss of soil fertility, and to unaffordable and expansive mineral fertilisers which are also not eco-friendly. In this context, identifying yam accessions that can rely on biological nitrogen fixation is necessary for achieving efficient and sustainable yam production. The aim of this study was to isolate and identify endophytic diazotrophic bacteria of vam. Endophytic bacteria were isolated from surface-sterilized roots, stems and leaves of vam accessions grown in nutrientpoor subsoil 160 days after planting. The nitrogen-free MR medium was used for culturing and purifying the endophytic bacteria. Sequencing of the 16S rRNA genes was performed for the fast-growing pure colonies. In total, 41 endophytes were found, belonging to 18 bacterial genera including Bacillus, Rhizobium, Burkholderia, Curtobacterium, Devosia, Mesorhizobium, Paenibacillus, Sphingomonas, Achromobacter, Bradyrhizobium, Ensifer, Enterobacter, Kocuria, Mycobacterium, Neorhizobium, Pseudaminobacter and Pseudoxanthomonas. Strains of Proteobacteria accounted for 56.10% of total isolates, followed by Firmicutes (34.15%) and Actinobacteria (9.75%). Most endophytes were isolated from stems (21) and roots (14), while only six were from the leaves. This is, to our knowledge, the first report where bacterial strains related to Curtobacterium sp., Ensifer sp., Kocuria sp., Mesorhizobium camelthorni, Mycobacterium cosmeticum, Pseudoxanthomonas indica, Paenibacillus panacisoli and Neorhizobium huautlense were fast grown on nitrogen-free medium, and their nitrogenase activities assessed through acetylene reduction assay. In D. escu*lenta*, the highest nitrogenase activity (57.4 nmol C₂H₄ tube⁻¹day⁻¹.) was recorded in the isolate E1T0R_Y6, belonging to the genus Bradyrhizobium sp., while it was 164 nmol C₂H₄ tube⁻¹day⁻¹ in *D. alata*, strain A23T1R_Y40, a strain related to the bacterial genus *Ensifer* sp. The plant growth promotion activities (PGP) of these isolates are to be investigated for selecting most promising nitrogen-fixing bacteria of yams.

Accession numbers of the bacterial 16S rRNA sequences obtained in this were submitted to the DNA Data Bank of Japan (DDBJ).

Keywords: Diazotrophes, Dioscorea, endophytes, yams

ID 160 281

Contact Address: Michel Ouyabe, Tokyo University of Agriculture, Tamaku Mita 2-3297, 214-0034 Kawasaki, Japan, e-mail: miki.1983.ouyabe@gmail.com

Impact of Alternative Management Practice on Fertiliser Recovery by Cotton in Different Soil Types of West-Africa

EEUSHA NAFI¹, ISAAC DANSO², MICHAEL FREI¹, THOMAS GAISER¹ University of Bonn, Inst. Crop Sci. and Res. Conserv. (INRES), Germany ²CSIR - Oil Palm Research Institute, Ghana

Cotton is still one of the most dominating cash crops grown by the smallholder famers in most of the countries of West-Africa. However, it is mainly grown in the lands with inheritably poor soil fertility and therefore, the most limiting nutrient, nitrogen, is often applied in a greater quantity. As a consequence, the task of improving nitrogen use efficiency by cotton cultivated in such soils has become a major challenge. In an attempt to recommend an alternative management practice for improving crop nutrient uptake, use efficiency, and yield, an experiment was conducted in 2013 on a Haplic Lixisol and a Plinthic Lixisol in Ourivouri, Benin Republic, and on a Ferric Lixisol and an Eutric Plinthosol in Tambiri, Burkina-Faso. The main goal of this study was to assess the single and interactive effects of tillage, crop residue incorporation, and nitrogen management on cotton nitrogen uptake (NU), and apparent nutrient recovery efficiency (ANR) from N fertiliser under 4 different soil types. The experiment was a strip-split-plot design with four replicates comprising two tillage systems (contour ridge and reduced tillage) in main plots, and two levels of crop residue (with and without) and three mineral nitrogen fertiliser rates (0, 45, 90 kg ha⁻¹) randomised within the sub-plots. At 4 weeks (vegetative stage) and 8 weeks (reproductive stage) after planting, whole cotton plants were sampled and analysed for nitrogen content. In Ferric Lixisol, Eutric Plinthosol, and Haplic Lixisol, the highest level of both NU and ANR was recorded under contour tillage with crop residue incorporation and 90 kg ha⁻¹ N dose. On the other hand, in Plinthic Lixisol, NU and ANR was highest under contour ridge tillage with crop residue and 45 kg ha⁻¹ N dose. A higher NU and ANR by contour ridge tillage, crop residue incorporation and judicious N application also significantly increased cotton yield at all the soil types. Therefore, the use of contour ridge tillage with judicial application of nitrogen fertiliser and crop residue should be promoted for the smallholder cotton farmers in West Africa as a measure to optimise farming practices.

Keywords: alternative management practice, apparent nutrient recovery efficiency, cotton, nitrogen uptake, soil type, West-Africa

ID 314 283

Contact Address: Eeusha Nafi, University of Bonn, Inst. Crop Sci. and Res. Conserv. (INRES), Katzenburgweg 5, 53115 Bonn, Germany, e-mail: eeusha.nafi@uni-bonn.de

Effect of Nitrogen Stabilizing and Potassium and Phosphorus Solubilising Bacteria on Mungbean (*Vigna radiata*) Yield

AFSANEH YOUSEFI¹, REZA MIRZAEITALARPOSHTI¹, FATEMEH AGHAMIR¹,

JAFAR NABATI², SAEID SOUFIZADEH¹

Biological fertilisers as an alternative to chemical fertilisers in sustainable agriculture can improve the quantitative and qualitative yield of crops. In order to investigate the effect of nitrogen stabilising bacteria, solubilising bacteria of potassium and phosphorus on mung bean yield, a field experiment was carried out using a randomised complete block with factorial treatment structure. Two mungbean (Vigna radiata) cultivars (Dezfouli & hendi) were cultivated in six treatments and three replications at the Agricultural Research Station, Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Iran in 2017. The biofertiliser treatments used in this study included: 1) nitro power bacter (NPB) 2) phosphate power bacter (PhPB) 3) potassium power bacter (PPB) 4) nitro power bacter+ phosphate power bacter + potassium power 5) nitrogen fertiliser (N) 6) control (C) without any fertiliser. The results indicated that application of investigated bacteria had significant effect on mungbean yield (p < 0.05). The highest biomass and grain yield was obtained for Dezfouli cultivar in NPB + PhPB + PPB bacteria-integrated treatment with an average of 6555 and 1558 kg ha⁻¹. The lowest amount was observed for Hendi cultivar in control treatment with an average of 3518 and 1393 kg ha⁻¹. The effect of treatments on yield components also was significant (p < 0.05). As a result, the highest number of pods per plant and number of seeds per pod were obtained in the NPB+PhPB+PPB treatment as well. These two parameters had the largest role in yield improvement especially in bacterial-induced treatments. The superior treatment in this experiment was attributed to the interaction of biofertiliser nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium, which caused the highest yield and yield components in mungbean plants. Results of the present study revealed that the mixed application of nitrogen stabilising bacteria, solubilising bacteria of potassium and phosphorus as biological can not only improve yield of mungbean but also can reduce chemical inputs in crop production systems.

Keywords: Biofertiliser, mung bean, sustainable agriculture, yield components

¹Shahid Beheshti University, Environmental Science Research Institute, Iran

²Ferdowsi University, Plant Production Institute, Iran

Contact Address: Afsaneh Yousefi, Shahid Beheshti University, Environmental Science Research Institute, Tehran, Iran, e-mail: yousefi.afs@gmail.com

Combined Tied Ridge, Fertiliser Microdosing and Biochar Effects on Maize Production under Contrasting Water Supply

Hannah A. Graef¹, Denis K. Kiobia², Paul Saidia³, Frederick C. Kahimba², Frieder Graef⁴, Bettina Eichler-Loebermann¹

In many developing countries staple food production is limited due to soils with low agricultural potential, constraints in terms of fertiliser accessibility and low and/or erratic rainfall. There are well-known agricultural practices to meet those challenges: *In-situ* rain-water harvesting with tied ridges, fertiliser microdosing and biochar application to soil. However, their combinations have rarely been studied under varying irrigation frequencies.

We conducted a field trial in split-plot design on soil with low natural fertility in Tanzania over two seasons with contrasting water supply in 2016 and 2017. Tied ridges, chemical fertiliser microdosing (25%) and maize cob biochar were applied and their effects on maize grain yield, biomass, plant height, leaf area index, and soil moisture content were investigated.

The slightly alkaline biochar provided P and K to the soil. Under low irrigation frequency, tied ridges conserved soil moisture and tended to increase yield. Fertiliser microdosing increased yield under both irrigation frequencies compared to the control. Biochar alone increased grain yield only at high rates of 10 tha⁻¹ and only under low-frequency irrigation. However, in combination with fertiliser microdosing, biochar application had greater impact on yield: Even at lower application rates of 5 tha⁻¹, biochar combined with fertiliser microdosing increased yields under flat tillage and under both irrigation frequencies compared to the control.

Thus, for higher yields, fertiliser microdosing combined with biochar can be recommended under either precipitation frequency. Furthermore, the crop position on the tied ridge needs to be considered carefully depending on the water supply situation to optimise water management.

Keywords: Biochar, fertiliser microdosing, maize, rainwater harvesting, tied ridge

ID 562 285

¹University of Rostock, Fac. of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, Germany

²Sokoine University of Agriculture, Dept. of Agric. Engin. & Land Planning, Tanzania

³ Sokoine University of Agriculture, Dept. of Crop Science and Horticulture, Tanzania

⁴Leibniz Centre for Agric. Landscape Res. (ZALF), Inst. for Land Use Systems, Germany

Contact Address: Hannah A. Graef, University of Rostock, Fac. of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, Justus-Von-Liebig-Weg 6, 18059 Rostock, Germany, e-mail: hagraef@gmx.de

Varietal Differences in Tuber Yield and Fertiliser Response in a F1 Mapping Population of Water Yam (*Dioscorea alata* L.)

RYO MATSUMOTO, HARUKI ISHIKAWA, SAM KORIE, DAVID DE KOEYER International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), Nigeria

Yam (Dioscorea spp.) is important for food security in West Africa which produces more than 90% of the worldwide production. Development of high-yielding varieties and varieties with abiotic stress tolerance (low soil fertility) is strongly required. and also it is one of the most important targets of the yam breeding strategy in West Africa. Although soil fertiliser management is one of the most interesting topics on the strategy, results on yam production is differently estimated. In this study, we aimed at clarifying the varietal differences in tuber yield and fertiliser response, and to select varieties with low soil fertility tolerance within a segregating D. alata F1 population. Ninety-four clones derived from crosses between TDa 00/00194 (female, late maturity) and TDa 02/00012 (male, early maturity) were grown under field conditions at Ibadan, Nigeria. A field study evaluated the varietal difference in tuber yield and growth period of water yam when grown with (90 kg N ha⁻¹, 75 kg K ha⁻¹, 50 kg P ha⁻¹) or without fertiliser in a field with low soil fertility condition. Growth period was calculated from sprouting date to senescence of the aerial part of each plant. The number of tubers and fresh tuber weight of each tuber produced by each plant were recorded on 15 January, 2018. A wide range of growth period and yield differences among the clones was observed within the F1 mapping population. It was possible to identify genotypes showing high yield even under low fertility soil condition. A significant interaction effect between fertilisation and variety on tuber yield was observed, and the presence of clones responding to fertiliser application was found within the trial population. Varietal differences in fertilisation response may be a factor that has contributed to variable results in previous studies. In future experiments, we plan to clarify the physiological characteristics of fertiliser use efficiency and nutrient absorption in water yam.

Keywords: Fertiliser response, low soil fertility condition, varietal difference, water yam

Contact Address: Ryo Matsumoto, International Institute of Tropical Agriculture, Yam Breeding, Ibadan, Nigeria, e-mail: r.matsumoto@cgiar.org

Linking Leaf Color Charts and Crop N-Status to Guide Fertiliser Application in Highland Rice Production Systems of Rwanda

ISAAC VINCENT¹, BOSHUWENDA ANDRE CHUMA¹, KALIMUTHU SENTHILKUMAR², ARISOA RAJAONA², FOLKARD ASCH¹

In farmers' fields or on experimental field stations sophisticated measurements for monitoring crop nutrient status are often not available. However, the nutrient status of the rice crop is an important indicator to guide fertiliser application strategies for nitrogen (N). Farmers aim to improve fertiliser applications with regards to crop, planting date, and region rather than following blanket N recommendations. The International Rice Research Institute has developed a Leaf Color Chart (LCC) as a diagnostic tool based on the greenness value of leaves to help farmers decide when to apply fertiliser. This method does not take into to account differences in leaf greenness that are due to variety, plant type, or leaf thickness. The aim of this work was to determine the influence of leaf thickness on the accuracy and transferability of LCC values with regards to actual, genotypic N status.

The study was conducted at two sites differing in altitude along a temperature gradient in Rwanda from May-November 2017. Two contrasting rice varieties were used. Each variety was subjected to two nitrogen application rates (80 kg ha $^{-1}$, 160 kg ha $^{-1}$). A Minolta SPAD-Meter was used to evaluate the crops current N status using the youngest fully developed leaf on the main tiller. SPAD and LCC values were recorded one day prior to fertiliser applications, and up to five consecutive days after fertiliser applications at mid tillering, panicle initiation, and heading stage. Following published procedures, SPAD values were corrected for leaf thickness. This way, SPAD values represented the N-status of the plant and were used to calibrate LCC to actual crop N status. Results show crop N status differed significantly between altitudes, varieties, and N application rates. Results will be analysed in terms of method applicability and phenology and will be discussed on the poster.

Keywords: Crop N-status, ICC, rice, SPAD

¹ University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²Africa Rice Center (AfricaRice), Madagascar

Contact Address: Folkard Asch, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstr. 13, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: fa@uni-hohenheim.de

Improving Sweetpotato Production through Sweetpotato -Legume Intercropping and Use of Phosphorus Fertilisers in Mozambique

ELIAH MUNDA¹, MARIA ISABEL ANDRADE¹, GODWILL SIMBA MAKUNDE¹, JOHAN SIX², JACOBUS PIETERSE PIETERSE³, ENGIL ISADORA PEREIRA²

Sweetpotato yields are adversely reduced by drought and this is often exacerbated by poor soil fertility in Mozambique. Many smallholder farmers have no access to irrigation facilities and inorganic fertilisers to improve crop yields. The objectives of the study were to evaluate the effectiveness of sweetpotato-legume intercropping and phosphorus (P) fertilisation on the storage root yield and nutritional qualities of an orange fleshed sweetpotato variety, Namanga. A field experiment was carried out at Umbeluzi Research Station in southern Mozambique. The experiments were carried out during three growing seasons from 2013 to 2015 using a factorial design in a split plot arrangement. Main plot treatments were 7 crop combinations; sole sweetpotato, sole groundnut, sole soybean, sweetpotato-groundnut, sweetpotato-soybean, sweetpotato-groundnut-soybean, groundnut-soybeans intercropping. The subplot treatments were 0. 20 and 40 kg P ha⁻¹ applied at planting. Sweetpotato storage root and vine yields were agronomic traits measured at maturity using a scale. Nutritional quality traits measured were dry matter content, fructose, glucose, starch, sucrose, β -carotene, iron (Fe) and zinc (Zn). Roots were sliced to get 100 g compound sample, freeze dried for 72 hours, weighed, milled then analysed for nutrition content using near-infrared reflectance spectroscopy. Soil fertility parameters measured were cation exchange capacity (CEC), total nitrogen (N), available N and potassium (K). Phosphorus fertilisation at 40 kg ha⁻¹ produced highest dry matter content, glucose, starch, sucrose in sweetpotato storage roots, vine yield, soil CEC, total N, available N and K. Phosphorus had no effect on β - carotene, Fe and Zn content in storage roots (p > 0.005). Sweetpotato-soybean intercropping at 40 kg P ha⁻¹ produced highest vine yield, soil nutrients and CEC. Phosphorus at 20 kg ha⁻¹ produced best storage root yield of 16.3 t ha⁻¹. Sweetpotato-groundnut intercropping produced best sweetpotato storage root yield and highest land equivalent ratio of 1.6. Sweetpotato-legume intercropping produced highest Zn and Fe content in sweetpotato storage roots. Sweetpotato-groundnut intercropping at 20 kg P ha⁻¹ was best for sweetpotato storage root yield. This research recommends sweetpotato-groundnut intercropping at 20 kg P ha⁻¹ for sweetpotato storage root yield maximisation and sweetpotato-soybean at 40 kg P ha⁻¹ for best sweetpotato nutritional value.

Keywords: Groundnut, intercropping, smallholder farmers, soybean, sweetpotato

 Contact
 Address:
 Eliah
 Munda,
 International
 Potato
 Center,

 Avenida das FPLM Nr 2698 P.O. Box 2100, Maputo, Mozambique, e-mail: e.munda@cgiar.org

¹International Potato Center, Mozambique

²ETH Zurich, Dept. of Environmental System Science, Switzerland

³Stellenbosch University, Agronomy, South Africa

Do Mycorrhiza Play a Role in the BNI Performance of *Brachiaria humidicola*?

Julian Ruggaber¹, Konrad Egenolf¹, Philipp Schad¹, Nikola Teutscherová², Eduardo Vazquez², Ashly Arevalo³, Jacobo Arango³, Frank Rasche¹

The tropical forage Brachiaria humidicola (Bh), a plant with recognised Biological Nitrification Inhibition (BNI) potential, has been acknowledged as a model crop to investigate the BNI phenomenon. BNI is originally thought to be an allelochemical phenomenon, that inhibits the activity of soil nitrifying bacteria and archaea. Our studies on BNI have revealed, however, that also inter-microbial competition for nitrogen might play an important role in BNI. Recent research suggested that besides heterotrophic bacteria and archaea also symbiotic arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) in the direct vicinity of the plant roots may contribute to the immobilisation of ammonium (NH₄) leading to low nitrification rates in Bh pastures. It must be emphasised that until now no in-depth research on the role of AMF in BNI has been published. To fill this knowledge gap, the presented research was conducted at the end of a twofactorial pot experiment with the factors soil type (three different soils) and Bh genotypes (three genotypes with different BNI activity). The potential role of AMF for BNI was investigated in topsoil (0-10 cm) and roots collected 14 days after NH₄⁺ fertilisation. Various indicators for the BNI performance (nitrate formation in soil solution, abundance of ammonium oxidising bacteria and archaea (AOB and AOA) and N₂O emissions have been measured before and after the fertilisation event. In the next step, colonisation of AMF on Bh roots was assessed via root staining techniques. Total abundance of mycorrhizal fungi in soil was quantified via qPCR techniques using the AMF specific primer developed by Krüger et al. 2009 and community composition of AMF was assessed by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) analysis using DNA extracted from the roots. The combination of classical and molecular techniques to study AMF dynamics will allow answering the question to what extent AMF may play a role in the BNI performance of different Bh genotypes.

Keywords: Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, biological nitrification inhibition, *Brachiaria* grasses, denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis, mycorrhizal symbiosis, qPCR

¹ University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²Technical University of Madrid, Dept. of Agricultural Production, Spain

³International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Colombia

Contact Address: Julian Ruggaber, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstr. 13, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: julian.ruggaber@uni-hohenheim.de

Effect of Liquid Digestate of a Biogas Plant Using Rice Straw, as Biofertiliser in Paddy Rice Cultivation in Comparison with Mineral Fertiliser in Tien Giang Province, Vietnam

Hoang Khanh Nguyen 1 , Le Anh Hung 1 , Dang Nhat Quynh Bao 1 , Michael Böhme 2

Appropriate fertilisation is very important for sustainable environmental friendly agriculture, in particular in paddy rice cultivation the main agricultural crop in Vietnam. Therefore, mineral fertilisers should be partly replaced with organic fertilisers, e.g. by using of liquid digestate of biogas plants, using mainly rice straw and cow dung. First experiments in containers in 2017 showed there are possibilities to change the traditional fertilisation methods. In the first field experiment from January to April 2018, conducted in the Mekong delta district Cai Be, province Tien Giang, the aim was to verify whether the first results can be confirmed and to test the effect of biofertiliser under typical field conditions with digestate from the same biogas plant. This experiment was designed with three different mineral and organic fertiliser treatments (MF and OF) using different ratio of nitrogen source: (1) 100 % mineral fertiliser (2) 100 % biofertiliser and (3) 50 % mineral fertiliser and 50 % biofertiliser. Following parameters were determined, length of the paddy rice inflorescences, the number of seeds, and the marketable rice grains. The results showed that, the length of the paddy rice inflorescences and the marketable rice grains of treatment 1, 2, 3 were 22.75 \pm 0.48 cm; $24.68 \pm 0.28 \text{ cm}$; $21.67 \pm 2.72 \text{ cm}$ and $92.64 \pm 1.39\%$; $88.55 \pm 4.01\%$; 91.48 ± 0.82 %, respectively. The most important parameter is the yield that means the length of the paddy rice inflorescences and the marketable rice grains. The highest length was determined in the treatment 2 in comparison to other treatments, but their marketable yield was lowest comparison to other treatments. The results also showed that the yield of treatment 3 (MF: OF 50:50) was similar to control treatment (100 % MF). It can be concluded that it is possible to replace mineral fertiliser in rice cultivation to some extent with biofertiliser as for example with digestate from biogas plants. Further experiments regarding the amount of biofertiliser, the frequency of application and their dosage, as well the influences of the microbial activity in the soil are necessary.

Keywords: Biofertiliser, biogas, liquid waste biogas systems

ID 323 291

¹Industrial University of Ho Chi Minh City (IUH), Institute of Environmental Science, Engineering and Management, Vietnam

²Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Dept. Horticultural Plant Systems, Germany

Contact Address: Hoang Khanh Nguyen, Industrial University of Ho Chi Minh City (IUH), Institute of Environmental Science, Engineering and Management, 12 Nguyen Van Bao Str. W4, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam, e-mail: nguyenkhanhhoang@iuh.edu.vn

Effect of PGPR and *Rhizobium phaseoli* on Nitrogen Fixation of Mungbean (*Vigna radiata*) under Dryland Conditions

Juan Barroso¹, Lisa Pataczek¹, Thomas Hilger¹, Zahir Ahmad Zahir², Georg Cadisch¹

Today, food security has to be reached through a sustainability approach, where the farming systems in order to remain productive in the long term have to replenish the nutrients removed from soil. The need to develop sustainable practices and use resources efficiently, highlight the potential role of biological nitrogen fixation (BNF) as a primary N source in agriculture. Mungbean (Vigna radiata) has been suggested as a short-duration summer crop to be incorporated into the soil after harvesting the grain/pods. It is a crop well adapted to the dryland conditions of the tropics and subtropics. Due to the lack of summer rains or their erratic distribution, mungbeans are exposed to severe water deficits associated with salt stress, which results in lower grain yields and inefficient BNF. Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) showed the potential to diminish the negative effects caused by drought and salinity stress. This research work aims to identify the effects of three PGPR and their combination on mungbean N fixation under dryland conditions of Pakistan. In a field trial, two mungbean accessions were tested with five inoculation treatments: M9 (Rhizobium phaseoli), Mk20 (Pseudomonas fluorescens), Y16 (Bacillus subtilis), MIX (R. phaseoli + P. fluorescens + B. subtilis) and control (without bacterial inoculum). Plants were harvested at maturity to assess N fixation (%Ndfa), total N content and biomass accumulation. Chlorophyll content and proline content were assessed at flowering stage. MIX and Mk20 obtained the highest %Ndfa, while MIX and Y16 accumulated the highest total dry matter. In contrast, the controls always had the lowest chlorophyll content, total dry matter and %Ndfa. These results indicate that all tested bacterial inoculations increased biomass and chlorophyll content, but particularly their combination enhanced N fixation. Y16 accumulated the highest proline content. This is a response related to drought stress, suggesting that the best inoculation treatment to enhance BNF and yield is a combination of Mk20 and M9 only.

Keywords: Drought stress, drylands, nitrogen fixation, PGPR, *Rhizobium phaseoli*, *Vigna radiata*

¹ University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Inst. of Soil and Environmental Sciences, Pakistan

Contact Address: Juan Barroso, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstrasse 13, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: juan.barroso@uni-hohenheim.de

Effect of Fertiliser Rates and Splits on Lowland Rice in two Temperature Environments in Rwanda – With a Special Focus on the Effectivity of Basal Applications

Boshuwenda Andre Chuma¹, Kalimuthu Senthilkumar², Arisoa Rajaona², Kalisa Alain³, Marc Cotter¹, Folkard Asch¹

In Rwanda, rice is cultivated across a large altitude gradient. However, the recommended fertiliser application rate does not differ across these altitude gradients, resulting in a mismatch between nutrient requirements in specific growth stages of the plant and fertiliser application strategies. Hypothetically, in early growth stages rice at high altitudes will take up smaller amounts of nitrogen as compared to lower altitudes as low root zone temperatures may slow down growth and N uptake rates. Therefore, the basal N application could be reduced or omitted thus reducing unproductive losses of applied fertiliser. To test this hypothesis, field trials were established at two locations (900 and 1600 m a.s.l.) in Rwanda, investigating the response of 5 contrasting rice varieties to three N application rates (80, 120 and 160 kg ha⁻¹). Different splits of these fertilisers were tested, with and without basal dressing and three further top dressings at mid-tillering, panicle initiation and heading. Two sowings were conducted in 2016 (February and July) and two others in 2017 (January and April). Duration to flowering was 25-34 days, 33-47, 39-46 and 83-123 longer at high altitude than at low altitude during the first, second, third and fourth planting dates, respectively, depending on the genotype due to thermal conditions. Mean air temperatures were 4.91°C, 4.10°C, 4.14°C and 4.96°C lower at high altitude during the first, second, third and fourth planting dates respectively. At the high altitude, when shifting the N application from basal to mid-tillering and panicle initiation, the number of panicles, percentage filled grains, 1000-grain weight and grain yield increased. At the low altitude, there was no significant effect of different N splits tested for yield and yield components. As expected from the temperature conditions, the grain filling percentage was higher at the low altitude as compared to the high altitude. Yields at low altitude were higher than at high altitude across the planting dates. The potential improvements to fertiliser recommendations might include omission of basal N and shifting the N application to mid-tillering and panicle initiation stages at high altitudes.

Keywords: Altitude gradient, nitrogen, planting dates

¹University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²Africa Rice Center (AfricaRice), Madagascar

³Rwanda Agriculture Board, Eastern Province, Rwanda, Rice Program, Rwanda

Contact Address: Folkard Asch, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstr. 13, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: fa@uni-hohenheim.de

Effects of Biochar and the Use of TLUD-Reactors in Rural Areas for Cooking and Soil

GÖTZ UCKERT¹, HANNAH A. GRAEF², MA HUA¹, FRIEDER GRAEF³, YUSTO YUSTAS⁴, VALERIAN SILAYO⁵, STEFAN SIEBER¹, SONOKO DOROTHEA BELLINGRATH-KIMURA³, HARRY HOFFMANN¹

On-farm crop residues are often left unutilised or not efficiently used. Often they are left to be decomposed or, sometimes, in-situ used by livestock. Crop by-products, like maize cobs and residues from primary processing, especially from threshing and shelling, have a high percentage of lignified structural components and therefore are suitable for thermo-chemical conversion. A pyrolysis-treatment of these residues can provide thermal energy for cooking applications as well as for biochar production, which can be used as a soil amendment to improve soil structure and cation exchange capacity as well as to contribute to carbon sequestration. A top-lid-up-draft (TLUD) barrel-reactor was developed at the University of Hohenheim and iteratively adjusted (in the project of Trans-SEC) for the use at grass-root level, which led to a cooking extension of the device. It can be built from scrap material (oil drums) locally available and is capable of sustaining high temperatures of up to 400°C. The drum has a screwtop lid, and a central pipe with a diameter of 10 cm perforated with a dense array of 10 mm holes made throughout its height. Test results from the UPS farmers group in one of the case study villages showed that after pyrolysis for about two hours from 15 kg of maize cobs about 4.4 kg of biochar (29%) could be produced. In the poster we will discuss the amount of biochar amendment needed to increase soil fertility and crop productivity for certain farming areas and site conditions derived from data of field trials with soybean and grains in China and Germany and different maize cropping systems in Tanzania. According to soil types and water regimes we found different yield responds after biochar application. Recommended rates of 5–10 (up to 20) tons biochar per hectare limit the suitability to small gardens or need to extend the size of the reactor to the scale of a big charcoal kiln.

Keywords: Biochar, charcoal, crop residues, energy stacking, energy transition, field trials, pyrolyzer, soil improvement, woodfuel

¹Leibniz Centre for Agric. Landscape Res. (ZALF), Inst. of Socio-Economics, Germany

²University of Rostock, Fac. of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, Germany

³Leibniz Centre for Agric. Landscape Res. (ZALF), Inst. for Land Use Systems, Germany

⁴Sokoine University of Agriculture (SUA), Engineering Sci. and Techn., Tanzania

⁵Sokoine University of Agriculture (SUA), Agri. Engin. and Land Planning, Tanzania

Contact Address: Götz Uckert, Leibniz Centre for Agric. Landscape Res. (ZALF), Inst. of Socio-Economics, Eberswalder Str. 84, 15374 Müncheberg, Germany, e-mail: uckert@zalf.de

Effects of Organic Manure and Crop Rotation Systems on the Grain Yield of Wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) in the Highlands of Ethiopia

AGEGNEHU SHIBABAW¹, GETACHEW ALEMEYEHU DAMOT¹, ENYEW ADGO¹, FOLKARD ASCH². BERNHARD FREYER³

Concerns on soil fertility degradation were resonating for decades in wheat growing highlands of Ethiopia. Important physicochemical properties of the soil have been below the critical level to support crop growth. As a result, low crop yields lead to a shortage of food supply, which is the dominant challenge of the region. Thus, an experiment initiated to improve the productivity of wheat through organic treatments and crop rotation systems. Four levels of organic treatments and annually varied crop rotation systems arranged factorially and laid out in a Randomised Complete Block Design (RCBD) with four replications. The organic treatments included V1=0 t ha $^{-1}$ FYM (farmyard manure); V2 = 2.5 t ha⁻¹ FSB (fresh Sesbania biomass); V3=5 t ha⁻¹ FYM and V4=5 t ha⁻¹ FYM +2.5 t ha⁻¹ FSB. In the first year, wheat was planted with different levels of organic treatments with undersowing lupine (R2) and sole wheat (R1). In the second year, wheat was planted with different levels of organic treatments. In the third year, the rotation systems include R3 = potato-clover-wheat; R4 = wheat under sown with lupine-potato under sown with lupine-wheat and R5= lupine-potato undersowing lupine-wheat. Data on plant height, thousand seed weight, and grain yield of wheat recorded and analysed using SAS. Results showed increasing grain yields of wheat over the period of the three years across all treatments. Among all, the highest grain yield of wheat (4.48 t ha⁻¹) was recorded at the interaction effect of 5 t ha⁻¹ FYM +2.5 t ha⁻¹ FSB and potato-clover-wheat rotation system in the third year and could be recommended as an alternative soil fertility management system to attain optimum yield in the highlands of Ethiopia.

Keywords: Cropping pattern, natural fertiliser, productivity, soil fertility

¹Bahir Dar University, Agronomy, Ethiopia

²University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

³University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Div. of Organic Farming, Austria

Contact Address: Bernhard Freyer, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Div. of Organic Farming, Gregor Mendel Straße 33, 1180 Wien, Austria, e-mail: Bernhard.Freyer@boku.ac.at

Confirmation and Functional Characterisation of Potassium Ion Channel Gene for Iron Toxicity Tolerance in Rice

FELIX HOLTKAMP, LIN-BO WU, MICHAEL FREI University of Bonn, Inst. Crop Sci. and Res. Conserv. (INRES) - Plant Nutrition, Germany

Iron toxicity is a major nutrient disorder in rice caused by an excessive uptake of iron occurring in flooded soils due to low redox potential, which favours the formation of the soluble and plant available form, Fe²⁺ (ferrous). After uptake of Fe²⁺ via the rhizodermis. Fe will be translocated into the shoot. In plant cells Fe²⁺ catalyzes the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) via the Fenton reaction which is known to cause irreversible damage to biomolecules such as lipids, proteins and DNA resulting in a reduced plant growth and yield loss. In our previous study, OTL related to the shoot iron concentration in Fe-toxic conditions were identified with GWAS study. This led to the identification of a candidate gene for Fe-exclusion, i.e. a putative potassium (K) ion channel gene OsAKT1 (LOC Os01g45990). We hypothesised that K and Fe might have antagonistic interactions in Fe toxic conditions. In order to proof this concept, experiments were conducted with two knockout mutant lines for the candidate genes named osakt1-1 and osakt1-2. Semi-quantitative RT-PCR confirmed that the target gene was not expressed in mutant lines. Mutants and wildtypes were grown for 4 weeks in a hydroponic culture followed by a five day, 1000 ppm of FeSO₄*7H₂O treatment to simulate an acute iron stress. The iron treatment led shoot Fe concentrations exceeding toxicity threshold, to visible symptom formation quantified as Leaf Bronzing Score (LBS), and negatively affected spectral reflectance indices such as the normalised difference vegetation index (NDVI) and photochemical reflectance index (PRI), lipid peroxidation, as well as the uptake of potassium. The knock out mutant osakt1-1 had significantly lower shoot K concentration but higher Fe concentration, along with significantly higher LBS, NDVI and PRI compared to the wild-types. Therefore, antagonistic translocation of Fe and K to the leaf sheath and leaf blade could be detected which underpins our hypothesis. Ongoing experiments aim at further elucidating the mechanism behind the antagonistic interaction of Fe and K, and the resulting susceptibility of osakt1 mutants, including the role of antioxidant enzymes (ROS-scavengers). Our results therefore help to explain the important role of K in Fe toxicity tolerance.

Keywords: Genotype tolerance, iron toxicity, potassium, rice, tolerance mechanism

Contact Address: Felix Holtkamp, University of Bonn, Inst. Crop Sci. and Res. Conserv. (INRES) - Plant Nutrition, Am Güsgensberg 13, 53175 Bonn, Germany, e-mail: F.Holtkamp@outlook.de

Land degradation and livelihoods for the Sahel

Invited Paper	
BARRON ORR: Land Degradation Neutrality: Global Vision and Perspec- tives for Africa	303
Oral Presentations	
PATRICE SAVADOGO, JULES BAYALA, SIBIRI J. OUÉDRAOGO: Restoration Pathways for Degraded Land in West African Sahel and Dry Savannah: A Review	304
Dougbedji Fatondji, Alphonse Singbo, Ramadjita	
TABO, ANTHONY WHITBREAD: Empowering Women Farmers and Providing Nutritional Benefits to Households through Degraded Landscapes Regeneration in Niger	305
Emmanuel Olatunbosun Benjamin, Oreoluwa Ola, Hannes Lang, Gertrud Buchenrieder: Public-Private Cooperation in Extension Services - Impact on Agricultural Development in Sub-Saharan Africa	306
TOBIAS FELDT, LEON BESSERT, EVA SCHLECHT: Rivalry for Urban Food Markets between Farmers and Pastoralists in the Western Highlands of Cameroon	307
Posters	
PATRICE SAVADOGO, VICTORIA CARBONELL, GUSTAVO SAIZ, MARIANA RUFINO, B. ROBERT ZOUGMORE: How Climate-Smart Is Farmer Managed Natural Regeneration? Co-Benefits Leading to Food Security in Niger	308
AMADOU MALÉ KOUYATE, ACHILLE ASSOGBADJO, AMADÉ OUÉDRAOGO, TOUGIANI ABASSE, ANNE METTE LYKKE, PATRICK VAN DAMME: Enhancing Nutritious Food Availability through Promotion of Native Edible Tree/ Shrub Species in Sub-Saharan Africa	309

JULIANE DAO, KATHRIN STENCHLY, ARMEL NONGMA ZONGO, BERND MARSCHNER, ANDREAS BUERKERT: Industrial Wastewater Irrigation Affects Soil Quality in Urban Vegetable Production of Burkina Faso	310
JENNIFER PROVOST, HAMIDOU NANTOUMÉ, EVA SCHLECHT: Dairy Markets and Distribution Channels in Bamako, Mali	311
BIRHANU ZEMADIM, KALIFA TRAORE, MURALI KHRISHA GUMMA, FELIX BADOLO, ANTHONY WHITBREAD, RAMADJITA	
TABO: Soil and Water Conservation Practices to Combat Impacts of Drought in the Semi-Arid Region of Mali	312
ANNE METTE LYKKE, ELIE ANTOINE PADONOU, IMAEL HENRI NESTOR BASSOLÉ, AMADÉ OUÉDRAOGO, AMADOU MALÉ KOUYATE:	
Potentials of Traditional African Oil Trees for Improving Food Security	313
PATRICE SAVADOGO, KY-DEMBELE CATHERINE, JULES BAYALA:	
Planting Pit Size and Farmer's Management Practices Explained Survival and Growth of Planted Seedlings in Contrasting Land-Use Systems in Mali	314

Land Degradation Neutrality: Global Vision and Perspectives for Africa

BARRON ORR

United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification (UNCCD), Germany

Land Degradation Neutrality (LDN) is the new paradigm for avoiding, reducing and reversing land degradation in an integrated way as a means of attaining the Rio+20 aspiration for a land degradation-neutral world. Defined as "a state whereby the amount and quality of land resources necessary to support ecosystem functions and services and enhance food security remain stable or increase within specified temporal and spatial scales and ecosystems", the goal of LDN is maintaining or enhancing the land resource base - in other words, the stocks of natural capital associated with land resources and the ecosystem services that flow from them. LDN is also fundamental for pursuing Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 15 "Life on Land". The recently published Scientific Conceptual Framework for Land Degradation Neutrality (Orr *et al.* 2017; Cowie *et al.* 2018) provides a scientific foundation for understanding, implementing and monitoring LDN.

The framework is structured around five 'modules': Vision of LDN, which captures the goal that LDN is intended to achieve; Frame of Reference, that explains the LDN baseline against which achievement is measured; Mechanism for Neutrality, that describes the counterbalancing mechanism; Achieving Neutrality, that presents the theory of change (logic model) articulating the pathway for implementing LDN, including preparatory analysis and enabling policies; and Monitoring Neutrality, which presents the LDN indicators. Principles are provided to govern application of the framework and to help prevent unintended outcomes during implementation and monitoring of LDN. These principles are designed to encourage the creation of an enabling environment which incentivizes the pursuit of LDN while encouraging responsible governance to help ensure better access, control and stewardship over land, including strengthening tenure security, access and user rights for women and men, in particular the poor and vulnerable. It also incorporates the need for gender-responsive policies and measures designed to ensure the full and effective participation of both men and women in planning, decision-making and implementation at all levels. Coordinating the theoretical development of the framework with regular input from on-the-ground teams who were conducting training events to launch the LDN Target Setting Program (TSP) led real-time testing of scientific concepts under very practical conditions. This has ensured that the conceptual framework is firmly grounded in science with clear entry points for developing the guidance necessary to acheive or exceed LDN into the future.

The conceptual framework has been designed to create a bridge between the vision and the practical implementation of LDN, by defining LDN in operational terms. This practical approach has led to significant country buy-in: to date, 118 countries – including 51 in Africa – have embarked on the process of establishing national targets on LDN.

Keywords: Land degradation

Contact Address: Barron Orr, United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification (UNCCD), UN Campus, Bonn, Germany, e-mail: bjorr@unccd.int

Restoration Pathways for Degraded Land in West African Sahel and Dry Savannah: A Review

PATRICE SAVADOGO¹, JULES BAYALA¹, SIBIRI JEAN OUÉDRAOGO²

Developing countries, especially dryland areas in sub-Saharan Africa, depend strongly on ecosystem services generated by natural resources. Today, the rapidly growing population and the competing demands for food, feed, fuel, fibre are leading to degradation of forests and agricultural land. Globally, it is estimated that 10 - 20 % of drylands are already degraded and about 12 million ha are degraded each year. Thus, livelihood is vulnerable in many rural areas and likely to sharpen due to anticipated climate change. Land restoration is therefore an urgent priority if future food security and ecosystem's resilience are to be achieved. Several local, regional and global initiatives have been launched – with more or less success – to combat land degradation. Past efforts have generated some lessons that can be used to guide future initiatives. We conducted a comprehensive review of the existing literature to collate information on the current state-of-knowledge about degraded drylands rehabilitation, identify the ingredients of success and flesh out opportunities for scaling. It was found that restoration pathways ranged from passive (prevention of disturbance agents to enhance vegetation recovery) to active measures (e.g. site-specific biological and physical intervention for soil and water conservation, enrichment planting, sand dune fixation, farmers' managed natural regeneration (FMNR), agroforestry, direct seeding of grass, controlled grazing and prescribed fire). The diversity of land restoration initiatives is an indication of the dynamism of farmers, development agencies and researchers to curb land degradation. Success of restoration can generally be attributed to a combination direct and indirect incentives which have led farmers to adopt, and continue to use the rehabilitation practices. Farmers use different options or their combination depending on agroecological and socio-economic conditions. The cost effectiveness of these options still need to be evaluated to build evidence on what works, for whom, how, and at what cost across heterogeneous contexts.

Keywords: Climate change, desertification, ecosystem management, land degradation, socio-ecological systems, West Africa

¹World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF), Sahel Node, Mali

²Institut du Sahel (INSAH/CILSS), Mali

Contact Address: Patrice Savadogo, World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF), Sahel Node, Bamako, Mali, e-mail: p.savadogo@cgiar.org

Empowering Women Farmers and Providing Nutritional Benefits to Households through Degraded Landscapes Regeneration in Niger

Dougbedji Fatondji 1 , Alphonse Singbo 2 , Ramadjita Tabo 1 , Anthony Whitbread 3

Degraded lands in a landscape are used mainly for grazing and firewood harvesting. They have low agricultural production potential. Such areas have become degraded through overuse and removal of surface cover and associated erosion processes. The soil surface is crusted following alternate exposure to rain and sun, which causes high runoff and soil erosion, minimises water infiltration and hinders seedling emergence. These soils have high clay content, which offers the advantage of high cation exchange capacity (CEC) and water holding capacity. They have the potential to re-establish agricultural production if the compacted layer is broken and some organic fertiliser added. Farmers in the Sahel countries have developed water harvesting-based technologies (zai pits or half-moons) to bring back into production the degraded lands.

The International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT) has developed a gender sensitive system approach named "Bio-reclamation of Degraded Land" or BDL, that combines indigenous or improved water harvesting technologies (planting pits, half-moon and trenches), the application of composted organic residues and plantation of high value fruit trees (Moringa oleifera, Ziziphus mauritiana) and annual indigenous vegetables like okra (Abelmoschus esculentus), roselle (Hibiscus sabdarifa) and Senna obtusifolia, that are resilient to drought.

Knowing that leafy vegetables harvested during the season are mainly used for household consumption, we have monitored potential individual total gain from the allocated $200~\text{m}^2$ plot in a BDL site during the 2017 wet season in the districts of Mayahi (Maradi region) and Kantche (Zinder region) in Niger. The data showed contrasting results depending on the level of effort the women participants made to care for the sites. In Mayahi, a maximum gain of 383~SUS could be obtained if they were to market all the production. In Kantche the maximum obtained was 340~SUS. The result also shows a large variability in the production effort of participants. BDL implementation can be seen as a solution to sustainably improve the livelihood and health of poor women farmers through the supply of highly nutritious vegetables and fruits, and improve the resilience of community facing the adverse effect of climate change

Keywords: Bio-reclamation of degraded land, indigenous vegetables, women empowerment

ID 603

¹International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), West and Central Africa Research Program, Niger

²Laval University, Canada

³ International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), Innovation Systems for the Drylands, India

Contact Address: Dougbedji Fatondji, International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), West and Central Africa Research Program, P.O. Box 12404, Niamey, Niger, e-mail: d.fatondji@cgiar.org

Public-Private Cooperation in Extension Services - Impact on Agricultural Development in Sub-Saharan Africa

EMMANUEL OLATUNBOSUN BENJAMIN¹, OREOLUWA OLA², HANNES LANG², GERTRUD BUCHENRIEDER³

Different channels and models of agricultural extension services have been implemented in sub-Saharan Africa with modest results in terms of input adoption, productivity and subsequent farm revenue increases. The lack of comprehensive data on agricultural extension services that serve farmers in sub-Saharan Africa makes it difficult to ascertain their contribution to agricultural development over time. Only limited empirical evaluation exist of the impact of different extension services models on farm revenue. The same is true for panel data studies on novel partnerships concerning fertiliser adoption. We fill this gap by analysing the performance of different channels and models of extension services on farm revenue and public-private cooperation on fertiliser uptake in Nigeria over time. Up until the mid-2000s, fertiliser usage was low in Nigeria compared to the sub-Saharan Africa average. Consequently, the Government of Nigeria enacted the Agricultural Transformation Act, which engages private agro-dealers in the procurement and distribution of subsidised fertiliser and improved seeds. For instance, farmers could purchase fertiliser (also from private extension service agencies at market prices and could use e-vouchers issued by the Government to pay for it. The e-vouchers can be accessed by registered farmers via a mobile phone-based electronic voucher system.

Using the 2009/10 and 2012 Living Standard Measurement Study (LSMS) of the World Bank and an ordinary least squared (OLS) regression, we analyse the performance of different channels and models of extension services on farm revenue in Nigeria. Furthermore, the difference-in-difference methodology investigates fertiliser uptake among farmers participating in private extension services prior to and after the implementation of the National Fertiliser Policy and the subsequent policy measure i.e. the e-vouchers.

The results suggest that farm inputs (incl. fertiliser) and on-farm extension visitations positively influence farm revenue. With regard to the on-farm visitations, public extension services compared to private extension services were more effective in terms of revenue generation. Furthermore, procurement of fertiliser by farmers from private extension services has increased compared to the situation prior to the e-voucher programme and this could raise agricultural output in Nigeria the near future.

Keywords: Agricultural policy, extension services, farm profitability, fertiliser adoption, Nigeria, sub-Saharan Africa.

306 ID 10

_

¹Technische Universität München (TUM), Dept. of Production and Resource Economics, Germany

²Technische Universität München (TUM), Governance in International Agribusiness, Germany

³Martin-Luther-University Halle-Wittenberg, Inst. of Agricultural and Nutrition Sciences, Halle (Saale); associated research fellow at IAMO, Germany

Contact Address: Emmanuel Olatunbosun Benjamin, Technische Universität München (TUM), Dept. of Production and Resource Economics, Alte Akademie 14, 85354 Freising, Germany, e-mail: emmanuel.benjamin@tum.de

Rivalry for Urban Food Markets between Farmers and Pastoralists in the Western Highlands of Cameroon

TOBIAS FELDT¹, LEON BESSERT², EVA SCHLECHT¹

Extensive cattle husbandry has a long tradition in the Northwest Region of Cameroon, in particular amongst its resident Mbororo people. This subgroup of the Fulani ethnicity contributes significantly to the region's supply with beef and, to a smaller extent, dairy products. Many pastoralists still pursue a seasonal grazing strategy by sending their herds from higher-altitude rainy season pastures to lower-lying valleys and transhumance zones during the dry season. Here, however, conflicts with local crop farmers are increasing due to growing human and livestock populations and progressive land-use change from natural and traditional grazing areas to agricultural land. To document these changes and determine the main areas of conflict, six representative Mbororo cattle herds, evenly distributed around the urban centre of Bamenda, were equipped with GPS collars during the dry seasons 2016/17 and 2017/18 and the animals' grazing ranges both in their transhumance and home grazing pastures were delineated. Maximum distances of both zones to the city were taken to define a 70×70 km investigation area from where cattle herds directly supply the peri-/urban markets. Within this range, 166 randomly sampled Mbororo cattle keepers were interviewed on subjects such as land ownership, access to grazing and water resources, stocking densities, major challenges in general and farmer-grazer conflicts in particular. Furthermore, interviewees were asked to describe the location of their herds' current and past transhumance zones and corridors. Information were directly registered in digital form to provide a basis for further GIS-based historical land-use change analyses. One third (32.5%) of the herd owners indicated incidents directly related to farmer-grazer conflicts and farm encroachment a major problem during times of transhumance, and still 23.5% of respondents mentioned it for their rainy season home grazing areas. At the same time, the pastoralists appeared unprepared for land disputes as none of the respondents owned an official land title for the dry season grazing land, and only 5.0% held a title for the home grazing area. However, 9.0% and 19.2% of the respondents claimed ownership of dry season and rainy season pastures, respectively, by fencing them. Land tenure issues will thus become increasingly important in the future.

Keywords: Alliance farming, land tenure, Mbororo Fulani, participatory mapping

¹University of Kassel / Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Animal Husbandry in the Tropics and Subtropics. Germany

²Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Germany

Contact Address: Eva Schlecht, University of Kassel / Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Animal Husbandry in the Tropics and Subtropics, Steinstraße 19, 37213 Witzenhausen, Germany, e-mail: tropanimals@uni-kassel.de

How Climate-Smart Is Farmer Managed Natural Regeneration? Co-Benefits Leading to Food Security in Niger

Patrice Savadogo¹, Victoria Carbonell², Gustavo Saiz³, Mariana Rufino⁴, B. Robert Zougmore⁵

Farmer managed natural regeneration (FMNR) is a practice used on agricultural land to support native trees growth. Although preliminary evidence indicates that FMNR is beneficial for crop-livestock production, additional research is needed to quantify its climate change mitigation (CCM) potential. This study estimated FMNR effects on food security, land productivity and CCM potential, all ingredients of climate-smart agriculture. Field research was conducted in Niger, where we evaluated farm household performance, and estimated their food security status, associated with time since FMNR practice. We tested the hypotheses that i) farmers who practice FMNR achieve higher food security and self-sufficiency than farmers who do not practice; and ii) that these effects are explained through a positive effect of FMNR on farm productivity and income. Analysis of soil C revealed that the implementation of FMNR leads to modest increase in soil organic matter (SOM) limited to the topsoil layers (0–20 cm) compared to sites under normal practice. The positive effect of FMNR on SOM levels decreases with distance from the stem, which is indicative of the positive effect that tree canopy has on SOM storage. Synthetic regression models combining farm, household and FMNR variables show that the FMNR is associated with food security either directly through the total area under wood canopy cover. Our analyses show positive association between FMNR and income, and FMNR and food security and self-sufficiency, which qualifies FMNR as a CSA practice. These associations are direct and indirect, which suggest that a number of positive correlated benefits are derived from FMNR practice.

Keywords: Dryland agroforestry, income, mitigation co-benefits, resilience, semiarid environments. West Africa

¹World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF), Sahel Node, Mali

²International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), Kenya

³Imperial College London, Dept. of Life Sciences, United Kingdom

⁴Lancaster University, Lancaster Environment Centre, United Kingdom

⁵International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), Mali

Contact Address: Patrice Savadogo, World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF), Sahel Node, Bamako, Mali, e-mail: p.savadogo@cgiar.org

Enhancing Nutritious Food Availability through Promotion of Native Edible Tree/ Shrub Species in Sub-Saharan Africa

AMADOU MALÉ KOUYATE¹, ACHILLE ASSOGBADJO², AMADÉ OUÉDRAOGO³, TOUGIANI ABASSE⁴, ANNE METTE LYKKE⁵, PATRICK VAN DAMME⁶

The project "Enhancing nutritious food availability through promotion of native edible tree and shrub species in sub-Saharan Africa (TREEFOOD)" is implemented in Benin, Burkina Faso, Mali and Niger. In West Africa, malnutrition affects more than 18 million children and is considered as a serious constraint to socio-economic development. Despite a high potential for food production, the situation of malnutrition could increase with regard to the high population growth in sub-Saharan Africa. Non-timber forest products (NTFPs) from native tree and shrub species are source of nutrient and food diversification. TREEFOOD aims to contribute to increase food security and fight against malnutrition through sustainable management and improved use of selected native edible tree/shrub species. The project focuses on selected native NTFPs in order to: 1) assess traditional knowledge and practices on them; 2) analyse their biochemical compounds and nutritional value; 3) analyse and develop value chains and improved marketing and processing of products; 4) develop locally adapted propagation methods; and 5) strengthen institutional and innovation capacities of local communities. Field work is conducted in two different agro-ecological zones per country. The project works with farmerled innovation platforms for improving collection, production, processing and marketing of products from Adansonia digitata, Balanites aegyptiaca, Borassus aethiopum, Irvingia gabonensis, Saba senegalensis, Ziziphus mauritiana. Preliminary results showed a high number of edible trees and shrubs used as food and to reduce malnutrition which varied according to the study villages in the four countries. Up to now, we have documented farmers' perception of food role, consumption forms, food categories of edible organs, and economic and social use, constraints of the native edible tree/shrub species. Adult Trees and regeneration average density per hectare and species richness in forests and fields are variable within and between agroecological zones. The next step will focus on the biochemical analysis and characterisation of the value chain of the main products derived from the target species.

Keywords: Agro-biodiversity, food security, innovation platform, native edible tree/shrub, non-timber forest products, sub-Saharan Africa

¹Institute of Rural Economy, Dept. of Forest Resources, Mali

²University of Abomey-Calavi (FSA/UAC), Lab. of Applied Ecology (LEA), Benin

³Université Ouaga I Pr Joseph Ki-Zerbo, Lab. Bio. et Ecol. Végétales, Burkina Faso

⁴National Institute of Agronomic Research, Regional Centre of Agronomic Research of Maradi, Niger

⁵Aarhus University, Dept. of Bioscience, Denmark

⁶Ghent University, Dept. of Plant Production - Lab. for Tropical Agronomy, Belgium

Contact Address: Amadou Malé Kouyate, Institute of Rural Economy, Dept. of Forest Resources, Quartier résidentiel, PO Box: 16 Sikasso, Mali, e-mail: kouyate01@hotmail.com

Industrial Wastewater Irrigation Affects Soil Quality in Urban Vegetable Production of Burkina Faso

Juliane Dao¹, Kathrin Stenchly¹, Armel Nongma Zongo², Bernd Marschner³, Andreas Buerkert¹

Utilisation of industrial wastewater in urban and peri-urban gardens poses risks of contamination of humans, animals, soils and plants. Irrigation with sodic alkaline wastewater is common worldwide and may lower soil productivity especially under semi-arid, hot climatic conditions. Our study reviews literature addressing agricultural use of wastewater with $> 100~{\rm mg~l^{-1}}$ sodium (Na) under semi-arid climates. Findings were compared to those of a case study from urban gardens in Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso. Our aims were to (i) examine to what extent Na in water can induce soil sodicity; (ii) evaluate the effect of industrial wastewater on top- and subsoil sodification in Ouagadougou, and (iii) compare the results of our case study with those reported in the literature.

Soil samples from 45 randomly selected fields were analysed for pH, electrical conductivity (EC) and exchangeable cations. Farmer interviews were used to record information on irrigation and cultivation, including management practices used over the last decade. Wastewater originating from industrial tanneries and beverage producers had pH values from 8.5 to 9.8. Effluents had Na concentrations of 300 to 1200 mg 1^{-1} . Wastewater irrigation induced a reduction in soil quality by increasing soil pH by up to 2 units, increasing EC by 14% to 500% and increasing Na up to 28 times compared with the initial value. Both, continuous and short term irrigation with sodic wastewater led to Na accumulation in the soil. Our study further indicated that dissolved Na percolated both vertically and horizontally, thereby contaminating the subsoil and the surrounding non-irrigated area.

Keywords: Industrial wastewater, irrigation, sodic soil, urban agriculture

¹University of Kassel, Organic Plant Production and Agroecosystems Research in the Tropics and Subtropics (OPATS), Germany

²Environmental and Agricultural Institute (INERA), Burkina Faso

³Ruhr-Universität Bochum, Inst. of Geography, Soil Science / Soil Ecology, Germany

Contact Address: Juliane Dao, University of Kassel, Organic Plant Production and Agroecosystems Research in the Tropics and Subtropics (OPATS), Steinstrasse 19, 37213 Witzenhausen, Germany, e-mail: dao@uni-kassel.de

Dairy Markets and Distribution Channels in Bamako, Mali

JENNIFER PROVOST¹, HAMIDOU NANTOUMÉ², EVA SCHLECHT¹

¹University of Kassel / Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Animal Husbandry in the Tropics and Subtropics, Germany

From August 2017 to March 2018, research about the dairy markets in Bamako, capital city of Mali, was carried out within the BMBF-funded project Urban FoodPlus. Fresh milk and dairy products are nutritious foods that can alleviate certain nutrient deficiencies, especially in food insecure societies of West Africa. While the Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO) recommends a yearly per capita milk consumption of 62L, Mali remains at a low national average of 10L, and about 25L in Bamako. For this study, 166 milk producing households were successfully interviewed in the urban and peri-urban areas of the metropole. The semi-structured questionnaire included both qualitative and quantitative questions on their household socio-economic characteristics and assets, farm production and management, sales and purchases, institutional factors, and milk marketing strategies. In addition, data on 68 random sale points of dairy products was collected across 18 different neighbourhoods. A total of 103 milk samples were compiled and analysed for physio-chemical components. Results show a median herd size of 40 cattle heads per household, and a low average daily milk production of 3.7 L cow⁻¹. For milk quality, 4.1 % was the average fat content, 3.5 % for protein, and only 5 samples were diluted (mean of 11.8 % of water). Average farm-gate price of fresh unpasteurised milk was 380 CFA L⁻¹ (0.58€). Sale points sold on average 40L per day of fresh pasteurised milk for 560 CFA L⁻¹ (0.85€). In terms of transformation, neither households nor sale points marketed locally-made cheese or butter, and all yogurts in the city are made with imported milk powder. Transformation is limited to "fènè", a traditional soured milk product fermented without lactic cultures. Only 14 % of households produced "fènè" for the farm-gate price of 505 CFA L⁻¹ (0.77€), and almost half of the sale points also sold "fènè" for roughly 590 CFA L⁻¹ (0.90€). Accordingly, only 30 % of respondents mentioned having access to training related to dairy. Investigating the milk distribution channels used by urban Malian dairy farmers and the fresh milk transformations occurring along the value chain can enable policy makers and entrepreneurs to identify the lacunas of the markets and value addition opportunities.

Keywords: Bamako, dairy, livestock, Mali, markets, milk, urban agriculture, value chain

²Institut d'Economie Rurale (IER), Laboratory of Animal Nutrition (Sotuba), Mali

Contact Address: Jennifer Provost, University of Kassel / Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Animal Husbandry in the Tropics and Subtropics, Albrecht-Thaer-Weg 3, 37075 Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: jennifer.provost25@gmail.com

Soil and Water Conservation Practices to Combat Impacts of Drought in the Semi-Arid Region of Mali

Birhanu Zemadim 1 , Kalifa Traore 2 , Murali Khrisha Gumma 3 , Felix Badolo 1 , Anthony Whitbread 3 , Ramadjita Tabo 1

Soil and water conservation (SWC) practices like that of erosion control and soil fertility measures were commonly practiced in the semi-arid region of southern Mali since the 1980s. A total of 2562 cotton producing villages benefited from SWC practices and other technological innovations from 1982 to 2000 through the Compagnie Malienne pour le Développement des Textiles (CMDT). Since the year 2000 individual farmers took the initiative to implement SWC practices in their fields. The SWC practices were mainly meant to increase soil water content, reduce farm erosion, and improve nutrient content of the soil, thereby increasing crops yield. Despite such efforts to promote at scale SWC practices, the landscape of southern Mali are still affected by high rates of soil erosion and low crops yield. Data is lacking on previous beneficial SWC practices that could be adapted for wider application. In 2015 and 2016 a field experimentation was conducted in a small watershed in southern Mali to evaluate the biophysical and economic benefits of SWC practices. Results revealed that with the implementation of SWC practices runoff was reduced significantly (p value 0.005) and soil water content increased with significant variation (p < 0.0001) along the soil profile. Temporal variation of soil moisture showed an increase in soil water content by 33 % during the middle of the rainy season and 85 % at the end of the rainy season for fields treated with SWC practices. The increase in soil water content was necessary to meet the consumptive water demand by crops and vegetation in the watershed. The implementation of SWC practices was found to be socially viable with a 20 % more net returns from fields treated with SWC practices.

Keywords: Contour bunding, land use and land cover, participatory approach, rainfed agriculture, semi-arid region, shallow wells, soil and water conservation, southern Mali, watershed management

¹International Crops Research Institute for the Semi Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), Mali

²Institut d'Economie Rurale (IER), Laboratoire Sol-Eau-Plante Sotuba, Mali

³International Crops Research Institute for the Semi Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), India

Contact Address: Birhanu Zemadim, International Crops Research Institute for the Semi Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), Samanko, BP 320 Bamako, Mali, e-mail: z.birhanu@cgiar.org

Potentials of Traditional African Oil Trees for Improving Food Security

Anne Mette Lykke¹, Elie Antoine Padonou², Imael Henri Nestor Bassolé³, Amadé Ouédraogo³, Amadou Malé Kouyate⁴

Food oil of good quality is important for health and food security. Women in rural Africa traditionally extract oil from the seeds of numerous native trees, but the potentials are far from fully realised. During two projects, QUALITREE and TREEFOOD, we investigated ethnobotanical knowledge in Mali and Burkina Faso, analysed physiochemical properties of oils from over 30 different native tree species and made a complete literature review of native tree oils from West Africa. Local knowledge about oil production is often good, but in most cases confined to smaller local areas or specific ethnic groups. Screening of oils from native species revealed very good potentials for ameliorated use and production. Examples of highly interesting species are Adansonia digitata, Afzelia africana, Balanites aegyptiaca, Carapa procera, Khaya senegalensis, Lannea microcarpa, Lophira lanceolata and Pentadesma butyracea. The literature review showed that a few species (mainly Elaeis guineensis and Vitellaria paradoxa) are highly investigated, but for most species, there are few good data about oil properties and ethnobotanical potential. Many published oil analyses from the region are covered with great uncertainty or are directly faulty. There is an extraordinary potential for improving health, food security and economic development in poor communities via increased and improved oil production. Marketing interests of oil includes both local and international markets. However, in many cases tree planting or nature protection in collaboration with local communities are needed to ensure sufficient and continuous oil supplies. Such activities can improve the local biodiversity as an additional advantage of oil production.

Keywords: Africa, fatty acids, food security, traditional oils

ID 901 313

¹Aarhus University, Dept. of Bioscience, Denmark

²University of Abomey-Calavi, Applied Ecology, Benin

³Université Ouaga I Pr Joseph Ki-Zerbo, Lab. Bio. et Ecol. Végétales, Burkina Faso

⁴Institute of Rural Economy, Dept. of Forest Resources, Mali

Contact Address: Anne Mette Lykke, Aarhus University, Dept. of Bioscience, Aarhus, Denmark, e-mail: aml@bios.au.dk

Planting Pit Size and Farmer's Management Practices Explained Survival and Growth of Planted Seedlings in Contrasting Land-Use Systems in Mali

PATRICE SAVADOGO, KY-DEMBELE CATHERINE, JULES BAYALA World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF), Sahel Node, Mali

Successful establishment and growth of trees in degraded landscape is an important factor in efforts to land restoration in degraded dryland. In Mali as in most the Sahelian countries, large tree plantations have started after the severe drought of the 70s. The high cost of plantation associated with low survival and low productivity has been the main impediment to large success. Planted trees performance in rural settings are affected not only by seedling related traits and environmental conditions, but also by the management practices of farmers who plant, own, maintain, and expect benefit from these trees. This paper based on multi-environment trials of two planting pit sizes (small size planting hole $[30 \times 30 \text{ cm}]$ vs. big size planting hole $[60 \times 60]$ cm]), studies the survival and growth of young improved Ziziphus mauritiana cultivars planted by 1600 volunteer farmers from three contrasting regions Mopti, Sikasso and Ségou in Mali. We used the so-called planned comparison approach, to explain planted tree success one year after out planting, with regards to the initial characteristics of the trees, the biophysical environment and the farmers specific context. We use a probit model to predict tree survival, and a linear regression model to predict tree growth rate. Our results suggest that biophysical and socio-economic factors are all important in explaining the success (survival and growth) of young planted trees. The following variables are positively related to tree success (survival and/or growth): planting pit depth, median household income, planting location, farmers' motivations and tree planting experience, mulching, and a watering regime. The results from this study though limited in time, highlight the fact that more comprehensive evaluation that combined biophysical environment and social factors related to the farmers are needed to explain success in plantation.

Keywords: Drought resistance, growth, planting material, semi-arid agro-ecosystem, soil moisture, survival

Contact Address: Patrice Savadogo, World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF), Sahel Node, Bamako, Mali, e-mail: p.savadogo@cgiar.org

Food and technology

1)	Local food systems and human nutrition	317
2)	Nutrition, food safety and -security	353
3)	Food quality and processing	375
4)	Food, nutrition and gender aspects at the HH level	407

Local food systems and human nutrition

Oral Presentations	
SAM ULRICH BODJRENOU FIFALI, JULIA BOEDECKER, GINA	
KENNEDY, CÉLINE TERMOTE:	
Role of Biodiversity in Improving Dietary Diversity and Quality of Complementary Foods for Infonts and Young Children	
ity of Complementary Foods for Infants and Young Children in Southern Benin	321
ANNE ASWANI MUSOTSI, MARY ABUKUTSA-ONYANGO: African Indigenous Vegetables Contribution Towards Food	
Security and Safety in Kenya: A Meal Cultures Perspective	322
Marwa Shumo:	
Development and Implementation of Insect-Based Products to Enhance Food and Nutritional Security in Sub-Saharan	
Africa	323
BARBARA STADLMAYR, STEPHA MCMULLIN, ROELAND KINDT, RAMNI JAMNADASS:	
How to Fill Harvest and Nutrient 'Gaps' through Locally	
Available Tree Foods?	324
JULIAN PHILIPP WALD, EMMANUEL ASARE, EMMANUEL KWEKU NAKUA, CHRISTINE LAMBERT, HANS K. BIESALSKI, SIMON RIEDEL, UTE GOLA, DONATUS NOHR:	
Real-Time Dietary Assessment Using a Validated IT-Based	
Approach within a Ghanaian Setting	325
Posters	
ILSE DE JAGER, KEN GILLER, INGE D. BROUWER:	
Food and Nutrient Gaps of Smallholder Farming Households	
in Rural Northern Ghana	326
DANIEL AYALEW MEKONNEN, AAFKE NIJHUIS, LAURA	
Trijsburg, Elise Talsma, Tomas Morley, Vincent	
Linderhof, Thom Achterbosch, Inge D. Brouwer:	
Determinants of Nutrient and Dietary Gaps in the Changing	225
Food Systems in Nigeria	327
TSIGE-YOHANNES HABTE, MICHAEL KRAWINKEL, ESTHER EVANG:	
Baobab as a Natural Micronutrient Dietary Complement for	
Nutrition Security: A Research Undertaking by the Baofood	
Project	328

VICTORIA GOWELE, JOYCE KINABO, THERESIA JUMBE, NYAMIZI BUNDALA, LAILA ELERAKY, HADIJAH MBWANA, CONSTANCE RYBAK, STEFAN SIEBER, KHAMALDIN DAUD MUTABAZI, WOLFGANG STUETZ: Micronutrient Adequacy in Diets Consumed by School Children from Farming Communities of Tanzania	329
M. GRACIA GLAS, LYDIAH WASWA, ANNA RÖHLIG, ERNST-AUGUST NUPPENAU, MICHAEL KRAWINKEL, IRMGARD JORDAN: Dietary Diversity and Consumption of Foods from Different Food Groups among Small Holder Women Farmers in Kenya, Malawi and Uganda	330
ILSE DE JAGER, ABDUL-RAZAK ABIZARI, JACOB C. DOUMA, KEN GILLER, INGE D. BROUWER: Grain Legume Cultivation and Children's Dietary Diversity in Smallholder Farming Households in Rural Ghana and Kenya	331
LUNA SHRESTHA, PRATIMA GURUNG, BORIS KULIG, OLIVER HENSEL, BARBARA STURM: Willingness and Knowledge of Nepalese Mothers to Improve Babies' Diet to Upgrade their Nutritional Status	332
AGNES QUISUMBING, KATHRYN SPROULE, HAZEL MALAPIT, ELENA MARTINEZ: What Dimensions of Women's Empowerment Matter for Nutritional Outcomes? Evidence from Africa and Asia	333
TEMESGEN FITAMO BOCHER, SINDI KIRIMI, JAN LOW: Does Gender-Sensitive Agricultural Intervention Improve Food Security and Profit Efficiency?	334
LOSIRA NASIRUMBI SANYA, TENDO REUBEN SSALI, MARY GORRETH NAMUDDU, SARAH MAYANJA: Breeding Cooking Bananas: Do Men and Women's Trait Preferences Matter?	335
PETR PUDIL, ZBYNEK POLESNY: Diversity, Use and Consumers' Acceptance of Local Banana Cultivars in Ucayali, Peru	336
LUBANA AL-SAYED: Psychological Food-Related Well-Being in a Diaspora Situation	337
ELKHAN RICHARD SADIK-ZADA: DEVCO Nutrition Commitments and its Discontents	338

ROBERTO VILLALBA, REGINA BIRNER: Sustainability Labels for Food Products: A Literature Review on Consumer's Behaviour, Challenges, and Opportunities	339
HADIJAH MBWANA, JOYCE KINABO, WOLFGANG STUETZ, CONSTANCE RYBAK, NYAMIZI BUNDALA, KHAMALDIN DAUD MUTABAZI, STEFAN SIEBER, HANS KONRAD BIESALSKI: Consumption Intensity and Production Constraints of Indigenous Vegetables: A Step in African Food and Nutrition Security	340
NANCY MUNYIVA LAIBUNI, TUROOP LOSENGE, SUSANNE NEUBERT, WOLFGANG BOKELMANN: Can African Indigenous Vegetables Contribute to Nutrition Security in Kenya?	341
JAMILA SMANALIEVA, JANYL ISKAKOVA, ZHYLDYZAI OZBEKOVA, ZHYLDYZ OSKONBAEVA, DIETRICH DARR: Investigation of Physiochemical Characteristics of Wild Fruits and Berries from the Walnut-Fruit Forests of Southern Kyrgyzstan	342
CAROLYNE KISAKA, OSCAR I. AYUYA, GEORGE OWUOR: Insects for Food! Factors Influencing Consumer Acceptance and Quantity Consumed of Edible Winged Termites	343
NILS NÖLLE, HANS KONRAD BIESALSKI: Analysis of Nutritional Composition of Edible Insects to Enhance Nutritional Security in Sub-Saharan Africa (EntoNutri)	344
JAKOB HENI, SAHRAH FISCHER, DAMARIS ELISABETH BEITZE THOMAS HILGER, VERONIKA SCHERBAUM, GEORG CADISCH: Can a Smallholder Farm Sufficiently Feed the Family? A Case Study from Kapchorwa District, Uganda	, 345
ELAINE ZANINI, MIRIAN BEATRIZ SCHNEIDER, ANA CECÍLIA KRETER, DIETRICH DARR: Community Restaurants as a Policy Instrument against Hunger: The Case of Toledo (Brazil)	346
KERSTIN PASCHKO, NIKOLINA GRBIC, INA PINKER, MICHAEL BÖHME: Potential of Asian Herbaceous Plants as Source of Micronutrients	347
BERUK BERHANU DESALEGN, CHRISTINE LAMBERT, SIMON RIEDEL, TEGENE NEGESE, HANS KONRAD BIESALSKI: Orthodox Fasting and Lactating Mothers: Longitudinal Study on Dietary Pattern and Nutritional Status in Ethiopia	348

MST. NADIRA SULTANA, MOHAMMAD MOHI UDDIN, BRAD RIDOUTT, TORSTEN HEMME, KURT-JOHANNES PETERS: The Water Footprint of Milk in Comparison of Twelve International Farming Systems: An Implication for Global Food Security and Improved Food Nutrition	349
OGHAIKI ASAAH NDAMBI, RUTH NJIRU, CAMEE VAN KNIPPENBERG, JAN VAN DER LEE, CATHERINE KILELU, MARGARET NGIGI: Assessing the Costs and Benefits of Implementing a Quality Based Milk Payment System in Kenya	350
CHRISTINE LAMBERT, LAILA ELERAKY, HADIJAH MBWANA, JOYCE KINABO, HANS KONRAD BIESALSKI, SIMON RIEDEL, UTE GOLA, WOLFGANG STUETZ: Validation of a Food Group Based Nutrition Software to Assess Nutrient Intake in Tanzania	351
FINAGNON TOYI KEVIN FASSINOU, FLORA JOSIANE CHADARE YANN EMÉRIC MADODE, DJIDJOHO JOSEPH HOUNHOUIGAN: Cochlospermum tinctorium Root Powder Sauce Fortified with Moringa Leaf Powder for Women in Reproductive Age	352

Role of Biodiversity in Improving Dietary Diversity and Quality of Complementary Foods for Infants and Young Children in Southern Benin

Sam Ulrich Bodjrenou Fifali 1 , Julia Boedecker 2 , Gina Kennedy 2 , Céline Termote 2

FoodAfrica is a research for development programme coordinated by MTT Agrifood Research Finland and financed by the Finish Government and CGIAR, aiming to improve food security in West and East Africa. Having started in 2012, different projects have been implemented in six African countries. In southern Benin, where almost a third of children are malnourished, a 6-year initiative examined ways in which local food sources could be better used to nourish infants and young children.

A cross-sectional survey was performed in two communes of the Mono Department, Southern Benin. Over 1,200 households were interviewed regarding food and nutrition security, dietary intakes of infants and young children (6–23 months), and agrobiodiversity (ABD). Based on this information, feeding practices were studied, dietary gaps identified and ABD contributions calculated. In addition, over 300 recipes for complementary foods were collected out of which 20 were optimised via linear programming by adding ingredients from locally available biodiversity. Out of these 20 recipes, five were field tested with mother/child pairs for acceptability. Culturally sensitive nutrition education materials such as videos, posters, a food calendar and a recipe booklet were developed promoting good feeding practices based on local food biodiversity.

The vast majority of the households ($80\,\%$) were classified as food insecure. The prevalence of the small children's minimum dietary diversity, minimum meal frequency and minimum acceptable diet accounted for $60\,\%$, $71\,\%$ and $46\,\%$, respectively. The ABD surveys documented 146 plant and 148 animal species known as food sources. However, only 47 food products were consumed. Local biodiverse foods contributed between 49 % (calcium) to 98 % (Vitamin A) of total micronutrient intakes. The timing for the introduction of complementary foods was in most cased ($78\,\%$) incorrect. The children's micronutrient adequacy correlated with the caregiver's education.

The results confirm the richness of local food biodiversity that can be used for food and nutrition security. The fact that micronutrient adequacy correlated with caregiver's education shows the potential of nutrition education for improved feeding practices. This research has helped to fill gaps in nutrition education materials both for caregivers as well as for community health workers and agricultural extension agents.

Keywords: Agrobiodiversity, Benin, complementary feeding, nutrition, nutrition education, nutrition education materials

¹University of Abomey-Calavi, Dept. of Human Nutrition and Food Sciences, Benin

²Bioversity International, Healthy Diets from Sustainable Food Systems, Kenya

Contact Address: Céline Termote, Bioversity International, Healthy Diets from Sustainable Food Systems, Nairobi, Kenya, e-mail: c.termote@cgiar.org

African Indigenous Vegetables Contribution Towards Food Security and Safety in Kenya: A Meal Cultures Perspective

ANNE ASWANI MUSOTSI¹. MARY ABUKUTSA-ONYANGO²

Food insecurity and micronutrient deficiencies have been persistent issues in Kenya that are averting the achievement of the sustainable development goals. One of the existing strategies to alleviate the situation is the use of African indigenous vegetables (AIVs). Notable for their high levels of bioactive compounds, AIVs have been recommended as beneficial for nutrition and health. Besides, some species grow naturally and their minimal requirement for fertilisers and pesticides contributes to food safety. AIVs were part of the meal culture of most Kenyan households during the precolonial times. However, during the colonial times, there was a change in the meal cultures resulting from introduction of exotic vegetables. Thus, AIVs were neglected but as a result of concerted efforts by researchers and other stakeholders increased consumption of the vegetables has been noted. Consumption at the household level, however, still faces a number of challenges. Several studies have been conducted on production and marketing of AIVs, but preparation and cooking, and thus food safety at the household level still remain a missing link. The aim of the paper is to present the results of the HORTINLEA research project 'Meal Cultures in Market Trends and Consumption Habits'. The objective of this research was to establish factors that influence the preparation, cooking and consumption of AIVs in Kenya. The research questions were: Which factors determine AIV consumption and how do meal cultures affect consumption trends of AIVs? A qualitative approach was used and the innovative concept of meal cultures by Teherani-Krönner employed. Research areas were Nairobi (urban), Nakuru (peri-urban), Kakamega (rural). The sample size was 70 (expert interviews, focus group discussions and cooking along interviews) conducted in 2015-2017. Results showed that eight different AIVs were consumed regularly in households. Preparation, cooking and eating of AIVs depended on ethnicity, availability of resources and age. Water, which is key to food safety, was found to influence consumption. Preparation and cooking of AIVs was highly gendered. The study concluded that AIVs could contribute to food and nutrition security in Kenyan households if the meal cultures concept was applied in the investigation of AIV consumption and food safety.

Keywords: African indigenous vegetables, food safety, food security

¹Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, Dept. of Food Science and Technology, Kenya

²Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, Dept. of Horticulture, Kenya

Contact Address: Anne Aswani Musotsi, Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, Dept. of Food Science and Technology, P.O Box 62000, 00200 Nairobi, Kenya, e-mail: aswanianne@gmail.com

Development and Implementation of Insect-Based Products to Enhance Food and Nutritional Security in Sub-Saharan Africa

MARWA SHUMO

Center for Development Research (ZEF), Ecology and Natural Resources Management, Germany

With a growing world population, increasingly demanding consumers, and a limited amount of agricultural land, there is an urgent need to find alternatives to conventional meat products. Livestock production is a leading cause of anthropogenic-induced climate change. More sustainable diets are needed, with reduced meat consumption or the use of alternative protein sources. Insects are promoted as human food and animal feed worldwide. In tropical countries, edible insects are harvested naturally, but overexploitation, habitat changes, and environmental contamination threaten this resource. Therefore, sustainable harvesting practices need to be developed and implemented. The consumption of crickets (e.g. the house cricket Acheta domesticus), the longhorn grasshopper (Ruspolia differens), and a variety of saturniid caterpillars (e.g. Imbrasia zambesina and Cirina forda) is part of the food culture of some communities in Kenya and Uganda and constitutes 5 - 10% of protein intake of the rural and urban populace. For many, trade in edible insects is a major source of income and considerably contributes to livelihood improvements. Recently chitin (the main component of the arthropod exoskeleton) is attracting considerable attention due to its role in enhancing immunity, promoting growth of beneficial bacteria and inhibiting the growth and activity of pathogenic microorganisms. Furthermore, its consumption could improve the health of rural communities across Africa and beyond. Therefore the potential of the insects as a source of micronutrients, e.g. minerals like zinc and iron or vitamins, to combat hidden hunger is investigated. EntoNUTRI - a 3-year project - is a complementary partnership of icipe, University of Bonn, University of Hohenheim's Food Security Centre (FSC), and national agricultural research systems (NARS) from Kenya and Uganda to enhance food and nutritional security through the use of insects as food and sponsored by the Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ). Our findings suggest major environmental advantages of insect farming compared to livestock production: (1) limited land and water consumption; (2) lower greenhouse gas emissions; (3) higher feed conversion efficiencies; (4) transformation of low-value organic by-products into high-quality food or feed. However, edible insect species intended for production should be screened for risks to humans, animals, plants, and biodiversity.

Keywords: Edible insects, food security, icipe, insects farming, Kenya, Uganda

Contact Address: Marwa Shumo, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Ecology and Natural Resources Management, Genscherallee 3, 53113 Bonn, Germany, e-mail: mshummo@hotmail.com

How to Fill Harvest and Nutrient 'Gaps' through Locally Available Tree Foods?

Barbara Stadlmayr^{1,2}, Stepha McMullin², Roeland Kindt², Ramni Jamnadass²

Tree foods including fruits, leafy vegetables, nuts, seeds and edible oils present locally available and traditionally used foods to diversify staple diets. To better incorporate these foods into food systems and thereby addressing challenges of seasonal food availability, the World Agroforestry Centre developed a methodology for selecting ecologically-suitable and nutritionallyvaluable food tree species for production on farms. In addition to filling harvest 'gaps' the portfolio addresses certain nutrient 'gaps' in a site. To do so, food tree species identified in harvest calendars are mapped with nutritional data. Food composition data play a key role in linking agriculture to nutrition, but unfortunately information on the nutrient composition of many species, particularly indigenous and wild species, are absent due to a lack of research. This could mean that food tree species rich in micronutrients are overlooked in development planning, projects and policies. Hence, as a first step food composition data from scientific articles and food composition tables were compiled, standardised and aggregated, following international standards on food composition from FAO/INFOODS. Thereafter, mean values of recommended nutrient intake data (RNI) were calculated based on FAO/WHO references. In a third step, the percentage of RNI of iron, zinc, folate, vitamin C and vitamin A provided by species were calculated. To simplify the nutrient content information for the portfolios, fruits and vegetables were scored for whether they are a high source (+++), source (++) or low source (+) for the respective nutrient. The thresholds are based on FAO/WHO food labelling standards and own adaptions. Information on the nutrient content of the selected foods will be available in an open access database and in a simplified form to support decision-making by key stakeholders in the selection of ecologically suitable and nutritionally value tree species for cultivation. The development of fruit tree portfolios by using locally suitable species and their nutrient content information and seasonal availability is a sustainable food based approach to address micronutrient deficiencies by increasing the quality of local diets. Moreover, the food composition data compiled for food tree species provides a necessary repository for prioritising domestication programs to mainstream available nutritious foods.

Keywords: Food composition, food tree species, food-based approach, hunger gap, indigenous species, micronutrients, nutrition, seasonality

Contact Address: Barbara Stadlmayr, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Centre for Development Research, Vienna, Austria, e-mail: B.Stadlmayr@gmail.com

¹University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Centre for Development Research, Austria

²World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF), Tree Productivity and Diversity, Kenya

Real-Time Dietary Assessment Using a Validated IT-Based Approach within a Ghanaian Setting

JULIAN PHILIPP WALD¹, EMMANUEL ASARE¹, EMMANUEL KWEKU NAKUA², CHRISTINE LAMBERT¹, HANS KONRAD BIESALSKI¹, SIMON RIEDEL¹, UTE GOLA¹, DONATUS NOHR¹

Meeting dietary needs represents a key element to guarantee food security. However, appropriate solutions for fast and precise assessments of dietary energy and nutrient intakes are still not available. This becomes particularly evident, if accurate pictures on individual-level must be generated. Therefore, this study illustrates the calculator of inadequate micronutrient intake (CIMI) approach: a programme evaluating dietary intakes in real-time based on individual dietary patterns.

Quantitative data on food consumption of adults in reproductive age and children under-five were obtained by a cross-sectional nutrition survey conducted in Southern Ghana. Food frequency questionnaire findings and food composition tables were used for the identification of region-specific food groups forming the basic structure of CIMI. Subsequently, the programme was validated by correlating and plotting results obtained through the analysis of 24h-recalls with CIMI and a standard nutrition software (NutriSurvey).

Pearson correlations ($r \ge 0.75$) and Bland-Altman plots (agreement limit: ± 1.96 SD) indicate the comparability of the two dietary assessment programs and thus, the validity of CIMI. Due to the user-friendly data entry system consisting of region-specific food groups and the real-time survey analysis, CIMI proves to be fast while considering individual dietary patterns. For Ashanti region, diets were strongly characterised by the consumption of starchy staples (54 %), however, in comparison with the recommended nutrient intake (RNI) of the World Health Organisation (WHO), dietary needs were largely met in all sub-population groups. Virtually no dairy products were consumed, resulting in an overall poor dietary calcium intake (29.9 \pm 13.9 %RNI). In addition, generally low intakes of riboflavin were observed covering 72.4 \pm 42.3 % RNI. Dietary iron coverage of women had to be considered as inadequate (67.4 \pm 39.3 %RNI). Further data for Brong-Ahafo, Central and Eastern region are currently under analysis and will be presented at the conference.

A fast and precise IT-based approach for individual dietary energy and nutrient intake assessments was successfully developed and validated for a Ghanaian setting. As such, the programme represents a first step towards the collection of large-scale datasets on individual dietary intakes that will serve as a profound basis for stakeholders to recommend appropriate local food sources and proportions for improved diets.

Keywords: CIMI, dietary assessment, food security, Ghana, micronutrients

¹University of Hohenheim, Institute of Biological Chemistry and Nutrition, Germany

²Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology, School of Public Health, Ghana

Contact Address: Julian Philipp Wald, University of Hohenheim, Institute of Biological Chemistry and Nutrition, Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: julian.wald@uni-hohenheim.de

Food and Nutrient Gaps of Smallholder Farming Households in Rural Northern Ghana

ILSE DE JAGER¹, KEN GILLER¹, INGE D. BROUWER²

Food-based dietary guidelines (FBDGs) provide guidance to policy makers, the private sector and consumers to redesign food systems and to improve diets of vulnerable populations. As FBDGs are based on the actual dietary patterns and their costs, it is assumed that the recommended foods are available, affordable and acceptable. Using quantitative dietary intake data of young children in rural Ghana, we developed FBDGs and studied whether these are supported by the diversity and quantity of household's foods production. We found that 40% of Ghanaian infants and young children were stunted and their nutrient intakes were far below the required amounts. The developed FBDGs for household level were on average not able to sufficiently cover the requirements for fat, calcium, iron, vitamin A, vitamin B12 and vitamin C. This implies that in case of adoption of these FBDGs the requirements for these nutrients will not be met. In addition, the household's nutrient needs and food needs (according to the developed FBDGs) were only marginally covered by their own food production. Over half the households had insufficient calcium, vitamin A, vitamin B12 and vitamin C to cover their needs. About 60 % of the households did not cover their required amounts of grains and legumes and none of vegetables. Further analysis of the food gaps at district and national level showed grain requirements were covered at both levels (267 % and 148 %, respectively); legume only at district level (268%) but not at national level (52%); and vegetable not at both levels (2% and 49%, respectively). Thus this study show that food availability does not support the adoption of FBDGs in rural northern Ghana. Diversifying crop production is often mentioned as a potential solution for increasing the diversity of foods available and thereby increasing dietary diversity of rural low and middle income country populations. We found that household's food production diversity was indeed positively related with household's food and nutrient coverage but not with the child's dietary diversity and nutrient adequacy. Our results suggest that the promotion of FBDGs through behaviour change communications activities alone is insufficient to lead to improvements in diets.

Keywords: Crop diversity, dietary adequacy, dietary diversity, food gap, food-based dietary guidelines, Ghana, nutrient gap, smallholder farm households

¹Wageningen University and Research, Dept. of Plant Sciences, The Netherlands

²Wageningen University and Research, Dept. of Agrotechnology and Food Sciences, The Netherlands

Contact Address: Ilse de Jager, Wageningen University and Research, Dept. of Plant Sciences, Stippeneng 4, 6708 WE Wageningen, The Netherlands, e-mail: dejager.ilse@gmail.com

Determinants of Nutrient and Dietary Gaps in the Changing Food Systems in Nigeria

Daniel Ayalew Mekonnen¹, Aafke Nijhuis¹, Laura Trijsburg², Elise Talsma², Tomas Morley¹, Vincent Linderhof¹, Thom Achterbosch¹, Inge D. Brouwer²

Improved nutrition is thought to have multiplier effect across the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Yet, much like other low and middle income countries, achieving the SDGs in Nigeria will be challenged by co-existence of undernutrition, micronutrient deficiencies and growing rates of overweight and obesity in the population. The food environment is also changing both in urban and rural areas, which is likely to create new nutritional challenges while opening opportunities. This requires a dynamic approach to identify entry points for intervention. However, a lack of food consumption surveys specifically designed for food and nutrition research from representative samples remains a major constraint to studying nutrient and dietary gaps. Previous studies mainly rely on cross-sectional observations and have limited scope in terms of: capturing the dynamics in both rural and urban food systems, their geographic coverage and indicators of diet quality (e.g. they often use caloric intake with no or limited information on the content of micronutrients in the diet). We overcome many of these limitations by making use of multiple round Living Standard Measurement Surveys (LSMS-ISA) in Nigeria. These are large national and sub-national representative surveys, and they are a rich source of information from the food systems perspective as nutrient and dietary intake can be linked to different aspects of the food systems. We first estimate nutrient and dietary gaps for the individual from household data, in terms of adult female equivalent which proxies intrahousehold distribution of food. We then employ panel data econometrics to identify factors that may explain observed differences in nutrient and dietary gaps over time and space.

Keywords: Dietary gap, food systems, Nigeria

Wageningen University and Research, Wageningen Economic Research, The Netherlands
 Wageningen University and Research, Dept. of Agrotechnology and Food Sciences, The Netherlands

Contact Address: Daniel Ayalew Mekonnen, Wageningen University and Research, Wageningen Economic Research, Alexanderveld 5, 2585 DB The Hague, The Netherlands, e-mail: daniel.mekonnen@wur.nl

Baobab as a Natural Micronutrient Dietary Complement for Nutrition Security: A Research Undertaking by the Baofood Project

TSIGE-YOHANNES HABTE, MICHAEL KRAWINKEL, ESTHER EVANG Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Nutritional Sciences, Germany

Micronutrient malnutrition attacks more than 2 billion people worldwide. Many suffer from multiple deficiencies. Iron deficiency anemia affects 1.62 billion people and has severe implications on the physical and cognitive development of children. Zinc is important for growth and immunity because of its involvement in DNA and protein synthesis; 1.3 billion people or 17 % of the world's population is at risk of zinc deficiency. A recent study (2015) based on food supply suggests that 3.5 billion people are at risk of rickets and osteomalacia due to calcium or a combination of calcium and vitamin D deficiency. It is estimated that 90 million children <5 years and 22.24 million pregnant women suffer from subclinical vitamin A deficiency leading to lowered immunity and increased risk of mortality in children.

Forest trees are natural and traditional supplement to staple diets. Baobab represents one of those that sporadically supplements rural diets and serves as traditional medicine. It has therefore attracted attention for compositional investigation. Baobab leaves contain 5.4 g calcium per 100 g DM, 10–18 times more calcium than in the foodstuffs commonly known as calcium-rich (e.g. milk, green-leafy-vegetables and pulses). The pulp contains 318 mg/100 g, more than 2-times the calcium concentration in milk and 3–4 times that in leafy vegetables.

The magnesium content (339 mg/100 g dry sample) of the leaves and that of the seeds (402 mg/100 g dry sample) are 2.35 and 2.8 times that of pulses (144 mg/100 g); and pulses are commonly known as rich sources of magnesium. The leaves and seeds of baobab have better concentration of zinc, (4 and 5 mg/100 g respectively), than that of legumes (2.4 mg/100 g) and beef (1.6 mg/100 g).

Baobab leaves contain on the average 65 mg Fe/100 g sample, more than five times the level present in the richest conventional foodstuffs (11.9 mg Fe/100 g legume) and more than 15x that in meat (4.2 mg/100 g). The pulp has moderate iron concentration (about 4 mg/100g) that on the average is comparable to the amount in beef. The combination of its moderate iron and rich vitamin C content, about six times more than that in citrus fruits, makes the pulp a desirable complement of a daily diet.

Keywords: Baobab, deficiency, micronutrients, natural supplements

Contact Address: Tsige-Yohannes Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. Habte, Nutritional Sciences, Wilhelmstrasse 20. 35392 Giessen. Germany, e-mail: tsige-yohannes.habte@ernaehrung.uni-giessen.de

Micronutrient Adequacy in Diets Consumed by School Children from Farming Communities of Tanzania

VICTORIA GOWELE¹, JOYCE KINABO¹, THERESIA JUMBE¹, NYAMIZI BUNDALA¹, LAILA ELERAKY², HADIJAH MBWANA¹, CONSTANCE RYBAK³, STEFAN SIEBER³, KHAMALDIN DAUD MUTABAZI⁴, WOLFGANG STUETZ²

School children are vulnerable to micronutrient deficiencies. Micronutrient deficiencies during this period may lead to retarded growth, poor cognitive development, anaemia and increased risk of infections. This study aimed to assess the adequacy of zinc, iron and vitamin A, in diets consumed by school children aged 5–10 years in Chamwino and Kilosa districts, Tanzania. In a cross-sectional study, 666 children aged 5–10 years were randomly recruited. Dietary assessment was conducted using a quantified 24 hours recall and a food frequency questionnaire.

Nutri-survey software was used for analysis of nutrient intake. Serum levels of zinc, iron and vitamin A were determined using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay and spectrophotometric methods. Household dietary diversity score (HDDS) was also derived. Data are presented as means (SD) and prevalences and compared using ANOVA, and chi-squared test.

The median caloric intake was 898 Kcal, 81% of the children in the study did not met the Recommended Daily Intake (RDI) for energy. The median dietary intake of iron was 11.5 mg day^1 and was inadequate for 26% of the children. The median dietary intake of zinc was 4.9 mg day^1 with 95% of the children not meeting the RDI. The median dietary intake of vitamin A was $320 \,\mu\text{gRE day}^{-1}$ and was inadequate for over 62% of the children. The prevalence of anaemia, low vitamin A status and zinc deficiency among study children was 42.9%, 65.4% and 32.8% respectively. Iron deficiency prevalence was 27.8%. Anaemia, low vitamin A status and zinc deficiency, which may be partly linked to the poor dietary intake was prevalent among children in the study area. The overall mean HDDS was 4.8 ± 1.8 . The least consumed food groups in both districts were eggs, milk products and meat/organ.

The consumed diets had limited diversification coupled with inadequate intake of iron, zinc and vitamin A, leading to poor micronutrient status. This study recommends consumption of pro vitamin A rich vegetables/fruits and animal based foods in order to improve children's micronutrient status in the study villages.

The financial support of Scale-N project by the German federal ministry of food and agriculture (BMEL) is highly acknowledged.

Keywords: Dietary intake, iron, school children, vitamin A, zinc

¹Sokoine University of Agriculture, Food Techn. Nutrition and Consumer Sci., Tanzania

²University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Biological Chemistry and Nutrition, Germany

³Leibniz Centre for Agric. Landscape Res. (ZALF), Inst. of Socio-Economics, Germany

⁴Sokoine University of Agriculture, School of Agric. Economics & Business Studies, Tanzania

Contact Address: Victoria Gowele, Sokoine University of Agriculture, Food Technology, Nutrition and Consumer Sciences, P.O. Box 3006, Morogoro, Tanzania, e-mail: vgowele@yahoo.co.uk

Dietary Diversity and Consumption of Foods from Different Food Groups among Small Holder Women Farmers in Kenya, Malawi and Uganda

M. Gracia Glas¹, Lydiah Waswa², Anna Röhlig¹, Ernst-August Nuppenau³. Michael Krawinkel⁴. Irmgard Jordan¹

Inadequate dietary intake among women of reproductive age remains a challenge in some countries of sub-Saharan Africa. This study compared the dietary diversity and consumption of foods from different groups among women in three African countries.

Cross-sectional agriculture-nutrition baseline surveys were conducted in Teso sub-county (Kenya), Kapchorwa District (Uganda) and Lilongwe District (Malawi) between May - November 2016, targeting 1263 farm households with children aged under five years. All three study regions relied on small holder maize farming. Semi-structured questionnaires were used to assess demographic and socio-economic characteristics. A Minimum Dietary Diversity Score for Women (MDD-W, max 10 groups) was calculated based on a 24h-recall. Anthropometric measurements were taken to calculate body mass index (BMI).

Mean (SD) BMI was similar in all three countries (Kenya: $23 \, kg \, m^2 \pm 4$; Malawi: $23 \, kg \, m^2 \pm 3$; Uganda: $23 \, kg \, m^2 \pm 4$). Mean number of food groups consumed differed significantly between the countries 4.2 ± 1.2 (Kenya), 3.9 ± 1.4 (Malawi), 4.3 ± 1.2 (Uganda), (p \leq 0.05). The proportion of women who achieved MDD-W in Uganda, Kenya and Malawi were $44.5 \, \%$, $41.2 \, \%$ and $33.5 \, \%$, respectively. "Grains, white tubers and plantain" was the most consumed food group (Kenya: $100 \, \%$). Malawi: $93 \, \%$; Uganda: $100 \, \%$). There where great differences in the proportion of women who consumed foods from other food groups. While the least consumed food group in Kenya was nuts and seeds (6 $\,\%$), eggs were least consumed by women in Uganda (5 $\,\%$) and Malawi ($\,<1 \, \%$). Only one in 10 women in Kenya (11 $\,\%$) and Uganda (9 $\,\%$) consumed vitamin A rich fruits and vegetables in contrast to $34 \, \%$ in Malawi. Animal source food consumption was twice to three times higher in Kenya compared to Malawi and Uganda (Kenya: $64 \, \%$, Malawi: $28 \, \%$, Uganda: $21 \, \%$).

The low proportion of women who achieved MDD-W indicates a high risk for micronutrient deficiencies in all three regions. Region specific agriculture and nutrition interventions are needed to improve the availability and consumption of the different non-staple foods. The study was funded by the BLE with support from the BMEL.

Keywords: Dietary diversity, food security, hidden hunger, nutrition

¹ Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Cent. for Intern. Dev. and Environm. Res., Germany

²Egerton University, Department of Human Nutrition, Kenya

³ Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Agric. Policy and Market Res., Germany

⁴Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Nutritional Science, Germany

Contact Address: M. Gracia Glas, Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Cent. for Intern. Dev. and Environm. Res., Giessen, Germany, e-mail: maria.g.glas@zeu.uni-giessen.de

Grain Legume Cultivation and Children's Dietary Diversity in Smallholder Farming Households in Rural Ghana and Kenya

ILSE DE JAGER¹, ABDUL-RAZAK ABIZARI², JACOB C. DOUMA¹, KEN GILLER¹, INGE D. BROUWER³

Boosting smallholder food production can potentially improve children's nutrition in rural sub-Saharan Africa through a production-own consumption pathway and an income-food purchase pathway. Rigorously designed studies are needed to provide evidence for nutrition impact, but are often difficult to implement in agricultural projects. Within the framework of a large agricultural development project supporting legume production (N₂Africa), we studied the potential to improve children's dietary diversity by comparing N₂Africa and non-N₂Africa households in a cross-sectional quasi-experimental design, followed by structural equation modelling (SEM) and focus group discussions in rural Ghana and Kenya. Comparing N2Africa and non-N2Africa households, we found that participating in N2Africa was not associated with improved dietary diversity of children. However, for soybean, SEM indicated a relatively good fit to the a posteriori model in Kenya but not in Ghana, and in Kenya only the productionown consumption pathway was fully supported, with no effect through the incomefood purchase pathway. Results are possibly related to differences in the food environment between the two countries, related to attribution of positive characteristics to soybean, the variety of local soybean-based dishes, being a new crop or not, women's involvement in soybean cultivation, the presence of markets, and being treated as a food or cash crop. These findings confirm the importance of the food environment for translation of enhanced crop production into improved human nutrition. This study also shows that in a situation where rigorous study designs cannot be implemented, SEM is a useful option to analyse whether agriculture projects have the potential to improve nutrition.

Keywords: Children, dietary diversity, Ghana, Kenya, legume production, SEM analysis

ID 440 331

¹Wageningen University and Research, Dept. of Plant Sciences, The Netherlands

²University for Development Studies, Dept. of Community Nutrition, Ghana

³Wageningen University and Research, Dept. of Agrotechnology and Food Sciences, The Netherlands

Contact Address: Ilse de Jager, Wageningen University and Research, Dept. of Plant Sciences, Stippeneng 4, 6708 WE Wageningen, The Netherlands, e-mail: dejager.ilse@gmail.com

Willingness and Knowledge of Nepalese Mothers to Improve Babies' Diet to Upgrade their Nutritional Status

Luna Shrestha¹, Pratima Gurung², Boris Kulig¹, Oliver Hensel¹, Barbara Sturm¹

Food insecurity and child malnutrition are two of the most prevalent problems in Nepal. Among several factors, intake of adequate and nutritious foods needs to be emphasised to counteract this situation. Inadequate feeding practices are a major factor contributing to the situation. Thus, the aim of this study was to determine the knowledge and willingness of mothers towards upgrading the nutritional status of their babies by adapting their feeding practices. The study was conducted in Kathmandu, Nepal in February and March 2018. Mothers with children under the age of three were considered for the survey. The data were analysed using the SPSS software to predict the effects of various independent variables on health aspects of babies and their mothers' knowledge on food nutrients to improve the nutritional status.

Analysis indicated that there were strong negative correlations between educational level of mothers and the number of children (p < 0.05). Those mothers who were socially active and discussed on babies' diet and nutrition were found to feed their babies additional amount of fruits and vegetables. Nevertheless, 33 % children were found to be underweight and 9 % children mostly suffering from fever and common cold. A positive correlation was found between the education level of mothers and providing various kinds of foods to the children compared to other factors for preventing malnutrition. However, there were no significant associations between ethnic group, age of mothers and feeding practices. Most of the mothers were intensely willing to change their feeding practices to uplift their babies' health status. However, well-educated mothers had rudimentary information on dried fruits and vegetables nutrient aspects and, thus, rarely consumed themselves or fed to their babies. Thus, an integrated approach that spreads the information on distinct types of foods such as incorporation of fruits and vegetables, dried fruits and nuts, knowledge of optimal nutrition practices, and adequate maternal nutrition, seems to be needed to upgrade the nutritional and to maintain a balanced health status of children in Nepal.

Keywords: Awareness, feeding practices, health problem, infants, Nepal

¹University of Kassel, Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering, Germany

²Tribhuvan University, Nepal, Herald International College, Nepal

Contact Address: Luna Shrestha, University of Kassel, Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering, Nordbahnhofstrasse 1a, 37213 Witzenhausen, Germany, e-mail: sthaluna@gmail.com

What Dimensions of Women's Empowerment Matter for Nutritional Outcomes? Evidence from Africa and Asia

AGNES QUISUMBING¹, KATHRYN SPROULE², HAZEL MALAPIT¹, ELENA MARTINEZ³

Although linkages between increasing resources controlled by women and nutrition are well established, the linkages between women's empowerment and nutrition have been more difficult to quantify owing to the difficulty of measuring empowerment. This paper conducts new empirical analysis using the Women's Empowerment in Agriculture Index (WEAI), based on large scale surveys in six countries in Africa and Asia, to identify which dimensions and indicators of women's empowerment matter for different diet and nutrition outcomes. We use data from Feed the Future population-based surveys from Bangladesh, Nepal, Cambodia, Ghana, Mozambique, and Tanzania and model the relationship between nutritional outcomes at the household and individual level and women's empowerment in agriculture. Household-level outcomes include the household hunger score, household dietary diversity, and household calorie availability. Women's outcomes include dietary diversity and body mass index (BMI), while child outcomes include indicators of infant and young child feeding (IYCF) practices, dietary diversity, and anthropometric measures.

We find that higher women's empowerment scores and greater household equality (a smaller gap between men's and women's empowerment scores) are almost always associated with better nutritional outcomes. Across countries, higher women's empowerment is also associated with children's nutritional outcomes. Cultural preference for boys over girls is evident in Bangladesh, Nepal, and Ghana; increased women's empowerment is often associated with worse girls' anthropometric outcomes relative to boys. Improved nutrition is not necessarily correlated with being empowered across all empowerment domains, indicating the possibility of tradeoffs. In Nepal, control over incomes is associated with higher women's BMI, but if intensifying participation in agriculture increases workload, then both maternal and child nutrition could be at risk.

The WEAI can be used to identify policy and programming priorities by disaggregating the contribution of each indicator to women's disempowerment. Whenever addressing a top contributor to disempowerment is strongly associated with improvement in several nutritional outcomes, interventions targeting these top contributors to disempowerment could potentially be very cost-effective.

Keywords: Dietary diversity, infant and young child feeding, maternal and child nutrition, time use, women's empowerment in agriculture

¹International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Poverty, Health, and Nutrition Division, United States of America

²Independent Consultant, United States of America

³International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Agri. for Nutrition and Health (A4NH), United States of America

Contact Address: Agnes Quisumbing, International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Poverty, Health, and Nutrition Division, 1201 Eye Street, NW, 20005-3915 Washington, United States of America, e-mail: a.quisumbing@cgiar.org

Does Gender-Sensitive Agricultural Intervention Improve Food Security and Profit Efficiency?

TEMESGEN FITAMO BOCHER, SINDI KIRIMI, JAN LOW

International Potato Centre, Mozambique

Sweetpotato (*Ipomoea batatas* L.) is an important staple food crop in Rwanda. This study analysed the impacts of gender-sensitive sweetpotato based intervention on food security, food consumption, and profit efficiency; by applying stochastic profit frontier, propensity score matching (PSM), and endogenous switching regression (ESR) models. The study is based on the data collected from 846 households from rural Rwanda, in 2014. The data contains 39 % beneficiaries, 37 % spill-overs, and 24 % control households.

The finding suggested that on average female headed households were less educated, older, own fewer livestock, less likely to participate in sweetpotato marketing, less likely to be involved in informal business, and more likely to be food insecure than male-headed households. Gender-sensitive agricultural intervention increased food consumption scores by 25 and 23 points (p < 0.001), for female and male headed households, respectively; and it has reduced the food insecurity of female and male headed households by 35 % and 53 %, respectively. Average level of profit efficiency in sweetpotato production system is 55%; profit efficiency of female beneficiary, and female spill-over is found to be 3.5 %, and 5 %, higher than that of control male households, respectively. The profit efficiency of participant households was 64 % compared to 20 % of the control. It is indicated that food security and food consumption score were positively and significantly (p < 0.05) associated with head education, number of sweetpotato varieties planted, participation in informal business, and livestock ownership; and negatively with household size.

It is concluded that gender-sensitive agricultural intervention increased profit efficiency, food security, and food consumption. Furthermore, to achieve the goal of gender-equitable changes in livelihood through agricultural intervention, it is crucial to design programs, policies, and projects explicitly targeting the women; if designed with special attention to women's need, agricultural intervention, can enhance food security, food consumption, and profit efficiency of the poor and disadvantageous households.

Keywords: Biofortified crops, food consumption, food security, gender-sensitive intervention, Rwanda

Contact Address: Temesgen Fitamo Bocher, International Potato Centre, Viable Sweetpotato Technology for Africa (VISTA), Av. FPLM, Via Corrane, KM7, Nampula, Mozambique, e-mail: t.bocher@cgiar.org

Breeding Cooking Bananas: Do Men and Women's Trait Preferences Matter?

Losira Nasirumbi Sanya 1 , Tendo Reuben Ssali 1 , Mary Gorreth Namuddu 1 , Sarah Mayanja 2

Cooking banana ('Matooke') is an important food staple that supports 17 million Ugandans. Banana productivity is declining due to many factors including pests and diseases. Breeding new varieties offers feasible strategies to address such constraints. However, ensuring that breeding meets the numerous desirable attributes of the endusers is complex. Where improved varietal attributes fail to meet the needs of the end-users, low uptake and adoption ensues. Women and men may have diverse preferences for varietal characteristics because of differing production objectives, norms and values. A study was thus conducted to understand important cooking banana traits preferred by men and women value chain actors. The study sought to determine how the preferred traits shape acceptability of selected cooking banana varieties in central Uganda. Data were collected using sex-disaggregated focus group discussions, key informant interviews and a survey of 174 respondents (87male and 87 female principle household decision makers). Two sensory evaluation exercises of promising and released hybrids banana varieties were conducted. Results indicated that the traits driving acceptability of cooking banana could be categorised into: traits that enhance (i) production, (ii) food quality, and (iii) marketability. Both men and women end users selected food taste as the most important trait determining acceptability of a cooking banana variety. Although most traits were equally appreciated by both men and women, men showed an inclination towards production and market related traits such as tolerance to drought and poor soil, bunch size, maturity period and shelf life. Women on the other hand appreciated food quality traits such as flavour and colour of the cooked food. We recommend redesigning the banana breeding pipeline to prioritise the gender differentiated attributes so as to deliver varieties that meet the preferences and needs of men and women end users. Since both adult men and women cooking banana consumers are not willing to compromise on the food quality traits, the 'Matooke' hybrid ideotype could be redefined to prioritise traits associated with marketability and quality of the cooked food.

Keywords: Breeding, cooking bananas, food quality, trait preferences, Uganda

ID 849 335

¹National Agricultural Research Organisation (NARO), Uganda

²International Potato Centre (CIP), Uganda

Contact Address: Losira Nasirumbi Sanya, National Agricultural Research Organisation (NARO), Mukono, Uganda, e-mail: losirasfm@gmail.com

consumer panel.

Diversity, Use and Consumers' Acceptance of Local Banana Cultivars in Ucayali, Peru

PETR PUDIL, ZBYNEK POLESNY

Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. of Tropical AgriSciences, Czech Republic Bananas (Musa spp.) constitute a large part of local food basket in many tropical countries. Some cultivars also possess medicinal properties or help to prevent vitamin A deficiency. This form of hidden hunger is still a problem in Latin America, but can be precluded by consumption of enough provitamin A rich food, such as dark leafy vegetables or orange/red fleshed fruits, including certain Musa cultivars. Though banana is a crop with high intraspecific diversity, locally used cultivars in many regions have not been characterised so far in terms of morphology, mode of use and consumers' acceptance. The study was conducted in Pucallpa, the administrative centre of the Ucayali region, located in the Peruvian Amazon. The Ucayali region represents one of the most important banana production areas in Peru. A survey of seven main retail markets in Pucallpa was performed in order to inventory all widely available Musa cultivars. All cultivars were morphologically characterised using previously published descriptors and their fruit pulp to peel ratio was calculated. Subsequently, the vendors and customers were interviewed to document local knowledge including vernacular names, modes of preparation and use patterns of each cultivar. Sensorial properties and overall acceptance of dessert type bananas were evaluated by local

In total 11 cultivars were documented including 5 cooking ('Bellaco', 'Campeón', 'Común', 'Mamaluca', 'Sapucho') and 6 dessert type bananas ('Capirona', 'Isla', 'Manzano', 'Muquicho', 'Rojo', 'Seda'). According to our best knowledge, one of the cultivars investigated has been newly documented in Peru. The highest pulp to peel ratio was found in dessert cultivars 'Muquicho', 'Manzano' and 'Seda'. Performances of overall acceptance were positively correlating with pulp sweetness, which indicates its impact on consumers' choices when compared to other characteristics studied. Moreover, orange-fleshed cultivars such as 'Rojo' and 'Isla' should be further studied as potential sources of provitamin A rich food.

Keywords: Human nutrition, intraspecific diversity, *Musa*, sensorial properties, traditional knowledge

Contact Address: Zbynek Polesny, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Faculty of Tropical AgriSciences, Kamýcká 129, 16500 Praha - Suchdol, Czech Republic, e-mail: polesny@ftz.czu.cz

Psychological Food-Related Well-Being in a Diaspora Situation

LUBANA AL-SAYED

Hohenheim University, Institute of Social Sciences in Agriculture - Societal Transition and Agriculture / Food Security Center, Germany

Food is more than just nutrients and has emotional and symbolic functions. Therefore, food has recently been considered an avenue for helping refugees to resettle and integrate into their new communities. For refugees, food is central for going back to their roots and for building new relationships within the host society. This paper presents an in-depth investigation of refugees' well-being in a food context from a psychological perspective, as they are confronted with a new food environment and forced dietary changes. Following a positive psychology framework of well-being, a qualitative content-based analysis was conducted to analyse 34 in-depth interviews with Syrian refugees residing in Stuttgart, Germany. This study revealed that participants have a strong affinity to their past food-related life and a continuous comparison between what they are used to and what is currently available to them in the new food environment. They have a positive relationship to food, where food plays a comforting role or is used as a way to mentally block themselves against their thoughts and worries. Moreover, participants have loose autonomy and weak environmental mastery over food choices, especially during the war, migration journey, and the temporary settlement in initial reception centres. They expressed their desires, which lacks motivation and guidance, to learn and improve their dietary behaviour in order to enhance health. The insights gained from this research are useful to have a better understanding of the challenges faced by refugees and to inform strategies on how to enhance refugees' integration through food and improving their overall well-being.

Keywords: Autonomy, positive psychology, refugees, well-being

Contact Address: Lubana Al-Sayed, Hohenheim University, Institute of Social Sciences in Agriculture - Societal Transition and Agriculture / Food Security Center, Egilolfstr.52, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: lubana.alsayed@uni-hohenheim.de

DEVCO Nutrition Commitments and its Discontents

ELKHAN RICHARD SADIK-ZADA

Ruhr-Universität Bochum, Institute of Development Research and Development Policy, Germany

The European Union is a major player in the field of nutrition in the context of international development cooperation. The major target of this research project is the detection of the factors determining the geography of the EU international cooperation and development (DEVCO) nutrition commitment and disbursement. Due to the limited data on nutrition investments the project relies on the data of 2012 and 2013. Methodologically the project relies on the evaluation tools provided by Scaling Up Nutrition Principles (SUN Methodology). These enable classification of the projects in nutrition specific and unspecific ones. All the results of the project are based on the nutrition specific projects.

There is a huge gap between countries regarding nutrition investments per stunted child. Analysis of the average DEVCO nutrition commitment per stunted child in each country over the last two years further shows that DEVCO's nutrition investments are unevenly distributed over the countries.

The data shows that DEVCO's nutrition commitments over the last two years have only been weakly linked to countries with the highest numbers of stunted children. Taking the top ten recipient countries of DEVCO nutrition commitments, it can be seen that the countries receiving the highest commitments are not the countries with the highest number of stunted children.

Stunting rate, in contrast to the absolute number of stunted children and regional dummy (sub-Saharan Africa), are the only statistically significant determinants of the country-specific DEVCO nutrition investment per stunted child (IV-OLS estimation). The estimation suggests that there is even a slightly negative association between the number of stunted children and nutrition investment per stunted child. The results suggest that there is a need for a better coordination of the geography of the DE-VCO nutrition investments which would result in a better and efficient coverage of the investments in reducing malnutrition.

Keywords: DEVCO nutrition commitments, scaling up nutrition, stunting rate, sub-Saharan Africa

338 ID 903

_

Contact Address: Elkhan Richard Sadik-Zada, Ruhr-Universität Bochum, Institute of Development Research and Development Policy, Auf der Rohfackel 4, 44801 Bochum, Germany, e-mail: sadikebd@rub.de

Sustainability Labels for Food Products: A Literature Review on Consumer's Behaviour, Challenges, and Opportunities

ROBERTO VILLALBA, REGINA BIRNER

University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

Sustainability labels first burst between the 1980s and the early 1990s as a method to increase transparency along the food chain and provide consumers with information in order to encourage sustainable consumption. Since then, a proliferation of sustainability labels has occurred, with around 465 Eco labels registered nowadays, among which 148 belong to the food production sector. Nevertheless, even if sustainability labels are commonly believed to be an appealing initiative to foster sustainability in agriculture, they face a number of challenges. The different perceptions of the definition of sustainability, the absence of a common framework, and the recent increase of new labels might limit their understanding and use among consumers and, therefore, the ability to enhance food security and food safety.

The objective of this study is to analyse through a literature review how consumers behave towards sustainability labels from an economic approach and to identify which are the factors that influence consumers' decisions. The analysis shows that understanding and concern about sustainability are critical to determining the consumer's use of labels. Additionally, the use of these labels seems to face challenges from different sources, which might be overcome with new strategies, such as creating a common framework and implanting labels that are easier to understand and incorporate several dimensions of sustainability. The study is divided into three main sections. The first one deals with a general overview of the origin, scope, and classification of sustainability labels for food products. The second section aims to analyse from an economic perspective the consumers' behaviour towards sustainability labels for food products. In the third section, the main challenges of sustainability labels are discussed and one alternative for integrating the framework and scope of sustainability labels is briefly introduced.

Keywords: Consumer behaviour, food production, sustainability labels

Contact Address: Roberto Villalba, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), 70593 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: roberto.villalba@uni-hohenheim.de

Consumption Intensity and Production Constraints of Indigenous Vegetables: A Step in African Food and Nutrition Security

Hadijah Mbwana¹, Joyce Kinabo¹, Wolfgang Stuetz², Constance Rybak³, Nyamizi Bundala¹, Khamaldin Daud Mutabazi⁴, Stefan Sieber³. Hans Konrad Biesalski²

Food and nutrition insecurity has been a major challenge in Africa. Farmers need to diversify food production in order to alleviate food and nutrition insecurity. With climate change at hand, indigenous vegetables can provide prospects to diversify production systems and improve food, nutrition and income security in many countries. Regardless of their potential, the extent of consumption and diversity of indigenous vegetables in lessening food, nutrition and economic insecurity are not fully exploited in Tanzania. Estimation of consumption intensity of these vegetables is important to understand how their utilisation can be enhanced at the household level.

The study evaluated consumption intensity and production constraints of indigenous vegetables. The study was carried out on 600 farm households from four villages in Dodoma and Morogoro, Tanzania. A multi-stage sampling procedure was used to select districts, villages and households. Districts were selected purposively based on their different agro-ecological characteristics and data was collected using a structured questionnaire.

The mean consumption of indigenous vegetables was high in 74 % of households, but the quantities were below 80 % the recommended daily intake (RDI) in 72–96 % of households. The mean intakes of vegetables were significantly (p < 0.001) different among the two agro ecological zones. Age of household head, household size and distance to a water source influenced consumption intensity of indigenous vegetables. Identified production constraints were lack of knowledge on the vegetables for example; production practices, cooking methods, utilisation and preservation methods; lack of seeds, low yields and competition with some exotic.

The diets of rural community were somehow deficient in terms of different vegetables and amount consumed thus contributing to high prevalence of undernutrition and micronutrient malnutrition. Therefore, strategies that could promote consumption intensity of indigenous vegetables such as health and nutrition education and involving young and male decision makers, extension services and production of these vegetables in home gardens should be employed.

Keywords: Food and nutrition security, indigenous vegetables, undernutrition

¹Sokoine University of Agriculture, Food Technology, Nutrition and Consumer Sciences, Tanzania

²University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Biological Chemistry and Nutrition, Germany

³Leibniz Centre for Agric. Landscape Res. (ZALF), Inst. of Socio-Economics, Germany

⁴Sokoine University of Agriculture, School of Agric. Economics & Business Studies, Tanzania

Contact Address: Hadijah Mbwana, Sokoine University of Agriculture, Food Technology, Nutrition and Consumer Sciences, Morogoro, Tanzania, e-mail: hadija27@yahoo.com

Can African Indigenous Vegetables Contribute to Nutrition Security in Kenya?

Nancy Munyiva Laibuni¹, Turoop Losenge², Susanne Neubert¹, Wolfgang Bokelmann¹

Kenya is classified as a food deficit country, close to one of each three Kenyans (14.5 million) suffers from chronic food insecurity and poor nutrition. In addition, about 30 percent of the children country wide are stunted, 13 percent moderately wasted, while 7 percent are moderately underweight. Approximately 20 percent of the population does not attain the minimum dietary requirements to sustain a healthy and productive life according to the National Bureau of Statistics. African indigenous vegetables (AIVs) contain a lot of beneficial micro-nutrients, which are critical for achieving nutrition security. The study seeks to assess the household preferences regarding vegetable consumption. A mixed method approach was used to analyse a panel dataset that covered 706 households in four counties in Kenya. The data was collected between 2014 and 2016.

The results show that, the consumption of AIVs is not widely acknowledged or documented. This is because the vegetables are usually consumed as an accompaniment. Households purchased an estimated 10 percent of their vegetable requirements and spent 16 times more on exotic vegetable when compared to how much they spend on AIVs. In seasons when households did not have enough food they spent 19 times more money on exotic vegetables when compared to AIVs. In cases where households had enough food they spent 9 time more money on exotic vegetables. This is an indicator that exotic vegetables were the preferred vegetables for most households that purchased vegetables. For the households that produced AIVs their consumption was positively corelated with their household income, household size, the amount of land under AIVs and their food security status. The study proposes the following; First, concerted efforts are needed to increase the availability and consistent supply of AIV products in the market. Secondly, innovations need to be upscaled to show case the nutritional benefits of AIVs for the different stages of growth, to support the life cycle approach in the management of nutrition security.

Keywords: African indigenous vegetable, food security, nutrition security

¹Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Albrecht Daniel Thaer-Institute of Agricultural and Horticultural Sciences (ADTI), Germany

²Jomo Kenyatta University of Science and Agriculture, Horticulture, Kenya

Contact Address: Nancy Munyiva Laibuni, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Albrecht Daniel Thaer-Institute of Agricultural and Horticultural Sciences (ADTI), Berlin, Germany, e-mail: nmunyiva@gmail.com

Investigation of Physiochemical Characteristics of Wild Fruits and Berries from the Walnut-Fruit Forests of Southern Kyrgyzstan

Jamila Smanalieva¹, Janyl Iskakova², Zhyldyzai Ozbekova¹, Zhyldyz Oskonbaeva², Dietrich Darr³

The physicochemical properties and nutritional value of wild fruits and berries commonly growing in the walnut-fruit forests of southern Kyrgyzstan were determined to evaluate the capacity for use in the food processing industry. The investigated species were selected based on their reported nutritional aspects and medical properties and included apple (Malus sieversii var. kirgizorum), barberry (Berberis oblonga), cherry-plum (*Prunus divaricata* black, red, yellow), dog-rose (*Rosa canina*), hawthorn (Crataegus songorica), pear (Pyrus korshinskyi), and sea buckthorn (Hippophae rhamnoides). The fruits were collected from the natural walnut-fruit forests in the communities of Arslanbob (N 41°22'8.33", E 72°3'45.974", Altitude: 1300 m) and Kyzyl-Unkur (N 41°18'20.903", E 72°57'48.209", Altitude: 1466 m) in September 2017. The nutritional value of the samples was determined in terms of moisture, carbohydrates, alimentary fibre, vitamin, ash, titratable acidity, total polyphenols (TPC), total antioxidants, and total anthocyanins. The results of the analysis showed that the investigated fruits and berries have a moisture content ranging between 59.52% (Berberis oblonga) and 85.14% (Malus sieversii var. kirghisorum), carbohydrates ranging from 0.50% (Hippophae rhamnoides) to 10.29% (Pyrus korshinskyi), alimentary fibre ranging from 0.73 % (Prunus divaricata yellow) to 13.19 % (Berberis oblonga), vitamin ranging between 7.39 mg/100 g (Prunus divaricata yellow) and 492.35 mg/100 g (Berberis oblonga), and ash content ranging between 0.30% (Malus siversii var. kirghisorum) and 2.70% (Rosa canina, Berberis oblonga). Among all the samples analysed, the *Berberis oblonga* revealed the highest TPC at 2578 mg gallic acid equivalents/L followed by Rosa canina (2144 mg GAE/L). Between the samples, the lowest TPC value was found for Prunus divaricata yellow (611 mg GAE/L). All the studied fruits and berries can serve as a good source of bioactive compounds in the human diet. From the view of the phenolic content and antioxidant activity, barberry can be regarded as a good raw material for the production of healthy and/or functional foods.

The study was conducted within the SUSWALFOOD project.

Keywords: Berries, fruits, Kyrgyzstan, physio-chemical properties, total anthocyanins, total antioxidants, total polyphenols, walnut-fruit forest

¹Kyrgyz-Turkish Manas University, Food Technology, Kyrgyzstan

²Kyrgyz-Turkish Manas University, Environmental Engineering, Kyrgyzstan

³Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences, Germany

Contact Address: Jamila Smanalieva, Kyrgyz-Turkish Manas University, Food Technology, Prospekt Mira 56, 720042 Bishkek, Kyrgyzstan, e-mail: jamila.smanalieva@gmail.com

Insects for Food! Factors Influencing Consumer Acceptance and Quantity Consumed of Edible Winged Termites

CAROLYNE KISAKA, OSCAR INGASIA AYUYA, GEORGE OWUOR Egerton University, Agricultural Economics and Agribusiness Management, Kenya

Developing countries are faced with increased population growth and urbanisation resulting in high demand for food, especially animal based protein. The dilemma is how to meet the rising demand for animal based protein in the face of climate change. Utilisation of edible insects as food offers a possible sustainable solution to meet the rising protein demand besides its high nutritive value. Edible winged termites (EWT) consumption and commercialisation is gaining popularity among consumers in western Kenya. Despite EWT having economic, nutritional and environmental benefits, information on factors influencing its acceptance and demand is scanty among rural and urban consumers. The aim of this study was to assess consumers' socioeconomic, institutional and EWT characteristics influencing its acceptance and quantity consumed. Multistage sampling procedure was used to sample 384 rural and urban consumers in Western Kenya. Data was collected through face to face interviews using pre-tested semi-structured questionnaire by well-trained enumerators. Data was analysed using factor analysis and Craggit model. Consumer's perception of EWT was categorised into three: EWT attributes, convenience and culture. Acceptance and demand of EWT was influenced by gender, education, higher number of children below 5 years, income, household being a native of western Kenya and EWT attributes among rural and urban consumer. We recommend more education on use of edible insects as food, with much emphasis on its benefits and desirable attributes. This can be done through established cultural centres and 'food clinics' to create awareness among consumers to enhance the commercialisation of EWT value chain. Further, there is need to in cooperate entomophagy in formal education curricula to promote the transfer of knowledge to future generations.

Keywords: Consumer acceptance, craggit model, demand, edible winged termites, factor analysis

ID 392 343

Contact Address: Oscar Ingasia Ayuya, Egerton University, Agricultural Economics and Agribusiness Management, Box 536 Egerton, 20115 Nakuru, Kenya, e-mail: ingasiaoa@gmail.com

Analysis of Nutritional Composition of Edible Insects to Enhance Nutritional Security in Sub-Saharan Africa (EntoNutri)

NILS NÖLLE, HANS KONRAD BIESALSKI

University of Hohenheim, Institute for Biological Chemistry and Nutrition, Germany

While insects are a relatively new food item in western societies, they form an integral part of many Asian, Latin American and African cuisines. In Kenya and Uganda for example, edible insects already make up 5–10% of the total protein intake and trade in edible insects is a major source of income, especially in rural areas. Therefore edible insects have the potential to play a vital role for food and nutrition security in both countries. However there is little knowledge on sustainable rearing and harvesting techniques. Furthermore, insects and their feed can be contaminated by heavy metals or insecticides. EntoNutri is a multinational, multidisciplinary project whose goal is to improve food and nutrition security as well as the economic wellbeing of rural and urban communities, particularly smallholders, women and youth through the development, dissemination and promotion of environmentally sustainable insectbased technologies to enhance productivity and consumption of insects as food. The Food Security Center (FSC) of the University of Hohenheim is also a partner in this project. The FSC's specific project goal is to establish the nutritional profile of target insect species along the process chain, with special focus on the micronutrient composition, as the possible contribution of insects to the micronutrient intake of their consumers is not well known. Therefore long horned grasshoppers (Ruspolia differens) from Uganda, as well as crickets (Gryllus bimaculatus) and several kinds of caterpillars (Imbrasia zambesina, Cirina forda) from Kenya, were collected in the respective country. If available, samples were collected fresh and in various kinds of processing e.g. boiled or fried. If the sample was only available in one of the respective forms only the available form was sampled. The samples will be analysed for their content of riboflavin, niacin, vitamin A and carotenoids via HPLC methods as well as their content of dietary minerals (iron, zinc, etc.) analysed by mass spectrometry, to evaluate if edible insects can also be a viable source of micronutrients. To ensure that insect and insect products are safe for human consumption, levels of heavy metal contaminants will be also analysed by mass spectrometry.

Keywords: Food analysis, food security, insects, nutrition security

Contact Address: Nils Nölle, University of Hohenheim, Inst. for Biological Chemistry and Nutrition / Food Security Center, Garbenstraße 30, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: noelle@uni-hohenheim.de

Can a Smallholder Farm Sufficiently Feed the Family? A Case Study from Kapchorwa District, Uganda

Jakob Heni¹, Sahrah Fischer², Damaris Elisabeth Beitze¹, Thomas Hilger², Veronika Scherbaum¹, Georg Cadisch²

Despite Uganda's high agricultural potential, the hunger situation is classified as "serious". Access to food is limited for many people and subsistence farming often represents the main source of food. Recent research has been working on finding a link between increased agrobiodiversity and household nutrition. However, no research has been done focussing on the amount of nutrients produced on farms and to what extent the nutrients could potentially cover the households' requirements. Therefore, the objectives of this study were to (i) investigate whether smallholder farmers could produce enough nutrients to cover the households' requirements and (ii) identify whether missing nutrients are specific to certain households or insufficient in the whole region. The results will be used for linked agriculture – nutrition interventions.

The data was collected during the long rainy season (March-August 2016) and covered the produced food diversity (plant and animal products) and yields of 58 smallholder farmers' households in Kapchorwa, Uganda. Energy, carbohydrates, fat, protein, iron, zinc, vitamin A, vitamin C, calcium, potassium, magnesium, copper, folate, vitamin B12 and selenium content were calculated for all produced yields of each household using food composition databases. Dietary requirements of each household were calculated using recommended daily allowances. Finally, the average daily amount of nutrients produced per household was calculated and compared to the households' requirements respectively.

Not a single household produced enough nutrients to meet its members' requirements, nor was there a nutrient that every household could produce sufficiently. Particularly vitamin B12, vitamin A, calcium, and iron were insufficiently produced. While only one or two households could supply enough vitamin B12 and calcium, six households could potentially meet their vitamin A requirements. The main source of nutrients came from plants, as animal source foods were very rarely consumed. Hence, the bioavailability of some nutrients was likely to be low. A higher diversity of cultivated crops was associated with a higher coverage of some nutrients. Identified entry points for interventions would therefore include adding a higher diversity of micronutrient-rich plant source foods to the food basket through subsistence farming, as well as encouraging an increased consumption of animal source foods.

Keywords: Agriculture, biodiversity, food composition, nutrition

¹ University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Biological Chemistry and Nutrition, Germany

²University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

Contact Address: Sahrah Fischer, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstr. 13, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: sahrah.fischer@uni-hohenheim.de

Community Restaurants as a Policy Instrument Against Hunger: The Case of Toledo (Brazil)

ELAINE ZANINI¹, MIRIAN BEATRIZ SCHNEIDER¹, ANA CECÍLIA KRETER²,
DIETRICH DARR²

Community restaurants is a programme in Brazil, which aims to get close the producers' and consumers' sides of the food chain. On one hand, it promotes products produced by family farms, considering the singularities of the region. On the other hand, it subsidizes consumer prices for locally produced nutritious food, especially in poor neighbourhoods. The communityrestaurants in these areas mainly operate during lunchtime, which is the most important meal in Brazil. A nutritionist helps to improve the nutritional quality of diets through "mistura" (mixture) of locally available products such as rice, beans, meat and salad. This article aims to analyse how public policies have contributed to the success of the Community Restaurant Program. It also aims to describe qualitatively and quantitatively all sectors that interacted directly or indirectly with this program, using Toledo (state of Paraná) as a study case. For these purposes, we employed the Delphi methodology and the prospective analysis using the MICMAC software. Results indicate that, family farmers were the most important stakeholder groupwith a considerable impact on the performance of the community restaurants. As such, despite Paraná's national importance for the poultry, swine and soybean production on a large scale, its very dynamic and diversified family farming sector was a main ingredient of success of this program. This study also identifies the influence of other public policies at the municipal, state and federal levels on the community restaurants in Toledo. It concludes that while public policy support was the key factor for the successful establishment of the program, ensuring the long-term social impact and financial viability of the programme will be important for its continued operation.

Keywords: Brazil, community restaurants, family farming, public policies, Toledo

¹Western University of State of the Paraná (UNIOESTE), Center for Applied Social Sci., Brazil

²Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences, Germany

Contact Address: Ana Cecília Kreter, Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences, Münsterstraße 18, 40477 Düsseldorf, Germany, e-mail: ana.kreter@gmail.com

Potential of Asian Herbaceous Plants as Source of Micronutrients

KERSTIN PASCHKO, NIKOLINA GRBIC, INA PINKER, MICHAEL BÖHME Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Horticultural Plant Systems, Germany

Deficiency of micronutrients is a major problem worldwide leading to increasing rates of several illnesses by reducing immune and non-immune defenses. Especially diets of poor people are based on few crops rich in macronutrients, whereas the nutritional value of other plants is not fully exploited.

Previous studies at Humboldt University of Berlin already dealt with various herbaceous, nutraceutical Asian plants like Oenanthe javanica, Ipomoea aquatica, Crysanthemum coronarium, Elsholtzia ciliata and Ocimum basilicum. For this research project *Perilla frutescens* and *Persicaria odorata* have been selected due to their high content of antioxidants and their easy cultivation. Both plants are already used as basic ingredients and food additives in Asian cuisine and are known for their health improving and medicinal benefits. Aim of our research was to analyse and to evaluate the nutritional value of its contained micronutrients. Cultivated in a greenhouse in Berlin, P. odorata was harvested five weeks after planting the cuttings and P. frutescens ten weeks after sowing. Quantity of marketable fresh matter was about 2.5–4.3 kg m⁻² for P. odorata and about 4 kg m⁻² for P. frutescens. Regarding micronutrients P. odorata had remarkable high contents of ascorbic acid (around 180 mg/100 g) and flavonoids (around 500 mg/100 g). Therefore, 55 g of *P. odorata* would be sufficient to comply dietary intake recommendation for ascorbic acid by D-A-C-H organisation (Union of German, Austrian and Swiss food associations). P. frutescens was particularly rich in polyphenols (880 mg/100 g) and anthocyans (200 mg/100 g FW).

Analyses of mineral contents proved potassium as major constituent (40 mg g⁻¹ DW for *P. odorata* and 30 mg g⁻¹ DW for *P. frutescens*) and indicated high amounts of magnesium (7 mg g⁻¹ DW for *P. odorata* and 5.6 mg g⁻¹ DW for *P. frutescens*) and iron (0.15 mg g⁻¹ DW for *P. odorata* and 0.14 mg g⁻¹ DW for *P. frutescens*). Regarding recommendations of DACH organisation 100 g *P. odorata* could provide around 40 % of recommended magnesium, 34 % of recommended potassium and 25 % of recommended iron intake.

Results demonstrate the potential of *P. odorata* and *P. frutescens* as micronutrient source to satisfy nutritional needs. Both Asian plants are cultivable under protected conditions also in temperate climate zones. Nevertheless, in further researches the influence of different growing conditions and cultivation systems on the yield and micronutrient content should be investigated.

Keywords: Minerals, nutraceutical, *Perilla frutescens*, *Persicaria odorata*, vitamins

Contact Address: Kerstin Paschko, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Horticultural Plant Systems, Zionskirchstr. 26, 10119 Berlin, Germany, e-mail: kerstin.paschko@gmail.com

The Water Footprint of Milk in Comparison of Twelve International Farming Systems: An Implication for Global Food Security and Improved Food Nutrition

MST. Nadira Sultana¹, Mohammad Mohi Uddin¹, Brad Ridoutt², Torsten Hemme³, Kurt-Johannes Peters⁴

A consequence of increasing water scarcity has to impart challenges to global food security. This is due to possible inter-linkage and competition between the water and the food production where food provision is fundamentally guaranteed. Water use (WU) by dairying leads to impacts on ecosystems but milk and other milk products used to support and heighten human life. However, there is lacking awareness of method selection to assess impact and adequate consideration of heterogeneity in production. Therefore, this study compared two methods on 12 regional typical case farms from International Farm Comparison Network that represent three production systems for assessing impacts of consumptive WU and degradative WU of a kg energy corrected milk (ECM) production. The first is the virtual water concept customarily used to consider the volumes of water consumed, and second a life cycle impact assessment (LCA) method is applied for WU which describes the impact contributing to freshwater scarcity. The virtual water content (VWC) results ranged from 787 to 4242 L kg⁻¹ ECM while the life cycle impact results for WU, referred to the water footprint (WF), ranged from 3 to 1520 L H₂Oe (water equivalent) per kg ECM at farm gate. As an example, the VWC and the LCA-based WF on the Bangladeshi-two cow farm contained 2579 L kg⁻¹ ECM and a 24 L H₂Oe kg⁻¹ ECM, respectively. The WF results are very heterogeneous due to diverse farming practice geographically, high variation in local water scarcity, and milk production intensity. The results also indicated that minimum input use in relation to consumptive blue water and a pasture-based dairy production system where lower water stress index have a lower impact on freshwater scarcity. VWC as a method of WU is unsuitable to measure the potential to contribute to freshwater scarcity but the LCA-based WF provides a useful dimension to assess impact of consumptive WU contribution to freshwater scarcity. This study suggests that changing production systems in low water stress region and improve their blue WU efficiency, i.e. irrigation services, is to reduce freshwater scarcity for implementing operational plans to sustain food security and food nutrition of people around the

Keywords: Food security, life cycle assessment, milk production, water footprint, water scarcity

¹Bangladesh Agricultural University (BAU), Dept. of Animal Nutrition, Bangladesh

²Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organization (CSIRO), Sustainable Agriculture Flagship, Australia

³Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel, Dept. Agricultural Economics, IFCN Dairy Research Center, Germany

⁴Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Albrecht Daniel Thaer-Institute of Agricultural and Horticultural Sciences (ADTI), Germany

Contact Address: MST. Nadira Sultana, Bangladesh Agricultural University (BAU), Dept. of Animal Nutrition, 2202 Mymensingh, Bangladesh, e-mail: nadira_bau@yahoo.com

Assessing the Costs and Benefits of Implementing a Quality Based Milk Payment System in Kenya

OGHAIKI ASAAH NDAMBI¹, RUTH NJIRU², CAMEE VAN KNIPPENBERG³, JAN VAN DER LEE¹, CATHERINE KILELU⁴, MARGARET NGIGI²

Assuring the quality and safety of milk and dairy products has been a persistent problem in the Kenyan dairy sector, caught between limited consumer awareness on quality & safety, processors and traders competing for milk volumes but neglecting quality, poor milk handling practices along the chain, and lack of enforcement of quality & safety regulations. A quality based milk payment system (QBMPS) targeting small-holder dairy farmers was piloted by processor Happy Cow Ltd, aiming to control and improve milk quality and safety along the dairy chain. In order to assess the practicability of a QBMPS in Kenya and to determine pre-conditions for its upscaling, both private and public sector costs & benefits of the system were estimated. Data was collected from key stakeholders targeting costs and benefits of farmers, CBEs (Collection and Bulking Enterprises), the processor and the public.

Our findings show that in cash terms, the farmer is the greatest beneficiary from a well-functioning OBMPS, with a net profit of about 2 KES kg⁻¹ milk if he produces Grade A milk for the OBMPS. By participating in the OBMPS, farmers also benefit from social inclusion, chain integration and productivity gains. The CBE and processor have a net additional cost (difference between costs and benefits) totalling 2.5 KES kg⁻¹ milk, mainly driven by the significant initial costs for laboratory equipment, additional staffing and training of farmers. Regarding public health, we estimate an occurrent annual loss of 53,000 healthy life years (disability adjusted life years) in Kenya due to milk related infectious diseases. With a modest commitment of farmers and chain actors, the QBMPS can generate health benefits of about 10 KES kg⁻¹ milk as avoided health costs from milk related illnesses. These enormous public health benefits could be used as a justification for public and donor investments to support the QBMPS, especially to temporarily compensate the CBEs and processors who currently make a loss from the system. Additionally, we recommend private players to improve their commitment and the government to promote the growth of the formal sector and strictly enforce milk quality standards in order to increase the benefits for farmers and consumers.

Keywords: Food safety, milk quality, public health, quality based milk payment

¹Wageningen University and Research, Dept. of Animal Sciences, The Netherlands

²Egerton University, Agricultural Ecoconomics and Agribusiness Management, Kenya

³Wageningen University and Research, Dept. of Social Sciences, The Netherlands

⁴African Center for Technology Studies, Kenya

Contact Address: Oghaiki Asaah Ndambi, Wageningen University and Research, Dept. of Animal Sciences, Droevendaalsesteeg 1, 6780 PB Wageningen, The Netherlands, e-mail: asaah.ndambi@wur.nl

Validation of a Food Group Based Nutrition Software to Assess Nutrient Intake in Tanzania

CHRISTINE LAMBERT¹, LAILA ELERAKY¹, HADIJAH MBWANA², JOYCE KINABO², HANS KONRAD BIESALSKI¹, SIMON RIEDEL³, UTE GOLA¹, WOLFGANG STUETZ¹

Analysis of food intake by 24 h recalls or food frequency questionnaires are the common methods to quantify nutrient intake in larger surveys. After data acquisition, data analysis is time consuming and individual results are not provided to the participants. These limitations can be overcome by the nutrition software CIMI, which calculates nutrient intake using food groups automatically and directly after data input. Feedback to the respondent enhances willingness to participate in such surveys and provision of reliable answers. In addition, individual feedback can help to improve nutritional quality. The present study verifies the accuracy of the CIMI programme by comparing the results with the established nutrition software NUTRISURVEY. 24 h dietary recalls of 1013 Tanzanian women from Kilosa and Chamwino districts collected in the TransSEC project (347 women, January to May 2015) and the Scale-N study (666 women, July to August 2016) were analysed by both, single food item based nutrition software NUTRISURVEY (NS) and the food group based software CIMI, Macro- and micronutrient intake calculation between NS and CIMI were compared using SPSS 24. Differences in nutrient intake between CIMI and NS were marginal: out of the 14 analysed macro- and micronutrients, mean difference +/- standard deviation was for energy +65kcal +/- 283, protein -1.4g +/-15.5, retinol equivalents $-170 \,\mu g$ +/- 715, vitamin B1 +0.15 mg +/- 0.33, iron +1.5 mg +/-10.7, and zinc -1.2 mg +/-2.6. Nutrients with a very high accuracy (difference expressed as % of NS result: +/-0<5%) were energy, protein, carbohydrates, vitamin B2 and B6. Those with a good accuracy (+/-5-15%) were vitamin B1 and C, iron and zinc. Moderate accuracy (+/-15-30%) showed retinol equivalents, vitamin B12, folic acid and calcium. Fat was the only nutrient which was not calculated adequately by CIMI. CIMI is a valid and timesaving instrument to measure nutrient intake in Tanzania. Adjustment of food groups by the respondent will be implemented in a soon available CIMI-app, and will therefore lead to even more accurate results in the evaluation of nutrient intake.

Keywords: 24h dietary recall, dietary intake, hidden hunger, nutrients

¹University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Biological Chemistry and Nutrition, Germany

²Sokoine University of Agriculture, Food Technology, Nutrition and Consumer Sciences, Tanzania

³ScienceDataServices, Germany

Contact Address: Christine Lambert, University of Hohenheim, Institute of Biological Chemistry and Nutrition, Garbenstr. 30, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: christine.lambert@uni-hohenheim.de

Nutrition, food safety and -security

Oral Presentations	
Daniel Ayalew Mekonnen, Aafke Nijhuis, Laura Trijsburg, Elise Talsma, Tomas Morley, Vincent Linderhof, Thom Achterbosch, Inge D. Brouwer: Dietary Gaps in Ethiopia and Nigeria	356
EMMANUEL ALAMU, THERESE GONDWE, JULIET AKELLO, MWESHI MUKANGA, BUSIE MAZIYA-DIXON: Relationship Between Dietary and Serum Aflatoxin Levels and Nutritional Status of Children of 6–24 Months	357
Laura Trijsburg, Elise Talsma, Jeanne De Vries, Gina Kennedy, Anneleen Kuijsten, Inge D. Brouwer: No Suitable Diet Quality Index for Food System Research in Low and Middle Income Countries?	358
JULIET JABATY, KERSTIN FISCHER, ALIMOU CAMARA, SANDRA DIEDERICH, THOMAS HOENEN, ANNE BALKEMA-BUSCHMANN, ANDREAS MÜLLER, ROLAND SULUKU, KRISTINA MARIA SCHMIDT, CÉCILE TROUPIN, BASHIRU KOROMA, FELIXTINA JONSYN-ELLIS, NOEL TORDO, THOMAS C. METTENLEITER, JOSEPH KARGBO, MARTIN H. GROSCHUP: Ebola Foresight: The Role of Livestock and Wildlife in the Biology of Ebolaviruses	359
TILL LUDWIG: The Effect of Individual Preferences on Food and Nutrition Security. Evidence How Risk Preference, Future Discounting and Altruism Affect Food Consumption of Individuals and Households	360
JOHANNA BERGMAN LODIN, JEN FOLEY, BHO MUDYAHOTO, ELIAB SIMPUNGWE, EDWARD CHIBWE: Biofortified Food Choice in Zambia. Farmers' Views on Vitamin A Maize in two Rural Communities	361
Posters	
FRANCISCA EICHIE, EUSTACE IYAYI: Feed Safety and its Impact on Food Safety through the Concept of One Health	362

R.M. Ishara Jackson, Daniel N. Sila, Glaston M. Kenji:	
Edible Mushrooms: Novel Food Fortification Approach towards Food Security	363
CORY WHITNEY, KEITH SHEPHERD, MICHAEL KRAWINKEL, DENIS LANZANOVA, EIKE LUEDELING: Decision Analysis Tools Reveal Benefits of Fruit Trees for Enhanced Nutrition Security in Kenya	364
SIMON NDUNGU NYOKABI, SIMON OOSTING, BOCKLINE BEBE, BERNARD BETT, JOHANNA LINDAHL, IMKE DE BOER: Improving Milk Quality in Smallholder Dairy Systems: Towards Realising Food Safety and Food Security in Kenya	365
TILL LUDWIG: From Farm to Fork. How Production Diversity Determines Nutrition Security of Smallholder Farmers in Rural India	366
LUCY KARIUKI, PATRICK MAUNDU, HANS K. BIESALSKI: Assessment of Mineral Content of Different Soil Types Consumed by Pregnant Women in Western Kenya	367
Laurensi Sasube, Aldian Hein Luntungan: The Impact of Nutrition Training on Mothers' Knowledge and Behaviour in Gangga Island, Indonesia	368
SAMWEL MBUGUA, ELIZABETH MBUTHIA, IRMGARD JORDAN, ANN MWANGI, JULIUS KHAEMBA, LYDIAH WASWA, THOMAS HILGER, ERNST-AUGUST NUPPENAU: Nutrition Education and Kitchen Garden Intervention Improves Dietary Diversity among 6–59 Months-Old Children in Kenya	369
JEFFERSON ANDRONIO RAMUNDO STADUTO, ANA CECÍLIA KRETER, VALDIR ANTÔNIO GALANTE, DAGMAR MITHÖFER: Sustainable Development: Analyzing Health of Soybean Producers in Brazil through Fertilisers and Pesticides Poisoning	370
FRED UNGER, PHUC PHAM DUC, VAN HUNG PHAM, VANNAPHONE PUTTHANA, SINH DANG-XUAN, HANH TRAN THI TUYET, HUNG NGUYEN, AURELIE BINOT, NARNON LACKSIVY, DELIA GRACE:	370
Food Safety Challenges in Traditional Pork Value Chains and Policy Engagement in Vietnam and Laos	371
MARIUS AFFONFERE, FLORA JOSIANE CHADARE, YANN EMÉRIC MADODE: A Dual Food-to-Food Fortification with Moringa oleifera Leaf Powder and Adansonia digitata Fruit Pulp	372

HARRY HOFFMANN, AARON SCHEID, JOHANNES HAFNER, GÖTZ UCKERT, STEFAN SIEBER, ANTHONY KIMARO: Raising the Burden: Healthy Food and Cooking Energy	
Scarcity	373
ARNAU VIDAL, MARTHE DE BOEVRE, SARAH DE SAEGER: Patulin Exposure among Tunisia Population	374

Dietary Gaps in Ethiopia and Nigeria

Daniel Ayalew Mekonnen 1 , Aafke Nijhuis 1 , Laura Trijsburg 2 , Elise Talsma 2 , Tomas Morley 1 , Vincent Linderhof 1 , Thom Achterbosch 1 , Inge D. Brouwer 2

Co-existence of undernutrition along with micronutrient deficiencies, overweight and obesity and non-communicable diseases is a growing challenge in low and middle income countries. A food systems approach will help to pinpoint the problem areas in the food system and could aid in the design of interventions. In this context, we investigate dietary gaps - difference between intake and the target amounts - on the level of food group, dietary diversity, and nutrient intake. We use the latest rounds of Living Standard Measurement Surveys (2015/16 LSMS-ISA) from Ethiopia and Nigeria. We estimate nutrient and dietary gaps for the individual from household data, in terms of adult female equivalent (AFE) which proxies intrahousehold distribution of food. Dietary gaps are assessed based on food groups which make up "healthy diets," according to the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) and Global Burden of Disease (GBD) dietary recommendations. We choose the DASH and GBD because available evidence shows these dietary recommendations are designed to prevent dietrelated chronic diseases and are globally applicable and not country specific. We conduct nutrient intake gap analysis using the Estimated Average Requirements (EARs) based on European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) recommendations. Further, we assess the dietary diversity using the Household Dietary Diversity Score (HDDS), a composite measure and proxies for household's average food access. Preliminary HDDS results show that: people in the higher income quintile had access to more diverse food in both Ethiopia and Nigeria; and, consumption of fruits, meat, and eggs show the highest difference between people in the top and bottom income quintiles, in comparison to other food groups in the HDDS. Data analysis is ongoing, but when completed we will map dietary profiles for each country by different settings, including location of residence (rural-urban), sub-national and national level, and across income quintiles. We will present shares of households who deviate from the recommended dietary thresholds (i.e. both excesses and shortfalls), and the magnitude by which they are off the recommended intake. Further, the adequacy of nutrient intake will be shown.

Keywords: Caloric intake, dietary diversity, dietary gap, Ethiopia, micronutrients, Nigeria

Wageningen University and Research, Wageningen Economic Research, The Netherlands
 Wageningen University and Research, Dept. of Agrotechnology and Food Sciences,
 The Netherlands

Contact Address: Daniel Ayalew Mekonnen, Wageningen University and Research, Wageningen Economic Research, Alexanderveld 5, 2585 DB The Hague, The Netherlands, e-mail: daniel.mekonnen@wur.nl

Relationship between Dietary and Serum Aflatoxin Levels and Nutritional Status of Children of 6–24 Months

Emmanuel Alamu¹, Therese Gondwe¹, Juliet Akello², Mweshi Mukanga³, Busie Maziya-Dixon¹

In Chipata and Monze districts of Zambia, most of the mothers/caregivers use cerealbased complementary foods that are prone to aflatoxin contamination. This study aimed at evaluating aflatoxin exposure in children 6-24 months and its effect on their nutritional status. The study covered 400 mothers having children 6–24 months. The nutritional status of children was assessed by measuring weight and height using standard procedures and height-for-age, weight-for-age and weight-for-height indices were determined using WHO-Anthro software 2006. The children serum samples were analysed for aflatoxin B1-lysine (AFB-Lys) using high performance liquid chromatography-electrospray tandem quadrupole mass spectrometry (HPLC-ESI-MS/MS), and normalised to serum albumin (Alb+) determined by use of a colourimetric assay on a clinical analyser. Binary logistic regression analysis was used to find the factors affecting child stunting level. A total of 19.82 % of the children were stunted, 9.78% underweight and 2.85% were wasted. The AFB-Lys for children from Chipata children ranged from 0.03 to 6.4 ng mL⁻¹ and that of Monze ranged from 0.04 to 13.0 ng mL⁻¹. The mean level of AFB-Lys of children from Monze was significantly (p = 0.05) higher that of Chipata. The Chipata and Monze children showed mean level of Alb+ of $4.14\pm0.36\,\mathrm{g}\,\mathrm{dL}^{-1}$ and $4.16\pm0.34\,\mathrm{g}\,\mathrm{dL}^{-1}$ respectively. The AFB-Lys (Normalised to Albumin) level was found to range from 0.78 to 202 pg mg⁻¹ for Chipata children and that of Monze children ranged from 0.92 to 315 pg mg⁻¹. Child sickness, child age, exposure to aflatoxin in foods and AFB-Lys (normalized to albumin) level were found to be significantly (p < 0.05) associated with child stunting except the child age that was not significant at p = 0.05. The increase in the exposure of aflatoxin through consumption of contaminated complementary foods leads to 1.771 times likelihood of the child being stunted (odd ratio =1.999, P-value =0.0488). However, the children with increase in the blood serum aflatoxin B1 lysine adduct are likelihood to be stunted (odd ratio=1.301, P-value= 0.0146). These results have shown that dietary exposure to aflatoxin could lead to increase in the serum aflatoxin level and both are associated with stunting.

Keywords: Aflatoxin, children, complementary foods, dietary exposure, nutritional status

ID 744 357

¹International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), Nigeria

²International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), Zambia

³Zambia Agricultural Research Institute (ZARI), Zambia

Contact Address: Busie Maziya-Dixon, International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), Research for Development, Oyo Road, 200001 Ibadan, Nigeria, e-mail: B.Maziya-Dixon@cgiar.org

No Suitable Diet Quality Index for Food System Research in Low and Middle Income Countries?

Laura Trijsburg¹, Elise Talsma¹, Jeanne De Vries¹, Gina Kennedy²,
Anneleen Kuijsten¹, Inge D. Brouwer¹

Food systems research increasingly focuses on improving diet quality in low and middle income countries (LMIC), where the risks for negative health consequences of both under- and over-nutrition, are rapidly increasing. This focus goes along with the need for sound metrics to assess diet quality. This systematic literature review aimed to describe existing diet quality indices for general populations and highlights recommendations for developing such indices for food system research in LMIC. Three electronic databases, Scopus, CAB-abstracts and MEDLINE, were searched for papers published between January 2008 and December 2017. Eighty-one indices were identified, over two third were based on national dietary guidelines from high-income countries. Of the three key diet quality dimensions, 'diversity' was included in all 18 indices developed for LMIC, 'moderation' was captured by most, and 'nutrient adequacy' was included four times. It is needed to develop indices that include all dimensions, foods and/or food groups rather than nutrients, a minimum, maximum or optimal range cut-off for the individual components in the score and express the intake of healthy and unhealthy components separately. Country specific food based dietary guidelines (FBDG) are tailored to a countries' specific disease profile and food habits and are therefore important indicators for within country comparison, whereas a globally applicable diet quality index would allow for comparing the diet quality of various countries, which is often an important prerequisite of such a metric in food system research. There is an urgent need for the development of both country specific FBDG based indices in LMIC and a global diet quality index. Any diet quality index will have to be extensively evaluated before widely applied in research.

Keywords: Diet quality, dietary index, food systems, low and middle income countries

¹Wageningen University and Research, Dept. of Agrotechnology and Food Sciences, The Netherlands

²Bioversity International, Italy

Contact Address: Laura Trijsburg, Wageningen University and Research, Dept. of Agrotechnology and Food Sciences, PO Box 17, 6700 AA Wageningen, The Netherlands, e-mail: laura.trijsburg@wur.nl

Ebola Foresight: The Role of Livestock and Wildlife in the Biology of Ebolaviruses

Juliet Jabaty¹, Kerstin Fischer², Alimou Camara³, Sandra Diederich², Thomas Hoenen⁴, Anne Balkema-Buschmann², Andreas Müller⁴, Roland Suluku⁵, Kristina Maria Schmidt², Cécile Troupin³, Bashiru Koroma⁵, Felixtina Jonsyn-Ellis¹, Noel Tordo³, Thomas C. Mettenleiter⁴, Joseph Kargbo¹, Martin H. Groschup²

The Ebola virus (EBOV) outbreak in West Africa in 2013–2016 severely affected Sierra Leone, Guinea, and Liberia, which have very weak health systems and limited human and infrastructural resources. Described as the largest ebolavirus outbreak ever recorded, more than 28,000 people were affected with more than 11,000 deaths. The need for a proactive response to manage future outbreaks has led to the conception of the "Ebola Foresight" project, funded by the German Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture. The project is implemented by a consortium including the Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, the Sierra Leone Agricultural Research Institute, Njala University, and the Institut Pasteur de Guinée. It aims to build laboratory capacities in Sierra Leone and Guinea in order to ensure preparedness and a rapid response to potential future outbreaks of ebolaviruses or other emerging diseases. Further, a second focus of the project is to investigate the role of wildlife and livestock, in particular pigs, in the biology of ebolaviruses. Though serological and molecular evidence points towards certain fruit bat species as the natural reservoir host for EBOV, experimental studies indicated that pigs can also be infected with EBOV. Thus, the potential role of pigs in the maintenance and transmission of EBOV is yet to be understood. In December 2016, 400 pig serum samples were collected in three districts in Sierra Leone for serological investigation. Surveillance targeted communities that were heavily hit by the EBOV epidemic with reported close interaction between wildlife population and domestic pigs. The pig sera were initially tested for ebolavirus antibodies by using an in-house ELISA, and positive sera were tested for confirmation by immunoblot based on several ebolavirus nucleoproteins and virus-like particles (VLPs). Those sera were also analysed in a serum neutralisation test based on transcription and replication competent VLPs under biosafety level (BSL) 2 conditions as well as against EBOV under BSL4 conditions. The results suggest the occurrence of ebolaviruses in swine in Sierra Leone that are antigenically related but not identical to EBOV, and carry an unknown pathogenic and/or zoonotic potential.

Keywords: Capacity building, ebolaviruses, pigs, serology, West Africa

¹Sierra Leone Agricultural Research Institute, Sierra Leona

² Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, Inst. of Novel and Emerging Infectious Diseases, Germany ³ Institut Pasteur Conakry, Guinea

⁴Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, Inst. of Molecular Virology and Cell Biology, Germany

⁵Njala University, Animal Department, Sierra Leona

Contact Address: Kerstin Fischer, Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, Inst. of Novel and Emerging Infectious Diseases, Suedufer 10, 17493 Greifswald - Insel Riems, Germany, e-mail: kerstin.fischer@fli.de

The Effect of Individual Preferences on Food and Nutrition Security. Evidence How Risk Preference, Future Discounting and Altruism Affect Food Consumption of Individuals and Households

TILL LUDWIG

University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Germany

The probability of a sufficient calorie intake and a diverse diet is related to various social, economic and political factors. Often neglected, individual preferences and motivation often form nutrition choices as well. Particularly core concepts of behavioural economics – altruism, risk and time preferences – affect consumption choices of individuals, and of dependent household members. Therefore, this study explores the linkages between behavioural preferences and food and nutrition security utilising a household-level survey and games for preference elicitation. The study adds to the literature theoretically and empirically by assessing the influence of core concepts of behavioural economics on food and nutrition security.

We extend the theoretical literature by adding a stochastical component for future periods to an expected utility optimisation approach. Expectations of a normally distributed future outcomes vary depending on individual risk considerations and discount rates. Altruism and reciprocity levels additionally determine food sharing within households in the current period.

The household survey is carried out in rural areas of India, in regions with severe malnutrition rates and high poverty rates. 954 households are interviewed with each having at least one child below 2 years of age. The households are selected using a stratified randomised sampling technique from 85 villages. Food and nutrition security indicators are obtained (e.g. FIES, MDDW, MAD, anthropometric measurements). Hypothetical games are used in a mix of qualitative and quantitative questions for preference assessment. These elicit risk preference, time preference and altruism of the household heads and the spouses.

Controlling for individual, household and village covariates, we find that female individuals that are 1 SD more risk affine than average have a 30 % better dietary diversity score. We further find that male household heads with a 1 SD higher altruism level than average improve the dietary diversity of their female spouses by around 5 %. Risk affinity can also increase the food access of households by 13 % (measured as household dietary diversity score). Effects on anthropometric measurements indicate that higher risk affinity and a lower discount rate positively affect the height of women, indicating a long-term effect.

Keywords: Behavioural economics, food and nutrition security, individual preferences

Contact Address: Till Ludwig, University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Genscherallee 3, 53113 Bonn, Germany, e-mail: till.ludwig@uni-bonn.de

Biofortified Food Choice in Zambia. Farmers' Views on Vitamin A Maize in two Rural Communities

JOHANNA BERGMAN LODIN¹, JEN FOLEY², BHO MUDYAHOTO², ELIAB SIMPUNGWE³. EDWARD CHIBWE³

Vitamin A deficiency is a global public health challenge causing preventable blindness in children and pregnant women. It leads to impaired growth and increased risk of disease and death from common childhood infections such as diarrheal diseases and measles, and especially heightened risk of maternal mortality among women. In Zambia, 54 percent of children under five are reported to be vitamin A deficient and 14 percent of pregnant women. The IFPRI-led Agriculture for Nutrition and Health (A4NH) programme HarvestPlus supports the breeding, testing, and release of vitamin A maize varieties in the country. Three varieties were officially released in 2012, and to date the HarvestPlus programme has spread to five provinces and it was estimated that 100,000 households would grow Vitamin A maize by 2016. Following five years of delivery efforts, a gender sensitive monitoring study was jointly conducted in September 2017 by HarvestPlus and the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences to assess progression and understand farmers' perceptions about these varieties and the effects on their wellbeing. In this paper we specifically discuss rural farmers' decisions related to biofortified food choice, including socio-cultural, economic, and agro-ecological factors. The data stem from eight focus group discussions with women and men farmers and 22 individual interviews with farmers and key informants in two villages located in Chirundu and Chipata districts. The findings of this paper improve our understanding of factors necessary to consider in order to scaleup the consumption of biofortified foods in central and eastern Zambia. The paper also shows the value of a social relations approach, as advocated by feminist scholars, when performing this type of implementation assessment studies. As such, it can inform the design of future agricultural interventions.

Keywords: Biofortified crops, food choice, gender, social relations approach, vitamin A maize, Zambia

¹Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Urban and Rural Development. Sweden

²International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), HarvestPlus, United States of America

³International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), HarvestPlus, Zambia

Contact Address: Johanna Bergman Lodin, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Urban and Rural Development, P.O. Box 7012 (visiting Address: Ulls Väg 28), 75007 Uppsala, Sweden, e-mail: johanna.bergman.lodin@slu.se

Feed Safety and its Impact on Food Safety through the Concept of One Health

FRANCISCA EICHIE, EUSTACE IYAYI

Nigerian Institute of Animal Science, Nigeria

Animal feed is essential in the global food industry for sustainable production of safe food from animals. Feed safety directly affects food safety and human health, through the health and well-being of animals. It serves as a component of access to trade and competitiveness, income generation and foreign exchange earnings as well as economic development and sustainability along the livestock value chain. Feed is an integral part of the food chain and feed safety. Therefore attention must also be on feed production like we have in food production, under the concept of one health.

Ensuring food safety remains a significant challenge in both developing and developed countries because it is an important public health problem that relates to human health and economic development. Various food related diseases originating from animal feeding include bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE) and foot-and-mouth disease (FMD). Related problems include the development of resistance in humans to antimicrobials. Salmonellosis with very high chances of cross infection from infected animals. Globally, about 93 million cases of non-typhoidal *Salmonella* and 155,000 deaths have been reported. Annual antimicrobial resistance cases of 4,375,000; 4,125,000; 375,000, and 315,000, in Asia, Africa, Europe, and USA, respectively have been reported.

Presently, the different challenges confronting the industry will require global solutions, including the spread of infectious diseases that emerge or re-emerge through cross contamination between animals, humans, and the ecosystems. Other challenges are lack of know-how to regulate operators to ensure feed safety along the livestock value chain, absence of structure control systems, introduction of unconventional feed ingredients into the production chain like insect meal, by-products of food processing and further foods. Thus, the possibility of additional safety risks in the use of these feed sources for animals exist.

In Nigeria, the Nigerian Institute of Animal Science (NIAS), has regulations for the feed milling industry in Nigeria in line with Codex Alimentarius and other international standards, through the concept of 'One Health' with the sole objective to lower the global impact of diseases of animal origin and zoonoses.

Keywords: Feed and food safety, food animals, One Healh

Contact Address: Francisca Eichie, Nigerian Institute of Animal Science, Inspectorate, Plot 1882 Cadastral Zone C13 Kabusa, 900107 FCT-Abuja, Nigeria, e-mail: francisca_eichie@yahoo.com

Edible Mushrooms: Novel Food Fortification Approach Towards Food Security

R.M. ISHARA JACKSON¹, DANIEL N. SILA², GLASTON M. KENJI²

¹ Université Evangélique en Afrique (UEA), Food Science and Technology, DR Congo

² Jomo Kenyatta Univ. of Agriculture and Technology, Food Sci. & Techn., Kenya

Physicochemical attributes of mushrooms (Agaricus bisporus & Pleurotus ostreatus) and their blends with maize flour, as well as the colour and sensory acceptability of the fortified maize-mushroom porridge were investigated using standard analytical techniques and Pearson's correlations. The maize flour was replaced with mushroom flours at different levels; a control sample (0%), 10%, 20%, 30%, 40% and 50% of mushroom flour. Increasing mushroom content resulted in increasing of protein, ash, fibre, zinc and iron content in both composite flours and fortified maize-mushroom porridges. Furthermore, the fortified maize-mushroom porridges in vitro-protein digestibility increased with increasing the mushrooms content. Adding P. ostreatus flour resulted in increasing of the pH and decreasing of the total titratable acidity (TTA). On the other hand, increasing the A. bisporus flour content resulted in decreasing of the pH and increasing of the TTA. A strong significant (p < 0.05) linear correlation (-0.73) was observed between the *in vitro*-protein digestibility and the viscosity in maize-mushroom porridges. Besides, increasing mushroom content resulted in decreasing of the fat, carbohydrates and energy content in both composite flours and fortified maize-mushroom porridges. The fortified maize-mushrooms viscosity also decreased with increasing mushroom flour content. In addition, a positive significant linear effect (p < 0.05) in the composite flours on foaming capacity, foam stability, fat absorption capacity, water retention capacity, water absorption capacity, solubility index and swelling capacity was observed, while a negative linear effect on compact density, bulk density and syneresis was found. However, the gelation capacity, emulsifying activity and emulsions stability in the blend were not affected with adding P. ostreatus, while a slight decrease was observed with adding A. bisporus. Increasing mushroom flours content resulted in decreasing of the lightness (L*) value and increasing of redness (a*) and yellowness (b*) in both composite flours and porridge. Based on the colour as well as the consumer acceptability, porridge and maize flour supplemented with 10% and 20% P. ostreatus flours were found to be the best. The information provided in this study increases the attractiveness of the mushroom flours as a novel food fortification due to their nutritional attributes that are associated with numerous health-promoting benefits.

Keywords: Consumer acceptability, fortified porridge, maize flour, physicochemical properties

Contact Address: R.M. Ishara Jackson, Université Evangélique en Afrique (UEA), Food Science and Technology, 3323 Bukavu, DR Congo, e-mail: jackishara17@uea.ac.cd

Decision Analysis Tools Reveal Benefits of Fruit Trees for Enhanced Nutrition Security in Kenya

CORY WHITNEY¹, KEITH SHEPHERD², MICHAEL KRAWINKEL³, DENIS LANZANOVA¹, EIKE LUEDELING⁴

Decision analysis tools can help to utilise available data and expert knowledge rather than requiring hard data from costly long-term fieldwork and experiments. They allow for the incorporation of disparate data sources and what might be considered 'imprecise' inputs to create a representation of the current understanding of cause and effect relationships within the target system. Such tools were applied to provide evidence-based support for policy decisions regarding planting varieties of mango (Mangifera indica L.) and avocado (Persea americana Mill.) trees in Kenya. A group of twenty experts, including representatives of government and non-government organisations, agricultural technicians and practitioners, academics and analysts, collaboratively modeled the potential livelihood impacts of planting fruit trees on smallholder farms in Kenya. The critical determinants of the effectiveness of these trees for household nutrition were established. Estimations on variables and relationships were generated from expert knowledge and available data. These were used to programme four comprehensive Bayesian Network models of around 60 variables each to show the difference in the annual dietary gap in terms of estimated average requirement of energy, iron, provitamin A and zinc per person in smallholder households. Model results indicate that planting fruit trees can benefit the nutritional status of households. decreasing risks of hunger and micronutrient deficiency. The results show substantial differences in potential nutrition outcomes between planting vs. not planting fruit trees. Overall the results suggest that planting fruit trees may result in a lower per person dietary gap for provitamin A (median 58,871 vs. 204,060 mcg retinol activity equivalents/yr), iron (-332 vs. 759 mg yr⁻¹), zinc (1,424 vs. 2,299 mg yr⁻¹), and energy (341,070 vs. 364,270 kcal yr⁻¹). Results can be used to inform policies related to fruit tree planting and to plan for potential outcomes of development actions in Kenya.

Keywords: Avocado, bayesian network, energy, iron, mango, provitamin A, small-holder farmer

¹University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Germany

²World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF), Kenya

³Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Nutritional Science, Germany

⁴University of Bonn, Horticultural Sciences, Germany

Contact Address: Cory Whitney, University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Genscherallee 3, 53113 Bonn, Germany, e-mail: cory.whitney@uni-bonn.de

Improving Milk Quality in Smallholder Dairy Systems: Towards Realising Food Safety and Food Security in Kenya

Simon Ndungu Nyokabi¹, Simon Oosting¹, Bockline Bebe², Bernard Bett³, Johanna Lindahl³, Imke de Boer¹

Smallholder dairy value chains provide high quality protein for consumers, and income and employment for farmers and dairy value chain actors in Kenya. Milk quality in the informal value chain, the primary market channel in Kenya is variable, often does not meet standards, undermines food security and food safety, and constitutes a constraint to long-term sustainability of the sector. An improvement in milk quality would enable Kenya to move towards realising sustainable food security as envisioned by the United Nations sustainable development goal 2. To achieve improved milk quality, there is need to focus on prevention of hazards (chemical, physical and microbial contaminants) notably, through implementation of existing but unenforced quality assurance systems in the value chain.

This study was carried out in Nakuru, Nyandarua and Laikipia counties in Kenya using a mixed methods approach. A spatial framework for market quality guided the study and considered urban and peri-urban locations (PUL), mid-rural locations (MRL) and extreme rural locations (ERL). A questionnaire was administered to 652 smallholder farmers to elicit information on farm practices and knowledge relating to milk quality. 432 milk samples were collected in the formal and informal value chains. Analyses for composition, microbial contamination were undertaken. Observations were made across the value chains. Finally, key informant interviews were held to triangulate information.

Findings revealed high microbial contamination in all three counties (*E. coli* 35.2 %, *Pseudomonas spp.* 53.4, *Staphylococcus spp.* 2.5 % and 2.3 % positive for milk ring test (MRT). Microbial contamination was higher in MRL and PUL than in ERL. Composition revealed mean butterfat 3.58 %, protein 3.53 % and solid not-fat 9.190 %. Protein content was below average except in Nyandarua and in MRL when results were analysed according to the spatial framework and counties. Economic incentives encouraging farmers to improve milk quality were lacking. There was low knowledge of milk quality especially of the importance of milk composition across all counties. Institutional capacity (under-staffing and lack of resources) constrained the implementation and enforcement of milk quality control systems. Observations revealed the use of non-food grade plastic containers and poor handling of milk by actors across the value chain.

Keywords: Dairy value chains, food safety, food security, milk quality, SDGs

¹Wageningen University and Research, Dept. of Animal Sciences, The Netherlands

²Egerton University, Dept. of Animal Science, Kenya

³International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), Kenya

Contact Address: Simon Ndungu Nyokabi, Wageningen University and Research, Animal Production Systems Group (APS), De Elst 1 (Building 122), 6708 WD Wageningen, The Netherlands, e-mail: ndungukabi@gmail.com

From Farm to Fork. How Production Diversity Determines Nutrition Security of Smallholder Farmers in Rural India

TILL LUDWIG

University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Germany

There are various pathways through which agricultural production can affect dietary intake of individuals and households. On-farm production diversity of smallholder farmers can improve the nutrition security of the household. We understand on-farm production diversity as any production of food items at the household level (i.e. field crops, garden crops, livestock). The objective is to determine the significance and relevance of this relationship by considering the different degrees of separability between both the commercial and consumptive production of food. A household-level survey covering socioeconomic, agricultural and nutritional data was conducted in three regions of India from January to June 2017 including 1324 households in 119 villages. We use an instrument variable identification strategy to estimate the effect of production diversity on dietary diversity. Various regression specifications (OLS, Poisson, Probit, IV / non-IV) were used for robustness checks. Considering agroecological zones represented by climatic and geographical characteristics, we use average yearly rainfall since 1981 as the excluded instrument. A positive association is estimated (B: 0.417 / 0.016 | IV / non-IV). We extend the framework by interacting production with access to markets and we find that households that are more integrated into regional markets, improve dietary diversity on average by 0.5 food groups. The increase is significant only for a few food groups (dairy products, nuts and vegetable) and primarily, it is the higher income groups that benefit from market integration. In conclusion, production diversity does improve nutrition security, but the positive market effect is stronger for farming households that have a higher income.

Keywords: Agricultural production, dietary diversity, India, nutrition-sensitive agriculture

Contact Address: Till Ludwig, University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Genscherallee 3, 53113 Bonn, Germany, e-mail: till.ludwig@uni-bonn.de

Assessment of Mineral Content of Different Soil Types Consumed by Pregnant Women in Western Kenya

LUCY KARIUKI¹, PATRICK MAUNDU², HANS KONRAD BIESALSKI¹ University of Hohenheim, Inst. for Biological Chemistry and Nutrition, Germany ²National Museums of Kenya, Kenya National Resource Management, Kenya

Soil consumption (geophagia) has been in practice for more than 2 million years, it has been reported in different cultures in different parts of the world. This practice has been shown to be prevalent in women especially pregnant women. Different soils are chosen because women crave their taste, smell or texture in the mouth and consume the soil to satisfy this craving. Pregnant women in Kenya have been reported to consume soils from different sources, this includes soil from the walls of the houses which is easily available and its taste is preferred. Soft stone is sold in the open air-market or in the high-end market as well as termite soil from termite mounds. Sometimes women collect soil from the ground after a shower, the rich smell of freshly watered soil, can bring on strong desire to crave and ingest it. Samples of soil from houses, termite molds and from the market were collected and analysed for mineral concentrations using inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES). The different soils were found to have different mineral content ranging from, calcium $(0.29-2.69 \,\mathrm{mg}\,\mathrm{g}^{-1})$, iron $(23.61-96.76 \,\mathrm{mg}\,\mathrm{g}^{-1})$, potassium $(8.33-34.74 \,\mathrm{mg}\,\mathrm{g}^{-1})$, magnesium $(0.88-3.65 \text{ mg g}^{-1})$, manganese $(0.35-3.34 \text{ mg g}^{-1})$, sodium $(0.66-7.81 \text{ mg g}^{-1})$ and silicon (193.36-361.42 mg g⁻¹). There were significant differences observed in the mineral concentration in all the samples studied (p < 0.05). If a pregnant woman ingest 1 g of the studied soils, they were likely to meet 22 % to 91 % of the woman daily iron requirement. This study indicates the potential importance of ingested soils in supplying significant amounts of several minerals required during pregnancy. Whether this is a safe source for minerals lies the big question.

Keywords: Kenya, pica, pregnant women, soils

ID 34 367

Contact Address: Lucy Kariuki, University of Hohenheim, Inst. for Biological Chemistry and Nutrition, Egilolfstrasse 48, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: lukariuki@gmail.com

The Impact of Nutrition Training on Mothers' Knowledge and Behaviour in Gangga Island, Indonesia

Laurensi Sasube¹, Aldian Hein Luntungan²

Malnutrition remains a public health concern in Indonesia, particularly in the remote areas where the level of awareness about nutrition is still lacking. Knowledge about good nutrition can lead to a healthier diet for children. According to the General Directorate of Public Health-Indonesia, about 29.6% of children with stunting condition, and 18.8% infants aging from 0 to 9 months with malnutrition have been found in Indonesia. Therefore nutrition training may have a good impact on improving the knowledge of mothers, the way they feed their children, and consequently the health of the children by decreasing the malnutrition and stunting condition.

This was a longitudinal study with quantitative descriptive design. The questionnaire was administered to women who have children at risk of malnutrition in Gangga Island. The observation of the mothers' behaviour was done through focus study groups six months after the questionnaire was distributed.

Bivariate analysis showed a significant correlation between nutrition training and increasing the knowledge and behaviour of mothers (p < 0.001). An increase of 86.4 % of mothers' knowledge on nutrition and behaviour was shown. Nutrition training has significant impact on the knowledge and behaviour of mothers with children at risk for malnutrition in Gangga Island.

Keywords: Knowledge, malnutrition, mothers

¹De La Salle Catholic University Manado, Nursing, Indonesia

²University of Sam Ratulangi Manado, Food Science, Indonesia

Contact Address: Laurensi Sasube, De La Salle Catholic University Manado, Nursing, Kairagi I Kombos, 95236 Manado, Indonesia, e-mail: msasube@unikadelasalle.ac.id

Nutrition Education and Kitchen Garden Intervention Improves Dietary Diversity among 6–59 Months-Old Children in Kenya

Samwel Mbugua¹, Elizabeth Mbuthia¹, Irmgard Jordan², Ann Mwangi³, Julius Khaemba⁴, Lydiah Waswa¹, Thomas Hilger⁵, Ernst-August Nuppenau⁶

A nutrition education and kitchen garden extension intervention was implemented within the HealthyLAND project in Teso South, Kenya. The objective was to assess change in dietary diversity of children 6-59 months whose mothers participated in nutrition education sessions (NE) or NE plus kitchen garden extension intervention (AGNE). A village list for all non-urban villages from Teso South was collected. The baseline survey targeted 420 children aged 0-59 months and their caregivers selected from 35 randomly selected villages with 12 households targeted per village. Stratified cluster random design was applied on the 35 villages randomised into NE only (n= 11 villages, 132 families), AGNE (12 villages, 142 families) and control (CTRL) (n= 12 villages, 144 families) groups. Community health volunteers (CHVs) undertook eight individual face to face home visits and four group sessions over a period of 4 months for NE. Kitchen garden interventions were carried out by the same CHVs working in collaboration with agriculture extension officers. Chi square and logistic regression analysis was used to measure associations and magnitude of change. Improved dietary diversity was defined as a child aged 6-59 months receiving food from at least four or more food groups out of the WHO child dietary diversity 7-food grouping. This analysis covered 334 respondents among households with children aged 6-59 months at exit survey. There were non-significant differences in baseline minimum dietary diversity by intervention arms; 51.79% (NE), 51.75 % (AGNE) and 43.52 % (CTRL), (p = 0.370). After intervention, there was a significant difference in minimum dietary diversity by intervention arms (n=314); 83.84 % (NE). 84.76 % (AGNE) and 69.09 % (CTRL), (p = 0.007). An adjusted logistic regression model showed significant differences in dietary diversity between NE and CTRL (AOR 0.43, 95 % CI 0.22-0.84) but not with AGNE versus NE (AOR 1.07, 95 % CI 0.50-2.28).

Individual nutrition education, and combined nutrition education and kitchen gardens extension interventions had significant effect on child diet quality. Investing in existing agriculture and nutrition staff is a sustainable and feasible approach to improving child nutrition. The study was financially supported by the German Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture.

Keywords: Child dietary diversity, HealthyLAND, kitchen gardens, nutrition education

¹Egerton University, Human Nutrition, Kenya

² Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Center for International Development and Environmental Research, Germany

³Moi University, Behavioural Sciences, Kenya

⁴Egerton University, Crops Horticulutre and Soils,

⁵ University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics, Germany

⁶ Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Agric. Policy and Market Res., Germany

Contact Address: Samwel Mbugua, Egerton University, Human Nutrition, Main Campus Egerton, Nakuru, Kenya, e-mail: samwel.mbugua2@gmail.com

Sustainable Development: Analyzing Health of Soybean Producers in Brazil through Fertilisers and Pesticides Poisoning

Jefferson Andronio Ramundo Staduto¹, Ana Cecília Kreter², Valdir Antônio Galante¹, Dagmar Mithöfer²

This paper aimed to analyse a group of aspects related to the quality of life and, particularly, to the health of conventional and organic soybean producers in the southern region of Brazil. For this survey, 200 farms with similar characteristics were selected - small and medium farms, mostly with family farming workmanship. Through selfreported questionnaires applied to them between November of 2015 and February of 2016, it was possible to access their work conditions and profits related to the two previous harvests, as well as the households' structure. Based on the acute pesticide poisoning, which is a proposed classification tool of the World Health Organisation, a logit estimation model was applied. Comparing the results of typical symptoms of recurrent exposure to fertilisers and pesticides, one concluded that the probability of the conventional soy producer having those symptoms was 20 % higher than the organic producers. Even considering that the average profit of the conventional producers was also higher than the organic ones, and that this group had a broader access to the private health system in Brazil because of their income, this research presented evidences that their physical health is more precarious. The decision to compare producers from the same region, who work with the same crop, standardises our sample and shows that, what sets them apart is the production technology – organic or conventional – and the consequent level of exposure and degree of intoxication. In this aspect, it is an unpublished study. Then, it shows that the apparent environmentally harmonious landscape may not reveal the quality of life of the rural workers, especially with regard to their health.

Keywords: Disease, family farming, fertilisers, health, pesticides, soybean

¹Western University of State of the Paraná, Cent. for Appl. Social Sci., Brazil

²Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences, Germany

Contact Address: Ana Cecília Kreter, Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences, Münsterstraße 18, 40477 Düsseldorf, Germany, e-mail: ana.kreter@gmail.com

Food Safety Challenges in Traditional Pork Value Chains and Policy Engagement in Vietnam and Laos

Fred Unger 1 , Phuc Pham Duc 2 , Van Hung Pham 3 , Vannaphone Putthana 4 , Sinh Dang-Xuan 2 , Hanh Tran Thi Tuyet 2 , Hung Nguyen 1 , Aurelie Binot 5 . Narnon Lacksivy 4 . Delia Grace 6

Food-borne disease (FBD) is a major public health issue in low income countries of South East Asia including Vietnam and Laos. The contamination of popular foods can occur all along the food value chain. Evidence on the burden of FBD is still limited but the risk is expected to be high due to poor food hygiene practices, missing incentives to change them, risky consumption habits and poor enforcement of existing legislation. We will present two case studies conducted since 2015 for Vietnam and Laos. For Vietnam the research included risk assessments (qualitative and quantitative, OMRA) of food safety hazards along the pork value chain (Salmonella and chemical) targeting Hung Yen and Nghe An province while for Laos the focus was on parasitic FBD (trichinella) in communities of Savannahkhet and Champasak provinces. Nearly half of collected pork market samples (N=217) in Hung Yen and Nghe An (Vietnam) were contaminated with salmonella and a OMRA concluded that 1-2 pork consumers from ten are at risk to suffer from salmonella related FBD while the chemical risk was low. Results for Savannahkhet (Laos) indicate 18 % seropositity for trichinella antibodies in pigs (N=417), results for Champasak (N=304) are currently analysed. Both case studies were implemented by interdisciplinary research teams. In both studies focus was given on policy engagement (national and lower). In Vietnam this was facilitated through an established taskforce for food safety risk assessment, an alignment with a Word Bank funded national food safety assessment initiative and the national food safety working group which included various stakeholders and groups. For Laos a unique cross-sectoral ministerial platform has been established consisting of 6 ministries (agriculture, health, trade, defense, communication and tourism) which advised on community based interventions (e.g. awareness campaigns). Steps towards successful policy and multi-ministry engagement will be presented and discussed.

Keywords: Food safety, Laos, pork value chain, Vietnam

¹International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), ILRI Hanoi, Vietnam

²Hanoi University of Public Health, Cenpher, Vietnam

³ Vietnam National University of Agriculture (VNUA), Vietnam

⁴National University of Laos, Faculty of Agriculture, Laos

⁵CIRAD, France

⁶International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), Kenya

Contact Address: Fred Unger, International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), ILRI Hanoi, Van Phuc Diplomatic Compound, ILRI, B1, R 301, Kim Ma Street 298, 00000 Hanoi, Vietnam, e-mail: f.unger@cgiar.org

A Dual Food-to-Food Fortification with *Moringa oleifera* Leaf Powder and *Adansonia digitata* Fruit Pulp

AFFONFERE MARIUS, FLORA JOSIANE CHADARE, YANN EMÉRIC MADODE University of Abomey-Calavi, Laboratory of Food Science, Benin

Malnutrition is one of the most serious problems throughout the world and children are especially vulnerable because of their rapid growth occurring while subject to inadequate dietary patterns. A cost-effective and sustainable alternative is food-to-food fortification by opposition to classical food fortification using chemical ingredients. In such a context, nutrient rich local food resources such as moringa leaf powder and baobab fruit pulp are good food fortificant candidates. This research aimed at (i) designing fermented sorghum ogi porridge dual fortified with moringa leaf powder and baobab fruit pulp and (ii) assessing iron, calcium and zinc bioaccessibility (IVS) to alleviate micronutrients deficiencies among under five years old children. In this way, fortification rate was defined by integrating traditional practices and literature data related to the amount of fortificant consumed daily by the under five years old children. The in vitro solubility (IVS) of the minerals were used as estimate of their digestibility and was assessed by simulating gastro-intestinal digestion. Acceptability test was performed using the facial expression of children and the perception of mothers. The results indicate that fortification increases significantly (p < 0.05) calcium content from $43.6 \pm 1.9 \text{ mg}/100 \text{ g}$ dry weight to $3454.5 \pm 86.4 \text{ mg}/100 \text{ g}$ dry weight, iron content from 7.3 ± 0.2 mg/100 g dry weight to 88.4 ± 1.2 mg/100 g dry weight and zinc content from 88.2 ± 3.8 mg/100 g dry weight to 202.4 ± 3.1 mg/100 g dry weight. In Vitro Solubility (IVS) of zinc significantly increases (p < 0.05) after fortification from 0.5 ± 0.1 % to 2.1 ± 0.1 %. The acceptability test indicates that sorghum porridge dual fortified with *moringa* leaf powder and baobab fruit pulp (fortification rate, 17.0%, dry weight) was the most preferred by children and their mothers. Finally, we suggest that dual food-to-food fortification using moringa leaf powder and baobab fruit pulp for porridges be promoted to fight against micronutrients deficiencies especially zinc deficiencies.

Keywords: Food to food fortification, *in vitro* digestibility, micronutrients deficiency

Contact Address: Flora Josiane Chadare, University of Abomey-Calavi, Laboratory of Food Science, Abomey-Calavi, Benin, e-mail: fchadare@gmail.com

Raising the Burden: Healthy Food and Cooking Energy Scarcity

HARRY HOFFMANN, AARON SCHEID, JOHANNES HAFNER, GÖTZ UCKERT, STEFAN SIEBER, ANTHONY KIMARO

Leibniz Centre for Agric. Landscape Res. (ZALF), Germany

Food and nutrition security does not only depend on an adequate quantitative and qualitative availability of especially staples and vegetables. Likewise important is the adequate supply of cooking energy such as fuelwood and charcoal. However, as the process of land degradation is ongoing especially in sub-Saharan Africa - but also in other regions of the global South - forested areas and likewise forest products are diminishing. This has substantial consequences for the 3 billion people globally who depend on so-called traditional bioenergy for cooking but also heating. As the cooking process is essential for nutritious aspects - heat reduces the food matrices and make them more available for the human body -, affected individuals have to develop or apply coping strategies to deal with the challenge of energy scarcity.

We indexed the use of respective coping strategies and quantified their application in the rural and semi-arid region of Dodoma in central Tanzania. As first step, published strategies were identified and clustered via an in-depth literature survey. In sum, 26 strategies were identified in total clustered generally in preventive and acute measures - ranging from introduction of improved cooking stoves to reduction of meals prepared per day. These results were discussed in a series of focus group discussions and expert interviews with villagers in the case study sites of Mzula and Idifu village. Additionally, missing strategies were included as to derive a full picture of strategies applied (23 strategies were applied in the village, two of them not published so far). In total, 39 households were interviewed. In conclusion, affected villagers often only use acute measures that do not tackle the increasing challenge of deforestation. For countermeasures, a long-term strategy needs to be applied by the national and regional governments as well as international donors.

Keywords: Bioenergy, energy scarcity, food energy nexus, forest degradation, healthy and nutritious food, woodfuel

ID 491 373

Contact Address: Harry Hoffmann, Leibniz Centre for Agric. Landscape Res. (ZALF), Sustainablel land use in developing countries (SUSLand), Eberswalder Straße 84, 15374 Müncheberg, Germany, e-mail: harry.hoffmann@zalf.de

Patulin Exposure among Tunisia Population

ARNAU VIDAL, MARTHE DE BOEVRE, SARAH DE SAEGER Ghent University, Bioanalysis Department, Belgium

Patulin (PAT) is produced by a wide range of fungal species of the *Penicillium*, Aspergillus, Byssochlamys, Eupenicillium, and Paecilomyces genera of which Penicillium expansum, a common contaminant of damaged fruits, is the most important. PAT is the predominant mycotoxin in fruits and fruit-based products. PAT exerts genotoxic and cytotoxic effects in humans. Due to its toxicity and large occurrence, the assessment of populations' exposure to PAT is imperative. Recently, biomarkerdriven research aroused as a successful method to assess the exposure in humans to a wide range of mycotoxins such as deoxynivalenol, aflatoxins and ochratoxin A. This was executed through the estimation of their metabolites in biological fluids such as urine and plasma. However, there is a lack of information on the PAT metabolism pathway. To date, PAT's biomarkers remain unknown, and an analytical method to evaluate the PAT exposure through biomarkers has not been developed. The aim of the presented study was to detect reliable PAT biomarkers in both human urine and plasma. An in vitro study through PAT incubation with liver cells was executed to detect PAT metabolites. Although PAT is a relatively stable compound, metabolites were detected via the use of state-of-the-art high resolution mass spectrometry, and were described and identified. Then, an in vivo study was performed where urine and plasma samples from volunteers (n = 100) were analysed to detect PAT metabolites, and were compared with the obtained in vitro results. The detected metabolites in the biological samples can be used as PAT biomarkers in future research. The identification of reliable PAT biomarkers is an important step towards mycotoxin assessment studies.

Keywords: Biomarker, exposure, patulin, Tunisia

Contact Address: Arnau Vidal, Ghent University, Bioanalysis Department, Ottergemsesteenweg 460, 9000 Ghent, Belgium, e-mail: arnau.vidalcorominas@ugent.be

Food quality and processing

Oral Presentations	
GEOFFREY SSEPUUYA, RUBEN SMETS, DOROTHY NAKIMBUGWE, JOHAN CLAES, MIK VAN DER BORGHT:	
The Effects of Harvesting Conditions and Processing on the Nutritional Profile of <i>Ruspolia differens</i>	378
OYERONKE ADEJUMO, VICTOR OKORUWA, ADEBAYO ABASS: Adoption of Innovative Post-Harvest Technology for Cassava Processing in Nigeria	379
SHEHADEH KASKOUS: Sources of Contamination of Raw Camel Milk with Microorganisms	380
SIRAWDINK FIKREYESUS FORSIDO, NEJAT KIYAK TSEGAYE, TEFERA BELACHEW, OLIVER HENSEL: Complementary Foods in Southwest Ethiopia: Diversity, Composition and Nutrient Adequacy	381
OLUWATOYIN AYETIGBO, SAJID LATIF, ADEBAYO ABASS, JOACHIM MÜLLER: Optimisation of Cassava Foaming for Foam-Mat Drying, and Use in Cream-Based Foods	382
Posters	
MUHAMMAD TARIQ, ADIL FAROOQ, EVA SCHLECHT: Status of Clean Milk Production in Faisalabad, Punjab, Pakistan	383
BOCKLINE BEBE: Milk Vending Machine Innovation for Retailing Milk: Operational Costs, Consumer Perceived Risks and Milk Quality	384
JOSHUA ARIMI: Manufacture and Extension of Shelf-Life of Camel Milk Yoghurt to Enhance Food Security in Arid and Semi-Arid Areas of Nothern Kenya	385
IRENE KAGERA, FLORENCE MUTUA, DELIA GRACE, JOHANNA LINDAHL, PETER KAHENYA: Status of Aflatoxin Contamination in Marketed and Farm	
Gate Milk in Nairobi County of Kenya	386

BUKOLA ADEBAYO-TAYO, OLASUMBO ESAN: Mycobiota, Total Aflatoxin Levels and Quality Assessment of Smoked Dried Juvenile Fish (<i>Clarias gariepinus</i> (Lori Amala)) from some Major Markets in Ibadan Metropolis, Oyo State, Nigeria	387
TEREZA SLÁMOVÁ, ADELA FRANKOVA, JAN BANOUT: Screening of PAHS Concentrations in Traditionally Smoked Freshwater Fish Products from Tonle Sap in Cambodia	388
FELIX MEUTCHIEYE, DJOUKENG HENRI GRISSEUR, NGOUYAMSA YOUSSOUF JAMILOU: Traditional Smoking of Freshwater Fish in the Western Region, Cameroon	389
BRIANNE A. ALTMANN, CARMEN NEUMANN, SUSANNE VELTEN, FRANK LIEBERT, DANIEL MÖRLEIN: Alga and Insect Meal and their Effect on Monogastric Animal Meat Quality	390
INNEKE FENNY MELKE RUMENGAN, PIPIH SUPTIJAH, STENLY WULLUR, ALDIAN HEIN LUNTUNGAN, FALEN BILLY SANDANA, NETTY SALINDEHO: Potential Application of Chitosan Nanoparticles Derived from Marine Fish Scales as Preservatives for Fishery Products	391
OLIVER CHANZU, CATHERINE KUNYANGA, JASPER IMUNGI: Current Status of Pre-Slaughter, Slaughtering and Post- Slaughter Handling Practices Affecting the Quality of Fresh Meat in Pastoral Areas of Kenya	392
SUZAN EL-AKAAD, MONA ALI MOHAMED, NATALIA BELOGLAZOVA, SARAH DE SAEGER: Intelligently Designed Electrochemical Platform for the Detection of Food Contaminants	393
INSA FLACHSBARTH, NINA GRASSNICK, BERNHARD BRÜMMER: The Uneven Spread of Private Food Quality Standards Over Space and Time	394
BASTIAN LANGE, SHARVARI RAUT, BRENDAN W. RICE, OLIVER HENSEL, BARBARA STURM: Small-Scale Post-Harvest Processing of Underutilised Fruits and Vegetables – A Framework for Assessing Economic Viability	395
FLORA JOSIANE CHADARE, CASTRO RODRIGUE GBÈDOMON, LINUS OPARA UMEZURUIKE, ANITA LINNEMANN: Postharvest Handling Factors Affecting Antioxidant Content of Horticultural Plants: A Review	396

ROSALIZAN MD SALEH, NURUL AFZA KARIM, OLIVER HENSEL, BARBARA STURM: Quality Changes of Different Varieties of Sweetpotato under Curing Condition	397
Addisu Fekadu Andeta, Dries Vandeweyer, Fassil Teffera, Karen Vancampenhout, Leen Van Campenhout:	
Metagenetic Analysis of the Bacterial Community Composition and Dynamics in Fermenting Enset (<i>Ensete ventricosum</i>)	398
SAWITTREE CHAI-AREEKITWAT, SAJID LATIF, BUSARAKORN MAHAYOTHEE, MARCUS NAGLE, JOACHIM MÜLLER: Influence of Cultivar and Plant Age on Cyanide and Protein Contents in Thai Cassava (Manihot esculenta Crantz) Leaves	399
JOSÉ VILLACIS-CHIRIBOGA, K. ELST, M. UYTTEBROEK, S. VOORSPOELS, JOHN VAN CAMP, E. VERA, J. RUALES: Assessment on Carotenoids Profile Extracted from Mango Peel via Accelerated Solvent Extraction and Ultrasound Assisted Extraction	400
ESTHER EKELEDO, BUNMI OLASANMI, ADEBAYO ABASS, SAJID LATIF, JOACHIM MÜLLER: Total Phenol and Antioxidant Potentials of Provitamin A Cassava Peels and Stem Extracts	400
TOLULOPE AYEYEMI, JUSTINA ODOGWU, MARY KEMI IDOWU Assessment of Iron and Copper Composition of Selected Underutilised Vegetables of South Western Nigeria	402
JAN STAS, KITIYA VONGKAMJAN, JAN BANOUT: Antimicrobial Efficacy of Lemongrass (Cymbopogon citratus) and Fingerroot (Boesenbergia pandurata) Essential Oils against Foodborne Pathogens JANVIER NTWALI, STEFFEN SCHOCK, SEBASTIAN ROMULI,	403
JOACHIM MÜLLER: Performance Evaluation of an Inflatable Solar Dryer for Maize and the Effect on Product Quality Compared with Traditional Sun Drying	404
ADNAN MUKHTAR, SAJID LATIF, JOACHIM MÜLLER: Quality Evaluation of Hot Air-Dried Mangoes through Heat-Sensitive Enzymes	405
CHEMEDA ABEDETA GARBABA, OLIVER HENSEL: Actors' Post-Harvest Maize Handling Practices and Allied Mycoflora Epidemiology in Southwestern Ethiopia: Potential for Mycotoxin Producing Fungi Management	406

The Effects of Harvesting Conditions and Processing on the Nutritional Profile of *Ruspolia differens*

Geoffrey Ssepuuya¹, Ruben Smets¹, Dorothy Nakimbugwe², Johan Claes¹, Mik Van Der Borght¹

Wild seasonal edible insects such as Ruspolia differens continue to significantly contribute to the food, nutrition and economic security of many people in Uganda and Africa at large. This research aimed at investigating the effect of season, sourcing geographical area and processing method on the nutrient profile of R. differens. On a dry matter basis, proteins (34.2–45.8%), lipids (42.4–54.3%) and chitin (8.26–10.79%) were the most abundant macronutrients while potassium (242.0–673.3 mg/100 g), phosphorus (316.1-626.6 mg/100 g), calcium (34.9-128.0 mg/100 g), magnesium (38.5-69.0 mg/100 g) and iron (33.2-69.0 mg/100 g) were the most abundant micronutrients. Vitamin B12 ranged from 0.22-1.35 µg/100 g. The full amino acid profile was determined, showing a high biological value. The variability in amino acid composition across the different samples (areas, seasons) was low. Oleic acid (C18:1 cis-9) was the most abundant (38.9–42.7%) fatty acid, followed by palmitic acid (C16:0) (26.6–28.5) and linoleic acid (C18:1 cis-6) (17.6–23.0%), implying that the R. differens fat is highly unsaturated (56.5–65.7%), similar to chicken and pork but higher than beef. R. differens samples from the April season had a significantly higher protein and mineral content than samples from the December season, probably due to the younger growth stage of the grasshoppers. Geographical area also significantly influenced the nutrient content of R. differens but not consistently. Boiling and roasting significantly resulted in the loss of lipids, minerals and vitamin B12. Correspondingly, protein content increased. Understanding the nutrient profile of R. differens will greatly contribute to defining its key quality attributes and inform development of shelf stable products fit for the formal regulated market. Despite R. differens' potential to contribute to combatting the micro and macro nutrient deficiencies especially for protein and iron, the bio-availability of these nutrients need to be investigated. Efforts to rear R. differens should be harnessed to ensure its sustainable contribution to food, nutrition and income security.

Keywords: Geographical area, nutrient profile, processing, *Ruspolia differens*, season

¹KU Leuven, Dept. of Microbial and Molecular Systems, Belgium

²Makerere University, Dept. of Food Technology and Nutrition, Uganda

Contact Address: Mik Van Der Borght, KU Leuven, Department of Microbial and Molecular Systems, Kleinhoefstraat 4, 2440 Geel, Belgium, e-mail: mik.vanderborght@kuleuven.be

Sources of Contamination of Raw Camel Milk with Microorganisms

SHEHADEH KASKOUS

Siliconform GmbH, Dept. of Research and Development, Germany

Camel milk is the most important nutritional source as well as a remedy for the population in many arid areas. Camel milk is mostly consumed fresh or as a naturally fermented product and hence unpasteurised. However, camel raw milk can be contaminated at any step in milk production and processing and, thus, loses its quality and safety standard. The purpose of the present study was to determine potential sources of microbial contamination of camel raw milk. Bacterial contamination of camel raw milk can occur at four levels, within the udder, after harvest, from the surface of equipment used for milk processing, and during storage and transport. Milk removed from a healthy udder contains a very low concentration with microorganisms, usually less than 10×10^2 colony forming units of total bacteria per ml (cfu/ml). A camel with clinical or subclinical mastitis has the potential to shed large numbers of microorganisms in its milk. Several studies have investigated that quarters from infected camels have the potential to shed more than 10×10^6 cfu ml⁻¹ in the produced milk. In the traditional husbandry systems, poor management and low hygienic standards during milking lead to mastitis in camels. Autochthonous microorganisms from the exterior of the camels udder and teats can contribute to the contamination as well as microorganisms that are derived from the environment in which the camel is housed and milked. However, the contribution of microorganisms from teats soiled with manure, mud and feed appears to be most important. Furthermore, under tropical and subtropical conditions, characterised by a lack of cooling and higher temperatures, camel raw milk can become contaminated after milking by storage and transport, especially if farmers store their milk in low hygiene plastic containers, and by the use of contaminated water. In such situations, the bacteria are able to grow rapidly and reached a total bacteria count of up to 10×10^7 cfu ml⁻¹. The types of bacteria that grow and become significant depends on the initial contamination of the milk. In conclusion, camel health, environment, milking procedures, equipment sanitation and storage and transport conditions can influence the level of microbial contamination of camel raw milk

Keywords: Camel, mastitis, microorganisms, milk storage, milk transport, milking, raw milk

Contact Address: Shehadeh Kaskous, Siliconform GmbH, Dept. of Research and Development, Schelmengriesstrasse 1, 86842 Türkheim, Germany, e-mail: shehadeh.kaskous@yahoo.de

Complementary Foods in Southwest Ethiopia: Diversity, Composition and Nutrient Adequacy

SIRAWDINK FIKREYESUS FORSIDO¹, NEJAT KIYAK TSEGAYE², TEFERA BELACHEW³, OLIVER HENSEL¹

At the age of six months and above, breast milk is no longer sufficient to meet nutritional needs of the growing infant. Nutritious complementary foods are therefore introduced. Understanding the diversity, nutritional composition, and nutrient adequacy of diets of young children is important in judging the adequacy of their diet, which was examined in this study. In this community-based cross-sectional study, a stratified multistage sampling procedure was used to sample 403 children, 6-23 months old, in Southwest Ethiopia. Data were collected using a semi-structured questionnaire. the dietary diversity score (DDS) was calculated as the count of food groups consumed in the 24 hours prior to the assessment among seven food groups. Six complementary foods predominantly fed to children were assayed for proximate composition, energy, mineral density, tannin and phytate content using standard methods. Nutrient adequacy ratio (NAR) was calculated as the intake of a nutrient (per day) divided by the recommended intake of the nutrient. Only 16.1% of the children got the minimum dietary diversity. The children were reported to be fed with cereals & grains (68.8%), discretionary calories (53.6%), protein-rich foods (44.6 %), oils and fat (40.5 %), vegetables (38.5 %), fruits (28.1 %) and dairy products (17.9%). The proximate composition and calorific value of the sampled foods ranged between 58.4-79.6 %, 8.2-11.9 %, 0.9-8.5 %, 2.3-8.2 %, 2.9-8.0 %, and 4.3-24.4 %, 27.9-162.6 Kcal/100 g for moisture, protein, crude fat, crude fibre, total ash, total carbohydrate and energy content, respectively. The mineral contents ranged between 22.5-42.4 mg/100 g, 1.8-4.1 mg/100 g, and 168.4–250.4 mg/100 g, 225.6–317.0 mg/100 g for iron, zinc, calcium and phosphorus, respectively. The phytate and tannin contents ranged from below detectable level (BDL)-117.7 mg/100 g and 1.2–75.2 mg/100 g, respectively. All the complementary food samples predominantly fed to children were not sufficient to meet the protein, fat, carbohydrate, energy and calcium requirements, (NAR<1). However, most of the diets provided adequate iron and zinc. The nutrient density and diversity of complementary foods of 6-23 months old children in the study area were found to be sub-optimal. Upgrading the nutritional composition of the predominantly starchy complementary foods should be of highest priority in order to improve the nutrition of infants and young children.

Keywords: Complementary foods, dietary diversity, nutritional composition

¹University of Kassel, Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering, Germany

² Jimma University, Postharvest Management, Ethiopia

³ Jimma University, Population and Family Health, Nutrition Unit, Ethiopia

Contact Address: Sirawdink Fikreyesus Forsido, University of Kassel, Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering, Nordbahnhofstr. 1a, 37213 Witzenhausen, Germany, e-mail: sirawdink.forsido@student.uni-kassel.de

Optimisation of Cassava Foaming for Foam-Mat Drying, and Use in Cream-Based Foods

Oluwatoyin Ayetigbo 1 , Sajid Latif 1 , Adebayo Abass 2 , Joachim Müller 1

Cassava foam was produced from cassava pulp (ca. 1.5°Brix, 1.005 g mL⁻¹) by whipping two varieties of cassava (white-flesh from Costa Rica, & yellow-flesh, IITA-TMS-IBA 011368) with foaming agent (20% w/w GMS colloid) and stabiliser (NaCMC). Cassava foam was optimised for three independent variables: concentration of foaming agent (5%, 10%, 15%), concentration of stabiliser (0.2%, 0.4%) 0.6%), and whipping time (2 min, 4 min, 6 min). Using a Box-Behnken experimental design, two responses were measured: foam expansion (%) and foam density (g mL⁻¹). Foam collapse (%) was also determined. Based on optimisation criteria of maximum foam expansion and minimum foam density, white-flesh cassava pulp required 14.97 % GMS, 0.51 % NaCMC, and 2.07 min to yield a foam of 52.63 % expansion, and density of 0.75 g mL⁻¹. Also, yellow-flesh cassava pulp required 14.29 % GMS, 0.6% NaCMC, and 2 min to yield a foam of 48.25% expansion, and density of 0.76 g mL⁻¹. Responses were adequately predicted by quadratic regression equations of the response surface method as 54.9 % foam expansion and 0.73 g mL⁻¹ foam density for white-flesh cassava foam; and 49.86% foam expansion and 0.73 g mL⁻¹ foam density for yellow-flesh cassava foam. White-flesh and yellow-flesh cassava foams were stable, and both had low foam collapse of 1.79% and 1.26%, respectively. Foam produced was used to completely substitute milk cream in making of ice-cream; and as complement in salad mayonnaise. The cassava foam could also be dried into a foam powder for reconstitution. Preliminary results reveal foaming and drying white-flesh cassava foam powder at 55°C reduced total cyanogenic glucosides (assayed as total HCN equivalents) from 141.5 μ g g⁻¹ to 20.5 μ g⁻¹. Cassava foam substitution/complementation may be a healthy option suitable for vegetarians and vegans, and reduce need for animal fat in cream-based foods.

Keywords: Cassava foam, foam-mat, optimisation, response surface method, stabiliser

¹University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), Tanzania

Contact Address: Oluwatoyin Ayetigbo, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstr. 9, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: ayetigbo_oluwatoyin@uni-hohenheim.de

Status of Clean Milk Production in Faisalabad, Punjab, Pakistan

MUHAMMAD TARIO¹, ADIL FAROOO², EVA SCHLECHT³

Milk plays an important role in Pakistan's economy; 20% of the milk comes from peri-/urban farms, is sold as untreated raw milk, therefore prone to fast spoilage and requires protection from contamination. This study aimed at determining factors influencing clean milk production in Faisalabad, the third-largest city of Pakistan. Using a semi-structured pretested questionnaire, interviews with semi-commercial smallscale (SCSS), commercial small-scale (CSS) and commercial large-scale (CLS) peri-/urban dairy households (HH, 60 per type) were conducted in February-March 2018, using snow-ball sampling. Interviewed HH had 10±7.1 years of dairving experience, kept 12 ± 9.4 adult female buffaloes and 12 ± 7.1 adult cows, earning about 1200 Euro month-1 from milk sales. Differences in total number of dairy animals, earnings from milk sales and farm expenses between SCSS, CSS and CLS farms were significant (p < 0.001). Two-thirds of the farms (n=136) used traditional cow-sheds and 25 % had modern barns, with significant differences (p < 0.01) in farm design, drainage system and cleaning frequency between SCSS, CSS and CLS farms. Flies and ticks were present in >80 % farms but control measures only used in 22 % HH. Most animals (81%) had dirt and dung coated bodies, hindquarters and udders. Practices like hair-clipping, hoof-trimming, udder-washing and teat-dipping were not applied by 83 %, 74 %, 59 % and 84 % of farmers, with significant differences (p < 0.01) between SCSS, CSS and CLS farms. About 70% of the workers didn't wash hands before milking; most (89%) didn't trim nails nor cover heads (97%) and carried on milking even in case of sickness (86%). Milk cans were hardly disinfected (79%) and milk mostly (64%) stored in plastic containers without pre-filtration; however, CLS more frequently (50%) stored milk in steel containers than SCSS (25%) and CSS (20%) farms (p = 0.001). Most farmers (76%) had no knowledge of farm hygiene, 62 % had little or no knowledge of clean milk production and 46 % no knowledge of improved farming practices, with significant differences (p < 0.01) between farm types. While some reasons for unhygienic milk production, such as housing and drainage system, need major investment to improve, systematic cleaning of dairy animals, milking equipment and improved workers' hygiene can easily improve the milk safety in Pakistan's cities.

Keywords: Commercial dairy farming, public health, urban livestock keeping

¹University of Agriculture, Dept. of Livestock Management, Toba Tek Singh, Pakistan

²University of Agriculture, Dept. of Clinical Medicine and Surgery, Pakistan

³University of Kassel / Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Animal Husbandry in the Tropics and Subtropics, Germany

Contact Address: Eva Schlecht, University of Kassel / Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Animal Husbandry in the Tropics and Subtropics, Steinstraße 19, 37213 Witzenhausen, Germany, e-mail: tropanimals@uni-kassel.de

Milk Vending Machine Innovation for Retailing Milk: Operational Costs, Consumer Perceived Risks and Milk Quality

BOCKLINE BEBE

Egerton University, Dept. of Animal Science, Kenya

This study reports operating costs, consumer perceived risks and quality of milk from vending machines relative to other retailed milk. Data was collected using market and consumer surveys at the milk market outlets in five major towns in Kenya. The operating costs averaged KES 123,200 annually, of which 58.4% was for servicing of the machine, 24 % for licensing and permits charged by regulating authorities and 17.5 % for water and electricity. Milk vending machine businesses sold between 200 and 1500 litres a day with a retail margin of KES 5 to 10 a litre of milk, generating returns to the business of KES 1,000 to 15,000 a day. For a litre of pasteurised milk, a consumer saves up to 50 % as compared to the price of packet milk when purchasing milk retailed from vending machine. A random sample of consumers associating retailed milk with high risks of adulteration, bacterial load, chemical preservatives, antibiotic residues or unhygienic handling were fewer for vending machine (11.1–16.8%) than were for farm milk directly supplied to consumers (7.9 - 38.0%), pasteurised packet milk (11.7 - 30.7%) or mobile trader retailed milk (14.9 - 57.3%). Compliance with microbiological quality was higher in milk samples from vending machined than for milk retailed in plastic containers (74.4 vs 31% in TVC; 79.5 vs 41.4% in TCC). However, milk contamination with aflatoxin AFM1 exceeded Codex standards of 50 ppt for milk from vending machines (120.87 \pm 24.63 ppt) while milk from plastic containers (35.61 \pm 20.10 ppt) did not. The number of milk samples found noncompliant was higher from vending machines compared to plastic containers (50.0 vs 63.6%). Milk samples from vending machines did not offer better compliance in quality standards over milk from plastic containers in density (100 vs 100 %), not fat solids (46.6 vs 41.4%), hydrogen peroxide (92.3 vs 96.6%) or antibiotics presence (96.3 vs 93.1%). Results show that servicing and licensing make up a larg part of operating costs but returns to entrepreneurs are positive. Consumers associate milk retailed in vending machine with lower risks than milk retailed directly from the farm, mobile traders or in packets. However, consumers are exposed to the risk of aflatoxin contamination

Keywords: Aflatoxin contamination, fresh milk, milk marketing, quality standards

Contact Address: Bockline Bebe, Egerton University, Dept. of Animal Science, 20115 Egerton, Kenya, e-mail: obebeb@yahoo.com

Status of Aflatoxin Contamination in Marketed and Farm Gate Milk in Nairobi County of Kenya

Irene Kagera¹, Florence Mutua², Delia Grace³, Johanna Lindahl³, Peter Kahenya¹

In Kenya where milk consumption is higher than in other countries in the region, a major concern is the risk of chemical hazards in milk; particularly aflatoxins whose high levels have been reported. Milk contamination with aflatoxin M₁ (AFM₁) has been causing public health concerns. Thus the aim of this study was to give baseline data on aflatoxin contamination in marketed and on-farm consumed milk in Nairobi County. To quantify the levels of aflatoxin in milk and milk products consumed in middle/high and low income areas of Nairobi, 291 samples were collected mainly from retail shops and selected supermarket. For the farm gate milk, 84 milk samples were collected from small holder dairy farms in urban and peri-urban areas. All samples were analysed for AFM₁ using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). The levels of AFM₁ in the milk and milk products ranged from 0.30-1069.45 ppt in low income area with over 66 % of samples exceeding the EU legal limit of 50 ng kg⁻¹, whereas contamination levels ranged from 0.94-1078.49 ppt in samples from higher income area wherein 40% exceeded the EU legal limit. Although farm gate milk samples had lower AFM₁ levels (range: 1.73-255.96 ppt) when compared to market milk samples, over 64 % had levels that exceeded the EU legal limit. The population in these regions is at high risk to AFM₁ exposure, thus necessitating the need to explore different mitigation strategies to control AFM₁ contamination in milk and milk products in Nairobi county of Kenya.

Keywords: Aflatoxin M₁, dairy farms, ELISA, exposure, milk, Kenya

¹Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, Food Science and Technology, Kenya

²University of Nairobi, Public Health, Kenya

³International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), Animal and Human Health, Kenya

Contact Address: Irene Kagera, Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, Food Science and Technology, 62000, 00200 Nairobi, Kenya, e-mail: njokimuthoni07@gmail.com

Mycobiota, Total Aflatoxin Levels and Quality Assessment of Smoked Dried Juvenile Fish (*Clarias gariepinus* (Lori Amala)) from some Major Markets in Ibadan Metropolis, Oyo State, Nigeria

BUKOLA ADEBAYO-TAYO, OLASUMBO ESAN

University of Ibadan, Microbiology, Nigeria

The contamination of food due to the occurrence of mycotoxigenic fungi is a public health concern. Therefore, fungi contamination and total aflatoxin levels of smoked dried juvenile fish samples Clarias gariepinus (Lori amala) were investigated. A total of 20 samples of smoked dried juvenile fish were purchased from some major markets in Ibadan. The total fungi count ranged from $1.0 \times 10^3 - 12.0 \times 10^3$ CFU g⁻¹. A total of 32 fungal strains isolated from the samples include: Aspergillus niger, Aspergillus flavus, Penicillium sp., Rhizophus sp., Alternaria sp., Aspergillus ochraceus. Aspergillus niger had the highest frequency of occurrence (38%) while Aspergillus ochraceus (3%) had the lowest. All the samples were contaminated with aflatoxin. The total aflatoxin content ranged from 0.237 ppb to 1.995 ppb. The levels of aflatoxin contamination were within the maximum limit permitted. Out of the 11 Aspergillus strains obtained from the samples, 5 were aflatoxigenic while 6 were non-aflatoxigenic. 85% of the mycobiota were xerophilic in nature and 94% were halophilic in nature. The percentage moisture content, crude protein, crude fat and ash content in the samples ranged from 12.99 – 17.82 %, 68.72 – 77.62 %, 0.49 – 6.00 %, 6.97 – 12.24 %. The P, K, Ca, Mg, Fe, Cu, and Zn of the smoked dried juvenile fish samples ranged from 388.2 – 509.6, 1113.8–1517.0, 928.7 – 1518.8, 129.0 -241.8, 13.37 - 61.25, 0.193 - 0.805, 5.228 - 7.690 mg/100 g. Pb and Cd were not detected in the samples. The levels of aflatoxin contamination in this study were within the maximum limit permitted of 20ppb. Therefore, proper attention is needed for adequate preservation before sales and consumption.

Keywords: Aspergillus niger, crude protein, dried juvenile fish, mycotoxigenic fungi, total aflatoxin

Contact Address: Bukola Adebayo-Tayo, University of Ibadan, Microbiology, Faculty of Science, 234 Ibadan, Nigeria, e-mail: bukola.tayo@gmail.com

Screening of PAHS Concentrations in Traditionally Smoked Freshwater Fish Products from Tonle Sap in Cambodia

TEREZA SLÁMOVÁ¹, ADELA FRANKOVA², JAN BANOUT¹

More than 85 % of the population in Cambodia is strongly dependent on agriculture, especially the fishery industry. Freshwater fish meat and products are one of the main sources of Cambodians income. The low living standards result in a lack of access to electricity, which affects 66% of the population in Cambodia. Thus, smoking as one of the oldest preservation method is still widely used in the country. Potential health hazards associated with smoked foods may be caused by carcinogenic components of wood smoke - mainly polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs). Smoked fish represents important source of nutrients for the Cambodian population. However, this also leads to an excessive intake of PAHs produced during traditional smoking of fish. Traditional techniques of smoked fish production in Cambodia had not been fully investigated. Therefore, a field study was conducted among selected smoked fish producers near Tonle Sap river in Kampong Chang province, Cambodia, and questionnaire survey within 5 provinces (Kampong Chhnang, Battambang, Siam reap, Kampong Cham) in Tonle Sap area, Cambodia. During the research, 23 samples from 10 producers were collected. Extraction of completely homogenized samples by Soxtec apparatus was followed by pre-cleaning by gel permeable chromatography (GPC). Analytes in recupered eluate were evaluated by high performance liquid chromatography with fluorescence detector (HPLC-FD) for analysis. Identification based on comparison of retention times with standards, quantification was performed by method of external standard. The study revealed that maximal limits (ML) for a sum of 4 PAHs and BaP given by EC 1881/2006 were exceeded between 2 to 60 times $(34.25 \,\mu \text{g.kg}^{-1} \text{ to } 597.75 \,\mu \text{g.kg}^{-1})$ and 2 to 50 times $(4.58 \,\mu \text{g.kg}^{-1} \text{ to } 119.45)$ μ g. kg⁻¹), respectively. Such burden can lead to an increased risk of development of carcinogenic diseases and other diseases related to PAHs exposure. Further investigation and research focused on concentration on the amounts of PAHs per gram of fish consumed or fat content is recommended.

Keywords: Cambodia, food chain, freshwater fish, pollutants

¹Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. Tropical Agrisciences, Dept. of Sustainable Technologies, Czech Republic

²Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. of Agrobiology, Food and Natural Resources, Dept. of Crop Production, Czech Republic

Contact Address: Tereza Slámová, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. Tropical Agrisciences, Dept.of Sustainable Technologies, Baranova, 13000 Praha, Czech Republic, e-mail: tereza.slamova@gmail.com

Traditional Smoking of Freshwater Fish in the Western Region, Cameroon

Felix Meutchieye 1 , Djoukeng Henri Grisseur 2 , Ngouyamsa Youssouf Jamilou 1

The West region of Cameroon has a high demand for innovative and healthy solutions for fresh water fish conservation. Smoking, drying and salting were the three fish conservation methods identified in the Noun Division. Of all these methods, smoking was predominantly (75%) practiced. An evaluation of socio-economical characteristics of fish smokers was conducted. The results of this study showed that fish smoking is practised mainly by women (70%) which is common in the Cameroonian small scale fish sector, aged from 20 to 50 years (80%), and married (91.2%) and taking care of a family of 1 to 10 persons (80%). These smokers are Muslim (74%), belonging to the Bamoun ethnic group (81%). They were also involved in other activities: agriculture (29%) and trade (1%). About 67% of the sampled population had an experience of more than 10 years. The purpose of smoking was largely sales (97%) and subsistence (3%). Oreochromis niloticus, commonly called Nile tilapia, was the most smoked species (36%), followed by Clarias gariepinus, called African catfish (32%). The average quantity of fresh fish smoked was 110 kg/day/smoker, with Oreochromis niloticus having a higher production level (60±4.74 kg/day/smoker). With regard to the smoking techniques used, hygiene measures were poorly respected. This study revealed that freshwater' traditional fish smoking activities in Noun Division are influenced by gender, economic and cultural aspects. Also, these activities are constrained by a lack of technical support material and financial means. Any investigations on the implication on health and food safety will be suitable for fresh fish smokers and the consumers. The environmental impact of smoking efficiency and methods on forest depletion is to be monitored and assessed in further investigations.

Keywords: Cameroon, continental waters, fish conservation, processing

¹University of Dschang, Dept. of Animal Production, Cameroon

²University of Dschang, Dept. of Rural Engineering, Cameroon

Contact Address: Felix Meutchieye, University of Dschang, Dept. of Animal Production, PO Box 188, Dschang, Cameroon, e-mail: fmeutchieye@univ-dschang.org

Alga and Insect Meal and their Effect on Monogastric Animal Meat Quality

BRIANNE A. ALTMANN, CARMEN NEUMANN, SUSANNE VELTEN, FRANK LIEBERT, DANIEL MÖRLEIN

University of Goettingen, Department of Animal Sciences, Germany

Access to appropriate feedstuffs improves the production efficiency of meat products; therefore increasing access to protein and vitamin rich food, globally. In most Western countries, soybean is the customary protein source in chicken and swine diets. However, the soybean market remains dominated by strong demanding (e.g. China, EU) and supplying (e.g. Argentina, USA) countries; therefore this feedstuff is not as secure for more decentralised producing regions, as exist throughout the (sub-)tropics. Currently, Spirulina (Arthrospira platensis) is being reincorporated into livestock diets in Southeast Asia and black soldier flies (Hermetia illucens) are considered an acceptable livestock protein source as they can be produced on-farm with manure as a substrate. Using Ross 308 broilers and Pietrain × (Large White × Landrace) barrows we ascertained the effects of Spirulina or partially defatted black soldier fly larval meal on chicken meat and pork quality, compared to the Western standard soybean diet. In order to achieve industry acceptable growth, the diets were supplemented with amino acids, where Spirulina animals needed to be supplemented to a higher level than the insect-fed animals, and chickens required more supplementation than swine. When diets achieved amino acid requirements, multiple meat quality differences existed for chicken. Live weight, carcass weight, thigh weight, pH20min, pH24h, drip loss, and lean colour of skinless breast and thigh cuts were significantly different between groups. Spirulina-fed meat had a stronger umami and chicken taste, as well as it smelled less 'animal-y' when cooked and insect-fed samples had a reduced adhesive texture while being chewed, as determined by a trained sensory panel. Few differences were observed in pork – differences included carcass weight, cooking loss (%), and pH45min, where insect-fed animals produced heavier carcasses than the Spirulina-fed, had a higher pH45min, and exhibited reduced cooking losses. Both protein alternatives resulted in meat with a stronger odour when cooked and Spirulina-fed samples tasted more astringent, whereas insect-fed samples were juicier. These results suggest that both alternatives could be integrated into monogastric animal diets, but further research should focus on the acceptance, especially poultry product colour, of these alternative products in local markets.

Keywords: Animal nutrition, black soldier fly, broiler, *Hermetia illucens*, meat-type chicken, pork, Spirulina

Contact Address: Brianne A. Altmann, University of Goettingen, Department of Animal Sciences, Albrecht-Thaer-Weg 3, 37075 Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: blovstr@uni-goettingen.de

Potential Application of Chitosan Nanoparticles Derived from Marine Fish Scales as Preservatives for Fishery Products

Inneke Fenny Melke Rumengan¹, Pipih Suptijah², Stenly Wullur¹, Aldian Hein Luntungan³, Falen Billy Sandana², Netty Salindeho¹

The establishment of nanotechnology to convert raw biomass material to useful lower weight molecules is potentially applied to produce chitosan nanoparticles as a food additive and preservative. This study aims to develop chitosan and its nanoparticles derived from chitin of different marine fish species as nutraceuticals for improving food quality, in particular as natural preservatives for fishery products by evaluating its nutritional values and antibacterial properties. The fish scales wastes of five marine fish species were used as raw materials for chemical extraction of chitin and further processed to become chitosan following the standard steps of deproteination, demineralisation and deacetyation. Chitosan was molecularly proven using Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR). Nanochitosan was prepared by adding drop wise a tripolyphosphate-pentasodium solution to chitosan solutions under stirring. Results of compositional analysis of the fish scales revealed that protein content was high (25-32%), as well ashes (36-45%) which attributed to minerals, while carbohydrates (12–19%), and fat (4–7%). Chitin yields (%) ranged from 17 to 61%. Chitosan is a derivative of chitin if the percentage of diacetyl degree exceeds 50 % The absorption bands of FTIR of chitosan were within the range of standard chitosan. Nanoparticles of chitosan were obtained as particulate dispersions or solid particles with a size in the range of 255 to 438 nm. Nanoparticles of chitosan were sprayed onto the surface of the fishery products. Improved nutritional value of the nanoparticle coated products and its antibacterial ability have been proven. Nutraceutical applications of chitosan nanoparticles are discussed along with considering variation in the type of fishery products and storage duration.

Keywords: Chitosan, fish scales, fishery products, nanoparticles, preservatives

ID 328 391

¹University of Sam Ratulangi Manado, Fisheries and Marine Science, Indonesia

²Bogor Agriculture Institute, Fisheries and Marine Science, Indonesia

³ University of Sam Ratulangi Manado, Food Science, Indonesia

Contact Address: Stenly Wullur, University of Sam Ratulangi Manado, Fisheries and Marine Science, Jln.kampus Unsrat, 95115 Manado, Indonesia, e-mail: stenlywullur@unsrat.ac.id

Current Status of Pre-Slaughter, Slaughtering and Post-Slaughter Handling Practices Affecting the Quality of Fresh Meat in Pastoral Areas of Kenya

OLIVER CHANZU, CATHERINE KUNYANGA, JASPER IMUNGI University of Nairobi, Department of Food Science, Nutrition and Technology, Kenya

Meat quality and safety is dependent on proper pre- and post-slaughter handling practices in abattoirs and meat outlets. The meat value chain in Kenya is challenged with a myriad of problems due to poor pre-slaughter, slaughtering and post-slaughter processes. Poor practices can lead to serious contamination and spoilage of meat and meat products. These losses in the meat value chain predispose the livestock communities who are majorly dependent on pastoralism to food and nutritional insecurity as well as loss of income. There is limited data and knowledge gap with regards to postharvest handling and preservation of meat in Kenya especially the pastoral regions. Hence the need for these present findings. This study was, therefore, designed to analyse and validate pre- and post-slaughter handling practices that contribute to the poor quality and safety of meat and meat products in Kenya. Mixed research methods using a pretested structured questionnaire, key informants interviews and focus group discussion were used to collect data from four pastoral counties including Marsabit, Turkana, Garissa and Kajiado counties. The selected livestock facilities included abattoirs, slaughter houses, butcheries, and other meat selling outlets. The findings of the study shown that 90% of the selected facilities involved in meat production and processing have poor handling practices. About 40% of the meat operators in Nairobi had poor hand washing practices with personnel from facilities in pastoral regions indicating 60 % non-compliance to hand washing. Results also show that 65 % of the personnel operating in the meat facilities were not using personnel protective clothing in Nairobi and 88 % in pastoral areas. Poor transportation practices were shown with 38% of meat being transported in metallic boxes mounted on a motorbike in urban towns while 26% in boxes mounted on bicycles in rural pastoral areas. Meat quality deterioration was caused mainly by unhygienic handling practices (80%). In the slaughter operations, extreme hot weather conditions, inadequate water supply, long distances and lack of refrigeration facilities accelerated spoilage. To enhance the meat safety and quality, interventions are required along the hot spots identified along the meat value chain in Kenya. The adherence to best practices in meat production and practices can lead to better meat quality and competitive market prices for meat products in Kenya.

Keywords: Microbial contamination, post-slaughter, pastoral regions, slaughtering

Contact Address: Catherine Kunyanga, University of Nairobi, Department of Food Science, Nutrition and Technology, 29053-00625, Kangemi, Kenya, e-mail: ckunyanga@uonbi.ac.ke

Intelligently Designed Electrochemical Platform for the Detection of Food Contaminants

SUZAN EL-AKAAD^{1,2}, MONA ALI MOHAMED², NATALIA BELOGLAZOVA¹, SARAH DE SAEGER¹

Food safety is a challenge to human health worldwide and specifically in developing countries. Continuous monitoring of food contaminants through novel and sensitive analytical techniques is a must to ensure food safety. Among these contaminants are veterinary drugs broadly used by veterinarians to control farm animal diseases. These drugs and their metabolites are usually carried over to edible animal tissues, eventually imposing negative health effects on consumers. The European Union (EU) has established a set of maximum residual limits (MRLs) for veterinary drugs and other food contaminants. Detection of food contaminants mainly depends on separation techniques such as liquid or gas chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry or immunological interaction assays, such as enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. Despite being sensitive and specific, all these techniques require expensive equipment and highly trained personnel, which limit their applications in developing countries with poorly equipped facilities and specialists. To overcome this, nanomaterial-based biosensors have been proposed as a rapid, sensitive, efficient and portable alternative to traditional detection techniques. In the present work, we demonstrate a novel electrochemical sensor fabrication technique for trace determination of diminazene, a veterinary drug commonly used in dairy animals and present in their milk. The MRL set by the EU for the presence of this compound in milk is 150 μ g L⁻¹. The new sensor has been fabricated using nickel ferrite nanoparticles (NiFe₂O₄) modifying the carbon paste electrode (CPE), together with an ionic liquid. The modified CPE showed a synergic effect toward the oxidation of diminazene. The prepared nanoparticles were investigated and characterized using different techniques, and the described voltammetric technique was optimized and validated. Under optimal conditions, the sensor showed a sensitive response to diminazene over a wide linear range. Finally, the developed method was used to quantify traces of diminazene in milk samples.

Keywords: Carbon paste, electrochemical detection, food contaminants, nickel ferrite nanoparticles, voltammetric sensor

ID 769 393

¹Ghent University, Bioanalysis Department, Belgium

²Pharmaceutical Chemistry Department, National Organization for Drug Control and Research, Egypt

Contact Address: Suzan El-Akaad, Ghent University, Bioanalysis Department, Ghent, Belgium, e-mail: suzan.elakaad@ugent.be

The Uneven Spread of Private Food Quality Standards Over Space and Time

INSA FLACHSBARTH, NINA GRASSNICK, BERNHARD BRÜMMER University of Goettingen, Dept. of Agricultural Economics and Rural Development, Germany

In response to discerning consumers worldwide, retailers increasingly demand compliance of stringent standards with requirements for food quality and safety, for environmental sustainability and for labour standards. The GlobalG.A.P. standard, being the most prominent global private agri-food pre-farm gate process standard, increased by almost six folds between the mid-1990s and 2011. As a result, many agricultural producers across the world are embracing GlobalGAP as an entry ticket to highvalue (mostly) European and US markets. However, over the last two decades, also in developing countries, the retail-sector has undergone a tremendous transformation from traditional retail systems to modern grocery stores. Market power structures of retailers versus farmers make compliance by farmers in developed and developing countries de-facto mandatory to access high-value markets. However, the global spread of important certification schemes is highly unequal. While some regions perform well in adjusting to the sector's transformation, other world regions lag behind and show low certification rates of farmers. These unequal patterns of the global diffusion of food quality standards remain poorly understood, as neither the underlying macroeconomic determinants of standard adoption nor the dynamics over time have been thoroughly investigated. The study seeks to fill this research gap and find the country-level factors that explain this uneven spread, conceptually grounding on the theoretic field of organisational innovations. Findings show that the degree of supermarket distribution in a country and governance structures explain why countries can enter certification markets for the first time. A favourable business environment, high quality of infrastructure, and existing strict public regulations explain an intensification of certification rates. These findings provide important policy implications. To promote the further expansion of certification within countries, public and private investments in modern retail systems seem an appropriate means. Moreover, connecting rural production areas to urban centres by infrastructure investments should help to further spread private food standards.

Keywords: Certification, diffusion of innovations, global value chains, GlobalGAP, market access, private food standards

Contact Address: Insa Flachsbarth, University of Goettingen, Dept. of Agricultural Economics and Rural Development, Heinrich-Düker-Weg 12, 37073 Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: insa.flachsbarth@agr.uni-goettingen.de

Small-Scale Post-Harvest Processing of Underutilised Fruits and Vegetables – A Framework for Assessing Economic Viability

Bastian Lange, Sharvari Raut, Brendan W. Rice, Oliver Hensel, Barbara Sturm

University of Kassel, Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering, Germany

Over recent years, a growing body of research has pointed towards the great potential in processing underutilised fruits and vegetables (UFV) into highly nutritious food products, to prevent micronutrient deficiencies among vulnerable populations in sub-Saharan Africa. Approaches which tap into this potential, however, have not been adopted at a significant scale by smallholder farmers and rural entrepreneurs in Western Africa. Consequently, post-harvest losses remain high and traditional processing methods, such as sun drying, which tend to adversely affect the quality and safety of food products, continue to be the most prevalent form of food processing. A key limitation in the dissemination and uptake of modern processing for underutilised species is the lack of information on market barriers, as well as economically viable and context appropriate business models. Based on an extensive literature review, key market and economic barriers for small-scale renewable energy driven processing of UFV in Western Africa have been identified and a preliminary theoretical framework for the assessment of economic viability developed. Results point towards an often insufficient understanding of customer preferences as a major source of overestimation of willingness to pay and demand development for high-nutrient processed foods, as consumption of UFV often varies widely throughout countries and reliable data are rarely available. Short, pronounced harvest seasons for UFV pose key considerations for the economic viability of small-scale processing. Based on the availability of UFV, processors are oftentimes required to produce a large share of their annual production during a short time window following rainy seasons. Apart from cash flow and storage constraints, this can result in a business model which conflicts with the economics of renewable energy driven technologies, whose high investment costs and near zero running costs dictate a maximisation of annual capacity utilisation. In a next step, the developed framework will be verified using data from Nigeria and Sierra Leone, collected through semi-structured interviews with UFV traders and local farmers. Results will be used to inform the development of context appropriate business models within UPGRADE Plus, a BMEL funded research project on decentralised post-harvest processing of UFV to promote food and nutrition security in Western Africa.

Keywords: Business models, decentralised renewable energy technologies, economic viability, market barriers, post-harvest processing, underutilised fruits and vegetables

ID 414 395

Contact Address: Bastian Lange, University of Kassel, Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering, Nordbahnhofstr. 1a, 37213 Witzenhausen, Germany, e-mail: bastian.lange@uni-kassel.de

Postharvest Handling Factors Affecting Antioxidant Content of Horticultural Plants: A Review

Flora Josiane Chadare¹, Castro Rodrigue Gbèdomon², Umezuruike Linus Opara³, Anita Linnemann⁴

Nutritional guidelines recommend high consumption of fruits and vegetables as protective against cardiovascular diseases, different types of cancer. Intended to reduce loss and maintain quality of fruits and vegetables till the consumption, postharvest techniques including storage (temperature, time and humidity), fresh cut, modified/controlled atmosphere packaging and chemical treatments perform differently, affecting the quality and antioxidant properties of fruits and vegetables during the postharvest handling. This review aimed to document and highlights the effect of some postharvest handling factors on the antioxidant content of horticultural plants. The review showed that low storage temperature is in favour with vitamin C retention. Temperature effect on antioxidant capacity varies according to fresh produce. Though fresh cut is a convenient practice, it negatively affects vitamin C content of fruit and vegetable except for pineapple. Carotenoids seem more stable though some mild reduction effect can be observed in selected fruit as induced by fresh-cut practices. Controlled/Modified atmosphere may be considered as a good way to monitor vitamin C content in fruit and vegetable. Total phenolic content tends to remain constant or increase with storage in modified atmosphere packaging (MAP). The review suggests that postharvest handling is performed in conditions that preserve maximum nutrients and antioxidants. There is a need to put research effort in investigating the effect of the postharvest techniques on antioxidants of typically local African food resources which have been given little attention in the past despite of their high nutritional advantages. This would help people of this region, especially those in rural areas who heavily depend on the local food resources to maintain an acceptable food diet during the lean seasons; hence contributing to the global goal of food security.

Keywords: Antioxidants, fruits and vegetables, post harvest handling

¹University of Abomey-Calavi, Laboratory of Food Science, Benin

²University of Abomey-Calavi, Laboratory of Biomathematics and Forest Estimations, Benin

³University of Stellenbosch, Postharvest Technology Laboratory, South Africa

⁴Wageningen University and Research, Food Quality and Design, The Netherlands

Contact Address: Flora Josiane Chadare, University of Abomey-Calavi, Laboratory of Food Science, Abomey-Calavi, Benin, e-mail: fchadare@gmail.com

Quality Changes of Different Varieties of Sweetpotato under Curing Condition

ROSALIZAN MD SALEH¹, NURUL AFZA KARIM², OLIVER HENSEL¹, BARBARA STURM¹

Sweetpotato (Ipomoea batatas) has become an important cash crop that is commercially planted in Malaysia. Most sweetpotato varieties in Malaysia are marketed in fresh form. Proper postharvest handling techniques must be applied to ensure that the quality of harvested tubers is preserved along the marketing chain. Based on this current situation, the suitability of adopting curing techniques during postharvest handling of Malaysian varieties of sweetpotato needs to be investigated. The objective of this study was to determine the effect of curing on quality changes of the Malaysian sweetpotato varieties of purple and orange flesh. The crop was harvested at 16 weeks after planting and cured for 4 days in a curing chamber at 29°C and 85 % relative humidity (RH). The results indicated that cured tubers had a minimal weight loss of less than 1 % up to 4 days of the curing period. Weight loss was observed to be highest for uncured tubers at 4.7% on the 4th days under ambient conditions. The purple flesh variety showed a higher weight loss in comparison to the orange flesh variety. Total antioxidant activity and flesh colour were stable and remained unchanged throughout the curing periods for both varieties but the total phenolics content was retained better at 44.56 ug g⁻¹ for the cured purple flesh variety as compared with uncured tubers while the retention of total phenolics in the orange flesh variety was 4 times lower at 11.093 ug g⁻¹ at the end of the curing period. Sprouting incidence for both varieties can be observed on the third and fourth day of the curing period and it was found to be higher in cured tubers of orange flesh variety at 4.00% as compared with 1.33% in the purple flesh variety. The texture of the cured tubers of purple flesh variety was firmer at 22.192 N m⁻² as compared with orange flesh variety at only 18.615 N m⁻². The study indicated that purple flesh variety had shown a better quality after curing than orange flesh variety. Curing for 2 days is recommended for both varieties due to better product quality.

Keywords: Curing, Malaysian varieties of sweetpotato, quality changes

¹University of Kassel, Agricultural and Biosystem Engineering, Germany

²Malaysian Agriculture Research and Development Institute (MARDI), Plant and Soil Science Research Centre.

Contact Address: Rosalizan Md Saleh, University of Kassel, Agricultural and Biosystem Engineering, Nordbahnhofstr. 1a, 37213 Kassel, Germany, e-mail: rosalizansaleh@gmail.com

Metagenetic Analysis of the Bacterial Community Composition and Dynamics in Fermenting Enset (*Ensete ventricosum*)

Addisu Fekadu Andeta^{1,2}, Dries Vandeweyer¹, Fassil Teffera², Karen Vancampenhout¹, Leen Van Campenhout¹

Enset (Ensete ventricosum) provides staple food for over 15 million people in Ethiopia after fermentation into kocho. The fermentation has hardly been investigated and is prone to optimisation. The aim of this study was to assess the bacterial community composition and its dynamics during enset fermentation using Illumina Miseq sequencing. To this end, three predominantly used enset varieties (Gena, Maze and Ketishe) were processed and allowed to ferment for two month in a bamboo basket, also called 'erosa'. For each variety, fermenting enset samples from days 1, 7, 17, 31 and 60 were subjected to high-throughput 16S ribosomal RNA gene sequencing via the Illumina MiSeq platform. A visual comparison between bacterial community compositions from different fermentation days (non-metric multidimensional scaling) showed that samples were highly dissimilar on day 1, both between and within different varieties. During fermentation, samples evolved to a more similar bacterial community composition and as from day 31 and continuing until day 60, samples from all varieties had reached a comparable bacterial community composition. The most important similarities on day 1 were the presence of a bacterium assigned to the family Enterobacteriaceae with a relative abundance of 22.9%, 28.2% and 17.7% and the lactic acid bacterium Leuconostoc mesenteroides (29.7 %, 9.5 % and 13.9 %) for Gena, Maze and Ketishe, respectively. In addition, the varieties Gena and Ketishe harbored the aerobic bacterium Nocardiopsis sp. (14.2% and 24.6% respectively) but this bacterium was absent in Maze. Another unequivocal observation from the metagenetic profiles was that the genera Dysgonomonas and Clostridium as well as Prevotella paludivivens were found in a very low abundance, but in a consistent way. Dysgonomonas is reported to cause gastroenteritis in immunocompromised persons. As the genus Clostridium contains pathogenic species as well as spoilage organisms, further research is necessary to elucidate the safety of fermented enset. Overall, Leuconostoc mesenteroides, initiated the fermentation. Later on, Prevotella paludivivens, Lactobacillus sp. and Bifidobacterium minimum dominated. These three species are potential candidates for the development of a starter culture to optimise enset fermentation.

Keywords: Enset, fermentation, kocho, metagenetics, starter culture

¹KU Leuven, Lab4Food, Belgium

²Arba Minch University, Dept. of Biology, Ethiopia

Contact Address: Addisu Fekadu Andeta, KU Leuven, Dept. of Microbial and Molecular Systems, Groanstraat, 2440 Geel, Belgium, e-mail: addisufkd@gmail.com

Influence of Cultivar and Plant Age on Cyanide and Protein Contents in Thai Cassava (*Manihot esculenta* Crantz) Leaves

SAWITTREE CHAI-AREEKITWAT¹, SAJID LATIF¹, BUSARAKORN MAHAYOTHEE², MARCUS NAGLE³, JOACHIM MÜLLER¹

Cassava leave is one of the major global wastes from the agricultural sector. It has a significant content of protein, vitamin C, carotenoids and chlorophyll. Recently, the utilisation of cassava leave in Thailand has been rare due to its toxictity from cyanide. In this study, the influence of cultivar and plant age on cyanide and protein contents in cassava leaves was studied. Four cultivars were selected. Cultivar Hanatee and Rayong 2 were representing a sweet type, while cv. Rayong 5 and Kasetsart 50 were representing a bitter type. The leaves were collected from cassava plants at six and twelve months after planting. They were harvested from the branch at seventh to ninth row from the top of the plant. Cyanide content and crude protein in the leaves were investigated. The results showed that in general cultivars affected the cyanide content in the leaves for both plant ages. The cultivar Kasetsart 50 had the highest cyanide content in the leave with a concentration of 2330.18 ± 152.08 and 2209.92 ± 162.30 ppm HCN equivalent (dry basis) for six and twelve months plant ages, respectively. When the plant was matured for harvesting its root (twelve months), cultivars did not show significantly impact on protein content in the leaves. The protein content in the leaves from both sweet and bitter types at crop harvesting period were in the range of 23.17 ± 1.37 to 25.61 ± 1.96 g/100 g dry basis. In contrast, the protein contents in the leaves from six months old plant were significantly different depending on cultivars. At this plant age, the bitter type showed higher protein contents compared to those sweet varieties. The protein contents were 34.82 ± 1.54 and 31.21 ± 0.98 g/100 g dry basis for cv. Rayong 5 and Kasetsart 50, respectively. The impact of cultivar and plant age on other nutrients such as vitamin C and carotenoids in the leaves is under investigated. The outcome will not only enhance the farm waste management but also introducing cassava leaves as a substitution source of protein in human nutrition for the cassava growing countries which are mostly under developed countries.

Keywords: Cassava, cyanide, farm waste, nutrient, protein

¹ University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²Silpakorn University, Dept. of Food Technology, Thailand

³Central State University, Agricultural Research and Development Program, United States of America

Contact Address: Sawittree Chai-Areekitwat, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstr. 9, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: s.chaiareekitwat@uni-hohenheim.de

Assessment on Carotenoids Profile Extracted from Mango Peel via Accelerated Solvent Extraction and Ultrasound Assisted Extraction

JOSÉ VILLACIS-CHIRIBOGA^{1,2}, K. ELST¹, M. UYTTEBROEK¹, S. VOORSPOELS¹,
JOHN VAN CAMP², E. VERA³, J. RUALES³

Mango (*Mangifera indica* Linn) is an important tropical fruit and is associated with civilisation due its nutritional and sensory properties. Phytochemical composition of mango has shown the presence of up to 25 different carotenoids, with a total concentration of around 200 μ g/g DW and α and β -carotene the most representative ones. The identification of technologies capable of isolation this valuable compounds is key for the valorisation of natural resources in a clean, efficient and low-cost manner. Therefore, the aim of this work was to evaluate the effect of Accelerated Solvent Extraction (ASE) and Ultrasound Assisted Extraction (UAE) on the extraction of carotenoids from three varieties of mango peel, an industrial waste presenting a potential source of interesting valuable compounds.

n first instance, five different solvent systems were screened in a two step extraction: (1) methanol, (2) hexane:ethanol (50:50; v:v), (3) hexane + ethylacetate, (4) hexane:ethylacetate (50:50; v:v) and (5) acetone:methanol (70:30; v:v) + methanol:dichloromethane (50:50; v:v); in all systems the mango:solvent ratio was 1:10 (m:v). The last solvent system, based on acetone:methanol, followed by methanol:dichloromethane was found to result in the highest total carotenoid extraction and was selected for the comparison of ASE and UAE. In order to extract up to completeness, both extractions were carried out for 45 min; after that, the solvents were evaporated and the carotenoids were re-dissolved in DCM prior to analysis. The results obtained through Ultra Performance Liquid Chromatography-accurate mass-mass spectrometry (UPLC-am-MS) showed that both methods are useful for extracting the same concentration of carotenoids; nevertheless, UAE allowed the quantification of a higher number of compounds. Overall, the results obtained provide a basis for the potential application of UAE as extraction technique for carotenoids, since it allows the use of a lower concentration of solvents, giving a character of "green technique".

This work is supported by: VLIR TEAM Project 'Improving Ecuadorian child nutrition by using mango by-products as potential sources of bioactive compounds' for the period 2017 2020. Escuela Politécnica Nacional del Ecuador Proyecto PIMI 15-05 'Evaluación de la biorefinería de subproductos de procesamiento de alimentos para la obtención de compuestos de interés industrial'

Keywords: Mango

¹Flemish Institute for Technological Research (VITO), Unit Separation and Conversion Technology, Belgium

²Ghent University, Department of Food Safety and Food Quality, Belgium

³Escuela Politécnica Nacional del Ecuador, Departamento de Ciencia de Alimentos y Biotecnología, Ecuador

Contact Address: José Villacis-Chiriboga, Flemish Institute for Technological Research (VITO), Unit Separation and Conversion Technology, Boeretang 200, 2400 Mol, Belgium, e-mail: jose.villacis@epn.edu.ec

Total Phenol and Antioxidant Potentials of Provitamin A Cassava Peels and Stem Extracts

Esther Ekeledo 1 , Bunmi Olasanmi 2 , Adebayo Abass 3 , Sajid Latif 1 , Joachim Müller 1

The economic value of cassava plant may be enhanced through a complete utilisation of all the parts through a reduction, recycling and reuse of residues/by-products. Thus, this study was carried out to evaluate the potentials of extracting antioxidants and phenols from cassava peels and stems. Extraction was made from dried peel and stem samples using 80% methanol and the extracts were stored at -23°C until needed for further analysis. Average total phenolic (TP) yield from the extracts were 584.52 Gallic acid equivalent (GAE) mg/100 g (peel) and 272.47 GAE mg/100 g (stem) and 1, 1-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl radical scavenging activity was 18.93% and 20.77%, respectively. The peel and stem extracts assayed by ferric reducing antioxidant power method had significant effect (p < 0.01) on the antioxidant activities ranging from 101.50–169.50 μ M TE g⁻¹ for the peel and 73–120.13 μ M TE g⁻¹ for the stem. The findings in this study suggested that the peel and stem particle sizes influenced the extraction of antioxidants and the samples particle sizes were dependent on the solvent, the incubation time and the antioxidant assays used. The presence of the antioxidants in the extracts is an indication of the total phenol content, 1, 1diphenyl-1-picryhydrazyl scavenging activity and ferric reducing antioxidant power. These substances can serve as valuable source of raw materials for food and non-food applications.

Keywords: Ferric reducing antioxidant power, gallic acid equivalent, antioxidant activity, provitamin A, radical scavenging activity

ID 893 401

¹University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²University of Ibadan, Dept. of Agronomy, Nigeria

³International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), Tanzania

Contact Address: Esther Ekeledo, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: enekeledo@gmail.com

Assessment of Iron and Copper Composition of Selected Underutilised Vegetables of South Western Nigeria

TOLULOPE AYEYEMI¹, JUSTINA ODOGWU², MARY KEMI IDOWU²

Vegetables are sources of nutrients, vitamins, proteins, anti-oxidants and fibre needed by the human body for growth. A closer look at the vegetable content of the diets in South Western Nigeria revealed that very few vegetables are routinely included in the diet compared to the abundance of vegetables in the area. This can be attributed to the inadequate knowledge of dietary and medicinal use of some of these plants. This study assessed the Copper and Iron composition of selected underutilised vegetables of this geographical area with the view to evaluate their nutritional qualities. The vegetable crops used in this study are: Ewuro (Vernonia amygdalina), Elegede (Cucurbita maxima), Ugu (Telfaria occidentalis Hoof), Woroowo (Senecio biafrae), Ebolo (Crassocephalum rubens), Ogunmo (Solanum nigrum), and Igbagba (Solanum aethiopicum L). The vegetable crops were grown on the fertility plot of the Teaching and Research Farm, Obafemi Awolowo University, Ile-Ife. The vegetable leaves were collected at three points of time and plant tissue analysis was carried out. The iron and copper composition of the leaf tissue were determined using Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometer (AAS). The result showed that copper content ranged between Woorowo (0.31 mg kg⁻¹) and Ogunmo (0.11 mg kg⁻¹) while the highest iron concentration was observed in Elegede (8.18 mg kg⁻¹) and the lowest in Ewuro (1.00 mg kg⁻¹). The concentration of copper in these vegetables is illustrated in a descending order; Woroowo> Ebolo= Ewuro> Ugu> Igbagba> Elegede> Ogunmo. The iron concentration of these vegetables is also illustrated in a descending order; Elegede > Ebolo > Ogunmo > Woroowo > Igbagba > Ugu > Ewuro. The study concluded that the composition of iron and copper in these vegetables are within the standard recommended for good health and therefore these vegetables are good for human consumption and could prevent micronutrient deficiencies in people who consume them.

Keywords: Copper, iron, Nigeria, vegetables

¹University of Bonn, Agricultural Sciences and Resource Management in the Tropics and Sub-Tropics (ARTS), Germany

²Obafemi Awolowo University, Dept. of Soil Science and Land Resources Management, Nigeria

Contact Address: Tolulope Ayeyemi, University of Bonn, Agricultural Sciences and Resource Management in the Tropics and Sub-Tropics (ARTS), Bonn, Germany, e-mail: tolulopeayeyemi@gmail.com

Antimicrobial Efficacy of Lemongrass (Cymbopogon citratus) and Fingerroot (Boesenbergia pandurata) Essential Oils against Foodborne Pathogens

 $Jan Stas^1$, Kitiya Vongkamjan², $Jan Banout^1$

The consumption of ready-to-eat meat products such as sausages, meatloaf, dried meat and cakes is increasing mainly in developing countries. Meat is still one of the most important components of human diet due to its high protein content. However, the risk of contamination with foodborne pathogens from poorly processed and stored meat products, such as salmonellosis, Escherichia coli and other pathogens pose a great health hazard that needs to be controlled. Presently, these pathogens are being controlled with the aid of synthetic or natural preservatives. However, concerns about the safety of chemical additives (such as chlorides, nitrites, sulphites, etc.) have been on the rise at an alarming rate in recent years. As a consequence, consumers are progressively demanding the use of natural products as alternative for synthetic preservatives. Thus, this study investigates the potential of essential oils of Lemongrass (Cymbopogon citratus) and Fingerroot (Boesenbergia pandurata) as a natural preservative to control four common foodborne pathogens (Listeria monocytogenes, Staphylococcus aureus, Escherichia coli and Salmonella Enteretidis) in vitro. Firstly, the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) and minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) was measured using the multiple tube dilution method and colony-forming assay, respectively. Secondly, a storage assay was conducted, wherein different concentrations (MIC, 2xMIC, 4xMIC) of the essential oils were tested for their effectiveness at two different storage temperatures; refrigerated temperature (4°C) and room temperature (25°C) for five days. Results indicated that both essential oils manifested antibacterial activity against all tested pathogens at both storage conditions mentioned above. The MIC at 4°C varied from 0.03 to 0.25% and at 25°C varied from 0.06 to 0.50 %. Lemongrass EO showed lower MIC and MBC than fingerroot EO against all tested bacteria. This study suggests the potential usage of natural essential oils as antimicrobial preservatives, which could be used as alternative additives in foods.

Keywords: Antibacterial, essential oil, fingerroot, lemongrass, natural preservatives

ID 96 403

¹Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Faculty of Tropical AgriSciences, Czech Republic

²Prince of Songkla University, Fac. of Agro-industry, Thailand

Contact Address: Jan Stas, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Faculty of Tropical AgriSciences, Kamycka 129, 16500 Prague 6 - Suchdol, Czech Republic, e-mail: stasovec@gmail.com

Performance Evaluation of an Inflatable Solar Dryer for Maize and the Effect on Product Quality Compared with Traditional Sun Drying

Janvier Ntwali, Steffen Schock, Sebastian Romuli, Joachim Müller University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

Maize is an important food source in Uganda, where the daily consumption is 52 g per person. Maize is often harvested at a high moisture content not suitable for long-term storage. Therefore, drying is a crucial process to slow down the activity of enzymes, bacteria, yeasts and moulds; and to preserve the quality before storage. Traditionally, maize is dried by spreading the grains on a surface under direct sun. In these conditions the risk of contamination is high and it is difficult to achieve required reduction of moisture content during cloudy weather. In this study, maize was dried using an inflatable solar drier (ISD) and the performance was compared with traditional sun drying in Gombe, Wakiso District in the Central Region of Uganda. The quality of maize, in terms of the contamination level of yeast, moulds and aflatoxins, was evaluated. The target moisture content for safe storage could be achieved in less than one day using both drying methods, whereas no significant difference of drying time was detected at p < 0.05. The ambient temperature during the field trials varied between 16 and 32°C, while ambient relative humidity was between 40 and 90 %. The maximum temperature inside the ISD could reach up to 68°C, which was around 25°C higher than the ambient. The variation in relative humidity inside the ISD depended on the ambient relative humidity and reached a maximum of 89%. Aflatoxin contamination was analysed and compared to the EU standard limit of 10 ppb. Some batches showed a contamination lower than the standard limits while in one batch. contamination was manifold higher. In general, the batches dried under ISD showed a slightly lower contamination compared to the sun dried samples. Application of ISD showed a great potential to preserve the quality of maize. A rapid and non-destructive method to determine the quality of maize should be developed for early detection of the contamination along the whole value chain.

Keywords: Drying characteristics, food quality control, food safety, innovative solar drying, mycotoxin, solar bubble dryer

Contact Address: Janvier Ntwali, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agricultural Engineering, Tropics and Subtropics Group, Garbenstr. 9, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: ianvier.ntwali@uni-hohenheim.de

Quality Evaluation of Hot Air-Dried Mangoes through Heat-Sensitive Enzymes

ADNAN MUKHTAR, SAJID LATIF, JOACHIM MÜLLER

University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

Mango fleshes has a great importance due to its rich nutritional value as well as being a good source of enzymes. Presently, different heat processing techniques are being used to preserve mango for longer shelf life. Drying at a higher temperature not only decreases the nutritional value of the dried fruit but can also cause the destruction of the enzyme active sites. Thus, to assure the production of high value dried product, a new system to test the quality of the dried fruit needs to be developed and drying techniques need to be optimised. In this study, the activity of heat sensitive enzymes (HSE) was estimated to test the quality of hot air dried mango. The selected mango varieties (S. B. Chaunsa, Sindri) from Pakistan and Tommy Atkins from the local market of Stuttgart were obtained and dried with a hot air oven (40°C, 50°C, 60°C, 70°C and 80°C). The system was operated in over-flow mode and samples were dried to the target moisture level below 15% (d.b.) with $a_{\rm w} < 0.6$. The differences between the variables were tested for significance level (α =0.05) by one-way ANOVA and Tukey's HSD post hoc multiple range test. During drying, the activity of HSE in all three mango varieties was significantly (p < 0.05) decreased (45–97%). However, the maximum activity of HSE (45-68%) was attained when drying at 40°C while the lowest one (3–13%) was at 80°C. From the results, conclusions can be drawn about drying temperature favourable for high enzyme retentions or for high enzyme degradations. The residual enzyme activity in the dried sample can be used as a parameter to provide information about the drying operational temperature and ultimately about the product quality.

Practical Application

The research work can be used in the drying industry to test the quality of the dried mangoes.

Keywords: Heat processing techniques, heat-sensitive enzymes (HSE), hot air oven drying (over-flow), residual enzyme activity

ID 174 405

Contact Address: Adnan Mukhtar, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Garbenstrasse 9, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: adnanmukhtar@outlook.com

Actors' Post-Harvest Maize Handling Practices and Allied Mycoflora Epidemiology in Southwestern Ethiopia: Potential for Mycotoxin Producing Fungi Management

CHEMEDA ABEDETA GARBABA, OLIVER HENSEL

University of Kassel, Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering, Germany

Maize plays a key role in household food security in Ethiopia, but its benefit has been negated with high post-harvest losses. This study was thus initiated to assess postharvest practices and associated fungi pathogen epidemiology along the maize supply chain in southwestern Ethiopia. The study was conducted in five purposively selected districts and a three-stage sampling procedure was employed for the selection of the target groups. In total, 342 participants from different actor groups were selected and interviewed using semi-structured questionaire. Maize samples were collected every month from 63 randomly selected actors for mycological analysis until six months of storage were reached. Survey results showed 10 post-harvest activities practised by actors. Post-harvest loss estimated to 31 % and loss during storage was identified as a critical point. Comparing all biological agents, loss due to fungal pathogens in the store ranked on top. Moisture content at loading stage could not increase the shelf life of the commodity. Germination test showed a significant (p < 0.01) decrease as storage duration increased. But, mould incidences on cobs and kernels significantly (p < 0.05) increased as storage duration increased. In total, seven fungal genera were isolated, characterised and identified, of which Fusarium, Penicillium and Aspergillus spp. were the predominant once. *Penicillium* and *Aspergillus* spp. showed a positive increment which requires a priority in attention for the control of those well-known mycotoxin producing fungi. However, Fusarium spp., decline as storage duration increases. Most of the post-harvest practices are not effective in reducing post-harvest losses. Especially, farmers' traditional storage structures can be influenced by external climatic conditions and are liable for the development of mould during the rainy season. This research, therefore, highlights the need to design/develop or modify existing storage technologies that reduce post-harvest loss due to fungal pathogens. Furthermore, post-harvest drying to obtain optimum moisture content is also crucial to reduce losses.

Keywords: Mould, post-harvest loss, post-harvest management, storage fungi, stored maize

Contact Address: Chemeda Abedeta Garbaba, University of Kassel, Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering, Nordbahnhofstraße 1A, 37213 Witzenhausen, Germany, e-mail: chemedaa@yahoo.com

Food, nutrition and gender aspects at the HH level

Oral Presentations	
CORINNA NIELAND, SAHRAH FISCHER, THOMAS HILGER, REGINA BIRNER, GEORG CADISCH: The Importance of Informal Seed Systems for Food and	
Nutrition Security in Kenya and Uganda	409
MICHEL TCHÈGOUN ATCHIKPA, SHÉRIF SIDY KANE, JUSTICE A. TAMBO, TAHIROU ABDOULAYE, AHMADOU ALY	
NBAYE, AFOUDA JACOB YABI:	
The Impact of Drought Tolerant Maize Varieties Adoption on Household Productivity, Food and Nutritional Security in	
Benin	410
PAIGE MILLER, KAI MAUSCH:	
African Gender Yield Gaps: Things We Should and Shouldn't Change and the Evidence to Differentiate	411
María Victoria Rojas Porras, Sara Del Castillo Matamoros, Luis Ramírez Camargo:	
Challenges and Opportunities for Food Security and Food Sovereignty in the Final Peace Agreement between the Colom- bian National Government and the FARC-EP Guerrilla	412
KATHLEEN BRÜSSOW, CHRISTOPH GORNOTT, ANJA FASSE, ULRIKE GROTE:	
Smallholders' Perception of and Responses to Climate Change – Evidence from Tanzania	413
Posters	
Wiebke Beushausen, Munir Hoffmann, Kingsley K. Ayısı, Thomas Bringhenti, Reimund P. Rötter:	
Homegarden Food Production and Diet Composition in Rural Limpopo Province, South Africa	414
LUIS POLANCO, ATHENA BIRKENBERG:	
The Phenomenon of Seasonal Hunger among Coffee Farmers: A Case-Study on Smallholders in Caranavi, Bolivia	415
ALISHER MIRZABAEV, DAWIT GUTA, GUNTHER BENSCH: Food and Energy Trade-Offs in the Nile River Basin in	
Ethiopia: A Household-Level Analysis	416

MICHELLE BONATTI, STEFAN SIEBER, CONSTANCE RYBAK, NYAMIZI BUNDALA, KLAUS MÜLLER, JULIANO BORBA: Contextual Factors of Food Insecurity in Rural Communities in Tanzania: Developing Social Learning for Community-	
Based Innovations	417
GREG SEYMOUR, HAZEL MALAPIT, ELENA MARTINEZ, RUTH MEINZEN-DICK, AGNES QUISUMBING, JESSICA HECKERT: Development of the Project-Level Women's Empowerment in Agriculture Index (pro-WEAI)	418
KINDAH IBRAHIM, TEREZA PILAROVA, MIROSLAVA BAVOROVA: The Impact of Household Head's Gender on Food Security in	
Syria	419
AMBAR PERTIWININGRUM, AGUNG SETIANTO, SUPRIADI, ALI AGUS, YUDISTIRA SOEHERMAN, RAMDHAN DWI NUGROHO:	
Mapping of Resources and Potential Development for Food-	
Secure Region in East Seram, Maluku Province	420
LUCY OWENS, FRANCESCO FACCHINI, ADRIAN STALLKNECHT: Gender Perspectives on Food Security in Sarawak, Malaysia:	
A Case Study of the Outcomes of Migration on Agriculture	421
UBALDUS J. TUMAINI, JOHN M. MSUYA: Household Assets and Food Access Security in and around Medium-Sized Towns in Tanzania	422
LING YEE KHOR: Behaviour in Agricultural Practices and Feeling of Low Food Security in Guatemala	423
SINDU KEBEDE: Food Security and Production Shocks: Panel Data Analysis among Indigenous Vegetable Producers in Kenya	424
DEEPAK CHAULAGAIN, PARSHU RAM RIMAL: Local Adaptation Mechanisms to Address Climate Led Food Insecurity in Far-Western Nepal: The Case of Badimalika	
Municipality	425

The Importance of Informal Seed Systems for Food and Nutrition Security in Kenya and Uganda

CORINNA NIELAND, SAHRAH FISCHER, THOMAS HILGER, REGINA BIRNER, GEORG CADISCH

University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

Smallholders are vital for food and nutrition security in East Africa. Seeds, particularly uncertified seeds, accessible via informal seed systems (ISS), traditional social networks and family relations, are important for local food production. ISS in particular, are robust, and can supply seeds even during crisis periods, in contrast to formal seed systems with certified seeds. Due to a severe drought in 2016, agricultural production was heavily stressed in Teso (Kenya) and Kapchorwa (Uganda), study sites of the HealthyLAND project (HLP). Both areas differ in topography (Kapchorwa being on Mt. Elgon, whereas Teso is relatively flat), affecting farmers' access to seeds. Therefore, Kapchorwan villages appear to have a higher remoteness than those in Teso. This study aims to compare the importance of ISS for smallholders' crop production and food security, under varying degrees of remoteness.

Four HLP villages in each study site were randomly selected. A second random sampling within the selected villages was conducted to identify focus group discussion (FGD) participants from HLP households. Two gender-separated FGDs were conducted per village. Participants of FDGs were asked for their seed sources and recipient. Additionally, guided interviews on seed sources and recipients were conducted with persons named during the FGDs (41 women; 16 men). Data was analysed using the nutritional sciences concept 'dietary diversity', by classifying seed into food groups (FGs). The number of crops per FG and the number of FGs a person had accessed seeds for was evaluated.

In both regions, the bulk of seeds came from ISS. Gender showed no effect on the number of species per FG, being generally small (n=1-2). Kapchorwan Interviewees had seeds for n=3-5 FGs and FGD- participants for n=2-5 FGs. In Teso, interviewees and FGD-participants had seed for an equal number of FGs (n=3-4). Proximity and access to trading centres had an influence on the accessibility of seed in both countries. In remote villages, either less seed was transferred or more actors were involved in equal numbers of seed transactions. Following drought, ISS were essential for seed provision. These can be fostered by establishing communal seed banks to secure smallholders' food and nutrition security.

Keywords: Access to seeds, dietary diversification, East Africa, food groups, seed systems

ID 336 409

Contact Address: Corinna Nieland, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: CorinnaNieland@web.de

The Impact of Drought Tolerant Maize Varieties Adoption on Household Productivity, Food and Nutritional Security in Benin

MICHEL TCHÈGOUN ATCHIKPA^{1,4}, SHÉRIF SIDY KANE¹, JUSTICE A. TAMBO², TAHIROU ABDOULAYE³, AHMADOU ALY NBAYE¹, AFOUDA JACOB YABI⁴

In the context of climate change, some climate-smart innovation like drought tolerant maize (DTM) varieties packages were disseminated on all the heard of Benin's territory, to increase productivity, yield, income, food security, nutritional status, and poverty. This paper examines the impact of DTM varieties adoption on productivity, household food security and nutritional status, using country-wide cross-sectional data of about 518 maize farming households in Benin. We used respectively per capita expenditure, food per capita expenditure, households dietary diversity score (HDDS), household food consumption score (SCA), household food insecurity access scale (HFIAS) as outcome indicators of food security and nutritional status and grain yield of maize as productivity outcome indicator. To identify causal effects of DTM varieties adoption on productivity, food security and nutritional status, three instrumentals variables were used. Significant differences in socio-economic and demographic characteristics between adopters and non-adopters of DTM varieties were found. To control such differences and to allow a causal interpretation of the real effect of DTM varieties adoption, we have estimated the average treatment effect (ATE). At the end, our analyses have indicated that adoption of DTM varieties adoption significantly increased household food security by 12 percentage points. This helps severely food insecure households to achieve acceptable food security status by enabling them to acquire cereals and tubers, pulses, vegetables, and fruits on a daily basis. There was no significant impact of DTM varieties adoption on productivity. Our findings point out that DTM varieties can play an essential role in fighting against food insecurity in Benin.

Keywords: Adoption, Benin, drought tolerant maize, food security, nutritional status

¹West African Science Service Centre on Climate Change and Adapted Land Use (WASCAL), Senegal

²University of Cheikh Anta Diop, Fac. des Sciences Economiques et de Gestion, Senegal

³University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Germany

⁴University of Parakou, Faculty of Agronomy, Benin

Contact Address: Michel Tchègoun Atchikpa, WASCAL (West African Science Service Centre on Climate Change and Adapted Land Use), Graduate Research Programme (GRP) on Climate Change Economics (CCEcon), Dakar, Senegal, e-mail: atchikpa.t@edu.wascal.org

African Gender Yield Gaps: Things We Should and Shouldn't Change and the Evidence to Differentiate

PAIGE MILLER¹, KAI MAUSCH²

While women comprise 30–80 % of the agricultural labour force in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA), their yields are typically 20–30 % less than men's, due predominately to lower resource allocation. Given that many countries in SSA are also facing food shortages, closing this gap by increasing women's yields has significant ramifications. One approach to improving women's production, thereby increasing food availability and possibly reducing global food insecurity, is encouraging the adoption of improved seed varieties.

Through a critical review of the literature discussing the extent and causes of gender yield gaps in agriculture, we argue that in order to accomplish this, not only will seeds need to be appropriate to women's needs, but women's non-farm commitments and time demands should also be addressed. The latter is especially relevant when considering evidence that farmers' efforts might be the primary determinant of observed yield differences rather than improved seeds alone. Indeed, a randomised control trial by Bulte et al. (2014) attribute the main yield difference between local and modern varieties to farmers' knowledge of growing modern varieties, which leads to changes in behaviour consistent with expectations of improved outcomes.

Applying a gendered lens to these results, female farmers' domestic responsibilities and agricultural and economic outcomes are intertwined through the relative efforts they can dedicate to each task. A woman's ability to cultivate a plot of land may be impeded by the trade-offs required, particularly in terms of available time and energy. Furthermore, if women redistribute their efforts from other duties or livelihood strategies, this will have latent consequences that should be considered. Rather than targeting women with approaches to adoption similar to the one used for men, tailoring technologies to account for women's responsibilities is more likely to improve output, without overburdening them. This may not lead to equal productivity but might be the optimal outcome given the trade-offs.

Keywords: Extension approaches, food security, gender, labour trade-offs, yield gaps

¹University of Wisconsin-River Falls, Sociology, Criminology and Anthropology, United States of America

²The World Agroforestry Center (ICRAF), Kenya

Contact Address: Kai Mausch, The World Agroforestry Center (ICRAF), ICRAF House, United Nations Avenue, PO Box 30677, 00100 Nairobi, Kenya, e-mail: k.mausch@cgiar.org

Challenges and Opportunities for Food Security and Food Sovereignty in the Final Peace Agreement between the Colombian National Government and the FARC-EP Guerrilla

María Victoria Rojas Porras 1 , Sara Del Castillo Matamoros 1 , Luis Ramírez Camargo 2

After more than five decades of internal conflict, the Colombian government and FARC-EP guerrilla signed a Peace Agreement in 2016. The focus of such agreement was the Integral Rural Reform (IRR) that builds the bases to solve the agrarian question in the country. The objective of the current proposal is to explore the challenges and opportunities of the IRR in the scope of the Colombian food security and food sovereignty. Through a qualitative aproach, using indepth interviews with different stakeholder which included Colombian government advisers in the peace negotiation and FARC-EP leaders, the most relevant topics related to the contradictions between the parties were identified and analysed. One of the main findings was the extreme disparity between the concepts of both sides. On one side, the FARC-EP tried to include the concept of food sovereignty as the base of the public policy of rural development, while the Colombian government was claiming for the food security as the way to supply food for Colombian people. The strategy to solve the divergences was the Right to Food, which includes elements of both positions. Related to food security the objective was the improvement of food availability, access, and consumption, especially in rural communities. Regarding food sovereignty, the goal was to include participation strategies in the different phases of agro-food public policies. The challenges for the IRR are notable. These challenges include the Colombian institutional weakness and the decrease of national budgets mainly due to the international oil prices. Nevertheless, the most critical threat to the agreement is the change of government in the current year (2018), because of the opposition the radical right-wing party, which is leading the presidential election. IRR becomes a new attempt to solve the historical debt of the Colombian State with its peasantry. In this sense, the participation of the civil society is decisive to succeed the Peace Agreement, as well as to promote the rural communities efforts to decide on their development process.

Keywords: Colombian National Government, FARC-EP guerrilla, food security, food sovereignty, integral rural reform, peace agreement, right to food

¹Colombian National University, Human Nutrition, Colombia

²Technische Hochschule Deggendorf, Germany

Contact Address: María Victoria Rojas Porras, Colombian National University, Human Nutrition, Calle 54 #59-79 Bloque 92 Interior 3 Apartamento 502, 110231 Bogotá, Colombia, e-mail: mavrojaspo@unal.edu.co

Smallholders' Perception of and Responses to Climate Change – Evidence from Tanzania

KATHLEEN BRÜSSOW¹, CHRISTOPH GORNOTT², ANJA FASSE³, ULRIKE GROTE¹

- ¹Leibniz Universität Hannover, Inst. for Environ. Econ. and World Trade, Germany
- ²Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research (PIK), Climate Impacts and Vulnerabilities, Germany
- ³Weihenstephan-Triesdorf University of Applied Sciences, TUM Campus Straubing, Environmental Policy and Resource Economics, Germany

Farmers' subjective perceptions of climatic change are not always in line with historic climate evidence. Validated or not: There is a strong link between farmers' perception and their behaviour. Therefore, local adaptation choices remain controversial, as they are based on these perceptions. The paper therefore tries to answer the following questions: First, what are farmers' perceptions on climate change, especially with regard to rainfall and temperature? Second, do these perceptions correlate with evidence from climatic data? Third, how do farmers respond and what are the factors determining the choice of adaptation? The analysis is based on primary household survey data from a sample of 900 farmers in rural Tanzania and secondary data from local meteorological stations in the study regions of Dodoma and Morogoro. While farmers' perception of a rising average temperature over time are generally confirmed by evidence from historic climate data, this cannot be said about rainfall. In the farmers' perception, rainfall volume over the year decreased, but climate data rather indicates a decrease in the number of rainy days and simultaneously an increase in the intensity of rain on these rainy days. This change in rainfall pattern can also affect the farmer negatively, however we do find that the link between farmers' perception and their behaviour is not very strong. Although farmers perceive climate change to happen and to affect them, still some famers choose to do nothing or only respond in an evasive way, i.e. in a way that will not protect them from future damage. Only a small share chose investment-intensive strategies such as irrigation systems. Factors on the decision to adapt to climate change are chosen based on the framework of Grothmann and Patt and analysed using logistic regressions. Results indicate that not only education or access to credit play a role, relating to the farmers' ability to adapt towards climatic changes. This analysis also identifies factors for the intention to adapt by including personality traits, such as extraversion and conscientiousness, and the experience of monetary loss because of climatic shocks. This approach gives a more complete picture of the farmers' adaptation choices.

Keywords: Climate change adaptation, personality traits, Tanzania

Contact Address: Kathleen Brüssow, Leibniz Universität Hannover, Inst. for Environ. Econ. and World Trade, Königsworther Platz 1, 30167 Hannover, Germany, e-mail: bruessow@iuw.uni-hannover.de

Homegarden Food Production and Diet Composition in Rural Limpopo Province, South Africa

Wiebke Beushausen¹, Munir Hoffmann¹, Kingsley K. Ayisi², Thomas Bringhenti¹, Reimund P. Rötter¹

¹Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Dept. of Crop Sci.: Tropical Agronomy, Germany ²University of Limpopo, Risk and Vulnerability Science Center, South Africa

In Limpopo province, South Africa, food insecurity remains a constant struggle for the rural population and many people suffer from vitamin A, iron and zinc deficiency caused by unbalanced diets. It has been hypothesised that homegarden systems show a high degree of resilience in times of climatic variability and enhance food security by increasing the availability of micro-nutrient rich foods. Currently, little is known about the role that homegardens play with regard to diet composition in rural Limpopo. Therefore, the objectives of this study were to analyse the food security situation in the study area as well as to quantify the contribution of homegardens to dietary diversity. Semi-structured interviews were conducted in 130 households of six representative rural villages located within the same climatic region. Each interview started with filling in a previously tested questionnaire and ended with an assessment of the homegarden, whereby the plant species diversity was captured. A total of six food security indicators with different recall periods were calculated. The household food insecurity access scale (HFIAS) categorised 41 % of the surveyed households as severely food insecure. In contrast to the food accessibility situation, the quality of diets was found to be adequate. As the food consumption score (FCS) analysis revealed, 87% of the households showed acceptable dietary patterns with regard to consumed food groups. Homegardens were a considerable source for dark green leafy vegetables (67% of households obtained those from their garden), as well as for fruits, nuts and legumes (36%, 35% and 33% respectively). On average, homegarden production accounted for 15% of the households' dietary diversity. Among the identified fruits and vegetables, there was a variety of food plants known for their superior nutritional content like moringa (Moringa oleifera Lam.), jute mallow (Corchorus olitorius L.) or brown ivory (Berchemia discolour (Klotzsch) Hemsl.). Households who obtained fruits from their homegarden showed a significantly higher consumption frequency (5.2 days per week) than households who acquired them from elsewhere (3.6 days per week). This study demonstrates the positive effect of homegardening on healthy diets for the rural poor in Limpopo Province.

Keywords: Dietary diversity, food security, homegarden, nutrition

Contact Address: Wiebke Beushausen, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Dept. of Crop Sciences - Tropical Agronomy, Grisebachstraße 6, 37083 Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: wiebke_beushausen@yahoo.de

The Phenomenon of Seasonal Hunger among Coffee Farmers: A Case-Study on Smallholders in Caranavi, Bolivia

LUIS POLANCO, ATHENA BIRKENBERG

University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics, Germany

Seasonal hunger is a chronic and persistent condition that significantly affects the most vulnerable in rural society. Infants and children are particularly susceptible to vicious diseases, such as diarrhea and malaria, in addition to growth and cognitive development complications resulting from poor nutrition and weakened immune systems. Additionally, adults confront significant weight-loss and suffer from anemia and diminished immune function, which is especially detrimental to women's fertility. Coffee producing regions universally struggle with many of the consequences of seasonal hunger. However, the basis for seasonal hunger among coffee households is not fully understood. The coffee-producing region of Caranavi, Bolivia is characterised by comparable poverty and hunger related health conditions, offering a compelling case to study this phenomenon. The aim of this thesis project is to raise awareness to this problem by examining the magnitude of seasonal hunger and key contributing livelihood factors among smallholder coffee producers in Caranavi. Principally, it seeks to identify the opportunities that enhance living standards and support livelihood sustainability by:

- (1) examining the phenomenon of seasonal hunger, its causal factors, and determining who are the most vulnerable. This objective focuses particularly on intra-household, gender and age related aspects of the phenomenon.
- (2) identifying and prioritising coping strategies to help households reduce their vulnerability to seasonal hunger and maximise their resilience.

A case-study approach is employed for this project, in combination with a mixed methods strategy to examine causes and responses to seasonal hunger. Data are gathered through: Participant observation, household survey, seasonal calendar, photovoice focus group and key-informant interviews. Regression models based on livelihood factors to predict seasonal hunger, and to formulate a farm typology analysis for the purpose of farm-targeted intervention are conducted. The results from this research will provide an understanding of the factors and conditions that allow for seasonal hunger to persist, in order to identify viable opportunities that offer relief and strengthen resilience to the cycle of poverty and hunger. This research project seeks to examine and recommend solutions to the problem of food insecurity manifested through seasonal hunger within a rural community inflicted with poverty and limited access to food.

Keywords: Coffee, gender, poverty, seasonal hunger, smallholders

Contact Address: Athena Birkenberg, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: a.birkenberg@uni-hohenheim.de

Contextual Factors of Food Insecurity in Rural Communities in Tanzania: Developing Social Learning for Community-Based Innovations

MICHELLE BONATTI¹, STEFAN SIEBER¹, CONSTANCE RYBAK¹, NYAMIZI BUNDALA², KLAUS MÜLLER³, JULIANO BORBA⁴

In Tanzania 40% of children younger than five years of age stunted. This situation is even more severe in remote rural areas. To safeguard food and nutrition security and sustainable development, projects put a strong emphasis on tailored nutritional education programmes. Education programs are more effective when local knowledge and problem perceptions are integrated into social learning processes. However, it is not clear which pedagogical process should be included to consider contextual factors in nutrition education programs in the context of sustainable development. This work aims to understand the contextual factors of food and nutrition insecurity, targeting community problem perceptions in remote rural villages in Tanzania, Africa. The methodological approach was based on three steps: exploratory expeditions; household survey (n 663); and pedagogical workshops (n 270) applied in four study cases. Our findings show that, despite the influence of biophysical environmental conditions (lack of infrastructure, and water scarcity), also interpersonal factors play a fundamental role in critical food insecurity situations (conflicts, beliefs, consumption practices). Although food insecurity was identified in all four case study sites as a significant local problem, the underlying causes and contextual factors of food insecurity differ in each one of the Tanzanian villages. Identifying local problems perception is a fundamental approximation to the reality of local population which the sustainable development projects propose to transform. The pedagogical process of codification and decodification of hunger situations are indicated as a key activity to generate nutrition education programme in the context of social learning to development projects. The findings can inform the policy planning sectors of food security in developing livelihood diversification strategies and educational tools for sustainable development.

Keywords: Freire pedagogy, nutrition security, sustainability

¹Leibniz Centre for Agric. Landscape Res. (ZALF), Germany

²Sokoine University of Tanzania, Food Techn. Nutrition and Consumer Sci., Tanzania

³Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Albrecht Daniel Thaer-Institute of Agricultural and Horticultural Sciences (ADTI), Germany

⁴University of Santa Catarina State (UDESC), Brazil

Contact Address: Michelle Bonatti, Leibniz Centre for Agric. Landscape Res. (ZALF), Eberswalderstr 84, 15374 Müncheberg, Germany, e-mail: michebonatti@gmail.com

Development of the Project-Level Women's Empowerment in Agriculture Index (pro-WEAI)

GREG SEYMOUR, HAZEL MALAPIT, ELENA MARTINEZ, RUTH MEINZEN-DICK, AGNES QUISUMBING, JESSICA HECKERT

International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), United States of America

Although there is growing commitment by agricultural development agencies and project implementers to women's empowerment, both as a goal in itself and as a way to improve development outcomes, there is still no clear understanding of how to include women's empowerment indicators in assessing agricultural development projects. Without such indicators, there is no way to know which types of project or project implementation strategies work to empower women and which do not. A recently available standardised survey-based tool, the women's empowerment in agriculture index (WEAI), has been widely-used to measure and understand women's empowerment and inclusion in the agricultural sector. However, the WEAI includes indicators that may not be relevant for all projects and excludes others that would be useful for monitoring project impacts. Allowing for flexibility in integrating project-specific questions into the WEAI framework will provide projects with more detailed and useful information for project design, monitoring and evaluation, while retaining both multi-dimensionality to capture indirect and unintended impacts and comparability across projects.

This paper details the adaptation and validation of a project-level WEAI (or pro-WEAI) that agricultural development projects can use to diagnose key areas of women's (and men's) disempowerment, design appropriate strategies to address deficiencies, and monitor project outcomes related to women's empowerment. The paper follows the evolution of pro-WEAI through each step of development, including: (1) how pro-WEAI differs from other versions of the WEAI; (2) the piloting of pro-WEAI by 13 agricultural development projects during the Gender, Agriculture, and Assets Project, phase 2 (GAAP2); (3)+qualitative work exploring concepts of women's empowerment in the project sites; and (4) analysis of the quantitative and qualitative data from the GAAP2 projects, including correlations of pro-WEAI with age, education, wealth and other measures of empowerment and intrahousehold patterns of empowerment. The paper concludes by discussing what we are learning from pro-WEAI and possibilities for further development of empowerment metrics.

Keywords: Agriculture, gender, measurement, women's empowerment

Contact Address: Greg Seymour, International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Environment and Production Technology Division, 1201 I St NW, 20005 Washington, United States of America, e-mail: g.seymour@cgiar.org

The Impact of Household Head's Gender on Food Security in Syria

KINDAH IBRAHIM, TEREZA PILAROVA, MIROSLAVA BAVOROVA Czech Univeristy of Life Sciences Prague, Faculty of Tropical AgriSciences, Department of Economics and Development, Czech Republic

Food security and eradicating hunger are gaining more attention from the global community. Together with gender equity, they form a priority on the development agendas of many countries including Syria. Entering its eighth year, Syrian crisis has severely affected agricultural sector and food production, leaving what was once a "self-sufficient" food-producing nation under the threat of food insecurity. UN reports indicate a significant disproportion of females over males in active population resulting from the conflict. With little evidence on the role of household-head's gender in achieving food security, the question that arises is if female headship can successfully replace that of males? To close this gap, our main objective is to examine the effect of household-head's gender on food security.

Primary data were obtained from a 2017 survey conducted by the Syrian National Agricultural Policy Centre. Some total of 1381 households were interviewed in 12 governorates. Food security is estimated based on the World Food Programme's Food Consumption Score (FCS). To estimate gender, we used the household-head's gender to reflect the decision-making process for agricultural production and food expenditure. In our sample, 72 households were female-headed, and in 40 of them, women were the "bread-winners". Taking the FCS threshold, only 0.6 % of households were "food-insecure", 6.6 % were on "borderline" and 92.8 % had "acceptable" food security level. We used the OLS regression to depict the effect of headship's gender on food security status, other variables such as land size and family size were included in the model. Findings suggest that being a female-headed household will decrease the FCS (p < 0.05), other factors showed no or little significant effect.

The analysis provides interesting results regarding the effect of gender on food security. They show, that only limited number of households are female-headed. Furthermore, they reveal that female-headed households are more food secure. The results provide first evidence, that there is a potential, not yet fully used, of female as farmsheads for increasing food security in Syria. In future research, reasons for low share of women as households' head should be further investigated to understand the problem more in-depth.

Keywords: Agriculture, food security, gender, household head, Syria

Contact Address: Kindah Ibrahim, Czech Univeristy of Life Sciences Prague, Faculty of Tropical AgriSciences, Department of Economics and Development, Kamýcká 129, 165 21 Praha - Suchdol, Czech Republic, e-mail: kindah.ibrahim@gmail.com

Mapping of Resources and Potential Development for Food-Secure Region in East Seram, Maluku Province

Ambar Pertiwiningrum¹, Agung Setianto², Supriadi³, Ali Agus¹, Yudistira Soeherman¹, Ramdhan Dwi Nugroho¹

East Seram Maluku Province is classified as the 2nd priority by the World Food Programme (WFP), a highly vulnerable region that should be improved. The aim of this programme was to develop Agro Sector Potential map of current condition, problems, threats, potentials, and strategic policies to develop food security in this area. The programme was focused in Bula district, East Seram, Maluku Province, through: 1) literature study; 2) identification and mapping of natural resources; 3) Focus Group Discussion; 4) field work and data collection; 5) data analysis; 6) development of program; 7) workshop. The results of this programme are a) characteristics of food insecurity (1) villages without connecting road, (2) high prevalence of underweight among children, and (3) ratio of normative consumption per capita to net cereal production. The livestock were still raised traditionally on natural pastures; b) Population potentials in increasing food security stated that members of productive age can fill the job opportunities, c) Program of food security improvement stated that the two target villages, Jembatan Basah and Rukun Jaya, have not yet developed a Village-Owned Enterprise. The main problem is due to the limited human resources capable of managing it; and d) The calculation Analysis of intervention to food insecurity indicator shows that the projected achievement of the implementation of food security programme for 5 years was able to reduce food insecurity priority of East Seram District from priority 2 (prone) with composite score of 113.34 to priority 4 with composite score of 72.98. Moreover, the ideal strategy to reduce food insecurity is to build a human-centered community based on a well-targeted and sustainable insight of local resource management referring to potential village maps as references for effective planning and efficient programs designed by the government.

Keywords: Food-insecurity, food-security, livestock, mapping

¹Universitas Gadjah Mada, Fac. of Animal Science, Indonesia

²Universitas Gadjah Mada, Fac. of Engineering, Indonesia

³Ministry of Villages, Development of Disadvantage Areas and Transmigration, Director of Developing of Transmigration Enterprises, Indonesia

Contact Address: Ambar Pertiwiningrum, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Fac. of Animal Science, Jalan Fauna 3 Bulaksumur, 55281 Yogyakarta, Indonesia, e-mail: artiwi@mail.ugm.ac.id

Gender Perspectives on Food Security in Sarawak, Malaysia: A Case Study of the Outcomes of Migration on Agriculture

Lucy Owens 1 , Francesco Facchini 1 , Adrian Stallknecht 2

This study departs from a case study of an Iban village, Munggu Sawa in Sarawak, Malaysia. It seeks to uncover the outcomes of agriculture and migration as livelihood strategies in relation to food security, and how these outcomes are influenced by gender. The study was conducted during twelve days interdisciplinary research and mixed social sciences and natural sciences research methods were employed. Our study shows that migration is adopted as a livelihood strategy by children from every household in Munggu Sawa (MS), and that this is case for both men and women. Nonetheless the reasons for adopting this strategy are different for men and women; men predominantly migrate for work whilst women migrate primarily for relationships. Outward-migration and the subsequent decrease of young workforce is resulting in tendencies towards de-agrarianisation and thus behaviour that is described in literature as being symptomatic of the erosion of agricultural practices. Thus, the role of agriculture is assessed, however in this case, agriculture is still essential for achieving food security as it provides both subsistence and cash income. Remittances are also significant to the livelihoods of several households. Another impact of migration is that elderly, and predominantly female villagers have been left behind in MS. These women are coping with their vulnerable position through using their family networks in order to receive remittances. However, their distribution is unequal. Lastly, crops are managed by both men and women, although the recently introduced oil palm may influence this, as its cultivation is male dominated and that female weaving practices represent an unrealised potential for income provision, due to limited market access.

Keywords: Adat, agriculture, coping-strategies, food security, Iban, livelihoods, rural-urban migration, Sarawak

ID 878 421

¹University of Copenhagen, Agriculture, Denmark

²University of Copenhagen, Anthropology, Denmark

Contact Address: Lucy Owens, University of Copenhagen, Agriculture, Hollænderdybet 32, 2300 Amagerbro, Denmark, e-mail: qlh196@alumni.ku.dk

Household Assets and Food Access Security in and around Medium-Sized Towns in Tanzania

UBALDUS J. TUMAINI¹, JOHN M. MSUYA²

It is widely established that household food insecurity is caused by lack of necessary assets to acquire food. The contribution of these assets varies from one household to another and from location to location depending on the options available, and the household's wealth status. The questions which arise are thus: (1) to what extent household asset ownership varies in places regarded as urban, peri-urban and rural? (2) Which of the household assets influence food access security in such areas? A cross-sectional research design was employed whereby a stratified random sample of 279 households was drawn along the urban-rural continuum in Morogoro and Iringa, Tanzania. Household food access security was assessed using the household food insecurity access scale (HFIAS) whereas chi-square test was used to test relationship between resource ownership and the location of the household along the continuum. Binary logistic regression was performed to determine the influence of household asset ownership on its food access security. It was found that asset ownership varied significantly among urban, peri-urban and rural households. Additionally, it was revealed that household food access security improved as household head's education $(\beta = 0.213; p \le 0.01)$ and number of household members earning income $(\beta = 1.115;$ p < 0.05) increased. On the other hand, food access security worsened as household size ($\beta = -0.408$; p < 0.05), the proportion of consumption expenditure on food ($\beta =$ -0.151; p < 0.001), and reliance on donations (β = -3.770; p < 0.01) increased. It is concluded that households asset ownership vary greatly among urban, peri-urban and rural households. Also, the influence of household's assets on its food access security varies along the urban-rural continuum. Therefore, households along the urban-rural continuum should strive to own mostly assets that enable them to produce or purchase enough food.

Keywords: Asset ownership, food access security, household, peri-urban and rural areas, urban

¹UONGOZI Institute, Research and Policy, Tanzania

²Sokoine University of Agriculture, Dept. of Food Science and Technology, Tanzania

Contact Address: Ubaldus J. Tumaini, UONGOZI Institute, Research and Policy, Plot 1131A, Msasani Road, Oyster Bay, Dar Es Salaam, Tanzania, e-mail: ubaldusjohn@gmail.com

Behaviour in Agricultural Practices and Feeling of Low Food Security in Guatemala

LING YEE KHOR

University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

This study examines the behavioural differences in agricultural practices of the households who worry about their food security situation and those who do not. The analvsis is based on the household survey data from 2016 of more than 2,000 bean farmers in Guatemala. The survey questions about household behaviour in agricultural practices include risk and ambiguity aversion on adopting a new technology, and frequency in sharing agricultural information and inputs with friends or neighbours. On food security, households were asked whether they were ever worried in the three months before the survey that the food in the household would run out. They were then asked whether the food actually ran out during that three-month period. Based on their responses to these two questions, the households are grouped into three categories: (1) not worried and food ran out (no to the first question and yes to the second); (2) not worried and food did not run out or worried and food ran out (no to both questions or yes to both questions); (3) worried but food did not run out (yes to the first question and no to the second). We use ANOVA to analyse whether responses to the behavioural questions are different among the three groups of households. Results show that both the "not worried" and "worried" groups share agricultural information less frequently than the reference group (group 2). On the other hand, there is no significant difference in seed and inputs sharing among the three groups of households. These results also hold after using a multinomial logit regression analysis to control for household characteristics, such as age, education, household size, wealth, land size, and household location. Even though direction of causality cannot be established through this study, conceptually it is likely that sharing information more frequently with the other households leads to more accurate predictions about own food security situation because the analysis outcome is true for both the "worried" and "not worried" groups and also for households with high and low food security. Therefore, information sharing could be emphasised more in future extension messages to the households.

Keywords: Behaviour, food security, Guatemala, information sharing

ID 625 423

Contact Address: Ling Yee Khor, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Wollgrasweg 43, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: lykhor@uni-hohenheim.de

Food Security and Production Shocks: Panel Data Analysis among Indigenous Vegetable Producers in Kenya

SINDU KEBEDE

Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Albrecht Daniel Thaer-Institute of Agricultural and Horticultural Sciences (ADTI), Germany

Acquisition of food and provision of adequate nutrition are among the basic human endeavours. Smallholder farmers in developing countries respond to conditions of food scarcity using various 'consumption-coping' strategies. For instance by changing consumption habits when they anticipate food scarcity problem. They could use short-term, easily reversible strategies such as eating less preferred food, or reducing portion size or long-term, less reversible strategies such as selling productive assets to buy food. Even though the long-term livelihood coping strategies are important, research has shown that short-term consumption coping strategies are vital and accurate indicators of acute food security. At the same time households in developing countries face various unexpected negative events i.e. shocks simultaneously such as drought, crop failure and unexpected heavy rains. The occurrence of these unexpected events aggravates the existing problem of food insecurity. However, limited research is conducted to analyse the link between occurrence of shocks and households' use of short-term 'consumption-coping' strategies. Therefore, this research seeks to analyse the effect of shocks on households' use of 'consumption-coping' strategies using panel data from indigenous vegetable producers in Kenya. We calculate coping strategy index (CSI) following Maxwell (2008) and use households reporting of shock occurrences in the 12 months prior to survey. The preliminary result from panel data analysis shows a clear and significant link between occurrence of shocks and use of consumption based coping strategies. This provides empirical evidence that shocks indeed influence acute food security situation of households and calls for informed policy actions to prevent the occurrence of these shocks to minimise their effect on food security.

Keywords: Food security, indigenous vegetables, Kenya, panel data, shocks

Contact Address: Sindu Kebede, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Albrecht Daniel Thaer-Institute of Agricultural and Horticultural Sciences (ADTI), Invalidenstr. 42, Berlin, Germany, e-mail: kebedesw@agrar.hu-berlin.de

Local Adaptation Mechanisms to Address Climate Led Food Insecurity in Far-Western Nepal: The Case of Badimalika Municipality

DEEPAK CHAULAGAIN. PARSHU RAM RIMAL

Tribhuvan University, Environmental Science, Nepal

The study was carried out to understand the food security situation and coping mechanisms due to an effect of climate change on food security of Badimalika Municipality of Bajura district in the far-western region; an acute food deficit district of Nepal. Literature review, household questionnaire survey to document primary data, stakeholders' consultation with field observations were the principle methods applied to explore the possible adaptation measures for securing food and livelihood of people. The research revealed that the district is food insecure for at least six to nine months of a year which is worsened by climate induced natural disasters: flood, landslides and drought. Sudden and unpredictable precipitation both in winter and monsoon has distorted the productions over the years. Considerable proportions of grazing land and forested area have been converted into farmland especially in the highlands. Migrating working class manpower to India to seek livelihoods is a menace to development in the place while seasonal migration in and outside the country is an interesting adaptive mechanism in the district. Drought resistant crop varieties such as finger millet (Elusine coracana), foxtail millet (Setaria italic), wheat (Triticum aestivum), and amaranth (Amaranthus sp.) are highly potential cereal crops that need to be promoted. Some humanitarian agencies with the support of the government of Nepal have been playing an important role in reducing the impact of food deficiency in the region. National food corporation district office supplies the deficit quantity of food to the people. The government needs to make agriculture the highest priority with increased investment schemes to avert the looming food crisis with emphasis to further research based activities through understanding the impact of climate change on specific crops and respective technological interventions, incorporating local adaptation mechanisms for disasters and climate change. Slow-forming terraces, conservation tillage, crop diversification, selection and promotion of drought-resistant varieties of crops, ecological pest management, seed and grain storages etc. are some technological innovations to be considered for enhancing food security.

Keywords: Adaptation, climate change, food security, interventions, migration

ID 189 425

Contact Address: Deepak Chaulagain, Tribhuvan University, Environmental Science, Jadibuti, 00977 Kathmandu, Nepal, e-mail: chaulagaindeepu11@gmail.com

Socio-economics

Adoption versus dis-adoption of innovations	429
Markets and value chains	451
Universities, networks and training	473
Towards sustainable livelihoods	501
	Markets and value chains Universities, networks and training

Adoption versus dis-adoption of innovations

Oral Presentations	
THOMAS DAUM, REGINA BIRNER, HANNES BUCHWALD, ANSGAR GERLICHER:	
Using a Smartphone App to Collect Data on Smallholder Farming Systems in Zambia	432
GREGOR MAGER, ULRIKE GROTE, ANJA FASSE: The Impact of Upgrading Strategies on Income Inequality in Rural Communities: Evidence from Tanzania	433
IRINA SOLOVYEVA, PHILIPP LÖW, IRMGARD JORDAN, M. GRACIA GLAS, ERNST-AUGUST NUPPENAU: Factors Influencing Implementation of Buffer Strips by Small-	
holder Farmers in Teso, Rural Kenya	434
KEHINDE AKINKUNMI ODENIYI, ELIZABETH J. Z. ROBINSON, CHITTUR S. SRINIVASAN:	
Agricultural Technology Disadoption: Why Rural Farmers Abandon Improved Rice Varieties	435
RAINER ZACHMANN, GIACOMO RAMBALDI: Training on Participatory Spatial Information Management and Communication	436
Posters	
THOMAS DAUM: Of Bulls and Bulbs. Using Drawing Exercises to Explore the Aspirations of Rural Zambian Youth	437
GABRIELA KUBATOVA, VLADIMIR VERNER: Undergraduates' Perception and Attitude Towards Traditional and Complementary Medicine: A University-Based Survey	
in Indonesia	438
CINTHIA PÁRRAGA LEMA, PATRICK VAN DAMME: Exploring Meaning and Values of Urban and Peri-Urban Agriculture through an Ontological Approach	439
JONATHAN STEINKE, BERTA ORTIZ CRESPO, CARLOS QUIROS, JACOB VAN ETTEN:	
Can Modern ICT Engage Farmers' Experiential Knowledge in Agricultural Advisory Services?	440

PHILIPP LÖW, ERNST-AUGUST NUPPENAU: Information Transfer for Agricultural Innovation: Lessons Learned from an Agricultural Intervention in Teso, Rural Kenya	441
ARIE HAVELAAR, SILVIA ALONSO, KEBEDE AMENU, DELIA GRACE, DIRK MAIER, DEON VAN DER MERWE, JEAN-BAPTISTE NDAHETUYE, EMILY OUMA, KESHAV SAH, JESSIE VIPHAM, YACOB ZEREYESUS, SASKIA HENDRICKX, MARJATTA EILITTÄ, ADEGBOLA ADESOGAN: Food Safety Research in the Feed the Future Innovation Lab for Livestock Systems	442
KHONDOKAR HUMAYUN KABIR, ANDREA KNIERIM, ATAHARUL CHOWDHURY: What Matters for the Job Performance of Field Level Advisors: A Case of Madhupur Sal Forest Bangladesh	443
MUZEE L. KAZAMWALI, JOHN ILUKOR, IRENE NAKAMATTE, DEOGRACIOUS OPOLOT: Varietal Choice and Adoption of Improved Cassava Varieties under Subjective and Objective Analyses. A Case of Malawi	444
MARTHA SWAMILA, DAMAS PHILIP, ADAM MESHACK AKYOO, ANTHONY KIMARO, STEFAN SIEBER: Adoption Potential of Gliricidia Agroforestry Based Technologies in Dryland Areas of Dodoma Region, Tanzania	445
CINDYBELL GAMBOA BARRAZA, GOEDELE VAN DEN BROECK, MIET MAERTENS: Adoption of Improved Quinoa Varieties among Smallholder Farmers in the Peruvian Andes	446
FRANZISKA STEINHÜBEL, NATHALIE LUCK, MICHAEL GRIMM: Do Indonesian Consumers Value Organic Rice? Evidence from a Willingness-to-Pay Experiment with Randomised Pricing	447
EXATUL EXALIEN, JULIEN DÉROY, ILSE ROELS, JOHAN SLIMBROUCK: Local Application of Integrated Water Resources Management (IWRM) in the Mosquito River Watershed with Focus on Vegetable Production	448

JOSEPH G. TUNJE, ANTHONY MAINA, KATHRIN MEINHOLD, DIETRICH DARR:

Farmers' Baobab (*Adansonia digitata* L.) Knowledge and Utilisation Practices in Kilifi and Kitui Counties of Kenya: Implications for Designing Information and Training Interventions

449

Using a Smartphone App to Collect Data on Smallholder Farming Systems in Zambia

THOMAS DAUM¹, REGINA BIRNER¹, HANNES BUCHWALD², ANSGAR
GERLICHER²

The collection of data on time use is very challenging in smallholder agriculture, considering the diversity of farm activities and the fact that they are subject to an intrahousehold division of labour. Yet, accurate time use data are important, for example, to measure labour productivity. The standard approach to collect time use data are recall questions in farm household surveys. There is evidence that this approach involves considerable inaccuracies. For example, a recent study has shown that smallholder farmers in Tanzania largely overestimate their working time when asked trough post-harvest household surveys as compared to when asked on a weekly basis. Recall biases can be reduced by increasing the frequency of data collection, but this involves major costs. The use of smartphone apps can considerably reduce these costs and increase the accuracy of data collection, because an app can allow farm household members to enter data in real time. Yet, such an app needs to be simple to use, considering the high levels of illiteracy in rural areas. To meet this challenge, we developed a picture-based smartphone app called "Time Tracker." After intensive pretesting, we applied the app with 62 households in rural Zambia. In each household, the head of the household, one spouse and one child received a smartphone for three days to record their time use and nutrition. This application was repeated five times during the farming season to capture seasonality. Altogether, approximately 2790 days of data were collected. We discuss the experience of using this app for analysing the effects of agricultural mechanisation on intra-household time use and on food consumption. In addition, we compare the time use data recorded with the app with data collected through 24-hours-recall-questions. Based on this experience, we discuss the potentials of using smartphone apps to collect socioeconomic and agronomic data on smallholder-farming systems in real time. We also suggest ways to combine data recorded by respondents through the "Time Tracker" app with built-in sensors of smartphones and external sensors, which will allow agricultural economists to use fascinating new ways of data collection in the digital age.

Keywords: Gender, labour division, labour productivity, mechanisation, nutrition, smallholder farming, smartphone app, time use, Zambia

¹University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

²University of Media, Stuttgart, Germany

Contact Address: Thomas Daum, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: thomas.daum@uni-hohenheim.de

The Impact of Upgrading Strategies on Income Inequality in Rural Communities: Evidence from Tanzania

Gregor Mager¹, Ulrike Grote², Anja Fasse¹

Current agricultural research aims to increase the income and food security level of rural households in developing countries by implementing upgrading strategies. However, further effects e.g. on inequality is barely performed. It can be assumed that improvements in household welfare may result in income inequality rising in a region with implementation research. Most of the existing literature is based on regionor countrywide data; only fewer empirical studies exist at community levels. The study examines a) the effect of income sources on income inequality and b) the effect of implemented upgrading strategies on inequality. We use a panel dataset including 820 households from four treatment and two control villages located in Dodoma and Morogoro regions in Tanzania conducted in 2013 and 2015 for the purpose of accompanying research of an implementation project along local agricultural value chain (e.g. production, processing and marketing). The study uses the decomposition of income inequality to detect different types of income sources and their contribution to income distribution within rural villages. The difference-in-difference (DID) method and propensity score matching (PSM) is applied to estimate the impact of implemented pro-poor strategies on the source of income inequality in the study area. First findings from the decomposition of income inequality show that positive welfare effects from self-employment activities and livestock production increase the level of income inequality within the treated households while income from agricultural activities, off-farm activities, remittances and public transfer show equalising effects on the income distribution. The overall income level of the treated households (n=486) has a significant higher increase compared to the control households (n=334), the treatment households indicate a lower decline in income inequality compared to the control households. The DID combined with the PSM will provide further insights on the determinants of these results

Keywords: Agricultural value chain, income inequality, rural communities, Tanzania, welfare

¹Weihenstephan-Triesdorf University of Applied Sciences, TUM Campus Straubing, Environmental Policy and Resource Economics, Germany

²Leibniz Universität Hannover, Institute for Environmental Economics and World Trade, Germany

Contact Address: Gregor Mager, Weihenstephan-Triesdorf University of Applied Sciences, TUM Campus Straubing, Environmental Policy and Resource Economics, Petersgasse 18, 94315 Straubing, Germany, e-mail: gregor.mager@hswt.de

Factors Influencing Implementation of Buffer Strips by Smallholder Farmers in Teso, Rural Kenya

Irina Solovyeva¹, Philipp Löw¹, Irmgard Jordan¹, M. Gracia Glas¹, Ernst-August Nuppenau²

¹ Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Cent. for Intern. Dev. and Environm. Res., Germany ² Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Agric. Policy and Market Res., Germany

Buffer strips are an agro-ecological practice that has potential to simultaneously tackle the problems of decreased soil fertility and to improve food security and dietary diversity. Nevertheless smallholder farmers are often reluctant to adopt this technique. The factors influencing implementation of buffer strips by the farmers in Teso, rural Kenya, were assessed by using a sequential-exploratory study design.

Focus group discussions (FGDs) with 30 farmers were used to gain knowledge on farmers' knowledge, attitude, practices and perceptions on buffer strips. The results were used to develop a household survey which was carried out among 257 farmers who had a kitchen garden. The aim was to capture the farmer profile, details about kitchen gardening practices and the extent and manner of buffer strip implementation. Only 55% of the farmers in Teso had heard about buffer strips prior to the survey. These farmers (n=142) were able to define the main drivers of and barriers to the adoption of this practice. Protection from animals (86%), food production (18%) and improved soil fertility (15%) were named among the most important drivers which also gained respectful rankings within FGDs. Similar factors were identified as barriers: providing shade, attraction to animals and reduced soil fertility for the main crop – ranked 1–3. These findings indicate that the farmers were especially focused on the direct, visible and short-term benefits.

Generally missing know-how was mentioned as a limiting factor by the survey participants. Other hindering factors were availability of arable land, land tenure, cost of seeds and labour constraints.

Most of the farmers had started implementing the buffer strips only shortly before the survey. Thus, they had not been able to observe the long-term effects like improved soil fertility yet. However, 'information brokers' might have put the emphasis on short-termed objectives and biased the farmers, accordingly. The development of an information system for farmers which would support the adoption of valuable practices such as buffer strips is needed. Communication skills are required on how to motivate farmers to also consider long term effects of their farm activities.

Keywords: Buffer strip adoption, dietary diversity, information transfer, soil fertility

Contact Address: Irmgard Jordan, Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Center for International Development and Environmental Research, Senckenbergstr. 3, 35390 Gießen, Germany, e-mail: Irmgard.Jordan@ernaehrung.uni-giessen.de

Agricultural Technology Disadoption: Why Rural Farmers Abandon Improved Rice Varieties

KEHINDE AKINKUNMI ODENIYI, ELIZABETH J. Z. ROBINSON, CHITTUR S. SRINIVASAN

University of Reading, Dept. of Agricultural and Food Economics, United Kingdom

The New Rice for Africa (NERICA) is an agricultural technology innovation comprised of high yielding rice varieties introduced to increase food security and reduce poverty in Nigeria and 28 other sub-Sahara African (SSA) countries. These NERICA varieties have performed below expectation, with more than 50% adopters abandoning them after only two years of cultivation in Uganda and Benin Republic. Despite over 60 improved varieties released between 1960–2013, Nigeria is still the largest rice importer in SSA and we have found no previous study investigating why Nigerian rural farmers disadopt improved rice varieties.

Quantitative data analysis confirm qualitative findings and three reasons are adduced for high rates of NERICA disadoption. Firstly, up to 100% government subsidy for certified seeds, chemicals and inorganic fertilisers lowered entry costs during seed dissemination project; but the withdrawal of these subsidies decreased continued NERICA profitability. Secondly, nationwide dissemination of NERICA in locations with low and unreliable rainfall resulted in high yield losses due to drought. Thirdly, farmers updated their information about NERICA. Without government subsidies, NERICAs were labour-intensive and more susceptible to bird pest damages resulting in higher opportunity costs. Combined, these three reasons reduced the relative advantage of NERICA over other existing rice varieties.

Furthermore, while agronomic traits (e.g. yield and tillering ability) of improved varieties determine yield, consumption traits (e.g. whiteness, taste and cooking ability) determine marketability and relative profitability which influence farmers' decision to continue adoption in subsequent season(s).

We conclude that to reduce disadoption rates of future improved varieties and enhance agricultural sustainability, rice breeders should prioritise varieties with desirable consumption traits. Dissemination of improved varieties should be guided by ecological suitability and not political sentiments for increased impact. Furthermore, access to credit, effective extension services and stable policy environment that facilitate availability and affordability of complementary inputs should also be enhanced.

Keywords: Disadoption, improved rice variety, NERICA, Nigeria, sub-Sahara Africa, technology adoption

ID 292 435

Contact Address: Kehinde Akinkunmi Odeniyi, University of Reading, School of Agriculture, Policy and Development, Dept. of Agricultural and Food Economics, RG6 7BZ Reading, United Kingdom, e-mail: kehindeodeniyi@gmail.com

Training on Participatory Spatial Information Management and Communication

RAINER ZACHMANN¹, GIACOMO RAMBALDI²

¹Ex-CGIAR (CIP, IITA), Phytopathology, Training, Communication, Peru

Land grabbing and disputes over land ownership are serious issues that affect livelihood of farm families, environment, economy, social welfare and human rights, especially in developing countries. Farmers often do not know the value of their natural resources and the exact geographical data of their land. Documentation may not be in order or does not exist at all, and farmers may not be able to defend their land against political and economic interests. In many countries, indigenous and other marginalised people are not well-engaged in effective policy dialogue on issues related to the territories they use, manage and occupy. The participatory creation of maps began in the late 1980s. At that time, development practitioners were inclined to use participatory rural appraisal (PRA) methods. The international conference on mapping for change in 2005 was a landmark event where 154 practitioners from 45 countries convened to discuss state of the art participatory spatial information management and communication and its potential, constraints, opportunities and threats. In response, the EU-ACP Technical Centre for Agricultural and Rural Cooperation (CTA) conceived a training kit on participatory geographical information systems (PGIS) in partnership with the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD). The English and Spanish versions of the training kit were produced over a period of two and a half years (2008-2010) with the contributions of more than 40 international specialists representing civil society and academic and development agencies from across the globe.

Use of the training kit by technology intermediaries, researchers, government officials and development agencies is expected to ensure that indigenous and marginalised communities participate in documenting, representing and communicating their knowledge, while taking control over the processes involved. The training kit, available online and on DVD, offers building blocks from which trainers can design and build their own workshops according to the needs of their audiences. The training kit includes 15 modules, each of which is comprised of units. A module is a comprehensive collection of training materials related to a specific topic. Each unit includes a number of components. A unit is the content to be covered in a single training session.

Keywords: Participatory geographical information systems, training kit

²Technical Centre for Agricultural and Rural Cooperation (CTA), ICT4D Innovation, The Netherlands

Contact Address: Rainer Zachmann, Ex-CGIAR (CIP, IITA), Phytopathology, Training, Communication, Malecón Cisneros 450 / Kapellenstrasse 28, Lima 18, Perú / 89079 Ulm, Germany, Peru, e-mail: rainerzachmann@hotmail.com

Of Bulls and Bulbs. Using Drawing Exercises to Explore the Aspirations of Rural Zambian Youth

THOMAS DAUM

University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

During the last years, policymakers and development-practioneers focused heavily on making farming more attractive for the rural youth in Africa. To reach this goal, different actions are proposed, often emphasising the need for modern technology and information and communication technologies (ICTs). These proposed actions are mostly based on anecdotes and prior policy beliefs, but not on empirical evidence since scientists have largely neglected this topic. This paper aims to contribute to a deeper understanding of the aspirations and perceptions of young people and therefore to the formulation of policy actions that fit these aspirations. Two research methods were used to explore the aspirations and perceptions of rural youth: interviews and drawing exercises, a novel method in this context that allows for both a qualification and quantification of aspirations. The results show that the rural youth has very diverse opinions and aspirations. In contrast to the literature, young people were found to reflect carefully about the good and bad sides of farming, rural and urban life, and of foreign countries. Imagining their future farm, young people mostly envisioned increasing farm diversity, using draught animals and applying more fertilisers. Few respondents mentioned the use of modern technologies such as tractors, and none mentioned ICTs. While it is difficult to generalise our results, the findings suggest that policymakers and development-practioneers need to pay more attention to the actual aspirations of the rural youth to avoid well-intended but misguided policies. The study also highlights the potentials to use drawing exercices as reserach tools. While our analysis remained mainly qualitative, the drawings of the respondents could also be analysed and coded with scores to calculate aspiration levels. Using drawing exercises both as a qualitative and quantitative research tool would allow for the generation of valuable insights into what young people aspire, both for policymakers and as indicators of aspiration levels that are interesting for researchers.

Keywords: Africa, aspirations, drawing exercice, future farm, youth, youth bulge, Zambia

Contact Address: Thomas Daum, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: thomas.daum@uni-hohenheim.de

Undergraduates' Perception and Attitude Towards Traditional and Complementary Medicine: A University-Based Survey in Indonesia

GABRIELA KUBATOVA, VLADIMIR VERNER

Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. of Tropical AgriSciences, Czech Republic

Complementary and alternative medicine (CAM) have been broadly recognised in low to medium income countries and good proportion of population still rely on it. Yet, these practices vary greatly from country to country and from region to region, as they are influenced by wide range of factors such as culture, history, socioeconomic factors or personal attitudes and philosophy. However little is known about practice among students who do not have medical background. Such information from South-East Asia, where CAM is substantial part of health care tradition are missing. To be able to effectively integrate CAM into formal medical healthcare the actual patterns of CAM users need to be studied.

The research is based on combination of secondary sources study and primary data collection in form of self-administrated semi-structured 21-item questionnaire distributed in selected classes to students of Atma Jaya University of Yogyakarta (UAJY), Indonesia over a period of 4 months from December 2016 on. The questionnaire's structure followed previously published studies about attitude and perception towards CAM for better comparison and summarisation of selected topic.

Demographic information was analysed through descriptive analyses whilst Spearman's correlation test, t-Test were used to define association and relation between determinants. Significance level was set at p < 0.05.

Overall 557 questionnaires were gathered with a response rate of 96%. Mean age of respondents is 20.1 (\pm 1.30) years old. The average number of known alternative medicine practices was 6.8 (\pm 3.5) for females and 6.9 (\pm 4.1) for males while the actual usage was only 2.6 (\pm 1.7) for females and 2.3(\pm 1.9) for males. The more practices students use, the higher their willingness to recommend CAM to others (CI 0.137; p \leq 0.01). However, friends' advice presented less than 1% the reason to start using CAM. Furthermore, behavioural changes in CAM information retrieval have been found.

Use of CAM practice shows similar patterns as in other studies. As students tend to continue to practice CAM and the factors influencing the decision-making process are widening. It is desirable to validate the security of available sources and formulate effective guidelines that reflect current healthcare requirements.

Keywords: Alternative medicine, attitude, health, perception, university

Contact Address: Gabriela Kubatova, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Fac. of Tropical AgriSciences, Brodského 3, 149 00 Prague, Czech Republic, e-mail: kubatovag@ftz.czu.cz

Exploring Meaning and Values of Urban and Peri-Urban Agriculture through an Ontological Approach

CINTHIA PÁRRAGA LEMA, PATRICK VAN DAMME

Ghent University, Dept. of Plant Production - Lab. for Tropical Agronomy, Belgium

Urban and peri-urban agriculture has been claimed by scientists as one of the most promising strategies to improve food security and nutrition in developing countries, especially benefiting the poor. However, in spite of its promising future as a strategy to improve life quality, it has still not reached substantial levels of adoption from local users as well as from policymakers. This research pursues to contribute on the understanding of the tangibles and intangibles values (i) that agriculture has for urban and peri-urban actors, and (ii) the values that agriculture has for potential urban and peri-urban citizens. A better understanding will contribute to identifying those factors that are hindering or strengthening the adoptability of this strategy across the different involved actors and why.

This research is contextualized in Ecuador, by exploring different urban and periurban groups separated by (i) adopters and (ii) non-adopters, showing similar levels of social vulnerability in the cities of Guayaquil, Cuenca, and Quito. Two research approaches and mixed methods are applied. For the group of adopters, an actornetwork analysis (ANT) -ontological approach- is performed in order of following those human and non-human actors through the "value chain" of the farmed products. For the group of non-adopters, a constructivist approach is used in order of building the meaning of what "they do not do, or they do not have". The main used research methods are (i) visual methods, such as eliciting photography and the combination of storytelling with individual drawing, (ii) individual interviews, and (iii) participant observation.

From a methodological perspective, the results from the "adopters" group show that the use of ANT as a methodological approach to making visible the tangible and intangible values that agricultural products have for urban and peri-urban farmers is successful. Since it makes possible to recognise the "food", "social networking", "self-stem", "empowerment", "agency", "health", "nutrition", values that the farmed products can have for human actors. In the case of the "non-adopters", the use of "anonymous adopters" and "own" photographs, and drawings elicited people to explore the potential value and meaning of the agriculture that "they do not do or do not have".

Keywords: Ontological approach, peri-urban agriculture, urban agriculture

ID 483 439

_

Contact Address: Cinthia Párraga Lema, Ghent University, Dept. of Plant Production - Lab. for Tropical Agronomy, Coupure links 653, 9000 Ghent, Belgium, e-mail: cinthiaparraga@gmail.com

Can Modern ICT Engage Farmers' Experiential Knowledge in Agricultural Advisory Services?

Jonathan Steinke¹, Berta Ortiz Crespo¹, Carlos Quiros², Jacob Van Etten²

Public agricultural extension systems in developing countries play essential roles in agricultural development. But they often face challenges, including budget restrictions, a dispersed rural population, and weak infrastructure. In response, recent years have seen growing interest in the use of modern information and communication technologies (ICT) for extension delivery. To date, many new ICT-driven agro-information services follow a rather traditional transfer-of-technology paradigm. Agricultural knowledge and skills, however, are often embedded in social processes, undergo transition, and are hard to formalise because they arise from context-specific experience.

Modern ICT might help to materialise farmers' experiential knowledge resources, which could complement technical information in more meaningful agro-advisory services. But capturing this knowledge will require extension to accommodate two-way information flows that systematically recognise farmers' contributions, rather than pure one-way dissemination of information. For this, ICT-driven information services likely bear underused potential: Many opportunities exist for recollection of users' feedback to extension messages, such as simple up- or down-voting, or recording more elaborate personal commentaries. Analyzing big data arising from users' interactions with agro-information services, including data on accessed advisory topics, timings of use, location of users, etc., may reveal patterns in agricultural knowledge use that reflect farmers' day-to-day farming experience. With appropriate methods, this experience could be exploited for social learning, evaluating the agricultural technologies currently promoted, or setting priorities for future research.

In Kenya and Tanzania, we engaged with farmers, agro-advisors, and researchers in an openended, participatory, iterative design process. We aimed at developing a new agro-information service that mobilises experiential knowledge through two-way communication flows. In our design prototype, farmers have access to a library of short audio messages about agricultural topics, recorded by advisors, researchers, and experienced farmers, through an automated telephone hotline. Farmers may voice-record comments and questions. Advisors may use an online platform to record answers and send automated phone calls to farmers' phones. Experiential knowledge may materialise by spatial and temporal analysis of keywords attributed to questions and harnessing farmers' comments for recording new podcasts. First insights from pilot implementations will be presented.

Keywords: Agricultural extension, experiential knowledge, ICT, information system design

¹Humboldt University Berlin, Horticultural Economics, Germany

²Bioversity International, Costa Rica

Contact Address: Jonathan Steinke, Humboldt University Berlin, Horticultural Economics, Unter den Linden 6, 10999, Berlin, Germany, e-mail: j.steinke@cgiar.org

Information Transfer for Agricultural Innovation: Lessons Learned from an Agricultural Intervention in Teso, Rural Kenya

Irina Solovyeva¹, Lydiah Waswa², Irmgard Jordan¹, Philipp Löw¹, Ernst-August Nuppenau³

Adoption and sustainability of agricultural innovations are highly dependent on information available to farmers; how it is packaged and disseminated to the end users. We have conducted a study evaluating the outcomes of an agriculture intervention related to buffer strips that was implemented within HealthyLAND project for smallholder farmers in Teso, a rural area in Kenya. This contribution presents and discusses main results and the lessons learned relevant for improvement of knowledge transfer.

The aim of the agricultural intervention was to promote dietary diversity through training of smallholder farmers on appropriate kitchen garden practices, specifically introducing vegetables and legumes as buffer strips. This intervention was supplemented by nutrition education aimed at improving diets of young farm families. Both trainings were performed by Community Health Volunteers (CHVs) who were trained by an agriculture expert and agricultural extension officers, yet on the agriculture intervention activities specified by a group of experts. Both qualitative (Focus Group Discussions) and quantitative (household survey) techniques were used to collect data to evaluate the outcomes of the agriculture intervention.

The outcomes of the agricultural intervention related specifically to buffer strips adoption within the HealthyLAND Project in Kenya were not corresponding to the expectations of the project team. Farmers were more likely to adopt the innovation if they felt being well-informed about the context and content. However, often farmers reported not being sufficiently informed about the benefits of the promoted agricultural practice. This could be attributed to the lack of agricultural experience of the CHVs but also how the training was planned and introduced to the farmers.

Thus, successful dissemination of the information is highly dependent on the qualification and experience of the one who transfers the information to the farmers. The way how the information is packaged and transferred is also crucial. The information should be simple to be understood (for farmers and trainers), complete, context specific and focused to attain the intended purpose. Universities need to offer specific training on how scientific knowledge should be better packaged for agriculture extension.

Keywords: Adoption of agricultural innovation, agricultural intervention, dietary diversity, information transfer

¹ Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Centre for International Development and Environmental Research (ZEU), Germany

²Egerton University, Department of Human Nutrition, Kenya

³ Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Agric. Policy and Market Res., Germany

Contact Address: Irmgard Jordan, Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Center for International Development and Environmental Research, Senckenbergstr. 3, 35390 Gießen, Germany, e-mail: Irmgard.Jordan@ernaehrung.uni-giessen.de

Food Safety Research in the Feed the Future Innovation Lab for Livestock Systems

ARIE HAVELAAR¹, SILVIA ALONSO², KEBEDE AMENU³, DELIA GRACE², DIRK MAIER⁴, DEON VAN DER MERWE⁵, JEAN-BAPTISTE NDAHETUYE⁶, EMILY OUMA⁷, KESHAV SAH⁸, JESSIE VIPHAM⁹, YACOB ZEREYESUS⁹, SASKIA HENDRICKX¹, MARJATTA EILITTÄ¹, ADEGBOLA ADESOGAN¹

The livestock systems innovation lab (LSIL) is funded by the United States Agency for International Development (USAID), through a leader with associates cooperative agreement award to the University of Florida. The duration of the current award is October 1, 2015 to September 30, 2020. The objectives of the LSIL are to sustainably improve livestock productivity and marketing and animal-source food (ASF) consumption using appropriate improved technologies, capacity development, and policies, in order to improve the nutrition, health, incomes and livelihoods of vulnerable people.

LSIL is funding 22 projects in 6 countries, of which 7 are addressing food safety aspects of ASF consumption. Three focus grants (1-year duration) address safety of milk and milk products in Ethiopia, Rwanda and Nepal, and three focus projects address mycotoxins in animal feed in Ethiopia, Rwanda and Burkina Faso. One research grant (4-year duration) is fully focused on food safety and takes a broad approach to collecting evidence to inform food safety policy in Cambodia. One research grant addresses beef and dairy food safety in Ethiopia, including aspects of abattoir food safety. One research grant assesses consumer demand for milk quality and safety attributes in Rwanda. All projects have started and are generating results.

The CAGED project, funded by the Bill & Melinda Gates foundation, studies the balance between improved nutrition by smallholder chicken producers and exposure of young children to chicken droppings, specifically *Campylobacter* spp., as a risk factor for environmental enteric dysfunction.

This presentation will provide an overview of livestock systems innovation lab, with a focus on the objectives of the food safety projects as well as their initial results.

Keywords: Animal source foods, beef, dairy, food safety, mycotoxins, nutrition

¹University of Florida, Animal Sciences, United States of America

²International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), Kenya

³Addis Ababa University, College of Veterinary Medicine and Agriculture, Ethiopia

⁴Iowa State University, Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering, United States of America

⁵Utrecht University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, The Netherlands

⁶University of Rwanda, Rwanda

⁷International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), Uganda

⁸Heifer International, Animal Well-Being, Nepal

⁹Kansas State University, United States of America

Contact Address: Arie Havelaar, University of Florida, Animal Sciences, 2250 Shealy Dr, 32611 Gainesville, United States of America, e-mail: ariehavelaar@ufl.edu

What Matters for the Job Performance of Field Level Advisors: A Case of Madhupur Sal Forest Bangladesh

Khondokar Humayun Kabir 1 , Andrea Knierim 1 , Ataharul Chowdhury 2

In the context of natural resource management, field level advisors are known as change agents and play a critical role in empowering resource users for joint learning and collective action. Their job performance is therefore important for achieving the wider objective of natural resource management. This study identified the factors that affect the performance of field level advisors in the context of organisational pluralism in Madhupur Sal forest, Bangladesh. This study uses quantitative methods and 87 field level advisors from nine organisations were selected purposively for data collection with a structured questionnaire. Four analytical categories i.e. i) governance structures, ii) organisational capacity and management, (iii) partnership and linkage, (iv) advisory methods from best-fit framework were used to outline the main factors responsible for satisfactory performance of the field level advisors. Besides descriptive analysis, binary logistic regression was employed to determine the factors that influence the satisfactory performance of the field level advisors. According to the results, organisational coordination, the existence of economic incentives for the execution of fieldwork, monitoring and evaluation of organisation on individually assigned work of field level advisor, total number of staff, in-service training, travel allowance, a reward and punishment system, computer and internet facilities for advisors, using group approach during field works, and interaction with forest researchers affect the performance of advisors in the provision of advice related to forest management. Our assessment provides a useful lesson for the existing advisory service providers to consider several factors to get better performance from their field level advisors.

Keywords: Bangladesh, best-fit framework pluralism, change agent, job performance, Sal Forest

ID 339 443

¹University of Hohenheim, Institute of Social Sciences in Agriculture, Germany

²University of Guelph, School of Environmental Design and Rural Development, Canada

Contact Address: Khondokar Humayun Kabir, University of Hohenheim, Institute of Social Sciences in Agriculture, 70593 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: kabirag09@bau.edu.bd

Varietal Choice and Adoption of Improved Cassava Varieties under Subjective and Objective Analyses. A Case of Malawi

MUZEE L. KAZAMWALI 1,3 , JOHN ILUKOR 2 , IRENE NAKAMATTE 3 , DEOGRACIOUS OPOLOT 3

Most studies on adoption and impact of improved crop technologies in sub-Saharan Africa have relied more on farmer elicitation, crop experts and morphological descriptors for both varietal identification and estimation of the adoption status. However, these methods have been found to be less accurate identifying crop varieties and therefore leading to varietal misclassification. Although the extent of misidentification and misclassification has been established, their implications have not been examined. In this study, we examine the implication of misidentification and misclassification on varietal choice and adoption analyses. Using data from methodological experiment on cassava varietal identification and productivity measurement (CVIP 2015), the study found that factors driving adoption of improved cassava varieties significantly vary when adoption status and varietal choice are estimated through famer reports or DNA fingerprinting. For example, farming experience, gender of the household head, taste of the varieties and access to extension services, though key determinants of adoption of improved varieties under farmer-reports, could not be considered as such under DNA fingerprinting. Instead, household's wealth index and engagement in non-farm activities were identified as key factors affecting adoption of improved cassava varieties. Further, results demonstrated that effects of farmer's level of education on adoption of improved varieties were underestimated by 4 percentage points through farmer reports. Though the same trend is observed under varietal choice, results showed that the taste of different varieties was more determinant in triggering farmers 'choices and preferences towards a specific variety. It is worth mentioning as well that the explanatory power of the different econometric models used in the study, mainly probit and multinomial logit was particularly higher under objective analysis than under selfreporting. These findings therefore suggest that policy implications regarding choice and adoption of cassava varieties in sub-Saharan Africa need to be reconsidered and re-oriented for better promotion of the crop.

Keywords: Adoption, DNA fingerprint, farmer-reports, varietal choice

¹Evangelical University in Africa, Department of Rural Economy, Uganda

²The World Bank, Development Data Group - Survey Unit, Uganda

³Makerere University, Department of Agribusiness and Natural Resource Economics, Uganda

Contact Address: Muzee L. Kazamwali, Evangelical University in Africa, Department of Rural Economy, Kampala, Uganda, e-mail: kazamwali@gmail.com

Adoption Potential of *Gliricidia* Agroforestry Based Technologies in Dryland Areas of Dodoma Region, Tanzania

Martha Swamila 1,2 , Damas Philip 2 , Adam Meshack Akyoo 2 , Anthony Kimaro 1 , Stefan Sieber 3

The declining soil fertility, among others, due to the limited access and use of mineral fertilisers by smallholder farmers has been frequently cited as a major factor limiting optimal productivity of field crops in dry-land areas of sub-Saharan Africa including those of Tanzania. In response to this challenge, an extensive collaborative research undertaken by the World Agroforestry Centre and local research institutions, led the development of agroforestry based soil fertility management technologies in Dodoma region as sustainable options to assist smallholder farmers with limited access to mineral fertilisers replenish their soils through nitrogen fixation and recycling of nutrients. This study was conducted to simulate adoption potential of Gliricidia agroforestry based technologies in dryland areas of Kongwa and Chamwino districts in Dodoma, Tanzania. Adoption and diffusion outcome prediction tool (ADOPT) was used to simulate adoption potential of Gliricidia agroforestry based technologies at the community level. Presentation of the technology diffusion results used the S-shaped function of time. Other useful adoption indicators considered were degree and intensity of adoption. The adoption rate was used since it is associated with other farm decisions making tools such as cost-benefit analysis. Results reveal that 13 % of farmers currently practice agroforestry technologies on their farms for profit maximisation and risk minimisation. The adoption rate peaks have been projected to be very high in both districts. However, it would take 14 years to reach the adoption peak of 94%. Further, results reveal that access to tree seedlings, land tenure and access to agricultural inputs are important conditions for higher adoption peak levels. Monetary benefits to be generated within twelve months by farmers practicing agroforestry technologies offset the initial investment costs. Gliricidia agroforestry based technologies show great potential in addressing multifaceted constraints to farmers including soil fertility, moisture and detrimental effects of climate change. Integration of Gliricidia agroforestry based technologies and other soil and water conservation technologies and enhancing farmers' access to input including tree seedling are recommended to enhance adoption and diffusion of Gliricidia agroforestry based technologies in dryland areas of Dodoma region. This in the long run will improve food security and livelihoods through increased productivity.

Keywords: ADOPT, agroforestry, dryland areas, food security, soil fertility

¹World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF), Tanzania Country Programme, Tanzania

²Sokoine University of Agriculture, Agricultural Economics and Agribussines, Tanzania

³Leibniz Centre for Agric, Landscape Res. (ZALF), PB 2, AG SUSLAND, Germany

Contact Address: Martha Swamila, World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF), Tanzania Country Programme, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, e-mail: m.swamila@cgiar.org

Adoption of Improved Quinoa Varieties among Smallholder Farmers in the Peruvian Andes

CINDYBELL GAMBOA BARRAZA, GOEDELE VAN DEN BROECK,
MIET MAERTENS

KU Leuven, Earth and Environmental Sciences, Belgium

Production of quinoa has boomed tremendously in the Andes since the early 2010s. It is widely promoted as a highly nutritious food and is rapidly converting from a common staple and subsistence crop into a high-value cash crop. Quinoa production and trade entail large opportunities for Andean smallholders, such as upwards income mobility and improved food security. However, crop productivity does not reach its full potential due to quinoa's susceptibility to mildew, a plant disease that represents the largest constraint to high productivity in the Andes region. Developing mildewtolerant varieties is thus a key priority of researchers and policy makers. In order to increase adoption rates of improved varieties among smallholders, it is crucial to take into account their specific requirements and needs ex-ante, before new varieties are developed and introduced. In this paper, we study farmers' preferences and willingness to pay for improved quinoa varieties in the Junin region in Peru. We use data from a choice experiment among 458 Andean smallholders and estimate generalised multinomial logit models to control for preference and scale heterogeneity. We find that farmers generally prefer improved varieties over traditional varieties, with mildew-resistance as most important crop trait. Farmers who are more experienced or who are a member of a quinoa production association are less likely to adopt an improved variety, while farmers who purchase seed from other producers are more likely to buy improved seed. Farmers who have encountered mildew before are even more willing to pay for a mildew-resistant variety, illustrating the severeness of the disease. Varieties that are characterised by larger grain sizes, higher yield levels, and a reduced maturation period are more likely to be adopted, while farmers are indifferent between medium and zero levels of saponin. A high level of saponin, on the other hand, is associated with a bitter taste and drastically decreases farmers' willingness to pay for mildew-resistant quinoa varieties.

Keywords: Choice experiment, generalised multinomial logit, Peru, quinoa, scale and taste heterogeneity

Contact Address: Cindybell Gamboa Barraza, KU Leuven, Earth and Environmental Sciences, Celestijnenlaan 200E, 3001 Leuven, Belgium, e-mail: cindybell.gamboa@gmail.com

Do Indonesian Consumers Value Organic Rice? Evidence from a Willingness-to-Pay Experiment with Randomised Pricing

FRANZISKA STEINHÜBEL, NATHALIE LUCK, MICHAEL GRIMM University of Passau, Chair of Development Economics, Germany

Organic agriculture can contribute to food security on several levels as it addresses social, economic and political constraints of conventional farming. Due to the benefits of organic agriculture, its integration in agricultural policy is crucial to strengthen food security and safety. To discuss shifts on the agricultural production side, the consumer side must not be neglected. Indonesia's organic sector can be divided into an export-oriented production sector and locally-oriented production sector. Currently, the awareness and level of organic food consumption in Indonesia is at a quite low level, yet local markets offer great potential especially for smallholders who do not have access to international markets.

Research can contribute to enhancing the linkage of the agricultural production side and local consumption side by providing farmers and public policy makers with important information about the current demand on the market. To analyse the linkage of agricultural producers and consumers in Indonesia, we conduct a willingness-to-pay (WTP) experiment in semi-urban areas near Yogyakarta. The revealed WTP is elicited through a variant of the Becker-DeGroot-Marschak (BDM) method which confronts participants with a real purchase decision as they are invited to submit a price bid for 1 kg of certified organic rice. In total, about 300 participants from randomly selected sectors are interviewed. Respondents are randomly assigned to treatment or control groups. There are two different treatment groups, one which is provided with information on health benefits of organic farming and one with information on environmental benefits of organic farming. The data collection is ongoing and will be completed end of April 2018. The findings will show the uptake for the current market price and alternative price levels. They will also show whether actual information on health or environmental aspects can increase the willingness to pay and how various individual characteristics correlate with the willingness to pay.

Keywords: Food safety, Indonesia, organic food, willingness-to-pay

Contact Address: Franziska Steinhübel, University of Passau, Chair of Development Economics, Innstraße 29, 94032 Passau, Germany, e-mail: steinh41@gw.uni-passau.de

Local Application of Integrated Water Resources Management (IWRM) in the Mosquito River Watershed with Focus on Vegetable Production

EXATUL EXALIEN, JULIEN DÉROY, ILSE ROELS, JOHAN SLIMBROUCK PROTOS, Belgium

The capitalisation is part of a Research-Action approach and aims to produce, manage and share the knowledge and know-how acquired by the actors themselves in terms of practical methods of IWRM at the local level, focused on vegetable production at household level. As part of an integrated approach to water resources management initiated by Protos and ODRINO since 2008 in Haiti, several actors from the area have come together to plan, operate and manage water resources, water and associated resources. With this in mind, a Watershed Committee (CBVRM) was created. This structure has developed a strategic plan to coordinate the development and management of water resources within the estimated 40,000 inhabitants of the Mosquito River watershed. Since 2013, CBVRMED has selected the Matha Gap sub watershed to scale up the IWRM approach. The actions carried out are part of the Strategic Plan of the watershed of the Mosquitos River. At Mosquito this methodology was developed by the University of Liège (Belgium) in 2009 and has now served as a frame for implementation. Several actions were performed: protection of soils, reforestation, the production of vegetable crops which allows the recovery of animal and domestic waste, crop residues and the reduction of free livestock (protection of biological and mechanical structures has been put in place). This activity also contributes to improving the food security of beneficiary households and enables them to earn money to meet certain needs. Women are the main beneficiaries and producers of vegetables as part of the actions in Matha. In spite of the difficult journey (because of the altitude and the stiffness of the ramps), women produce vegetables even in the dry period by drawing water in the Mosquito River, an arduous task. They know the importance of market gardening for the survival of their families. For example, they testified that papaya is a very profitable crop. They sold papayas to send their children to school. The action-research is still on-going and more data are gathered to analyse the impact of the actions. Investigations on land use management and risk management are identified to be performed in the near future.

More information on the ongoing action-research is available on this link: https://www.protos.ngo/sites/default/files/publications/files/ra_2016-haiti_gire_locale.pdf

Keywords: Ecological sanitation, erosion, food security, Haiti, integrated water resource management, NGO

Contact Address: Katrien Van Hooydonk, PROTOS, Flamingostraat 36, 9000 Ghent, Belgium, e-mail: katrien.vanhooydonk@protos.ngo

Farmers' Baobab (Adansonia digitata L.) Knowledge and Utilisation Practices in Kilifi and Kitui Counties of Kenya: Implications for Designing Information and Training Interventions

JOSEPH G. TUNJE¹, ANTHONY MAINA², KATHRIN MEINHOLD³,
DIETRICH DARR³

The baobab tree has been used for centuries in different parts of Africa as a source of food and medicine and its exceptional nutritional properties are increasingly being recognised. In marginalised areas of Kenya where the tree can commonly be found, communities are yet to realise the full potential of this natural resource as a means to achieve food security and improve their living standards. A survey was therefore conducted in Kilifi and Kitui Counties of Kenya to assess community knowledge and training needs on baobab production and utilisation. Primary data was collected using predetermined questionnaires from a sample of 120 and 136 households in Kilifi and Kitui, respectively. The raw data was analysed using descriptive and inferential methods. The descriptive analyses revealed remarkable differences between both locations. While a majority of households (69.2 % in Kilifi and 87.5 % in Kitui, respectively) owned naturally occurring baobab trees on their land, the baobab pulp was used more in Kitui (80%) compared to Kilifi (15%) as an ingredient in food preparations. Baobab leaves were mainly used in Kitui as food (27.2%); while >87% of households in both areas did not use baobab oil. The majority of households (Kilifi 55%; Kitui 76%) owned below 10 baobab trees. Yet, most of these trees were not only actively managed as only 10 % and 5 % of the households in Kilifi and Kitui respectively undertook any baobab husbandry and management activities. There was generally very limited knowledge among farmers on the various products that can be derived from baobab, and their nutritional value; all this courtesy of inadequate agricultural extension services. The inferential analyses investigated the influence of various socio-economic characteristics (e.g., tree tenure, household food security status, presence of baobab traders etc.) on the farmers' knowledge about the baobab tree and their management and utilisation practices, as well as the association between knowledge and actual practices. The study derives recommendations and priorities for tailor-made education, awareness and capacity building interventions addressing local communities in both localities and beyond to make farmers appreciate the nutritional and economic value of the baobab tree and its products.

Keywords: Baobab products, information needs, Kenya, marginalised areas, training needs assessment

ID 721 449

¹Pwani University, Dept. of Environmental Sciences, Kenya

²Wild Living Resources, Kenya

³Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences, Germany

Contact Address: Joseph G. Tunje, Pwani University, Dept. of Environmental Sciences, Mombasa-Malindi Road, Kilifi, Kenya, e-mail: tunjej49@gmail.com

Markets and value chains

Oral Presentations	
ZEWDIE ADANE MARIAMI, ERNST-AUGUST NUPPENAU,	
BERHANU GEBREMEDHIN, AZAGE TEGEGNE:	
Cooperation versus Competition: Institutional Analysis of	
Raw Milk Marketing in Ethiopia	453
DIANA LLACSAHUANGA, MIET MAERTENS:	
Does Double Certification Add to the Productivity and Welfare of Smallholder Cocoa Farmers? Evidence from the	
Northern Peruvian Amazon	454
Karen Enciso, Aura Bravo, Stefan Burkart:	
Identification of Bottlenecks and Opportunities for the Beef	
Value Chain of Córdoba, Colombia	455
Andrés Charry, Matthias Jäger, Lizette Diaz, Miryan	
García, Jhon Jairo Hurtado:	
Risks and Opportunities of Transitioning to Export Crops.	
The Cases of Pineapple and Avocado in Colombia	456
EMILY MYERS, JESSICA HECKERT, ALESSANDRA GALIÈ, NELLY NIJRU:	
Accessing and Granting Credit among Informal Milk Traders	
in Peri-Urban Nairobi	457
Dostona	
Posters The K. Loog Chen Pengary Manager 75 and 55	
TIM K. LOOS, SVEN BERGAU, MANFRED ZELLER: The Impact of On-Farm / Off-Farm Diversification and	
Market Access on Household Food and Nutrition Security in	
Ethiopia	458
Gabriel Rosero, Tinoush Jamali Jaghdani, Bernhard	
Brümmer:	
Drivers of Price Volatility in Brazilian Pork Market, Internal	
and External Effects – DCC GARCH Approach	459
MIRJAM SCHOONHOVEN-SPEIJER, THOMAS REARDON:	
Contract Farming or Contract Trading? – The Role of Intermediaries in Linking Farmers to the Market	460
RICHARD ARIONG, JOHN ILUKOR, J. BONABANA-WABBI:	+00
Returns to Market Coordination Mechanisms: Assessing	
Trade-Offs between Spot and Bilateral Contract Bean	
Marketing in Uganda	461

ERIC BETT, DAVID MICHAEL AYIEKO: "Green Village Hubs" and Smallholder Marketing Preference: A Discrete Choice Modelling Approach	462
ANYWAY KATANHA, DANNY SIMATELE: Actor Network Theory and Ziziphus mauritiana: Building the Resilience of Communities in Muzarabani District, Zimbabwe	463
CLAUDIA VOGEL, MARIA GEITZENAUER, SYNDHIA MATHÉ, HYCENTH TIM NDAH, STEFAN SIEBER: Investigating Future Pathways for the Cameroonian Cocoa Sector that Lead to a Higher Cocoa Quality and Sustainability, Improving the Livelihood of Farming Households	464
PONNIAH SIVARAJAH:	404
Rural-Urban Linkages- A 'mirage' or a 'myth': Evidence from Rural markets in Eastern Sri Lanka	465
RAHMA ADAM: Achieving Food and Nutritional Security through Commercialised Agriculture: The Role of Transitional Systems in Kenya	466
CHARLES PETER MGENI, STEFAN SIEBER, KLAUS MÜLLER: Enhancing Sunflower Value Chain for Rural Economy in Tanzania: A Village Computable General Equilibrium-CGE Approach	467
IGNACIO DIAZ, INGRID FROMM: The Rebirth of Natural Fibers? Analysis of Market Potential for Fique (Furcraea andina) Production in Santander, Colombia RICARDO VARGAS-CARPINTERO, JOHANNES MÖSSINGER,	468
REGINA BIRNER: The Potential of Acrocomia Value Webs for Rural Development and Bioeconomy in Paraguay	469
CHRISTIANA IGBERI, AMADI MARK UMUNNA, CHRISTIAN OKEHUKWU, YUNI DENIS NFOR: Impact of Import Restriction on Rice Production in Nigeria	470
NINA GRASSNICK, BERNHARD BRÜMMER: Rainforest Alliance Certification and its Global Trade Effects in the Cocoa Sector	471
BICKSON GANGATA, KATHRIN MEINHOLD, MUNTHALI CHIMULEKE, DIETRICH DARR: The Baobab Processing Sector in Malawi: Strategy, Business Models and Performance	472

Cooperation versus Competition: Institutional Analysis of Raw Milk Marketing in Ethiopia

ZEWDIE ADANE MARIAMI¹, ERNST-AUGUST NUPPENAU¹, BERHANU GEBREMEDHIN², AZAGE TEGEGNE²

Milk is a perishable commodity. Adulteration and poor hygiene compromises quality and food safety. Understanding the implications of market structure and actors' behaviour in marketing such delicate commodity is essential. Differences in exchange arrangements and actors' abilities, initial resource positions, information endowments, and risk preferences could determine market outcomes. New institutional economics of markets stresses the importance of studying structure of specific transaction arrangements and provides frameworks for examining the implications of various constraints in determining market conduct/behaviour and performance. In this study, we examined raw milk marketing in Sululta, Lume and Ade'a districts of central Ethiopia using the new institutional economics of markets framework. Data were obtained through household survey, focus group discussions, and interviews with key informants and experts. Raw milk is the cheapest in Sululta compared to the other districts. Milk collection in Sululta is largely a monopsonistic competition among a few small private traders who lack advanced quality testing tools. Private collectors' inability to precisely detect adulteration creates bounded rationality. This encourages farmers to prefer private collectors to other rather strict buyers. Processors and cooperatives who dominate the market in Lume and Ade'a conduct more rigorous quality tests. The cooperatives in particular create hybrid governance where many suppliers are shareholders or members of primary cooperatives with responsibility to maintain quality. Consumers are also unable to identify adulteration when they get mixed milk from collectors which cannot be traced to a particular source. The bounded rationality encourages opportunism where some farmers add water and other substances to milk especially in private collections. High degree of bounded rationality and opportunism in unregulated markets drives out genuine farmers. This threatens the prospect of improving milk productivity and sectoral sustainability. Besides, the adulteration and deteriorating milk quality increases public health risk. Trust and personal relationships reduces adulteration when buyers get milk directly from local farmers although prices are rather high in such arrangement. Therefore, cooperative marketing, stricter regulations, better quality testing and direct marketing are important. This study showcases how organised marketing such as cooperatives and localised direct marketing could outperform unregulated competition in marketing delicate commodities.

Keywords: Bounded rationality, Ethiopia, milk marketing, new institutional economics, opportunism

ID 269 453

¹Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Agricultural Policy and Market Research, Germany

²International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), LIVES Project, Ethiopia

Contact Address: Zewdie Adane Mariami, Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Agricultural Policy and Market Research, Gießen, Germany, e-mail: zewdieadane@yahoo.com

Does Double Certification Add to the Productivity and Welfare of Smallholder Cocoa Farmers? Evidence from the Northern Peruvian Amazon

DIANA LLACSAHUANGA, MIET MAERTENS

KU Leuven, Earth and Environmental Sciences, Belgium

Cocoa is mainly grown by smallholder farmers in the lowland tropics of Latin America, West Africa and Indonesia. An increasing share of the global cocoa area is certified to private standards, with Fairtrade, organic, Rainforest Alliance and UTZ being the most important standards, each covering between 2.5 and 15 % of the global cocoa area. Private standards are very important for the cocoa sector in Peru, a country that ranks ninth in global cocoa production but has the fourth largest Fairtrade cocoa area and the third largest organic cocoa area in the world. Although figures on the extent of multiple certification are lacking, it is becoming increasingly common for smallholder cocoa farmers to be double or even triple certified to different schemes. The combination of Fairtrade and organic certification is especially common in Peru and elsewhere. While there is a substantial body of literature investigating the implications of private standards for smallholder farmers, insights on the benefits of multiple certification are lacking. In this paper, we analyse the productivity, income and poverty effects of Fairtrade (FT) and Organic (Org) certification for cocoa farmers in the the northern Amazon of Peru. We use cross-sectional survey data from a sample of 583 cocoa farmers in the San Martin Region, of which 288 are certified, including 130 FT and 119 FT-Org certified. We analyse the impact of single and double certification on six different outcome indicators: poverty, poverty gap, total household income, cocoa income, cocoa yield and cocoa price. We use logit, tobit, OLS estimations and propensity score matching techniques. We find that certification in general does not significantly improve yields or incomes, and organic certification is actually found to reduce cocoa yields and household income. This negative effect, however, disappears in double Fairtrade-Organic certification.

Keywords: Cocoa, fairtrade, organic certification, Peru, small farmers

Contact Address: Diana Llacsahuanga, KU Leuven, Earth and Environmental Sciences, Celestijnenlaan, 3001 Leuven, Belgium, e-mail: diana.llacsahuangacarrasco@kuleuven.be

Identification of Bottlenecks and Opportunities for the Beef Value Chain of Córdoba, Colombia

KAREN ENCISO, AURA BRAVO, STEFAN BURKART International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Colombia

The cattle sector in the Colombian Caribbean region prefigures the most important economic activity at a regional level and counts with the best connections to the international market when compared to the rest of the country. However, there exist important bottlenecks that reduce the sector's competitiveness and hinder efforts for achieving a joint market vision, quality assurance systems and value chain sustainability. It is therefore necessary to understand the complexities and interconnections of the value chain through an integral value chain approach and to set the basis for the definition of potential markets and their development and a value chain action plan. The objective of this study was to identify the most relevant bottlenecks and opportunities of the beef value chain in the Colombian Córdoba Department in order to provide the necessary inputs for increasing its added value and market share. In the framework of a research agreement between CIAT and Corpoica aimed at strengthening the cattle sector in the region, we conducted semi-structured interviews and a participatory value chain workshop with the main value chain actors in 2017 using the following methodologies: Participatory analysis of market chains for small producers and ValueLinks. Together with the value chain actors, we were able to define the state of the art of the value chain and map it, review market opportunities and competitive advantages and identify the most relevant bottlenecks for each link. Among the main results, it was possible to identify three strategic axes that respond to the main structural bottlenecks of the sector: i) sustainable intensification, ii) search for differentiated markets, and iii) improvement of the articulation between direct and indirect actors, especially in technical assistance and credit services. The results of this research will be a key input for the construction of strategic plans for a sustainable development of the region's most important economic sector, seeking to increase its added value, share in the domestic market and access to high-value international markets.

Keywords: Beef, cattle production, market access, sustainability, value chain

ID 383 455

Contact Address: Stefan Burkart, International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Trop. Forages Program, Km 17 Recta Cali-Palmira, Cali, Colombia, e-mail: s.burkart@cgiar.org

Risks and Opportunities of Transitioning to Export Crops. The Cases of Pineapple and Avocado in Colombia

Andrés Charry, Matthias Jäger, Lizette Diaz, Miryan García, Jhon Jairo Hurtado

International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Colombia

Over the last few years, the fruit sector in the department of Valle del Cauca, Colombia, has witnessed major transformations. The increasing international demand and the government's interest in diversifying the country's export portfolio has led several middle and large-scale farmers, large agro processing industries and other investors at the national level to venture in and promote the cultivation of "super sweet" MD2 pineapple and Hass avocado across the region. Looking for increased incomes, numerous small-scale farmers in the department have joined the trend and adopted these varieties, while many others are currently facing the decision of either switching to these export varieties or continuing cultivating more traditional species demanded by local markets and agro processing industries.

Although the opportunities offered by the new varieties in the international markets are highly attractive, currently a low percentage of harvested produce complies with export requirements. This combined with the rapid expansion of overall cultivated areas (particularly for MD2 pineapple), has caused sudden increases in supply and reductions in local prices. Faced with growing uncertainty, strong market pressures and rapid sectorial changes, smallholders in particular lack instruments to properly assess the risks and future competitiveness of the different productive alternatives and make more informed decisions. In response to this problem, our study attempts to provide farmers, other value chain representatives and decision makers with key information needed to be able to assess the ex-ante cost-benefit relationship and risks implied with the adoption of export varieties (MD2 pineapple and Hass avocado) by employing a probabilistic cost-benefit analysis using Monte Carlo simulation. Additionally, through the analysis of semi-structured interviews we present the opportunities and challenges identified by various key stakeholder groups along the two value chains.

Keywords: Fruit value chains, Hass avocado, MD2 pineapple, probabilistic costbenefit analysis.

Contact Address: Andrés Charry, International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Linking Farmers to Markets, Km 17 recta Cali - Palmira, Cali, Colombia, e-mail: a.charry@cgiar.org

Accessing and Granting Credit among Informal Milk Traders in Peri-Urban Nairobi

EMILY MYERS¹, JESSICA HECKERT¹, ALESSANDRA GALIÈ², NELLY NIJRU²

¹International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), United States of America

²International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI). Kenya

Studies on credit schemes for small-scale entrepreneurs have documented their potential to alleviate poverty, increase savings, and improve education, food-security, nutrition, and health outcomes. Other studies find mixed impacts of credit schemes on reducing income inequality, empowering women, and reducing child labour. A growing body of evidence finds that small-scale entrepreneurs in low- and middleincome countries sell their goods to customers on credit, but their businesses struggle when customers fail to repay. In this paper we examine how male and female informal milk traders from peri-urban Nairobi access and grant credit, and how these experiences affect their businesses in a context where there are few safeguards. In 2017 we conducted 48 in-depth individual interviews, 4 key informant interviews, and 6 focus group discussions with men and women who are current or former milk traders. We find that milk traders feel they must sell their product on credit to appeal to customers. This can be advantageous when they need to rid themselves of milk before it spoils, yet they have few viable strategies to recoup costs from customers who do not repay. Failure to collect credit from customers has additional ramifications for milk traders who acquired milk on credit from suppliers informally, leading to debt default. The consequences of losing income to creditors is likely more severe for women traders, who generally have less capital to fall back on relative to men. Milk traders overall avoid taking formal loans from banks because of high interest rates. Additionally, women have greater difficulty in accessing formal loans because they lack collateral. Many traders instead join a credit savings group to access financial capital, despite some negative experiences as members. For example, group leaders have stolen money saved. In summary, individual milk traders function as both creditor and lender. These dual roles may have unintended consequences that jeopardise their livelihoods. Development organisations should identify financial services and other interventions to help small-scale entrepreneurs maintain viable businesses despite the volatility of accessing and granting credit.

Keywords: Credit, dairy traders, entrepreneurship, gender, loans, value chain

ID 559 457

Contact Address: Emily Myers, International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Poverty, Health, and Nutrition Division, 1201 I St. Nw, 20005 Washington, United States of America, e-mail: e.c.myers@cgiar.org

The Impact of On-Farm / Off-Farm Diversification and Market Access on Household Food and Nutrition Security in Ethiopia

TIM K. LOOS, SVEN BERGAU, MANFRED ZELLER

University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

Despite large efforts in developing a more intensive agri-business, smallholder agriculture remains the main livelihood option for many rural households in Ethiopia. While technical innovations have been fostered and some progress can be observed, food insecurity persists in large parts of the country.

Recent literature suggests that both on-farm and off-farm diversification, as well as the access to agricultural markets are promising strategies to ensure or enhance food security of smallholder farmers. While market access and off-farm income diversification target an improvement through increased sales, on-farm diversification aims at stabilising and enriching the diversity of the subsistence diet. The household dietary diversity score is a suitable indicator frequently used by researchers, and covers different food groups being consumed. The concept of a diversity score, however, has been rarely applied to the production side in an adequate level of disaggregation, although an improved measure of production diversity could help to better measure its effect on household and nutrition security. In addition, market access is often measured as distances which is a rather imprecise measure for travel time.

Therefore, this study investigates the effect of market access (travel time), off-farm income, and on-farm production diversity, i.e. crop and livestock diversity, on household food and nutrition security. The analyses are based on socio-economic data collected in 2016 covering 400 smallholder farmers living in a 200 km radius around Hawassa town. By means of statistical tests and generalised Poisson estimations, the effects of production diversity (PDS), income diversification, and market access on the household dietary diversity score (HDDS based on 9 and 12 foodgroups) are analysed. Production diversity is expected to be positively associated with dietary diversity, yet at a diminishing rate. The effects for market access are expected to follow a similar pattern. Influence of the off-farm income share is projected to be positive as it can decrease the dependency on risky rainfall patterns especially for the smallest and most vulnerable farmers. Based on the marginal effects, it will be possible to draw appropriate policy implications regarding the importance of the three strategies.

Keywords: Dietary diversity, Ethiopia, income diversification, market access, production diversity

Contact Address: Tim K. Loos, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Wollgrasweg 43, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: timloos@uni-hohenheim.de

Drivers of Price Volatility in Brazilian Pork Market, Internal and External Effects – DCC GARCH Approach

Gabriel Rosero¹, Tinoush Jamali Jaghdani², Bernhard Brümmer¹

¹Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Department of Agricultural Economics and Rural Development, Germany

Pork is the most consumed meat worldwide, and Brazil is one of the major producer and exporter countries. The pork market is affected by a number of factors that cause price volatility at national and international level. These price volatilities can affect many agents in the pork supply chain dramatically. Researchers over the last past years have studied food price volatility. Although the literature on food price volatility has been increasing since the food price crisis of 2008/09, there are still only a few studies, which are analysing the combination of drivers and spillovers of volatility. Existing studies mainly focus on a limited number of countries, commodity market, and spillovers along the supply chain. To understand the price dynamics and the effects of these drivers in the Brazilian pork market, the price volatility, its drivers, and spillovers are analysed in this study along the supply value chain, across the meat markets and in the context of the spatial market relationships. Since Russia is a major importer of Brazilian pork meat, the impact of two Russian trade policies (WTO accession in 2012 and meat import ban in 2014) are taken into consideration. A seasonal ARMA, univariate GARCH and EGARCH models are used to estimate the volatility development in nine different markets. Moreover, a multi-variate DCC-GARCH model is estimated to examine the dynamic price relationships between Brazilian live swine and the other components of the Brazilian pork market (e.g., input prices and substitute commodities). The results suggest that the live swine price volatility is mainly driven by domestic rather than by external factors. The price of substitute commodities (live chicken and cattle) present higher volatility correlations than the prices of input commodities (corn and soybean). The two analysed Russian trade policies had a significant short-run effect on changes of price volatility of live swine. They affected the dynamic correlations with the domestic price volatilities, too. Furthermore, market structure and possible market power might affect the price volatility transmission in Brazilian live swine, live chicken, and corn prices.

Keywords: Brazil, DCC-GARCH, food price volatility, market power, pork market, Russia, trade policies, volatility spillover

ID 634 459

²Leibniz-Institut für Agrarentwicklung in Transformationsökonomien (IAMO), Agricultural Markets, Marketing and World Agricultural Trade, Germany

Contact Address: Gabriel Rosero, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Department of Agricultural Economics and Rural Development, Geiststrasse 5, 37073 Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: gabriel.rosero@stud.uni-goettingen.de

"Green Village Hubs" and Smallholder Marketing Preference: A Discrete Choice Modelling Approach

ERIC BETT¹, DAVID MICHAEL AYIEKO²

Sustainable agriculture is emerging as an option to address food security and food safety. There is an increase in acreage under sustainable agriculture and a diversification of products from sustainable agriculture. Moreover, smallholder farmers involved in sustainable agriculture receive premiums and numerous ecological benefits. However, there is a disconnect in the information on sustainable agriculture among smallholders in Kenya. This has lead to the emergence of innovations, such as "green village hubs" (GVH) that attempt to address this disconnect. The GVH has three components, which are related to marketing, extension and production respectively. Therefore, it is on this basis that we attempted to evaluate smallholder farmer preference for the marketing component of GVH innovations in Makueni County in Kenya. Our study used a sample of 130 smallholder farmers, who were obtained through a stratified random sampling. Consequently we conducted a household survey, where we administered pretested questionnaires. We used discrete choice modelling approach to analyse the attributes of GVH innovations that influence smallholder farmer preference in marketing.

First, we developed choice sets from three GVH innovations attributes. These attributes included expertise, interaction, diversity and application. In order to do this, we used some proxy variables including contracts (diversity), practicals (application), type of group (expertise) and feedback frequency (interaction). Furthermore we assigned levels to each of this attributes. Moreover, we used individuals specific characteristics as covariates in our analysis. Second, we performed a multinomial regression using the three GVH innovations (dependent variables) and GVH attributes alongside specific characteristics. Our results suggest that smallholder preference for marketing GVH innovations are significantly affected by contracts (0.66) **, type of groups (0.2)*, feedback frequency (0.18) **, practicals (0.47)*, education (-0.19)* and age (0.13) **.

Therefore, the policy on agriculture innovation hubs should focus on incorporating diversity in training. Moreover, these hubs should use a participatory approach with hands on practice as opposed to theory sessions. Our study can be viewed as a precursor to other studies on smallholder preferences of innovations in Kenya.

Keywords: Diversity, food safety, hubs, innovations, policy, sustainable

¹Kenyatta University, Agribusiness Management and Trade, Kenya

²University of Nairobi, Agricultural Economics, Kenya

Contact Address: David Michael Ayieko, University of Nairobi, Agricultural Economics, P.O. Box 29053-00625, 00200 Nairobi, Kenya, e-mail: ayiekoday@gmail.com

Actor Network Theory and *Ziziphus mauritiana*: Building the Resilience of Communities in Muzarabani District, Zimbabwe

ANYWAY KATANHA, DANNY SIMATELE

University of Witwatersrand, Dept. of Geography, Archaeology and Environmental Studies, South Africa

Viewed as a radical approach, the Actor Network Theory (ANT) has been used extensively in scholarly works to understand the interactions and connections between human and non-human entitles to bring about the formation of a new entity. The key argument with ANT revolves around the assumption that these connections tend to lead to the creation of new entities that do not necessarily practice the sum of characteristics of the original constituent entities. With this background, this paper focuses on how ANT and Ziziphus mauritiana, a tropical fruit tree species belonging to the family Rhamnaceae can be used to build the adaptive resilience of poor rural households in Muzarabani District against the impacts of climate change-induced risks and hazards. The paper is based on a study that used the qualitative methodology. Using both secondary and primary data collected in Muzarabani District, it is argued in the paper that beyond the ordinary outlook of Ziziphus mauritiana as a source of food and the associated commodity value chains, it can play a significant role in facilitating pro-poor adaptation of rural households to climate change and variability. However, to understand its contribution in building the adaptive capacity of rural communities, it was important to have a clear comprehension on how rural actors combine the use of Ziziphus mauritiana with other players such as social networks to build resilience against both internal and external stressors. These issues have been analysed within the broader and contemporary discourse on climate change adaptation and natural resource use.

Keywords: Actor network theory, commodity value chains, network thinking, *Ziziphus mauritiana*

ID 555 463

Contact Address: Anyway Katanha, University of Witwatersrand, Dept. of Geography, Archaeology and Environmental Studies, 1 Jan Smuts Avenue Braamfontein 2000, Johannesburg, South Africa, e-mail: 1094817@students.wits.ac.za

Investigating Future Pathways for the Cameroonian Cocoa Sector that Lead to a Higher Cocoa Quality and Sustainability, Improving the Livelihood of Farming Households

Claudia Vogel 1 , Maria Geitzenauer 2 , Syndhia Mathé 3,2 , Hycenth Tim Ndah 4 , Stefan Sieber 4

The cocoa value chain is of great significance for Africa, especially for West African countries. 70% of the total cocoa world production comes from this region and many rural livelihoods depend on this cash crop. However, a number of diverse factors limit the production of cocoa cultivation and livelihood improvement in West Africa. Therefore, regarding the persistent poor livelihoods of cocoa farming households, future climate predictions and the pressure of the worldwide demand for higher cocoa productivity and quality there is still a strong need to find new approaches that guarantee a sustainable cocoa future and food security in Cameroon. This exploratory research investigates potential future pathways for the Cameroonian cocoa sector that were developed in the "Potential analysis of innovative approaches for the cocoa value chain in Cameroon" (PotinnocC) project of the International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA) in Cameroon. By doing so, a holistic approach is applied, using theories of scenario analysis and agricultural innovation systems (AIS), to analyse these future possible scenarios within the current cocoa innovation system in Cameroon. Qualitative expert interviews, as well as a focus group discussion capture various perceptions of different actors of the cocoa value chain towards future pathways. Criteria, that is based on sources of the UN (United Nations), FAO (Food and Agriculture Organisation) and ACI (African Cocoa Initiative) is tested to evaluate sustainability dimensions of the pathways. The study shows that certification and a stronger cooperation between the private and public sector are strongly envisioned by value chain actors. The generated results of the study contribute to IITA's research project PotinnocC and its predicted outcome, which is to enable policy makers and other development agencies to understand the potentials and the hindrances in the cocoa value chain in Cameroon in order to help designing their interventions and strategies in an effective and efficient way.

Keywords: Cameroon, cocoa certification, cocoa value chain, future pathways, sustainable value chains

¹Humboldt Universität zu Berlin, Albrecht Daniel Thaer Institute for Agricultural and Horticultural Sciences, Germany

²International Institute for Tropical Agriculture (IITA), Cameroon

³CIRAD, UMR Innovation, France

⁴Leibniz Centre for Agric. Landscape Res. (ZALF), Inst. of Socio-Economics, Germany

Contact Address: Claudia Vogel, Humboldt Universität zu Berlin, Albrecht Daniel Thaer Institute for Agricultural and Horticultural Sciences, Triftstraße 52, 13353 Berlin, Germany, e-mail: claudia.vogelcarres@gmail.com

Rural-Urban Linkages- A 'mirage' or a 'myth': Evidence from Rural markets in Eastern Sri Lanka

PONNIAH SIVARAJAH

Eastern University, Agricultural Economics, Sri Lanka

In recent years, growing recognition that rural and urban areas have become increasingly interconnected through a constant movement of people, goods, capital, ideas and information. Rural markets in Sri Lanka play the twin roles of facilitating the interaction between retailers, producers and consumers. A rural market study was done in the Ampara and Batticaloa districts of the Eastern Province in Sri Lanka to ascertain the geographical coverage and their links with urban markets. It also attempted to verify von Thunen's 'Central Place Theory' of service centres in a region. Secondary and primary data was used, and a field survey of randomly selected 30 rural markets was conducted. The GIS ARC-Info software was used to ascertain coverage of rural markets. The results indicated that rural markets act as 'central places' in both districts, and they covered a relatively moderate geographical area with an average radius of 4.5 kms. Also many of the rural markets had linkages within themselves through traders moving from one market to another market nearby, while only rural markets close to urban areas had links with urban centres. Rural farm products were sparsely moving to urban centres, while products from other district urban markets were being transported to urban centres. This was due to the weak transport facilities in rural areas and poor link roads with urban centres and rural market places. Also most of the rural markets operating periodically have been another causal agent for the lack of strong rural-urban linkages to develop. The study suggests that regional policy should focus on enhancing rural road networks and transport facilities to foster better rural-urban linkages and enhancing rural and urban food security that would help communities to sustain themselves.

Keywords: Central places, geographical coverage, markets, rural-urban linkages, Sri Lanka

ID 108 465

Contact Address: Ponniah Sivarajah, Eastern University, Agricultural Economics, Vantharumoolai, 30350 Chenkalady, Sri Lanka, e-mail: sivaponniah@yahoo.com

Achieving Food and Nutritional Security through Commercialised Agriculture: The Role of Transitional Systems in Kenya

Dennis Olumeh¹, David Otieno¹, Willis Oluoch-Kosura¹, Rahma Adam²

Agricultural commercialisation has the potential of increasing access to diversified foods among households. Increased purchasing power due to market participation enables consumers to afford more nutritious food bundles. However, there is scanty empirical literature on the extent and patterns of agricultural commercialisation in remote rural food-insecure farm-households in Africa. This study provides evidence of how emerging transitions in rural infrastructure and devolved governance systems contribute to market participation by farm-households, which ultimately leads to nutritional diversity in western Kenya.

Primary household survey data from a random sample of 300 smallholder maize farmers was analysed using; descriptive analysis and multiple linear regression. Results showed that, amount of purchased inputs used, household asset index, land size, total output, access to credit and trust in traders significantly influenced commercialisation patterns in transitional systems (with declining land sizes, increased market access). Further, it was noted that support services (inputs, wealth, and credit) had both positive and negative effects on the level of commercialisation in transitional systems. Areas with improved infrastructure especially improved access to all weather roads, had better access to marketed inputs and thus reported considerable increments in the amount of maize sold compared to areas with poor infrastructure. Intuitively, households with high exposure to positive transitions in infrastructure, land management systems and better inclusive localised governance systems for land and support services had higher levels of market participation which ultimately contributed to improved food and nutrition security. The study recommends the need for both County and National government to invest in infrastructure so as to increase commercialisation. More specifically, high access to all weather roads positively contributes to market participation among farmers.

Keywords: Commercialisation, food and nutrition security, Kenya, transitions

¹University of Nairobi, Agricultural Economics, Kenya

² International Maize and Wheat Improvement Centre (CIMMYT), Nairobi, Kenya, CGIAR, Kenya

Contact Address: Dennis Olumeh, University of Nairobi, Agricultural Economics, 391, 50102 Mumias, Kenya, e-mail: etemesideaty@gmail.com

Enhancing Sunflower Value Chain for Rural Economy in Tanzania: A Village Computable General Equilibrium-CGE Approach

CHARLES PETER MGENI¹, STEFAN SIEBER¹, KLAUS MÜLLER²

Proportionally, in Tanzania, the agricultural sector accounts for about 29 % of GDP, employs 65% of the workforce, and generates more than 80% of the total export earnings. Around 28.2% of the households living below the poverty line are rural households where the main income activity is small-scale agriculture. Intervention leading to generation of employment and access to income is crucial for ensuring food access, and for the poor this is even more crucial, as their labour is often the main asset that they can rely upon for income generation. Hence, developing pathways for securing food and agricultural products value chains in Tanzania provide potential intervention points. Income alternatives to stabilise livelihoods, such as enhancing sunflower value chain, is deemed vital given that food security will not be negatively affected. This study uses a village computable general equilibrium (CGE) approach to assess the welfare effects of sunflower value chain upgrading strategies on labour and income for rural economy in Tanzania. To assess the effects of sunflower value chain upgrading strategies, we construct a village CGE for Idifu village in Dodoma, Tanzania where sunflower value chain upgrading strategies have been implemented by a Trans-Sec project. Results indicate that enhancing the sunflower value chain by increasing the output, introducing value addition through processing and linking sunflower farmers to markets has positive effects in terms of labour, income and household consumption. Consequently, we argue the government and other development practitioners in Tanzania to promote initiatives geared toward enhancing crops value chains which would lead to income generation and improve farmer household's consumption in rural setting.

Keywords: Income, labour, sunflower, Tanzania, village CGE

ID 346 467

¹Leibniz Centre for Agric. Landscape Res. (ZALF), Inst. of Socio-economics, Germany ²Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Albrecht Daniel Thaer-Institute of Agricultural and Horticultural Sciences (ADTI), Germany

Contact Address: Charles Peter Mgeni, Leibniz Centre for Agric. Landscape Res. (ZALF), Inst. of Socio-economics, Eberswalder Straße 84, 15374 Müncheberg, Germany, e-mail: charles.mgeni@zalf.de

The Rebirth of Natural Fibres? Analysis of Market Potential for Fique (Furcraea andina) Production in Santander, Colombia

IGNACIO DIAZ, INGRID FROMM

Bern University of Applied Sciences, School of Agricultural, Forest and Food Sciences, Switzerland

Natural fibres extracted from the leaves of the fique plant (Furcraea andina) are currently used by the Colombian market mainly for the manufacture of coffee sacks and crafts. However, the economy associated with the cultivation of figue in the department of Santander is weak and optimal production practices have greatly been abandoned by farmers because of poor market demand in the last two decades. However, new market demand for natural, eco-friendly fibres to replace plastic opens up better opportunities for fique producers. The objective of this study was to provide a macro view of the current fique market in Colombia and its potential in modern markets. The study of production aspects, economic situation and market potential was conducted with 25 producing families where relevant information to characterise the current situation was obtained. Data on production practices, market access and economic situation was collected. The results revealed that figue production can help improve the economic situation of rural families in Santander, but that the production system can be improved and optimised to generate a higher income. Currently, there is a market potential in natural fibres, but more investments need to be made to train farmers in sustainable production practices and compliance with new standards and certifications. Additionally, local artisans need to improve the products they produce with the fibre to meet the new demands in the eco-friendly, natural fibre market. A set of strategies and recommendations for improved market access for small-scale producers and artisans using both modern and traditional techniques was drawn.

Keywords: Colombia, fibres, fique, value chain

Contact Address: Ingrid Fromm, Bern University of Applied Sciences, School of Agricultural, Forest and Food Sciences, Laenggasse 85, 3052 Zollikofen, Switzerland, e-mail: ingrid.fromm@bfh.ch

The Potential of Acrocomia Value Webs for Rural Development and Bioeconomy in Paraguay

RICARDO VARGAS-CARPINTERO, JOHANNES MÖSSINGER, REGINA BIRNER University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

Acrocomia ssp is a native palm tree in Latin America which produces rich oil-bearing and drupaceous fruits traditionally used as food and fodder. Acrocomia fruits are composed on a dry matter basis by epicarp (19%), mesocarp (42%), endocarp (31%) and kernel (8%), varying among species and biophysical conditions. Considering a plantation system of 400 palm trees per hectare, suitable to agroforestry, high yields of fruits (20 t ha⁻¹) and oil (2.5 t ha⁻¹ of kernel and pulp oils) are projected. In addition, remaining fruit components have several uses, which makes Acrocomia a promising crop in the bioeconomy. Through industrial processing, oil is extracted from pulp and kernel (lipids 45-60% and 61-68% dry matter). Husk, endocarp and pressed cakes result as by-products. Acrocomia oils have industrial applications in pharmaceutical, cosmetics and food sectors as well as a biofuel source. Husk and shell are used as solid fuels and potentially as input for activated carbon and charcoal. Pulp flour can be used as a food product while kernel and pulp cakes are utilised in animal nutrition. Further applications are being progressively studied, as well as agronomic aspects, cultivation, breeding and crop management. Paraguay, an agriculture-based country located in the Neotropics, is a natural habitat of Acrocomia. This wildly growing palm gained economic importance by mid of the 20th century with the emergence of industry for oil extraction. It is considered as an alternative crop to diversify income sources for peasant and smallholder family farmers. They represent 80% of farms in Paraguay and increasingly face multiple socio-economic challenges associated to agribusiness activities. Using the approach of biomass value web as a multidimensional and holistic framework, this research aims to analyse the existing Acrocomia value chains in Paraguay, identifying opportunities and constraints for further upgrading. Complementary, a bottom-up Acrocomia adoption initiative in the region of San Pedro del Paraná (Dep. of Itapúa) is studied. Through an economic analysis of a small-scale (pre-) processing system of Acrocomia fruits, different scenarios for local value addition are built, integrated with an outgrower scheme for the development of inclusive and pro-poor biobased value chains.

Keywords: Alternative oil crop, biomass value web, biorefinery, cascading use of biomass, pro-poor value chain, small-scale processing, value chain analysis

Contact Address: Ricardo Vargas-Carpintero, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), 70593 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: ricardo.vargas@uni-hohenheim.de

Rainforest Alliance Certification and its Global Trade Effects in the Cocoa Sector

NINA GRASSNICK, BERNHARD BRÜMMER

University of Goettingen, Dept. of Agricultural Economics and Rural Development, Germany

The amount of non-tariff measures, applied to guarantee high levels of food quality, such as sanitary and phytosanitary or technical measures, has increased over the last decades. In addition to mandatory quality standards, voluntary food safety as well as social and environmental standards have evolved to meet an increasing demand for safe, high-quality, sustainably and ethically produced food by discerning consumers worldwide.

Since these voluntary standards affect import and exports decisions, the analysis of trade effects of such non-tariff measures has become an important topic during. The standards-as-barriers versus the standards-as-catalysts argument especially, has been controversially discussed. However, scientific evidence remains ambiguous.

This study analyses the trade effects of the private social and environmental standard Rainforest Alliance (RA) in the cocoa sector. This sector makes a suitable example to study social and environmental standards, because it faces three major challenges in production. First, the cocoa sector is characterised by increasing chocolate demand. Second, cocoa farming is expanding, especially into rain forest and protected areas, which can lead to reduction of native vegetation and biodiversity. Third, most cocoa producers are smallholders who rely on family and informal labour.

This study makes four major contributions to the current debate. First, we use a previously unexploited data set provided by RA. Second, we study the trade effects of a social and environmental standard, while most other studies focus on food safety standards. Third, we are the first who use the share of certified land area to total area as a proxy for certification. This allows us to calculate a less biased effect of certification on export flows. Fourth, our analysis is at a global level including 56 exporters and 172 importers over a 9-year period. Previous studies rather focus on one specific import or export region.

We find that RA certification enhances bilateral exports of cocoa. However, the effect remains robust only for raw cocoa beans and cocoa paste and disappears for other processed cocoa products. Finally, we conclude that voluntary food standards are not a suitable instrument to promote sustainably and ethically produced cocoa exports per se.

Keywords: Agricultural trade, cocoa, Rainforest Alliance, voluntary food standards

ID 709 471

Contact Address: Nina Grassnick, University of Goettingen, Dept. of Agricultural Economics and Rural Development, Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: nina.grassnick@uni-goettingen.de

The Baobab Processing Sector in Malawi: Strategy, Business Models and Performance

BICKSON GANGATA¹, KATHRIN MEINHOLD², MUNTHALI CHIMULEKE¹, DIETRICH DARR²

The baobab (*Adansonia digitata* L.) is an important indigenous fruit tree in Africa. The tree's potential as ingredient in healthy and nutritious food products has increasingly been realised, as witnessed by a growing demand for baobab from the global food and beverages industry and establishment of baobab processing companies in sub-Saharan Africa. However, supply of affordable and high-quality processed baobab products is currently faced with a number of challenges. The paper presents results of a study currently ongoing in Malawi. Since the 2000s, the country is characterized by an intensive commercialisation of baobab by numerous formal and informal food processing enterprises. However, research results with regard to strategy, business models and performance of these enterprises are scant. This study aims to fill these gaps.

The study draws from a survey of 80 baobab processing enterprises, key informant interviews, case studies of four enterprises and secondary sources. The majority of the enterprises in the sample (70) are informal enterprises. The most common product in the informal sub-sector is ice-lollies. The target market for the informal processors are low income bracket (usually school going children). Juice and powder are the most dominant products of formal baobab processing enterprises. This subsector targets high-income health conscious consumers primarily in the domestic urban markets. With regard to business models, results show that a majority of the enterprises employ similar business models with collectors as the main key partner in the factors markets and retailers as the main key partner in the product markets. Preliminary results also indicate that using Miles and Snow's strategic typology, a majority of the enterprises can be classified as reactors. By employing undifferentiated business models and employing reactor strategies, the performance of the enterprises is compromised as evidenced by a number of formal enterprises that had to close down operations. The paper presents recommendations on how to increase the business performance of the formal and informal baobab processing sector in Malawi.

Keywords: Baobab processor, business model, performance, strategy

¹Mzuzu University, Faculty of Environmental Sciences, Malawi

²Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences, Germany

Contact Address: Bickson Gangata, Mzuzu University, Faculty of Environmental Sciences, P/bag 201 Luwinga, +265 Mzuzu, Malawi, e-mail: bickgangata85@yahoo.co.uk

Universities, networks and training

0	ral Presentations	
	ARNAU VIDAL, MARTHE DE BOEVRE, SARAH DE SAEGER: MYTOX-SOUTH: An Intercontinental Partnership to	
	Improve Food Security and Food Safety in Developing Countries	476
	KRISTINA ROESEL, DELIA GRACE: Pains and Gains of International Research Collaboration with	
	Academia - Perspectives from an Extramural Research	
	Institute Catherine Kunyanga, Michael Hesse, Jasper Imungi:	477
	Promoting Nutrition and Food Security in Africa: Role of University Research, Technology and Innovation	478
	ISABEL JAISLI, ENNIO MARIANI, RAHEL MEIER, LORENZ RIEGER:	
	Educating for Sustainable Food Value Chains: Insights from an Open Online Course	479
	CAMILLA ADELLE: Making Sense Together? The Role of Academics in the Co- Production of Knowledge for Local Food Governance in South Africa	480
Posters		
	SILKE STÖBER, M. KHAIS PRAYOGA, KUSTIWA ADINATA, NENI ROSTINI, MIEKE SETIAWATI, TANDU RAMBA, HARI ISWOYO, KAIMUDDIN MOLE, RAHMANSYAH DERMAWAN, AMIR YASSI, TUALAR SIMARMATA:	
	Farmer Researcher Networks as Instrument to Develop Small-	
	holders' Adaptive Capacity	481
	BRIGITTE L. MAASS, JUAN MORENO BELMAR, PABLO OLMENO, BARBARA MASSLER:	
	South-South Learning to Advance Cavy Culture in Sub-	
	Saharan Africa	482
	Florent Okry, Paul Van Mele, Latifou Idrissou, Claudia Kpossilandé, Agbangla Alcide:	
	Training Videos to Strengthen the Contribution of Agricultural Professional Training Centres to Food Sequity and	
	tural Professional Training Centres to Food Security and Safety: Case of the Songhai Center in Benin Republic	483

ANNE BOGDANSKI, AMY LOGAN, DAVID KERKHOFS: Advantages and Opportunities for Collaborative Research between Universities and NGOs to Strengthen Food Security	484
SYLVIE DE BUCK, MARC HEIJDE, SILVIA TRAVELLA, VANESSA DE BAUW, DULCE DE OLIVEIRA, GODELIEVE GHEYSEN, MARC VAN MONTAGU: Technology Transfer and Capacity Building in Biotechnology and Biosafety for a Sustainable and Intensified Agriculture in Africa	485
JEREMY HAGGAR, VALERIE NELSON: Use of Research Evidence amongst Agriculture Decision Makers in Sub-Saharan Africa	486
DIRK LANDMANN, SABRINA KIMMIG, CARL JOHAN LAGERKVIST: Relationship between Trainers' Qualification, Learning Success and Satisfaction for Agricultural Capacity Development in Bihar, India	487
HEINRICH HAGEL, MEMUNA KADIE SAWI, TAMBA STEVEN SONDA, FRIEDERIKE BELLIN-SESAY, NICOLE SCHOENLEBER, JENNY KOPSCH-XHEMA: Empowering Young Scientists on Food and Nutrition Security and Right to Food in Sierra Leone	488
TERESA MOSQUERA, HUGO MELGAR QUIÑONEZ, SARA DEL CASTILLO, YESID ARANDA, ÁLVARO PARRADO, LUZ PATRICIA RESTREPO, EUCARIS OLAYA, CARLOS NARVÁEZ, MARÍA VICTORIA DAZA, DAVID CUÉLLAR: The Academy Generates Solutions for Food and Nutrition Security in Colombia	489
GIRMA KELBORO, CHRISTINE SCHMITT, KWADWO AMANKWAH, MANFRED DENICH: Science-Policy-Practice Interfaces in Agricultural Innovations in Africa: Moving beyond the Traditional Boundaries of Doing Science	490
ROSANA KRAL, AXEL MENTLER, SEBASTIAN POSTL, CLAUDIO SIXPENCE, SABINE HOMANN-KEE TUI: Fostering Multi-Stakeholder Co-Learning for more Sustainable Resource Use and Improved Livelihoods in Mozambique	491
IRMGARD JORDAN, THOMAS HILGER, ERNST-AUGUST NUPPENAU: Maize Is Not the Only Food – What Can Universities Do about This?	492

RUERD RUBEN, JAN VERHAGEN: The Challenge of Food System Research: Organising Inter-	
disciplinary and Multi-Stakeholder Engagement	493
SAMUEL KAYONGO NJUKI, AGNES AMONGIN, CHRISTINE	
ILEMUT, STEPHEN WALYAULA: Production and Genetic Conservation of Quality Protein Maize	
(QPM) Seeds by Smallholder Farmers in Karamoja Sub-	:
Region, Uganda	495
LORENZ PROBST, LISA BARDACH, DAPHINE KAMUSINGIZE, NOEL TEMPLER, HUDSON OGWALI, TUMAINI MATUTU, LUKMAN MULUMBA, RICHARD NDEMO ONWONGA, BERIHUN TEFERA ADUGNA: Integrating Research Instruments for the Assessment of Trans-	
formative Sustainability Learning	496
LORENZ PROBST, LISA BARDACH, DAPHINE KAMUSINGIZE, NOEL TEMPLER, HUDSON OGWALI, TUMAINI MATUTU, LUKMAN MULUMBA, RICHARD NDEMO ONWONGA, BERIHUN TEFERA ADUGNA:	
Effects of a Transformative University Learning Experience on Sustainability Agency, Skills and Pro-Environmental	
Attitudes	498
Tumaini Matutu, Ulrike Bey, Christian Guggenberger	! :
Exploring the Power of Innovative Learning with Farmers for	500
Sustainable and Remunerable Agriculture	500

MYTOX-SOUTH: An Intercontinental Partnership to Improve Food Security and Food Safety in Developing Countries

ARNAU VIDAL, MARTHE DE BOEVRE, SARAH DE SAEGER Ghent University, Bioanalysis Department, Belgium

Mycotoxins are toxic fungal secondary metabolites and can contaminate agricultural commodities during cultivation, harvesting, transport, processing, and storage. Mycotoxins are globally distributed and are observed in a vast range of agriculture commodities and environments. This results in contaminated cereal crops, spices, nuts, fruits not suitable for human consumption, leading to enormous economic losses, worldwide. Mycotoxins are present in a wide range of products, from agricultural crops (rice, wheat, rye, barley, corn, soybeans, sorghum, nuts, spices), cereal-based foods (baking products, pasta, breakfast cereals), beverages (fruits, juices and purees, beer and wine), and animal feed to several animal products (dairy products, meat, eggs). Mycotoxin intake may lead to autoimmune illnesses, metabolic and biochemical deficiencies, allergic manifestations, reduction of reproductive efficiency, and may also lead to teratogenicity, carcinogenicity, mutagenicity, and death.

The co-occurrence of different types of mycotoxins results in serious food safety issues all over the world, with sub-Saharan areas being one of the regions at high risk. Moreover, in Africa and other developing countries, the possibilities for regular mycotoxin analysis are scarce to non-existent: analytical tests are expensive; there is a lack of expertise and training; there is insufficient technical support from companies selling analytical instruments, and focus is mainly put on the aflatoxins, while other mycotoxins are being neglected.

To tackle in an efficient and global way the mycotoxin problem the MYTOX-SOUTH partnership was created. MYTOX-SOUTH (http://mytoxsouth.org) intends to harness the expertise and infrastructure available at Ghent University to strengthen the capacity of the southern partners to tackle the mycotoxin problem and the associated food safety and food security issues at global level. For this reason, the long-term aims for MYTOX-SOUTH are: 1) building human and infrastructural capacity through training of the Southern scientific community, 2) bridging the gap between research and development, and 3) stimulate the scientific environment to create a sustainable network.

Keywords: Aflatoxins, capacity building, mycotoxins

Contact Address: Arnau Vidal, Ghent University, Bioanalysis Department, Ottergemsesteenweg 460, 9000 Ghent, Belgium, e-mail: arnau.vidalcorominas@ugent.be

Pains and Gains of International Research Collaboration with Academia – Perspectives from an Extramural Research Institute

KRISTINA ROESEL¹, DELIA GRACE²

¹International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI)/ Freie Universitaet Berlin, Animal and Human Health Program/ Inst. for Parasitology and Tropical Veterinary Medicine, Kenya ²International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), Kenya

The International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI) is an international, independent, non-profit organisation with the aim to improve food and nutritional security and to reduce poverty in developing countries through research for efficient, safe and sustainable use of livestock. Collaboration with academia has long been an integral part of ILRI's work as it leads to shared learning, sharing of resources, synergies, complementation and shaping of a new generation of scientists and potentially, decision makers.

The BMZ/GIZ-funded Safe Food, Fair Food project (2008–2016) collaborated with eight universities in Africa, two in Germany and one in Japan on food safety research in informal markets in sub-Saharan Africa. We use this project to illustrate examples of collaborative activities including joint research and research outputs, short term trainings to or from the academic partner(s), and models of co-supervision of students. We want to track project fellows and see where they operate today and if they have indeed become 'champions' for food safety policy making.

At the first glance, benefits of international collaboration seem to be more obvious to the academic partners in the South. These include short to long term technical capacity building, increased numbers of research outputs as well as access to research funding, technology and international networks. At the second look, exposure of students and researchers of the North to the environment and context of disease in low income countries will foster mutual understanding and future collaboration on global health research. In their later professional and personal lives, students and junior researchers of both the South and the North will then be prepared to make informed decisions in the event of global public health events and to consider, appreciate and judge global changes in their local, and regional context.

Keywords: Academia, capacity building, collaboration, food safety, global health, research for development

ID 540 477

Contact Address: Kristina Roesel, International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI)/ Freie Universitaet Berlin, Animal and Human Health Program/ Inst. for Parasitology and Tropical Veterinary Medicine, Nairobi, Kenya, e-mail: k.roesel@cgiar.org

Promoting Nutrition and Food Security in Africa: Role of University Research, Technology and Innovation

CATHERINE KUNYANGA¹, MICHAEL HESSE², JASPER IMUNGI¹

¹University of Nairobi, Department of Food Science, Nutrition and Technology, Kenya

²University of Kassel, Agricultural Engineering and Agricultural Engineering in the Tropics and Subtropics, Germany

Attainment of food security remains a big challenge for most governments in Africa including Kenya. Food security is a complex problem in many countries and requires sustainable solutions to ensure that everyone has access to safe food at all times. Food security has been highlighted as a focal area of concern by the United Nations' Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and African Union (AU) Malabo declarations (2014). Improving food security situation in Africa requires a multi-faceted approach including looking at alternative strategies and technologies to sustainable crop and livestock production. Most regions in Kenya have been facing severe food insecurity problems as depicted by a high proportion of the population having no access to food in the right amounts and quality/safety. The University of Nairobi in partnership with University of Kassel and other East African universities have implemented a 5 year project on Reducing Losses and Adding Value (RELOAD) aimed at addressing postharvest losses in the food value chains as a strategy of reducing food insecurity. This North to South cooperation has been instrumental in reaching out to young students and innovators in the region who have developed technologies and innovations that are transforming the lives of pastoral communities and poor households in Africa. The University has also partnered with the Food Security Center of the University of Hohenheim with PhD Programs on "Global Food Security". This interdisciplinary collaboration incorporates a multi-faceted strategy that includes diverse approaches and expertise to tackle food insecurity. This paper presentation will give details of some of the top 5 technologies and innovations that have been disseminated to reduce food insecurity and generate incomes for rural poor in Kenya as developed by over 10 postgraduate students and top scientists in these institutional collaborations.

Keywords: Food safety, food security, innovation and technology, institutional linkages

Contact Address: Catherine Kunyanga, University of Nairobi, Department of Food Science, Nutrition and Technology, 29053-00625, Kangemi, Kenya, e-mail: ckunyanga@uonbi.ac.ke

Educating for Sustainable Food Value Chains: Insights from an Open Online Course

ISABEL JAISLI, ENNIO MARIANI, RAHEL MEIER, LORENZ RIEGER Zurich University of Applied Sciences, Inst. of Natural Resource Sci., Switzerland

The 2030 Agenda recognises that food value chains (FVCs) play a leading role in ensuring food security and the implementation of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). SDG 4 "Quality education" emphasises the role of universities in this context. Tertiary education institutions are increasingly responsible for providing free and open access education. Digital educational formats such as eLearning and MOOCs (Massive Open Online Courses) offer enormous potential for global, inclusive and high-quality education.

The Zurich University of Applied Sciences has developed a free and open eLearning course to educate students around the globe about the design of sustainable food value chains focusing on the UN SDGs. The eLearning consists of three modules and is accessible online (https://gof-summerschool.org/elearning/). In order to improve the learning impact, the course was developed in an iterative process. After the development phase, we evaluated the eLearning with 30 students from our summer school "Geography of food". The results of the evaluation were used for adaption of the whole course. And a further, second round evaluation will be conducted.

The most stated message was, that the eLearning "was fun, interesting and kept me focused on the topic". The majority stated that they learned a lot. However, the participants criticised that the third module of the eLearning was not as interesting as the others. Considering this feedback, we unified the design of the three modules and redesigned the third module, putting a strong focus on enhancing the storytelling-aspect and graphical layout.

We conclude that the success of the eLearning is closely related to its attractiveness (story-telling, graphical layout, interactivity). This is proved by the negative feedback for module 3, where the focus on storytelling and graphical layout was weaker. To provide an international success, other aspects like the simple registration-process and the focus on an international environment may be important. In conclusion, the following requirements have been identified as essential to achieve maximum impact:

- Unrestricted and easy access
- An attractive learning environment
- Scientifically sound, relevant content

We see great potential in free online eLearning, where universities can contribute to accessible and inclusive education to improve knowledge about food security. Stronger North-South cooperation and collaboration with interaction designers could further increase the positive impact of such projects.

Keywords: eLearning, scientainment, SDGs, sustainability, sustainable food value chains

ID 921 479

Contact Address: Ennio Mariani, Zurich University of Applied Sciences, Institute of Natural Resource Sciences, Grüntal, Postfach, 8820 Wädenswil, Switzerland, e-mail: ennio.mariani@zhaw.ch

Making Sense Together? The Role of Academics in the Co-Production of Knowledge for Local Food Governance in South Africa

CAMILLA ADELLE

University of Pretoria, Department of Political Sciences/ Centre of Excellence for Food Security, South Africa

This article seeks to bring more clarity on the role of scientists in the co-production of knowledge for food security. Food systems in South Africa are in transition. Universities can play a particularly important role in facilitating the effective dialogue between academics, civil society and policy-makers that is essential to navigate these transitions. However, integrating scientific knowledge with social, ecological, political knowledge through participatory processes ('making sense together') calls for a reorganisation of science: where researchers become part of the same process that the knowledge they offer aims to inform. Yet much of the research on the new role of scientists in producing knowledge is theoretical and empirical verification is often lacking. This article constructs an analytical framework based on the existing science policy studies literature that incorporates three stages: 'problem exploration', 'problem puzzling', and 'problem solving'. The article then tests this framework against the experiences of scientists in the co-production of a local government food security policy in South Africa. The Western Cape Provincial Government Household Food and Nutrition Security Strategic Framework was drafted in 2015 and 2016 by a team of policy makers and academics through a series of collaborative workshops and interviews with key stakeholders. The aim of this process was to embed scientific and political knowledge in context specific knowledge using a 'whole of society approach' deliberately crowding in a diverse range of individuals, organisations and departments to identify strategic priorities and opportunities. The analysis reveals some key lessons as well as likely challenges that could guide food security scientists who wish to engage in the co-production of knowledge in future.

Keywords: Co-production of knowledge, food security, science policy interface, South Africa

Contact Address: Camilla Adelle, University of Pretoria, Department of Political Sciences/ Centre of Excellence for Food Security, Lynwood Road, Pretoria, South Africa, e-mail: camilla.adelle@up.ac.za

Farmer Researcher Networks as Instrument to Develop Smallholders' Adaptive Capacity

SILKE STÖBER¹, M. KHAIS PRAYOGA², KUSTIWA ADINATA³, NENI ROSTINI², MIEKE SETIAWATI², TANDU RAMBA⁴, HARI ISWOYO⁵, KAIMUDDIN MOLE⁵, RAHMANSYAH DERMAWAN⁵, AMIR YASSI⁵, TUALAR SIMARMATA²

¹Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Center for Rural Development (SLE), Germany

Densely populated countries with long coast lines in the tropical zone are highly vulnerable to climate change. Indonesia with more than 50,000 km coastline is such a hotspot and prone to multiple hazards - drought, floods, precipitation-triggered landslides and sea-level rise. Since 1990 the temperature has increased by 0.3°C per decade reaching critical heat stress levels for rice production. Rice is an important crop in Indonesia with 90% of the rice being produced by the 37 million small-scale farmers. These smallholders are often neglected by national policies for climate change adaptation. Therefore scholars and practitioners developed a climate field school approach that has been officially recognised by the government and presented as best practice in international platforms, e.g. at the COP23 in 2017. Climate field schools and agrometeorological learning have been proven to increase the adaptive capacity of farmers. In the climate field school approach two different kind of knowledge schools are brought to-

In the climate field school approach two different kind of knowledge schools are brought together: practical knowledge of farmers and academic knowledge of university staff. Farmers are enabled to monitor, document and assess the results of on-farm trials in the field (=farmer researcher). Scholars understand how to translate and make use of academic knowledge in a solution-oriented manner, including the development of training handbooks and hands-on assessment methods. The implementing organisations act as knowledge brokers between academic and practice at local, and upscale knowledge to regional and national levels.

Tested and new climate resilient agricultural practices of rice farming are trialed on farmer's fields. It comprises the system of rice intensification, stress-tolerant rice varieties, floating paddy fields to integrated rice-azolla-duck-fish-farming. The costs and benefit analysis of selected practices from 8 villages located in West Java and South Sulawesi indicate the challenges of introducing new farming techniques. Moreover, a multi-stakeholder research process that brings farmer researchers, academic researchers and farmer organisations together requires a long-term platform to unlock its potential. Putting farmers' aspirations and needs in the centre and a multi-level solution space are the keys to success for building adaptive capacities for climate resilient agriculture.

Keywords: Adaptive capacity, climate change, climate-resilient rice production, farmer field school, knowledge systems

ID 938 481

²Universitas Padiadiaran (UNPAD). Indonesia

³Ikatan Petani Pengendalian Hama Terpadu Indonesia (IPPHTI), Indonesia

⁴Gereja Toraja, Motivator Kondoran, Indonesia

⁵Universitas Hasanuddin (UNHAS), Indonesia

Contact Address: Silke Stöber, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Center for Rural Development (SLE), Robert-Koch-Platz 4, 10115 Berlin, Germany, e-mail: silke.stoeber@agrar.hu-berlin.de

South-South Learning to Advance Cavy Culture in Sub-Saharan Africa

Brigitte L. Maass¹, Juan Moreno Belmar², Pablo Olmeno², Barbara Massler³

Local knowledge reflects the wisdom and accumulated experiences of many generations and testifies continuous adaptation. Local capacity-building systems, such as farmer-to-farmer training and peer-to-peer knowledge transfers, are effective means for increasing access to knowledge and services. PROCASUR has developed and implemented alternative learning tools: learning-routes and learning-territories (LT).

Peer-to-peer learning and South-South networking is encouraged by an emerging cavy network. Cavy (*Cavia porcellus*) culture R&D, good practices for cavy husbandry, and their benefits to communities have long been established in Peru and Bolivia. In sub-Saharan Africa (SSA), however, there is ample potential to further develop the current knowledge on cavy prospects for harnessing innovation, supporting entrepreneurship, and advancing opportunities for smallholder cavy producers. The first comprehensive cavy project in SSA (realised by the International Livestock Research Institute, ILRI, with partners in Cameroon and DR Congo, 2011-2014) identified cavy meat as alternative animal-source protein accessible to poor and vulnerable people. Furthermore, it established that women and youth especially benefitted from the cavy value chain.

South American and SSA stakeholders met at an International Cavies Symposium in Cameroon in 2016. This provided a forum for peer-to-peer learning and South-South networking among stakeholders from universities, research institutions, NGOs and farmer associations. Institutional progress made since the Cameroon-Symposium reflects the stimulus that this first South-South encounter provided to participants. Incipient intra and inter-continental communication has evolved, even incentivizing some Congolese to learn Spanish.

Since 2017, a Cavy-LT in Peru is operational with 'Local Champions', who act as peer-to-peer trainers supported by over 100 trained cavy producers. Producers are organized in a territorial business network providing the institutional framework and policy support for the functioning of the cavy value chain. In the last 24 months, the Cavy-LT has trained 622 Peruvian cavy producers (38 % female; 18 % young people), generating additional income, including the sale of productive inputs (e.g. breeders). Eleven Bolivian peers visited the Cavy-LT in 2018. They exchanged knowledge of good practices in reproduction management, biosecurity, feeding, slaughtering and marketing of cavies. There are plans that Peruvian cavy entrepreneurs will provide their expertise to peers from Cameroon and Congo in exchange visits.

Keywords: Bolivia, Cameroon, *Cavia porcellus*, Democratic Republic of Congo, guinea pig, learning route, learning territory, livelihood, livestock, local champion, mini-livestock, peer-to-peer learning, Peru, smallholder

Contact Address: Brigitte L. Maass, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Crop Sciences, Grisebachstr. 6, 37077 Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: Brigitte.Maass@yahoo.com

¹Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Crop Sciences, Germany

²Procasur, Casilla 599, Chile

³Consultant to PROCASUR, Germany

Training Videos to Strengthen the Contribution of Agricultural Professional Training Centres to Food Security and Safety: Case of the Songhai Center in Benin Republic

Florent Okry¹, Paul Van Mele², Latifou Idrissou³, Claudia Kpossilandé⁴, Agbangla Alcide⁵

Due to a lack of resources the training of professionals in agriculture often suffers from a good balance of theory, practice and field visits. This obviously reduces the contribution of professional training centres to food security and safety. For several years, Songhai Center in Porto Novo, Benin, has downloaded farmer-to-farmer training videos from the Access Agriculture video portal and screened these to their trainees at weekly events. All videos were shown in French and featured farmers from different parts of Africa, Asia and Latin America. The videos focus on agroecology. From July to December 2016 we interviewed 111 randomly selected trainees who attended the video projections to assess the contribution of videos to their training. About 96% of the trainees found the content of the videos useful and relevant, and estimated that the videos contributed for 15 % to their knowledge, similar to the contribution of theoretical classes. The graduates currently watch videos to acquire new knowledge (78%) or to review previous notions (29%). About 33% of the trainees use videos to train their farm workers and farmers in their villages. The trainees said that the videos connect contexts and allow them to learn from experiences of farmers with different cultural backgrounds. The trainees were willing to pay about 2.6 USD to buy a DVD with training videos. This study confirms that agricultural professionals do not experience any cultural barriers when learning from farmer-to-farmer training videos that are made to good quality standards and that build on adult learning principles. South-South learning between practioners strengthens in a cost-effective way the training of young agricultural professionals by creating a better balance between theory, practice and field visits.

Keywords: Agriculture, Benin, professional training, Songhai Center, video mediated learning, West-Africa

ID 931 483

¹Access Agriculture, National University of Agriculture, Benin

²Agro-Insight, Belgium

³University of Parakou, Benin

⁴National University of Agriculture, Benin

⁵freelance, Benin

Contact Address: Florent Okry, Access Agriculture, National University of Agriculture, 041 BP 13, Cotonou, Benin, e-mail: florent@accessagriculture.org

Advantages and Opportunities for Collaborative Research between Universities and NGOs to Strengthen Food Security

ANNE BOGDANSKI, AMY LOGAN, DAVID KERKHOFS Humana People to People, European Office, Spain

Humana People to People (HPP) is a federation of 31 locally registered and managed non-governmental organisations on five continents. Improving the food security of the rural poor through the provision of extension services is central to their work in the global South. A recent meta-analysis of these so-called farmers' clubs aimed to compile lessons-learnt to-date.

The farmers' clubs approach was first used in 2006 and has since been applied in more than 330 projects. Currently, approximately 90,000 farmers participate in the programme across 14 countries in Africa, Asia and Latin America. Participants are organised into groups of 25–50 through which they receive training, tools and resources to sustainably increase production and income using locally-appropriate farming methods.

A meta-analysis completed in 2017 had the objective to provide an overall assessment and review of external evaluations of farmers' clubs projects that were carried out in different contexts and countries to identify good practices, commonly faced challenges and trends. It serves as an internal review on what has been learned to date, and to identify opportunities for improvements in future projects.

This paper outlines the added value of collaborative research for improved food security showing a concrete example of initial research done on farmer clubs. While extension services and NGOs can benefit from a scientifically solid evaluation of their impact on food security, the research community can gain from tailoring their project design and results presentation according to the needs of the NGOs. Moreover, stronger collaboration in research initiatives is likely to increase take up by NGOs and extension services in the field, thereby improving the impact that research results may have on food security. The paper will further explore opportunities for collaborative research on farmers clubs taking into account the extension service model's flexibility and outcomes from the meta-analysis.

Keywords: Collaborative research, extension services, farmer clubs, food security

Contact Address: Amy Logan, Humana People to People, European Partnership Office, Madrid, Spain, e-mail: amy.logan@humana.org

Technology Transfer and Capacity Building in Biotechnology and Biosafety for a Sustainable and Intensified Agriculture in Africa

Sylvie De Buck¹, Marc Heijde¹, Silvia Travella¹, Vanessa De Bauw¹, Dulce de Oliveira¹, Godelieve Gheysen², Marc Van Montagu¹

The IPBO (International Plant Biotechnology Outreach) promotes access to scientific and technological innovations as ways of enhancing food security and promoting a sustainable intensification of agriculture. Innovations in biotechnology hold massive opportunities for developing a more sustainable agriculture. However, converting these opportunities into practice in emerging economies requires a concerted effort in training in – and access to – the latest technological developments and the design of effective biosafety and regulatory mechanisms. IPBO is an active cell within the VIB, Belgium (Flemish Institute for Biotechnology) created by Prof. Marc van Montagu in 2000. The mission of IPBO is threefold: (1) improve understanding and create awareness about the importance of green biotechnology applications for sustainable development (communication), (2) empower plant biotechnologists and plant breeders from developing countries and emerging economies through training and capacity building in plant biotechnology and biosafety (training), (3) act as a focal platform for green biotechnology in Europe and leverage outreach to developing countries and emerging economies. For instance, with support of the Flanders Government, IPBO has joined forces with the UN Industrial Development Organisation (UNIDO, Austria) to set up the International Industrial Biotechnology Network (IIBN, www.iibn.eu). This network is being used to work out projects linking Flanders, European-Asian and American scientists or companies at one side and African partners at the other side.

Under IIBN, agricultural constraints that are potential targets for biotechnology interventions are being mapped in different parts of the world, especially in sub-Saharan Africa. Also, a member-based cooperation network is being developed. Together, these efforts will create an effective platform for identifying new opportunities for cooperation.

Keywords: Africa, plant biotechnology, sustainable agriculture

¹VIB-UGent, IPBO, Belgium

²UGent, IPBO, Belgium

Contact Address: Sylvie De Buck, VIB-UGent, IPBO, Technologiepark 19, 9052 Ghent, Belgium, e-mail: sylvie.debuck@vib-ugent.be

Use of Research Evidence amongst Agriculture Decision Makers in Sub-Saharan Africa

JEREMY HAGGAR, VALERIE NELSON

University of Greenwich, Natural Resources Institute, United Kingdom

The outcomes from different approaches to sustainable agricultural intensification (SAI) is highly contested, such as between agrochemical input-based and agroecological intensification. The SAI research and learning in Africa programme (www.sairla. nri.org) aims to identify and generate research evidence to inform how poorer smallholders, women and youth may better access and benefit from SAI. But what is the demand and capacity to use research evidence by decision makers in agricultural development? Ninety-seven decision makers from government, civil and private sectors across six African countries (Burkina Faso, Ghana, Ethiopia, Malawi, Tanzania and Zambia) completed a self-assessment of their demand for and use of research evidence. This was complemented with 39 semi-structured interviews with key informants and revision of the main agricultural policy documents in the different countries. At least fifty per cent of decision makers actively sought research evidence, although this was lower in private sector respondents (only 33%), while over 70% in other groups. A majority of respondents consult evidence on at least a yearly basis, with government and research organisations being the main sources. Content of research evidence was weakest on issues of gender and generational equity, as well as on social and environmental trade-offs. Over 80% of respondents consider they had a moderate to very good opportunity to apply research evidence and would receive recognition for doing so, thus indicating motivation to use research evidence was high. While a majority of researchers considered that the influence of research evidence on policy was weak, a majority of government sector thought it was strong. Review of agricultural policy documents indicated that the majority included consideration of social and environmental sustainability. However, responses from key informants indicated that the implementation of these aspects of policy was weak, often due to conflicting interests. Therefore, we conclude there is interest amongst African decision makers to use research evidence, but they lack the evidence and tools to implement environmental sustainability and social equity in agricultural development.

Keywords: Environmental sustainability, informing policy, social equity, sustainable agricultural intensification

Contact Address: Jeremy Haggar, University of Greenwich, Natural Resources Institute, Central Avenue, ME4 4TB Chatham Martime, United Kingdom, e-mail: j.p.haggar@gre.ac.uk

Relationship between Trainers' Qualification, Learning Success and Satisfaction for Agricultural Capacity Development in Bihar, India

DIRK LANDMANN¹, SABRINA KIMMIG¹, CARL JOHAN LAGERKVIST²

Within capacity development, the type and quality of the trainer can play a crucial role in promoting farmers' capacity. Hence, the main purpose of this paper is to examine the relationship between trainers' qualification and learning success and satisfaction of small-scale farmers during training activities in Bihar, India. Moderated mediation analysis is utilised to measure the direct and indirect effects of trainers' qualification on learning success and satisfaction. Therefore, the psychological constructs of attitude and perceived control from the theory of planned behaviour (TPB) operate as mediators, subjective norms act as moderator, and gender and age serve as covariates. The results do not indicate a distinction of satisfaction among farmers regarding trainer qualification. However, learning success decreases with an academically educated trainer. The change of attitude during the training has a significantly positive influence on satisfaction. Subjective norms also influence the participants' satisfaction positively. Thus, we suggest for practical implications combining an expert trained on-the-job as the main trainer with an academically educated trainer integrated via modern technologies. In addition, the social environment has to be addressed within the training. Besides the professional background, it is important that trainer gets trained on teaching methods and other soft skills. The results further show that the behavioural constructs are relevant in the field of agricultural education and extension. Theoretical implications can be drawn regarding the improvement of this conceptual framework and other related studies. Whilst various studies have addressed the identification of farmers' capacity development preferences, few have investigated the relationship between trainer qualification, learning success and satisfaction.

Keywords: Agricultural training, attitude, moderated mediation, perceived control, small-scale farmers, subjective norm, trainers' qualification

ID 670 487

¹University of Goettingen, Dept. of Agricultural Economics and Rural Development, Germany

²Swedish University of Agricultural science, Dept. of Economics, Sweden

Contact Address: Sabrina Kimmig, University of Goettingen, Dept. of Agricultural Economics and Rural Development, Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: sabrinakimmig@gmx.de

Empowering Young Scientists on Food and Nutrition Security and Right to Food in Sierra Leone

HEINRICH HAGEL¹, MEMUNA KADIE SAWI², TAMBA STEVEN SONDA², FRIEDERIKE BELLIN-SESAY¹, NICOLE SCHOENLEBER¹, JENNY KOPSCH-XHEMA¹

Sierra Leone belongs to the poorest countries in the world and has emerged from a decade long civil war in 2001. This war has led, amongst others, to a dramatic reduction of food availability and a serious brain-drain which adversely affects the human capacity in the country on the long term. In the recent years, Ebola outbreak counteracted the country's development. The food and nutrition security situation remains precarious and a lot of effort is needed to improve livelihoods of people in Sierra Leone.

Njala University is the only Sierra Leonean university combining programs in agriculture, food technology, nutrition, and home economics, which aim directly at improving knowledge on food and nutrition security, at one institution. The university had to leave the campus during the rebel war and was re-opened at Njala Campus in 2005. During the Ebola outbreak it had to be closed again. Brain-drain at university level and partial destruction of physical infrastructure still require long term assistance.

The Food Security Center of the University of Hohenheim combines scientific expertise in agriculture and nutrition with broad visibility and, thus, was asked to coordinate a partnership in training and research between the University of Hohenheim and Njala University, specifically in the field of "International Food and Nutrition Security and the Right to Food" (NutritionSec).

The NutritionSec project aims at qualifying university lecturers at PhD and PostDoc level, as well as future professionals at MSc level on Food and Nutrition Security and the Right to Food. Lecturers of both universities participate at joint existing teaching programs in Germany. In addition, they develop innovative MSc modules at Njala University in close collaboration taking into account the local conditions in Sierra Leone. These MSc modules will qualify future professionals to support the country's recovery from the serious brain-drain in the past decades. In addition, the teaching infrastructure of Njala University is upgraded to ensure up-to-date high quality education. These measures should significantly contribute to improving the food and nutrition security situation in the country.

Keywords: Curriculum development, international cooperation, research and education, train the trainer, Western Africa

¹University of Hohenheim, Food Security Center, Germany

²Njala University, School of Agriculture, Sierra Leona

Contact Address: Heinrich Hagel, University of Hohenheim, Food Security Center, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: hagel@uni-hohenheim.de

The Academy Generates Solutions for Food and Nutrition Security in Colombia

TERESA MOSQUERA¹, HUGO MELGAR QUIÑONEZ², SARA DEL CASTILLO¹, YESID ARANDA¹, ÁLVARO PARRADO¹, LUZ PATRICIA RESTREPO¹, EUCARIS OLAYA¹, CARLOS NARVÁEZ¹, MARÍA VICTORIA DAZA³, DAVID CUÉLLAR¹

Food security and nutrition is a complex challenge that requires a complex approach to face it. McGill University from Canada and the National University of Colombia, formed a multidisciplinary team that in a transdisciplinary work linked social sciences and natural sciences and developed a technological innovation, the most nutritious potatoes. These potatoes offer higher nutritional contents such as iron, zinc, dietary fibre, protein and polyphenol compounds that protect the health. These varieties were selected in participatory research with communities. These potatoes offer 18 % more income to small-scale potato farmers, because they are more resistant to the most devastating disease in this crop and the yield is the double compared to the most cultivated variety in the country. It is expected that, at the end of the second semester of 2018, these new varieties will reach 13 million consumers in Colombia in accumulative way. This project developed knowledge for the two participating universities and linked the postgraduate academic programs in gender studies, food and nutritional security, agricultural sciences and rural business development working collaboratively with McGill University. Undergraduate students, masters and doctoral students were trained and results were generated for policy makers on issues of nutrition, gender and social equity, and environmental protection. We developed a model to scaling-up a technological innovation based on social innovations and we generated the pillars to stablish a system to produce good quality of seed potatoes for Colombia.

Keywords: Gender equity, linking agriculture and nutrition, scaling-up

ID 919 489

¹Universidad Nacional de Colombia, Agronomy, Colombia

²McGill University, Canada

³Funcción Colectivo Mujer y Sociedad, Colombia

Contact Address: Teresa Mosquera, Universidad Nacional de Colombia, Agronomy, Carrera 30 No 45-03, Building 500 office 261, 0 Bogota, Colombia, e-mail: tmosquerav@gmail.com

Science-Policy-Practice Interfaces in Agricultural Innovations in Africa: Moving beyond the Traditional Boundaries of Doing Science

GIRMA KELBORO 1 , CHRISTINE SCHMITT 1 , KWADWO AMANKWAH 2 , MANFRED DENICH 1

Agricultural innovation pathways have developed since the beginning of the 20 th century from the linear model of transferring knowledge, technologies and practices from 'sources' (universities, research centres) to 'receivers' bridged through the extension system to the current approach of joint collaboration between stakeholders. However. there are no sufficient guidelines on how scientists can effectively engage with policy makers in research and knowledge sharing. Within the BMBF-funded Biomass-Web project (www.biomassweb.org), we aimed at filling this cooperation gap through research-policy-practice interfaces (RPPI) based on the concepts of transdisciplinarity and research for development (R4D) continuum. The research process followed four main stages to create RPPI: (1) Biomass Web researchers formed (interconnected) teams along the chains of production, processing and marketing biomass-based products in selected sub-Saharan African countries (Ethiopia, Ghana and Nigeria); (2) researchers participated in training workshops on participatory research methods; (3) workshops were organised for the researchers to evaluate and collate lessons learned from their practice of participatory methods; (4) BiomassWeb research findings were shared, among others, through science-policy dialogues. On the one hand, researchers were required during the evaluation workshops to reflect on their approaches to interactions with stakeholders and adapt their approaches to the contexts during the research and, on the other hand, broaden the channel of communicating scientific knowledge in a way understandable to policy makers. The knowledge sharing during the science-policy dialogue has led to jointly identifying and reflecting on the mechanisms to address concerns of policy makers and practitioners to implement the findings. The need for continuous research to address some of the problems that arise in the process of implementation has also been recognised by both researchers and policy makers. Therefore, without undermining the role of universities and research centres in knowledge and technology production, we argue that universities can engage with policy makers through stakeholder participation, science-policy dialogue, providing evidence continuously and facilitating the process of learning lessons for successful implementation of agricultural innovations in Africa.

Keywords: Innovation communication, R4D, transdisciplinarity

¹University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Germany

²Kwadaso College of Agriculture, Ghana

Contact Address: Girma Kelboro, University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Genscherallee 3, 53113 Bonn, Germany, e-mail: gmensuro@uni-bonn.de

Fostering Multi-Stakeholder Co-Learning for more Sustainable Resource Use and Improved Livelihoods in Mozambique

ROSANA KRAL¹, AXEL MENTLER², SEBASTIAN POSTL³, CLAUDIO SIXPENCE⁴, SABINE HOMANN-KEE TUI⁵

The central Mozambican provinces are climatically quite diverse. While some provide farmers with favourable environments, others make agriculture a complicated and risky endeavour for the hard-working and persistent. In Marara, in Tete province, the climate is semi-arid, around 600 mm of rain fall every year, but in just two months. In El Nino years, there is even less rain if any at all. The local farming systems are mostly rain-fed, and integrate crops and livestock. Goats, and to a lesser extent also cattle, are the systems' backbone. Information and inputs are hard to come by for farmers. Extension services are underequipped and cannot provide as much support as would be desirable.

In this challenging environment, our project seeks to understand how we can support a transition to more sustainable resource use and improved livelihoods for farmers. By using an open innovation platform approach, we aim at improving social and professional linkages between all actors: farmers, extension, private and governmental sector. Following a participatory identification of strengths, threats, opportunities and weaknesses, we provided technical trainings, encouraged experimentation and facilitated analysis. We want to build capacities and to foster co-learning of all actors. To stimulate self-organisation and to facilitate linkages with market actors and extension services, we included modern information and communication technology in the project set-up.

To accommodate farmers' deep interest in soil, we developed a soil health training that was tailored to the specific context in Marara. We visited several members of the innovation platform in their fields and interviewed these farmers about challenges and mitigation strategies. We prepared information on soil processes, related it to current agricultural management practices in the area, and chose four fields to visit with participants during the training. We documented several stages of the training implementation using video equipment. The trainings ended with a feedback workshop. Here, we want to present experiences with this type of training and lessons learned, as well as set these in relation to feedback from screenings of our video in several different settings.

Keywords: Extension, film, innovation platform, participation, training

ID 826 491

¹University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Centre for Development Research, Austria

²University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Dept. of Forest and Soil Sciences, Austria

³University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Media Services, Austria

⁴Intern. Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), Mozambique

⁵International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), Zimbabwe

Contact Address: Rosana Kral, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Centre for Development Research, Borkowskigasse 4, 1190 Vienna, Austria, e-mail: rosana.kral@boku.ac.at

Maize Is Not the Only Food – What Can Universities Do about This?

IRMGARD JORDAN¹, THOMAS HILGER², ERNST-AUGUST NUPPENAU³

HealthyLAND is a collaborative research project, involving two German and three African universities in Kenya, Malawi, and Uganda. All universities have long-term experiences in agriculture and nutrition research. The project aimed at a better understanding how to improve the linkage between crop and dietary diversity. Besides assessing the nutritional status, crop and dietary diversity of poor farm families, agricultural and nutrition education interventions were conducted in the project areas.

During 2016, the research team (nutritionists, agricultural economists and agronomists) conducted an agriculture-nutrition-baseline study at all three African research sites. The findings confirmed that farmers' diversification levels were poor. The most common crop grown by the farmers was maize, with very little legumes and vegetables. Additionally, it was found that dietary diversity was poor. Focus group discussions revealed root causes like population density (need for starch), and perceived "food security equals maize".

All researchers agreed that a paradigm change is needed towards improving agrobiodiversity for diverse diets, and that "the food-equals-maize-thinking" is fostering malnutrition as well as soil degradation. However, in the HealthyLAND implementation phase curiously agricultural researchers were reluctant to design an intervention without research on maize practices. Farmer field schools were established with maize intercropping systems, including distribution of maize seeds as preference of stakeholders. It was argued that maize was used to interest farmers to participate. "Maize might be used for own consumption but also as cash crop". This hindered the development of innovations of other crops than maize.

Discussions among the research team members showed that maize production is still highly embedded in local universities training, attitude and practice of lecturers, neglecting all the negative impacts on both human diet and soil degradation. We think the problem is also embedded in a crude and odd discussion about terms such as food security if neglecting nutrition norms. Looking for reasons is urgently needed, though normative. Policy makers and stakeholders in the agricultural sector as well as the nutrition sub-sector have a major responsibility for changing own people's perceptions and attitudes on food. It requires a paradigm change in research, university training, school education and farmer training, too.

Keywords: Agriculture nutrition linkage, food security, maize, university training

¹ Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Center for International Development and Environmental Research, Germany

²University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

³Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Agric. Policy and Market Res., Germany

Contact Address: Irmgard Jordan, Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Center for International Development and Environmental Research, Senckenbergstr. 3, 35390 Gießen, Germany, e-mail: Irmgard.Jordan@ernaehrung.uni-giessen.de

- Production of healthier food might lead to reduced sustainability (increased energy use);
- Healthier food choices hardly respond to market incentives and more to social norms;
- Investments in waste management tend to increase market volume and lead to lower prices.

This 3-I framework is useful to support exchange between academic disciplines and to guarantee engagement of multiple stakeholders.

Keywords: Food systems, interdisciplinarity, multi-stakeholder

Production and Genetic Conservation of Quality Protein Maize (QPM) Seeds by Smallholder Farmers in Karamoja Sub-Region, Uganda

Samuel Kayongo Njuki 1,2 , Agnes Amongin 2,1 , Christine Ilemut 1,2 , Stephen Walyaula 1,2

The need for improving availability and access to pure quality maize seeds of protein content instigated the commencement of a programme for production and conservation longe5 seed revitalisation system. Longe5 is a maize variety with two amino acids called tryptophan and lucine that codes protein synthesis. This study aimed at (i) Creating a multi stakeholder innovation platform for commercial production of pure quality Longe5 maize seeds (ii) Training and equipping farmers with practical grower and protein preservation knowledge; (ii) Quality control and marketing of pure quality Longe5 seeds in a sustainable venture (iv) increasing seed volumes through block farming. Successes achieved involved application of effective methodologies including: (a) establishing an inter-linkage platform for sourcing production and marketing information used in QPM seed system; (b) application of nucleus and farmer field school perspective for practical farmer training (c) application of isolations and half-sib methods for genetic purity conservation and (d) establishing block fields for seed production. Four farmer groups were formed each comprising of 30 farmers across selected districts. Under a comprehensive method, farmers commenced with use of foundation seed stocks and produced quality declared seed and finally pure quality seeds after three seasons. The project registered the following benefits including: (i) Platform for OPM seed enterprise established and functionalized (ii) favorable contract agreements for commercial seed scheme developed and operationalized (iii) model for QPM seed profit margin analysis for crop enterprise selection developed and (iv) 5 farmer groups under FFS made operational (v) 60 % trained in production and marketing and consumption of OPM maize seed systems (vi) 79.9 % of farmers applied half-sib method at various isolation perspectives (vii) 100MT of pure OPM maize seeds were produced. Currently growers are knowledgeable of the values, benefits of longe5 seed production, access and availability especially at planting time.

Keywords: Farmer, half-sib, quality protein maize purity, smallholder

ID 321 495

¹National Agricultural Research Organization (NARO), Uganda

²Nabuin Zonal Agricultural Research and Development Inst. (Nabuin ZARDI), Uganda

Contact Address: Samuel Kayongo Njuki, National Agricultural Research Organization (NARO), Box 132, Moroto, Uganda, e-mail: jskayongo@yahoo.com

Integrating Research Instruments for the Assessment of Transformative Sustainability Learning

Lorenz Probst¹, Lisa Bardach², Daphine Kamusingize³, Noel Templer⁴, Hudson Ogwali⁵, Tumaini Matutu⁶, Lukman Mulumba⁷, Richard Ndemo Onwonga⁴, Berihun Tefera Adugna⁸

If higher education for sustainability is to be advanced, we need to evaluate the effect of specific learning experiences on sustainability values, skills and behaviour. The Transformative Learning Theory seems to be particularly suited to capture such learning processes. There is, however, agreement in the literature that the impact of learning experiences is difficult to assess, as the course setting is only one of many aspects of the students' lifeworlds. Student biographies are not characterised by linear causalities, and even the students themselves may have difficulties identifying transformative learning moments. Moreover, studies on higher education for sustainability have been criticised for methodological weaknesses. Scholars of transformative learning in particular have questioned the ability of quantitative research instruments to capture the messy space of transformation.

We do believe, however, that those promoting novel forms of sustainability learning at universities will need efficient instruments to assess learning designs and to argue for course and curriculum adaptation. Accordingly, we developed a research instrument based on established concepts: the survey of the Graduate Study Cooperative (KOAB), the Transformative Learning Survey and the Environmental Attitudes Inventory (EAI). We then tested the instrument with 117 alumni of the International Training Course on Organic Agriculture.

The KOAB served as the basic structure and captured the characteristics and current professional position of a respondent. It also contrasted the capabilities acquired at university with the actual professional requirements. To apply the Transformative Learning Survey to a specific learning experience, we adapted the wording and re-

¹University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Centre for Development Research (CDR), Austria

²University of Vienna, Dept. of Applied Psychology: Work, Education and Economy, Austria

³National Agricultural Research Laboratories, Uganda

⁴University of Nairobi, Kenya

⁵Facilitation for Innovations and Sustainable Productivity (FINASP UG), Uganda

⁶HORIZONT3000, Act Mara / Enabling Rural Innovation, Tanzania

⁷Makerere University Kampala, College of Agriculture and Environmental Sci., Uganda ⁸Bahir Dar University. Ethiopia

Contact Address: Lorenz Probst, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Centre for Development Research (CDR), Gregor Mendel-Strasse 33, 1180 Vienna, Austria, e-mail: lorenz.probst@boku.ac.at

duced the number of scales to four: 1) Acting differently, 2) Cognitive/Rational, 3) Open perspectives, and 4) Social responsibility. Considering our interest in sustainability behaviour, we also integrated items of the Environmental Attitudes Inventory. To test the factorial validity of the scales, we applied Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA). All CFA models showed an adequate to excellent model fit (CFI: 0.91–1.00, TLI: 0.91–1.05, RMSEA: 0.000–0.069) In addition, reliability coefficients of all scales were satisfactory to good. Despite the limitations of ex-post studies based on self-reported perceptions, we conclude that the newly developed survey instrument could become a useful tool for advancing sustainability learning.

Keywords: Evaluation, quantitative assessment, research instrument, sustainability learning, transformative learning

Effects of a Transformative University Learning Experience on Sustainability Agency, Skills and Pro-Environmental Attitudes

Lorenz Probst¹, Lisa Bardach², Daphine Kamusingize³, Noel Templer⁴, Hudson Ogwali⁵, Tumaini Matutu⁶, Lukman Mulumba⁷, Richard Ndemo Onwonga⁴, Berihun Tefera Adugna⁸

The purpose of this study was to analyse the transformative potential of an intensive, transdisciplinary university course in training sustainability agents using the case of the International Training Course on Organic Agriculture (ITCOA). The ITCOA is a programme organised annually for three weeks in Uganda. Initially, the consortium consisted of Makerere University Kampala (Uganda), University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences-BOKU (Austria), and Sokoine University of Agriculture (Tanzania). The University of Nairobi (Kenya), Bahir Dar University (Ethiopia) and Uganda Martyrs University joined later on, and BOKU-Austria has now fully transferred its coordinating role to the East African partners who have further developed the program. Each participating university nominates excellent undergraduate students from different disciplines for the course, and the annual number of participants varies between 32 and 40. This study analyses the training courses from 2005 to 2014. We integrated concepts of sustainability learning and the Transformative Learning Theory into a research instrument, building on the survey of the Graduate Study Cooperative, the Transformative Learning Survey and the Environmental Attitudes Inventory. To our knowledge, this is the first study applying the Transformative Learning Survey combined with other instruments to a specific learning intervention. 117 ITCOA alumni participated in our study. To analyse the data, a path model was set up. The results showed that the ITCOA provided a transformative experience that positively predicted the participants' sustainability agency, empirically defined as the feeling of having a personal influence on sustainability and the perception of the employer's influence on sustainability. The learning experience also predicted the pro-

¹University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Centre for Development Research (CDR), Austria

²University of Vienna, Dept. of Applied Psychology: Work, Education and Economy, Austria

³National Agricultural Research Laboratories, Uganda

⁴University of Nairobi, Kenya

⁵Facilitation for Innovations and Sustainable Productivity (FINASP UG), Uganda

⁶HORIZONT3000, Act Mara / Enabling Rural Innovation, Tanzania

⁷Makerere University Kampala, College of Agriculture and Environmental Sci., Uganda ⁸Bahir Dar University. Ethiopia

Contact Address: Lorenz Probst, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Centre for Development Research (CDR), Gregor Mendel-Strasse 33, 1180 Vienna, Austria, e-mail: lorenz.probst@boku.ac.at

fessional and personal competencies at graduation and environmental attitudes. While we are aware of the limitations of ex-post studies based on self-reported perceptions, we conclude that the ITCOA as a transdisciplinary learning design is an example of transformative sustainability learning - forming knowledge, attitudes, and skills. The design creates experiential space for transformative social learning, particularly in the affective domain. Our study thus helps to argue for further research, monitoring, and a wider reform of sustainability learning at universities.

Keywords: Agency, attitudes, organic agriculture, skills, sustainability learning, transformative learning, university learning

Exploring the Power of Innovative Learning with Farmers for Sustainable and Remunerable Agriculture

TUMAINI MATUTU¹, ULRIKE BEY², CHRISTIAN GUGGENBERGER¹ HORIZONT3000, Act Mara / Enabling Rural Innovation, Tanzania ²HORIZONT3000, East Africa Programme / Enabling Rural Innovation, Austria

New and emerging technologies may have the potential to tremendously improve the future of crop and livestock production in developing countries. However, harnessing the potential of such technologies for food security requires investments in research and development, human capital, infrastructure and knowledge flows.

For the last five years, HORIZONT3000 has been implementing Enabling Rural Innovation in East Africa (ERI EA); a regional rural development project that works through capacity building, knowledge management and strategic partnerships to benefit rural farmers and their communities to enhance and balance their food sovereignty, income security, and sustainable natural resource management. It uses the Enabling Rural Innovation (ERI) approach developed in East Africa by the International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT) to overcome the linear, top-down model of technology development and market access in agriculture.

In order to further create an enabling environment for agricultural innovation that benefits farmers and university students, since 2016 HORIZONT3000 partnered with Makerere University, Uganda Martyrs University, Sokoine University of Agriculture Tanzania, University of Nairobi Kenya and Bahir Dar University Ethiopia under the International Training on Organic Agriculture (ITCOA). Through this interactive knowledge sharing process together with farmers, students learnt about the working of ERI approach by applying its five key modules of: Participatory Diagnosis, Participatory Market Research, Farmer Participatory Research, Enterprise Development, and Participatory Monitoring & Evaluation. On the other hand, students shared practical knowledge of agro ecosystem health assessment and use of a mobile soil testing kit with farmer groups and field extension staff in Rakai and Tororo districts.

Project annual reports and monitoring reports for 2016/17 showed that shared know-ledge and experience led to improved soil and water management practices and as a result, food production volumes (especially cereals and legumes) more than doubled. Obtained knowledge has also been applied in establishing and maintaining simple vegetable gardens around homesteads (kitchen gardens) that further supplement the quality of daily meals consumed rural farming families in the project area. Empowering farmers and the youth with relevant application knowledge will be the best way to tackle the big challenge of food security and nutrition in the twenty first century.

Keywords: Food sovereignty, innovative learning, natural resource management

Contact Address: Tumaini Matutu, HORIZONT3000, Act Mara / Enabling Rural Innovation, 1160 Musoma, Tanzania, e-mail: ulrike.bey@horizont3000.at

Towards sustainable livelihoods

Oral Presentations		
ARCHANA RAGHAVAN SATHYAN, CHRISTOPH FUNK, THOMAS AENIS, PETER WINKER, LUTZ BREUER:		
Changing Climate – Changing Livelihood: Farmer's Perceptions and Adaptation Strategies, Indian Watershed Context	505	
HENNING KRAUSE, ANJA FASSE, ULRIKE GROTE: Multiplier Effects and Food Security Outcomes of an Increased		
African Indigenous Vegetable Demand in Kenya	506	
KAAT VAN HOYWEGHEN, GOEDELE VAN DEN BROECK, MIET MAERTENS:		
Understanding the Importance of Wage Employment for Rural Development: Evidence from Senegal	508	
CHOMPHUNUT KANTABUSSABONG, SABINE LIEBENEHM, HERMANN WAIBEL:		
Why Do Rural Households in Northeast Thailand Invest Less? Consequences for the Development	509	
Posters		
ORKHAN SARIYEV, TIM K. LOOS, MANFRED ZELLER:		
Exploring the Linkage between Women's Status and Household Food Security in Bhutan	510	
CHARLOTTE JANSSENS, GOEDELE VAN DEN BROECK, MIET MAERTENS, ISABEL LAMBRECHT:		
Mothers' Non-Farm Entrepreneurship and Child Secondary		
Education in Rural Ghana	511	
Annapia Debarry, Sarah Nischalke, Tina Beuchelt: Translation of Gender Awareness into Practice: Experiences		
from a Nutrition-Sensitive Agriculture Project in Yayu, South-	512	
western Ethiopia	512	
LILIAN NKENGLA-ASI, AMAN OMONDI BONAVENTURE, VINCENT CHE SIMO, ELIZABETH ASSAM TABOKO, SERGINE NGAT. BRENDA BOONABAANA:	AT,	
Gender Relations in Banana Seed Systems in Banana Bunchy		
Top Disease Affected Communities in Cameroon	513	
LILLI SCHEITERLE, REGINA BIRNER:		
Breeding Goals Reloaded: The Case of the "tasteless"		
Plantain in Ghana	514	

EMILY MUTOTA, STEPHANIE DOMPTAIL, ERNST-AUGUST NUPPENAU: How Does the Commercialisation of Nature Influence Relational Values and Food Security in North-Eastern Namibia?	515
HÉLÈNE MBAIDIDJE BIANGUIRALA, SABRINA DE JONG CINI, PABLO CISNEROS ARAUJO, ESBEN THODE SCHULTZ, STEPHANIE HOPE BARKER BRANICK, YASER MEARI: Park-People Relationships and the Importance of Forest	
Products in the Livelihood Strategies in Rural Thailand	516
PRADIP KUMAR SARKER, MD SAIFUR RAHMAN, SOHAG MIAH LUKAS GIESSEN: Protected Area Co-Management Initiatives and Policy Change through Foreign Donor in Bangladesh	, 517
THI THAM LA, JÜRGEN PRETZSCH, DIETRICH DARR:	
Acacia Wood Production and Commercialisation Systems for Smallholder Livelihood Development in Central Vietnam	518
KLARA DZHAKYPBEKOVA, ZHAMILIA SULAIMANOVA, CHOLPONAI NURDOOLOT KYZY, JYLDYZ SHIGAEVA, DIETRICH DARR, HEINZ-PETER WOLFF:	
The Contribution of the Underutilised Species in the Walnut- Fruit Forests to the Local Livelihoods in Kyrgyzstan	519
ASIF HAMEED, MUHAMMAD TARIQ, EVA SCHLECHT: The Role of Yak for the Livelihood of the People of Gilgit-Baltistan, Pakistan	520
JACQUELYN ESCARCHA:	320
Shifting from Crops to Livestock: Smallholders' Livelihood Adaptation Dynamics in Nueva Ecija, Philippines	521
Antonia Herm-Stapelberg, Gaël de Certaines, Audrey Fanchone:	
Co-Design of Future Farming Systems in Guadeloupe: Techno- Economic Referencing of Agroecological Practices in Crop-	
Livestock Systems	522
NGA PHAM THI THANH, ARCHANA RAGHAVAN SATHYAN, MATTHIAS GARSCHAGEN, JAKOB RHYNER: Adaptation to Flash Floods and Landslides of Rural House-	
holds in the Northern Vietnam: An Insight into the Key	
Drivers	523
Anna Sofie Starup Andersen, Monica Quevedo Cascante, Christina Schwöppe, Emil Borello Skjødt, Morten Hørkild Sten, Louise Strange:	
Beyond the Green Revolution: Thailand's Attempt to Guide Path Dependent Farmers Towards more Sustainable Practices	524

VIRGINIA RODRIGUEZ GARCIA, PATRICK MEYFROIDT, FRÉDÉRIKE GASPART, THOMAS KASTNER: Agricultural Intensification and Land Use Change: Testing the Induced Intensification, Land Sparing and Rebound-Effect Hypotheses with Cointegration	525
HUONG NGUYEN THI LAN, HERMANN WAIBEL, SABINE LIEBENEHM:	
Land Use Change and Agricultural Growth in Rural Vietnam DAVID WILDER, SABINE LIEBENEHM, HERMANN WAIBEL:	526
Investments in Agriculture but Trapped in Poverty: Evidence Based on Panel Data Analysis from Vietnam	527
Moses Kakungulu, Moses Isabirye, Liesbet Vranken, Jean Poesen, Seppe Deckers, Miet Maertens: Who Should Diversify? Income Portfolios and Household Welfare in Rural Uganda	528
Chinedu Obi, Marijke D'Haese:	320
Does International Migration and Remittance Lead Agricultural Household to Non-Agricultural Investment? Evidence from a Household Study in Nigeria	529
DEOGRACIOUS OPOLOT, JOHN ILUKOR, SETTUMBA MUKASA, JOHNNY MUGISHA:	
Fuel from the Farm: An Analysis of Farmer's Decisions to Produce Bioethanol from Cassava. A Case of Smallholder Farmers in Northern Uganda	530
ARNOT FEUERBACHER, ARUN RAI, KLAS SANDER, HARALD GRETHE:	
Linking Rural Households to Wood Product Value Chains – A Viable Forest Policy for Rural Development in Bhutan?	531
HAOWEN ZHUANG, SHAOZE JIN, HERMANN WAIBEL: Livelihood Strategies of Smallholder Rubber Farmers in Southwest China	532
FANG LI, SHUYI FENG, HUALIANG LU, MARIJKE D'HAESE: Expanding Chinese Farms: A Spatial Panel Data Analysis to Explore the Large-Scale Production Units	533
FEDES VAN RIJN, CHRISTINE PLAISIER: Towards a Sustainable Sugarcane Industry in India; Improving Water Use, Crop Production and Profits for Indian Sugarcane	534
RAHEL DERIBE BEKELE: Institutions for Irrigation Water Management, Irrigation Technologies And their Impact on Irrigation Performance in Ethiopia	535

Dave Ireri, Jackson Langat, Margaret Ngigi: Willingness to Pay for Irrigation Water Institutions' Improve- ments among Smallholder Farmers in Asal Kenya	536
INGRID HØGH RASMUSSEN, MIGUEL RAMIREZ LOPEZ, HELENE FRIIS JOHANSEN, JEPPE ALBREKTSEN, WAFA BARTAWI:	
Compromises, Risks and Obligations: Perception of Agrochemicals, Ideology and Health in Huai Phrom, Thailand	537
JULIUS TWINAMASIKO, JOHNNY MUGISHA, FREDRICK BAGAMBA, JOHN ILUKOR, IRMGARD JORDAN, ERNST-AUGUST NUPPENAU:	
Characterizing the Diversity of Smallholder Farmers for Informed Agricultural Interventions: An Application of Multivariate Analyses in Kapchorwa District, Uganda	538
MAGDALENA WANAWAN, VIRGINIA TAPAT: Participatory Needs and Opportunities Assessment as Springboard for Integrated Research and Extension Interventions	539

Changing Climate – Changing Livelihood: Farmer's Perceptions and Adaptation Strategies, Indian Watershed Context

Archana Raghavan Sathyan¹, Christoph Funk², Thomas Aenis³, Peter Winker². Lutz Breuer¹

Climate change impacts are disproportionately distributed across the temperate and tropical regions. Most of the countries in the tropics and subtropics will be the hardest hit by climate change with a decline in agricultural production, increased livelihood insecurity, and downward spiral in human development indicators. Moreover, these countries own large populations of poor smallholder farmers who live in a 'complex, diverse and risk-prone' system, which adds to their vulnerability. For example, India's smallholder farmers comprise 78 % of the country's farmers and they produce 41 % of the country's food-grains. As climate change impacts are increasingly observed and felt by these smallholders, there is an urgent need to identify the factors that enhance the adaptive capacity of farmers, their households and communities. We, therefore, use the recently developed climate vulnerability index for rainfed areas based on data from 215 household surveys in three different watershed smallholder communities in Kerala, India to analyse the farmer's vulnerability to climate change. We are interested in examining how households perceive climate change, how they adapt their behaviour in response to perceived changes in climate and what the main drivers in influencing the household's choices of adaption measures are. The results reveal that 85.3% of the farmers perceive 'medium-high' level of considerable rise in temperature while 66.1 % of them perceive erratic monsoon occurrence over the past ten years. We find that there exists a considerable variation for the three regions when it comes to the actual use of adaptation strategies but that, in general, the households are using various adaptation methods simultaneously. Results of a binary regression model reveal that gender, age of the household head, household size, net sown area, household assets and poverty status of the household significantly influence the choices of adaptation measures used to cope with climate change.

Keywords: Adaptation strategies, climate change, rainfed, smallholder farmers, watershed

ID 760 505

_

¹ Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. Landscape Ecology and Resources Management (ILR), Germany

² Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Dept. of Statistics & Econometrics, Germany

³Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Albrecht Daniel Thaer-Institute of Agricultural and Horticultural Sciences (ADTI), Germany

Contact Address: Archana Raghavan Sathyan, Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. Landscape Ecology and Resources Management (ILR), Heinrich-Buff-Ring 26-32, 35392 Giessen, Germany, e-mail: archanasathyan@gmail.com

Multiplier Effects and Food Security Outcomes of an Increased African Indigenous Vegetable Demand in Kenya

HENNING KRAUSE¹, ANJA FASSE², ULRIKE GROTE¹

Despite continuous efforts of policy makers to improve food security outcomes in the country, Kenya is still among the countries with the highest micronutrient deficiency worldwide. African indigenous vegetables (AIVs) can be an answer to this problem thanks to their high contents of micronutrients. In fact, those crops have seen a rise in appreciation and demand in urban areas of Kenya over the last decade. Income effects for farmers adopting AIVs are ambiguous and depend on the availability of assets, markets and public infrastructure. However, measuring only direct effects can understate the income and food security effects of an increased demand of AIVs on the rural population. Thus, the following research questions arise: a) What are the characteristics of food insecure households in the villages? b) Which crop has the best direct and indirect income effects for food insecure households?

For the analysis, a total of 706 small-scale vegetable producers were interviewed in Kiambu, Nakuru, Kakamega and Kisii County in Kenya in 2015. A two-step cluster analysis is applied to the sample with several food security indicators to cover the multidimensionality of food security. This way, households are grouped into food secure and food insecure households in peri-urban and rural areas. A social accounting matrix is then generated to show direct and indirect income effects of different food secure households in the village economy. Results show a significant higher prevalence of food insecurity in the rural areas especially in the utilisation and stability dimension. Food secure producers have higher levels of education and own more land, have more income from off-farm employment and less from crop production than food insecure ones. AIVs have higher multiplier effects in the village economy than many traditional cash crops like coffee, tea or maize. Among rural food insecure households, especially the less commonly produced AIVs such as Miroo (Slenderleaf - Crotalaria ochroleuca), Murenda (Jute mallow - Corchorus olitorius), Pumpkin leaves (Cucurbita moschata) and Enderema (Vine spinach - Basella alba) have the highest income effects.

Keywords: African indigenous vegetables, cluster analysis, food security, Kenya, social accounting matrix

¹Leibniz Universität Hannover, Institute for Environmental Economics and World Trade, Germany

²Weihenstephan-Triesdorf University of Applied Sciences, TUM Campus Straubing, Environmental Policy and Resource Economics, Germany

Contact Address: Henning Krause, Leibniz Universität Hannover, Institute for Environmental Economics and World Trade, Königsworther Platz 1, 30451 Hannover, Germany, e-mail: krause@iuw.uni-hannover.de

Women's Indigenous Knowledge and its Contribution to Sustainable Livelihoods: The Case of African Indigenous Vegetables in Kenya

EMMA OKETCH¹, RUTH GITHIGA¹, ANNE KINGIRI²

This paper aims at demonstrating the important role of indigenous knowledge and its contribution to sustainable livelihoods through an investigation of the African indigenous vegetables (AIVs) value chain from a gender perspective. AIVs are a woman's crop and as such they have indigenous knowledge which they pass on orally and practically regarding the production, preparation, preservation and uses of AIVs. This knowledge is in danger of being lost if not well preserved and disseminated especially because of increased commercialisation of the AIVs value chain, the loss of the women's share, rural urban migration, and the emphasis on cash crop production. This paper presents the findings of the HORTINLEA subproject "Gender order: Embedding gender in horticultural value chains to close the productivity gap." The results are based on field research carried out in the rural, peri-urban and urban areas in Kenya. The research employed the use of qualitative methods of data collection such as semi-structured in-depth interviews and focus group discussions with male and female farmers, traders, and respondents from NGOs, research organisations and Government. Qualitative content analysis was carried out using MAXQDA software. The results demonstrated that women have knowledge on AIVs varieties, seed bulking, production processes, medicinal values, ecological sustainability, social networking and methods of AIVs preparation and preservation that contribute to food security and sustainable livelihoods for their households and communities. The paper therefore seeks to discuss methods of oral knowledge preservation and dissemination by universities and policy innovations that can be made by decision makers to make visible the important indigenous knowledge contribution of women to food security.

Keywords: African indigenous vegetables (AIVs), gender, indigenous knowledge, policy innovations, sustainable livelihoods, women

ID 737 507

 $^{^1 \}textit{Humboldt-Universit\"{a}t zu Berlin, Dept. of Gender and Globalization, Germany}$

²African Center for Technology Studies, Research, Kenya

Contact Address: Emma Oketch, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Department of Gender and Globalization, Haus 12, Philippstrasse 13, 10115 Berlin, Germany, e-mail: emma.awino.oketch@gmail.com

Understanding the Importance of Wage Employment for Rural Development: Evidence from Senegal

KAAT VAN HOYWEGHEN, GOEDELE VAN DEN BROECK, MIET MAERTENS KU Leuven, Earth and Environmental Sciences, Belgium

The literature on the rural non-farm economy and non-farm employment often neglects agricultural wage employment. This neglect is rooted in the idea that such employment cannot significantly contribute to household welfare and rural development because it is a low-return and insecure type of employment. In this paper we specifically focus on off-farm wage employment, disentangle different employment sectors, and estimate the impact on household welfare. We use two-round panel data from Senegal, and fixed effects regressions and differencing techniques. We use static as well as intertemporal measures of welfare. We find that entry into wage employment increases per capita income with 140%, smoothens income significantly, reduces the likelihood to be poor with 34% points and the likelihood to become or remain poor with 16%. Despite substantially lower wages for casual and agricultural employment, we find substantial income-enhancing and poverty-reducing effects of such employment. Casual employment is found to at first smooth incomes and to then boost incomes either through upward employment mobility to higher-return jobs or through relaxing investment constraints and increased income from self-employment. We conclude that jobs are important for rural development as they both smooth and boost rural incomes; that the agricultural sector can be an important source of jobs; and that casual jobs can be an important source of upward income mobility. The paper corroborates claims on the importance of the rural non-farm economy but refutes the idea of casual or agricultural employment not contributing to household welfare and rural development. This calls for a reconsideration of the definition of the rural non-farm economy to include agricultural wage employment as a full component.

Keywords: Panel data, rural development, Senegal, wage employment

Contact Address: Kaat Van Hoyweghen, KU Leuven, Earth and Environmental Sciences, Celestijnenlaan 200e, 3001 Leuven, Belgium, e-mail: kaat.vanhoyweghen@kuleuven.be

Why Do Rural Households in Northeast Thailand Invest Less? Consequences for the Development

CHOMPHUNUT KANTABUSSABONG, SABINE LIEBENEHM, HERMANN WAIBEL Leibniz Universität Hannover, Institute of Development and Agricultural Economics, Germany

In emerging market economies like Thailand, rural development has not received adequate attention in the recent past. The government tends to rely more on specific and often irrelevant agricultural income subsidies (e.g. rice pledging scheme), as well as the rural urban migration, in order to improve the well-being of rural households. However, well-targeted rural development programs are largely missing. As a consequence, the productive investments by rural households have declined. Using a unique panel data set of some 2000 households from over 200 villages in three provinces of Northeast Thailand, this paper analyses the pattern and determinants of investments by rural households. We use two panel waves (2010 and 2013) from the project "Thailand-Vietnam Socioeconomic Panel (TVSEP)", which included specific investment modules in the survey instrument.

In this paper, we have used a classification approach for different types of investments to identify the investment patterns. To analyse the volume and the determinants of investment, we developed a fixed-effects regression model (FEM). Our results show that the investment pattern has changed profoundly while the overall investments have declined. Rural households invest less in agriculture and more in non-agricultural enterprises, i.e. micro- and small-scale businesses. For investment determinants, we found that education, gender, access to credit, household wealth and the household head's willingness to risk are positively associated with both the propensity to invest and the amount of investment.

The findings of this research provide a scientific basis for designing rural development policies. The basis can effectively foster the improvement of socio-economic conditions in rural villages, in order to reduce the alarmingly high rural urban welfare gap in Thailand.

Keywords: Fixed-effect regressions, investments, panel data, rural development, Thailand

ID 576 509

Contact Address: Chomphunut Kantabussabong, Leibniz Universität Hannover, Institute of Development and Agricultural Economics, Koenigsworther Platz 1, 30167 Hannover, Germany, e-mail: kantabussabong@ifgb.uni-hannover.de

Exploring the Linkage between Women's Status and Household Food Security in Bhutan

ORKHAN SARIYEV, TIM K. LOOS, MANFRED ZELLER

University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

Despite the wide range of literature supporting the positive linkage between women empowerment and food security, one fails to find its examination in social contexts where females historically enjoyed equality or even favouritism in few cases like maternal inheritance and polyandry. Therefore, this study was conducted in the Kingdom of Bhutan, a landlocked Himalayan country which remained isolated from the world until the 1960s. Literature recognises the prevalence of matrilineal succession and polyandry during the 20th century in Bhutan, with its vestiges still remaining in few nomadic ethnic groups.

In this regard, both quantitative and qualitative survey methods were employed with the objectives of (i) investigating women's participation level in crucial domestic decision-making processes of Bhutanese households and (ii) identifying the effect of the level of female involvement in domestic decision-making on households' dietary diversity.

The analyses are based on data collected from 214 randomly selected households living in two central western regions of Bhutan. Employing a recently suggested methodology, women's participation in domestic decision-making is measured and used to estimate its effects on two dietary diversity indicators, i.e. Food Variety Score and Household Dietary Diversity Score.

Descriptive analyses and qualitative interviews reveal that women do not lack any significant participation in domestic decision-making. Besides, the estimations indicate that the relationship between women empowerment and dietary diversity is non-linear. It is estimated that in low levels, increase in female participation in domestic decision-making is associated with positive outcomes. Preliminary analyses indicate that moving towards (perfect) gender equal decision-making regarding household livelihoods positively affects dietary diversity. Thus, this study mainly contributes to filling the gap in gender literature regarding the analyses in social contexts similar to Bhutan where literature supports the presence of polyandry and matrilineal succession. Furthermore, household per capita food expenditure, diversity in agricultural production and the quality of soil are found to be robust determinants of households' dietary diversity.

Keywords: Bhutan, dietary diversity, domestic decision-making, gender equality

510 ID 688

LLCJ

Contact Address: Orkhan Sariyev, University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Wollgrasweg 43, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany, e-mail: o.sariyev@uni-hohenheim.de

Mothers' Non-Farm Entrepreneurship and Child Secondary Education in Rural Ghana

CHARLOTTE JANSSENS, GOEDELE VAN DEN BROECK, MIET MAERTENS, ISABEL LAMBRECHT

KU Leuven, Earth and Environmental Sciences, Belgium

While an important share of the rural population in sub-Saharan Africa owns a nonfarm enterprise (NFE), it is unclear how these businesses, especially among female owners, contribute to rural development. This study investigates the missing link between rural NFEs and children's education in developing countries. We focus specifically on secondary education, as secondary schooling is lacking behind in enrollment rates compared to primary education. Moreover, while secondary education has received less attention than primary education in the 2000–2015 development agenda, it is high on the international policy agenda for 2015–2030 with a specific target on universal lower secondary education in the Sustainable Development Goals. We emperically analyse the link between NFEs and child education with national representative quantitative data from the sixth round of the Ghana Living Standard Survey (GLSS) and qualitative data from focus group discussions throughout rural Ghana. Using instrumental variable regressions that pass weak and overidentification restrictions, we estimate the impact of mothers' non-farm entrepreneurship on the propensity of child secondary school enrollment. We find a strong significant positive effect of 10.6% points, corresponding to a relative increase of more than 25%. We find a positive effect on Junior High School enrollment but not on Senior High School enrollment, which relates to lower expenses and a better spread in payment for Junior High School education. We test interaction effects between mothers' non-farm entrepreneurship and other important determinants of child schooling. The school-improving effect of mothers' non-farm entrepreneurship is equally strong for boys and girls and for high- and low-educated mothers, and stronger for poorer households. While most of NFEs are small-scale and informal, our results show that even these businesses result in increased investments in child schooling and directly contribute to development. The results imply that NFEs entail the potential to stimulate child schooling among children of low-educated and poor mothers and thereby reduce inequality in rural education.

Keywords: Employment, Ghana, non-farm enterprise, rural development, schooling

ID 283 511

Contact Address: Charlotte Janssens, KU Leuven, Earth and Environmental Sciences, Geo-Instituut Celestijnenlaan 200e, 3001 Heverlee, Belgium, e-mail: charlotte.janssens@kuleuven.be

Translation of Gender Awareness into Practice: Experiences from a Nutrition-Sensitive Agriculture Project in Yayu, Southwestern Ethiopia

ANNAPIA DEBARRY, SARAH NISCHALKE, TINA BEUCHELT University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Germany

Women in sub-Saharan Africa play a key role for agricultural production and are usually overburdened with work. While issues of gender equality in agriculture have caught increasing attention, the adoption and implementation of gender policies and project agendas at local level remain a key challenge. This research aims to investigate gendered workload and labour division in Ethiopia and to identify possible pathways to improve the status quo. In addition to gender-disaggregated household survey data (n=334), this research uses a qualitative approach, including 30 role-playing-games, 45 semi-structured interviews and four focus group discussions with farmers and officials in four villages in southwestern Ethiopia.

Research results indicate that gender awareness, gained through trainings and media, is not yet translated into daily practices. Despite a high awareness of women's workload among both, men and women, the division of labour tasks is highly gendered and remains unfair. Women work up to five hours per day more than their husbands. While female participation in male-dominated tasks are the norm, male participation in reproductive labour is a cultural taboo. Although all women expressed the desire to be more supported by men, they hardly had any own vision of what could alleviate their workload. However, both male and female participants identified increased male participation in vegetable production as a possible pathway to achieve a fairer distribution of labour. While Ethiopian policies and project interventions address gender inequality at household level, severe problems with the implementation process were identified. Apart from a general lack of staff, the gender knowledge and sensitivity of extension staff is low. While officials indicated that more gender trainings are needed, female farmers perceived trainings as additional workload while not bringing any benefits to them. More research is needed on how gender policies can be translated more effectively at local level in order to induce lasting change of habits.

Keywords: Ethiopia, female workload, gender, policy implementation, social change

Contact Address: Annapia Debarry, University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Genscherallee 3, 53113 Bonn, Germany, e-mail: annapia.debarry@googlemail.com

Gender Relations in Banana Seed Systems in Banana Bunchy Top Disease Affected Communities in Cameroon

Lilian Nkengla-Asi 1,5 , Aman Omondi Bonaventure 2 , Vincent Che Simo 3 , Elizabeth Assam Taboko 4 , Sergine Ngatat 5 , Brenda Boonabaana 6

The study aims to investigate how gender roles shape varietal preferences and decisions-making rights of men and women farmers in banana seed systems value chain in Cameroon. Mixed methods were used to assess access to productive resources, banana productivity, cropping and varietal preferences and decision-making rights between men and women within households in three communities in Ambam District. Sex disaggregated data were collected using quantitative intra-household survey (n= 122) and qualitative tools used included 6 sex-segregated key informant interviews and Focus Group discussions (n=68) and observation. Results showed that household banana production is the main activity of men and women farmers for income and food security. It's is largely collaborative, often on separate fields for men and women. Access to the most fertile land favoured households with indigenous male heads. Site selection for banana production was identified as men's activity supported by women's knowledge. Seed selection was mostly done by women, yet men had better access to seed compared to women farmers. Varietal preferences for both men and women was market-driven and thus, there were no differences in preferred choices between both. In all communities, men had greater ownership and control over production resources. Banana production activity is complimentary for men and women farmers which might form platforms for negotiation, compensation and perhaps nonmonetary reward system within households. Shock from Banana bunchy top disease (BBTD) on banana production system is therefore likely to demand the contribution of women's roles in seed selection and crop maintenance, thus, providing an opportunity to access to and benefit-sharing in the banana seed value chain.

Keywords: Banana bunchy top disease, banana seed systems, Cameroon, gender roles

ID 640 513

¹International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-arid Tropics (ICRISAT), Gender Research, Mali

²Bioversity International, Benin

³University of Dschang, Cameroon,

⁴University of Buea, Cameroon

⁵International Insitute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), Cameroon

⁶University of Makerere, Uganda

Contact Address: Lilian Nkengla-Asi, International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-arid Tropics (ICRISAT), Gender Research, Icrisat Bamako, 320 Bamako, Mali, e-mail: l.nkengla@cgiar.org

How Does the Commercialisation of Nature Influence Relational Values and Food Security in North-Eastern Namibia?

EMILY MUTOTA, STEPHANIE DOMPTAIL, ERNST-AUGUST NUPPENAU Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Agric. Policy and Market Res., Germany

In Africa, the relationship and connection of rural people to nature is undergoing changes related to the increased selling of natural products. In rural north-eastern Namibia, the selling of forest timber and non-timber products, as well as river products like fish and reeds, has intensified, risking degradation of ecosystems functions and services upon which the local residents depend for food and income. This study explores how relational values are changing due to the increased selling of natural products in Nambi and Marema villages. The study focuses on relational values as these reveal villagers' shared meanings and moral responsibilities towards the management of natural resources. This study shows how intensive commercialisation of nature is creating conflicts among resource users as their economic and socio-cultural interests and values come to differ. The study also reveals how the emerging conflicts are affecting food security at the village level. Photovoice method was used to collect qualitative data from 20 villagers, to articulate relational values and meanings attached. Villagers' perceptions of the impact of commercialisation of nature on relational values were obtained through 157 structured interviews. Data were analysed with thematic analysis as well as factor analysis. The maintenance of cultural heritage, identity and enhancing social interactions and relations were amongst the most important relational values expressed by villagers. These values are attributed to ecosystems such as the river and not only to single natural feature, such as reeds. Elderly people and individuals who interact with nature beyond interests to gain money (e.g. traditional healers) expressed the most relational values and fear that intensive selling of natural products will cause loss of socio-cultural knowledge and shared values. Further, the culturally important natural features like trees are threatened by the processes of commercialisation, through the institutional settings which are put in place to manage the new markets, for instance, community forests. These are perceived by most villagers to attract outsiders in their own resource system and to generate social conflicts within the village. Research findings indicate that institutional settings such as community forests affect local people's relational values, ecosystem services health and local's accessibility to food.

Keywords: Commercialisation of nature, community forests, ecosystem services, Namibia, relational values, rural communities

ID 818 515

Contact Address: Emily Mutota, Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Agric. Policy and Market Res., Senckenbergstr. 3, 35390, Giessen, Germany, e-mail: emily.mtota@gmail.com

Park-People Relationships and the Importance of Forest Products in the Livelihood Strategies in Rural Thailand

HÉLÈNE MBAIDIDJE BIANGUIRALA¹, SABRINA DE JONG CINI¹, PABLO CISNEROS ARAUJO², ESBEN THODE SCHULTZ³, STEPHANIE HOPE BARKER BRANICK². YASER MEARI¹

The creation of protected areas inside forests might promote the goal of conservation but may neglect the livelihoods of rural households if their needs are not considered in the design and implementation of these policies. Forest products are an important source of income, both for subsistence and cash, for many rural households in the Global South.

The research study was conducted in northeastern Thailand in Nakhon Ratchasima Province with the aim to identify the use, role and potential of the forest in the livelihood strategies of the people living in the village Wang Nam Khiao. First, we investigated what characterised the access to forest products, and how the access was mediated. Second, we investigated what income sources were important for the villagers, here including the role of forest products. In addition, we examined the villagers' dependency on forest products and their rationales behind their collection. Finally, we investigated how ecotourism could be an alternative livelihood strategy in the future.

The data was obtained by applying both quantitative and qualitative methods and analysed through several analytical frameworks. It was found that the access to Thap Lan National Park (TLNP) and Sakaerat Biosphere Reserve (SBR) differed greatly through formal and informal arrangements. In TLNP the laws were not strictly enforced and the relationship between the villagers and the TLNP law enforcers seemed well functioning. In contrast, a conflict over access to forest products was exemplified in SBR. Collection of forest products was usually not the main source of income for most households surveyed, but was still important to a certain extent, especially for landless and unemployed households. The forest had different functions such as gap filling, safety net or poverty prevention. It was found that the villagers had many rationales for collecting forest products, both economic and cultural. In a perspective of future sustainable livelihoods around the forest, opportunities such as forest conservation through better harvesting management and ecotourism were explored, and further research would be needed to fully measure the impacts on the villagers' livelihoods of such alternatives.

Keywords: Access, dependency, ecotourism, forest products, livelihoods, NTFP, protected areas. Thailand

¹University of Copenhagen, Dept. of Food and Resource Economics (IFRO), Denmark

²University of Copenhagen, Dept. of Geosciences and Natural Resource Management (IGN), Denmark

³University of Copenhagen, Dept. of Anthropology, Denmark

Contact Address: Hélène Mbaididje Bianguirala, University of Copenhagen, Dept. of Food and Resource Economics (IFRO), Rolighedsvej 25, 1958 Frederiksberg C, Denmark, e-mail: mbaididje.helene@hotmail.com

Protected Area Co-Management Initiatives and Policy Change through Foreign Donor in Bangladesh

PRADIP KUMAR SARKER¹, MD SAIFUR RAHMAN², SOHAG MIAH³, LUKAS GIESSEN⁴

Protected areas are seen as central instruments for the conservation of biological diversity as well as wild resources for local livelihood security. Following the 4th World Congress on National Parks and Protected Areas (CNPPA) announcement, Earth Summit in Rio, and the ratification of the Biodiversity Convention, Bangladesh achieved to transform about 10.72% of the total country's forest area under protected forest area like other developing countries. In 2004, US Agency for International Development (USAID) introduced forest co-management approach that sustains both local livelihoods and the conservation of natural resources. The analytical framework combines concepts derived from policy change process, global governance theorem of direct access to the domestic policy-making process, and the bureaucratic politics theory to explain the access of non-domestic actors and their influence in policy making process of a particular sector. A qualitative-qualitative case study of USAID induced forest co-management development initiatives including a process tracing method was employed to recognize the influence of a foreign donor for policy changes in a recipient country. USAID as a foreign donor has initiated forest co-management development concepts altering or initiating important policy and institutional settings in Bangladesh. The changes were the result of a combination of development inputs and policy instruments including funding, technical assistance, capacity building, training and advisory programs approached from the donor. The study concludes that simultaneously with their formal interest, foreign donors tend to pursue their informal political interests such as policy changes in a sovereign country.

Keywords: Bangladesh, bureaucratic politics, co-management, livelihood, policy change, the protected area

ID 320 517

¹Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Chair Group of Forest and Nature Conservation Policy, Germany

²Ministry of Environment and Forests, Planning Division, Bangladesh

³Kanazawa University, Division of Material Chemistry, Japan

⁴European Forest Institute (EFI), International Forest Governance, Germany

Contact Address: Pradip Kumar Sarker, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Chair Group of Forest and Nature Conservation Policy, Albrecht Thaer Weg 8B, 37075 Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: protikswa@gmail.com

Acacia Wood Production and Commercialisation Systems for Smallholder Livelihood Development in Central Vietnam

THI THAM LA¹, JÜRGEN PRETZSCH¹, DIETRICH DARR²

Since the 1990s, the Vietnamese government has adopted the policy of allocating degraded forest land for afforestation and sustainable management to smallholder households. This policy aims to achieve environmental objectives as well as simultaneously improve rural livelihoods and forest-based industries. After the restriction of timber harvests from natural forest in 2014, domestic material sources for forest-based industries mainly come from plantation forests of which more than half is under the management of smallholder households. One of the most important species currently cultivated by smallholder is hybrid *Acacia* (*Acacia auriculiformis* × *Acacia mangium*) due to its suitability for local conditions, early benefits and low upfront investment. The *Acacia* hybrid plantations contribute to smallholders' diversification strategy which enables them to reduce farm-risk, increase income and enhance food security. However, a comprehensive analysis of this sector, so far, is lacking.

This paper elucidates the contribution of *Acacia* hybrid plantations and commercialisation in Thua Thien Hue province, where the species has been cultivated since approximately 20 years. 60 household heads in 3 villages of Nam Dong district were interviewed, following a stratified random sampling approach. 6 in-depth household case studies have been conducted to further complement qualitative insights. The findings were validated in group discussions and expert interviews.

Initial results illustrate that *Acacia* hybrid system accounted for more than 70% of the total timber quantity provided by the plantation forest in Thua Thien Hue province. The crucial position in rural livelihood of such system was unequivocal and sometime it constituted the only income source for smallholders. However, the commercial potential of these plantations wasn't fully utilised as premature harvesting by growers commonly occurred to fulfill their urgent cash demands. Smallholders were also negatively affected by lack of information, limited capital sources and difficult market access. Recommendations refer to the improvement of the productivity and profitability of *Acacia* hybrid plantations and the role of the government, supporting organisations and industry sectors in achieving these targets are delineated.

Keywords: Acacia hybrid, livelihood, profitability, smallholder, timber, Vietnam

¹Technische Universität Dresden, Inst. of International Forestry and Forest Products: Tropical Forestry, Germany

²Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences, Germany

Contact Address: Thi Tham La, Technische Universität Dresden, Inst. of International Forestry and Forest Products: Tropical Forestry, Postfach 1117, 01735 Tharandt, Germany, e-mail: la thi.tham@tu-dresden.de

The Contribution of the Underutilised Species in the Walnut-Fruit Forests to the Local Livelihoods in Kyrgyzstan

Klara Dzhakypbekova¹, Zhamilia Sulaimanova², Cholponai Nurdoolot Kyzy², Jyldyz Shigaeva³, Dietrich Darr¹, Heinz-Peter Wolff^{4,2}

The walnut-fruit forests in Kyrgyzstan constitute the world's largest wild stands of walnut (*Juglans regia* L.) and are considered among the global conservation hotspots. Previous studies have investigated two complementary pathways of their sustainable use: conservation of the forest resources and at the same time securing the well-being of the local populations who depend on these forests. Walnuts offer the major income source for local peasants, whereas other less utilised forest species in this area still has a significant potential for human nutrition and local livelihoods, the generation of local incomes, and sustainable commercialisation. However, very few studies to date investigated how such resources are currently used and how their benefits are allocated to the forest users.

This study aims to identify which factors influence the collection, utilising and processing of these underutilised forest products; which species particularly contribute to local livelihoods; how the benefits of utilising these species are distributed among the local population; and which pathways might ensure better and more equitable access to and use of these plant resources. A household survey and in-depth interviews were conducted in Kyzyl-Unkur village in the walnut forests (n= 102). Statistical inference methods were applied to delineate the different social strata and track down interrelations among the observed variables. Financial and economic valuation tools were used to establish profitability indicators.

The results show that walnut and wild apple collection is highly commercialised and practiced by the 86% of the respondents. And a small share of the interviewed households (14%) collected other types of non-timber forest products (such as wild berries, mushrooms, and medical herbs). Linear regression results showed that the farmers who are part of the cooperatives tend to collect higher amounts of such underutilised products. Although the livestock products are the main alternative income source in the years with low walnut/apple yields, the collection of other species like wild berries, mushrooms, and medical herbs also have a high potential as an alternative income source. To realise this potential better marketing approaches and further improvements of the existing value chains are required (e.g. reduction of middlemen who lower the prices). The advantage of cooperatives (e.g. better access to technology, knowledge, and skills) is another important factor which is needed to be further developed.

Keywords: Bioeconomy, Central Asia, food security, forest-based rural development, Kyrgyzstan, underutilised species

ID 689 519

¹Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences, Germany

²Weihenstephan-Triesdorf University of Applied Sciences, TUM Straubing, Germany

³University of Central Asia, Mountain Societies Research Institute, Kyrgyzstan

⁴University of Hohenheim, Inst. of Agric. Sci. in the Tropics (Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute), Germany

Contact Address: Klara Dzhakypbekova, Rhine-Waal University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences, Marie-Curie-Str. 1, 47533 Kleve, Germany, e-mail: klara.dzhakypbekova@gmail.com

The Role of Yak for the Livelihood of the People of Gilgit-Baltistan, Pakistan

ASIF HAMEED¹, MUHAMMAD TARIQ², EVA SCHLECHT¹

The yak (Bos grunniens L.) is a long-haired multipurpose bovid animal that can survive in the harsh high mountain areas of Pakistan, where this species is traditionally reared by subsistence-level agricultural households. To study the role of yaks for people's livelihood, a detailed survey was conducted in the Gilgit-Baltistan region of Pakistan, from September 2016 to November 2017. Using a semi-structured pre-tested questionnaire in face to face interviews, information from 200 yak farmers in eight valleys (25 farmers per valley) was collected. Of the interviewed vak farmers, 189 (94.5%) were males with an average farming experience of 20 ± 13.1 years. They kept an average of 9.7 ± 10.01 yaks, thereof 3.6 adult females. Mostly, yaks were kept for generating offspring (68% of households), for live animal sale (55%), and for manure supply (50%); furthermore, yaks also served to fulfil regular meat requirements (37%) and those of particular events and festivals (40.5%). Only 17.5% of the households milked their female yaks, with an average daily yield of 1.36 liter cow and a significant difference between the 8 valleys (p < 0.001). Only 12.5 % of the households sold milk products, for a total annual revenue of 57 € per household. Selling yaks mainly served cash purposes (95.2 % of all cases), and buyers were mostly other farmers (62.7%), especially from the own municipality (63.9%). Trading, that is purchasing and reselling of yaks, provided an average gain of 140 € per household and year, with significant differences between valleys (p < 0.01), while direct selling of own yak provided an average annual revenue of 577 € per household. Compared to the average annual household revenue from surplus crop sales of 70 Euro, selling of yak, yak products and yak trading proved to be much more relevant income sources. But since the overall productivity of the yak husbandry systems in Gilgit-Baltistan is low, options to improve yak breeding and feeding as well as rangeland management are currently investigated.

Keywords: Gilgit-Baltistan, income, livelihood, productivity, sale, yak

¹University of Kassel, Animal Husbandry in the Tropics and Subtropics, Germany ²University of Agriculture, Dept. of Livestock Management, Toba Tek Singh, Pakistan

Contact Address: Eva Schlecht, University of Kassel / Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Animal Husbandry in the Tropics and Subtropics, Steinstraße 19, 37213 Witzenhausen, Germany, e-mail: tropanimals@uni-kassel.de

Shifting from Crops to Livestock: Smallholders' Livelihood Adaptation Dynamics in Nueva Ecija, Philippines

JACQUELYN ESCARCHA

Charles Darwin University, Northern Institute, Australia

Sustaining agricultural livelihoods is increasingly challenging for millions of smallholder farmers across developing nations. In the Philippines, farmers are caught between pressures of changes in both social and climate systems. Despite many livelihood development programs, income and food insecurities are prevailing mostly in rural households. Recurring crop failures has hampered the cash crop-oriented smallholders' farming economy. Shifting to livestock-based livelihoods emerged as a buffer activity to recover from production and income shocks due to more frequent typhoons, flooding, and drought. Understanding how farmers take livestock, as transformative opportunity to respond to these changes is important to determine its potential for more adaptive and sustainable smallholder livelihoods. This study explored livelihood trajectories in the context of smallholder households in Nueva Ecija province, publicly known as the rice granary and the national impact zone for water buffalo development programme in the country. The analyses were based on mixed methods i) 30 key informant interviews, ii) 310 farming household survey, and iii) direct observations. Data collection was undertaken from January to October 2016. Findings revealed that farmers' livelihood patterns evolved from the interplay of inter-related causal drivers. Land fragmentation, rapid urbanisation, and extreme climatic events reinforced the decline in farmers' livelihood resources pool. Whereas, the dynamics of change and response depended on the relationships between farm resources, knowledge, and social networks. Recurrent crop failures seriously caused income and market shocks, making local farmers highly risk averse. As a result, shift from rice cultivation to water buffalo dairying was increasingly adopted, that from year 2010, milk became the major contributor to total household income. Coupled with the governmental-led water buffalo development program, such transformative response has balanced farmers dwindling resources, mostly in the form of stable cash incomes, more efficient family labour utilisation, and improved overall household welfare. Therefore, water buffalo dairying can be a viable adaptation option and potential lever to achieve sustainable smallholders' livelihood. Finally, the study proposed a set of key issues for policy and programme consideration.

Keywords: Climate change, livelihood transition, mixed crop-livestock, smallholder households, sustainable livelihoods, water buffalo

ID 554 521

Contact Address: Jacquelyn Escarcha, Charles Darwin University, Northern Institute, Ellengowan Drive Brinkin, 0909 Darwin, Australia, e-mail: jacquelyn.escarcha@cdu.edu.au

Co-Design of Future Farming Systems in Guadeloupe: Techno-Economic Referencing of Agroecological Practices in Crop-Livestock Systems

Antonia Herm-Stapelberg 1,3 , Gaël de Certaines 2,3 , Audrey Fanchone 3

This poster presents ongoing research towards the agroecological transition in Guadeloupe, island of the French Antilles, and is part of the AgroEcoDiv project involving INRA, CIRAD and the University of the Antilles. The current agriculture, heavily export-focused, producing sugar cane and banana often in monoculture, is facing increasing problems and instability due to phytosanitary problems, input dependence and instable market conditions. Sustainable solutions are sought to improve especially the situation of smallholders and improve food security. A possible solution are agroecological practices like improved crop-livestock integration, vermi-compost, pasturing on crop residues, and biological pest control. Agroecology suffers however from a negative reputation of uncertainty, impreciseness and being practice of the elder and it thus lies in the responsibility of universities and research institutions to improve this perception. Within the AgroEcoDiv project, a participative approach with a farmer nucleus of 5 community leaders was applied for the innovative co-conception of the ideal future farming system, starting-off on the current one. During this co-design process, a farming system oriented towards high self-sufficiency, performance, efficiency and resilience achieving improved results thanks to the stepwise introduction of agroecological practices was commonly developed. Within this study, the goal is to establish reference values on self-sufficiency, performance, efficiency and resilience of the current and future system to provide a discussion base, which will be crucial for the communication between researchers and farmers during the further co-design and dissemination process. The research shows in how far the new system unites low dependence on external inputs, agrobiodiversity, soil improvement, plant protection and acceptable workload while assuring a monthly income of 2220€;, thus proves the agroecological transition for Guadeloupean farmers realistic and gives researchers a useful tool for the dissemination of the step-wise transition amongst small mixed crop-livestock farms in Guadeloupe.

Keywords: Agroecology, Carribean, mixed crop-livestock system, participatory, system co-design

¹Montpellier SupAgro, Tropical and Subtropical Agriculture, France

²Ecole Supérieure d'Agro-Développement International, France

³Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique (INRA), French West Indies and Guiana, France

Contact Address: Antonia Herm-Stapelberg, Montpellier SupAgro, Tropical and Subtropical Agriculture, Montpellier, France, e-mail: antonias.post@gmail.com

Adaptation to Flash Floods and Landslides of Rural Households in the Northern Vietnam: An Insight into the Key Drivers

NGA PHAM THI THANH¹, ARCHANA RAGHAVAN SATHYAN², MATTHIAS GARSCHAGEN¹, JAKOB RHYNER¹

¹United Nations University, Institute for Environment and Human Security, Germany ²Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. Landscape Ecology and Resources Management (ILR). Germany

Flash floods and landslides are recurring disasters adversely affecting to rural households whose livelihood subordinate largely on agricultural production. The study, thus, explores farmer's responses to flash floods and landslides in Yen Bai province, one of the poor provinces in the Northern Mountainous Regions of Vietnam. The determinants of households' choices and the barriers to adaptation, moreover, will also be identified. Household-level data was collected from 405 households in three communes namely: An Binh, An Thinh and Dai Son in 2016, from February to April. The analysis reveals that 97 % of the inhabitants practice at least one adaptation strategy in the context of flash floods and landslides. Adjustment in sowing/planting time, change in cropping pattern and varieties, farm diversification, land use change, selling of home and farm assets, assistance received from friends/relatives/government, borrowing money, applying more pesticides, fertilisers and plant protection products were the main adaptation techniques followed by the farmers. Out of these adaptation strategies, change in cropping pattern and variety, crop diversification, soil management and plant protection are the most adapted methods applied by farmers. Accordingly, to identify the key drivers of household adaptation responses, we used the Multivariate Probit Regression (MNP) model. The results from the MNP model highlighted that age of household head, education level, ethnic group, household status, land ownership, farm size, irrigation, contact with extension service, distance to market, farm income and climate information were the main factors influencing in farmer's adaptation decisions. In addition, money scarcity, lack of machinery and technical equipments, lack of knowledge about flash floods and landslides and insufficient supports from local government were identified as the barriers to adaptation.

Keywords: Adaptation, flash floods and landslides, livelihood strategy, multivariate probit model, Vietnam, Yen Bai province

ID 820 523

Contact Address: Nga Pham Thi Thanh, United Nations University, Institute for Environment and Human Security, Bonn, Germany, e-mail: thanhnga1301@gmail.com

Beyond the Green Revolution: Thailand's Attempt to Guide Path Dependent Farmers Towards more Sustainable Practices

Anna Sofie Starup Andersen 1 , Monica Quevedo Cascante 2 , Christina Schwöppe 3 , Emil Borello Skjødt 4 , Morten Hørkild Sten 2 , Louise Strange 4

In the wake of the Green Revolution, technology deployment and land intensification were introduced in the agricultural sector to trigger the development of Thailand's economy. However, the excessive use of agrochemicals led the Royal Thai Government to implement capacitybuilding programs for farmers to minimise chemical input. The objective of this study is to understand the rationale behind farming practices in the village of Ban Ba Yai, where farmers remain applying agrochemicals on their fields despite such government programs. To approach this objective, we draw on our interdisciplinary pool of knowledge and triangulate primary data gathered during a field trip in March 2018. We combined both natural and social science methods such as soil and water sampling, questionnaire collection, GPS mapping, semi-structured interviews and participatory rural appraisal (PRA) tools. We organised our findings around rational household decision-making level, drawing on ideas of institutional theories and the agricultural treadmill. Our results suggest that poor soil conditions and lacking market structures create a path dependency impeding an effective shift towards sustainable farming practices. The introduction of new technologies and consequently low commodity prices created a treadmill that challenges farmers to change practices. Moreover, we identified different agencies among villagers that have access to better networks, knowledge or financial means. For the average farmer, it seems difficult to detach input decisions from the market requirements. Adding to this, we identified that farmers' perceptions on sustainable agriculture practices conflict with the government programs as they do not fit with their reality. Overall, our study shows a gap between authorities and local farmers which results in government programs having little effect in creating change. Furthermore, it suggests that a shift towards sustainable farming practices can only be achieved through connecting the capacity building approach with financial incentives. Farmers seem to consider alternative practices only, if they gain an economic benefit from it. Our evidence based results may contribute to future policy design and enable more effective government programs. However, further research on laws and regulatory landscapes in Thailand to facilitate programs adoption is recommended.

Keywords: Agricultural intensification, agrochemicals, government programs, Thailand, path dependency, rural livelihoods, sustainable agriculture practices

¹University of Copenhagen, Dept. of Anthropology, Denmark

²University of Copenhagen, Dept. of Geosciences and Natural Resource Management, Denmark

³University of Copenhagen, Dept. of Food and Resource Economics, Denmark

⁴University of Copenhagen, Dept. of Plant and Environmental Science, Denmark

Contact Address: Morten Hørkild Sten, University of Copenhagen, Dept. of Geosciences and Natural Resource Management, Dalfoeret 9,4. tv, 2300 Copenhagen, Denmark, e-mail: mortenhsten@gmail.com

Agricultural Intensification and Land Use Change: Testing the Induced Intensification, Land Sparing and Rebound-Effect Hypotheses with Cointegration

Virginia Rodriguez Garcia 1 , Patrick Meyfroidt 1 , Frédérike Gaspart 1 . Thomas Kastner 2

The growing societal demands for land-based products and services, linked to increasing population, can be satisfied through either clearing new land for agriculture or intensifying production on existing land. Agricultural intensification is promoted as a central strategy to fulfil these demands while reducing the pressure on land. We used cross-country panel data on cropland area and productivity to test three hypotheses on the relationships between agricultural intensification, land use expansion and contraction. The induced intensification hypothesis postulates that restrictions on cropland expansion and increased demand per unit area can induce intensification. The land sparing hypothesis postulates that intensification allows reducing cropland expansion. while the competing rebound-effect hypothesis asserts that intensification, by making agriculture more profitable, can trigger further land use expansion. We used cointegration to disentangle the long-run and short-run causal relationships between the variables. For all crops together, in the short run, we found support for the induced intensification hypothesis for high-income countries, and rebound effect for middleand low-income countries (due to increases in yield or total factor productivity (TFP) that lead to cropland expansion). In the long-run, the land sparing hypothesis holds for low- and middle-income countries (due to increases in yield negatively affecting cropland area). TFP has a positive effect on yields for low- and middle-income countries. We then test the same hypotheses for specific crops in different contexts, such as soybean in South American countries and staple crops in sub-Saharan Africa. These results show how different conditions in terms of the elasticity of the demand to price changes, potential for land use expansion and trade orientation affect the relations between changes in cropland area and productivity.

Keywords: Agricultural contraction, cross-country, agricultural expansion, panel

ID 244 525

¹Catholic University of Louvain (UCL), Earth and Live Institute, Belgium

²Senckenberg Biodiversity and Climate Research Centre, Germany

Contact Address: Virginia Rodriguez Garcia, Catholic University of Louvain (UCL), Earth and Live Institute - Geography, Place Louis Pasteur 3, 1348 Louvain La Neuve, Belgium, e-mail: virginia.rodriguez@uclouvain.be

Land Use Change and Agricultural Growth in Rural Vietnam

HUONG NGUYEN THI LAN, HERMANN WAIBEL, SABINE LIEBENEHM Leibniz Universität Hannover, Institute of Development and Agricultural Economics, Germany

In spite of success in poverty reduction on a national level, poverty in some rural areas in Vietnam remains high. Especially in remote and mountainous areas agricultural productivity growth has been low due to poor physical and social infrastructure including limited access to credit and extension advice. In addition land market restrictions have constrained the expansion of land rental markets. However change in agricultural land use is pivotal for agricultural productivity growth and rural poverty reduction. In this study investigate land use change among rural households in three provinces in Central Vietnam. We have organised our study around three questions: (i) what was the extend of agricultural land use change during the past decade; (ii) how much did productivity of land increase during the same period; and (iii) what is the impact of land use change on household income and poverty. Our analysis is facilitated by long-term panel data set established by the Thailand-Vietnam Socioeconomic Panel (TVSEP) which has collected comprehensive household data from about 2000 households in 220 villages in the provinces of Ha Tinh, Thua Thien Hue and Dak Lak over the period of 2007 to 2016. We estimate land productivity at the corresponding changes in agricultural land use patterns and measure vulnerability to expected poverty based on land patterns and productivity changes and controlling for other household covariates.

Our initial results show that agricultural land has declined shifting land to other uses including residential use. We also find that households, with less land tend to invest in perennial crops albeit with limited success based on productivity and income growth. We suggest that our final results have important implications in improving our understanding of the interlinkages between land use, productivity and poverty, especially given the recent trend of declining agricultural land in rural areas in Vietnam.

Keywords: Agricultural land, poverty, productivity, Vietnam

Contact Address: Huong Nguyen Thi Lan, Leibniz Universität Hannover, Institute of Development and Agricultural Economics, Königsworther Platz 1, 30167 Hannover, Germany, e-mail: huong@ifgb.uni-hannover.de

Investments in Agriculture but Trapped in Poverty: Evidence Based on Panel Data Analysis from Vietnam

DAVID WILDER, SABINE LIEBENEHM, HERMANN WAIBEL

Leibniz Universität Hannover, Institute of Development and Agricultural Economics, Germany

Poverty remains a substantial problem in Vietnam. In rural areas, the headcount ratio was still well over 20% in 2012, with some areas – like in the Northern and Central Highland provinces – reported even higher poverty rates. Most of the poor households rely on agriculture as their main source of income. Increasing agricultural productivity through the adoption of new technologies and investments in agriculture is therefore a major policy concern.

In this paper, we empirically analyse investments of rural households, using a longitudinal data set from the Thailand Vietnam Socio Economic Panel (TVSEP). The analysis is based on data of about 1,800 identical households from three provinces of Central Vietnam, collected in the survey waves of 2010 and 2013. Using a matched difference-in-difference model, we evaluate the impact of investments in agriculture on changes in the poverty status of the panel households over time. We measure consumption poverty by applying the Foster-Greer-Thorbecke (FGT) poverty indices, based on the national basic needs poverty line for rural areas in Vietnam.

Results show that only 16% of households living below the poverty line undertook investments in agriculture in 2010. By comparing with similar poor households that did not invest, we find evidence that the investments in agriculture reduce the poverty headcount ratio. On the other hand, agricultural investments do not have any significant effect on diminishing the severity of poverty. Our findings suggest the existence of a poverty trap, where extreme poverty decreases the ability to invest in promising income-generating assets and consequently increases the likelihood of remaining poor. Based on our results, we conclude that unless measures are undertaken that enable poor households to invest (e.g. access to credit), the gap in welfare within rural areas is likely to widen.

Keywords: Agricultural investments, matched difference-in-difference analysis, poverty, rural development, Vietnam

ID 584 527

Contact Address: David Wilder, Leibniz Universität Hannover, Institute of Development and Agricultural Economics, Königsworther Platz 1, 30167 Hannover, Germany, e-mail: wilder@ifgb.uni-hannover.de

Who Should Diversify? Income Portfolios and Household Welfare in Rural Uganda

Moses Kakungulu¹, Moses Isabirye², Liesbet Vranken¹, Jean Poesen¹, Seppe Deckers¹, Miet Maertens¹

Rural households are increasingly diversifying their income portfolios away from agriculture, raising an intensive debate on whether income diversification can foster pro-poor growth and contribute to rural development in sub-Saharan Africa. While the impact of income diversification on household welfare has been extensively studied in the literature, insights on possible heterogeneous effects are scarce. The question of who should diversify has hardly been addressed. In this paper, we provide empirical evidence on the heterogeneous welfare effects of income diversification from the Mount Elgon region in rural Uganda. We use household survey data from two panel rounds in 2014 and 2016, to compare income, poverty and vulnerability dynamics for slightly diversified, moderately diversified and highly diversified households. We apply fixed and random effects regressions to estimate the average welfare effects of income diversification. We estimate heterogeneous effects using panel quantile regressions to address heterogeneity related to the outcome indicators, and use a large set of interaction terms to address heterogeneity related to the explanatory variables. In addition, we attempt to identify causality between income levels and income diversification by exploiting the panel nature of the data. In general we find that income diversification is related with higher per capita incomes, a lower propensity to be poor and reduced vulnerability. Causality is found to run in both directions but with the positive effect of diversification on income being much stronger than the effect of income on income diversification. In particular, we find that with an increase of 10 points in the Simpson index of diversification, per capita income increases with 20.8% for households in the lowest income quantiles and 9.6% for households in the highest income quantiles; and the likelihood of being vulnerable reduces with 6.9 % for the lowest vulnerability quantile and with 5.1 % for the highest vulnerability quantile. In addition, we find that the welfare increasing effect of income diversification is larger for larger and younger households with smaller landholdings. Our findings imply that diversified income portfolios can significantly improve household welfare and reduce household vulnerability to income poverty.

Keywords: Income diversification, panel quantile regressions, poverty, Uganda, vulnerability

¹KU Leuven, Earth and Environmental Sciences, Belgium

²Busitema University, Natural Resource Economics, Uganda

Contact Address: Moses Kakungulu, KU Leuven, Earth and Environmental Sciences, Naamesestraat, 3000 Leuven, Belgium, e-mail: kakungulu.kakungulu@kuleuven.be

Does International Migration and Remittance Lead Agricultural Household to Non-Agricultural Investment? Evidence from a Household Study in Nigeria

CHINEDU OBI, MARIJKE D'HAESE

Ghent University, Dept. of Agriculture Economics, Belgium

The new economic labour migration state that international migration and remittance can reduce credit constraint and increase household investment. Hypothetically, when extra income from remittance is to be invested, the agricultural household is expected to decide in favour of agricultural investment with higher utility; and as such cross-financing one agricultural activity with another. Nevertheless, researchers have wondered if this is true, or perhaps if migration and remittance may eventually lead migrants' household away from agriculture investment. Although few studies have investigated this issue, no evidence has been provided from Nigeria, the highest migrant-sending and remittance-receiving country in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA).

Using the general household survey data from Nigeria (Living Standard Measurement Study of 2010, 2013, and 2016), we investigated if migration shifts household investment towards non-farm enterprises. Furthermore, we examined the impact of this transition on the household welfare; household consumption expenditure, and food security. For instance, does it increase the likelihood of spending more on food away from home or does it lead to a shortage of household food stock? Furthermore, we studied the impact of this transition on the community food supply. Finally, we show how the livelihood and welfare of households that transit to non-agricultural activities differs from those that remained in agriculture.

Our study is significant as it improves the understanding of how international migration and remittance may or may not be harming agriculture production in SSA. It also shows the implication of this transition on the general welfare of migrant-sending communities. We concluded our study by making policy suggestions on the role of government and institutions (including universities) in improving the investment decision of migrant households.

Keywords: Agriculture, food security, international migration, nonfarm enterprices

ID 519 529

Contact Address: Chinedu Obi, Ghent University, Dept. of Agriculture Economics, Coupure Links 653, 9000 Ghent, Belgium, e-mail: chinedutemple.obi@ugent.be

Linking Rural Households to Wood Product Value Chains – A Viable Forest Policy for Rural Development in Bhutan?

ARNDT FEUERBACHER¹, ARUN RAI², KLAS SANDER³, HARALD GRETHE¹

Forests provide additional income sources to rural households in many agrarian economies, particularly in periods of seasonal underemployment. This potential seems to be underdeveloped in Bhutan. The country is endowed with significant forest resources, but its forest policies constrain rural households from timber extraction for commercial purposes. The country's persistent environmental conservation policies and constitutional mandate to maintain 60 % of forest cover at all times have resulted in an increase in forest cover over the last decade. Today, more than 70 % of Bhutan's land area is under forest cover and the forest area that could be utilised under sustainable management practices could be more than double as high. However, policies governing the rural population's access to forest were primarily designed to accommodate their subsistence need. Since Bhutan is on track to electrify all households by 2020, the traditional importance of wood biomass as a source of household energy is becoming obsolete. This study uses an economy-wide approach to investigate the potential of forest policies that incentivize rural households to sell fuelwood under different quota regimes to the national wood product value chain including the domestic production of charcoal. Several policy scenarios are simulated, including a variant which would keep timber extraction at today's levels, but would incentivize households to substitute domestic use of wood energy with electricity. We generally find positive welfare effects for rural households, which are predominantly driven by additional employment opportunities in the winter months. Depending on the quota design, electrified households reduce their subsistence use of firewood when facing the trade-off to sell it. The estimated benefits for rural households are likely to be at the lower bound, as we do not account for potential health co-benefits through reduced indoor air pollution. Our study further highlights necessary safeguards for sustainable forest management that ensure compliance with the implemented quota regimes.

Keywords: Bhutan, economy wide analysis, forest policy, resource use, rural development, seasonality of labour, wood energy

ID 763 531

¹Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, International Agricultural Trade and Development, Germany

²Ministry of Agriculture and Forests, Forest Resources Management Division, Dept. of Forests and Park Services, Bhutan

³ World Bank, Environment Global Practice, United States of America

Contact Address: Arndt Feuerbacher, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, International Agricultural Trade and Development, Unter den Linden 6, 10099 Berlin, Germany, e-mail: arndt.feuerbacher@hu-berlin.de

Livelihood Strategies of Smallholder Rubber Farmers in Southwest China

HAOWEN ZHUANG, SHAOZE JIN, HERMANN WAIBEL

Leibniz Universität Hannover, Institute of Development and Agricultural Economics, Germany

Driven by the rising rubber prices since 2000s, Xishuangbanna Dai Autonomous Prefecture (XSBN), Southwest China, experienced dramatic expansion of smallholder rubber plantation. Rubber has taken over the rural economy and contributed to the reduction of poverty. On the other hand rubber monoculture has increased income uncertainty and has made to become dependent on rubber farming. When rubber prices declined after 2012, smallholder farmers were challenged to mitigate income loss and to develop better livelihood strategies. Evidences from many studies in developing countries have shown that diversifying the sources of livelihood can reduce uncertainty of agriculture. However most of these studies followed a static approach using cross section data. This study is using panel data collected from some 600 small holder rubber farmers in Xishuangbanna collected in 2013 and 2015.

As methodologies we carry out cluster analysis identify typical livelihood strategies based on land and labour as major household resources. To identify the determinants of smallholders' livelihood choices we develop two models: (a) a multinomial logit model and an (b) an ordered logit model to identify the determinants associated with farmers' livelihood practices as well as the factors that cause a shift in livelihood strategies

Initial results show that four groups of livelihood strategies can be differentiated: (i) rubber-dominated, (ii) rubber cum other cash crops, (iii) rubber cum traditional crops, and (iv) highly diversified system. As the major factors that determine livelihood choices of farmers and their changes we identify education of household head and the altitude of household. Even though Xishuangbanna is characterised by diverse ethnic groups, ethnicity is not obvious in influencing household rubber farmers' livelihood strategies options. Our findings offer a good basis for developing local food security policies.

Keywords: Livelihood strategies, rubber, smallholder, Southwest China

Contact Address: Haowen Zhuang, Leibniz Universität Hannover, Institute of Development and Agricultural Economics, Koenigsworther Platz 1, 30167 Hannover, Germany, e-mail: zhuang@ifgb.uni-hannover.de

Expanding Chinese Farms: A Spatial Panel Data Analysis to Explore the Large-Scale Production Units

Fang Li¹, Shuyi Feng², Hualiang Lu³, Marijke D'Haese¹

As a result of industrialisation and urbanisation, large numbers of rural workers in China shifted to non-agricultural industries seeking to increase household income, leading to a weak agriculture run by part-time workers. In response, the government has launched a series of policies to encourage farmland transfer from smallholders to various types of large-scale production units. The Chinese agricultural sector therefore gradually evolved from single entities of small-scale farms to the coexistence of small-scale farms and various types of large-scale production units. Yet, it seems that the emergence and expansion rate of large-scale farm operation vary widely across regions. There are also signs of spatial agglomeration effects driven by local socio-economic factors and policies.

To date, very few studies have quantified the drivers of expansion of the large-scale farm sector in China; there is only scarce evidence referring to potential spatial correlations across regions. This paper contributes to the literature by applying spatial panel data models to explain the changes in the share of land cultivated under large-scale farm operation. The model is developed at county-level for the Jiangsu Province in China. The model is calibrated by using county-level statistical data from 2002 to 2015 across 44 counties of the Jiangsu Province. Several preliminary and robustness checks were done. The Moran's I test is first estimated to back the choice of considering spatial interactive relationships; and the results of the spatial panel data models are compared with those of non-spatial panel models. Moreover, both direct and indirect effects are estimated.

Three results stand out: (1) the spatial model is appropriate: the Moran's I values are positive and significant from 2002 to 2015, confirming the rationality of considering spatial interactive relationships; tests to non-spatial panel models further indicate the presence of spatial dependence and the Spatial Durbin Model is proven to be the most appropriate model specification; (2) estimation results suggest that the development level of large-scale farm operation is positively associated with agricultural mechanisation levels and has a U-shaped relationship with cultivated land area per household; (3) estimates of direct and indirect effects show that the economic development level and non-farm employment situation in the county has positive spatial spillover effects on the development of large-scale farm operation while institutional factors like registration of land certificates show negative spatial spillover effects.

Keywords: Large-scale production units, spatial autocorrelation, spatial panel data model, spillover effects

¹Ghent University, Agricultural Economics, Belgium

²Nanjing Agricultural University, Land Management, China

³Nanjing University of Finance and Economics, Business Administration, China

Contact Address: Fang Li, Ghent University, Agricultural Economics, Coupure Links 653, 9000 Ghent, Belgium, e-mail: fang.li@ugent.be

Towards a Sustainable Sugarcane Industry in India; Improving Water Use, Crop Production and Profits for Indian Sugarcane

FEDES VAN RIJN, CHRISTINE PLAISIER

Wageningen University and Research, Wageningen Economic Res., The Netherlands

The sugarcane industry is India's second largest agro-based industry and about 6 million farmers and a large number of agricultural labourers are involved in its cultivation. Sugarcane is a major consumer of water and the decreasing level of the natural groundwater resource threatens food security, economic growth and livelihoods. Decreasing levels of groundwater have in particular influence on production of vegetables and rice which are water intensive crops and corps important for food and nutrition security.

Solidaridad Network Asia with partners have initiated the programme 'Increasing water use efficiency in sugarcane growing in India' in 2016. With support from the Sustainable water Fund, the project intends to enhance both sustainability of sugarcane growing and to raise smallholder incomes. Wageningen Economic Research (WEcR) conducted a baseline study in 2016 for this programme to enable the subsequent evaluation of the socio-economic impact on sugarcane farmers. A pipeline approach was used which clusters the farmers in cohorts based on the year they receive initial support and training (e.g. starting in 2016, 2017 or 2108). The baseline survey was conducted on 1008 farmers.

Baseline results show that good agricultural practices are lacking across all mills and the uptake of drip irrigation is limited, as is knowledge on maintenance. Farmers face financial barriers in the uptake of good agricultural practices and irrigation systems and government subsidies function as financial enablers. The reputation of the mills from the perspective of the farmers influences potential uptake of good practices. Adoption of drip irrigation is not related to higher productivity or gross margins and this requires more attention as it is one of the key elements of the projects' intervention logic.

The mid-term and end-term surveys will be conducted in 2018 and 2020. This will enable to draw robust conclusions regarding the welfare impact and the resource use implications of the project. The underlying theory of change states that mass adoption of water efficient farming methods and techniques will improve water use efficiency in sugarcane farming to the point that water extraction is reduced below the natural replenishment rate and thus contributes to improved food security and livelihoods.

Keywords: Evaluation, India, livelihoods, sugar, water scarcity

Contact Address: Fedes Van Rijn, Wageningen University and Research, Wageningen Economic Research, Alexanderveld 5, 2502 LS Den Haag, The Netherlands, e-mail: fedes.vanrijn@wur.nl

Institutions for Irrigation Water Management, Irrigation Technologies And their Impact on Irrigation Performance in Ethiopia

RAHEL DERIBE BEKELE

University of Bonn, ZEF (Center for Development Research), Department of Economic and Technological Change, Germany

The Ethiopian Government has considered irrigation agriculture as a primary engine of economic growth in general and to the rural economy in particular. The government plans to increase the current level of irrigation infrastructure three-fold by the end of 2020. However, there has been a concern regarding the performance of existing irrigation systems. Thus, the current study has two interlinked objectives the first is to understand the nature and diversity of irrigation technologies and water management systems at different levels and identify the existing gaps in the sector. Second, it investigates the determinants of irrigation performance and farmers' satisfaction in using and managing irrigation water. Our analysis utilises a comprehensive and unique household and plot-level survey conducted recently in ten districts of the country. In addition, focus group discussion and key informant interview was conducted to gather qualitative data. Nested approach was employed as an analytical framework to examine the existing institutional arrangements related to irrigation water development and management. Our findings show that even if the policies, strategies and the legal instruments are very well specified, and the relevant institutions and organisations have been established, there has been weak enforcement capacity among executed organisations at each level. Moreover, horizontal and vertical communications between ministries and bureaus belonging to different sectors is very weak. Thus, organisations of ministries, bureaus and departments attempt to fulfil their responsibilities without an interdisciplinary and integrated approach which is fundamental in the field of water resource management at each level. At plot level, using ordinal logit model, we analysed factors which affect irrigation performance, using farmers' satisfaction level in using and managing irrigation water as an indicator. In addition to household, plot and village characteristics, water management systems and irrigation technologies significantly affect the performance of irrigation. The results suggest that plots in farmers' and private management systems, that river water is their source of irrigation, apply manual and diesel pump to withdraw water from a source and use drip and furrow irrigation type on their field are found more likely to be in a higher satisfaction category.

Keywords: Institution, irrigation, technology, water management system

ID 784 535

Contact Address: Rahel Deribe Bekele, University of Bonn, ZEF (Center for Development Research), Department of Economic and Technological Change, Bonn, Germany, e-mail: rahelderibe@yahoo.com

Compromises, Risks and Obligations: Perception of Agrochemicals, Ideology and Health in Huai Phrom, Thailand

Ingrid Høgh Rasmussen¹, Miguel Ramirez Lopez², Helene Friis Johansen², Jeppe Albrektsen², Wafa Bartawi²

Along with the Green Revolution in the 1960's, technological development and agrochemicals became key elements in the agricultural sector of Thailand. In the light of the Asian financial crisis in 1997, promotion of agrochemicals was replaced with the late King Bhumibol Adulyadej's ideas of Sufficiency Economy and New Theory Farming. Often described as ideological approaches to agriculture, these ideas built upon Buddhist principles such as self-restraint and balanced consumption, aiming at making Thailand's farmers self-sufficient and resilient towards market fluctuations and potential crises.

The aim of this research is to assess the underlying rationales of the agricultural practices in Huai Phrom, a small village located in the northeastern region of Thailand. Promoted as the subdistrict's frontrunner village for practicing sufficiency economy, the dominant agricultural practice in Huai Phrom is characterised by home gardens used for subsistence agriculture, and fields used for cultivating cash crops. The use of agrochemicals constitutes the cardinal distinction between home garden and field, as villagers refrain from using them for their home gardens, while relying on them for the cultivation of fields. This dichotomous agricultural practice was found to derive from a coexisting dependency and dissociation from agrochemicals: Dependency on generating an income, and dissociation deriving from embedded narratives on their negative effects on soil and health. Consequently, circles of debt and economic realities are found to be the underlying rationale behind the willingness to risk health over income.

The research further finds that the monks and officials that are affiliated with Huai Phrom view the small-scale farmers as being morally obligated to contribute to the national economy and society, thus elevating their agricultural practice to having a higher purpose. Hence, the dichotomous agricultural practice is surrounded by an intricate web of contradictory ideas, narratives and discourses, which ultimately urges the villagers to orient their agricultural practice towards concern of society and individual livelihoods simultaneously. The villagers' concern of health, agrochemicals and notions on food safety is ultimately found to be a product of historical shifts in national policy-making, deriving from increasing international pressure to regard food security as a regional and global issue.

Keywords: Agrochemicals, cash crops, food safety, health, home garden, livelihoods, new theory farming, self-sufficiency, subsistence agriculture, sufficiency economy, Thailand

ID 838 537

¹University of Copenhagen, Dept. of Anthropology, Denmark

²University of Copenhagen, Dept. of Geosciences and Natural Resource Management, Denmark

Contact Address: Ingrid Høgh Rasmussen, University of Copenhagen, Dept. of Anthropology, Øster Farimagsgade 5, Building 16, DK-1353 Copenhagen, Denmark, e-mail: xzp833@alumni.ku.dk

Characterizing the Diversity of Smallholder Farmers for Informed Agricultural Interventions: An Application of Multivariate Analyses in Kapchorwa District, Uganda

Julius Twinamasiko¹, Johnny Mugisha¹, Fredrick Bagamba¹, John Ilukor², Irmgard Jordan³, Ernst-August Nuppenau⁴

Typologies have been used as tools for dealing with farming system heterogeneity. This is achieved by classifying farms into groups that have common characteristics, that is to say farm types which can support the implementation of a more tailored approach to agricultural development. This study explored patterns of farmer diversity through the classification of 446 smallholder farm households in four sub-counties of Kapchorwa District, Eastern Uganda. Based on the data collected in 2016, the typology was constructed using the multivariate statistical techniques of principal component analysis and cluster analysis. Furthermore, the study constructed an agricultural diversity index to classify farm households by their level of diversity. The index utilised variables including number of crops grown by the household, livestock owned/reared (measured in tropical livestock units), number of fruit trees owned, level of intensification and level of pest management. The Cobb-Douglas production function was used to determine the weights of the different variables used to construct the index. Results indicate that the agricultural diversity index ranged between 0 and 1. Farmers in the lower altitude belt had lower levels of agricultural diversity compared to their counterparts in the mid and upper altitude belts. Overall, the majority of the farmers had medium levels of agricultural diversity between 0.4 to 0.7 as indicated by the diversity index. The study concludes that there is need for a differentiated farm planning and extension intervention than generalising planning across the entire district and the extension system must precisely target agricultural inputs, different cropping practices, market development and market information for identified farm types.

Keywords: Agricultural diversity, agricultural diversity index, cluster analysis, Cobb-Douglas production function, farm heterogeneity, farm typology, principal component analysis

¹Makerere University, Dept. of Agribusiness and Natural Resource Economics, Uganda

²The World Bank, Development Data Group - Survey Unit, Uganda

³ Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Center for International Development and Environmental Research, Germany

⁴Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Inst. of Agric. Policy and Market Res., Germany

Contact Address: Julius Twinamasiko, Makerere University, Dept. of Agribusiness and Natural Resource Economics, Makerere Hill Road, Kampala, Uganda, e-mail: juliustwinamasiko@gmail.com

Participatory Needs and Opportunities Assessment as Springboard for Integrated Research and Extension Interventions

Magdalena Wanawan¹, Virginia Tapat²

The Participatory Needs and Opportunities Assessment (PNOA) is based on the recognition that the involvement of target beneficiaries as project partners even in the planning stage is a key factor in coming up with relevant interventions. As part of the strategies of the Heirloom Rice Project, the Department of Agriculture commissioned four State Colleges and Universities (SCU's) to lead the PNOA in four targeted provinces. The SCU's were assisted by multi-disciplinary researchers and extension experts from the International Rice Research Institute, PhilRice, Department of Agriculture and Local Government Units. The project sites were indigenous communities that organically produce heirloom rice in terraced paddies. The PNOA was implemented through focus group discussions in 12 selected villages using the transect map, seasonal calendar, hopes and fears and venn diagram as data gathering tools. Outputs were presented in a plenary session for collective validation.

In each village site, results of the PNOA include information on the communities' natural resources and land use, commodities grown, existing infrastructure, health facilities, educational facilities, and service institutions. Another output is a listing of agricultural activities aligned along monthly climatic conditions and occurrences of pests and diseases plotted vis-a-vis the agricultural cycle. Common rice pests identified in all village sites were golden apple snail, rats, stem borer and rice birds. Ninety two percent declared earthworms as pest because they burrow on terrace walls causing water seepage. Major problems include soil erosion causing abandonment of some rice fields, inadequate irrigation during summer, expensive labour, low yields, production pests, lack of customized farm equipment appropriate for rice terraces and scarce post-harvest amenities. Low product price was encountered by farmers who sell part of their produce. Respondents also disclosed farming practices and decided collectively on perceived needs and opportunities.

Based on the PNOA results, the project team updated their integrated research and extension initiatives and provided production, postharvest, capability building and market-related support to the project sites from 2015–2017. From this experience, PNOA is recommended as basis in coming up with holistic research, extension and other essential interventions.

Keywords: Participatory assessment, rice pests identification

ID 686 539

¹Department of Agriculture- Regional Field Office, Cordillera Administrative Region, Research Division, Philippines

²Regional Field Office, Cordillera Administrative Region (DA-RFO, CAR), Field Operations Division, Philippines

Contact Address: Magdalena Wanawan, Department of Agriculture- Regional Field Office, Cordillera Administrative Region, Research Division, Sto. Tomas Road, 2600 Baguio City, Philippines, e-mail: magdalwan@yahoo.com

Institutions

1)	GIZ session	543
2)	A4NH - Leveraging agriculture for nutrition and health outcomes	549
3)	BMEL session	553
4)	UGent Research in Africa	557

GIZ session

Oral Presentations JOHN MCDERMOTT: Leveraging Agriculture for Nutrition Outcomes – How Research Can Better Support Development Actions	544
ELENA MARTINEZ: Measuring Women's Empowerment in Nutrition-Sensitive Agricultural Development Projects CÉLINE TERMOTE, JULIA BOEDECKER, FRANCIS ODOUR	545
ODHIAMBO, AKANSHA MISHRA, JACOB SARFO, LAURA BENDER, GINA KENNEDY: Context-Adapted Dietary Assessment and Nutrition Education Tools for Turkana County, Kenya	546
GABRIELE SCHULZ: Nutrition Sensitive Agriculture: Experiences out of Ethiopia-Containing Fertilisers	547

Leveraging Agriculture for Nutrition Outcomes — How Research Can Better Support Development Actions

JOHN MCDERMOTT

International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Research Program on Agriculture for Nutrition and Health (A4NH), United States of America

Reducing stunting and other nutrition impacts are high-level development goals. To improve nutrition, interventions from multiple development sectors, including agriculture are necessary. How can research support nutrition-sensitive agricultural actions? An initial contribution was to systematically generate high-quality evidence of what agricultural interventions improve nutrition and which ones do not. From this portfolio of what to do, examples are provided of how to support programme implementers to improve their performance and how to provide policy makers with information relevant for their enabling role in different development contexts.

Keywords: Development actions, nutrition

Contact Address: John McDermott, International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Research Program on Agriculture for Nutrition and Health (A4NH), Washington, United States of America, e-mail: J.McDermott@cgiar.org

Measuring Women's Empowerment in Nutrition-Sensitive Agricultural Development Projects

ELENA MARTINEZ

International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Agri. for Nutrition and Health (A4NH), United States of America

Many agricultural development projects aim to empower women to improve nutrition, income, or other outcomes. But how do we know which interventions are most effective? The project-level Women's Empowerment in Agriculture Index (pro-WEAI) is a new survey-based index for measuring women's empowerment, agency, and inclusion of women in the agriculture sector. Pro-WEAI is a set of quantitative and qualitative tools that help agricultural development projects assess women's empowerment in a project setting, diagnose areas of women's disempowerment, design strategies to address deficiencies, and monitor project outcomes. Pro-WEAI is being piloted in 13 agricultural development projects in eight countries in Africa and South Asia, including six projects that have piloted pro-WEAI's nutrition- and health-focused addon modules. This presentation will introduce pro-WEAI and highlight two nutrition-focused projects in Bangladesh and Burkina Faso that are piloting the tool.

Keywords: Nutrition focused projects, women empowerment

Contact Address: Elena Martinez, International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Agriculture for Nutrition and Health (A4NH), 1201 Eye Street, NW, 20005 Washington, United States of America, e-mail: e.martinez@cgiar.org

Context-Adapted Dietary Assessment and Nutrition Education Tools for Turkana County, Kenya

CÉLINE TERMOTE¹, JULIA BOEDECKER¹, FRANCIS ODOUR ODHIAMBO¹, AKANSHA MISHRA², JACOB SARFO³, LAURA BENDER², GINA KENNEDY⁴

Turkana County has the highest levels of wasting among children (23%) in Kenya; 34% of children are underweight and 24% are stunted. A critical determinant of malnutrition in developing countries is diet. Yet countries such as Kenya do not have a regular dietary assessment system nor contextually adapted nutrition education tools to raise awareness on healthy diets. From 2016 to 2018, Bioversity International and its partners (NGOs, Ministries, extension workers and universities) collaborated in a BMZ/A4NH-funded project to develop and test context-adapted novel and existing tools for dietary assessment and nutrition education purposes aiming to improve dietary quality for women of reproductive age and small children aged 6 to 23 months in Turkana County. The tools were co-developed and adopted by local stakeholders, and introduced to several other organisations at national level.

The project documented a rich diversity of edible plant and animal species with different functional classifications (95 different food plants of which 66 were wild). Despite this apparent diversity, diets are limited in diversity (only 20% of women and 28% of small children achieved the minimum recommended dietary diversity) with very low consumption of fruits and vegetables. Wild plant foods provide a huge potential of reducing diet cost, as well as fulfilling nutrient requirements, but their potential must be assessed on individual and location-specific basis. Indigenous knowledge systems, due to their high acceptance in local communities, offer new potential for nutrition communication and promotion of local agrobiodiversity use.

Our next step consists of introducing the integrated community-based approach for farm, market and diet diversity. The successful approach, developed in Vihiga County, western Kenya, involves communities, guided by extension workers, NGOs, policy makers and researchers, to design, implement and evaluate their own agriculture for nutrition interventions to improve use and benefits of seasonally available biodiverse nutritious foods.

Keywords: Nutrition focused projects

¹Bioversity International, Healthy Diets from Sustainable Food Systems, Kenya

²University of Hohenheim, Germany

³University of Goettingen, Division Quality of Plant Products, Germany

⁴Bioversity International, Italy

Contact Address: Céline Termote, Bioversity International, Healthy Diets from Sustainable Food Systems, Nairobi, Kenya, e-mail: c.termote@cgiar.org

Nutrition Sensitive Agriculture: Experiences out of Ethiopia

Steffen Schulz 1 , Sam Gameda 2 , Susanne Neiro 3 , Haile Deressa 1 , Gabriele Schulz 1

In Ethiopia, about 38% of children under five years of age are chronically malnourished and 57% are anemic. The soil's nutrient status affects human nutrition through the quantity and the quality of food produced in subsistence agriculture. National-level soil sampling has shown that Ethiopia's agricultural land is deficient in a number of macro- and micro-nutrients such as zinc and iron. It is therefore not surprising that around 38% of children under five years are chronically malnourished and 57% are anemic.

Agronomic biofortification aims to increase the content of selected micronutrients, including zinc, iodine, iron and others in staple food crops. In the Ethiopian highlands, two GIZ implemented projects viz the Nutrition Sensitive Agriculture Project (NSAP) and the Integrated Soil Fertility Management Project (ISFM+) collaborate with CIMMYT to test the potential of agronomic biofortification to improve crop yields and grain micronutrient content on farmers' fields through the application of micronutrients (zinc, iron, iodine) on cereal crops. The objective being to improve crop production, quality and ultimately human nutrition.

Results from exploratory on-farm trials conducted in 2015 and 2016 indicated that the type of micronutrients and fertiliser application methods had an impact on crop yields and grain micronutrient content. Foliar zinc application was found to be effective in improving grain zinc content in wheat and teff (an annual grass native to Ethiopia and Eritrea) whereas the combination of soil plus foliar application worked better for barley. Foliar iron application resulted in significantly higher grain iron content in barley (38.1%) and wheat (26.4%) than their corresponding controls; however, no difference was observed in teff. Regarding foliar iodine fertiliser application, teff and barley showed significant increases in grain iodine content due to the treatment. In conclusion, the findings suggest that:

- Responses consistently showed increases in grain micronutrient content due to treatments;
- Agronomic biofortification through the use of micronutrient containing fertilizers is a viable method for increasing grain micronutrient content, and thus potentially increasing micronutrient consumption by rural households;
- Different crops responded to treatments in different ways, suggesting that one application type may not be ideal across crops.

Keywords: Ethiopia, nutrition, micronutrients, soil fertility

¹Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ), Ethiopia

²CIMMYT - International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center, Ethiopia

³Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ), Germany

Contact Address: Gabriele Schulza, Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ), Addis Abeba, Ethiopia, e-mail: gabriele.schulz@giz.de

A4NH - Leveraging agriculture for nutrition and health outcomes

Oral Presentations	
A4NH Session: Leveraging Agriculture for Nutrition and Health Outcomes	550
JOHN McDermott: Improving Nutrition through Agriculture – What Have We Learned and How Can We Support SDG Outcomes	551
NAMUKOLO COVIC, INGE D. BROUWER, JEFF LEROY, ERICK BOY, KRISTINA ROESEL, FRED UNGER, ERASTUS KANG'ETHE: Pathways and Theories of Change for Nutrition and Health Outcomes from Agriculture, Examples Across Food Systems, Biofortification, Food Safety and Integrated Programs and	
Policies	552

A4NH Session: Leveraging Agriculture for Nutrition and Health Outcomes

Research Program on Agriculture for Nutrition and Health (A4NH)

The CGIAR Research Program on Agriculture for Nutrition and Health (A4NH) links consumption – of healthy, affordable, and safe foods – with supply, offering an innovative perspective on the relationship between agriculture, nutrition, and health through research that strengthens the knowledge base and new partnerships that lead to real outcomes.

A4NH focuses on addressing challenges related to food system transformation, reducing the occurrence of micronutrient deficiency, the rising burden of foodborne disease, improving the effectiveness of public programs and policies for nutrition and emerging health risks, like antimicrobial resistance. The programme recognises addressing inequality related to gender or other social categories is a development objective in its own right, and an important condition for achieving improved nutrition and health. As CGIAR's only research programme on nutrition and health, A4NH brings a unique multi-sectoral perspective to the system-level outcome of improving food and nutrition security for health. Recognizing the magnitude of the task, A4NH is led by IFPRI and managed by a group of four other CGIAR centres (Bioversity International, CIAT, ILRI and IITA and two academic institutions (Wageningen University Research and the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine), and brings together the talents and resources of other CGIAR Centers plus a wide range of partners, to carry out research activities through five unique, yet complementary, flagship programs and

three cross-cutting units in at least 30 countries.

Contact Address: John McDermott, International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Research Program on Agriculture for Nutrition and Health (A4NH), Washington, United States of America, e-mail: J.McDermott@cgiar.org

Improving Nutrition through Agriculture – What Have We Learned and How Can We Support SDG Outcomes

JOHN MCDERMOTT

International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Research Program on Agriculture for Nutrition and Health (A4NH), United States of America

The CGIAR's Agriculture for Nutrition and Health (A4NH) Programme, begun in 2012, was designed to better leverage agriculture interventions for improved nutrition. Since then, significant progress has been made in understanding the agriculture pathways for improved nutrition and evaluating the contributions of agriculture interventions to nutrition and health impacts. Multiple pathways for improving nutrition rely on women's empowerment. In addition, much has been learned on how to augment agriculture interventions with nutrition education.

For achieving SDG outcomes, country ownership and leadership are critical. Countries are seeking to improve nutrition through multiple sectors, including agriculture and food systems. This requires navigating dietary transitions, strengthening country ownership of programs and investment decisions, convening public with private and civil society partners, and better understanding drivers that shape demand.

Also important in the A4NH approach is assessing different impact pathways and how actors along these pathways contribute to nutrition and health outcomes and impacts. A systematic approach to planning and assessing such theories of change will be described with some examples. This will then be further elaborated in a subsequent panel discussion by A4NH research leaders.

Keywords: Agriculture, impacts, nutrition, outcomes, theories-of-change

ID 954 551

Contact Address: John McDermott, International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Research Program on Agriculture for Nutrition and Health (A4NH), Washington, United States of America, e-mail: J.McDermott@cgiar.org

Pathways and Theories of Change for Nutrition and Health Outcomes from Agriculture, Examples Across Food Systems, Biofortification, Food Safety and Integrated Programs and Policies

Namukolo Covic¹, Inge D. Brouwer², Jeff Leroy³, Erick Boy³, Kristina Roesel⁴, Fred Unger⁵, Erastus Kang'ethe⁶

Each programme area in A4NH considers how its research outputs lead to immediate and intermediate development outcomes and benefits for beneficiaries. Three of the A4NH programme areas work through markets and value chain pathways. For food systems (Inge Brouwer), we take a more systemic view of food actors and how they interact to improve diet quality. For biofortification (Erick Boy), very specific supply chains by crop and country are assessed through detailed assessments of supply chains and how they function. For food safety (Kristina Roesel and Fred Unger), theories of change, rely on understanding risk behaviours and incentives and how they can be influenced. In all these programme areas, the assumptions behind the theories of change are compiled in evidence tables in which we evaluate the strength of evidence for different assumptions on how outcomes and impacts are achieved.

Other A4NH programs, such as integrated nutrition-sensitive agriculture programs (Jef Leroy) work through public, often combinations of health, agriculture and social protection, programme implementers. Research is designed to evaluate and provide evidence with programme implementers on what and how to deliver programs. Across all A4NH programme areas, enabling actions (Erastus Kang'ethe) of government, civil society, private sector and academia and how these come together can be assessed with a mixture of qualitative and quantitative measures.

Keywords: Agriculture, health, impact pathways, implementation, nutrition, policy, theories of change

¹International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Poverty Health and Nutrition Div., Ethiopia

²Wageningen University and Research, Dept. of Agrotechnology and Food Sciences, The Netherlands

³International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), United States of America

⁴International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI)/ Freie Universitaet Berlin, Animal and Human Health Program/ Inst. for Parasitology and Tropical Veterinary Medicine, Kenya

⁵International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), ILRI Hanoi, Vietnam

⁶University of Nairobi, Dept. of Public Health, Pharmacology and Toxicology, Kenya

Contact Address: Namukolo Covic, International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Poverty Health and Nutrition Div., Addis Abeba, Ethiopia, e-mail: n.covic@cgiar.org

BMEL session

MATIN QAIM:

Keynote to the Panel Discussion: Does Diversified Agricultural Production Automatically Lead to Improved Nutrition? 554

Panel Discussion

SILVIA DIETZ:

Panel discussion: Does Diversified Agricultural Production Automatically Lead to Improved Nutrition? Research projects supported by the Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture, BMEL

555

Keynote to the Panel Discussion: Does Diversified Agricultural Production Automatically Lead to Improved Nutrition?

MATIN OAIM

University of Goettingen, Dept. of Agricultural Economics and Rural Development. Germany

Undernutrition, low dietary diversity, and micronutrient deficiencies remain big problems in many developing countries. A large proportion of the people affected are smallholder farmers. Against this background, it is often assumed, that further diversifying small-farm production could be a good strategy to improve dietary diversity and nutrition. But is there really such a clear link between production diversity on the farm and dietary diversity in the farm household? In this overview, key factors that can influence this relationship are discussed, including issues of measurement. Empirical evidence from various developing countries is presented. Farm production diversity is positively associated with dietary diversity in some situations, but not in all. Especially when production diversity is already high, the association is not significant, or it can even turn negative when diverse production entails lower cash incomes due to foregone benefits from specialisation. Markets seem to be more important for dietary diversity than subsistence production.

The evidence from selected countries is supplemented with a systematic review and meta-analysis of the available literature. Using transparent selection and inclusion criteria, 45 original studies were identified, reporting results from 26 countries and using various indicators of diets and nutrition. While the majority of these studies highlight positive associations between production diversity and dietary diversity and/or nutrition, in less than 20% of the studies positive and significant associations were found for all of the relationships analysed. Around 60% of the studies report positive associations only for certain subsamples or indicators, the rest found no significant associations at all. The mean marginal effect of production diversity on dietary diversity is positive but small. On average, farms would have to produce 16 additional crop or livestock species to increase dietary diversity by one food group. The mean effect is somewhat larger in sub-Saharan Africa than in other regions, but even in Africa farms would have to produce around 9 additional species to increase dietary diversity by one food group. While results may look differently under very specific conditions, there is little evidence to support the assumption that increasing farm production diversity is a highly effective strategy to improve smallholder diets and nutrition in most or all situations.

Keywords: Dietary diversity, nutrition, production diversity

Contact Address: Matin Qaim, University of Goettingen, Dept. of Agricultural Economics and Rural Development, Platz der Göttinger Sieben 5, 37073 Göttingen, Germany, e-mail: mqaim@uni-goettingen.de

Panel discussion: Does Diversified Agricultural Production Automatically Lead to Improved Nutrition? Research projects supported by the Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture, BMEL

SILVIA DIETZ

Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture (BMEL), Head of Division Research and Innovation, Germany

The Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture (BMEL) established the funding instrument 'Research Cooperation for Global Food Security and Nutrition' to strengthen Germany's contribution to agricultural and nutritional research. The funding instrument is applied to develop efficient food systems in partner countries, while building long-term partnerships between agricultural and nutritional research institutions in Germany, Africa and Southeast Asia.

Two calls for proposals have been published in 2013 and 2016. The first call focused on diversified agriculture for improved and nutrition-sensitive diets. A total of eight international research consortia, each with a duration of 3 years, were launched between 2014 and 2016. Subject of the second call was the improved processing of local food to reduce seasonal food insecurity as well as food and nutrient losses. In this context, seven research consortia will be funded by the end of 2018.

Funding agency is the Federal Office for Agriculture and Food (BLE).

The BMEL-Session at the Tropentag 2018 presents a panel discussion on the question: "Does diversified agricultural production automatically lead to improved nutrition?" The panel consists of members from different project consortia in the nutrition context funded by BMEL:

- 1. Prof. Dr. Matin Qaim (keynote), Georg-August-University of Göttingen Project leader: "Agriculture and Dietary Diversity in Africa (ADDA)"
- 2. Dr. Harry Hoffmann, Leibniz Centre for Agricultural Landscape Research (ZALF) Project leader: "Scaling-up Nutrition Application of nutritionally sensitive and diversified agriculture for improved food security (Scale-N)"
- 3. Dr. Irmgard Jordan, Justus-Liebig-University of Gießen Project leader: "Crops for Healthy Diets Linking Agriculture and Nutrition (HealthyLAND)"
- 4. Dr. Gudrun Keding, Center for Development Research (ZEF), University of Bonn Senior Scientist: "Diversifying agriculture for balanced nutrition through fruits and vegetables in multi-storey cropping systems (NutriHAF)"

Keywords: Diversification, nutrition-sensitive agriculture, research cooperation, sub-Saharan Africa

ID 947 555

Contact Address: Helen Laqua, Federal Office for Agriculture and Food, Unit 323, International Cooperation and Global Food Security, Deichmanns Aue 29, 53179 Bonn, Germany, e-mail: helen.laqua@ble.de

UGent Research in Africa

Oral Presentations	
JAN NYSSEN, MITIKU HAILE: Land Restoration in Tigray (North Ethiopia) – A Result of Science and Policy Interactions	558
FATEMEH TAHERI, HOSSEIN AZADI, MARIJKE D'HAESE: Cooperatives and Food Security: Trade-Offs in Ethiopian Multipurpose Cooperatives	559
ELINE D'HAENE, MARIJKE D'HAESE: Knowing Your Allies: Profiling Urban Dairy Farmers in Ethiopia	560
SARAH GABRIËL, TINE DE COSTER FOR THE CYSTISTOP GROUP: Taenia solium, the Most Important Foodborne Zoonotic Parasite: Is Elimination Possible? An Example from Zambia	561
OLUWATOYIN AFOLABI, JOHN ONWUGHALU, OLUMOYE OYETUNJI, ADERONKE OLUDARE, KAAT PEETERS, AYONI OGUNBAYO, FEYISARA ONI, MONICA HÖFTE: Rice Sheath Rot Complex in Mali and Nigeria – A Contrasting Tale of two Different Worlds	562

Land Restoration in Tigray (North Ethiopia) – A Result of Science and Policy Interactions

JAN NYSSEN¹, MITIKU HAILE²

Since at least three millennia, agriculture is practised in north Ethiopia, and the adaptation of the agronomy to soil and climate variability is nearly optimal. However, land management has for long been hampered by unequal access to land, prevalent stubble grazing and wood harvesting. Concomitant land degradation reached its paroxysm in the 1970s-1980s, with infamous famines. Thereafter, intense land reclamation took place.

Over the last three decades we used an array of geomorphological and environmental research methodologies in the northern Ethiopian highlands (particularly in Tigray) to better understand changes in the landscape, focusing on processes, their rates and spatial variability. Multispectral satellite imagery was also involved, as well as the interpretation of historical aerial and landscape photographs and their recent repeats, what allowed mapping land use and cover since the late 19 th century and the development of timelines of vegetation cover and soil and water conservation.

In line with our findings on land resilience, and as a flagship for good governance, the Tigray region received the 2017 Future Policy Gold Award from the World Future Council. (https://www.worldfuturecouncil.org/press-release-fpa-2017/). In our presentation we address the past and the future of land management in northern Ethiopia. How did the status of soils and forests change over the last century? Which land management strategies can be followed to enhance sustainable output from soil, water and forest resources? What are the backlogs? Ethiopian farmers have proven to be good individual land managers, but can they also be good land use planners? How does all this impact on people's livelihoods?

Keywords: Famine, food production, land degradation, land resilience, world future council

¹Ghent University, Dept. of Geography, Belgium

²Mekelle University, Dept. of Land Res. Manag. and Environ. Protection, Ethiopia

Contact Address: Jan Nyssen, Ghent University, Dept. of Geography, Krijgslaan 281 (S8), B-9000 Ghent, Belgium, e-mail: jan.nyssen@ugent.be

Cooperatives and Food Security: Trade-Offs in Ethiopian Multipurpose Cooperatives

FATEMEH TAHERI¹, HOSSEIN AZADI², MARIJKE D'HAESE¹

It is paradoxical that small-scale farmers who provide a majority of the food in the poorest regions of the world, continue to be prone to food insecurity. Although smallscale food production is important for household food security, farmers face many challenges and constraints which impacts their productivity levels. Constraints faced by small-scale farmers relate to lack of access to land and water, poor physical and institutional infrastructure, limited ability of small-scale farmers to transport inputs and produce, and lack of capital assets, information and access to services and financial markets, amongst others. Cooperatives (coops) are acknowledged as important organisations to tackle these constraints while aiming at improving yields and income of member farmers through pooling resources and efforts. Through their collective benefits, they aim to secure ecological, social and economic empowerment. Interventions for both food and cash crops may induce food availability and accessibility and as such, contribute to realising the SDGs No poverty and Zero hunger. Yet, the ultimate impact cooperatives make, will depend on how much their services match the requested support needed to overcome the constraints that famers face. In this paper we consider the multipurpose cooperatives in Ethiopia which are typically set up to provide inputs and market services to farmers. Instead of studying farmer level effects, which are well-described in literature, we focus on cooperative-level decision making. We use data collected from 180 multipurpose cooperatives in the Tigray Region to assess their potential to contribute to food security. By comparing the functioning of these cooperatives and their priority impact activities, we try to assess the inherent trade-off cooperatives make between supporting food and cash crop production. We study how important these cooperatives perceive it to contribute to the different potential pathways of impact (including direct pathways through food production and food diversification, and indirect through employment and improved income), and try to identify key intervention areas.

Keywords: Cooperatives development, food security, small-scale farmers

¹Ghent University, Department of Agricultural Economics, Belgium

²Ghent University, Department of Geography, Belgium

Contact Address: Fatemeh Taheri, Ghent University, Department of Agricultural Economics, Coupure links 653, 9000 Gent, Belgium, e-mail: fatemeh.taheri@ugent.be

Knowing Your Allies: Profiling Urban Dairy Farmers in Ethiopia

ELINE D'HAENE, MARIJKE D'HAESE

Ghent University, Department of Agricultural Economics, Belgium

Demand for animal produce is expanding in developing countries because of a growing population, progressive urbanisation and rising per capita income levels. Given the projection that half of the African population will live in cities by 2035, the possible contribution of urban agriculture (UA) cannot be underestimated. Especially not in Eastern Africa which is believed to become the world's most rapidly urbanizing area in the coming decades.

To be able to fulfil future milk demand, the Ethiopian government launched the Livestock Master Plan in August 2015 to promote the take-off of the dairy sector. The ambitious target is set to double domestic cow milk production by 2020. Urban dairy production systems will play a key role in achieving this goal during the first development stages as milk markets are still poorly developed in Ethiopia due to high transaction costs. But (urban) farmers don't look alike, they have different motivations, skills and ambitions, are in different development stages and experience different constraints, resulting in a variety of management profiles of these small 'enterprises' i.e. which inputs/outputs are used/generated, from/to who inputs/outputs are sourced/sold, production scale etc. Therefore it is imperative to gain insight in the profiles of urban dairy farmers before setting out appropriate interventions and policies.

This paper aims to (1) classify urban dairy farmers based upon production performance and coping strategies during the multiple fasting periods of the Ethiopian Orthodox Church which alter the country's national milk demand, (2) to characterise the identified clusters, (3) to identify strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats of each cluster and (4) to put forward appropriate interventions tailored to each farmer group to improve urban milk supply.

Keywords: Cluster analysis, farm classification, farm efficiency, farm resilience, urban agriculture

Contact Address: Eline D'Haene, Ghent University, Department of Agricultural Economics, Coupure Links 653, 9000 Gent, Belgium, e-mail: eline.dhaene@ugent.be

Taenia solium, the Most Important Foodborne Zoonotic Parasite: Is Elimination Possible? An Example from Zambia

SARAH GABRIËL, TINE DE COSTER FOR THE CYSTISTOP GROUP Ghent University, Department of Veterinary Public Health and Food Safety, Belgium

Taenia solium, the number one foodborne parasite (FAO/WHO), has been extensively studied in Zambia in people and pigs, and found to be highly prevalent. Human act as final hosts, with the adult tapeworm lodging in the intestines (taeniosis) and excreting eggs into the environment via the stool. Pigs, the intermediate hosts, obtain the infection via ingestion of infected stool/feed/water contaminated with parasite eggs which develop into cysticerci (porcine cysticercosis), primarily in the muscles. People acquire the tapeworm via consumption of insufficiently cooked infected pork. However, human can also act as accidental intermediate host when ingesting food/water contaminated with eggs, and develop cysticercosis. The cysticerci have a tendency to lodge in the central nervous system and cause neurocysticercosis. With 57 % of people with active epilepsy diagnosed with probable or definitive neurocysticercosis in Zambia, suggesting *T. solium* to be the single most important cause of epilepsy, control is urgently needed. We have assessed the impact of different control interventions on occurrence of *T. solium* in people and pigs in the Zambian setting.

In an ongoing intervention study, the use of human mass drug administration (praziquantel) and health education; combined with pig treatment (oxfendazole) and vaccination (TSOL18 vaccine) in a four-monthly administration system for six iterations has been assessed for its potential to eliminate the parasite's transmission. This study 'elimination' study arm (5 villages and 2 farms, 1,210 people, 520 pigs) is compared with a 'negative control' study arm (7 villages, 1,272 people, 591 pigs). At baseline, 16% and 27% of the people tested taeniosis and cysticercosis positive, respectively. Fifty six percent of the pigs were found infected, with no differences between the study areas. After the 6 interventions in the elimination study arm, only 4% of the tested pigs were found positive versus 50% of the pigs from the negative control study arm. Further results and challenges encountered will be presented.

Keywords: Cysticercosis/taeniosis, elimination, One Health, Taenia solium, Zambia

ID 697 561

Contact Address: Sarah Gabriël, Ghent University, Department of Veterinary Public Health and Food Safety, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine Salisburylaan 133, 9820 Merelbeke, Belgium, e-mail: sarah.gabriel@ugent.be

Rice Sheath Rot Complex in Mali and Nigeria – A Contrasting Tale of two Different Worlds

Oluwatoyin Afolabi 1 , John Onwughalu 2 , Olumoye Oyetunji 3 , Aderonke Oludare 4 , Kaat Peeters 1 , ayoni Ogunbayo 5 , Feyisara Oni 1 , Monica Höfte 1

During an extensive survey of rice fields across West Africa, sheath rot symptoms were notably observed in Mali and Nigeria. The objectives of this study are (i) to identify the pathogens associated with sheath rot symptoms on rice, and (ii) to ascertain the roles of the different pathogens associated with sheath rot of rice in Africa. In Nigeria, two rice fields were sampled at Chanchaga and Ibadan while a rice field was sampled in the arid Selingue, Mali. Molecular characterisation results revealed that in Nigeria, rice sheath rot associated pathogens were predominantly Sarocladium oryzae (65%), Fusarium spp. (20%) and Burkholderia gladioli (2%). However, in Mali, we found mainly Fusarium sp. (50%) and S. oryzae (10%). S. oryzae isolates from both countries clustered in three genetic groups whereas five different Fusarium species were found in both countries. Using indigenous rice varieties from Mali and Nigeria, pathogenicity studies with S. oryzae, Fusarium spp and B. gladioli isolates revealed that S. oryzae-Group III isolates were the most pathogenic on both FARO 44 (Nigeria) and ADNY11 (Mali) rice varieties. Furthermore, pathogenicity tests using representative Fusarium isolates on both rice varieties showed that F. andiyazi from Ibadan-Nigeria was the most pathogenic Fusarium species. B. gladioli isolates were mildly pathogenic in comparison with the other two pathogens. Also interesting was the observed interaction between S. oryzae and Fusarium species, which are likely due to the production of secondary metabolites by either or both pathogens. Future work will focus on the Nigeria scenario in order to elucidate the Sarocladium-Fusarium interaction and the interplay of both in the incidence of the rice sheath rot complex.

Keywords: Burkholderia gladioli, Fusarium spp, rice sheath rot complex, Sarocladium oryzae

¹Ghent University, Dept. of Crop Protection: Phytopathology Laboratory, Belgium

²National Cereal Research Institute, Research Operations Plant Pathology, Nigeria

³Africa Rice Centre, Seed Quality Control, Nigeria

⁴Africa Rice Centre, Plant Pathology, Benin

⁵International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), Breeding, Mali

Contact Address: Monica Höfte, Ghent University, Dept. of Crop Protection: Phytopathology Laboratory, Coupure Links 653, 9000 Ghent, Belgium, e-mail: monica.hofte@ugent.be

Index of Authors

Abass, Adebayo 379, 382, 401	Adetunji, C. Oluwaseun 167	Akinwande, Victor 125, 127
Abasse, Tougiani 309	Adewole-Ayodeji, Sunday	Akpona, Jean Didier . 79
Abbasi, Sima 253, 294	164	Akuru, Eunice Amaka
Abdalla Ahmed, Mohamed	Adewumi, Adedoyin	158
Khair 135	Saudat 117	Akyoo, Adam Meshack
Abdalla, Kassim Youssf	Adgo, Enyew 298	445
173	Adimo, Aggrey 222	Al-Sayed, Lubana 337
Abdalla, Mubarak 274	Adinata, Kustiwa 481	Alamy Emmanuel 257
Abdieva, Yrys 215	Adjei-Nsiah, Samuel . 118	Alamu, Emmanuel 357 Alban Lopez, Noe 23
Abdoulaye, Tahirou 410	Adugna, Berihun Tefera	Albrektsen, Jeppe 537
Abdulai, Issaka 233	496, 498	Alcantara, Flavia Apare-
Abera, Bayuh Belay 44,	Aein, Ahmad	cida de 28
54	Aenis, Thomas 505	Alcide, Agbangla 483
Abiola-Olagunju,	Afolabi, Oluwatoyin . 562 Agbede, J. Oluwasola 156	Aldarf, Hiba 83
Oluwanike 127	Agboola, Adebisi 160	Alebrahim, Mohammad
Abizari, Abdul-Razak 331	Aghamir, Fatemeh 284	Taghi 260
Abu, Okhiomah 152	Agom, Damian 155	Ali Abuzahra, Mutasem
Abukutsa-Onyango, Mary	Aguila Alcantara, Edith	113
322	249	Aliev, Kumarbek 215
Achieng, John 269	Agus, Ali 420	Allen, Tabea 92
Achterbosch, Thom . 327,	Agyepong, Benson 220	Almazbekova, Arzygul
356	Ahmad Zahir, Zahir . 293	
Adam, Myriam 186	Ahmadian, Nima 198	Alonso, Silvia 442
Adam, Rahma 466	Ahmed, Badrun Nessa	Altmann, Brianne A 390
Adebayo-Tayo, Bukola	145	Alufeyo, Martha 146
387	Aholoukpè, Hervé 225	Alvarez, Miguel 96
Adejumo, Isaac Oluseun	Ajayi, Oluwakemi 125	Alves, Fabiana V 133
167	Ajene, Inusa 73	Amankwah, Kwadwo 490
Adejumo, Oyeronke . 379	Ajwera, Flora 269	Amara, Michael 95
Adelle, Camilla 480	Akakpo, Daniel Brain 118	Amboya, Christian 154
Adeosun, Taofeek Adesoji	Akello, Juliet 357	Amenu, Kebede 442
152	Akhtar, Fazlullah 250	Amini, Daniel 24
Adesogan, Adegbola 442	Akinfemi, Abayomi . 125	Amirinejad, Mahdiyeh 31
		563

Amongin, Agnes 495	Ayeni, Akinlolu 156	Basukala, Amit Kumar
Amusan, Opeyemi Anthony	Ayetigbo, Oluwatoyin 382	178
97	Ayeyemi, Tolulope 402	Bateki Adjogo, Christian
Andersen, Anna Sofie	Ayieko, David Michael	111
Starup 524	462	Bavorova, Miroslava . 419
Andeta, Addisu Fekadu	Ayisi, Kingsley K 100,	Bayala, Jules 304, 314
398	247, 414	Bayer, Wolfgang 177
Andrade, Maria Isabel	Ayre, Ben 82	Bebe, Bockline . 121, 365,
243, 288	Ayuya, Oscar Ingasia . 64,	384
Angeloni, Giorgia 130	343	Becker, Mathias 20, 96,
Angkasith, Pongsak . 205	Azadi, Hossein 559	238, 248
Anh Hung, Le 291		Becker, Rolf 212
Antunes Brum, Alexandre	В	Beeckman, Hans 95
38	В	Beitze, Damaris Elisabeth
Apata, Olasimbo Motun-	Ba Tuan, Tran 162	345
rayo 164	Ba, Amadou 57	Bekchanov, Maksud . 270
Aranda, Yesid 489	Babarinde, Oluwatosin	Bekele, Rahel Deribe 535
Arango, Jacobo . 23, 241,	156	Belachew, Tefera 381
272, 289	Babil, Pachakkil 281	Bellin-Sesay, Friederike
Araya, Haileselassie Ghe-	Babu, Amjath 53	488
bremariam 112	Bachmann, Lorenz 45	Bellingrath-Kimura, S.
Arends, Danny 119	Badolo, Felix 312	Dorothea . 296
Arevalo, Ashly . 241, 272,	Bagamba, Fredrick 538	Belmar, Juan Moreno 482
289	Bahru, Bezawit Adugna	Beloglazova, Natalia . 393
Arimi, Joshua 385	192	Bender, Laura 546
Ariong, Richard 461	Bakhtari, Azizollah 93	Benito, Marta 272
Ariyoh, Luke 263	Balkema-Buschmann,	Benjamin, Emmanuel Ola-
Armengot, Laura 231	Anne 359	tunbosun . 306
Asare, Emmanuel 325	Balogun, Kayode 144	Bensch, Gunther 416
Asch, Folkard . 42, 44, 50,	Baltenweck, Isabelle . 136	Benson, Dumka 166
52, 54, 59, 175,	Balthazar Rodrigue, Aya-	Bergau, Sven 458
180, 189, 190,	girwe 151	Bergman Lodin, Johanna
287, 295, 298	Balume, Isaac 255	361
Asfaw, Eskedar 256	Banout, Jan 388, 403	Bessert, Leon 307
Asio, Luz 275	Barahona, Rolando 23	Bett, Bernard 365
Assam Taboko, Elizabeth	Bardach, Lisa 496, 498	Bett, Eric 462
513	Barker Branick, Stephanie	Beuchelt, Tina 512
Assogbadjo, Achille 79,	Hope 516	Beushausen, Wiebke 100,
98, 213, 309	Barkmann, Jan 30	414
Atchikpa, Michel Tchè-	Barroso, Juan 293	Bey, Ulrike 500
goun 410	Bartawi, Wafa 537	Bezeid O. El Mamy,
Awla, Hardy 216	Bassolé, Imael Henri	Ahmed 130
Ayaga, George 269	Nestor 313	Bhatta, Raghavendra 115,
Ayanwale, Haleemat . 127	Bastakoti, Dinesh 211	128

Biesalski, Hans Konrad	Bravo, Aura 455	Castro-Montoya, Joaquín
325, 340, 344,	Breuer, Lutz 505	122, 131
348, 351, 367	Bringhenti, Thomas . 100,	Catherine, Ky-Dembele
Bilal, Muhammad 30	414	314
Binot, Aurelie 371	Brinkmann, Katja 179	Cermáková, Klára 91
Birindwa, Bwihangane	Brockmann, Gudrun A.	de Certaines, Gaël 522
114	119	Chadare, Flora J 352
Birkenberg, Athena 415	Brouwer, Inge D.	372, 396
Birner, Regina . 339, 409,	326, 327, 331,	Chagunda, Mizeck 124
432, 469, 514	356, 358, 552	Chai-Areekitwat, Sawittree
Biruk, Birhanu 273	Bruce, Anani 65	399
Blagodatskiy, Sergey 188,	Brügemann, Kerstin . 179	Chaiban, Celia 148
240, 261	Brümmer, Bernhard . 394,	Chaikhaeng, Thanyaphisit
Blomme, Guy 24	459, 471	22
Bocher, Temesgen Fitamo	Brüssow, Kathleen 413	Chaloupkova, Petra 84
334	Buabeng, Maxwell 224	Chanzu, Oliver 392
Bodhi, Widdhi 257	Buchenrieder, Gertrud	Charry, Andrés . 138, 456
Bodjrenou Fifali, Sam Ul-	306	Chaudhary, Pashupati . 42
rich 321	Buchwald, Hannes 432	Chaulagain, Deepak . 425
Boedecker, Julia 321, 546	Buerkert, Andreas 94,	Che Simo, Vincent 513
Böhme, Michael 291, 347	179, 310	Chemis Mnelemba, Peace
de Boer, Imke 118, 365	Bullain Galardis, Miajil	146
Bogdanski, Anne 484	57	Cherotich, Sheillah 71
Bokelmann, Wolfgang	Bundala, Nyamizi 329,	Chibwe, Edward 361
341	340, 417	Chimuleke, Munthali 472
Bollig, Michael 178	Burkart, Stefan . 138, 139,	Chiveu, Josiah 56
Bonabana-Wabbi, Jackline	455	Chládová, Anna 221
461	Busari, Mutiu 49	Chokor, Joseph 263
Bonatti, Michelle 417	Butterbach-Bahl, Klaus	Chowdhury, Ataharul 443
Bonaventure, Aman	193, 195	Chuma, Boshuwenda An
Omondi 513	_	dre 44, 287
Bonneau, Xavier 224,	C	295
226–230	Cadisch, Georg 32, 188,	Chumpun, Chaiwat 205
Boonabaana, Brenda . 513	189, 208, 240–	Cisneros Araujo, Pablo
Boote, Ken 186	242, 251, 254,	516
de Borba, Marlon C 72	255, 261, 262,	Claes, Johan 378
Borba, Juliano 417	293, 345, 409	Cong Tiep, Nguyen 162
Borchard, Nils 276	Cakpo, Yves 225	Conrad, Christopher . 198
Borgemeister, Christian	Camara, Alimou 359	Cotter, Marc . 44, 54, 189
73	van Camp, John 400	295
Bosch, Christine 192	Carbonell, Victoria 308	Covic, Namukolo 11, 552
Boy, Erick 552	Carminati , Marta 130	Craufurd, Peter 271
Boysen, Ole 276	Carsan, Sammy 207	Creamer, Rachel 297
Braus, Antonia 173	Castiblanco, Valheria 139	Cuéllar, David 489

D	Demyan, Scott 262	\mathbf{E}
D'Haene, Eline 560	Denich, Manfred 490	Egenolf, Konrad 241, 254,
D'Haese, Marijke 529,	Deno, Agnes 104	289
533, 559, 560	Dermawan, Rahmansyah	Egom, Marvin 149
Dalemans, Floris 206	481	Egonyu, James P 99
Dam, Thi Huyen Trang 53	Déroy, Julien 448	Eichie, Francisca 362
Damot, Getachew Aleme-	Desalegn, Beruk Berhanu	Eichler-Loebermann, Bet-
yehu 298	348	tina 57, 285
Dang-Xuan, Sinh 371	Deshpande, Anant 157	Eilittä, Marjatta 442
Danso, Charles Acquah	Di Lello , Sara 130	Eissa, Mamdouh 258
228	Diaz, Ignacio 468	Ekeledo, Esther 401
Danso, Isaac 283	-	Ekesi, Sunday 73, 99
Dao, Juliane 310	Diaz, Lizette 456	El-Akaad, Suzan 393
Darr, Dietrich	Diaz, Manuel 139	El-Hasan, Abbas 70
212, 217–219,	Dickhoefer, Uta	Eleraky, Laila 329, 351
342, 346, 449,	111, 122, 131,	Elhadi, Yazan 172
472, 518, 519	132, 180, 193	Elias, Marlene 207
Dassou, Olivier 225, 229,	Diederich, Sandra 359	Ellssel, Pierre 27 Elst, K 400
230 Danier Thamas 422 427	Diekkrüger, Bernd 248	Enciso, Karen 138, 455
Daum, Thomas . 432, 437	Dieng, Ibnou 21	Enesi, Rebecca 49, 58
Dayananda, Supriya . 197 Daza, María Victoria . 489	Dietz, Silvia 555	Enyenihi, Eddy Atte . 155
De Bauw, Pieterjan 239	van Dijk, Suzanne 111	Esan, Olasumbo 387
De Bauw, Vanessa 485	Dinkler, Konstantin 97	Escarcha, Jacquelyn . 521
De Boevre, Marthe 374,	, ,	Essa, Abdikareen 173
476	Diogo, Rodrigue V. Cao	Evang, Esther 328
De Buck, Sylvie 485	179	Ewert, Frank 34, 186
De Coster, Tine 561	Dissanayake, D.M.P.S.	Ewuola, Emmanuel 160
De Freitas, Mateus B 72	276	Exalien, Exatul 448
De Koeyer, David 286	Do, Hoa 210	Ezekwe, Arinze Gilbert
De Neve, Stefaan 249	Dolch, Eric 208	158
De Quadros, Felipe M. 72	Dolo, Shila 247	17
De Raïssac, Marcel 230	Domptail, Stephanie . 515	\mathbf{F}
De Saeger, Sarah 374,	Dossa, Luc Hippolyte 179	Facchini, Francesco . 421
393, 476	Douma, Jacob C 331	Fanchone, Audrey 522
De Vries, Jeanne 358	Dubos, Bernard 230	Farajee, Hooshang 292
Debarry, Annapia 512	Dumbia, B 130	Farooq, Adil 383
Deckers, Jozef 273	Duncan, Alan 32, 118	Faße, Anja . 413, 433, 506
Deckers, Seppe 528		Fassinou, Finagnon . 352
Del Castillo Matamoros,	Duong, Nha Van 190	Fatch, Paul Falakeza 29
Sara 412	Durand-Gasselin, Tristan	Fathi, Mokhtar 116
Del Castillo, Sara 489	230	Fatondji, Dougbedji . 305
Dela Cruz, Nenita 275	Dzhakypbekova, Klara	Faye, Babacar 186
Demissie, Biadgilgn . 273	217, 519	Feger, Karl-Heinz 244

Feike, Til 43, 191	Galante, Valdir Antônio	Gnonlonfoun, Isidore . 79
Feldt, Tobias 307	370	Godar, Javier 82
Feng, Shuyi 533	Galindez, Jesús Gerardo	Gola, Ute 325, 351
Feola Conz, Rafaela . 243	23	Golbon, Reza 189
Fereidooni, Mohamad	Galiè, Alessandra 457	
Javad 253, 294	Gallai, Nicola 80	Gomarasca, Margherita 130
Fernández Cusimamani,	Gamboa Barraza, Cindybell	
Eloy 84	446	Gombert, Alina Joana 215
Feuerbacher, Arndt 531	Gangata, Bickson 472	Gomez, Carlos A 122
Fèvre, Eric 148	Garbaba, Chemeda Abe-	Gómez Padilla, Ernesto
Fiaboe, Komi 99	deta 406	Javier 57
Fichtler, Esther 233	García, Miryan 456	Gondwe, Therese 357
Fiedler, Sabine 246	Gardner, Toby 82	Goopy, John 193
Fievez, Veerle 123	Garschagen, Matthias 523	Gornott, Christoph 413
Fischer, Kerstin 359	Gaspart, Frédérike 525	Gowele, Victoria 329
Fischer, Sahrah 242, 345,	Gbèdomon, Castro Ro-	Grace, Delia 371, 386,
409	drigue 396	442, 477
Flachsbarth, Insa 394	Gebauer, Jens 212,	Graef, Frieder 285, 296
Foley, Jen 361	221–223	
Forsido, Sirawdink Fikreyesus 381	Gebert, Marina 146	Graef, Hannah A 285, 296
Franke, Linus 278	Gebremedhin, Berhanu	-, -
Frankl, Amaury 273	129, 453	Grätz, Alina 218
Frankova, Adela 388	Geitzenauer, Maria 464	Grassnick, Nina 394, 471
Freyer, Bernhard . 10, 27,	Gerdes, Gerrit 269	Grbic, Nikolina 347
102, 298	Gerlicher, Ansgar 432	Green, Jonathon 82
Frei, Michael 283, 300	Gerold, Gerhard 231	Gregor, Claus 227
Friis Johansen, Helene	Gessner, Ursula 186	Greiner, Clemens 178
537	Gharaat, Hassan 93	Grethe, Harald 531
Frison, Emile 13	Ghebreyohannes, Tesfaalem 273	Grimm, Michael 447
Fromm, Ingrid 33, 468	Gheysen, Godelieve . 485	
Fuchs, Michael Tobias	Giese, Marcus 180	de Groote, Hugo 65
231	Giessen, Lukas 517	Groschup, Martin H 359
Fürholzner, Bettina 66	Gilbert, Marius 148	Grote, Ulrike 413, 433,
Funk, Christoph 505	Giller, Ken 118, 278, 326,	506
	331	Grotelüschen, Kristina 20,
G	Girmay, Abbadi 297	238
Gabiri, Geofrey 20, 238	Gitao, George 114	Guggenberger, Christian
Gabriël, Sarah 561	Githiga, Ruth 507	500
Gachuiri, Agnes . 71, 207	Glas, M. Gracia . 330, 434	Gumma, Murali Khrisha
Gaiser, Thomas . 34, 186,	Glasner, Björn 238, 246	312
283	Glatzle, Sarah 133	Gunawan, Asep 113
Galan Robles, Juan Carlos	Glèlè Kakaï, Romain 79	Gurung, Pratima 332
84	Gluecks, Ilona 176	Guta, Dawit 416
	,	,

Gutierrez Solis, Jhon	Hilger, Thomas	Iqbal, Muhammad 282
Freddy 37	85, 208, 242,	Ireri, Dave 536
	251, 293, 345,	Irungu, Patrick 81
	369, 409, 492	Isabirye, Moses 528
H	Hincapie, Belisario 37	Iseki, Kohtaro 47
Ha, Nan 191	Höfte, Monica 562	Ishag, Ibrahim A 135
Habibi, Maryam 279	Hoenen, Thomas 359	Ishikawa, Haruki . 47, 286
Habte, Tsige-Yohannes	Hörstgen-Schwark,	Iskakova, Janyl 342
328	Gabriele 194	Ismaiel, Lama 83
Hadavizadeh, Ali 116	Hoffmann, Harry 296, 373	Isselmou, K 130
Hadir, Sofia 186	Hoffmann, Munir 100,	Isselstein, Johannes . 176,
·	247, 414	247
Hafner, Johannes 373	Høgh Rasmussen, Ingrid	Iswoyo, Hari 481
Hagel, Heinrich 488	537	Iyayi, Eustace 160, 362
Haggar, Jeremy 486	Hollaus, Alexander 25	
Haile, Mitiku 273, 558	Holländer, Kai 103	${f J}$
Hamada, Al Hosin 258	Holtkamp, Felix 300	Jabaty, Juliet 359
Hameed, Asif 520	Homann-Kee Tui, Sabine	Jackson, R.M. Ishara . 363
Hammond,	491	Jacobsen, Kim 95
Stacy Denise	Hoogenboom, Gerrit . 186	de Jager, Ilse 326, 331
55	Hosseini, Behnosh 70	Jäger, Matthias 456
Hasanloo, Tahereh 74	Hosseini, Zahra Sadat . 74	Jaisli, Isabel 479
Hassan, Abu Bakr 159	Hua, Ma 296	Jakaria, Jakaria 113
Haupenthal, Daniela . 208	Hufkens, Koen 95	Jalil, Atiqurrahman 250
Hauser, Stefan 49, 58	Hurtado, Jhon Jairo 456	Jamali Jaghdani, Tinoush
Havelaar, Arie 442	-	459
He, Xueqing 101	I	Jamnadass, Ramni 324
Heath, Livio 163	Ibrahim, Kindah 419	Janssens, Charlotte 511
Heckert, Jessica 418, 457	Idam, Nahid 135	Jengan, Garen 25
Heijde, Marc 485	Idiong, Nsima 155	Jibrin, Jibrin Mohammed
Heinrich, Juergen 259	Idowu, Mary Kemi 402	271
Hemme, Torsten 349	Idrissou, Latifou 483	Jin, Shaoze 532
Hendrickx, Saskia 442	Igberi, Christiana 470	John, Emeka Ogbonna
Heni, Jakob 345	Ijaz, Muhammad 282	194
Henri Grisseur, Djoukeng	Ilemut, Christine 495	Johnson, Jean-Martial . 21
389	Iloghalu, Ogoichukwu	Johnson, Kristian 50
Hensel, Oliver . 332, 381,	Genevive . 149	Jones, Nikhil 278
395, 397, 406	Ilukor, John . 36, 60, 444,	de Jong Cini, Sabrina 516
Herm-Stapelberg, Antonia	461, 530, 538	Jongjaidee, Jedsada 22
522	Impens, Reinout	Jonsyn-Ellis, Felixtina
Hernández Arboláez, Héc-	224, 226, 227,	359
tor Pablo	229, 230, 263	Jordan, Irmgard . 29, 242,
249	Imungi, Jasper 392, 478	330, 369, 434,
Hesse, Michael 478	Ipara, Billy Okemer . 161	441, 492, 538

Kehlenbeck, Katja	König, Sven 115, 128,
	162
,	Köpke, Ulrich 20
	Kofituo, Rich 280
	Kondwakwenda, Aleck 46
546	Koomson, Eric 32
Kepel, Billy 257	Kopsch-Xhema, Jenny
Kephaliacos, Charilaos 80	488
Keppler, Stefan 85	Korie, Sam 286
Kerkhofs, David 484	Korir, Luke 136
Keshavarz, Hamed 299	Koroma, Bashiru 359
Khaemba, Julius 369	Kossou, Dansou 225
	Kouame, Christophe N.
	233
	Kouyate, Amadou Malé
	309, 313
	Kowsari, Mozhgan 74
	Kpossilandé, Claudia 483
	Kral, Rosana 491
	Krause, Henning 506
,	Krawinkel, Michael . 328,
	330, 364
	Kremer, Isabella 208
	Kreter, Ana Cecília . 346,
*	370
-	Kriesemer, Simone Kathrin
-	209
	Krutovsky, Konstantin V.
Kimmig, Sabrina 487	Kubatova, Gabriela 438
Kinabo, Joyce 329, 340,	Kühne, Ronald F 176
351	Kuijsten, Anneleen 358
Kindt, Roeland 324	Kulig, Boris 332
Kingiri, Anne 507	Kuntawee, Sumanee . 205
	Kuntu-Blankson, Kate
,	Kunyanga, Catherine . 65,
	392, 478
*	Kunz, Stefanie 134
*	Kuonen, Laura 33
	Kurtz, Ditmar Bernardo
*	
-	Kwesiga, Julius 20, 238
Kocn, Marian 100	Kyallo, Martina 48, 151

Kyamanywa, Samuel . 99	Lilly, Bebora 114	Madode, Yann Eméric
	Limache de la Fuente,	352, 372
L	Daniela 89	Maertens, Miet
. m:m 510	Lindahl, Johanna 365, 386	206, 446, 454,
La, Thi Tham 518	Linderhof, Vincent 327,	508, 511, 528
Lacksivy, Narnon 371	356	Mager, Gregor 433
Lagerkvist, Carl Johan	Linnemann, Anita 396	Mahayothee, Busarakorn
	Listyarini, Kasita 113	399
Laibuni, Nancy Munyiva	Liu, Hongxi 188	Mahmood, Talha 198
341	Llacsahuanga, Diana . 454	Mahmoud, Adel 258
Lambert, Christine 325,	Lleshi, Roland 215	Mahmoud, Mutaz 159
348, 351	Löw, Philipp 434, 441	Maidala, Aminu 167
Lambrecht, Isabel 511	Logan, Amy 484	Maier, Dirk 442
Lamega, Sala Alanda 247	Lojka, Bohdan 51, 91,	Maina, Anthony 449
Lamers, John 186	216, 221	Majidian, Majid . 74, 279
Landmann, Dirk 487	Lokonon, Bruno 79	Makinde, John Olayinka
Lang, Hannes 306	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	167
Lang, Rong 240, 261	Loos, Tim K 458, 510	Mako, Adejoke . 125, 127
Langat, Jackson 536	López Sánchez, Raúl C.	
Lange, Bastian 395	57	Makokha, Nabwile Stellah
Langensiepen, Matthias	Losenge, Turoop 341	
238	Lovito, Carmela 130	Makunde, Godwill Simba
Lanzanova, Denis 364	Low, Jan	288
Lara Reimers, David	Lu, Hualiang 533	Malapit, Hazel 333, 418
Jonathan 84	Luck, Nathalie 447	Mamadjanov, Davlet . 217
Lara Reimers, Eduardo Al-	Ludwig, Till 360, 366	Manjeli, Yacouba 151
berto 84	Lückstädt, Christian . 157	Manourova, Anna 220
Larrateguy, Maria Victoria	Luedeling, Eike 210, 211,	Marhan, Sven 255
173	364	Mariami, Zewdie Adane
Latif, Sajid 382, 399, 401,	Lukuyu, Ben 147	129, 453
405	Luntungan, Aldian Hein	Mariani, Ennio 479
Laub, Moritz 261	368, 391	Marius, Affonfere 372
Laux, Patrick 186	Lupembe, Allen 239	Marohn, Carsten 32, 175,
Lawan, Bassam Abdulrah-	Luyckx, Elena 52	188
man 271	Lykke, Anne Mette . 309,	Marschner, Bernd 276,
Le, Van Binh 88	313	310
van der Lee, Jan 121, 350		Martinez, Elena 333, 418,
Leemhuis, Constanze 248	M	545
Lelea, Margareta 174, 177	141	Marwa, Leonard 147
Leonard, Alfonce 99	Maass, Brigitte L 154,	Masangano, Charles 29
Leroy, Jeff 552	482	Massler, Barbara 482
Li, Fang 533	MacCarthy, Dilys S 186	Mathé, Syndhia 464
Liebenehm, Sabine 509,	Macharia, Jane 96	Matsumoto, Ryo 286
526, 527	Madaleno, Isabel Maria	Matutu, Tumaini 496,
Liebert, Frank 390	78	498, 500
*		•

Maundu, Patrick 367	Mikutta, Robert 244	Muchugi, Alice 71
Mausch, Kai 411	Milkiyas, Ahmed 256	Mudyahoto, Bho 362
Mayanja, Sarah 335	Miller, Paige 411	Müller, Torsten 262
Maziya-Dixon, Busie 357	Mira, Sebastian 254	Müller, Andreas 359
Mbaididje Bianguirala,	Miralles, Franz 33	Müller, Carsten 244
Hélène 516	Mirzabaev, Alisher 416	Müller, Joachim 382, 399
Mbakaya, David 269	Mirzaeitalarposhti, Reza	401, 404, 405
Mbugua, Samwel 369	262, 284	Müller, Klaus 417, 467
Mburu, John 81	Mishra, Akansha 546	Mugisha, Johnny 530, 538
Mbuthia, Elizabeth 369	Mithöfer, Dagmar 370	Mugisho, Anthelme B.
Mbwana, Hadijah 329,	Mnene, William 172	154
340, 351	Modares Sanavy, Seyed Ali	Mujibi, Denis F.N 124
McDermott, John 544,	Mohammad	Mukanga, Mweshi 35
551	299	_
McMullin, Stepha 207,	Möckel, Thomas 197	Mukasa, Settumba 530
324	Mörlein, Daniel 390	Mukhtar, Adnan 405
Md Saleh, Rosalizan . 397	Möseler, Bodo 96	Mukiri, Jessica 137
Meari, Yaser 516	Mössinger, Johannes 208,	Mukundi, John Bosco
Meaza, Hailemariam . 273	469	222, 223
Meeus, Sofie 95	Mohamed, Mona Ali . 393	Mulumba, Lukman 496
Mehdizadeh, Mohammad	Mohamed, Samira 73	498
260	Mohammad, Ragheb . 216	Munda, Eliah 288
Meier, Rahel 479	Mohammadi, Hoda 87	Muoni, Tarirai 32
Meinhold, Kathrin 219,	Mohammed, Abdulraheem	Mupangwa, Walter 35
449, 472	290	Musa, Ahmed 135
Meinzen-Dick, Ruth . 418	Mojab Ghasroddashti, Ali	Musotsi, Anne Aswani
Meisen, Sabrina 218		322
Mekonnen, Daniel Ayalew	Mole, Kaimuddin 481	Musyoki, Mary 255
327, 356	Montaño-López, Fernando	Mutabazi, Khamaldin Daud
Melesse, Aberra 185	de Jesús 84	329, 340
Mentler, Axel 491	Moraa, Sylvia 150	Muthamia, Japhet 71
Merbold, Lutz 195	Morais, Maria da Graça	Mutota, Emily 515
Merckx, Roel 239, 271	Marralas Valasas Sandra	Mutua, Florence 386
Metre, Thierry 154	Morales Velasco, Sandra	Mutua, John 137
Mettenleiter, Thomas C 359		Muyasaroh, Siti 126
	Morley, Tomas . 327, 356	Muys, Bart 206
Meutchieye, Felix 151, 389	Mosquera, Teresa 489	Muzigera, Henri Bisimwa
Meyer zu Drewer, Johannes	Mosuro, Aderonke 127	63
	Motoike, Sérgio 208	Mwanga, Gladness 124
Meyer, Catherine 208	Movahedi Dehnavi,	Mwangi, Ann 369
Meyfroidt, Patrick 82, 525	Mohsen 292	Mwendia, Solomon W.
Mgeni, Charles Peter 467	Moylan, Heather 36	137
Miah, Sohag 517	Msuya, John M 422	Myers, Emily 457
iviiaii, Boliag 31/	1v13uya, John 1v1 422	141yCl3, Ellilly 43

N	Nguyen Thi Lan, Huong	Nyamweya, Justine . 222,
Naab, Jesse B 186	526	223
Nabati, Jafar 284	Nguyen Trong, Hung . 86	Nyang'ori, Godfrey 121
Naeem, Muhammad . 282	Nguyen, Hoang Khanh	Nyawira, Sylvia 176
Nafi, Eeusha 283	291	Nyikal, Rose 161
Nagle, Marcus 399	Nguyen, Hung 371	Nyokabi, Simon Ndungu
Nahma, Hatem 83	Nguyen, Trung Dung . 68	365
Nakamatte, Irene 444	Nhat Quynh Bao, Dang	Nyssen, Jan 273, 558
Nakimbugwe, Dorothy	291	Nziguheba, Generose . 32
378	Nieland, Corinna 409	
Nakua, Emmanuel Kweku	Niether, Wiebke 231	O
325	Nijhuis, Aafke 327, 356	
Namuddu, Mary Gorreth	Nijru, Nelly 457	O. Endidi, Mohammed
335	Nischalke, Sarah 512	130
Namusalisi, Jacqueline 65	Njiru, Ruth 350	Obi, Chinedu 529
Nantoumé, Hamidou . 311	Njuguna, Jane 71	Öborn, Ingrid 32
Narváez, Carlos 489	Njuki, Samuel Kayongo	Ocimati, Walter 24
Nasirumbi Sanya, Losira	495	Odeniyi, Kehinde Akin-
335	Njuru, Peris 81	kunmi 435
Nasser, Yao 48	Nkengla-Asi, Lilian . 513	Odhiambo, Jude J.O 247
Naumann, Marcel 56	Nodichao, Léifi . 225, 230	Odhiambo, Michael
Nawaz, Muhammad Arslan	Nölle, Nils 344	Ochieng 171
	Nohr, Donatus 325	Odo, Kenneath 149
Nbaye, Ahmadou Aly 410	Norgrove, Lindsey 58, 92	Odogwu, Justina 402 Odour Odhiambo, Francis
Ndah, Hycenth Tim 464	Notenbaert, An 137	546
Ndahetuye, Jean-Baptiste	Nsanzurwimo, Aimable	Oenema, Stineke 12
	103	Ofosu-Budu, Godfred 280
Ndambi, Oghaiki Asaah	Ntamwira, Jules 24	Ogunbayo, ayoni 562
195, 350	Ntwali, Janvier 404	Ogunribido, Tobi 156
Ndofor, Harriet Mbunwen	Nuberg, Ian 211	Ogwali, Hudson 496, 498
Foleng 149	Nugroho, Ramdhan Dwi	Ojo, Samuel Oluwafemi
Negese, Tegene 348		58
Nelson, Valerie 486	Núñez, Jonathan 241	Okehukwu, Christian 470
Neubert, Susanne 341	Nuppenau, Ernst-August	Oketch, Emma 507
Neuhoff, Daniel 20	29, 129, 330,	Okoruwa, Victor 379
Neumann, Carmen 390	369, 434, 441, 453, 492, 515,	Okoye, Kenechukwu Albert
Neumann, Günter 241,	538	90
254	Nurdianti, Risma Rizkia	Okry, Florent 483
Neutzling Brum, Aline 38	131	Ola, Oreoluwa 306
Nfor, Yuni Denis 470	Nurdoolot Kyzy, Cholponai	Olago, Daniel 195
Ngatat, Sergine 513	519	Olasanmi, Bunmi 401
Ngigi, Margaret . 350, 536	Nyaanga, Jane Gisemba	Olaya, Eucaris 489
Ngo, Van Cam 88	64	de Oliveira, Dulce 485

Oliveira de Araújo, Talita	Owino, Willis Omondi	Philip, Damas 445
208	219	Pieterse, Jacobus Pieterse
Ollivier, Jean 230	Owuor, George 343	288
Olmeno, Pablo 482	Oyegunwa, Adekoyejo	Pilarova, Tereza 419
Olorunnisomo, Olusola	160	Pinker, Ina 347
117	Oyetunji, Olumoye 562	Pinto Garcia, Ana 115
Oludare, Aderonke 562	Oyieke, Helida 96	128
Olugosi, Olayemi 156	Ozbekova, Zhyldyzai 342	Plaisier, Christine 534
Olumeh, Dennis 150, 466	_	Poehling, Hans-Michael
Oluoch-Kosura, Willis	P	69
466	Padonou, Elie Antoine	Poesen, Jean 273, 528
Omollo, Erick 172	313	Polanco, Luis 415
Omondi, Monica A 222,	Paez-Valencia, Ana Maria	Polesny, Zbynek . 83, 104
223	207	336
Omore, Amos 136	Palash, Md. Salauddin	Porcuna Ferrer, Anna 102
Onasanya, Omolara 49	120	Postl, Sebastian 491
Oni, Feyisara 562	Pananurak, Piyatat 165	Praneetvatakul, Suwanna
Onwonga, Richard Ndemo	Panis, Bart 55	165
496, 498	Parrado, Álvaro 489	Prayoga, M. Khais 481
Onwughalu, John 562	Párraga Lema, Cinthia	Pretzsch, Jürgen 518
Onyango, Alice 193	439	Probst, Lorenz . 102, 496
Onyimonyi, Anselm . 149	Parsa Motlagh, Bahareh	498
Oosting, Simon . 118, 365	31	Provost, Jennifer 311
Opara, Umezuruike Linus	Paschko, Kerstin 347	Pruneau, Ludovic 57
396	Pataczek, Lisa 251, 293	Pudil, Petr 336
Opolot, Deogracious 444,	Pawelzik, Elke 56	Pulleman, Mirjam 272
530	Pawera, Lukas 83, 104	Punjan, Isaree 205
Orr, Barron 303	Pearson Chelewani, Apatsa	Punyalue, Adirek 22
Ortiz Crespo, Berta 440	146	Pushpa Kumara, AWS
Osho, Bamidele 144	Peeters, Kaat 562	252
Oskonbaeva, Zhyldyz	Pelster, David 195	Putthana, Vannaphone
218, 342	Pereira, Engil Isadora	371
Otieno, David 150, 161,	243, 288	Pypers, Pieter 49
466	Pereira, Mariana 133	
Otieno, Ken 177	Perl, Elaine 218	Q
Ouma, Emily 442	Pertiwiningrum, Ambar	-
Ouyabe, Michel 281		Qaim, Matin 554
Ouédraogo, Amadé . 309,	Peters, Kurt-Johannes 349	Qiao, Yuhui 101
313	Peters, Michael 23, 37	Quembo, Carlos 163
Ouédraogo, Sibiri Jean	Peterseim, Juengen 97	Quevedo Cascante, Monica
304	Pham Duc, Phuc 371	524
	Pham Thi Thanh, Nga 523	Quiros, Carlos 440
Owens, Lucy 421	Pham, Van Hung 371	Quisumbing, Agnes . 333
Owino, Jesse 195	Phelan, Lisette T 232	418

Quiñonez, Hugo Melgar	Ridoutt, Brad 349	Sadik-Zada, Elkhan
489	Riedel, Simon 325, 348,	Richard 338
Qureshi, Anas Sarwar 153	351 D: 470	Saeed, Fahad 186
D	Rieger, Lorenz 479	Safari, Nancy 24
R	Rimal, Parshu Ram 425	Sah, Keshav 442
Rabiee, Mohammad . 279	Rimberia, Fredah Karambu	Said Ahmed, Ammar 119
Rademacher, Michael 103	222, 223	Saidia, Paul 285
Raedig, Claudia 90	Roba, Guyo 174	Sainan, Hassib 146
Raghavan Sathyan, Arch-	Robinson, Elizabeth J. Z.	Sainz-Sanchez, Pedro Alan
ana 505, 523	435	122
Rahman, Md Saifur 517	Robinson, Timothy P. 148	Saito, Kazuki 21, 26
Rahmann, Gerold 27	Rodehutscord, Markus	Saiz, Gustavo 308
Rahmatalla, Siham A. 119	185	Salako, Felix 49
Rai, Arun 531	Rodriguez Garcia, Virginia	Salazar-Cubillas, Khaterine
Rajaona, Arisoa 26, 44,	525	132
52, 54, 287, 295	Röhlig, Anna 330	Salehi, Amin 292
Ramba, Tandu 481	Roels, Ilse 448	Salindeho, Netty 391
Rambaldi, Giacomo . 436	Roesel, Kristina 477, 552	Samson, Roeland 57
Ramírez Camargo, Luis	Rötter, Reimund P 100,	Sandana, Falen Billy . 391
	233, 41	Sandeepani, Nilni 277
	Rojas Porras, María Victo-	Sander, Klas 531
Ramirez Lopez, Miguel 537	ria 412	Santos, Juliana Marisa
Ramundo Staduto, Jeffer-	Rojas, Gustavo 122	259
son A.	Romuli, Sebastian 404	Santos, Valéria A.C 133
son A. 370	Rosero, Gabriel 459	Sarfo, Jacob 546
Ranaweera, Bandula . 252	Rostami, Majid 87	Sarhan, Taha 290
Rasche, Frank 241, 254,	Rostini, Neni 481	Sariyev, Orkhan 510
	Roygrong, Sithidech . 205	Sarker, Pradip Kumar 517
255, 262, 289	Ruales, J 400	Sarpong, Daniel 280
Rasowo, Brenda 73	Ruane, Alex 186	Sasube, Laurensi 368
Raut, Sharvari 395 Razafindrazaka, Ando	Ruben, Ruerd 493	Sattler, Dietmar 259
· ·	Rufino, Mariana 195, 308	Savadogo, Patrice 304,
Lalaina 44, 52	Ruggaber, Julian 241, 289	308, 314
Razanaboahirana, Claudine		Sawi, Memuna Kadie 488
	Ruiz González, Yanetsy	Schad, Philipp 241, 289
Reardon, Thomas 460	249	Schafleitner, Roland . 251
Reda, Gidena Tasew . 297	Rumengan, Inneke Fenny	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Reichenbach, Marion 115,	Melke 391	
128	Rurinda, Jairos 271	Scheiterle, Lilli 514
Reichert, Barbara 67	Rybak, Constance 329,	Schelhaas, Mart-Jan . 188
Reissmann, Monika . 119	340, 417 4	Schepp, Claudia 248
Restrepo, Luz Patricia 489		Scherbaum, Veronika 345
Restum Hissa, Helga . 259	\mathbf{S}	Schlecht, Eva 115, 128,
Rhyner, Jakob 523		134, 179, 307,
Rice, Brendan W 395	S Umar, Fatimawali . 257	311, 383, 520

Schleussner, Carl-Friedrich	Sibiya, Julia 46	Ssepuuya, Geoffrey 378
186	Siddig, Muneer Elyas 221	Stadlmayr, Barbara 324
Schmidt, Hans-Peter . 214	Sie, Moussa 48	Stadnik, Marciel J 72
Schmidt, Kristina Maria	Sieber, Stefan 296, 329,	Stallknecht, Adrian 421
359	340, 373, 417,	Stas, Jan 403
Schmierer, Marc 50, 59	445, 464, 467	Stein, Beate 66
Schmitt, Christine 490	Sigsgaard, Lene 101	Steingass, Herbert 185
Schneider, Mirian Beatriz	Sila, Daniel N 363	Steinhübel, Franziska 447
346	Silayo, Valerian 296	Steinke, Jonathan 440
Schneider, Monika 231	Sillo, Fitta Silas 21	Sten, Morten Hørkild
Schneider, Pia 190	Silva, Neliton 85	524
Schneider, Sarah 45	Silva, Osmira Fatima Da	Stenchly, Kathrin 310
Schneidewind, Ulf 231	28	Stepman, Francois 14
Schock, Steffen 404	Simarmata, Tualar 481	Stevenson, James 36
Schoenleber, Nicole . 488	Simatele, Danny 463	Stoffelen, Piet 95
Schoonhoven-Speijer, Mir-	Simpungwe, Eliab 361	Strange, Louise 524
jam 460	Singbo, Alphonse 305	Stöber, Silke 481
Schug, Angela R 173	Singh, Rakesh Kumar . 51	Strauch, Ronja 43
Schulte, Rogier 297	Sinsin, Brice A 79, 230	Stürz, Sabine 50
Schulz, Gabrielle 547	Sivarajah, Ponniah 465	Stuetz, Wolfgang 329,
Schulz, Steffen 297	Six, Johan 243, 288	340, 351
Schwöppe, Christina . 524	Sixpence, Claudio 491	Sturm, Barbara . 332, 395,
Schöne, Jochen 254	Skjødt, Emil Borello 524	397
Seliger, Roman 90, 259	Slámová, Tereza 388	Sulaiman, Naji 83
Senthilkumar, Kalimuthu	Slimbrouck, Johan 448	Sulaimanova, Zhamilia
20, 21, 26,	Smanalieva, Jamila 218,	519
44, 54, 238, 239,	342	Suliman, Marah 83
287, 295	Smets, Ruben 378	Sultana, MST. Nadira
Setianto, Agung 420	Smíd, Jan 91	120, 349
Setiawati, Mieke 481	Soares Da Silva, Antonio	Suluku, Roland 359
Sevgan, Subramanian . 99	259	Sumantri, Cece 113
Seymour, Greg 418	Soeherman, Yudistira 420	Supriadi 420
Shahbazi, Zahra 292	Solovyeva, Irina 434, 441	Suptijah, Pipih 391
Sheat, Samar 66	Sommer, Rolf 176	Swamila, Martha 445
Shehu, Bello Muhammad	Sonda, Tamba Steven 488	TD.
271	Sotelo Cabrera, Mauricio	T
Shelia, Vakhtang 186	Efren 23	Tabo, Ramadjita 305, 312
Shepherd, Keith 364	Soufizadeh, Saeid 284	Tadesse, Alemayehu . 123
Shibabaw, Agegnehu 298	Sproule, Kathryn 333	Tadesse, Ephrem 35
Shigaeva, Jyldyz 217, 519	Srinivasan, Chittur S. 435	Taheri, Fatemeh 559
Shiwachi, Hironobu . 281	Srivastava, Amit Kumar	Tahmasebi, Maryam 43
Shrestha, Luna 332	34	Tallei, Trina 257
Shrestha, Suchit 42	Ssali, Tendo Reuben . 335	Talsma, Elise 327, 356,
Shumo, Marwa 323	Ssebbanja, Hossam 60	358
,		

Tamayo, Nemesio 275	${f U}$	Van Rijn, Fedes 534
Tambo, Justice A 410	Uberu, Nkiru Patience 158	Van Troos, Koen 177
Tanaka, Atsuko 21	Uckert, Götz 296, 373	Van Vugt, Daniel 278
Tanaka, Naoto 281	Uddin, Md. Jasim 113	Vancampenhout, Karen
Tanha, Taimour 116	Uddin, Mohammad Mohi	398
Tapat, Virginia 539	120, 349	Vandamme, Elke . 21, 239
Tariq, Muhammad 383,	Ueberschär, Bernd 146	Vandelook, Filip 95
520	Ul-Allah, Sami 282	Vandeweyer, Dries 398
Tchandao Mangamana, Es-	Umar, Talha 153	Vanwambeke, Sophie O.
somanda 79	Umar, Zaima 153	148
Teffera, Fassil 398	Umer, Saqib 153	Vargas-Carpintero, Ricardo
Tegegne, Azage . 129, 453	Umezinwa, Kenechi . 149	469
Templer, Noel 496, 498	Umulisa, Viviane 67	Vazquez, Eduardo 272,
Termote, Céline 321, 546	Umunna, Amadi Mark	289
Terracciano, Giuliana 130	470	Vehrs, Hauke Peter 178
Tesfamariam, Zbelo . 273	Unger, Fred 371, 552	Velten, Susanne 390
Tesfay, Yayneshet 112,	Usman, Muhammad . 153,	Vera, E 400
123	198	Verbeeck, Hans 95
Teufel, Nils 136	Uwingabire, Zafarani . 80	Vergara, Daniel 139
Teutscherová, Nikola 272,	Uyttebroek, M 400	Verhagen, Jan 493
289	${f V}$	Verma, Supriya . 241, 254
Thant, Aye Aye 51	•	Verner, Vladimir 104, 438
Thellmann, Kevin 189	Valladares Vilches, Lanyer	Vernooy, Ronnie 102
Thevs, Niels 215	249	Vidal, Arnau 374, 476
Thiel, Felix 252, 276	Van Campenhout, Leen	Viehmannová, Iva 55
Thode Schultz, Esben 516	398	
Thonfeld, Frank 178	Van Damme, Patrick	Vijitsrikamol, Kampanat
Tordo, Noel 359	57, 224, 226,	
Torres Rodriguez, Juan	227, 229, 230,	Villacis-Chiriboga, José
Antonio 57	309, 439 Van Den Broeck, Goedele	
Traore, Kalifa 312	. 446, 508, 511	Villalba, Roberto 339
Travella, Silvia 485	Van Den Bulcke, Jan 95	Vincent, Isaac 287
Trijsburg, Laura 327, 356,	Van Der Borght, Mik 378	Vipham, Jessie 442
358	Van Der Merwe, Deon	Vivas Quila, Nelson José
Tripathi, Bhaba Prasad 42	442	23, 37
Triyannanto, Endy 126	Van Eetvelde, Veerle . 273	Voegele, Ralf T 70
Troupin, Cécile 359	Van Etten, Jacob 102, 440	Vogel, Claudia 464
Tsegaye, Nejat Kiyak 381	Van Hoyweghen, Kaat	Vogel, Cordula 244
Tumaini, Ubaldus J 422	508	Vongkamjan, Kitiya . 403
Tumova, Barbora 104	Van Knippenberg, Camee	Voorspoels, S 400
Tunje, Joseph G 449	350	Vosloo, Wilna 163
Tuyet, Hanh Tran Thi 371	Van Mele, Paul 483	Vranken, Liesbet 528
Twinamasiko, Julius . 538	Van Montagu, Marc . 485	Vydrova, Kristyna 104

\mathbf{W}	Wiehle, Martin 94	Yin, Tong 115, 162
Wachendorf, Michael 197	Wilder, David 527	Yohalashet, Mehretab 297
· ·	Wilkes, Andreas 111	Yonah, Zaipuna 124
Wagacha, John M 65 Waibel, Hermann	Wimba, Benjamin 154	Yousefi, Afsaneh 284
,	Winker, Peter 505	Yousif, Abdelrahim Moha-
145, 509, 526,	Winter, Stephan 63, 66	med 274
527, 532	Wisser, Dominik 186	Youssouf Jamilou, Ngou-
Wainaina, Cornelius . 223	Woldekirstos, Amsalu	yamsa 389
Wald, Julian Philipp . 325	Nebiyu 256	Yustas, Yusto 296
Walker, Frank 254	Wolf, Valentin L.F 233	
Wall, David 297	Wolff, Heinz-Peter 519	${f Z}$
Walyaula, Stephen 495	Wolk, Kevin 218	7 1 D: 426
Wanawan, Magdalena 539	Wollny, Clemens 103	Zachmann, Rainer 436
Wander, Alcido Elenor 28	Wondemagegnehu, Eshetu	Zamecnik, Jiri 55
Wandiga, Shem 195	Bekele 256	Zander, Peter 53
Warth, Benjamin 175	Wu, Lin-Bo 300	Zanini, Elaine 346
Wasonga, Oliver 112, 172	Wu, Xunjiang 101	Zeller, Manfred 192, 458,
Waswa, Lydiah . 242, 330,	Wulfmeyer, Volker 196	510
369, 441	Wullur, Stenly 391	Zemadim, Birhanu 312
Waters-Bayer, Ann 177	* 7	Zenebe, Amanuel 273
Webber, Heidi 186	X	Zepeda del Valle, Juan
Weerakkody, Jayantha	Xu, Jianchu 188, 240	Manuel 84
252, 277	714, Francis 100, 210	Zereyesus, Yacob 442
Weisshaidinger, Rainer 25	Y	Zhang, Dehong 101
West, Chris 82		Zhu, Huabin 153
Whitbread, Anthony 305,	Yabi, Afouda Jacob 410	Zhuang, Haowen 532
312	Yahaya, Rabe 35	Ziegler, Susanne 238, 246
White, Robin 111	Yahya, B 130	Zongo, Armel Nongma
Whitney, Cory 210, 364	Yang, Xueqing . 188, 261	310
Wiafe, Emmanuel 228	Yao, Nasser 151	Zougmore, B. Robert 308
Wichern, Florian 218	Yasir, Tauqeer Ahmad 282	Zu Ermgassen, Erasmus
Widiarto, Wisnu 126	Yassi, Amir 481	82

Index of Keywords

A	Agricultural extension 64, 440	Aspergillus niger 387 Attitude 438, 487, 499
Abiotic factors 218	intensification 486,	Auger 225
Acacia 176, 185	524, 525	Auxin treatment 88
hybrid 518	intervention 441	Avocado 207, 364, 456
Acanthacris ruficornis 99	investments 527	Awareness . 28, 161, 250,
Access to seeds 29, 60,	policy 306, 447, 486	278, 332, 343,
409, 513	training 487	349, 350, 368,
Activity links 174	waste 167	371, 415, 447,
Actor network 174, 463	Agro-pastoral 172	449, 485, 512,
Adansonia digitata 71,		546
144, 219, 221–	Agrobiodiversity 102,	2.0
223, 309, 313,	104, 321, 345,	В
372, 449, 472	492, 522, 546	В
Adaptation 23, 56, 425,	Agrochemicals . 524, 537	Banana . 24, 205, 336, 522
523	Agroecology . 28, 45, 522	bunchy top disease
strategies . 164, 505,	Agroecosystems 243, 249	513
523	Agroforestry . 29, 71, 104,	cooking 335
Adaptive capacity	206, 208, 211,	seed systems 513
172, 194, 463,	212, 215, 216,	Bangladesh 145, 443, 517
481, 505	233, 245, 445	Baobab 222, 328
Adoption . 280, 410, 441,	Allelopathy 241	processor 472
444	Alliance farming 307	products 449
Afghanistan 250	Alternative	Bayesian network 364
Aflatoxin . 160, 357, 384,	medicine 438	Beef 442, 455
386, 476	oil crop 469	Behavioural economics
African	AMF 256, 272, 289	360
indigenous vegetables	Anthelmintic 144	Bench marking approach
. 322, 341, 506	Antibacterial 403	121
savanna 175	Antioxidants . 56, 91, 342,	Benin 79, 213, 321, 410,
swine fever 163	347, 396, 401	483
Agricultural	AquaCrop 43	Berries 94, 342, 519
biodiversity 102	Aquaculture 145, 146,	Beta lactoglobulin 119
contraction 525	165, 166, 194	Bhutan 510, 531
diversity 29, 538	Archaea 241, 255, 289	Bilateral contracts 461
index 538	Artificial insemination	Bio-engineering 259
expansion 525	121, 124	Bio-reclamation 305
	,	579

Biochar 214, 252, 256,	Camu-camu 91	Climate
277, 285, 296	Candidatus Liberibacter	-smart agriculture 58
Biodiversity 90, 96, 98,	africanus 73	Climatic shock 192
103, 345	Capacity building 359,	Cluster analysis 128, 162,
Bioeconomy 208, 519	476, 477	506, 538, 560
Bioenergy 373	Carbon 246	Coccoloba uvifera 57
Biofertiliser 277, 284,	credits 214	Cocoa 104, 454, 471
291, 294	footprint 191	certification 464
Biofortification 46, 334,	sequestration 176,	value chain 464
361, 547	188	
Biofuels 206, 291	Carribean 522	Coffee 205, 415
Biomarker 374	Cassava . 49, 58, 66, 399,	Cold stress 52, 54
Biorefinery 469	401	Colombia 412, 468
Biotic oxygen release . 85	processing 379	Commercial dairy farming
Bitter cola 220	varieties 36	383
Black	bioethanol 530	Commercialisation 145,
market 273	brown streak disease	150, 466
seed oil 153	66	of nature 515
soldier fly 390	foam 382	Community
BNI 241, 254, 289	Cattle 135	forests 515
Bolivia 33, 482	production 139, 307,	restaurants 346
Borage 292	455	seed banks 102
Botryospheriaceae 71	systems 193	Comparative analysis 155
Bounded rationality 453	Cavia porcellus . 154, 482	Complementary
Brachialactone 254	Certification 81, 394, 454,	feeding 321
Brachiaria . 241, 272, 289	464	foods 357, 381
Brazil 346, 459	Change agent 443	
Broiler 157–160, 390	Charcoal 296, 531	Compost 270, 274, 276
Browse 112, 179	Child dietary diversity 369	Confinement 147, 195
Brucellosis 130	Children 331, 357	Conservation 90, 222
Buffer strip adoption . 434	China . 101, 189, 191, 261,	priorities 79
Burkholderia gladioli 562	532, 533	Consumer
Bushmeat 154	Chitosan	acceptability 343,
Business model 136, 395,	Choice experiment 446	363
472	Citrus greening disease 73	behaviour 339
	Climate 75	Contour bunding 312
\mathbf{C}		Contract farming 460
G-1	change 45, 50, 53, 89,	Cooperatives 453, 460,
Caloric intake 327, 329, 356	95, 164, 187–	519, 559
	189, 192, 194,	Coping-strategies 421
Cambodia 388, 442 Camel 130, 380	232, 304, 425,	Copper 402
	481, 505, 521	Cotton 191, 215, 283
milk 385	adaptation 233, 413, 481	Cowpea 47, 118, 152, 209
Cameroon . 389, 464, 482,		•
513	protection 212	Credit 457

Crop	Dietary	Ecosystem
diversification 278,	exposure 357	services 80, 86, 189,
326	gap 327, 356	515
N-status 287	index 358	functions 175
residue 152, 296	intake 329, 351	management 304
rotations 27	recall 351	Ecotourism 516
water consumption	Dioscorea 281, 286	Edible insects 323, 343,
215	Disadoption 435	344, 378
Cropping pattern 298	Diversification 26, 555	Elaeis guineensis 78,
Crossbred cow 129	DNA fingerprint . 36, 444	224–230, 263
Cryopreservation 55	Domestication 94, 221,	eLearning 479
Curing 397	223	ELISA 114, 130, 359, 386
Curriculum development	DR Congo 63, 114, 482	Emission
488	Drawing exercice 437	factors 193
	Drivers of change 14	intensity 193
D	Droplet vitrification 55	Endophytes 281
Dairy . 111, 115, 120, 122,	Drought 46, 242	Energy 364
195, 311, 442	resistance 314	efficiency 97
development 177	stress 293	scarcity 373
farms 386	tolerance 24	security 416
management 111		stacking 296
systems 128	Drudgery 35	transition 296
traders 457	Drying characteristics 404	Enset 398
value chains 365	Dryland 177, 274, 293, 445	Environmental
Decision Decision		conservation 64, 212,
analysis 210	agroforestry 308	531
making 138	Dynamical downscaling	externality 270
support tool 49	196	pollution 167
Deforestation 82, 212		service 85
Delta ¹³ C 240	E	sustainability 486
Desertification 304	_	Essential oil 299, 403
Diaporthe/Phomopsis	East Africa . 44, 111, 171,	Ethiopia 27, 35, 112, 129,
species complex	177, 195, 409	192, 297, 356,
70	East-Coast-Fever 136	453, 458, 512
Diazotrophes 281	Ebolavirus 359	orthodox fasting 348
Diet quality 358	Eco-efficiency 137	Ethnobotany 83, 98
Dietary	Ecological	Ethnomedicine 84
adequacy 326	drivers 98	Eucalyptus 133
assessment 325	importance value 213	Evaluation 135, 211, 497,
diversity 326, 330,	sanitation 448	534
331, 333, 356,	Economic	Evaporative cooling . 117
366, 381, 409,	evaluation 80	Evapotranspiration 253
414, 434, 441,	surplus model 138	Extension 491
458, 510, 554	viability 395	approaches 411
		581

Extension	Fertiliser	Food
services 30, 164, 306,	microdosing 285	security 173,
340, 435, 449,	pollution 93	177, 211, 243,
484, 491, 523	response 286	250, 297, 309,
404, 471, 323	Fibers 132, 468	313, 322, 323,
F	Fingerroot 403	325, 330, 334,
-	Fique 468	341, 344, 349,
Fairtrade 454	Fish	365, 385, 410–
Fall armyworm 63	conservation 387,	412, 414, 416,
Fallow succession 92	389	419, 421, 423–
Family farming 28, 346,	scales 391	425, 445, 448,
370	Fishery 146, 194, 391	466, 478, 480,
Famine	Floodplain 20, 96, 238	484, 492, 506,
Farm	Flora	519, 529, 559
classification 128,	Food	sovereignty 412, 500
148, 538, 560	access security 422	systems 13, 327, 358,
efficiency 560	analysis 344	494
heterogeneity 538	approach 324	trees 207, 324
modelling 208	chain 388	Forage
profitability 306	choice 361	breeding 139
resilience 560	composition 242,	crops . 23, 111, 117,
survey 43, 191 waste 399	324, 345	118, 137, 172,
Farmer	consumption 334	180, 185, 214
clubs 484	contaminants 393	production 37
field school 481,	energy nexus 373	Forest 240
492, 495	fortification 363, 372	access 516
Farmers	gap 326	degradation 373
perception 67	groups 409	garden 214
preferences 51	insecurity 30, 65,	landscape 86
Farming systems . 27, 249	210, 420	management 188
Farmyard manure 20, 274,	price volatility 459	policy 531
298	production 297, 339,	products 516
Fatty acid 113, 279, 313	558	types 86, 342
Faecal sludge 252, 276	quality 335	
Feed	control 404	Forest-based rural development 519
hygiene 157	safety	
safety 362	64, 68, 173, 177,	Fortified porridge 363
Female workload 512	322, 350, 362,	Freire pedagogy 417
Fenugreek 74	365, 371, 404,	Fruits 342, 396
Fermentation 156, 398	442, 447, 462,	byproducts 185
Fertiliser 49, 229, 269,	477, 478, 537	size 221, 223
275, 278, 370	security 25, 27,	value chains 456
adoption 306	34, 35, 97, 145,	Funding allocation 138
advice 297	164–167	Fungal flora 71

Fungal inoculation 65	Gross margin 104, 461	Income
Fusarium spp 562	Groundnut 288	diversification . 134
wilt 72	Guatemala 102, 423	458, 528
	Guerrilla 412	inequality 433
G	Guinea pig . 151, 154, 482	India 128, 157, 366, 534
~	Gut contents 99	Indicator
Garlic		set 90
Gender 207, 361, 411,	Н	values 96
415, 418, 419,		Indigenous
432, 457, 507,	Haiti	chickens 144
512, 514	Hatchery 146	communities 84
equity 489, 510	Health 370, 438, 537, 552	fruit 220
roles 513	problem 332	tree 223
sensitive intervention	status 156	
334	HealthyLAND . 369, 409,	knowledge 507
Gene flow 94	441, 492	species 324
Genebank	Hemeroby 96	vegetables . 305, 340
Genetic	Herbal mixtures 83	424
diversity 48, 91, 94,	Hermetia illucens 390	Individual preferences 360
151, 163	Hermetic storage 65	Indonesia . 104, 126, 230
engineering 155	Hidden hunger 330, 351	257, 368, 438
resistance 72	Holistic model 210	447, 454, 481
variants 119	Homegarden 100, 245,	Infants 332
Genotypes 54, 300	369, 414, 537	feeding 333
Geographical distribution	Honey bee 93	Information
98, 465	Host plants 99	system design 440
Germplasm 37	Hubs 462	needs 449
Ghana . 78, 280, 325, 326,	Humic acid 290	sharing 423
331, 511, 514	Hunger gap 324	transfer 434, 441
GHG 13, 137, 138, 185,		Innovation . 478, 462, 514
191, 195, 214	I	communication . 490
GlobalGAP 394		platform 309, 491
Glyptostrobus pensilis . 88	Impact 410, 470, 551	Innovative
Gmelina arborea 127	assessment . 53, 165	learning 500
Goats 29, 114, 130, 131,	pathway 211, 552	solar drying 404
174, 491	Import policy 470	Insects 103, 323, 344, 378
Sudan breeds 119	in vitro	Institutional
Government programs	fermentation 125	
524	digestibility 125,	improvement 536
Grafting 290	372	linkages 478
Grain legume residues	gas production . 127,	Integrated
118	144	extension 539
Grazing 122	in vivo	management 190
management 176	Income 35, 154, 308, 467,	273, 448
Green manure 20, 24, 251	520	research 539

Titorroroping	Intensification 34, 92,	Land	M
Intermicrobial competition	•	cover 312	Macaw palm 208
Thermational convention		C	
Thernational convention 219 cooperation 488 migration 337, 425, 529 trade 80, 89, 175, 178, 174 214, 482, 516 518, 520, 534, 424, 449, 466, 506, 536 Knowledge systems 481, 546 Kyrgyzstan 215, 217, 218, 342, 519 Labour 467 division 432 Labour 467 division 432 Labour 467 division 432 Labour 467 division 432 Labour 432 Labour 467 division 432 Labour 4432 Labour 44342 La	•		
Testifience 558			
Colovention		resilience 558	· ·
Cooperation Ass Migration 337, 425, Change Section S		tenure 307	C
Change C	*	use 96, 312	
Trade		change	
Table Tabl			
Taq			
Kurdistan 216		· ·	
Latex production 188	-	,	
toxicity 300 Irrigated lowland . 21, 52 Irrigation . 310, 535, 536 deficit			
Irrigated lowland		1	, ,
Trigation		_	
Deficit 251 Lemongrass 403 Life cycle assessment 191 349 311, 465		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Lethongrass 403	_	-	
Strategy Strategy Strategy Strategy Stransition Strategy Strategy Stransition Strategy Strategy Stransition Strategy Str		C	· · ·
Livelihood . 81, 179, 212, 421, 482, 516— 518, 520, 534, 537 537 537 531 539 537 531 539 539 539 539 539 539 539 539 539 539		•	
Livelinoud	TIWI vaccination 130	* **	· ·
Javanese fat tailed sheep	T		, ,
Savanese fat tailed sheep	9		
Strategy S23, 532 Power 459	1		
transition 521	113		
K Livestock 29, 172, 311, 420, 482 Maternal nutrition 333 Kenya 81, 150, 174, 323, 331, 350, 367, 386, 424, 449, 466, 506, 536 feed 118 Mbororo Fulani 307 Knowledge systems 481, 546 movement 179 production microbial contaminamic ontaminamic on	Job performance 443		
Ervestock N. 27, 12, 317, 420, 482 Mauritania 130 Kenya . 81, 150, 174, 323, 331, 350, 367, 386, 424, 449, 466, 506, 536 feed 118 Mbororo Fulani 307 Knowledge systems . 481, 546 movement 179 production 23, 152 tion 392 Kyrgyzstan 215, 217, 218, 342, 519 Local value chain 173, 390 Knowledge 79, 207 organic resources 220 Mechanisation 35, 432 Labour 467 division 432 poultry 147 Mesofauna 249 Long-term preservation 55 Mesophyll conductance	TZ		
Kenya . 81, 150, 174, 323, 331, 350, 367, 386, 424, 449, 466, 506, 536 feed	K		
331, 350, 367, 386, 424, 449, 466, 506, 536 Knowledge systems · 481, 546 Kyrgyzstan 215, 217, 218, 342, 519 Loans	Kenya . 81, 150, 174, 323,		
386, 424, 449, movement 179 microbial contamina- 466, 506, 536 production . 23, 152 tion 392 Knowledge systems . 481, 546 Kyrgyzstan 215, 217, 218, 342, 519 champion 482 knowledge 79, 207 medicinal plants 84, 87, organic resources 220 Labour 467 poultry 147 Mesofauna 249 division 432 Long-term preservation 55 Mesophyll conductance			
A66, 506, 536 production . 23, 152 tion			
Knowledge systems 481, 546 Loans 457 quality 392 value chain 173, 390 value chain 173, 390 Mechanisation 35, 432 Mechanisation 35, 432 Mechanisation 35, 432 Mechanisation 20 Medicinal plants 84, 87, organic resources 220 Mentha piperita 299 Mentha piperita 299 Mesofauna 249 Mesofauna 249 Mesophyll conductance	466, 506, 536		
Kyrgyzstan 215, 217, 218, 342, 519 Local value chain 173, 390 Mechanisation 35, 432 Mechanisation 35, 432 knowledge 79, 207 Medicinal plants 84, 87, organic resources 220 Labour 467 poultry 147 Mesofauna 249 division 432 Long-term preservation 55 Mesophyll conductance	Knowledge systems . 481,	•	
Kyrgyzstan 215, 217, 218, 342, 519 champion 482 Mechanisation 35, 432 L organic resources 220 Labour 467 poultry 147 Mesofauna 249 division 432 Long-term preservation 55 Mesophyll conductance	546		
L knowledge 79, 207 organic resources 220 Medicinal plants 84, 87, 220 Labour	Kyrgyzstan 215, 217, 218,		*
L organic resources 220 280 Mentha piperita 299 Labour 467 poultry 147 Mesofauna 249 division 432 Long-term preservation 55 Mesophyll conductance	342, 519	•	
Labour	_		•
Labour	L	_	
division 432 Long-term preservation 55 Mesophyll conductance	Labour 467	poultry 147	
productivity 432 Lowland rice . 20, 26, 54, 50, 59		Lowland rice . 20, 26, 54,	
trade-offs 411 239, 295 Methane emission 185,	1		,
Lactating mothers 348 LULC 178, 198 193	Lactating mothers 348	LULC 178, 198	193

Micronutrients . 324, 325,	Natural	Nutritional
328, 356	supplements 328	diversity 150
deficiency 372	Nature conservation . 154	Nutritive value 123, 127
Microsatellites 151	Neem 69	
Migration . 421, 425, 529	Nepal 211, 332, 425	O
Milk 129, 311, 349, 386	NERICA 435	Off-season 26
quality 350, 365, 383	Newcastle disease 161	Oil palm 224–229, 263
marketing . 384, 453	Nigella sativa 153	alternative 208
productivity 120	Nigeria . 34, 49, 166, 224,	Oleic acid 279
storage 380	227, 229, 306,	One Health 173, 362, 561
transport 380	327, 356, 379,	Ontological approach 439
value chain 173	402, 435, 470	Oreochromis karongae
yield 111, 117	Nitrogen 246, 295, 299,	O
Milking 380	241	146
Minor crop 208	content 47	Organic 10 221
Mites 249	fixation 256, 293	agriculture . 10, 231, 290, 499
Mixed crop-livestock 521,	partitioning 251	*
522	uptake 283	carbon 247
Momordica charantia 144	NTFP 309, 515, 516	certification 454
Mothers 332, 348, 368,		food 447
511	Nutrient 351, 399	rice 101, 447
Mould 404, 406	adequacy 381	Ornithodoros moubata
Mozambique 163, 243,	balance 22	
288, 491	composition 185	<i>Oryza</i> spp 48, 52, 238
Mucilage 292	content 229	P
Mucuna 24, 32	gap 326	•
Mung bean 284	profile 378	Pakistan 383, 520
Musa 104, 336	requirement 271	Panel data . 424, 508, 509
Mushrooms 38, 363	Nutrition 209, 321, 324,	Panicum maximum 277
Myanmar 51	330, 345, 414,	Participatory
Mycorrhizal symbiosis	432, 442, 544,	approach 312, 522
289	551, 552, 554	assessment 539
Mycotoxins 65, 387, 404,	and health 550	research 139, 207
442, 476	education 321, 369	information systems .
112, 170	materials 321,	436
N	545, 546	mapping 25, 307
14	security 341, 344,	research 139
N_2O emissions 272	417	Pastoral grazing 172, 178
Namibia 515	sensitive agriculture	Pastoralism 171, 174, 177,
Nanoparticles 391	11, 366, 514,	179, 307, 392
Natural	555	Pasture
fertiliser 298	software 351	sloped 259
preservatives 403	Nutritional	regrowth 175
resource management	status 357, 410	Patulin 374
500	composition 381	PCR 91, 99, 113, 163, 220
	•	

Peace agreement 412	Potato	R
Peer-to-peer learning 482	varieties 60	Rabbits 150, 152, 153
Peri-urban agriculture	crop system 103	Radish 277
. 422, 439, 457	Poultry production 148,	Rainbow corn 253
Perilla frutescens 347	155, 156, 161	Rainforest alliance 81.
Persea americana 125,	Poverty 415, 526–528	454, 471
207, 364	Pregnant women 367	Rainwater harvesting 285
Persicaria odorata 347	Preservatives 391	Rangelands 176, 178, 179
Peru 446, 454, 482	Private food standards 394	Rapeseed 260
Pestalopsis 71	Pro-poor value chain . 469	Reclamation 274
Peste-des-petits ruminants	Probit 30, 60, 64, 150, 314	Red pericarp 48
114, 130	Production	Refugees 337
Pesticides 67, 370	cost 155	Remediation 257
residues 68	diversity 458, 554	Remote sensing . 86, 178,
usage 64, 67	systems 162	197, 198
PGPR 277, 293	Productivity 27, 164, 520,	Renewable energy 97, 395
Phaseolus vulgaris 22, 72	526	Research for development
Phenology 44, 54	Professional training . 483	. 477, 490, 555
Phenotypic traits 197	Profitability 120, 518	Resilience 45, 102, 137,
Philippines 275, 521	analysis 530	308, 463, 558,
Phosphorus	modelling 206	560
deficiency 239	Progenies 231	Resource
fertilisation 239	Proline 56	recovery 270, 276
Photorespiration 50	Protected area 154, 516,	use 531
Phytoremediation 258	517	Response surface method
Phytostabilisation 258	Provitamin A 46, 364, 401	382
Pigs 162, 359, 390	Psidium guajava 56	<i>Rhizobium</i> 256, 293
Pineapple 456	Public	Rice 22, 26, 44, 50, 51,
Plantain hybrids 514	health 350, 383	53, 59, 190, 287,
Policy 177, 462, 552	policies 346	300, 470, 481
change 517	Pulp proportion . 221, 223	improved variety 435
implementation . 512	Pyrolyzer 296	organic 101, 447
innovations 507		pest 539
Pollinators 80, 89, 93	Q	planting dates 295
Pollutants 388		sheath rot complex
Pork value chain 371, 459	Quality	562
Post-harvest	based milk payment	upland 25
insects 65	350	Rift Valley fever 130
losses 379, 406	parameters 218	Right to food 412
management 396,	standards 384	Risk
406	Quantitative	and uncertainty . 210
processing 395	assessment 497	factors 114
Potassium . 229, 231, 300	ethnobotany 98	Root
fertiliser 282	Quinoa 446	architecture 226

Root	Sea-level rise 190	Snail 149
biomass 225, 231	Seasonal	feeding 149
exudate profiling	forecasts 196	SOC stocks 176, 240, 245,
254	hunger 415	261
sampling 225	Seasonality 324, 531	Social
system 226, 277	Secondary metabolites 74	accounting matrix
typology 225	Seeds systems 102, 409	506
zone 85	Selection 56, 135	change 512
Roselle 31	Self reporting 36	equity 486
Rubber 189, 532	Semi-arid	relations approach
-based system 188		361
plantation 240	agro-ecosystem 308, 314	Socio-ecological
Run-off water 248	region 312	resilience 102
Rural	Senegal 45, 508	systems 115, 304
area 259	Sensorial properties 336	Soil 232, 269, 367
communities 433,	Serology 359	acid 252, 207, 307
515	Seroprevalence . 114, 130	analysis 262
development 45, 206,	Serum biochemistry . 153	compaction 263
508, 509, 511,	Shade-tolerance 24	conservation 312
527, 531	Shallow wells 312	contaminated 258
livelihoods . 205, 524		degradation 23
-urban	Shannon index 98, 104, 220	diagnostic approach.
farms 115	Sheep 112, 125, 133	297
interface 128, 465	slaughter weight 126	erosion 32
migration 421	Shifting cultivation 25, 92	fertility 243, 274,
Ruspolia 99, 378	Shocks 424	278, 297, 298,
Rwanda 67, 103, 287,	Silage 117	434, 445
295, 334	Silvopastoral 133	gradients 247
	Small-scale	improvement 280,
\mathbf{S}	milk production 177	296
Safflower 294	processing 469	management 249
Salinity 53	Smallanthus sonchifolius	mapping 3D 261
stress 57	55	moisture 314
tolerance 56	Smallholder	properties 262
Scaling-up 489	32, 33, 35, 124,	residue quality 255
nutrition 338	145, 193, 195,	sodic 310
Scavenging 147	288, 326, 364,	type 283
Scenario modelling 189	415, 454, 487,	Solar
Science policy interface	505, 518, 530,	bubble dryer 404
480, 490	532, 536, 559	power 146
Scientainment 479	farming 30, 432, 482	Sorghum 274
Sclerrocarya birrea 71	households 100, 521	South Africa 100, 247,
SDGs 12, 303, 327, 365,	systems 247	414, 480
478, 479, 551	Smartphone app 432	Soybean 82, 256, 288, 370
, ,	T	J , , ,

Soybean	Syria 83, 419	Transhumance . 130, 179,
seed decay 70		307
Spate irrigation 273	T	Trenbath's model 92
Spices 78, 98	Taenia solium 561	Triazine 260
Spiders 101		Trichoderma harzianum
Spillover effects 533	Tanzania 20, 136, 238,	74
Spirulina 390	245, 351, 413,	Trioza erytreae 73
Spot marketing 461	433, 467	Tunisia 374
Springtails 249	Technical efficiency 129	Turkey poults 160
Sri Lanka 270, 277, 465	Technological	Two wheel tractor 35
SSR markers . 48, 94, 151	change 138	
Stable isotopes 251	profile 28	U
Stocking density 159	Technologies 172, 935	Uganda 207, 238, 246,
Storage 65, 118, 406, 476	adoption 435	323, 335, 460,
fungi 406	Thailand 165, 205, 509,	461, 495, 528
Stunting rate 338, 357,	516, 537	Undernutrition . 192, 340,
368, 544	Theobroma cacao	554
Sub-Saharan Africa	231–233	Underutilised species 395,
58, 151, 306,	Theories-of-change . 551,	519
338, 416, 555	552	Unmanned aerial vehicle
Sudan . 135, 171, 221, 274	Tick control 117	90, 197
Sunflower 93, 467	Tied ridge 285	Upland 21
Supply chain 82, 174	Tilapia 146, 389	rice 25, 42
Sustainability 27, 417,	research 165	Upscaling 261, 350
455, 462, 479	Tillage 49, 92, 283	Urban 422
labels 339	Timber 518	agriculture 310, 311,
learning 497, 499	Total	439, 560
Sustainable	aflatoxin 387	food markets 307
agriculture . 64, 284,	anthocyanins 342	livestock keeping
294, 485, 486,	antioxidants 116, 342	383
524	polyphenols 342	Urbanisation 128
development 216	Trade policies 459	Urea 20, 272, 299
forest management	Trade-off analysis 461	, ,
217	Traders 174, 460 Traditional	\mathbf{V}
intensification 30, 58,	knowledge 104, 336	W.1 1 : 172 211
278, 297	oils 313	Value chain 173, 311,
land management	variety 48, 275	455, 457, 468
416	<u>-</u>	analysis 469
livelihoods . 507, 521	Train the trainer 487, 488 Training 136, 436, 491	dairy 365
value chains 464, 479	kit 436	design 206
Sweetpotato 243, 275, 288	needs assessment	Vanilla farming 134 Varietal
Malaysian varieties .	needs assessment 449	choice 444
397	Transformative learning	difference 286
-,,	497, 499	
Sylvatic cycle 163	477, 479	diversity 51

Vegetables	. 402	Water	Wind breaks 215
African indigen	ious	conservation 312	Women 177, 507
322, 341	, 402,	consumption 253	empowerment 154,
506, 507		footprint 349	173, 305, 333,
markets	33	holding capacity 123	418, 545
Vegetation analysis .	103	management system.	Wood energy 531
Vermicompost 29	92, 299	535	Woodfuel 296, 373
Video mediated learn	ning	productivity 215	World future council . 558
48	33, 491	saving technologies .	T 7
Vietnam 162, 37	1, 518,	239	\mathbf{Y}
523, 526,	527	scarcity 250, 349,	Yak 520
Vigna radiata 25	51, 293	534	Yams 281
Virus screening		stress . 242, 251, 282	Yield
Vitamins	. 347	yam 286	components . 42, 59,
A 243, 329, 33	30, 336	Watermelon 290	284
maize 4	16, 361	Watershed 248, 505	gaps 21, 43, 238,
Volatility spillover		management 312	411
Voltammetric sensor	. 393	WEF nexus 416	traits 282
Voluntary food stand		Welfare 379, 433	variability 278
		West Africa 187, 224,	Youth 207, 437
Vulnerability 19	4, 526,	227, 233, 283,	bulge 437
528		304, 308, 359,	employment 35
***		483, 488	participation 154
\mathbf{W}		Wetland 67, 238, 246, 248	_
WAD sheep	125	Wheat 27, 43	${f Z}$
Wage employment.		bran 123	Zambia 361, 432, 437,
Walnut-fruit forest .		offal 158	561
342		Whiteflies 69	Zea mays 46, 253
Walnuts	. 218	Whole farm productivity	Zebu cattle 117, 134
Waste to energy	97	24	Zinc 329
Water		Willingness-to-pay 395,	Ziziphus spp 159, 305,
buffalo	521	447, 536	463

Abstract IDs

Abstract ID	Page	130 278	249 259
2	432	131 69	250 380
3	437	133 379	252 72
5	274	134 323	253 279
10	306	139 93	255 214
11	167	149 299	258 366
22	65	154 466	259 360
23	312	156 150	265 86
34	367	158 293	268 347
45	160	159 205	269 453
49	392	160 281	270 129
50	78	163 172	274 112
56		168 390	275 508
63	149	171 364	277 84
64		172 135	279 446
66	416	173 387	280 288
69	388	174 405	281 271
73		175 73	282 66
74		177 158	283 511
77		178 162	286 442
83		182 417	287 458
88		189 425	288 28
91		190 250	289 156
93		196 257	292 435
95		201 74	293 165
96		202 258	295 36
97		203 307	298 35
101		207 213	300 292
104		215 27	301 189
108		217 363	305 239
109		218 128	307 381
114		221 282	308 85
117		235 210	314 283
125		237 397	317 311
126		244 525	318
128	163	248 87	320 517

Abstract ID	Page	399 310	466 218
321	495	400 175	467 476
323	291	401 342	468 414
328	391	403 383	469 280
329	350	405 174	470 95
333	406	406 134	471 398
334	345	408 468	472 485
335		413 32	473 33
336		414 395	474 434
337		415 207	475 441
338	530	416 54	476 233
339		417 269	477 173
340	197	420 55	479 402
343		422 52	480 418
344		424 337	481 100
346		427 212	482 394
347		428 309	483 439
349		429 148	490 115
350		431 51	491 373
353		432 559	493 46
354		433 384	495 224
356		434 209	496 499
357		435 534	498 229
360		436 290	499 497
362		437 365	502 263
364		439 44	505 226
365		440 331	506
366		442 99	509 117
368		443 295	512 88
369		444 359	515 249
370		447 188	518 225
372		448 326	519 529
373 374		450 506	520 231
380		451 261 452 208	522 369 526 255
383		453 348	530 198
384		456 361	532 227
385		458 533	534 101
389		459 144	535 413
392		460 20	540 477
393		461 372	541 378
394		462 240	546 286
396		463 464	547 92
398		465 47	548
570	20	47	2.0

Abstract ID	Page	644 482	717 371
550	_	647 336	719 104
551		649 276	721 449
553		650 133	726 368
554		652 252	728 119
555		654 404	730 444
557		656 177	733 438
559			734 70
560		657 526 658 248	737 507
562		660 370	739 321
564		662 103	741 514
565		663 243	,
569		664 538	744 357
573		665 340	745 516
575		666 180	750 374
576		668 445	751 217
579		670 487	753 385
583		671 344	755 300
584		678 260	760 505
585		680 146	763 531
586		683 56	764
588		685 327	766 192
590		686 539	767 512
592		687 147	769 393
593		688 510	770 43
596		689 519	771 419
600		690 356	774 241 776 329
601		692 176	
603		693 272	778 193
605		696 433	779 308
615		697 561 698 532	784 535 788 159
617			
618 621		701 440 702 81	789 64 790 349
623		703 31	790 549
624		705 94	794 194
625		706 219	795 50
626		709 471	799 461
633		710 49	801 536
634		712 37	802 346
639		713 238	803 120
640		714 222	806 332
641		715 524	807 57
643		716 472	810 490
043	400	/10 4/2	010 490

Abstract ID	Page	872 154	928 558
814	254	875 206	929 273
816	324	876 90	931 483
818	515	878 421	934 448
820	523	879 399	935 215
822	223	880 111	936
826	491	881 130	937 297
827	132	882 122	938 481
828		883 396	939
835		885 469	940 67
838		891 38	941 400
839		892 89	
840		893 401	942 171
841		895 422	943 153
842		896 116	944 63
843		900 460	945
847		901 313	946 245
848		903 338	947 555
849		904 520	948 554
850		908 298 910 270	949 10
852 856		912 96	950 303
857		916 179	951 11
858		917 123	952 12
859		918 522	953 550
861		919 489	954 551
862		920 30	955 552
864		921 479	956 544
865	412	923 262	957 545
866		924 284	958 546
869	314	925 124	959 547
870	211	926 157	960 14